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Within these hallowed pages lie a series of tales that are most dear to mine heart. This is not 
merely because of the biographical nature of the stories, but because they represent a vital segment 
of Britannia's history and development. 

The Avatar, a close friend of mine , has become much more than a legendary figure in 
Britannia. He is now an icon of messianic proportions-an example for all to follow and a hero for 
all time. 

The tales within chronicle what is known in Britannian history as "The Age of the Avatar," 
being the documentation of three separate sojourns made by the Avatar into Britannia from his 
own world. The first occurred shortly after I united the separate kingdoms of ancient Sosaria to 
form modern Britannia. I was searching for one who could incarnate the beliefs and philosophies of 
Britannia-one who possessed the integrity and fortitude to embody the three great principles of 
Truth, Love, and Courage, the eight virtues, and the one pure axiom of life. It was the one who 
eventually became the Avatar who answered this call and succeeded. 

The second tale chronicles a rather sinister period in Britannian history. After I had built the 
Shrine of the Codex on the Isle of the Avatar, the Underworld nurtured and began to breed new 
forms of evil. While leading an expedition into this uncharted territory, I was kidnapped by 
malevolent agents of the Underworld and imprisoned in Dungeon Doom. My trusted colleague, 
Lord Blackthorn, turned against me and became an interim ruler of questionable ethics, to say the 
least. Blackthorn instituted a martial law that radically enforced the eight virtues, such that they 
became tyrannical and oppressive. It was ultimately the Avatar who put things right and restored 
me to power. 

The final tale illustrates what in reality was a gross misunderstanding between two races existing 
on Britannian soil. A war was raging between the humans and the Gargoyles-a war rooted in 
bigotry, mistrust, and ignorance. It took the Avatar's wisdom and tolerance to finally convince 
Britannia, and me, of the truth of the situation. 
So, heed well the words within, fellow traveler. They have become more than just the foundation of 
Britannian society. These tales chronicle the beginnings of our destiny. 
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INTRODUCTION BY RICHARD GARRIOTT 

There are many legends about the Avatar. They pass from person to person, from generation to 
generation. It has always been difficult to separate one story from another, and few people have 
known the entire truth. Many have followed false and misleading clues; others have known only 
part of the story. 

Now, finally, the true story has been told. By painstaking research, Rusel DeMaria and 
Caroline Spector (along with their Britannian counterparts, Robert and Carlotta) have followed 
the Avatar's trail and produced the definitive chronicle of the Avatar. Much of the information 
written here has never been revealed before. 

In Ultima: The Avatar Adventures, Rusel and Caroline have brought the Avatar's quests to 
life. They have done so for those who wish to participate in the quests themselves. They have 
also done so for those who want to get to know the world of Britannia better. In fact, anyone who 
really wants to know Ultima should have this book. 

I want to thank Rusel and Caroline for their deep interest in bringing Britannia to life. I 
also want to thank all the many people who have joined the Avatar on his quests, time and 
again. It continues to be my pleasure to share the Ultima adventures with you. 
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A PERSONAL INTRODUCTION 
How can you improve on Ultima? The original Ultima was the first role-playing game I ever 
played. I've enjoyed many hours of Ultimas since then, and they just get better and better. What 
can I say? I'm a fan. 

So I feel privileged that Lord British had the faith in me to let me write this book. Because 
Ultima isn't just about a game. It's about morality and ethics. It's about adventure, yes, but it's 
also about characters who have grown and evolved with the game. It's about a world that's as 
real as Oz or Arrakis or Middle Earth. 

So our task as writers was to do our best to bring Britannia to life while guiding you, the 
Ultima player, through the Avatar's adventures. And we did it all under Lord British's watchful 
eye. We hope we've succeeded in making Ultima even more fun for you. If so, we've 
accomplished our goals. 

-Rusel DeMaria 

HOW TO USE THIS BOOK 
This book is divided into four parts, each of which details a particular adventure of the Avatar in 
Britannia. These parts correspond to Ultima IV, Ultima V, Ultima VI, and Ultima VII (with 
Ultima Underworld). The first three parts are stories of the complete adventures they represent. 
The fourth part only begins the two adventures it chronicles, but you should find the 
information very helpful. 

There are various ways to present information, and we've chosen several for each game. First, 
there's the narrative style. It's a little like reading a novel, but certain key words and ideas have 
been highlighted in a noticeable typeface. Second, there's the quick walkthrough. Third, there 
are charts and maps. Looking for some detailed information? If you look at the table of contents 
of this book, you'll immediately see where the charts or maps you need are located. Or check the 
index for specific references, say to Doom or the Three Part Key. 

Most of all, enjoy this book. We hope you have as much fun reading it as we had putting it 
together for you. 

IF YOU WANT EVEN MORE INFORMATION 

There are a few very interesting ways to "cheat" at some of the Ultima games. After consulting with 
ORIGIN, we decided to leave some of them out of this book. For some readers, those methods might 
ruin their enjoyment of the games. 

However, we recognize that many people would like to know the ultimate tricks that exist. 
Therefore, we want to make it possible for you to get them. If you send a stamped self-addressed 
envelope (SASE) to Prima Publishing and label it Ultima Tips, we will send you back a printout of 
some of the best tricks available. 

Warning! ORIGIN does not recommend these shortcuts be used. Tliey can destroy players' enjoyment of the 
game, and using them may crash your system, destroy your game, and even damage your hard disk. 
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Entry 1 
heard music playing-strange, 
yet familiar-something from a 
half-remembered dream. I had 
to find its source. It pulled me 
toward it-a siren 's song , 
dangerous yet compelling. 

I pushed my way through a pathless thicket of low 
trees, unconcerned with such niceties as direction or 
even my own physical well-being. Soon the ground 
began to slope upward and the trees thinned. I 
climbed until I reached the crest of a small hill . The 
music swelled to a crescendo. I was getting closer, but 
to what? 

The trees ended suddenly, and a small valley 
spread out below me. The valley floor glowed as if its 
grass were caught in a shaft of late afternoon sunlight, 
and I subconsciously struggled with the incongruity of 
this effect (it still being near noon by the sun) even as 
my attention was drawn to a group of wildly colorful 
wagons and tents, partially nestled in a small grove of 
oaks and willows. Jugglers in gaudy costumes strolled 
among crowds of people in medieval dress . The 
aroma of roast turkey and meat pies filled the air. The 
music never stopped. 
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0r. rlt~ert 0e.J/fain; <!Ja'twr­
:Tartol'ti:uv f/r;JJritwvua 

As I continued my journey down the hillside , 
toward the source of the music, I wondered. What 
was a fair doing here in the middle of nowhere? For 
there was no doubt that this was a fair . Even more 
importantly, how did I get here? I tried to recall, but the 
memory hovered at the edge of my mind, like some 
ghost of thought, always sensed, never quite seen. 

As I came to the fair's entrance, a ticket-taker 
approached me. He was a man of average height, 
perhaps a few inches shorter than me, dressed in 
what looked like a homespun tweed outfit. A floppy 
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hat, with a peacock feather stuck jauntily in the brim, 
adorned his head. He looked as if he hadn't shaved 
for days. 

"Have ye a ticket, sir?" he asked extending his 
hand with a slight bow. 

I searched my pockets reflexively. I don 't know 
what I expected to find, but as I pulled out my wallet, 
a chain shifted around my neck and an ankh swung 
forward and caught the light. I reached up and 
touched the ankh. The metal was warm. I was 
momentarily taken aback, having no memory of this 
particular item of jewelry, but it seemed to have an 
even more profound effect on the ticket-taker who 
examined the ankh momentarily, then waved my 
money away. 

"Welcome, friend, " he said. He motioned me into 
the fair with another bow. "Enter in peace and find 
thy path." 

Strange. I thought. Nobody giues you something 
for nothing. I tried to press money into the ticket­
taker's hand, but he motioned it away. The ankh, 
there was something important about it, but I couldn 't 
remember what. Maybe it would come to me. 

"Here," I said. "Take the money. " 
But the man just smiled and motioned me through 

the gate. I shrugged and slipped my wallet back into 
my pocket. His loss. 

The music grew louder; its source had to be 
nearby. I walked along makeshift pathways, past rows 
of booths painted in garish colors. People, all of them 
in medieval garb, wandered the paths, exclaiming 
over the wares hidden in the dark recesses of the 
booths. They paid me no mind, though in my jeans 
and button-down shirt I must have seemed out of 
place in this anachronistic little enclave. 

Or was I the anachronism? I was certainly the only 
thing out of place in this little pocket of history. 

As I pushed my way through the crowd, I caught 
glimpses of the shadowed treasures they sought in the 
booths and tents that lined the way. I made a mental 
note to return and investigate these strange shops 
more carefully after ... after what? 

The faces in the crowd were unusual. They glowed 
with an inner light, as remarkable in its way as the 
strange color of the valley itself. Snatches of 
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conversation floated to me in a language as archaic as 
their costumes. Thees, thous, and thys spilled from 
their tongues as easily as slang slipped off mine. How 
had I come here? I tried again to remember. 
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A car. Mine. The vision of a blue convertible 
with its hood up and steam pouring from the 
radiator ... The memory was solid now. My car 
had overheated and I'd pulled over to the side of 
the road to let it cool down. I'd taken a walk in the 
forest on the side of the road to pass the time. 
Then ... 

The next memory wouldn't come. 
Still, the music drove me forward until I reached 

the edge of the fair . Off in a secluded grove was a 
brightly painted wagon. With its rounded top , it 
reminded me of a gypsy wagon I'd seen as a child. 
The music came from inside. As I stood in the odd 
gloom that seemed to emanate from the trees , a 
woman 's voice floated out to me , harmonically 
enmeshed in the music. 

"You may approach," she said. 
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I hesitated for a moment, then went to the door of 
the wagon and stepped inside. Fragrant incense 
assaulted my senses. I sneezed. 

"Excuse me," I said. There was no reply. 
I looked around. A round table, covered in green 

velvet, took up part of the room. Fringed shawls with 
ornate embroideries hung from the wooden walls, but 
the dominant feature of the room was the old gypsy 
woman who sat behind the table. Around her neck 
hung a large ankh, similar to the one I wore. Her eyes 
were black, not just dark brown, but pure black and 
penetrating. They seemed to pierce me, leaving me 
somehow exposed. She smiled, dispelling some of the 
tension, and pointed to my ankh. 

"I see that thou art a Seeker," she said . "Be 
careful. Do not part with this symbol. " Her voiced 
sounded as if it had traveled through some dark, 



empty space before it reached me . My stomach 
clenched and gooseflesh raced across the backs of my 
arms when I heard it. 

She gestured to a small chair opposite her. 
"We have been waiting such a long time, " she 

began, "but at last thou hast come. Sit here and I shall 
read the path of thy future." 

It sure sounded as if she had been waiting for me. 
But that's what fortune tellers do-make you believe 
they have a mystic "second-sight. " She had a great 
setup all right, and I was impressed . What future 
would she try to sell me? True love? Money? A long 
trip? 

Meanwhile, the music continued to play from 
somewhere in the wagon and the incense grew 
thicker. I felt woozy. 

The gypsy placed a wooden abacus-like object on 
the table. Cards appeared in her hands. They just 
appeared with a small puff of smoke. A close-up 
magician 's sleight-of-hand trick. The cards were 
larger than normal playing cards. She fanned eight of 
them out on the table with a quick flick of her wrist. 

"Let us begin the casting," she said. 
I sat in the chair opposite her, wary and ill at ease. 
She placed two cards on the table . The first 

depicted a knight in silver armor astride a horse. The 
knight's sword was drawn and held out in front of 
him. A red sash was tied around his waist. Written in 
ornate black letters at the bottom of the card was the 
word ?1J11lor. 

The second card showed two men being 
threatened by a wild beast . One of the men was 
helping his companion escape over a wall while he 
himself remained in peril. This card was ringed in 
orange. The word at the bottom was ~ru:rifin. 

"Consider this ," the gypsy began . "A mighty 
knight accosts thee and demands thy food . Dost thou 
6alizmtl12 refuse the knight and battle him, or 1111crifia 

thy food unto the hungry knight?" 
The cards lay on the green velvet, but I didn't see 

them. Memories washed over me, blotting out the 
present. I walked into a small clearing. A willow tree 
dipped its graceful limbs toward a small brook that cut 
through the clearing. At the edge of the stream was a 
circle of white stone. Stonehenge in miniature. 
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Then I was back in the gypsy 's wagon . The 
woman sat patiently across from me, waiting for my 
answer. Maybe the rest of my memory would return if 
I stopped thinking about it so hard. The cards were 
mute, refusing to give up their secrets. I frowned. This 
wasn't like any fortune-telling I'd seen. 

I considered the choices. On one hand, there was 
the issue of Valor. It wouldn't be very courageous to 
let anyone take food away from you without some 
sort of fight. But the knight was hungry, and maybe 
even desperate to eat. Why shouldn't I sacrifice some 
of my food for another knight? 

I thought about the question some more. There 
didn't seem to be a right answer. I looked up at the 
gypsy, but she just sat there like a statue. 

Maybe this was a remarkably vivid hallucination. 
Or maybe someone was playing a joke on me. I felt 
strangely detached from the whole experience, as 
though it were happening to someone else. 

The gypsy gave me an impatient glance , then 
tapped her index finger on the table where the two 
cards rested. I smiled and shrugged my shoulders. 

I decided that, in this situation, Valor seemed more 
important than Sacrifice . I touched the ?1Jalor card . 
The gypsy placed a white and a black bead on the 
abacus and picked up the two cards. 

"Was that the right answer?" I asked. 
The gypsy smiled. 
'There are no right answers here," she said, "only 

what is right for thee." 



Under different circumstances her ansv;er would have 
bothered me, b.it I was still trying to think. To remember. 

The gypsy laid two more cards face up on the 
table. To the left was the ;!LmDT card. It portrayed a 
knight in silver armor astride a white charger. In his 
outstretched hand was a chalice. Around his waist was 
tied a purple sash. The card on the right was ;Mumilit11. 
The person in the picture wore the black and gray 
robes of a shepherd. 

"Consider this ," the gypsy said. "Thou art at a 
crossroads in thy life. Dost thou choose the qanowhle 
life of a Paladin, striving for Truth and Courage, or 
dost thou choose the qtrmhle life of a Shepherd, and a 
world of Simplicity and Peace?" 

I thought about the question. My first reaction was 
that I didn't want to be either of these things. Both 
sounded boring. But the more I thought about my life, 
the more attractive being a Shepherd seemed. No 
problems , peace, simplicity , there was a certain 
appeal. Then I considered being a Paladin. There was 
something noble about the search for Truth and 
Courage , and my life had little enough of these 
virtues . What the heck. In fantasy it 's easy to be 
heroic. I pointed to the ~o•tor card. 

The gypsy once again placed a white and black 
bead on the abacus and turned over two more cards. 

;Momstu and .SpiritualitlJ . 
~ion,,stn was a beautiful red-haired woman standing 

behind a blue podium. Her right hand was raised in 
the traditional gesture of someone taking an oath. 
fopiritunlitlJ depicted a man dressed in white robes, 
kneeling at an altar with his head bowed. 

"Consider this," the gypsy said. "Thy friend seeks 
admittance to thy spiritual order. Thou art asked to 
vouch for his purity of spirit, of which thou art unsure. 
Dost thou l1onest!u express thy doubt, or vouch for 
him, hoping for his spiritual improvement?" 

Another flash of memory. Blue light. A sound­
wind chimes. The scent of rain . A package falling to 
the ground. I picked it up. It was warm to the touch 
and strange. What was it? The thought slipped out 
of my mind and I stared once again at the cards. 
The question ... 

This question was easy. To be true to my vows, I 
had to tell the truth when I was questioned. On the 
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other hand, part of being spiritual was understanding 
others and helping them attain that spirituality-right? 
Was it fair to deny my friend the chance at spiritual 
fulfillment? 

Okay, maybe the question wasn 't as easy as I'd 
thought. I considered the question again, then slowly 
pointed to the ;Ma1u11t11 card. There could be no real 
spirituality without truth, I decided. 

Two more beads were placed on the abacus, two 
more cards on the table . <Irompn..,,ian and ;Jju .. tice. 

"Consider this ," the gypsy said. "After twenty 
years , thou hast found the slayer of thy best 
friends . The villain proves to be a man who is the 
sole support of a young girl. Dost thou spare him 
out of campnHion for the girl , or slay him in the 
name of justice?" 

I stared at the two cards on the table. <Irompnssiau 
showed a woman dressed in yellow, giving food to a 
starving man. Her face was gentle. 

Wustice showed a king on his throne. His face was 
stem, yet there was kindness in his eyes. His robes 
appeared to flow around him and his crown was set 
with emeralds. 

A man on a throne . .. a kingiom ... history . . . b:xJks ... 
the µickage contained books. A history book and a book 
written In some stronge runic language. The books ~ 
round t.og:?thzr in a doth map. The ankh I wore had 
come in that package. 

The memory faded again and I was back in the 
present. 

The cards. What to do? I knew the spirits of my 
dead friends cried out for justice, but I felt tom. 
Wouldn t depriving the girl of her support make me 
as bad as the man I sought to kill? What about the 
families of my friends? HCMI v.oukl they feel knooling I 
let this murderer go free? 

And what was wrong with me anyway? I shook my 
head. I was getting far too involved with this fortune­
telling. My Justice , my liege ... My God , this 
was getting out of hand. I folded my arms over 
my chest and leaned back in the chair. The gypsy 
stared at me a slight frown crossing her face, her 
black eyes boring through me, reading me, judging 
me. 

Tough, I thought. I don 't feel like playing any more. 
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She shook her head as though I'd disappointed 
her. I could hear her murmur something under her 
breath in a language I didn 't understand. And I 
started feeling a little guilty. I didn 't usually quit in 
the middle of something-even something as 
ludicrous as fortune-telling. 

I leaned forward and thought about the question 
posed to me. In the end, I sighed and pointed to 
Qlompassion. 

The gypsy nodded and placed two more beads on 
the abacus. The rack was half full of beads. My head 
was beginning to ache. The incense was potent and 
made me feel sleepy. I had to recapture what was 
missing from my memory. 

The gypsy laid two more cards out. Qlampanion 
and~nor . 

"Consider this ," she said. "Thou art sworn to 
uphold a Lord who participates in the forbidden 
torture of prisoners. Each night their cries of 
pain reach thee. Dost thou show companion by 
reporting these unlawful deeds, or qonar thy oath 
and ignore them?" 

I didn 't even have to consider. I pointed to the 
Qlo111pm1si1J11 card. 

Once again the beads were placed and the cards 
laid. ~o-.ustl,l and ~alnr. 

"Consider this ," she said. "Thou hast been 
prohibited by thy absent Lord from joining thy friends 
in a close-pitched battle. Dost thou refrain, so thou 
may l1an,,stll,l claim obedience, or show 6alor, and aid 
thy comrades, knowing thou mayest deny it later?" 
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And then I had it. Memory flooded back. The car 
breaking down. A flash from within the forest . 
Walking through the woods to the small clearing. 
The circle of white stones. The shimmering blue 
doorway. The package appearing from thin air 
containing the books, the map, and the ankh . And 
what the books said. 

One book contained the story of Britannia, its 
history and lore. But where in the world was 
Britannia? This wasn't the history of Britain. I didn 't 
see any mention of Cromwell, or Henry the Eighth, 
or even Winston Churchill. And the other book. 

The other was a book about magic-"Mystic 
Wisdom, n it was called. I had read both books 
before I noticed the music. The music I followed to 
this fair and to the gypsy's wagon. 

My eyes narrowed suspiciously. Maybe this really 
was some sort of elaborate hoax. I wondered what 
the gypsy could want from me and what the purpose 
of this whole setup was. 

Glancing up, I saw that the gypsy's expression 
hadn't changed. I couldn 't read her face at all . If I 
wanted to find out what was going on, I would have 
to stick around. 

I looked back at the cards. Maybe the explanation 
for what was happening had to do with the questions 
she was asking. 

~a{or and ~tU?Stl,l. 
I knew that valor was important and I would 

have a difficult time not helping my friends, but 
the idea of lying about what I'd done bothered 
me. I chose ~011e .. t11. 

The gypsy placed two more beads on the abacus. 
It was almost full. Just one bar on the rack was 
empty. Two more cards were placed on the table. 

~tte&tlj and Ql1Jlltflll5Sl011. 
"Consider this ," said the gypsy. Her voice 

sounded tired. "Entrusted with the delivery of an 
uncounted purse of gold, thou art accosted by a 
poor beggar. Dost thou deliver the gold , proving 
thy qonestl,l, or show compassion, giving the 
beggar a coin, knowing it will not be missed? " 

I could almost see the poor beggar reaching 
out to me. Then there was the trust of my liege. My 
liege? Again I had fallen under the hypnotic spell of 



the gypsy and her questions. I decided to take another 
tack. I would ask her some questions of my own. 

"Couldn 't I give him a coin from my own purse?" 
I asked. 

"That was not the question," the gypsy said. 
"But I don't want to get it wrong." 
"There is no right or wrong here, only thy choice. " 
I rubbed my eyes. I wanted to get up and walk 

away from the table, but my curiosity held me there. 
Honesty. Compassion. I reached forward , my hand 
hovering above the cards. I touched one. Incense 
billowed up , clouding my sight. I heard the gypsy 
speak, she sounded far away. 

"So be it ," she said. "Thy path is chosen! " 
I felt a moment of intense, wrenching vertigo. I 

squeezed my eyes shut. When I opened them, I was 
standing in the middle of a grove of trees. The sun was 
just coming up. The valley was deserted. There was no 
sign of the gypsy or the fair. 

One of the more interesting aspects of the 
Avatar mythos is the appearance of the 
Avatar in many different guises. The 
legends say that, should the Avatar choose 
Honesty over all other virtues, he will 
appear as a Mage. If he chooses 
Compassion, he will be a Bard. Valor will 
yield a Fighter; Justice, a Druid; Sacrifice, a 
Tinker; Honor, a Paladin; Spirituality, a 
Ranger; and Humility, a Shepherd. 

Of course, the message of the legends is 
that it is most important for the Avatar to 
be true to himself. When he answers the 
gypsy's questions, he must choose the 
answers he believes to be correct. 
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:Entry 2-
Lord liriti15h'15 C!z:a1Stle 
he fair seemed like a dream 
until I noticed the indentations 
left in the grass by the booths 
and wagons. 

What had happened? 
Where was I and what the hell was I doing here? I 
could see nothing familiar , only the large grassy 
meadow where I stood and the surrounding hills. No 
building or other landmark violated this bucolic 
scene. There were no high-tension wires, no aircraft 
flying overhead. Only the indentations in the grass 
gave me any assurance that the world didn ' t 
both begin and end here in this little valley. 

I looked down at myself , checking to make 
sure I was still in one piece. My jeans and shirt 
were gone and I was wearing a loose tunic, lace­
up boots, and what felt like homespun trousers . 
Around the tunic, a wide leather belt was 
fastened by a heavy buckle made of a metal I 
couldn ' t identify. It was silver-colored and 
featured engravings that meant nothing to me. 
This sort of garb was found only in museums­
and then in pitiful tatters . Or maybe on the set of 
a period movie. Not in pristine condition on the 
back of a dazed modern man . 

I started to walk , but something banging 
against my thigh brought me up short. A leather 
drawstring bag or purse hung from my belt, and 
it was quite heavy. Pulling the bag open, I poured 
the contents out. Golden coins , each embossed 
with a silver serpent, fell onto my palm. I had 
never seen anything like them, and neither, I 
suspected, had any of my numismatic friends. 

I returned the coins to the purse and 
simultaneously discovered another satchel on my 
belt. In it I found several herbs I couldn't identify, 
though I did recognize some garlic. I was prepared 
for vampires, anyway. Then the thought came to me 
that these were reagents for mixing spells. Spells? 
Reagents? I knew perfectly well that there was no 
such thing as magic. Then I remembered The Book 
of Mystic Wisdom. How odd that I would make 



such an association between a bunch of old dry weeds 
and a supposed book of magic. But then, it was no 
odder than this whole experience. 

The attention to detail in this fantasy impressed 
me. If I was hallucinating, I hoped I was locked away 
somewhere with a really good psychiatrist. If this was 
a joke , I was going to give them a round of 
enthusiastic applause. Then I was going to kill them. 

The map and books I'd found were also in the 
satchel. Then I remembered the ankh . I had a 
moment of panic, thinking I'd lost it, but when I put 
my hand to my neck the chain was still there. I pulled 
the ankh out from under my tunic and let it hang 
outside. I still didn 't know why this ankh was 
important, but I had formed some kind of attachment 
to it. It was like a part of me, like a finger or a toe, 
and I wasn't about to lose track of it. I headed for the 
top of the nearest hill, hoping to get my bearings. 

From the hill, I looked down at a castle. What was 
a castle doing here? Surely I would have known about 
a castle in the area. I turned to search for the highway, 
my car, and my life. I wanted out of this dream. 

The highway was nowhere to be seen. There was 
no road, no car, nothing but a broad expanse of clear 
blue water whose waves gently lapped at the shore. 
Wherever I was, it wasn't home. I was nowhere near 
where I'd left my car. I turned and looked again at the 
castle. Feeling dejected, I sat down on the damp grass 
and tried to figure out what was happening to me. 

Either I was insane, the victim of an elaborate 
hoax, or this was real and I was in another universe. 
The options stunk. 

Still, sitting on my duff wouldn't help me figure 
out what was happening. I studied the castle more 
closely and noticed a small town nearby. Where to 
go first-town or castle? I chose the castle. 

As I approached the castle, I found myself 
walking along a rough road , something suitable 
for horses and wagons, perhaps, or a four-wheel 
drive RV. Not being an Indian scout , I couldn 't 
be sure , but I thought I saw some horse tracks 
here and there in the dust . Not to mention the 
other , more obvious, evidence left by horses . 

The castle was smaller than I'd expected, only two 
stories of roughly cut stones fitted together with 
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mortar. As I approached it, even this small castle 
looked pretty massive. Oh, well. Feeling like I had 
nothing to lose, I marched up to the front entrance. 
Actually, there was a flutter in the pit of my 
stomach, but I kept telling myself this had to be the 
result of a mental state , or bad mushrooms , or 
something. The one thing this couldn 't be was real . 

Two guards stood at the entrance. They were 
armored and carried large pikes. Broadswords hung 
from their belts and heavy metal helmets protected 
their heads. I wouldn 't want to rile them up. But, like 
the guards at Buckingham Palace , they didn ' t 
acknowledge my presence even though I stood in 
front of them for several minutes. 

I directed my attention to one of them. 
"Hello ," I said , figuring he wasn 't going to 

start the conversation. 
"Greetings ," replied the guard . He didn ' t 

exactly smile , but neither did he sneer . I began 
to breathe again . 

" ~llll1ere am I? " I asked. 
"Thou art in the Kingdom of Britannia ." 
The book. The History of Britannia . I'd 

remembered it first when the gypsy was casting my 
fortune. Now I was suspicious-this was too 
convenient. Obviously, somebody was trying to 
make me believe I was in a place called Britannia. 
But why? 

"Is this the castle of ~rb ~ritisfi ?" I asked. He 
was the only person I remembered from the book. 
Playing along with whatever was happening 
looked like my best option. 

"Aye , ' tis the castle of my liege. Dost thou 
seek him?" 

I was getting a little nervous about this . Were 
guards supposed to be this friendly? Maybe it 
was a trap. 

"Uh, 11es. Where is he?" 
"He is in the throne room on the second floor ." 
The guard turned back to his post. 
This was going so well that I strolled over to the 

other guard. He was a big burly fellow who looked a 
little dim. 

"Where am I?" I asked. 
"I cannot help thee with that," said the guard. 



"What about Lord British?" 
"This is the castle of my liege. Dost thou seek him?" 
I'd been through this before. 
"No, thank you," I said. '"Bye." 
"Good day to you. " 
I passed through the arched doorway and walked 

into the entry hall . I glanced back at the guards once, 

12 

but they hadn 't moved. Torches set in holders along 
the wall , cast flickering shadows and sent smoke 
toward the ceiling. It took a moment for my eyes to 
adjust to the dim light. Eight massive pillars ran the 
length of the hall, four on each side. Smooth marble 
stones paved the floor , and the walls were draped 
with tapestries and weavings depicting a menagerie of 
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strange creatures in mortal conflict with knights and 
other medieval types. The place was alive with 
people, all in fine medieval garb. Courtiers walked 
slowly through the room in small groups. A juggler 
dressed in rainbow hues performed amazing feats for 
a small group off to one side. 

I stood for moment , watching . The courtiers 
nodded and smiled at me as though my presence 
were the most natural thing in the world. I walked up 
to one of them, hoping to find out why I'd been 
brought here. 

"Hello, lady," I said. I did a slight bow. She put her 
hand over her mouth and giggled. 

"Greetings," she said. "Art thou new to Britannia?" 
"Yes," I said. "How did you know?" 
"Thy bow. I am not royalty, sir. Thou shouldst not 

bow to me. " 
Great, I thought, made an idiot of myself right off 

the bat. 
"Uh, we bow to all women in my country, " I said. 
"Indeed ," she said. I could tell by her tone that 

she didn 't believe me for an instant. I started to 
say something else to her , but she had already 
slipped away into the crowd. That's what I got 
for lying . 

I looked around for someone else to talk to, 
but everywhere I turned , the courtiers smiled 
then looked the other way . Finally, I marched 
up to the one person in the room I hadn 't tried 
to talk to-the jester. 

"Hello," I said. 
'Tm Chuckles ," he said. Then he pirouetted , 

finishing with a flourish . The bells on his cap 
and shoes jingled. His smile was crooked and a 
bit eerie . "Welcome to Castle Britannia ." 

I took a small step backward. "Thanks ," I 
said. "Do you know why I'm here?" 

He tossed what appeared to be a beanbag 
high into the air and caught it deftly behind his 
back. "Hast thou an }.nt.~? " 

This question threw me off a little , not that it 
took much . 

"Uh, l!es." 

Suddenly he was standing on his hands. "Then 
enter in peace. " 
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"Thanks, but can you . . . " 
I didn't get to finish my sentence because he 'd 

already cartwheeled off. Most people seemed a little 
flighty here in Britannia, or wherever I was , but the 
jester was in a world of his own. 

There wasn't much more for me to do in the hall, 
so I decided to find Lord British. Maybe he could 
explain what was going on. The only exit was through 
an arched doorway north of the main entrance. That's 
where I headed. 

The sound of running water surprised me. A small 
stream ran parallel to the walkway. The air in here 
was clean and fragrant and a peaceful sensation 
washed over me. A huge ankh stood in the center 
of the stream. It was becoming obvious that these 
ankhs were the key to something. 

I headed west and searched through the corridors 
of the bottom level of the castle until I found a ladder 
leading up. A guard at the bottom of the ladder made 
no move to stop me as I climbed. Either Lord British 
was very secure, or things were pretty darned 
peaceful in Britannia. 

Snap out of it , I thought. This isn ' t reality. 
There 's no such place as Britannia and no one 
called Lord British. Either this is a figment of your 
feverish mind, or you 're part of some bizarre new 
medical experiment. 

There was another guard on the second floor at 
the top of the ladder. I made some small talk with him 
as I climbed up, but he didn't answer. The smells of 
roasted meat and baking bread hung heavy in the air. 
My stomach growled in appreciation. As I walked 
down the corridor , I passed a large open-hearth 
kitchen. Cooks and scullery boys were working 
frantically on what looked like preparations for a feast. 
I was tempted to filch a morsel , but realized that it 
wouldn't be the best way to make an impression on 
the king. 

I turned east. At the end of the tapestry-draped 
corridor was a large, open doorway. Music floated out 
mixed with laughter and the buzz of conversation. I 
stopped on the threshold of the room and looked in. 
Four massive support pillars flanked each side of a 
room dominated by a high-backed throne. Quickly I 
noticed more tapestries hanging from the walls and 
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several high windows that allowed shafts of sunlight to 
pierce the smoky atmosphere and shine like yellow 
jewels beneath the cavernous ceiling. Brightly dressed 
courtiers were gathered around the throne while 
jesters entertained. But it was the man on the throne 
who commanded my attention. 

As I walked slowly closer to the throne, I tried to 
assess this man, who could only be the King himself. 
I couldn 't tell how old he was. His face was lined, but 
his blue eyes were still bright and clear. He wore a 
fur-lined robe and a heavy crown , and his hand 
gripped a staff topped by an ankh . Blond hair 
streaked with white hung to his shoulders· his full 
beard , similarly streaked , was neatly trimmed . 
Beneath the royal robe , he wore a tunic made of 
white linen, embroidered with heavy silk thread. I was 
nervous about just marching up and talking to him, 
but in the end, that's what I did. 

"Uh, hello," I said. 
The King inclined his head ever so slightly in my 

direction. "Greetings, Seeker," he replied . 
He didn't have the same accent as the other people 

I'd talked to so far. It sounded familiar, but I couldn't 
quite place it. I didn t have a chance to think about it 
because he continued speaking. 

"A new age is upon Britannia. The great evil lords 
are gone, but our people lack direction and purpose 
in their lives. A champion of Virtue is called for. " 

All the while , he had been waving his staff to 
punctuate his words, but suddenly he pounded it on 
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the floor, causing a new surge of adrenalin to course 
through my veins . If there was such a thing as 
adrenalin overload, I was probably close to it. Then his 
voice dropped to a quiet, but even more compelling, 
tone. His gaze seemed to lock onto mine. 

"Thou may be this champion, but only time will 
tell . I will aid thee in any way I can. How may I 
help thee?" 

Whoa, I thought. Me? A champion? I wasn't really 
cut out for that sort of thing. I mean, I'm not a wimp, 
but I'm not the most athletic guy in the world either. 
Besides, this wasn't real. 

"Right," I said. "Who put you up to this?" 
He hesitated a moment as if sizing me up, but his 

gaze never wavered. Then he said, "Up? To what?" 
"This hoax, or whatever it is. I'm really impressed, 

but I've had as much fun as I can stand. Okay?" 
Now I saw the first inkling of concern in the King's 

face. It occurred to me that I wasn't following the script 
or something. Then he was back in command again. 

"Thy language is strange. Wilt thou not accept the 
Quest of the Avatar?" 

I don ' t know why , but it was that moment , 
however brief, of hesitation and genuine concern on 
his part that convinced me to keep playing along. I 
mean, he had really looked confused when I'd 
mentioned a hoax. Either he was a great actor, or this 
was ... Well, anyway, I hadn 't figured out what was 
going on yet but I suspected that this Lord British had 
some of the answers. 

"Okay. Have it your way, " I said, trying to look 
nonchalant. "Tell me about this {Quest of the Avatar. " 

'To be an Avatar is to embody the eight Virtues. It 
is a life lived constantly and forever in the quest to 
better thyself and the world in which we live." 

"Eight ~irtues?" I asked. I might as well pump him 
for as much information as he was willing to give. 

"The Virtues of the Avatar are Honesty, Compassion, 
Valor, Justice, Sacrifice, Honor, Spiritualtty, ard Humility." 

"Tell me about the <l&uest ," I said. 
"Conquering the Stygian Abyss and viewing the 

Codex of Ultimate Wisdom." 
Stygian Abyss. Codex. This was beginning to sound 

seriously dangerous. I tried to change the subject. 
"Tell me more about these ~irtues ." 
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In response, the King intoned the following liturgy 
in a slightly dramatic sing-song while gesturing in 
different directions, presumably toward the towns he 
mentioned. I found the recitation odd, but the way it 
was delivered caused the information to stay in my 
memory, whereas normally I would have forgotten the 
whole thing five minutes later. 

'The fair town of Moonglow, on Verity Isle, is 
where the virtue of Honesty thrives. Bards in the town 
of Britain are well versed in the virtue of Compassion. 

"Many valiant fighters comes from Jhelom, in the 
Valorian Isles. In the city of Yew, in the Deep Forest, 
Justice is served. 

"Minoc, town of Self-Sacrifice, lies on the eastern 
shore of Lost Hope Bay. 

"Paladins who strive for Honor are oft seen in 
Trinsic, north of the Cape of Heroes. 

"In Skara Brae, the Spiritual path is taught. Find it 
on an Isle near Spiritwood. 

"The ruins of proud Magincia are a testament to 
the virtue of Humility. 

"Humility is the foundation of Virtue! Find the 
ruins of Magincia, far off the shore of Britannia, on a 
small isle in the vast ocean. n 

He paused a moment, then continued, looking me 
in the eye again. "Stay close to the towns during the 
early part of thy adventure. ls there anything else 
thou wouldst ask of me?" 

"Uh, no," I said. That was enough. Lord British 
hadn't revealed anything except about the Quest and 
the Virtues of the Avatar. Feeling dazed, I wandered 
off and found a bench along one wall. Nobody 
bothered me and I sat down to think. 

Maybe I had slipped into some sort of psychosis 
and this journey was what my rational mind was doing 
to try to get me out of it. That made as much sense as 
anything else that had happened so far. 

The dreamlike quality of this experience returned. 
That sometimes fuzzy , sometimes hyper-real 
perception that occurred only in dreams. This was 
clearly a case of the hyper-real variety of fugue states. 
At least that's what my rational mind said. 

Oh, I know what you're thinking. We've all read 
the fantasy novels about the guy who finds himself 
mystically transported into another time or into a 
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foreign land. He always questions the reality of the 
situation, but eventually finds out it's real after all. I 
figured my subconscious was replaying the scenario 
I'd read so often. But there was one difference. ln the 
novels, the situation turned out to be real. This time it 
was about me and no way it was real. 

I could smell the perfume and sweat of the 
courtiers. The floor was hard smooth , and cool 
beneath my feet. Running my hand over my tunic, I 
felt the nubby texture of the fabric. In an impulsive 
move I put my hand to my mouth and bit down hard. 

Damn! My hand throbbed, and toothmarks were 
clearly outlined on my palm . I shook my hand 
vigorously to keep it from smarting. Okay, so maybe 
this wasn't a dream. Dreams didn't usually have pain 
and toothmarks in them. Or maybe I'd bitten my hand 
during my dream and just incorporated it in into the 
fantasy somehow. I could go round and round with 
this uncertainty. Dream or not, crazy or not, I didn 't 
have any choice but to continue. Come to think of it, 
that's what the protagonists in the novels always did, 
too. Hmm. 

One clue about what was happening might be in 
the information Lord British had just given me. How 
was I going to remember everything he 'd said? I 
stood there stupefied for a moment, then got a grip. 
I'd a small notebook in my pocket when I'd left­
wherever it was I'd left. I hoped it had made the trip 
with me. 

I rummaged around in the bags on my belt. Luck 
was on my side. Down at the bottom of one of the 
bags I found the book. Like everything else I'd 
brought, it had changed into a Britannian analog of 
itself. My smallish wire-bound notebook was now a 
small hand-bound book made of heavy linen paper. A 
quill was tucked into the spine. I searched some more 
and came up with a small metal bottle filled with ink. 
Now I could keep track of everything that was 
happening to me. 

I sat down on the floor with my back resting against 
one of the pillars and made notes about everything 
that had happened since this "adventure" had started. I 
surprised myself by being quite handy with the quill. In 
fact, I suppose I should have preferred a ballpoint, but 
it never even occurred to me. 



As I wrote, a pretty young woman walked up to 
me. This surprised me, since most of the courtiers 
seemed uninterested in talking to me. 

"Hello," she said. 
"Hi," I replied. I stood up hurriedly, almost spilling 

the ink. 
'Tm Juliet, " she said. 
"So, what do you do here? I mean, what's your 

Wob?" I asked, proving once again what a brilliant 
conversationalist I was. Even in my own fantasy I was 
less than swift with strange, beautiful women. 

"I am one of Lord British 's subjects. Wilt thou 
accept the Quest?" 

"I don't know. I'm not the most virtuous guy in the 
world, and I don't have any training in fighting. " 

"Thou wilt find thyself more able than thou 
wouldst think. Seek to learn how the three Principles 
form the eight Virtues. " 

"Three l.Urinciples? I thought there were just 
eight Virtues ." 

"Seek to know the one thing into which the three 
Principles of Virtue combine." 

"One thing? What?" Now I was confused. 
She just smiled and placed her fingertips on 

my lips. I could smell the faint fragrance of her 
perfume. Roses. 

"Shh," she said. "Listen and pay attention to our 
people carefully, for they will help thee on thy Quest. " 

Then she turned and walked away from me. Just 
once, I wished people would stick around until I 
was ready to say goodbye. I was starting to feel 
lonely. And I would have been more than willing to 
spend time with Juliet. 

I decided to investigate the castle before I went 
anywhere else. Maybe I could get more information 
from the other courtiers. I finished making notes of 
my conversations with Lord British and Juliet. I 
searched the rest of the top floor of the castle 
and found the kitchen and a prison. The prison 
was locked , but the kitchen staff was friendly 
enough . The soup they gave me was great, but 
they had little in the way of information about 
my Quest. 

My Quest . Right . 
I went back down to the first floor and the 
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great hall where I'd entered the castle. The jesters 
were still entertaining, but there weren 't as many 
people here as before. 

I headed east, past the great hall to where a stout 
wooden door blocked my way. It wasn't locked. The 
door opened into a long, thin corridor. As 1 entered 
the corridor, the door shut behind me with a heavy 
thud. The passageway was silent. I could hear only 
faint murmuring from the courtiers in the main hall. I 
wandered about the hallway, but it proved to be a 
dead end. 

Strange, I thought. What's the point of this? 
I wandered back to the door and stood there for a 

moment trying to puzzle everything out. I leaned 
against the wall to the left of the door-and it opened. 
My hands scraped as they slid along the stone walls 
and my knees slammed into the cold stone floor . 

I knelt there for a moment, cursing the architect of 
this castle and my own dumb luck. My hands stung 
and my knees ached. Some great adventurer. Looking 
around I discovered I was in another corridor, the 
mirror image of the one I'd just so painfully departed. 
I looked around to see if anyone had observed my 
pratfall, but I was alone. There was light at the end of 
the new corridor and I made my way toward it. That's 
when the secret door slammed shut. I spun around 
and looked at the featureless wall. 

"Dammit," I said. I smacked the wall in front of 
me. It swung open. 

Secret door, I thought. Hidden latch. I looked 
carefully at the door. It appeared to be made of solid 
grey rock, but on closer inspection, I discovered that 
one rock was lighter than the others, almost white. I 
stepped through the door and it closed again . 
Touching the white rock caused the door to open. 

I tried this a few times, just to be sure it really 
worked. If there's one secret passage, I thought, there 
are probably others. 

I became more careful about my inspection of the 
castle. My care was quickly rewarded-another secret door 
in this hidden hallway led to the outside of the castle. 

As I reached the end of the corridor, I discovered a 
small room to my left. Water flowed through this room, as 
it did in the room in the main corridor. Sitting on the 
stone floor in front of the water was a pretty young 
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woman, dressed in simple grey robes. Her posture 
suggested she was deep in thought . I entered the 
room quietly, unsure whether I should disturb her. She 
must have heard, for she looked up as I entered. Her 
face was young and unlined, but her eyes were old 
and haunted. 

"Hello," I said. 
"Hello," she replied. She looked at me expectantly. 
"What's your ·IUIU?" I asked. 
"Shawn," she said. 
"So , what do you do?" That tired line again . 
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Maybe I needed a new scriptwriter. 
"I watch the water . I come from a proud city . 

It was destroyed for its pride ." 
"Jribe? Destroyed for pride?" 
But she didn ' t answer me . She had already 

turned away and was staring blankly at the 
water. There was an air of great sadness about 
her. I couldn 't think of anything else to say and 
I didn ' t know her well enough to offer any 
sympathetic comments . Feeling awkward and 
clumsy , I slipped from the room. 



A little farther up from the room where I'd met 
Shawn, the corridor ended in a small chamber. There 
were windows in two of the walls, and a ladder led up 
to the second floor through an opening in the center 
of the ceiling. A guard stood next to the ladder. 1 
talked to him, but he didn 't have much to say. I asked 
him if it was okay to climb to the next level, but he 
just shrugged his shoulders. Obviously Lord British 
chose these guys for their brawn and not their brains. 

1 reached the top of the ladder and found myself 
once again in a long narrow corridor. It led to a small 
prison . The doors to the prison were locked and I 
couldn't get in . Peering through the bars in the door, I 
saw several holding cells. I made a mental note to 
come back here later, but not as an inmate. 

Returning to the first floor of the castle, I found 
another place of interest. It was in the west wing, just 
south of the main corridor. 

I opened the door to a room on the eastern side of 
the western wing of the castle and entered a room 
bathed in pale blue light. Smoky trails of incense 
floated in the air, pungent and overwhelming. As I 
started toward the shadowy figure on the far side of 
the room, I felt my eyes grow heavy. Then I slipped 
into darkness. 

When I awoke, I was on the far side of the room. 
Standing in front of me was a wizened man wearing 
what I imagined to be wizard 's robes. Not that I've 
known a lot of wizards in my life, but I knew this was 
what one looked like. 

"Welcome. I am Hawkwind, Seer of Souls. 1 see 
that which is within thee and drives thee to deeds 
of good or evil. For what path dost thou seek 
enlightenment?" 

"Uh, just a second," 1 said. 1 fumbled in my satchel 
for the notes I'd made after talking to Lord British. 
Perhaps Hawkwind could give me a clue about what 1 
was looking for. Better yet, maybe he could tell me if 
I was dreaming, crazy, or both. 

' Tell me about this O&uest, " 1 said as I pulled my 
notes out. 

"That is not a subject for enlightenment," he 
replied. 

"Okay, so how do I become an Avatar?" 
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"That is not a subject for enlightenment." 
Dam, I thought. 
"Explain about ;Jlnmst11," I said. 
"Thou dost seem to be an honest soul. Seek ye to 

become more so." 
"But how?" 
"Do not take that which is not thine." 
That, at least, made sense. "Okay, what about 

<!Imnp11&11Uin ?" 
"Compassion is in thy nature. Seek ye to become 

more so. " 
"How?" 
"Thou must find the way. It will become clear to thee. 

Develop a generosity of character. Give to the needy." 
"What about ~alnr?" 
"Thou hast not shown thyself to be valorous." 
"Well, I haven't exactly had the opportunity. But 

what do I do?" 
"What else?" he asked, ignoring my question. 
I looked at my notes. 
'The Virtue of Wustiu." 
"Thou hast not yet shown thyself to be just." 
"Yeah, but how do 1 do that?" 
He glared at me, then tossed some more 

incense on the brazier in front of him. The smoke 
puffed up and hid him from my view for a moment. 
I coughed and waved the smoke away. He was still 
standing in front of me with that disgusted 
expression on his face. 

"Okay, never mind. Tell me about Jiacrifiu." 
'Thou hast not yet made sacrifices." 
"What about ~=r?" 
"Thou art honorable in some ways." Which 

implies what? I'm not honorable in others? 
"jip1ritualil11?" I asked. 
"Thou hast begun to show thy spirituality. Seek 

now more ways." 
"~lit11?" 
'Thou art not yet a humble soul." 
I was feeling just a little put down, and a little 

steam was building up within me. "Well, why have I 
been picked to go on this Quest if I don't have any 
of the attributes of an Avatar?" 

"Perhaps thou hast the ability to become one." 
The steam escaped suddenly and my indignation 
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was deflated. "Oh," I said. That hadn 't occurred to 
me. I couldn 't even figure out a way to get home. 

"So where do you suggest I start?" I asked. 
"Try the town of Britain, next to the castle. Thou 

wilt learn much about Compassion there." 
I felt intuitively that the interview, or whatever it 

had been, was about over. "Thanks for the help." 
"Remember to see me when thou visitest our 

liege." 
"Sure, thanks again." 
"Fare thee well ," he said. 
I backed away from him and turned toward the 
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door. Once again, I passed through the blue light 
encasing the door and part of the room . And, as 
before, the overwhelming need to sleep assailed me. 

When I awoke , I was shutting the door to 
Hawkwind 's room. Something about the encounter 
with him had made me feel strange. I wandered 
aimlessly about the corridor outside Hawkwind's 
room. That's how I found Lord British 's treasure 
room. 

I opened a door north of Hawkwind 's room. 
There were many guards here, some playing cards, 
some sitting around talking and playing a dice 



game , some sleeping . I wandered through the 
barracks exchanging greetings with them. I never 
would have noticed the secret door in the 
northeastern comer if I hadn't seen one of the guards 
disappear through it. 

I followed him into a hidden room filled with 
chests. Afraid that the guard would ask me what I was 
doing here, I ducked behind a trunk. As soon as he 
left the room, I opened one of the chests. It was 
filled with gold coins that shone dully under the 
flickering torches. I ran my hands through the 
coins, tempted. The guards were so indifferent , 
they probably wouldn 't notice. I was about to put a 
handful of coins in my pocket when my foot bumped 
something and sent it skittering across the floor. 

I dropped the coins and bent to pick the object up. 
It was a smooth flat rock with a mark carved on its 
face . Somehow I knew that this was the Rune of 
Spirituality and that it was important to my Quest. 
How did I know that? I wondered . It 's a creepy 
feeling, knowing something you shouldn't know. 

Slipping the rune into my pouch, I decided to 
borrow some of Lord British's treasure. After all , he 
was the one who wanted me to go on this Quest. I 
would need money for provisions and weapons­
certainly a better weapon than the slingshot I'd found 
in my satchel. Besides, from the look of the treasure 
room, Lord British was loaded. Hadn 't he said he 
would assist me any way he could? 

I slipped out of the treasure room and into the 
guards ' room. They waved at me, but didn 't stop 
playing their game. Quickly, I left the room, feeling a 
guilty blush creeping up my neck onto my face . 

It was late afternoon when I stepped out of 
Lord British 's castle. The light cast long shadows 
and bathed everything in a soft golden glow. 
Sometime during my visit to the castle , I had 
decided to accept the Quest. If this was insanity, 
the Quest might be a way out. U it was a prank, I 
would win by beating the prankster at his own 
game . And if it was something more sinister , 
everything was beyond my control anyway. 

Lord British had told me to investigate all the 
towns and villages in Britannia. What better place 
to start than the neighboring town of Britain? 
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Entry 3-Britnin 
short walk across a grassy field 
took me to the road into 
Britain. Crude huts stood side 
by side with solidly constructed 
wood and stone buildings. Two 
men sat under a tree by the 

side of the cobblestone path leading into town. They 
were dressed in coarsely woven breeches and jerkins. 
Straw hats lay on the ground beside them. 

"Hello," I said. 
"Greetings , friend ," said one of the men . He 

grinned at me as if I were his long-lost brother. Two 
of his teeth were missing. 

"Nice day ," I said, for lack of anything better. 
"What's going on?" 

"Why, we ' re guarding the town entrance , of 
course. Canst thou not see that? Why else would 
we be sitting beside the road?" 

"And what is the name of this town?" 
"This is the fair town of Britain. The place where 

thou hast come to learn Compassion." 
"What makes you think I've come to learn 

aiompiussion ?" 
His smile became even broader, if that was 

possible. "That is what we ponder here in Britain. 
The nature of Compassion. If thou listeneth carefully 
to the people of our town, thou wilt be well on thy 
way to learning much about Compassion. Besides, art 
thou not a bard? Thou shouldst have an affinity for 
the practice of Compassion." 

"Okay, if you say so. " 
"Mayest thou enjoy thy stay in Britain." 
I waved at them and followed a well-worn path 

into the center of town. People hurried about nodding 
to me as they passed by. Soon I came to a grassy field 
bisected by a small clear stream. A wooden footbridge 
crossed the stream and on the far side a tall man 
played the lute for a group of children. He wore a 
beard and had long flowing yellow hair. Something 
about him compelled me to talk to him. 

I crossed the bridge and stood at the edge of the 
circle of children. The man played one song after 
another, one funny , another so sad it threatened to 
bring tears to my eyes, another recounting the history 
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of Britannia . All the while, the children sat and 
listened to him intently (except during the ballads, 
when they giggled over the romantic parts). 

The bard paused in his playing and gestured for 
me to come sit by him. I eased my way through the 
crowd of children and sat on the grass next to him. 

"I am Iolo," he said , placing his lute butt-first upon 
one knee. "Art thou on a Quest for Lord British?" 

"I guess so ," I said. " It wasn 't something I 
planned ... it just sort of happened that way. The 
story is pretty complicated and I have a feeling you 
wouldn 't understand the part about the car. And 
now I'm here, wherever that is, and I'm supposed 
to be going on some Quest. Of course I'm not even 
sure what this Quest involves except that it has 
something to do with a Codex and eight Virtues 
and three Principles. I'm beginning to feel like I'm 
in Oz and I want to go home." 

"Thou hast been given a great opportunity. Thou 
wouldst not have been chosen if thou wert not able to 
complete the Quest. Do not dwell on thy problems· 
seek solutions. " 

"I don't know why I'm telling you all this. What do 
you do, anyway?" 

While I was speaking, one of the children ran up 
and stroked the lute, causing a dissonant chord to ring 
in the air. Iolo patted her on the head and gestured for 
her to try again. As she brushed her fingers across the 
strings, he moved his fingers on the frets, and a 
harmonious sound emerged from the instrument. The 
girl ran back to her friends, giggling. Meanwhile, Iolo 
never intenupted his conversation with me. 

"I seek the way of Compassion. I am a bard," 
he said. 

I noticed a fine bow and a quiver of arrows 
nearby. I suspected that this bard was handy at 
more than just singing, and I acted on impulse. 
"Well, why don't you come with me? I mean, two 
heads are better than one and I sure could use 
help. " 

With a sad grin, he told me, "To my sorrow, I 
cannot J)oin thee . Like the Principles, thy 
companions must also be balanced. " He took up his 
instrument again and began to play. "For now, 
'twould be better if I stayed here and sang to these 
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children. They need my guidance more than thou ." 
Disappointment shot through me. lolo would have 

been a good companion. I wasn't looking forward to 
exploring Britannia by myself. The fact that I'd given 
in to this whole fantasy so quickly was weighing on 
me, too. Part of me wanted to believe it was real. A 
companion would help me believe. But another part 
of me knew it was only a dream. 

I stayed and listened to him sing a while longer. 
The beauty of his playing caused me to lose all track 
of time. Hunger pangs finally reminded me that I 
hadn't eaten since before my arrival in Britannia, and 
I went looking for a place to eat and perhaps to rest. 

As I searched for a food vendor, a small child ran 
across the grass and bumped into me. I grabbed his 
shoulders as I steadied myself. 

"Whoa, watch where you're going," I said. 
The child stared up at me with solemn dark eyes. 
"Who are you?" I asked. 
"A child ," he said. 
"What are you doing here?" 
"I study Compassion." 
"Oiontpttssion ?" 
"Do you know the ~nntra of Compassion?" he 

asked. His face was alive and curious. 
"No," I said. 
"Ask Cricket, " he said, breaking away from me 

and running toward lolo. 
Shrugging my shoulders, I headed on my way, 

wondering who Cricket might be. I stopped and gave 
a coin to a young girl who was begging at the comer 
of one of the shops. Britannia wasn't perfect after all . 

Eventually I found a tavern in the center of town. 
Low and squat, the tavern had a thatched roof and 
small multi-paned windows. The door was open and I 
walked in cautiously . There were several rowdy 
drunks inside. The air was heavy with smoke from an 
open hearth and from the pipes that many of the 
men puffed on. 

I tried to talk to some of the less inebriated 
patrons, but they weren't any help. They just belched 
in my face and started singing randy sailor songs. I 
moved over to one comer and tried to think. A man 
sat in the corner playing a lute. He was clothed in 
yellow and green and his voice was pure and clear as 



a summer stream. When he paused between songs, I 
leaned over to talk to him. 

"Nice music," I said. 
He nodded at me and picked up his lute again. 
"What's your name?" 1 asked. 
"Cricket," he said. 
"What's the ~nntrn for Compassion?" I asked. 
"Shh," he said. "I'm singing." 
Damn performers. I waited until he stopped 

playing and asked him again. 
"The Mantra for the Shrine of Compassion is 

MU," he said. Then he took a swig from a mug of 
ale and started playing again. It was time for me to 
leave. The smoke in the tavern was getting to me. 
And it looked as if a brawl was about to start. I 
wanted to be somewhere else when the punches 
started flying . 

So I had the Mantra for Compassion. I figured 
there had to be a rune for Compassion like the rune 
I'd found for Spirituality. I just knew it , though I 
couldn ' t explain why . Hawkwind had said 
something about shrines; there had to be a Shrine 
of Compassion somewhere, too, I supposed. 

It was dark out . The sky was filled with 
strange constellations. I looked up at them for a 
while , trying to find something familiar. The 
moon was bright and obscured many of the stars. 
Then another moon rose from the west. This was 
too much. Two moons? Going west to east? I felt 
uneasy and decided that what I needed was to go to 
sleep and wake up in my own bed . I started 
searching for a place to sleep. Surely there would 
be a hotel , or would they call it an inn? 

Light spilled from the doorways of the huts 
and shops that lined the streets. But between the 
shops , the alleys looked dark and sinister , and I 
decided it would be smart for me to stick to the 
better-lit areas. 

I'd noticed that there were lots of children in 
Britain. They were easy to talk to and eager to 
tell what they were learning about Compassion. I 
guess I was learning something about it as well. 

Lost in my thoughts, I nearly bumped into a little 
girl. I was surprised to see her out after dark. 

"Hello," I said, trying my best not to scare her. 
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"Hello. I'm Sprite," she replied, without a hint of 
fear or distrust. She giggled and tugged at her tunic. 

"Are you learning about Compassion too?" I 
asked . 

"Oh, yes." 
"Do you know anything about the ~une?" 

"Pepper knows of the Rune. " 
"What about the shrine?" 
"I cannot help thee with that." 
I smiled at her and she smiled back. A woman 

leaned out of a rough hut and called to Sprite. The 
little girl waved at me, then turned and ran toward 
the woman. 

Suddenly I was wide awake. I was on to it. All 1 
needed to do was find Pepper. I went from person to 
person until I tracked her down between a pair of 
shops. She looked at me expectantly, as though she 
had been waiting for me. 

"The rune," I said. "Where's the ~ne?" I didn 't 
care that this was some crazy dream, or nightmare, or 
hoax ... or whatever. I wanted to find that rune. 

"The Rune of Compassion lies at the end of a hall 
somewhere in this town." 

"That's it ... at the end of a hall?" I groaned. 
There were any number of hallways in town. 
Was I going to have to search every one of 
them? 

I was looking for the rune in the healer's shop 
when I met Shapero. He was dressed in what I 
had learned were the clothes of a druid: a loose 
ankle-length robe belted at the waist, worn under 
a long cloak. 

"Hello, " I said. 
"Greetings," he replied. "May I help thee?" 
"No, I'm looking for something. What are you 

doing here?" 
"I am searching for Julio. Art thou on the Quest of 

the Avatar?" 
"Kinda hard to keep a secret around here, isn't it? 

But yes, I am." 
"You will find the Shrine of Compassion east 

across two bridges." 
Just like that , these people would blurt out 

information. I thought I might be getting the hang 
of it. "Hey, thanks ," I said. I tried to think of 
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something else to say, but he nodded and strolled 
off. I was also getting used to the short attention 
span these Britannians exhibited. 

I watched him for a minute, then went back to 
looking for the rune. There were small curtained 
alcoves along the east wall of the shop. Pulling one of 
the curtains aside, I found a young man lying on a 
pallet on the floor. He was injured, and held his side 
as if it pained him. 

"What happened to you?" I asked looking down 
at him. 

"I know a terrible secret," he said. His eyes rolled 
into the back of his head and a spasm shook his body. 

"A~uret?" 
"Mondain's influence has not yet left the world. 

An artifact remains! I heard about it in the 
Buccaneer's Den." 

"#ilonh11in ?" The mention of the name and the 
expression on the young man's face sent a chill down 
my spine. 

"Ask at the Jub there about the Skull. " His eyes 
focused on me for a moment, then he slumped back 
onto his pallet. 

I started to leave the healer 's , but I noticed 
something on the wall . It was a pale white stone, 
just like the ones in Lord British's castle. I walked 
over to it and gently pushed against it. The secret 
door swung back. 

Inside the room was a bard sitting at a small desk. 
He glanced at me, then continued his writing. 

"Who are you?" I asked. 
"Julio," he said. 
"You know that Shapero is looking for you." 
He nodded but didn't seem interested. 
"What are you doing?" I asked. 
"I seek the true nature of things. Dost thou know 

the true nature of things?" 
"No." 
"No man can." 
"Shapero said I should ask you about <!!omp11Hio11. " 

I said. 
"Compassion derives itself from unending love." 

He turned away from me and continued his writing. 
I was tired and wanted to rest and write some 

notes of my own . Quietly, I let myself out of the 
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hidden room . I still hadn ' t found the Rune of 
Compassion, but I decided that searching for it any 
more tonight would be useless. 

There was an inn in the center of town. A rotund 
balding man took my money and sent me to a room 
at the back of the inn. The hallway leading to my 
room was dark except for a ray of light shining under 
a door near the end of the corridor. Curious about 
who else would be up at this hour, I went to the door 
and knocked softly. The door swung open and I saw 
a shepherd sitting on the edge of a plain bed. 

'Tm sorry," I said. "I thought this was my room." 
I felt distinctly uncomfortable with this lie. White 

lies had never bothered me much before, but every 
time I told one in Britannia, I had a bad feeling. It 
was almost as bad as when I'd taken the gold from 
Lord British. 

"Come in ," the shepherd said . "I welcome the 
company. I am Mentor." 

"Nice to meet you. What do you do?" 
"I escaped Magincia. " 
"~ngincin?" 

"Pride was too great in Magincia." 
"There's a girl in Lord British's castle who says the 

same thing ," I said. "Too much :Jllri11e." 

"The city was destroyed by daemons for its pride. 
Pride exists without Truth, Love, or Courage." 

"Sounds like a bad place to live. I wouldn't want to 
go there." 

"Hmm, perhaps a wise choice, perhaps not. " 
"Well, I'll let you get some sleep now." I backed 

out of the door into the hallway. Hallway. I hadn 't 
searched here yet. I went to the end of the 
corridor, just a few steps beyond Mentor's room. 
There was a left tum into a dead end. Sitting in the 
corner was the Rune of Compassion. I picked it 
up and tucked it into my satchel. This called for a 
celebration! Even though I was tired , I decided to 
walk next door and sample the local ale . 

The tavern was still crowded , and even 
smokier than before . I had to elbow my way 
through the crowd to get a mug. I was leaning 
against the bar waiting when one of the drunks 
flopped against me. 

"Hey, watch it," I said. 



"I am Joe," he said. "Yo, ho, ho, and a bottle 
of rum. " 

"Looks like you've already had your bottle of 
rum. Why don 't you give it a rest? What do you do 
besides drink? Don't you have a Wob?" 

"I know about the stone. " 
"~tone?" I hadn't heard anything about stones. 
'The yellow Stone is in the dungeon Despise." 
" ,~hmgwu. Like small underground places where 

prisoners are kept and tortured? That kind of 
dungeon?" 

But Joe had already turned away and was 
staggering off toward some of his rowdy friends. 
The bartender slapped the mug of ale onto the bar. 
I took it and downed it in one long swig. This Quest 
was beginning to look worse and worse. The ale 
was good, though. 

Several tankards later I made my way back to the 
inn. This time I really was going to get to sleep. That's 
when I bumped into Thevel. 

"Watch it, " I snarled. The thought of dungeons 
(and several ales) had made me surly. 

He laughed. 
"I see that thou hast spent too much time at the 

tavern. Thy manners have left thee." 
"Yeah, well, you're right. I'm just upset about all 

this Avatar business. Dungeons, I don 't think so. And 
who are you, anyway?" 

"I am Thevel. I search for the mysteries of the 
magic orbs." 

"Magic ©rbs?" What next? 
"A one-handed beggar knows their secrets. Hast 

thou seen him?" 
What was this, a Dashiell Hammett mystery? 

One-handed beggar, indeed. "No, all I've seen are 
some drunken fighters at the tavern." 

"Find him at the Serpent's Castle, for he knows 
of the orbs." 

"Well, if you knew where he was, why did you 
ask me?" 

"Thou seem' st like one who hath a need to 
know." 

"Uh , thanks ." I felt bad for snapping at him 
before. "Have a good night. " 

"Good night. And good luck with your Quest." 
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It seemed like everyone knew about this Quest. As 
I made my way to my room, my head was full of 
mantras, runes, stones, orbs . . . and dungeons. I 
couldn't help thinking about dungeons. I had a 
funny feeling that sooner or later I was going to end 
up in one. That was my last thought as my head hit 
the pillow. 

.Entry 4-l>ecisions 

11 woke the next morning with ' 
headache and a taste in my 
mouth like an army had 
marched through it while l 
slept. I decided that I would go 
back to Lord British and tell 

him, "Thanks, but no thanks." I wasn 't about to get 
caught up in his lunatic Quest. 

I hurried through the main square. It was busy 
this morning-lots of trading going on. I left the city 
and started across the field to Lord British's castle. 

That's when two ores appeared out of nowhere 
and jumped me. I found out they were ores later on­
all I knew at the time was that two very ugly green 
guys were beating up on me. And using axes to do it. 

I ran and hunkered down behind a rock. 
Frantically, with the sound of their approaching 
footsteps in my ears, I searched through my satchel. 
The slingshot had to be in here somewhere. Finally I 
found it. A bow or sword would have been better, 
but the folks responsible for this nightmare hadn't 
seen fit to provide one. The sling would have to do. 

I stood up and started firing . My first shot went 
wide and I could swear I saw a grin on the face of 
one of the ores. That made me mad. The anger 
took hold of me and my shots began hitting their 
mark. The ores turned tail and started to run. I was 
so angry and frightened I couldn ' t stop hurling 
stones at them. 

They dropped about 75 feet away from me. 
Only then did I notice that my hands were 
trembling and I was bathed in sweat. I jammed the 
slingshot into the waistband of my trousers and 
stood up. My knees were made of water and my 
stomach was doing flip-flops . I put the back of my 
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hand to my lips to keep from throwing up. I'd never 
killed anything other than bugs before. 

It took a little while for the nausea to subside. 
After it passed, I walked over to the two downed 
ores. Their eyes stared blindly up at me, their pupils 
dilated , nearly obscuring the whites of their eyes. 
Their mouths were pulled into rictus grins. Even 
dead they smelled foul beyond imagining, nearly 
prompting a new bout of nausea. I could only guess 
at the diet that caused such an odor, and I didn 't 
want to think about it. A few feet away from the 
bodies I noticed a small chest. I went over to it and 
tripped the latch. A noxious green cloud of vapor 
escaped from the chest-poison of some kind . I 
began to feel sick again, but that didn 't stop me. I'd 
beaten these ores and I deserved some sort of reward. 
It was in the chest-81 pieces of gold. It didn't seem 
like enough. 

Depressed and sick, I staggered toward Lord 
British 's castle. The courtiers made a path for me as I 
entered the throne room. Maybe it was the smell from 
the dead ores, or maybe the poison gas. I went up to 
Lord British. 

"This Avatar business isn 't what I expected ," I 
began, panting. "I appreciate the thought, but I'm just 
not up for it. " 

'Thou hast proven thyself in combat. Dost thou 
deny thy Valor?" asked Lord British. 

"Really, it was just dumb luck. Killing those ores 
was harder than I thought it would be. I mean, they 
were really dead . Dead dead. I've never killed 
anyone before." 

I swayed . The poison was making me dizzy . 
Remembering the look on the ores ' faces wasn 't 
helping the sick feeling I had, either. 

"Killing should never be easy. Even killing evil 
things." 

"Do you have any way to ;Hen! me? Um, I think 
I'm going to faint now," I said. The room tilted and I 
fell to the floor. 

Through half-closed eyes, I saw Lord British 
gesture with his staff. There was a blinding flash of 
light and I felt electricity pass through my body. 
Oh, it wasn 't really electricity, not like plugging my 
finger into an outlet or anything, but it vibrated me 
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from the tips of the hair on my head to the very last 
nerve ending on my toes . When it was over I was 
about to protest this treatment when I realized that 1 
was fine , as though I'd never been injured or 
poisoned. Amazing. I had asked to be healed, and 
apparently the King had done as I'd asked. 

"Thanks," I said . I was about to tell him that 1 
wasn't going on the Quest, but I couldn 't do it. He'd 
just healed me, after all , and was looking at me like 1 
was some kind of great guy. Embarrassment I could 
live with, but not guilt. And I was guilty of something. 

For starters I'd stolen his gold. Also, I'd agreed to 
go on this Quest, and at the first sign of danger, I was 
ready to chicken out. These were not the actions of 
the kind of person who would go on a Quest. I left the 
throne room and went to find a place to think. 

I wandered around the castle , trying to decide 
what to do , poking my head into rooms I hadn 't 
investigated before. There was a healer on the first 
floor of the castle. When I went in, I found an injured 
fighter lying on a pallet. 

"Hello," I said. "What's your mm?" 
"Hello," he said. "My name is Sheesa. Dost thou 

know of the Mystic Arms?" 
"No. " 
"Seek out the smith named Zircon in Minoc, for 

he makes the Mystic Arms and only they will save 
thee from the Abyss." 

"Oh great, more dire warnings," I muttered, but 
the man ignored my outburst. 

Leaving the healer's, I went to what would become 
my favorite room in the castle. It was on the second 
floor, in the southwest corner. There was a window 
that faced toward the sea . I leaned against the 
windowsill and stared out at the tide. The fishy-salt 
smell of the sea floated up to me. 

The castle was interesting , but I knew I had to 
come to a decision about the Quest. Clearly, Lord 
British and the people of Britannia took it seriously. 
Was it fair for me to accept the Quest and feel 
otherwise? Could I measure up to the standards set by 
the Virtues? 

I decided. 
For better or worse , I'd said I would go on the 

Quest. There were people counting on me, and even 



if this ended up being some delusional fantasy, I was 
going to make the best of it. This felt like deja uu . I'd 
made this decision once before, but being close to 
death has a way of making you reassess things. Okay. 
1 was going to do it. Besides, the ores had attacked 
me first! 

I pulled out the map of Britannia and spread it out 
on the floor. Castles and towns were marked on the 
map. My heart sank when I saw how far away they 
were. And there was the problem of getting to the 
towns on the islands. When I'd first talked to him, 
Lord British had told me to stick close to civilization, 
but, except for a handful of cities, there was no 
civilization as far as 1 could tell. Then I noticed the 
bridges scattered across the map. I knew one thing 
about bridges-there had to be people nearby to 
build them. 

To the south and west of Britain were two bridges. 
The terrain looked fairly smooth, no mountains, only 
grassland and forest . I would rest tonight and start 
on my way to wherever the bridges took me to in 
the morning. 

Whatever this was, delusion or some alternate 
reality , I was itchy to get moving , to get to 
someplace where I hadn't already shown myself to 
be a stranger and a whiner. Maybe I'd enjoyed my 
encounter with the ores after all . I was actually 
fantasizing about how I would fight against the 
next creatures who dared attack me. It wasn't like 
me. I had never gone in for barroom brawls or 
fighting for its own sake. But when I thought of 
these slavering monsters who attacked innocent 
people, I danced to a different tune. Did I have the 
makings of a hero after all? 

y :Entry 5-Paw~ 
he sun was just up as I left 
Britain . The grass was still 
sprinkled with dew and a hazy 
mist hung low over the ground. 
Colors were more vivid in 
Britannia. I had noticed that 

from the first. The leaves on the trees were greener. 
The sky was a clear azure, punctuated by clouds so 
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white it hurt to look at them. Small wildflowers, in 
delicate pastel shades dotted the fields I passed. 

Entering the forest was another revelation. The 
trees rose high overhead, blocking out the light and 
casting long shadows on the ground. The smells were 
different, too. Pine, cedar, and a mossy fragrance 
permeated the air. Sometimes I caught glimpses of 
the wildlife that lived in the forest. But more often 
than not I was alone except for the gentle swaying of 
tree limbs and ferns that grew close to the ground. 

The bucolic nature of the trip didn 't last. At the 
end of the day, I was attacked by an ore. He must 
have been following me from the time I'd entered 
the forest . The ambush was just like the one I'd 
experienced outside Lord British 's castle . One 
minute he wasn 't there; the next, he was. 

I decided that the ores in Britannia must be 
related because they all looked the same. Their 
faces were grey-green , broad and flat , with ugly, 
pushed-up, piggy noses. Dark circles underscored 
small , deep-set eyes. Thick rubbery lips framed 
darkened teeth and receding gums. The sloping 
forehead and shaggy hair didn't help matters. No, 
these were some sorry looking creatures! 

The ore threw an axe at me. I tried to duck, but his 
aim was above average. The blade sliced through my 
tunic and cut into the flesh covering my ribs. I felt 
something warm and sticky on my side. Surprisingly 
it didn't hurt much, but I was worried about tetanus. 
The shot I fired back went wide, but the next one hit 
its target . Gradually, small wounds peppered the 
ore's skin and blackish-red blood ran from them. He 
threw an axe and I responded in kind . We stood 
there taking shots at each other, and I didn't even 
realize I was screaming until the battle was over. 

It took a few hours for me to pull myself together. 
Binding up my wounds took a while, and I needed to 
rest and stop shaking. I had read in The Book of 
Mystic Wisdom about magic spells. One of them was 
a Heal spell and I thought, What the heck, I'll try it. 
I had to look it up again and mix the proper herbs 
(reagents, they were called in the book). So I pulled 
out ginseng and spider silk, mixed them, and said, 
"Heal! " feeling slightly foolish . But damned if the 
throbbing in my side didn't suddenly disappear. 



Hardly daring to believe , I peeked under the 
bloody bandage-and there was no wound. My side 
was as smooth and whole as it had been before the 
ore had sliced me with the axe! Now I became 
interested in The Book of Mystic Wisdom for real. 
There were powerful-sounding spells in that volume. 

Unfortunately, not all the magic words were filled 
in . I must have had an early edition of the book, or 
so I surmised. 

Finally , after getting over my shock at the 
discovery of magic that worked, I turned my attention 
to the dead ore. I searched him, holding my breath 
as I rummaged through his belongings. He had 
several rusty axes, a packet of food , and a small 
chest of gold. I took the gold and examined the food 
packet. It smelled pretty bad . It shouldn 't have 
surprised me that ores would eat some pretty grisly 
meals, but this was disgusting. I knew I would need to 
stock up on supplies soon. 

The battle made me more cautious , jumpy , 
actually, and with good reason. The hills and forests 
in this part of Britannia turned out to be lousy with 
ores. I must have fought ten or fifteen of them 
before I reached the first of the two crude, wooden 
bridges I'd seen on the map of the southwest of 
Britain. Three days had passed since I'd left the 
relative safety of Britain, and I was ready for some 
decent food and some sleep . And the gold I'd 
scavenged from the dead ores was really weighing 
me down . I decided I'd have to find a bank 
somewhere or else I'd have to spend some of it. 
Didn 't Britannia have any paper money? 

As I crossed the second bridge, I spotted a small 
town to the northeast. Civilization at last. I'd reached 
Paws, a small village on the eastern coast of 
Britannia. Surrounded by a high stone wall , it held 
rough huts and shops. All in all , Paws looked much 
smaller and more primitive than Britain. 

The streets here weren 't covered with straw (let 
alone cobblestones, like the main road leading into 
Britain) , but were simply hard-packed dirt , and a 
rainstorm the night before my arrival had turned the 
streets to mud. A cart was stuck in the mire and I 
helped push it free . Children played in the muck, 
laughing at each other as they slipped and fell. The 
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townspeople made their way gingerly across the 
streets. The women held their skirts up, showing their 
ankles and the wooden clogs on their feet. In a few 
places, stones and split tree limbs had been placed to 
provide slightly cleaner passage. 

Hopping from stone to stone, I made my way 
toward a small building on the south side of town. 
Bins of fruits and vegetables lined the walls. Hams, 
onions, sausages, and dried herbs hung from the 
ceiling. The smell of fresh-baked bread lingered in the 
air. A tall , thin , jovial man in a white apron stood 
behind a counter in the center of the store. 

"Greetings, friend ," he said. "Can I interest thee in 
rations?" 

I picked up an apple and sniffed at it. The aroma 
was crisp and sweet. I examined it for worm holes, 
but found none. 

"Yes," I said. "I'll need supplies for a long journey 
overland. Do you have dried provisions?" 

"Aye, " he said. "The best in Britannia, and at a 
good price." 

I bit into the apple. It was slightly tart and crunchy, 
just the way I like them. The proprietor began moving 
through the shop picking and choosing provisions for 
my trip. In a few moments food was piled high in the 
center of the counter. I paid him and stuffed the food 
into the cloth sack he'd thrown in with the order. 

'Thanks for your help," I said. 
"Good luck on thy journey," he replied. 
I stepped back into the sunshine. It took a moment 

for my eyes to adjust to the brightness. An armol)I 
stood across the street and I was about to head 
toward it when I heard a horse. Turning, I saw a 
stable to my right, bordered by a corral. The stable 
was made of split logs fitted together. Mud mixed with 
straw was packed into the gaps between the logs. 

I walked to the edge of the corral and looked at 
the horses. These were working horses stout and 
heavy-boned . They looked sturdy and solid . A taU. 
heavy-set man walked out of the stable. 

"They are beautiful," he said. "And they run like 
the wind. " 

"They seem very nice," I said, "but I don't kno1< 
anything about horses. " 

"I could assist thee . See that roan pony over 
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there?" He pointed at a reddish-brown horse with a 
sprinkling of white on his flanks . 

"That is Mysterious Moe. He is a gentle horse 
and well broken . Wouldst thou be interested in 
buying him?" 

1 hadn 't considered riding across country, but I 
liked the idea. A horse would be faster and maybe I 
could outrun some of those ores. There was just one 
problem-I didn't know how to ride. 

"[ don 't know how to ride. " I'd decided honesty 
was the best policy here . 

The man shrugged as if it made no difference. "He 
is a very forgiving animal." 

··1 mean, I've never been on a horse before." 
"It matters not. Thou wilt be able." 
"Says you. " 
He wrapped his huge arm around my shoulder­

his hand felt like a Christmas ham-guiding me 
gently in the direction of Mysterious Moe. "That I do! 
He is a gentle animal and will not throw thee. " I 
could swear the horse was studying me as intently as I 
was studying it. 

"How much?" I asked, after an interval in which 
my impetuous side got the better of my good sense. 

"One hundred gold pieces. 'Tis a bargain for so 
fine a steed. " 

After buying rations, I was feeling a little broke, but 
the idea of riding across Britannia was beginning to 
grow on me. 

"Okay, but if he throws me, I want my money 
back. " 

I didn't hear his answer because he was climbing 
over the fence and walking toward Mysterious Moe. 
Moe just stood there while the man tied a short rope 
around his neck and led him to the gate. Shoving the 
gate open, he pulled Moe through. 

"One hundred gold pieces," he said. 
I counted out the gold and dropped it into his 

outstretched hands. Thrusting the rope into my hand, 
the man nodded at me, then turned and walked back 
to the stable. 

Moe looked at me and I looked at him. Both of us 
seemed nervous. Okay, so I was nervous and Moe was 
cool as a cucumber. It was going to be a long Quest. 
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The crossing to the armory was muddy. By the 
time we reached it, Moe was covered up to his knees 
in muck. He looked at me balefully as I tied him up 
outside. The armory wasn 't as elaborate as the one in 
Britain. There was no forge for making chain mail 
and plate armor, only two long tables covered with 
cloth and leather goods. Two men sat at the table 
piecing together a leather vest. 

"May I interest thee in some armor?" asked one of 
the men. He didn 't look up from his sewing . The 
round needle punched a hole in the leather and the 
man pulled a thick length of cord through. 

"How much?" I asked. 
He quoted me a price I couldn't afford. Maybe I 

could buy some after I acquired more gold. I was 
about to leave the armory when I heard a strange 
noise coming from the east side of the shop. The men 
acted as if they hadn 't heard anything, but I saw one 
of them pause ever so slightly in his sewing. 

Something was behind the east wall and I wanted 
to find out what it was. Hidden doors were the norm 
in Britannia and I searched for one now. It took a few 
minutes, but I found it. 

The door swung open. 
The room was bathed in red , green, and blue light. 

Incense floated and swirled in random patterns around 
the jars and bottles lining the shelves on the walls. A 
wizened old woman sat on a low stool in one corner. I 
walked toward her. She raised her head and I realized 
with a start that she was blind. 

Her milky white eyes gazed at me unseeing , but I 
felt she was looking into my soul . Then the moment 
passed and she was just an old woman in a small 
smoky room. 

"May I interest thee in reagents?" she asked. 
There was little money left after buying the horse 

and supplies , but I'd discovered that traveling in 
Britannia was dangerous without spells to cure and 
heal. One thing I had done on my trip to Paws was to 
study up a little each night in The Book of Mystic 
Wisdom. I figured that as long as I was on this Quest I 
might as well play by the ground rules, one of which 
was that magic worked. 

After purchasing what reagents I could afford , I 
went to one corner of the shop and mixed together a 



number of spell-casting combinations. It took a few 
tries to get the mixtures just right, but after I had the 
hang of it, none of my spells fizzled. I didn't want to 
be caught outside without having some spells 
prepared. 

The remainder of the day I spent getting to know 
many of the townspeople. Zair the Wise told me more 
about the Codex and something called the Three-Part 
Key. I found out about Mystic Armor from Lady 
Tessa. And Barren told me where to find the Rune of 
Humility: in the southeastern corner of town, in the 
small hills. 

The rune was where Barren had said it would be. 
With a small part of my Quest completed, 

decided to go back to Britannia to see Lord British. 
The castle had become my touchstone-I knew I 
would always be safe and protected there. 

£ntry 6-The ~brine 
of eompassion and 
the euest Hegins 
iding back to Britain took about 
half the time it had when I was 
on foot . I did outrun some 
ores, but others were able to 

ambush me and I had to fight. Though I was wounded 
during these fights , none of my injuries were serious 
enough to prevent me from riding on to Lord 
British 's castle. I trusted that he would heal my 
wounds when I saw him, so I saved my reagents for 
real emergencies. 

The court was interested in news from other 
towns, so when I arrived I was the center of attention 
for several days. I was relieved when the interest 
finally died down and I could spend some time alone. 
Lord British listened intently to what I had learned in 
Paws, but he offered little more information about 
my Quest. Resting at his castle was pleasant, but I 
quickly grew restless . The time soon came for me to 
resume my explorations. 

0 0 0 

I rode east from Lord British 's castle as the sun 
was reaching its peak. It was a beautiful fall day; the 
air was crisp and took the heat out of the sunshine. I 
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was heading for the first of the two bridges that would 
lead me to the Shrine of Compassion. During my stay 
in Britain I'd learned the location of the shrine 
from Shapero and I intended to go there and 
learn its secrets. 

Of course, if I had paid any attention to the 
book I'd read about the history of Britannia, I would 
have realized that this journey would be dangerous. 

I passed a circle of stones like the ones I'd found 
near my car, before I came to Britannia. (Odd how 
that felt like years ago , in another life .) I 
dismounted and ate some rations . While I was 
there, a blue shimmering doorway appeared in the 
center of the circle of stones. The hair on the back 
of my neck stood up and the air smelled like rain. 
Mysterious Moe whinnied and pulled at his tether. 
Then the doorway disappeared again. I wondered 
what would happen if I stepped through the 
doorway, but I didn 't want to try. Not just now. 
Another memory came flooding back-the last time 
I'd stepped through one of those doors, I'd ended 
up here in Britannia. 

The doors must be some sort of teleportation 
device , a link between dimensions . The thought 
crossed my mind that one of these doors could take 
me home, but I filed the thought away for later-I had 
a Quest to complete. I had even gotten more 
accustomed to killing ... ores, at least. I didn't have 
violent reactions any more. I'd found that my trus~ 
slingshot rarely let me down. Funny. I'd never thought 
I'd enjoy this kind of life-fighting, sleeping outdoors. 
no cars, no fast food, no MTV-but I did. 

I stood and brushed the crumbs from my lunch off 
my pants, then untied Moe and pulled myself onto 
his back. I leaned forward and patted his neck. He 
shook his mane and tugged at his bridle . The 
decision to buy Moe had been a good one. He wai 
proving to be more than just transportation; l'c 
become attached to him. 

The first of the two bridges leading to the Shrine 
of Compassion was in front of me. When I started le 
cross it I was attacked again. This time there were twc 
ores and an even meaner-looking troll. Ugly as sin, al 
three of them. I didn't waste any time talking, I jus 
started shooting. Perhaps I was a little nervous. I don'1 
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know. At any rate, my aim was off , and they 
seemed to be better at hitting me with their axes 
than I had come to expect. I had cuts and bruises all 
over my body by the time I finally killed them. A 
couple of nasty gashes criss-crossed my upper arms 
and chest, but other than that I seemed to be fine . 
They hadn 't hit me solidly, just a lot of glancing 
blows. Once again I searched the bodies of my slain 
foes and found chests filled with gold. Then 1 
bandaged my injuries and rode on toward the shrine. 

After crossing the bridge, I found myself at the 
edge of a forest. There didn't seem to be any way to 
pass around it. So, after a moment of hesitation, I 
plunged in among the thick foliage, finding it cooler 
under the trees, and darker. 1 guided Moe northeast 
and we cleared a path as we went. 

1 was beginning to enjoy this part of the Quest. 
Riding through a cool forest on a crisp fall day didn't 
seem like a bad way to spend some time. The stable 
master had been right. I already felt as if I'd always 
been a rider. And Moe seemed to be in high spirits. 
He pranced through the woods, his hooves making 
thudding noises in the leaves that carpeted the 
forest floor. Then I noticed the birds had stopped 
singing. All the usual sounds of the forest had died 
away, too. The only sound was Moe's hooves. Even 
the wind seemed to have stopped. 

And then the mage attacked. 
His first attack knocked me off Mysterious Moe 

and sent me tumbling end over end. For a moment, I 
lay on my back, the breath knocked out of me, 
then I started to pull out my slingshot. But he had 
already cast another spell. I felt as if my muscles 
were being ripped out. I fired off a shot at him, 
wishing I had the ingredients for an offensive spell, 
but he dodged the rock from my slingshot easily. 
He gestured at me and I ducked behind a tree in 
time to feel something hot pass by my head. 

Moe's high-pitched whinny pierced the air and I 
knew he'd been hit. Anger surged through me. It was 
one thing to attack me, but to attack a defenseless 
animal really made my blood boil. 

1 knew I didn't have a lot of time. The mage was 
obviously more powerful and dangerous than I was. 
All I had was a stupid slingshot. 1 made a mental 
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note to pick up something more deadly as soon as 
possible. 

1 fired another volley of stones at him and his 
eye collapsed into a small hole of black. Blood ran 
down the front of his face. It was a lucky shot· he 
crumpled like a rag doll. I didn 't feel the surge of 
nausea this time. It was getting easier for me to kill , 
but I didn 't like the other feeling I had-that I'd 
enjoyed it. There was no question that he 'd deserved 
what he got, though. It had been him or me. 

I looked myself over. My clothes were a mess , 
burned and singed from the fireball I'd dodged. Some 
of my hair had also been scorched away and the skin 
underneath felt swollen and tender. I had more 
contusions than before and these were ugly and 
raw, as if they 'd been made by a rough-edged 
instrument. I knew I had to rest up , otherwise I 
wouldn't be able to heal. 

Then I examined Moe. A long, jagged wound ran 
across his left rear flank. The muscles under his skin 
twitched when I touched the area, but he didn't move. 
He craned his neck around and nuzzled me as 
though for comfort. I reached out and stroked his 
velvet nose. There was pain in his soft brown eyes. 

I didn 't want to make camp here , so close to a 
dead body. It was sure to attract wild animals and 
other scavengers. And I really didn ' t want to be 
around in case the mage had buddies. I took Moe's 
bridle and together we staggered through the trees a 
suitable distance until we found a small clearing. 
Exhausted, I flopped down onto the forest floor and 
covered myself with my cloak. It didn't matter that the 
ground was hard and rocky-I was asleep instantly. 

I floated in darkness, dreaming of smog, and of 
telephones that became slingshots, and of beautiful 
women who became fortune-telling hags . Then 
someone was shaking me. I woke to find Moe pushing 
at me with his nose, trying to rouse me. He pawed at 
the ground, then shook his head. 

"! suppose you're ready to go," I said aloud. 
Moe nodded. 
"Like you can understand me, right," I said. Moe 

cocked his head to one side and waited. 
"All right. I'm coming." 
I sat up and winced. I was sore and stiff, but to my 
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amazement, my wounds had somehow healed during 
the night. There were scars criss-crossing my torso 
and arms where I'd been wounded, but they had 
the pink color of freshly healed skin. I didn't know 
what was in the air in Britannia, but it was pretty 
incredible stuff. 

I decided we would make our way as quickly as 
possible to the Shrine of Compassion. If my dead 
reckoning was correct, it was nearby. 

It took us all morning to slog through the forest. At 
the eastern edge, I saw the second bridge leading to 
the shrine. It was surrounded by marshes. 

1 rode into the marsh. The goo sucked at Moe 's 
hooves and as he lifted them noxious gas oozed 
from the ground. A sudden wave of dizziness hit 
me and the world swam before my eyes. Poison! It 
hit me instantly. 

1 had to get out of the marsh, but 1 couldn 't go 
back to the forest in the shape I was in. Somehow I 
managed to stagger across the bridge and out of the 
swamp, but I was still in bad shape. 

There had to be a cure for this swamp sickness. I 
didn't want to die out here alone. I sank to my knees. 

Okay, I thought. Let's try magic. This is a magical 
world and magic should be able to fix me up. 

Sweat rolled into my eyes and my hands were 
shaking as I pulled out The Book of Mystic 
Wisdom . I flipped through the pages quickly, 
looking for the instructions for the Cure spell. 
Naturally , I'd forgotten the procedure to cast the 
spell. My head was beginning to throb and burn . 
The text blurred and the edges of the pages grew 
dark. I struggled to hang on long enough-then I 
found it. 

I said my name aloud, as prescribed in the 
book. I pulled a ginseng-and-garlic mixture from 
the bag and smoothed it over my body. A light 
appeared at my feet and slowly started to move 
up. As it rose, I felt the strength flow back into my 
limbs. My mottled skin regained its normal color 
and my breathing grew easier. The queasiness 
faded and a sense of well-being permeated me. By 
the time the light had passed over my head and 
dissipated, I was free of the poison. I was cured, but 
not healed. It would take some rest for me to regain 

32 

my full strength. But I knew I was close to the shrine 
and I wasn 't going to rest until I reached it. 

I walked over to Moe to see if he needed any help, 
but he seemed okay. Pulling myself into the saddle, 1 
turned south. 

A small ridge of mountains rose up before me. 1 
started toward them and soon found a path worn into 
the rock. I followed it south, then east, then around 
a turn to the north . And there was the Shrine of 
Compassion. 

I rested that night outside the shrine, and entered 
it the next morning. A large stone ankh dominated 
the center of the shrine. It was surrounded by a 
circle of white quartz-like rocks like the ones that 
surrounded the strange blue doorways. 

I don 't remember what happened to me in the 
shrine, only that I was granted a vision. I came away 
from my meditations with a sense of peace and the 
feeling that I must return to the shrine again. 

I camped outside of the shrine for the rest of the 
day. The next morning I packed up my gear and rode 
east. Only a short time later, an impassable mountain 
range blocked my progress. And when I finally found 
a way through the terrain, there was water I couldn't 
cross. After several hours of searching the area , I 
came to the conclusion that I wasn't going to go any 
farther in this direction. I couldn 't find a passage 
through the mountains, and I didn't have a boat to 
carry me and Moe across the water. Frustrated and 
tired, I turned around and headed back toward the 
shrine. It was the only landmark I had in the area and 
I needed it to find my way back to Britain. 

T 
bl.try 1-Jn the Wilds 
he way back to the Shrine of 
Compassion was an endless 
procession of ores, trolls, and 
all kinds of foul creatures. The 
mountains and forests were 
crawling with trolls and ores. I 

discovered the joys of fighting ettins (nasty two· 
headed guys with a bad attitude and great aim with a 
boulder) . Distinctly less joyful were battles with 
headless creatures endowed with huge torsos and 
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burly arms that ended in talon-like fingers. Naked 
and dumb, they never stopped fighting until they 
were dead. 

Occasionally, Moe and I were able to outrun a 
group of monsters. But often that seemed to drive us 
into the arms of something worse. 

The Quest was going to be tough to complete in 
one piece. Maybe if I died , I would wake up back 
home. The idea appealed to me, but I didn 't really 
want to die trying to find out. Besides, I didn't want to 
leave Moe out here by himself. 

We headed north from the bridges leading to the 
Shrine of Compassion. We were about three days 
away from Britain, to the east. The map showed that 
we might be able to go around the large inland sea, 
through the deep forest , and toward the range of 
mountains to the east. As always, I had to fight my 
way through trolls , headlesses , ores , rogues , and 
renegade mages. Each battle brought me closer to 
death , but I always managed to hang on. Moe was 
getting good at hiding during battles. When the 
battle was won, I'd whistle and he'd come running. 

The gold I had accumulated was going to buy 
me a bow. Maybe even a crossbow. We needed 
better protection. 

I was already wounded from a battle with an evil 
wizard. A review of the history of Britannia told me 
that renegade mages used the magic of Britannia for 
evil purposes, so I felt just a little virtuous when I 
managed to defeat one in battle. Unfortunately, the 
fight left me weak and badly wounded, but I pushed 
on instead of resting and healing. I was getting 
pretty cocky until I came up against my first balron. 

He swooped down from the sky, his leathery 
wings blowing gales of wind at me. Homs grew from 
his head and his eyes glowed yellow. Six-inch-long 
fangs protruded from his mouth and his smile 
revealed rows of razor-sharp teeth. That smile sent 
chills down my spine. 

Moe let out a noise that sounded like a scream. He 
reared up on his back legs and I tightened my knees 
to keep from sliding off. When he came back onto his 
forelegs , I jumped off his back and smacked his rump 
to make him run away. But there was no place for 
him to go. We were in a small mountain pass with 
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sheer mountain faces all around us. The only way out 
was through the balron. 

The balron threw back his head and laughed-I 
guess it was laughter, but it was like no sound I'd 
heard before . I was tired , injured, no match for 
him-and he knew it. He circled around me lazily, 
toying with me. I wanted to run, but I realized that 
he would just hunt me down. Besides, there was 
something about him that got my back up. I'd be 
damned if I'd let him see that I was afraid. And I had 
to protect Moe. 

I stood my ground and readied my slingshot 
wishing for the millionth time that I had a better 
weapon. He gestured at me and I felt my body catch 
fire. I screamed and beat at my clothes, but it didn't 
do any good. With the last bit of strength I had, I fire! 
off a volley. It hit him, but didn't have any effect. HE 
gestured at me again and the world went black. 

e 
:t:ntry a-nack at 
Lord Hritish's <!astl£ 
verything was dark. I heard i 
voice calling my name. Ther 
there was a rushing sensatior 
as though I were flying o 
swimming up from the botton 

of a very deep pool. I opened my eyes and foun 
myself in Lord British's castle. 

"Wha . . . What happened?" My tongue felt thid 
and clumsy. 

"I have brought thee back from the brink," sai 
Lord British. 'Thou shouldst be more careful on th 
adventures . I was able to salvage some of th 
belongings, but not all. Good luck on thy Quest. " 

"The Quest," I began. "I've failed. I've failed you. 
don't think I'm the one for this Quest. I almost !JE 

myself killed and I've only been on the Quest for 
couple of weeks. Maybe someone else should go a 
the Quest. " 

Lord British didn 't say anything. He just looked 1 
me with an understanding expression that made m 
nervous. 

"I think thou wilt find that thy experiences hai 
tempered thee." 
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I felt like a failure. "I don 't know." 
"Good luck on thy Quest. Remember to come to 

me shouldst thou need assistance." 
"But .. . " 
Of course it was too late. He had already turned to 

another courtier and was deep in conversation. There 
wasn 't any other choice but to continue. And though 
I didn't want to admit it, I wanted to go on. 

My legs were wobbly as I left the throne room and 
went to the room I'd begun to think of as my own. I 
checked my supplies. The runes were still there 
along with my sling and clothes. I was missing all the 
gold I'd accumulated from my battles and some of 
my food. Except for the knowledge I'd gained during 
my battles, I was pretty much back to square one. 

Then I realized I was missing something else­
Mysterious Moe. I ran down the hall and burst into the 
throne room . Courtiers looked up from their 
conversations and a hush fell over the room. Even the 
jugglers dropped their clubs. 

"Mysterious Moe," 1 gasped. 
"Who?" asked Lord British. 
"My horse. Mysterious Moe. " 
Lord British got a pained expression on his face . 
"I am sorry. I could not save thy horse." 
I had suspected as much but didn 't want to face 

the truth . Mysterious Moe, with his soft brown eyes 
and uneven canter, was dead. My eyes stung and 
the lump in my throat was choking me. There was 
nothing left to do but go rest up and start again 
tomorrow. I walked from the room on stiff legs, my 
body painfully held erect. I didn 't want to dwell on 
my loss; instead I chose to push the pain aside and 
concentrate on the Quest. 

I thought about what I'd learned so far. One 
thing I knew was that I'd need better weapons if I 
hoped to survive the wilds of Britannia. A bow, or 
even a crossbow, would be a good choice, but that 
cost money, which meant killing more monsters. 
Killing monsters wasn 't particularly repugnant to 
me now, especially if the monsters were balrons. 
How I would kill a balron wasn't clear to me, but the 
very thought of it made me smile. I was still smiling 
when I fell asleep. 
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y :Entry 9-The ~hrine 
of ~acrilice 
he next day I set out on the 
Quest again. I made my wa1 
east, then north , back to the 
range of mountains where I'd 
lost Moe. It was cold in the 

mountains. Though it was still early fall , here in the 
mountains it felt more like the dead of winter. I 
pulled my cloak tight and tucked my chin into m1 
neck, but it didn't help much. Errant gusts of wind 
still blew down my back, making me shiver. It had 
been a difficult journey so far, but I was getting 
used to battling my way cross-country. 

I discovered that Lord British had been right­
was changing, becoming stronger and more adep 
at the use of weapons and magic. There wen 
limits to what I could do, of course, but I was stronge 
than before. 

I pushed on through the mountains hoping 
would meet the balron again. I wanted him dead, a 
as dead as something that unnatural could get. But 
didn't get the chance. As I traveled east, the mountain 
gradually sloped down into hills, then into smoott 
grassland dotted with trees. 

Wandering aimlessly about was not a good ide 
and I wanted to find a village or town to rest in. 
knew that towns were often located near water, so 
started south, toward the sea. Also, I wanted to get a 
far away from the cold as I could. Sometimes whe 
you're not looking for something you find it, whic 
was how I discovered the Shrine of Sacrifice. 

The Shrine of Sacrifice sat serenely across a sma 
footbridge in a grove of trees. The fact that the · 
was so peaceful should have made me wary, but 
didn't. I started across the bridge and was ambushe 
by a couple of ores. You could hardly cross a bridge 
Britannia without fighting a pack of ores or trolls le 

both). I don 't know why I didn 't think of it before 1 

started across. I won that battle, but I was getting tiri 
of killing ores. 

The Shrine of Sacrifice was just like the Shrine 
Compassion-a large ankh in the center of a ring 
white stones. I discovered I couldn't enter the shrir 
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without the appropriate rune and Mantra , so I drew a 
small map to guide me back here later. I knew I'd 
have to come back. 

A small grove of trees just north of the shrine 
looked like a nice place to camp, so I settled down for 
a short rest. Both moons were dark that night and I 
had just lain down to rest when a strange 
phenomenon occurred. Small mushrooms began 
sprouting up all over the forest floor. I remembered 
reading in The Book of Mystic Wisdom about 
nightshade, a reagent so deadly and potent that it 
could only be harvested when the moons were 
dark. I grabbed as many of these small mushrooms 
as 1 could. Though I had no idea how to use them 
yet, l planned to make a careful study of the spells in 
The Book of Mystic Wisdom to see what 
nightshade could do. 

The next morning l made my way south again . 
Eventually I came to a small town. 

Entry 10-Vesper 
i r· hi• town """ about the ~"' of 

Paws, and was also ringed by 
a high stone wall. As in 
Britain and Paws, the guards 
at the front gates didn 't 
interfere with me. 

I went north on the well-worn path that cut 
through the grass. There weren't regular streets 
here , just paths worn by constant use. At the 
northernmost point in town I found a double 
throne. Seated on the throne were two mages. As 
mages go , they were fairly typical. Robes great 
staff , book of lore, long beard. They eyed me 
impassively as I approached. 

"Hello," I said. 
"Greetings," one of them replied . "I am Twin 

Gates. " 
";lllljm am I?" I asked. "This town isn't on my 

map." 
Inclining his head, the mage acknowledged my 

comment. The other looked amused. 'Thou art in 
Vesper. Hast thou come a great way?" 

"Yes, I have." Little did he know. 
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"We are honored by the visit of the one on the 
Quest," he stated with some formality . 

I was beginning to wonder if I had "Quest" written 
across my forehead . 

"Do you know anything about the Quest?" 
"I am afraid I cannot help thee," replied the other 

mage. 
"Well , thanks anyway." I would have expected 

these two to know something, but I struck out with 
them. 

I turned and walked into the center of town . 
Vesper consisted of some small huts and a central 
marketplace . Several shepherds were gathered 
together in a corner of the courtyard. They smiled at 
me and gestured for me to join them. 

"I am Plain," said the smallest man in the group. 
"This is Simple, Gem, Joseph, and Randal. " 

"Hello " I said , acknowledging them all and 
squatting on the grass with them . "Why are you 
here?" 

"I am on a pilgrimage," said Joseph. "Dost thou 
know that there is no Shrine of Pride?" 

"No." 
"Pride is not a Virtue of the Avatar." 
"Pride has no virtue ," Plain said. "That is why 

Magincia was destroyed . Humility is the virtue that 
remains." 

"But what about the .Sltrinc," I asked . I knew I 
would need to know later. 

'The Shrine of Humility lies on the north bank of 
the Isle of the Abyss and is guarded by endless 
hordes of daemons. It is off the coast southeast of 
Britannia," said Simple. 

"Endless hordes of ~nemons?" I asked. 
"Beware. " 
"What about the ;!ID!nntrn?" I asked. 
"Since Humility is the opposite of Pride, so it is 

with its Mantra ,"said Gem. 
"But I don't know the Mantra for Pride." 
"When you do, reverse it. " Riddles, I hate riddles. 

Oh, well . I decided it was better than being bored. 
I thanked them for their help and got to my feet. 

Brushing the grass off my pants I walked toward the 
arms shop ahead of me. I asked about crossbows, but 
they didn't have any. I bought a bow instead, thanked 



the man for his time, and exited the shop. There were 
narrow corridors on either side of the arms shop. 
Down one was a small inn; down the other, a tavern 
and the shop that really made my trip to Vesper 
worthwhile . 

Behind the armorer 's shop was a Guild shop . 
Though what guild I wasn't certain. They didn't say. 

Compasses , rope , bells , and various pieces of 
nautical equipment were piled on shelves or hung 
from the ceiling on the left side of the room. A long 
glass-topped case ran along the right side of the 
room. Under the glass, multi-faceted jewels glowed 
in the dim lamp light. Next to the jewels were keys 
on oversized round key rings . Row upon row of 
torches lined the walls like soldiers at attention. 
The man who slouched behind the counter was 
anything but soldierly. 

"Avast ye, mate! Sure ye wish to ~u12 from Ol ' 
Long John Leary?" 

The speaker had several days' growth of beard. He 
sported an eye patch and a peg leg. I thought I'd been 
dropped into Treasure Island for a moment. Every 
time he opened his mouth I caught the distinct 
aroma of rum. 

"Welcome to the Guild shop. Like to see me 
goods?" 

I stood for a moment with my mouth working, but 
no sounds came out. 

"C'rnon, mate. What'll it be? Ye look like a fish 
gaspin ' fer water. Like to see me goods?" he 
repeated. 

"Yes ," I managed to get out. 
"Good, mate. Here's what I got: torches, magic 

keys, magic gems. Wanna buy?" 
"What does a magic key do?" I asked. 
"Opens any locked door ye might encounter, 

mate. A handy tool depending on yer occupation." 
"And the gems?" 
"Ah, that's a secret, mate. Ye don't want Long 

John to give everything away." 
I looked over the tray he put in front of me. If I 

ended up in the dungeons , the torches would 
probably come in handy. And if I didn't know what 
the gems did , I figured I'd rather have some than 
find out I needed one at a bad time. The keys I 
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knew would come in handy-I'd already run across 
locked doors . 

"What about something to help me figure out 
where I am?" 

Asking for item 'D' at any of the Guild 
shops will allow you to buy a sextant-if 
you have enough gold. 

"Ah, ye mean a sextant. Aye, I have one of those 
It'll cost ye 900 gold pieces." 

"Nine hundred gold pieces! " 
"That's the price, mate. Take it or leave it. " 
This was a great shop. Lots of new items, anG 

they mostly looked handy. But I didn't have enoug~ 

gold for all that stuff, especially the sextant. I didn'! 
even consider stealing from the townsfolk who were 
for the most part, trusting. I'd realized after taking tlY 
King's gold that I couldn't do that again. So I spent . 
few days around Vesper hunting down ores and oth~ 
nasties and getting their gold. 

I know it sounds a little predatory, but I'd leamet 
that the evil creatures that roamed the wildernes: 
were a danger not only to me but to the innocen 
citizens of the land . By ridding Britannia of the 
monsters , I was helping the good folk . No doub 
Hawkwind would say my Valor had increased, an 
perhaps some of my other attributes as well . Chai 
one up to enlightened self-interest. 

Finally I returned to the Guild Shop and purchase: 
the sextant and as many of the other items as I cru 
afford. This little shopping spree took me down to m 
last gold piece, but I had decided to return to Britain. 
wasn't thrilled about it, but somehow I knew I neede 
to see Lord British again and tell him what I'd leame 
about the Quest. I knew there would be battles-an 
treasure-along the way. 

I stayed for a few more days in Vesper befor 
returning to Britain. The shepherd Serville was ver 
helpful, even though I had to promise not to reveal hi 
hidden location. 
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Editor 's Note 
Once he acquired a sextant, the Avatar kept a 

record of the latitude and longitude of each place 
he uisited. The latitudes and longitudes of the 
places of importance in Britannia can be found in 
the back of this volume. 

T 
Entry 11-Locke Luke 
and Cove 
he people in Vesper treated me 
well, but my wounds were 
healed and I was getting 
restless again. Since I'd agreed 
to undertake this Quest I'd 
found myself unable to stay 

too long in any one place. The need to reach the 
Quest's conclusion drove me onward. 

It was late fall when I left Vesper. The leaves on 
the trees had turned and the forest was on fire with 
golds, reds, and yellows. Underfoot the fallen leaves 
crunched and crumbled to dust. The air was cold at 
night and I was glad I'd thought to buy a wool cloak 
in Vesper. 

I stopped and gathered more nightshade near the 
Shrine of Sacrifice before I made my way into the 
mountains. The thought of getting snowbound in the 
mountains terrified me. Visions of the Donner party 
wandered through my dreams and I hurried to get 
through the higher elevations before first snowfall . 

It was bitter cold in the mountains . My breath 
formed little clouds in front of my face and after a few 
hours my feet and hands were numb. But I kept 
pushing forward . It wasn't just the cold that drove me 
on-it was the thought of meeting another balron. 
With my stiff hands and feet I would be an even easier 
target than before. I'd gotten over some of my anger 
at Moe's death and my more rational side knew that 
looking for an encounter with a balron was stupid. 

I reached the edge of the mountains after three 
days without rest. The air grew progressively warmer 
as I made my way through the hills. By the time I 
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reached level ground, I was exhausted. Making camp 
at the foot of the mountains may not have been the 
wisest thing to do , but I wasn't feeling wise, just tired. 
The night passed uneventfully and I awoke the next 
morning feeling much more like myself. The magical 
properties of Britannia helped me grow stronger 
every day. 

To the west of the mountains was Locke Lake. I 
had managed to decipher enough of the runes to 
make out the names of most of the places on the 
map. Locke Lake was ringed with poisonous swamps, 
so I skirted the lake and made my way around the 
northern edge. Ores lived in these woods and I knew 
they'd be after me if I didn 't move quickly. 

As I made my way south along the western shore, 
I caught a glimpse of something moving on the waves 
of the lake. At first I thought it was a figment of my 
imagination, but then it moved again. Finally it came 
close enough that I could see that it was a small ship. 
The sail was puffed out and the ship moved quickly 

over the water. At the top of the mast a small flag 
whipped about in the breeze. The flag was black with 
a white skull and crossbones centered in the middle . 
The Jolly Roger. It was a pirate ship. 

I had just realized this when the ship 's cannon 
fired . A cannonball landed in front of me, sending up 
a huge plume of dirt and knocking me on my back. 
The force of my fall onto the cold ground knocked the 
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breath out of me. Lying there gasping for air, I 
wondered what I'd done to provoke them. Then I 
realized it didn 't matter. They were going to kill me 
if I didn 't get up and defend myself. 

I rolled over and pushed myself up. Lungs burning 
and legs weak , I struggled to my feet. Another 
cannonball landed. Dirt flew, tufts of grass jumped 
into the air, the earth rocked. A small crater appeared 
in the ground and my ears rang from the sound. I fell 
forward and began crawling. Silver dots swam before 
my eyes. I waited for another explosion, but the 
cannons fell silent. 

Why hadn ' t they killed me? I rolled over and 
looked in the direction of the pirate ship. The boat 
had pulled even with the shore and a gangplank was 
being lowered. They were going to come ashore and 
finish me off. 

I crawled forward and crouched behind a tree. It 
was time to analyze my options. I wasn't dead, but I 
was pretty beat up. If I waited and let them come at 
me. I would lose the element of surprise and any hope 
I had of surviving. Gathering my courage, I leapt out 
from behind the tree and charged the boat. 

The pirates turned and looked at me, their mouths 
open in surprise. I'd expected a whole crew to come 
charging at me, but only two men were visible on 
board. Charging up the gangplank, I fired one arrow 
after another from my bow, but the pirates proved to 
be a lot tougher than most of the people and 
creatures I'd encountered in Britannia. 

I had little time to think about pirate durability; all 
my thoughts were instantly centered on dodging 
pirate attacks. They were better armed than I and had 
no interest in taking prisoners. Our blood splattered 
the deck, making it slick. My arrows continued to find 
their mark. My bow arm grew tired, but by this time 
the pirates were in worse shape. I tried to keep my 
distance from them and keep the arrows flying . One 
particularly macho pirate slipped in his own blood, but 
just laughed and applied his weapon more fiercely 
than before. ._, 

I was getting weaker by the minute and needed to 
end this battle quickly. In a frenzied spurt, I launched 
arrow after arrow. My blind panic lasted long enough 
for me to defeat the pirates , but I found myself 
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wounded and in need of rest. I made sure the pirate! 
boat was firmly anchored then collapsed gratefulli 
into slumber without even bothering to light a fire. M 
last thought was that I would have been dead if (', 
tried to fight the pirates with the slingshot. 

0 0 0 

The next morning was overcast and grey. My muscle 
were stiff , but otherwise I felt fine . After a quid 
breakfast, I boarded my new boat and looked around 

She was a tidy vessel. The pirates had taken goo 
care of her. The rigging on the main mast had becom 
tangled during the night and it took me a while tc 
straighten it out. Apparently the pirates hadn 't har 
enough time to secure all the lines before the1 
attacked. Casting off from shore, I raised the sail an: 
let it catch the morning breeze. The wind ruffled 1111 

hair and my cloak billowed behind me. It was just liki 
with the horse. Somehow I found myself knowing jus 
what to do, and I was sailing like a bloody pirat. 
myself. I began to search for a tributary that woul 
take me out to sea. Now that I had a boat, I coul 
reach the islands off the mainland and pursue mor. 
information about the Quest. 

I soon discovered that ores and rogues who liw 
along the water's edge could do an astonishin. 
amount of damage to me, even from the shore 
Careful sailing kept me from getting too close. Sailin 
clockwise, I made my way around the lake. 

Marsh and woodlands dominated the northe~ 
edge of the lake. To the east, steep cliffs rose out o 
the water. I rounded the eastern shore and heade: 
southwest. Soon I saw the Shrine of Compassia 
nestled among the high cliffs. It glowed softly u 
the grey light. It was possible to reach the shrin 
from the lake, and I filed that information away fo 
future reference. 

An estuary on the southern edge of the lak 
flowed south; I swung the boat around and steered 
carefully into the small opening. 

Navigating this passage was tricky and I feare 
losing the bottom of the hull in the shallow water. 
hoped this was my way out of the lake. I wanted 
get to open sea and make my way to the islana 
offshore. Following the stream I turned south, the 
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east, before stopping abruptly at a small inlet. Sheer­
faced mountains surrounded the inlet on three sides. 
Huddled against the cliffs was a tiny village. 

The village wasn 't marked on my map, and none 
of the people I'd talked to so far had mentioned its 
existence. I dropped the anchor and tied the lead line 
to an iron post I found sticking out of the ground. 
When I jumped ashore, the earth seemed to move. I 
was concerned until I realized that my time at sea had 
left me unused to walking on solid ground. 

Cautiously I approached the village. 1 was getting 
accustomed to being jumped by all kinds of Britannian 
monsters. To my relief, I made it to the path leading into 
the village without encountering anyone or anything. 

The village was small. There were only two stone 
buildings. Unlike every other Britannian town, this 
one had no surrounding walls. I guess the residents 
figured they were well protected between the lake 
and the cliffs. A footpath led into the village. The 
grass was barely worn, as though there were little 
traffic to flatten it out. 

A grove of trees grew off to the south of the path. 
To the north, a small pond glistened in the 
slanting afternoon sun. In front of me a small druid 
stood on a wooden bridge which passed over a 
fast-running stream. All this was pretty much in 
keeping with the usual Britannian style of things, 
except for the seahorse that bobbed lazily in the 
stream. The short druid was leaning over the 
bridge talking to the seahorse . Talking to a 
seahorse? What next? 

The conversation must have been pretty amusing 
because as I walked up, both threw their heads back 
and laughed . Or rather the druid laughed; the 
seahorse produced something between a whinny and 
a nicker that sounded remarkably like a guffaw. 

"Mind if I interrupt?" I asked. I was trying to be 
nonchalant about the talking-seahorse business. 

"Not at all," said the druid. "I am Frontis. It is my 
duty to welcome thee to Cove, the hidden city of 
Wisdom." 

"~ihbcn is right. If I hadn't run across that pirate 
ship I might never have gotten here. " 

"Oh, there are other ways to reach us," Frontis 
said. "Thou couldst have come through the whirlpool. " 
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'';illll~irlpool ? Never mind, I don 't think I want to 
know. Who's your friend?" I gestured to the seahorse. 

'That is Blissful," replied Frontis. 
"Nice to meet you, Blissful," I said. 
"And thou. Art thou on the Quest?" asked the 

seahorse. 
"Yes. Does everyone in Britannia know about this 

Quest?" 
"The shrine ankh knows how to enter the Chamber 

of the Codex. " 
",ffe'~rine nnJUi ?" I asked. 
"We have a shrine here in Cove. Perhaps he speaks 

of that," said Frontis. 
"Meditate at the Shrines of Honesty, Compassion, 

and Valor for three cycles to learn how to enter," said 
Blissful. 

With that , the seahorse plunged back into the 
water, sending up a spray that splashed Frontis and 
me. I wiped futilely at my clothes, but they were pretty 
well soaked. 

Frontis laughed and shook his wet hair. 
'"Tis the way of seahorses. Wilt thou be staying 

with us for a while?" 
"At least until I dry out and have a look around. 

I've discovered that a lot of people in Britannia have 
information about my Quest. " 

"Thou art welcome to stay as long as thou desirest. " 
'Thanks. And thank Blissful for the bath next time 

you see him." 
Frontis chuckled and walked away from me. 
I walked over the bridge and turned north into the 

shrine. 
The shrine was a building made of white marble. 

Red light pulsated, casting an eerie glow in the room. 
The light was coming from a series of force fields that 
protected alcoves running the length of the walls . 
Don 't ask me how I knew they were force fields . 
Maybe from watching Star Trek reruns. Or perhaps it 
was part of the mysterious knowledge that I kept 
dredging up from nowhere . And then I began to 
wonder why there were force fields here . Was 
someone trying to protect something? 

A large stone ankh stood at one end of the shrine. 
As I approached, I was overcome by a sense of peace 
and well-being. The desire to meditate at the shrine 



washed over me. I concentrated and freed my mind 
of all thoughts. The ankh reached out and connected 
with me. I know we communicated, but I am unable 
to recall the conversation. The only thing I remembered 
was that something was said about the Codex of 
Ultimate Wisdom. 

Eventually this connection was broken and I went 
back to exploring the shrine. 

To the left of the ankh was one of the six force 
fields in the room. It glowed red and ominous. I stuck 
my hand into the field. A roaring sound thundered in 
my ears. My hand burned as if it were on fire. I 
opened my mouth to scream, but no sound came. 
Cursing , I tried to pull my hand out of the field. 
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Though it took only a moment to wrench my haru 
free, the pain made it seem longer. 

Somebody wanted to keep me from finding wha 
was behind this field-which gave me a powerful itcl 
to discover those secrets. 1 had a sudden thought 
Reaching into my satchel, I pulled out The Book o 
Mystic Wisdom. I remembered seeing a spelt fo 
removing force fields. I found it, mixed together th1 
necessary reagents and cast the spell. 

The field flickered , then shattered into a million piece 
with a crackling sound and fell to the floor. A momen 
later, the pieces faded and disappeared, making a mutei 
popping sound. It was eerie . Cautiously, I steppe1 
forward and found myself in a small alcove. 
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Why would a force field be protecting an empty 
alcove? I thought. Unless , of course, everything 
here isn 't what it seems. 

I ran my hands along the wall. The stone was 
smooth and even under my fingertips . Then I 
studied the face of the wall. On the western wall I 
discovered what I had been looking for-the latch to 
the hidden door. 

The wall swung away from me into the room 
beyond. A gust of stale air blew out. Poking my head 
into the room, I discovered a candle. It was made of 
golden-white beeswax and rested on a filigreed stand 
embedded with cabochon rubies and sapphires. A 
crystal dome covered the candle and fit neatly into the 
base on which it rested. A small engraved plate on the 
base said: Candle of Love. 

An overwhelming urge to take the candle flowed 
through me. 

Should I take this? I wondered . Would it be 
honest? 

Then another thought occurred to me-that this 
was an item of importance to the Quest. I had no 
rational reason to think this, just a strong sense of the 
rightness of the notion. 

Gently, almost reverently, I wrapped the candle 
up and slipped it into my knapsack. I left the shrine 
and continued my investigation of Cove. 

0 0 0 

In the grove of trees, I found a group of mages. 
They were sitting around a small fire discussing 
Virtue, the Axiom, and the One True Principle. Their 
names were Spellbind, Shaman, Charm, and Circe. 

"The One Pure ,P.xiam encompasses all things ." 
said Charm, a pretty woman with black eyes and dark 
hair. 

"Yes, but one must know the combination of the 
three l,:Jrincipl•s of ~irtue," said Spellbind, a tall mage 
with long brown hair. 

"The One Pure Axiom is more endless than the 
changing tides, more eternal than day and night, " 
replied Shaman, who wore a serious expression. He 
interrupted as though Spellbind hadn't said anything. 

Circe sat apart from the rest. A mysterious smile 
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spread across her face as she listened to her 
companions . I asked what her opinion of the 
l)Jrincipl•s was and she whispered it in my ear. Later, 
after we had eaten , I thanked them for their 
hospitality and continued looking around. 

My search through Cove introduced me to many 
interesting people. Merlin told me where to find the 
black fotam. Sloven knew of another fot01te and told 
me who might reveal its location. Mentorian told me 
the @at. spell with the understanding that I would 
not reveal its ingredients. I have kept that promise. 

Brother Zair had information on how I might 
discover the ~=h of Passage needed to enter the 
last chamber of the Stygian Abyss. He told me to see 
the Kings of the castles that represent the three 
Principles. Each King only knew one of the three 
syllables. Allen, a small boy I had to search the town 
diligently to find , told me I needed a ship to reach 
the b-qss. 

The inhabitants of Cove had much to tell me about 
my Quest and I was glad I had found the village. As I 
sailed away, I thought I saw Blissful , the seahorse, 
following my ship, but it must had been a trick of the 
light. Or maybe of the mind. 

Through much arcane research, we were able to 
discover the reagents needed to perform the Gate 
spell the Avatar mentions. Mix together one part 
each: ash, black pearl, and mandrake root. Then 
the caster must invoke the phase of the moongate 
he wishes to travel to . The Gate spell is very 
debilitating and may only be performed by 
experienced mages. 

The Editors 

bltl'y 12-The (D) m oongate and Yew ne of the advantages of having the 
boat was that I was able to sail 
straight to the western shore of 

lt:::======:I~ Locke Lake without going 
through the swamps. I came ashore 

just north of the bridge leading to the Shrine of Compassion. 
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Making my way toward Britain seemed like the 
next logical thing to do. I skirted the foothills to the 
west and started southward. More ores, trolls, rogues, 
and undead skeletons attacked me , but I easily 
dispatched them. 

In front of me I saw a bridge, and beyond it the 
spires of Lord British 's castle. I hurried across the 
bridge, my destination in sight. The ring of white 
stones was on my right. As I passed by, the hair on 
the back of my neck stood up. Whirling about, I saw 
that the blue doorway had appeared in the center of 
the ring of stones. 
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The air was filled with the smell of rain. Thr 
doorway pulsed and glowed. Though I had avoidec 
using it before, something pulled me forward. I wa; 

at the edge of the circle of stones. The doorwa1 
beckoned. I leaned forward, took a deep breath 
then jumped. 

I remember that for a split second, self-doubt hr 
me just as I entered the strange light/door/gateway . 
. whatever it was. I'd been doing a lot of irrationa 
things lately , but this was pure insanity. I'll nev~ 
know what made me do it, but I counted it as furthe­
proof that I was delusional, probably droolin~ 



W.'flmff JV: ~uest of the ffvwzir 

somewhere in a padded room while concerned 
doctors and orderlies clucked their tongues and shook 
their heads. But I had no time to deliberate the 
matter. I had jumped from the frying pan into . . . 

Light exploded around me. I screamed but no 
sound left my mouth. In a split second it was over. A 
sense of vertigo, then I landed on the ground. The 
place I'd been standing in was gone. There were 
trees around me as far as the eye could see. I 
breathed again. 

Instant teleportation. At least I assumed it was 
instant. I squinted up at the sky. The sun seemed to 
be in the same position as when I'd entered the 
doorway . Then I had a thought. Maybe I had 
teleported home. Maybe I was in the forest by the side 
of the road where my car had broken down. I began 
to run. Soon I burst into a small clearing, in the 
middle of the forest. To the west there was nothing 
but more forest. I turned east and crossed the 
clearing, venturing into the woods on the other side. 
Soon a town came into view and bitter 
disappointment filled me. Another Britannian village. 
Not home. 

I wallowed in my frustration for a moment, then 
put it aside. There was still a Quest to be completed. 
And, though I could hardly admit it at the time, I think 
another part of me was relieved. I pretended to go 
about my Quest duties with a sort of resignation, but 
part of me was anxious to see it to its conclusion. 
Going home now would be tantamount to giving up. 

A moat, spanned by a wooden bridge, circled the 
village. Like Cove , this town didn ' t have any 
protecting walls , but the moat looked deep and 
dangerous . I suspected it was stocked with the 
monster du jour, and I didn 't want to sample the daily 
special. Tall trees grew up against the sides of the 
stone buildings in the town. It took me a moment, but 
I managed to make out smaller wooden huts hidden 
deep in the trees. 

I crossed the moat and walked toward the center 
of town. A short man dressed in druid 's clothing stood 
on the grassy path, right in my way. He wore a loose 
sage-green tunic, belted at the waist. In his hand he 
held a staff carved out of wood. The staff looked like a 
snake, its body wavy, its head triangular. 
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"Greetings, traveler," he said. "Welcome to Yew, 
the city of Justice." 

"Hello ," I said. "Who are you?" I chuckled at my 
unintentional pun, but he didn't seem to notice. 

"I am Dwp," he said. "How may I help thee?" 
Dwp? Hadn't he ever heard of vowels? "Tell me 

about Wustice ," I said , judiciously keeping my other 
thoughts to myself. 

"Love no one more than the truth , for Justice 
seeks no favors. Temper truth with understanding." 

That's what he said. It didn 't really make sense to 
me at the time, so I passed over it and asked, "Are 
there any places of interest in Yew?" 

"If thou needest provisions, the dry goods store 
hath all thou wilt require. 'Twas the first building thou 
passed in town . The healer resides in the next 
building. 

"Criminals in Britannia who are captured are 
brought to the jail here for justice. If thou wishest to 
observe Britannian fairness and right , seek thou 
there." 

"Thanks for thy help ," I said. 
Knowing I was low on provisions, I walked toward 

the dry goods store, but I stopped dead in my tracks 
before I'd taken a dozen steps. 

Thanks for thy help? Had 1 really said that? I 
grinned sheepishly and shook my head as I walked 
into the dry goods store. 

After I stocked up on food , I went to the healer. 
Even though I was feeling fine , I wanted to see if there 
was anyone there who might have information about 
my Quest. 

The healer 's shop was cool and dimly lit. Two 
wounded men lay on cots against one of the walls. 
Their eyes were closed and their faces pale. Sitting 
behind a desk in the middle of the room was a druid . 
He was bent over with a quill in one hand, writing 
notations on a piece of parchment paper. Glancing 
up at me, he laid the quill aside and folded his hands 
in front of him. 

"Art thou in need of healing?" he asked. 
" Uh , no . I was just looking for someone ," 

replied. 
"One of these men?" he asked. 
"No, I don 't know either of them." 



"Then perhaps thou mightst give blood to help. 
Wilt thou donate some of thine?" 

I wasn 't thrilled with the idea of opening a vein . 
But when I looked back at the pale faces of the 
wounded men and heard their shallow , labored 
breathing, I found myself saying yes. The healer was 
well practiced, and in a moment the deed was done . 
Except for a little light-headedness, which the healer 
said would pass soon, I was fine . The feeling that I 
had done something good and of value was 
overwhelming. The healer's gratitude when I agreed 
to donate blood told me that he and his fellows were 
always in need of blood and I vowed that I would 
donate more, as often as I was able. It wasn't as if I 
hadn't been donating blood to the local forests lately, 
what with all the ores and their cronies. I might as well 
shed some of my precious plasma for a good cause. 

From the healer, I crossed to the jail. This was a 
somber building. I couldn't imagine children running 
through the halls here as they had so freely in Britain. 
Flagstone covered the hallway. Two pairs of pillars 
supported massive beams running the length of the 
ceiling. A throne stood at the far end of the hall. On 
the throne sat a regal man, his face set in a neutral 
expression. No thought or feeling flickered across his 
features as I approached. 

"Greetings," he said. "Welcome to Yew, city of 
Justice. I am Talford." 

"Hello," I said. "I have come on the Quest of the 
Avatar. " 

"Then thou needest to learn about justice. Thy 
stay in Yew shall teach thee well. " 

'Tm looking for the ~um." 

"It is hidden well. " He paused for a moment and 
looked me over, as though considering my worthiness 
to receive this information. Then he spoke again . 
"Hast thou never committed a crime?" 

I was taken aback by the Question. It didn't follow 
from his first statement, but still I thought about it for 
a minute. Though I wasn 't a criminal, I had done 
some things that might be considered illegal-petty 
stuff, admittedly-when I was a kid . 

')fo ," I replied. O conveniently forgot the gold I 
had stolen from the King. Honestly. It just didn 't 
come to mind.) 

46 

"Then do thy penance well , and with the felor 
search ye well ." 

I stared at him for a minute. Penance? Felon: 
What was this riddle and what the hell did it have to 
do with the Quest? I decided he meant I should spend 
some time in the jail and mull over my nefarious past 
such as it was . Two guards stood watch over twc 
small cells in a room off to one side of the throm 
room. 

"Hello, " I said to one of the guards. 
"Greetings," he replied. "Art thou a criminal?" 
"Uh, no. Uh , kinda . Look I'm supposed to de 

penance for my crimes. Where do I go?" 
"Art thou a felon or not?" 
"Not. ' 
"Then the first cell is where thou belongest. Th 

second cell is for felons ." 
Felons. "With the felon search ye well" was wha! 

the judge had said. I would have to investigate th~ 
further . What difference did it make where I did m1 
penance? 

Instead of going to the first cell, I walked to the 
second cell, opened the door, and stepped inside. 

"Hello," I said. "What are you in for?" 
The felon sneered at me and rolled over, turning 

his back to me. 
"You're a real friendly guy, aren't you?" 
The felon looked over his shoulder at me. If looks 

could kill I would have been maimed. 
I started to sit down on one edge of his cot, but he 

stretched out on the bunk so there was no room. 
wasn 't sure what I was supposed to do, or how long I 
should wait in this cell to perform my penance. 

The "crimes" I'd committed were pretty minor-a 
couple of petty thefts when I was a kid. But the more l 
thought about it, the worse I felt. I guess I'd nevei 
really considered what I'd done in the past. Before 
I'd always written it off as a youthful prank. Bu! 
even as a kid I'd known that it was wrong. I did n 

because I'd been dared . There was nothing right 
about it and , for the first time, I felt real remorse IOI 
my crimes. I vowed I would find a way to make 
restitution , when-if-I got back home. 

It felt as though a weight had been lifted from 1111 
shoulders. I got up and looked around the cell. Hae 
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Talford meant I should search the felon himself? I 
looked at the man on the bunk. He sneered at me. 
Getting him to let me search him was going to be a 
neat trick. 

Then he got up from the cot. Right where he'd 
been lying was the Rune of Justice. I waited until he 
was looking out through the bars and retrieved it. 

As I write this account, I'm struck with the sense 
that I'm undergoing a transformation. Not only am I 
getting stronger and more adept at traveling through 
the land and fighting the monsters, but my thoughts 
and emotions are becoming clear and even. I can only 
see my former life as one of strife , stress , and 
emotional chaos. Here, little by little, the yo-yo of my 
emotions has begun to slow down. This is the first 
time I've set such thoughts on paper, but not the first 
time I've had them. 

The felon sat back down on his rough bunk and 
sneered at me again, and I decided it was time to leave. 
As charming as his company had been, I was ready to 
get out of this jail. With a jaunty wave at the guards, I left 
the prison. 

There was no inn in Yew, so I decided to make 
camp outside of town. Beside the moat on the outer 
edges of Yew I spoke to a druid named Calumny. He 
told me where to look for mandrake root , an 
important reagent , and his information about the 
Quickness spell was interesting. 

Calumny 's Quickness spell requires the 
following reagents: ash, ginseng, and blood moss. 

The Editors 

The next morning I continued my search for clues 
about the Quest. In a small grove of trees north of 
the entrance to the town, I found a group of druids 
sitting around a small fire . Two of them had their 
eyes closed and the soft murmur of their voices 
floated to me. Over and over they chanted, "Beh, 
beh, beh." I went up to one who wasn't chanting. 
She was small, with an athletic body and long golden 
hair braided into one long plait. 

"Hello ," I said . "What are your companions 
doing?" 
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"Chanting," she replied. 
"I can see that. Why aren't you doing it?" 
'Tm seeking Justice," she said. "May I )Join thee 

on thy Quest?" 
Nobody had asked to join me before . I was 

surprised by her question, but my gut feeling told me 
it was right to take her with me. 

"Sure," I said. "You can come along. I could use 
the company. By the way, what's your name?" 

"Jaana," she said. 
I remained calm on the outside , but inside I 

rejoiced. 

~] 
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:fmpath Rbbey 
aana and I made camp outside 
Yew later that day. She knew a 
lot about the woods and spent 
much of the time before 
nightfall pointing out various 

aspects of the forest to me. 
I'd been traveling alone for so long that I'd almost 

forgotten what it was like to have a companion. We 
talked about Britannia and Jaana told me a little 
about herself and her lifestyle . I found myself 
listening silently to her for long stretches of time. 
Not just because she was interesting, but because I 
was so unaccustomed to conversation . 

What could I talk about? Cars , computers , 
television? These things were beyond Jaana ' s 
comprehension and, in light of the Quest , their 
significance in my life had diminished too. I told her 
about the Quest and what I'd learned about it so far­
which wasn 't much . She was always encouraging, 
though. The night wore on and we built up the fire as 
we talked. 

"How long have you lived in Yew?" I asked her. 
"Several years," she said. "It was the first place I 

went in my search for Justice. And thou? Hast thou 
been in the service of Lord British long?" 

"No," I replied . "I've only just recently come to 
Britannia." 

"Art thou from one of the islands?" 
"No," I sighed. I ran my hand through my hair. 

How was I going to answer this question? "I come 



from a different world altogether. It's called Earth, 
and I'm not sure exactly how I came to be in 
Britannia. I think it has something to do with those 
strange doorways." 

"The Moongates?" 
"Is that what you call them-Moongates?" 
"Aye. 'Tis their nature. They are aligned to the 

phases of the twin sister orbs-Trammel and 
Felucca." 

"There are phases of the moons on my map. Does 
that have anything to do with the Moongates?" 

"Aye," replied Jaana. "The gate is activated by the 
phases of Trammel. Retrieve thy map and I shall show 
thee." 

I'd been using my satchel as a pillow and the map 
was inside the sack. I sat up and pulled the pouch onto 
my lap. After a couple of moments of rummaging, I 
found the map on the bottom of the bag. I spread the 
map next to the fire, smoothing the wrinkles as I did. 
Jaana and I squatted next to it. 

"See, here ," Jaana said pointing to the moon 
painted on the map next to Lord British's castle. ''This 
is called the crescent waxing moon. When Trammel is 
in the crescent waxing phase , the Moongate will 
appear near Lord British 's castle. If you are at another 
Moongate and the other moon, Felucca, is crescent 
waxing, then you will be transported to the Moongate 
near Lord British's castle." 

"Uh huh ," I said , trying to act as though I 
understood. 

Jaana turned and looked at me. Her eyes were 
bright cornflower blue . A very distracting blue , I 
thought. And her hair shone like spun gold. Only I 
knew this gold would be soft and warm to the touch. 

"Thou dost not understand?" she asked. 
I shook my head , trying to clear it of these 

distracting thoughts. I turned my attention back to 
the map. 

"No, I'm still confused," I admitted. "Let me see if 
I get it. The moon phase on the map indicates both 
the phase when the Moongate will appear as well as 
the phase that will take you to that location?" 

"Aye. 'Tis correct. For instance, see up here near 
Yew?" She pointed to the upper left-hand comer of 
the map. The moon depicted was almost full. 
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"That is called the gibbous waxing phase. Hoi 
wouldst thou travel to Yew from the Moongate nea 
Lord British's castle?" 

I gazed at the map for a moment, trying to piea 
together all she had told me about how th! 
Moongates worked. 

"The Moongate near the castle should appea 
when Trammel is crescent waxing " I said. 

"Thou art correct. And how wouldst thou knO'. 
when to enter the gate to travel to Yew?" 

"When Felucca is gibbous waxing, the gate shoul: 
take me to Yew." 

"Aye. See, thou dost understand. " 
"Which moon is Trammel and which is Felucca?" 

asked. 
Jaana pointed up to the night sky. Two orbs hllll; 

low and large. 
"The moon on thy left is Trammel; the one on th! 

right, Felucca." 
"So if I wanted to go there," I pointed at a sma 

island off the western coast of Spiritwood, where a hal! 
moon was depicted on the map. "I would pass throug 
the Moongate when Felucca was half full. " 

Jaana nodded. She pointed at the half-full moo 
I'd indicted. 

"That is called the last quarter. It depends or 
which Moongate thou art near. The Moongates an 
not all connected together. Thou mayest only travel · 
three phases from one gate." 

"Sounds complicated. " 
"Aye, 'tis most complicated until one hath learn~ 

Then 'tis most simple-like most things," she smiled. 
"Then how did I get here if the gates only go 

three places?" 
"I know not, but then the gates are a mystery. N 

one in Britannia really comprehends their workingi 
Perhaps thy appearance is part of the gates' magic­
to bring forth one from far away who will hel 
Britannia in her time of need. It has happenei 
before, but such tales have long been considered th 
stuff of myth and legend. Mayhap there was more 
truth in those tales than we knew." 

I lay back on the ground . My knees cracked fro~ 
crouching over the map for so long. Jaana banked the Im 
then stretched out on the other side of the fire from me 
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"Good night, " she said . "Tomorrow I shall take 
thee to the Shrine of Justice. 'Tis not far from here." 

"Why do you want to go there?" I asked. 
"Tis not for me but for thee," she replied. "Didst 

thou not say that part of thy Quest was to visit the 
hrines and meditate therein?" 

"Yes, you're right. " 
"Aye," she said. "'Tis true." 

0 0 0 

The next morning we started for the shrine. By 
midday I was confused and lost , but Jaana kept 
trudging through the forest. She pointed out that she 
knew the location of the shrine and that with my 
sextant, it would be easy enough to find , forest or no. 

I discovered that Jaana was a good companion. 
She knew more about the forest than anyone I'd met 
before and she had an empathetic quality that I 
found comforting. Not that she couldn't be stern, 
but even then everything she said and did was 
tempered with kindness. 

The other thing I discovered was that she was a 
good fighter. As usual, we were attacked by ores 
during our trip to the shrine. I thought I was going to 
have to protect Jaana. With all sorts of brave, manly 
determination I rushed forward to cover her. 

She shoved me aside. 
"How can I hit the ore if thou art in my way?" she 

asked. 
"Uh, I just thought ... because you're a girl. " 
· oost thou think I would imperil thy life by not 

knowing how to defend myself? Thou needest 
companions on thy journey, not burdens.' 

"Oh, well. " And then we didn't have any more 
time to talk, only time to fight. 

Jaana may have been able to defend herself, but 
she still tired more easily than I did. We had to fight 
lots of monsters before we could rest. I could tell 
she was grateful for the respite, even though she 
never complained. It felt good to have someone to 
talk to. She told me more about Yew and how Lord 
British had encouraged each of the different towns in 
Britannia to develop into a unique cultural center. 

I took out the Candle of Love and showed it to 
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her. It was like a beacon in the darkness of the night. 
Even unlit, it shone with a purity and beauty that took 
my breath away. 

"Thou shouldst visit Empath Abbey," Jaana said. 
"Why?" I asked. 
'Thou hast the Candle of Love. Those at Empath 

Abbey might be able to tell thee more about it. It is a 
castle not too far from here. Wouldst thou like me to 
take thee there?" 

I thought about it. Someone, somewhere, had 
suggested I visit the Kings of various castles and ask 
them about the Word of Passage. 

"Okay," I said. "After we visit the shrine, we'll go 
to Empath Abbey." 

Later that day we reached the Shrine of Justice. It 
stood at the northern shore where the woods ended 
in the middle of a swamp. I entered the shrine and 
meditated. I will not tell of my time at the shrine or 
what happened to me there. That experience was too 
sacred and profound for mere words. 

0 0 0 

Empath Abbey stood on the northwest shore of 
Britannia, just west of the Deep Forest. It wasn't as 
big as Lord British 's castle , but was impressive 
nonetheless. A stream ran in front of the castle , 
spanned by a bridge. We crossed the bridge and 
entered. 

In the center of the broad entryway stood a small 
child. His hair was black and his eyes were obsidian. 
He exuded an air of stateliness. 

"Greetings," he said. "I am Chinup. Welcome to 
Empath Abbey, the castle of Love. Hast thou come to 
learn about Love?" 

A vision of Jaana 's hair shining in the firelight 
flashed through my mind. I'd wanted to reach out and 
touch it, touch her, but something had restrained me. 
I glanced at Jaana. She looked at me expectantly. 

"Yes. We've come to learn about Love." 
"Then thou shouldst try the oak grove." 
" ®alt ()1)ra&e?" 

"Behind the Abbey." 
"Well, thanks for the help. We'll look there." 
Chinup nodded and stared at me with his ancient 
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eyes . I had the creepy feeling that he knew my 
innennost thoughts . Taking our leave, we wandered 
through the castle, marveling at its beauty. 

In the northwest comer of the abbey, a small double 
throne stood at the far end of a large room. Thick, 
embroidered yellow velvet drapes flanked the ornate 
chairs framing the man and woman who sat there. 
The man was older than Lord British by a few years. 
His face was careworn, but shone with a kindness of 
spirit. Grey hair framed his face, but far from making 
him look elderly, it simply added a measure of dignity to 
his features . He reminded me of someone, but I 
couldn't say who. 

"Greetings," he said. "I am Lord Robert. I am the 
ruler of this province. " 

He had the same strange accent as Lord British. 
Then it came to me who he reminded me of-Lord 
British himself. 

"Greetings," I said. "I am on the Quest of the Avatar. 
This is my companion, Jaana." Jaana made an awkward 
bob in the direction of the throne. I was getting the hang 
of the Britannian style of introductions. 

"Greetings, Jaana. Welcome to Empath Abbey," 
Lord Robert said. 

"I'm interested in finding out more about this 
lJrobinct," I said. 

"Thou shouldst ask my lady Marcy," replied Lord 
Robert. He turned his head to the woman sitting on 
his left his face filled with love and affection . I 
bowed toward Lady Marcy and made the same 
introductions. 

"Welcome," she said. Her voice was soft, but held 
a thread of iron in it that caught my attention. I 
studied her for a moment. I could tell she was tall , 
even though she was seated. Her hair was brown and 
cut short. A thin gold crown circled her head , 
threading through her curls. 

She told us about the abbey and how it had come 
to be built. And about the efforts she and Lord Robert 
had made to settle this part of the Deep Forest . 
Unfortunately, she didn't have any information about 
my Quest. Jaana and I were about to leave the throne 
room when I remembered about the Word of 
Passage. I recalled that in Cove, someone had told me 
that the Kings of the castles knew the Word of 
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Passage to enter the Stygian Abyss. 
"Excuse me , Lord Robert, " I began, "but I 

understand you know the ~orll of Passage. " 
"I know but one syllable of the Word of Passage," 

he said. "It is AMO. Seek thou now the other parts." 
"Thank you ," I said. Lord Robert and Lady Marcy 
turned back to the private conversation Jaana and I 
had interrupted. We left them and strolled through the 
peaceful halls of the Abbey. 

We felt bathed in love as we wandered the halls. 
Eventually, we came upon a small shrine with a stone 
ankh set into a recess in the wall. I don't recall exactly 
what transpired at the shrine. The ankh revealed 
something about the Candle of Love, but the details 
escape me for the moment. Somehow I feel that I'll 
know what to do when the time comes. Ominous 
words, but true. 

The time we spent at the shrine tired us, but left us 
full of joy. We didn 't talk about it, but it seemed to 
bring us closer together. A companionable silence had 
settled over Jaana and me and neither of us was 
willing to break it. We sat in silence for a time, looking 
out through a window in one of the abbey rooms. 
Then a brawny paladin entered. 

"Greetings," he said. 
Jaana and I jumped startled at the sound of his 

voice. 
"Greetings," I replied. "Who are you?" 
"I am Malchor," he said. "I go on Quests." 
That got my attention. 
" ~ue11h1? What kind of Quests?" 
"My last Quest took me near Spiritwood. Art thou 

on a Quest?" 
"Yes, I am. Do you know anything that might help 

me on my Quest?" 
"Perhaps." 
"Care to share it with me?" 
"Some say the Ji'il&er ~rn is buried on a small isle 

off the tip of Spiritwood." 
I hadn 't heard anything about this horn, but like 

most things about this Quest, I had a feeling it would 
be important later on. I made a note in my book and 
thanked him for his time. 

With our moment of reverie interrupted, Jaana and I 
discussed what we should do next. She wanted to go to 
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Skara Brae, but I wanted to go and look in the Oak 
Grove . We agreed to investigate the Oak Grove 
immediately and leave for Skara Brae the next 
morning. 

The entrance to the grove was through a door off 
the throne room. The door was locked. I jiggled the 
knob. Jaana jiggled the knob. It wouldn't budge. 

"I have some keys, " I said. 
"Keys?" Jaana asked. 
"Well, magic keys. I got them from a Guild shop in 

Vesper." 
"Thou hast been to Vesper?" she said. "Thou truly 

art a great traveler." 
"Yeah, well, uh, do you think it would be a bad 

thing to use one of them? I mean, the door is locked. " 
"Did not Chinup instruct thee to come here?" 
"Well , yeah, but ... " 
"Then use thy key." 

I shrugged my shoulders and extracted a key from 
my pouch. It slipped into the lock and glowed for a 
moment, then the door swung open. 

Beyond the door was a shady oak grove. As we 
stepped into the grove, a sense of well-being swept 
over us. Jaana looked at me and smiled. I was 
overcome with a surge of love for her. Not romantic 
love, although there was a twinge of that, but rather 
the deep abiding love you have for your dearest 
friend, your boon companion. 

I looked around the grove. Here and there among 
the trees people sat or reclined. They were dressed 
according to their professions: tinker, ranger, paladin, 
druid. We spoke with them all and they told us much 
about Truth, Love, and Courage. 

It was with great regret that we left Empath Abbey 
the next morning. 

0 
inch piece of it. 

:Entry 14-t>kara 'Hrae 
n the shore, a few minutes 
west of Empath Abbey, Jaana 
and I sat looking out at the sea. 

"Why exactly are we here?" 
I asked. I pulled up a blade of 
grass and pinched off a four-
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"We are waiting, " she said. 
"Waiting for what?" I asked as I fitted the length o 

grass between my thumbs. 
"A ship." Jaana glanced over at me and watcha 

what I was doing. 
"A ship?" I blew into my enclosed hands. A holklll 

tone sounded. 
"Yes." 
"Right. Like a ship is going to magically appei! 

and take us to Skara Brae. " 
'Thou hast no faith ," she said. Then she pulled ur 

a piece of grass and broke off a short length too. 
"I have faith in my feet. Let's start walking south 

There's bound to be a ferry or something to get to lli 
island." 

"No. There is no ferry and the trip south is fraugh 
with dangers. There are many evil monsters in th! 
mountains and woods." She fitted the grass betweer 
her thumbs, as I had , and blew into her cuppe: 
hands. No sound came out. 

"So what else is new? Britannia is crawling witl 
monsters. You can't poke your head out of t01r 
without getting smacked by one. " 

"Thou art cynical. " 
"No, just realistic." 
"Very well. As thou wishest. How did thou&. 

that?" 
"It's a guy thing," I said. 
Jaana rolled her eyes. "Thou speakest strang, 

words." Then she turned her gaze back to the sea 
forestalling my reflexive comment about her ow 
strange vernacular. A flock of gulls circled overheac 
swooping and diving for fish . The sea smell was in th 
air, pungent and fishy . 

I lay back and looked up at the sky. We'd beer 
sitting here for a couple of hours without any sign ol 
ship. I was beginning to think Jaana had gone mt 
when I felt her stiffen beside me. 

I sat up. 
"What is it?" I asked. 
She touched my arm and pointed . Off in till 

distance I could see a sail. 
She had been right. I jumped to my feet an 

started waving my arms over my head. 
"Hey! " I yelled. "Over here. " 
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"Get down!" Jaana grabbed my arm and pulled 
me down beside her. "Dost thou wish them to see 

r us. 
"But it's our ship. The one we 've been waiting 

for. " 
Jaana shook her head. 
"No. Tis a pirate ship. They will come ashore and 

then we will fight them for their ship." 
"Are you kidding?" 
"No. 'Tis the only way." 
"We've been sitting here all day so we can fight 

pirates and take their ship? Are you crazy?" 
Jaana looked at me with a perplexed expression. 
'Thou knowest I am not insane. Why art thou 

upset?" 
"Upset. Upset! I fought some pirates at Locke 

Lake. They weren't exactly pushovers. These guys are 
probably worse." 

"But thou art on the Quest of the Avatar. Surely 
thou wilt prevail. Thou art on the side of right. " 

1 groaned. 
"Just because I'm on this Quest doesn 't mean I 

can't die. I've already done that once. Or close to it, 
anyway. Besides, I have no idea what would happen 
to you if I died. " 

"Thou frettest too much. " 
"Well , we don't have any more time to argue 

about it. Look, they're here. " 
The pirate boat dropped anchor. She was a fine 

vessel, trim and neat. She had two masts and looked to 
be about 25 feet long. 1 could see the pirates on deck. 
There were five of them and they were a scurvy lot. 
The anchor dropped and they started climbing over the 
railing, dropping into the water to wade ashore. 

Jaana started edging forward . 
"What are you doing?" I hissed. 
"I am trying to get into position to fight these 

brigands." 
"With your bare hands?" 
"Thou didst not object to my hands when we were 

in the forest fighting ores. " 
"That was different. These guys are tough." 
She shrugged and crawled forward. 
"Here," I said. Jaana stopped and looked over her 

shoulder. l pulled my sling out of my waistband and 
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tossed it to her. She smiled, took it, and began inching 
forward again. Then I started sneaking ahead too. 

The pirates came ashore. They shouted that we 
should come out of hiding and fight them like men. 
Then they promised that they wouldn 't kill us, just 
take us as prisoners. I glanced over at Jaana. She 
rolled her eyes. Neither of us believed them. One of 
the pirates took a bow and fired a shot into the 
bushes where we were hiding. That was enough 
provocation for me. 

I leapt to my feet and fired an arrow. It sank into 
the shoulder of one of the pirates. He yelped and 
grabbed his wound. Blood ran between his fingers . 
The other pirates shouted and rushed us, cutlasses 
drawn, arrows flying. In seconds we were in the 
middle of a melee. 

Perhaps it was the Britannian air, or maybe it was 
fear for Jaana, but my aim had never been better. My 
arrows found their mark unerringly. Jaana finished 
many of them off, the stones from her sling flying. 
The wounded pirates fled back toward their ship, but 
we pursued them. 

The cold salt water stung my wounds as I splashed 
toward the fleeing pirates. The water slowed us all 
down as we plunged through the surf. Water sprayed 
in plumes off the pirates ' cutlasses as they swung 
wildly. The feathers on my arrows were wet and my 
aim suffered. Jaana slipped and fell . She came up 
gasping for air, her hair in stringy ribbons covering 
her face. One of the pirates slid beneath the waves 
and didn 't resurface. The last pirate looked around 
and saw that he was alone. He gave a blood-curdling 
yell and with his cutlass raised high over his head, he 
slogged through the water toward Jaana. 

She turned to run, but her heavy cloak was soaked 
and kept her from moving quickly enough. The cutlass 
arced downward. Jaana screamed. I drew my bow and 
fired. He stiffened as the arrow found its mark. The 
cutlass dropped from his hand and sank below the 
surface of the water. The pirate spun and looked at 
me, his eyes wide with surprise. Then he crumpled 
into the surf. 

Jaana gathered up her cloak and waded through 
the surf toward me. She sank to her knees as soon as 
she touched the beach. 
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"Are you all right?" I asked. My breath was coming 
out in short gasps and I was shivering in the cool 
autumn air. 

"Y-y-yes, I th-th-thank thee. T+tis only the cold 
that is affecting me." She shivered and clenched her 
teeth together to keep them from chattering. 

I pushed her wet, stringy hair away from her face 
and gently stroked her cold cheek. Our eyes met and I 
found myself leaning toward her, closing the short 
distance between us. Then she sneezed. The mood 
was broken and I realized I'd almost kissed her. 

Taking advantage of Jaana's distress was not the 
action of someone on a Quest. Straightening up, I 
shoved my hands in my pockets and felt my cheeks 
grow warm and flushed. I spun around, then spoke 
more gruffly than I felt. 

"Let's build a fire and rest tonight. We'll leave for 
Skara Brae tomorrow." 

I thought I heard her sigh, but it must have been 
the wind. 

0 0 0 

The boat cut neatly through the waves. Jaana and 
I stood on deck enjoying the sunshine and the sea air. 
We were making good time and according to Jaana 
we would be in Skara Brae the next day. 

Jaana was looking fit. I'd cast a Heal spell on her 
the night before. Her wounds vanished magically, 
then she returned the favor. It was a good thing we 
both had magical abilities. Jaana told me most of the 
professions in Britannia included some training in 
magic. All, that is except, for fighting. 

We'd been sailing for several hours and I was 
beginning to think the sea was the only way to travel 
around Britannia. I was turning to tell Jaana this when 
I saw something on the horizon. 

"Did you see that?" I asked . I pointed off the 
starboard deck. 

"What?" she asked looking in the direction I was 
pointing. 

"It looked like a big red tree trunk. " 
The blood drained from Jaana's face. 
"Big? Red?" 
"Yes, why? What's the matter?" 
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But she didn't answer. She ran to the cannon ane 
began pushing it into place. Before I could react, thi 
ship was rocked by a loud explosion. The boat bobbeC 
up and down wildly, while part of the deck began to 
smolder. I grabbed hold of the mast to keep frort 
being knocked off my feet. 

"What was that?" I shouted. 
' Sea serpent, " she replied. Her breath was comi~ 

in short gasps as she strove to shove the cannon intc 
position. I ran over and helped her push. 

"Is this going to do any good?" I asked. 
"I know not. It can do no harm. " She pulled a f1il1 

from her satchel and struck it. It sparked and caug~ 
the cannon's wick. 

There was a blast from the mouth of the canncr 
that caused it to roll backward across the deck. Ther 
we heard a faint plop as the cannonball fell into tJv 
water. The sea was silent for a moment. 

"Did we kill it?" I asked in a whisper. 
Everything was still. Too still. 
The water in front of us erupted upward. Out a 

the ocean burst the sea serpent. For an eternity 
thundered upward, sending torrents of water over tJv 
ship's deck. The water drenched us, making the decl 
slippery. We lost our footing and started to slidi 
toward the creature's gaping maw. Its tapered hea: 
was crowned by a ridge of spiny fins . Black beam 
eyes on either side of its head riveted me and · 
flickering red tongue darted out of its wide mouth. I~ 
iridescent red scales, tipped in ebony, glistened in thi 
sunlight. 

The creature bellowed in pain and anger. The soll!l 

shook the boat and caused the sails to whip around. 
"What do we do now?" I shouted over the din. 
"Fight! " Jaana yelled back. 
And we did. 
The serpent opened its mouth and a burst of fin 

shot from the depths of its belly. The fireball lande: 
on deck and smoldered, despite the small lake Iha: 
had formed. Clouds of steam rose from it. With a 
the strength I could muster, I fired an arrow, but 
bounced pathetically off the beast's scaly hide and f 
into the water below. 

Jaana rushed toward the creature. Her han~ 
worked in frantic motion. She threw something int 
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the air at the horror and spoke a name so vile it made 
me sick. The monster opened its mouth to roar, but a 
whirling vortex surrounded him . Silver-blue swirling 
light spiraled up from below the water, encasing the 
serpent, consuming him in its brightness. I put my 
hands over my eyes, but I could still see the light. An 
unearthly note sounded then all was silent except for 
the ringing in my ears . I looked up and the sea 
serpent was gone. Twinkling motes hovered over the 
waves where the creature had been, then they too 
disappeared. 

"What did you do?" I asked Jaana, staring at her in 
horror. What terrible power had she unleashed? 
Could she control it? 

"I cast a spell to Kill it," Jaana said. "I did not wish 
to, but 'twas the only way. We could not survive a 
prolonged battle with one of those creatures." She 
wobbled a little and made an attempt to grab the 
railing. 

"You'd better sit down," I said. 
Jaana nodded and sank to the deck. I looked over 

the ship. There were scorch marks across the deck 
and one of the sails had been singed pretty badly, but 
the ship was still seaworthy. 

I pulled the rigging taut and checked over the lines. 
After I secured the lines, I made sure Jaana was all 
right. Her smile was tremulous and she looked pale, 
but she waved me away. I decided that leaving her 
alone for a while was the best thing. 

During the battle , the boat had been blown off 
course. I turned the bow back southward and we 
continued on in what I hoped was the direction of 
Skara Brae. 

0 0 0 

Skara Brae was on a small island off the western 
coast of Britannia. We dropped anchor close to land 
and waded to shore. 

The town sat in the middle of an open field . 
Water-filled trenches bordered small stone huts. Rocks 
edged the wide grassy paths. In the center of town, 
four men sat around a stone ankh. They seemed lost 
in thought and Jaana and I agreed it would be wrong 
to disturb them. 
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Jaana wanted to visit the herb shop . We had 
accumulated some gold pieces during our trip through 
the Deep Forest and Jaana said she needed more 
reagents . My supply was running low too , so we 
wandered from shop to shop until we found an herbalist. 

The herb shop looked a lot like the one I'd 
discovered in Paws. Herbs hung from the ceiling and 
bottles of unnamed stuff sat on shelves around the 
walls. A blind woman sold the reagents. I noticed that 
the prices were better here than they had been in 
Paws. 

After we bought our reagents we went to Food for 
Thought , a shop that carried rations . We took 
advantage of its very low prices to stock up . 
Unfortunately, there wasn 't a weapons shop in Skara 
Brae. I decided we would have to visit Jhelom or 
Trinsic if we were to acquire more and better 
weapons . I'd learned that both Jhelom and Trinsic 
catered to people who lived by the sword, and were 
certain to have a variety of weapons available. 

By the time we left the herbalist's shop, the sun 
had set. We could have stayed outside the town and 
saved money, but I wanted a bath and one night's 
sleep without being awakened, so we decided to find 
an inn. 

We entered the front door of a small hostelry. A 
portly man appeared. 

"Greetings," he said. "Welcome to the Inn of the 
Spirits. Dost thou wish a room for the night?" 

"Yes," I replied. 
"I only have one small room and, worse yet, it's 

haunted. Wilt thou accept it?" 
"As long as the ghost doesn 't bother us , it'll be 

fine. " With all that had happened, I suppose I should 
have taken him seriously , but a lifetime of not 
believing in ghosts prevailed. 

He started down the short hall and motioned us to 
follow. At the end of the hall he paused and said 
something, but I didn't quite catch it. 

"What did he say?" I asked Jaana. 
"He said , 'Do not mind the noise it is only rats."' 
"Great," I said as the proprietor hurried off. He 

looked scared, which did nothing for my peace of 
mind. All of a sudden the forest looked a lot better, 
but we were here now, so ... 
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We settled into the room and, to my surprise, the 
night passed uneventfully. I twisted and turned, trying 
to work out the kinks in my back. The lumpy beds in 
the inn were little better than the forest floor. 

When I awoke, the room was bathed in the pale 
grey light of dawn. Everything was still. From the 
window I could see the red-purple streaks of morning 
in the sky. 

Jaana was still asleep. There was a small bowl of 
water on a stand in the corner and I used it to wash 
the sleep out of my eyes. 

When I turned back toward the center of the 
room, I saw the ghost. He materialized slowly, until 
his form was not quite transparent. I jumped back and 
put my hand on my bow. 

"Fear not," the apparition said. The sound didn't 
came from the spirit but was more like a voice 
speaking in my head. 

"I take it you 're the ghost, " I said, lowering my 
weapon a bit. I wasn't frightened-which surprised me­
just concerned about being attacked. He didn 't look 
like a threat, though, so I let my guard down a little more . 

"Yes," he replied. "I am Isaac. " 
"You ;lnun! this inn, right?" 
This was strange. Carrying on a conversation with 

the dearly departed before breakfast wasn't normal. 
But then, nothing much that had happened to me 
over the last few weeks could be called normal. 

"Yes. The Wuest is not complete. Art thou on a Quest?" 
"Yes, I am. Do you know anything about it?" 
'The white ,,Stone sits atop the Serpent's Spine. It 

can only be reached by one who floats within the 
clouds. " 

"Floats within the clouds? What floats within the 
clouds?" I imagined Isaac's discorporeal form drifting 
in the wind above the mountain range, but my own, 
more solid flesh I could not imagine there. 

Isaac never did answer me. He just faded from 
sight like a dream. I heard Jaana stir and turn over. 
The day was about to begin. 

0 0 0 

"What dost thou wish to do today?" asked Jaana. 
We'd just eaten breakfast and were sitting in the 
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sunshine outside the inn. Around us, the inhabitanh 
of Skara Brae went about their business. 

"I think we need to search the town some more. 
found out about the white Stone this morning from the 
ghost at the inn, but I think there might be more I car 
learn here about the Quest. I need to learn the Mantra 
of Spirituality and find out where the shrine is. Luckily. 
found the Rune of Spirituality in Lord British's treasurt 
chamber. " 

"What wert thou doing in the treasure chamber ci 

our Lord British?" asked Jaana. 
I blushed. I didn't want to lie to her, but I didn1 

want to lose her respect now either. 
"It's a long story and I prefer not to go into it ju> 

now. " I said. That was the truth, even if it didn ' 
answer her question. I hoped she wouldn 't pursue !ht 
matter and she didn 't, but for the rest of the day I fel 
guilt hanging over me like a cloud. 

We left the inn and headed west through town 
The sweet smell of drying herbs mixed with thr 
pungent odor of roasting meat. The townspeopl! 
nodded and waved at us, but didn 't interrupt ther 
errands to talk. 

Near the herb shop, we saw a beggar. 
"What is your name?" I asked. 
"I am Ambule, " he replied. 
He looked as though he hadn't eaten in days. H1 

was gaunt and his clothes hung off him in tatters. 
reached in my bag and pulled out a few gold pieces. 
gave him the money. 

"Thank you, sir," he said. "I am ever so grateful. ' 
"We are on the Quest of the Avatar. Do you knO'O 

anything about it? Perhaps the location of the ffeltriiu 

or maybe the c#l!lnntrn?" 
"Ask the child named Barren." 
I thanked him and pressed more coins into h! 

hand. 
We found Barren behind the inn, playing. 
"Hello, " I said. 
"Hello," he replied. 
"Ambule said you knew the J'l!lnnlrn. " 
"I know it well, " he replied. "It is OM." 
We thanked him and left. There was only oru 

place in town we hadn't visited, the group of mer 
standing around the ankh in the center of town. 
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The four men we'd seen the previous day were still 
clustered around the ankh . Only one seemed 
approachable. He was standing west of the ankh. His 
gannents were the sort I associated with Britannia's 
rangers-high leather boots, loose pants and jerkin, 
and a long hooded cape. A sword hung from his side. 

He glanced at us. His face was smooth and clean­
shaven. 1 would have described him as baby-faced, 
except for his piercing blue eyes. His hair was blond, 
but not as pale as Jaana's. 

"Greetings," he said. 
"Hello," I said. "Who are you?" 
"Shamino," he replied. "! am seeking inner light." 
"And what is that?" 
"The one great truth. That which lies within the 

Codex." 
Most people who said such things to me seemed a 

little ridiculous , even here in Britannia. But from 
Shamino, the words carried a purity and truth that 
seemed very much in place. "We're interested in the 
Codex ourselves," I told him. "We're on a Quest." 

He studied me seriously, then Jaana . Then he 
squared his shoulders, looking all the more impressive 
to me, and said in his direct way, "A Quest? I would 
join thee." 

I looked over at Jaana. We had grown pretty close 
over the last few days and part of me didn 't want to 
ieopardize that, but I remembered Iolo 's words. The party 
must be balanced. We didn't have a ranger, and Shamino 
looked more than competent. Jaana's eyes met mine. For 
a moment I thought I saw something bittersweet in them, 
but then it was gone. She nodded at me. 

"All right, you may join us," I said. "We're leaving 
in the morning." . 

"What is thy destination?" 
·we haven't decided-Trinsic or Jhelom. We need 

to get a better weapon for Jaana. " 
"Then Jhelom would be thy best choice . The 

fighters there have a good selection of weapons. It is 
also due south and should be a short voyage. " 

"Thanks for the help. We ' ll meet at the boat at 
dawn. We're docked on the south shore. By the way, do 
you know anything about the Shrine of Spirituality?" 

"Nay, but thou mightest meditate here by the ankh 
to discover its secrets. " 
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I looked up at the ankh skeptically. 
"Whatever you say, " I said. 
He stared at me for a moment, his eyes unreadable. 

Then he shrugged and walked away. 
"Well," I said to Jaana "do you want to meditate?" 
She nodded and sat in front of the ankh. I sank 

down beside her and looked at it. It was carved from a 
block of marble. The surface was polished smooth. I 
felt myself becoming relaxed. My muscles loosened 
and my mind grew clear. 

Slowly, just under my breath, I formed the mantra. 
The 'OM' passed like a hum from my lips. 

"What dost thou seek? ' asked the ankh. The 
words weren't spoken aloud , but reverberated in my 
mind. It was beginning to seem almost natural­
hearing voices in my mind, that is. 

'The ffeit1rin>' of Spirituality. " 
"Enter the gate of the full moons. " 
"What does that mean?" 
But the connection was broken. I snapped out of my 

trance and looked around me. The sun had set. Hours 
had passed since I had first sat in front of the ankh and 
begun chanting. I struggled to my feet, stamping my 
foot on the ground. My leg had fallen asleep. Jaana still 
sat beside me, her eyes closed, her mouth in the shape 
of an 'o. ' I shook her. Her eyes snapped open. 

"We need to get some rest. Tomorrow's a big 
day. " I stamped my foot some more. I felt as if pins 
and needles were stabbing me as the blood began to 
flow back into my leg. 

"I hate it when that happens," she said. 
"Me, too. " 
We walked back to the Inn of the Spirits. Our rest 

was peaceful and uninterrupted by ghosts. 

lntry 15-]helom 
e met at the boat the next 

W morning. The sky was dark and 
mist shrouded everything in a 
grey haze . Jaana and I stood 

- on the shore, shivering in our 
cloaks. A hint of winter in the 

breeze from the north chilled us to the bone. 
"Shamino's late, " I said with annoyance. 
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"He is not. Thou art impatient, " replied Jaana. Her 
face composed and serene. 

"You're right," I said, tucking my chin further into 
my cloak. 

As we spoke, Shamino appeared out of the fog 
like some silent specter. 

"Hast thou awaited me long?" he asked. He didn't 
sound particularly concerned. 

"No," Jaana said. I shot her an annoyed glance, 
but she smiled at me and shrugged her shoulders. 

The ship was anchored a short distance offshore, 
so we pulled off our boots, rolled up our pants, and 
waded out to it. The water was cold; I heard Jaana 
gasping behind me. The trip lasted a few moments, 
but we were thoroughly chilled by the time we 
reached the boat. I climbed up the rope we 'd left 
dangling over the side, then reached to help the other 
two aboard. They ignored my proffered hand and 
scrambled onto the deck almost effortlessly. 

The dawn was almost too beautiful to describe. 
Streaks of plum and peach stretched across the sky. 
The sun was a brilliant yellow-orange . The mist 
diffused the light and gave everything a soft, muted 
appearance. 

The rigging took only moments to secure and with 
the sky still pale rose, we caught the morning breeze 
and sailed south. The early morning waves slapped 
quietly on the bows and all else was silent except for 
the occasional groaning of the mast. 

0 0 0 

Eventually we came upon three islands located a few 
days' journey south of the tip of Spiritwood. The 
three islands were lined up neatly in a row . 
According to Shamino, Jhelom housed the greatest 
fighters in all Britannia. The barren and inhospitable 
island was dominated by mountain ranges and 
swampland. 

We swung the ship through a small strait between 
two of the islands and landed south of the city. With 
its four tall stone towers and high walls, Jhelom 
looked to be impregnable once its gates were closed. 

Guards stood on either side of the entry into town. 
As usual, they made no move to stop us from entering. 
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We passed through the gates and found ourselve 
in the main square. Trees crowded up against the 
stone walls, providing shade, and clean cobblestora 
paths stretched away from our location. Under !hi 
trees, shops crowded together near the walls of th 
city, punctuated here and there by cottages. 

"We need to buy some weapons. Do you know 
there's a shop nearby?" I asked Shamino. 

Shamino nodded. "There is a weapons maker ave 
there, " he said, pointing toward a small shop to thi 
northwest. 

Following Shamino 's directions , we faun 
ourselves in a combined weapons and armor shop 
Fine chain and plate mail hung from hooks across m 
wall. Swords , hauberks, bows , and axes wer 
displayed on the opposite wall. Workbenches took 1' 
much of the floor space. We squeezed into the shq 
and looked around. 

"Welcome," said the shop owner. "May 1 he 
thee?" He was a tall, thin man with an impish grin. 

"We're looking for some weapons. What do ya 
have for sale?" 

"I have swords, axes, hauberks, and crossbo11 
What dost thou wish?" 

"One of those crossbows would do ," I said. 
"Good choice. The bard Iolo's favorite weapon.' 
' How much?" I asked. 
He quoted me a price that made my teeth hir 

but I paid it. Jaana refused the crossbow, saying 
should take it and she would use my bow. I want 
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her to have a more powerful weapon but she insisted. 
I felt better knowing all of us were well-armed. 

"We need to find some things here before we 
leave," I said to Shamino. "Items for the Quest. " 

"What dost thou seek?" he asked. 
"We need the Rune of Valor the Mantra, and the 

location of the shrine. Oh, and sometimes people know 
about the Stones. We need that information, too ." 

We spent the rest of the day talking to everyone in 
Jhelom. No one knew anything about the rune, but 
we learned about the red Stone from a strange person 
called X and a wounded fighter called Gravnor . 
Bengrog knew about the dungeon Destard. And 
Aesop told us that RA was the Mantra for Valor. 

We agreed to spend the night at the inn and 
search for the rune the next day. The night passed 
quietly and the next morning my companions and I 
paced our small room as we tried to figure out why 
we hadn 't found the rune. 

"We've looked all over town," I said. 
"I too find it strange that no one knows of the 

rune," replied Jaana. 
"We have not explored this inn thoroughly," said 

Shamino. 
"You're right, " I said. "Maybe one of the guests 

knows where it is. " 
We left our room and went to the room across the 

hall. The door was locked. We knocked, but no one 
answered. 

"I'm going to try one of the magic keys I bought in 
Vesper," I said. Withdrawing one of the keys , I 
slipped it into the lock. It glowed, then turned. The 
door swung open. 

A fighter sat in one comer of the room. He stood 
as we entered. He was well over six feet tall and 
dwarfed everything else in the room. His hair was 
brown and clumsily cut. A fierceness emanated from 
him and his hand dropped to the sword at his side as if 
in a reflex action . 

"What dost thou wish?" he asked frowning at us. 
"Uh, we're looking for information about the Rune of 

Valor. Do you know of it?" I said. 
"Nay," he replied. "I am a fighter. I wish to battle again." 
"Then why are you locked in this room?" I asked, 

curious about him despite his fierce demeanor. 
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'"Tis a long story," he sighed. 
"Yes, well, I know all about those. We're on the 

Quest of the Avatar. Would you like to ;I.loin us?" I had 
no idea what prompted me to ask him, but it felt 
right. 

"Aye," he replied , smiling suddenly. "I would be 
honored to join thee." 

"By the way," I said , "what's your name?" 
"Geoffrey." 
"Glad to have you along, Geoffrey. This is Jaana 

and Shamino." 
The others nodded at him. Shamino's expression 

was unreadable. Jaana smiled briefly, but her face 
remained closed. I'd discovered she didn't warm up to 
people quickly. I felt forces coming together. A sense 
of mission spread through me. 

Geoffrey gathered up his belongings and we went 
into the hall. At the end of the hall was one more 
door. I tried this door, but it was locked too . Using 
another magic key, I opened it. 

A fighter lay on a low bunk as if asleep. His eyes 
slowly opened and he gazed at us. 

"Welcome, " he said. His voice was dry as autumn 
leaves and sent shivers down my spine. 

"Hello," I replied, pulling myself together. "Who 
are you?" 

"Lord Robert, " he said, swinging his legs off the 
bed into a sitting position. 

'Tm sorry for barging in on you, but we 're looking 
for a ~me." 

"A rune? " he asked , looking at us with new 
interest. 

"Yes. A small, flat rock with a symbol carved on it ," 
I said in a peevish tone. We'd been searching for this 
rune with no luck and now Lord Robert wanted to play 
"twenty questions. " I had a Quest to complete and he 
was wasting my time. 

"Hmmm. Art thou on the Quest of the Avatar?" 
His blue eyes searched our faces intently. 

"Yes. Yes, we are," I said. Suddenly, I had the 
feeling that Lord Robert knew about the rune and was 
testing us. 

"Then thou dost deserve the rune " he said 
abruptly. He nodded as if he 'd made up his mind about 
something. "Ask Nostro ." 
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"And where would we find him?" I asked, hopeful 
for the first time that we might find the rune. 

"I know not. " 
"Well, thanks for the help ," I said, unable to keep 

the disappointment out of my voice. 
I turned to the others. 
"Great. All we need to do is find Nostro ," I said. 

"Do you remember talking to anyone by that name?" 
Jaana shook her head, a small frown pulling at her 

mouth. Shamino was looking at a spot to the south of 
Lord Robert 's bed, his face as unreadable as ever. 

"What are you staring at?" I asked, curious. 
"I believe this is a secret door ," he replied , 

pointing at a spot on the wall . 
I walked over to where he stood . Sure enough, 

there was a pale stone sunk into the wall. 
"Dost thou always search through other people's 

rooms?" asked Lord Robert dryly. 
I blushed. 
"I never did before I came to Britannia " I said 

weakly. "But since I started this Quest, it's become 
something of a habit. " 

Lord Robert looked at me with skeptical eyes. 
"Indeed," he said. "Thou shouldst ask permission 

before rummaging through other people's lodgings." 
"My apologies, Lord Robert. May we investigate 

your room for clues pertaining to the Quest of the 
Avatar?" I asked humbly. 

Lord Robert nodded approvingly. 
"Aye. Thou mayest seek clues in my room, but do 

not take anything that is not thine. " 
"Never, " I said, slightly offended. Maybe I'd done 

some things wrong in the past, but I was on the Quest 
now. I didn 't do stuff like that anymore. 

Lord Robert gave me one last long look, then 
shrugged his shoulders and lay back down on his cot. 
He closed his eyes and in a moment appeared to be 
asleep again. 

"How did he do that?" I whispered to Jaana. 
"I know not," she said softly. "Be grateful that he 

allowed thee to explore his room." 
I turned and looked again at the spot Shamino had 

discovered. It did seem to be the latch to a secret door. 
"What dost thou wish to do?" asked Shamino, his 

voice neutral. 
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"Find out what's behind the door. And there's on~ 
one way to do that," I said. I pushed the stone. A 
portion of the wall swung away to reveal a 
passageway beyond . Dank air rushed out at us. 
stepped through the doorway and found myself in i 
small room filled with treasure chests. On the nortt 
wall was another white stone. 

"I think there's another passage through here 
Come on." 

The others crowded into the room behind me. 
pressed the white stone and the second hidden doo 
opened into a passageway, so well-lit we didn't nee: 
to light any of our torches. 

I stepped into a hall just barely wide enough fa 
one person to pass at a time. We filed in and ti. 
door swung shut behind us. To our right was 
flickering blue field . Why was it here? I wondered 
Then I remembered the red fields at the shrine 
Cove that protected the Candle of Love. Maybi 
these fields were protecting something too. I stare: 
at the field for a moment. I could see the backs d 
guards positioned beyond . One of the guard 
glanced over his shoulder for a moment, but ther 
he ignored us . 

To our left was another blue field , but there \W 

no one beyond it, at least not that I could see. 
"What kind of field is that?" I whispered to 

others. 
'"Tis an energy field of some sort," said Jaana. 

believe it is a field to block passage. " 
"How do you know that?" I asked. Jaana knew a 

sorts of interesting things. 
"Well, 'tis only a guess," she began, warming 

the topic . "But the poisonous fields are a noxi~ 
green. A field of flames is orange-red. I recall that 
violet field will cause anyone passing through it 
sleep. That leaves only the blue field. And since ~ 
guards seem unconcerned by our presence, 
surmise they are accustomed to being protected 
the fields against threats from this direction. " 

"'Tis a great deal of supposition," said Sharum 
dryly. 

Jaana glared at him. 
"I did not say 'twas so, only that it might be," 

said, an irritated tone creeping into her voice. 
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I thought I caught a shadow of a smile on Shamino's 
face, but it passed so quickly I couldn't be sure. 

"Enough of this," I interjected. "What do we do 
about them?" 

"I could try to remove the field," said Jaana as she 
pulled out her bag of spells. 

"Very well," I said. "Let me move out so you have 
a clear shot." 

I ducked down and Jaana motioned with her arms. 
The field to the south vanished. We stepped into a 
small room with a large central pillar. A beautiful 
mage stood in one corner. 

"What's she doing here?" I wondered , aloud. The 
others looked at me as if I'd just committed a faux pas . 

"The lady can hear thee. Hast thou no manners?" 
hissed Jaana. 

"Sorry," I said contritely. "I didn't mean anything 
by it. " My face grew hot and I knew a blush was 
creeping up my neck onto my face. The last thing I 
wanted was to look like a boob in front of the others. I 
turned back toward the mage. She wore a long blue 
tunic under a darker blue robe. Runes were 
embroidered in white on the cuffs. Her long black hair 
was pulled back into a single braid. In her hand she 
carried a wavy staff. 

"Hello," I said. "Sorry about being so rude. Who 
are you?" 

"My ~ii.me is Senora ," she said. "I am being 
punished for my crimes. " 

"Your <!:rillU?s?" I tried to think of what she might 
have done to be locked up like this. 

She blushed and looked at the floor. 
"They are not important. Hast thou a boat?" she 

asked, trying to change the subject. 
"Yes," I answered. 
"Then thou wilt need a sextant. Ask the barkeep, 

for he knows more. " 
"Thanks, but we already have one. Are you sure 

you don 't need any help?" I asked. But she had 
already turned away from me. 

Jaana tugged my sleeve. 
"If one is imprisoned here," she said , ·'so might 

there be others." 
"What's your point?" I asked. 
"Perhaps Nostro hath suffered a fate similar to 
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that of Lady Senora." 
"How will we find him?" I asked. 
"We must search these passages ," she replied . 

"Art thou willing?" 
"I guess so, but where do we go next? There are 

guards to the north. The only other way to go is east. " 
"I suggest we go east," interrupted Shamino. "Tis 

the only direction we know not of. " 
"Okay," I said. "Let's go. " 
Since Jaana, Shamino, and I could all cast spells, 

we took turns removing the fields that blocked the 
ends of the hallways. As we explored, it dawned on 
me that we were probably inside the walls surrounding 
Jhelom. Eventually, we found Nostro in the northeast 
corner of the wall. 

He was frail and withered and looked as if the 
slightest breeze would blow him over. His face lit up 
with joy when we entered the room. 

"Greetings , friends ," he said . The instant the 
words left his lips he collapsed in a fit of coughing. 

"Who are you?" I asked. 
"I am Nostro , builder of these walls ," he said , 

gasping for air. He drew a shaky breath and 
exclaimed, "They sealed me in! " 

"You've been trapped here?" 
"Aye. I thank thee for rescuing me." 
Shamino and Jaana helped him to his feet. He 

leaned heavily on them as he took a few tremulous steps. 
"We'll get you out of here as fast as possible," I 

said, trying to figure out the quickest way out of the 
wall. "By the way, " I tossed over my shoulder, "Lord 
Robert says you know about the ~une . " 

"Aye," he said , with a funny little smile . '"Tis 
buried in a tower. Twas buried in here with me. I 
imagine they've been wondering where it is." 

"Well, we'll look for it on our way out. " I started 
out of the room and Nostro followed me . Jaana 
stayed behind and looked for the rune, but it wasn't in 
that tower. We later found it in a corner of the 
southeast tower. 

Nostro followed us out of the secret passageway 
and all the way to the edge of town. He thanked us 
over and over for releasing him from the tower. We 
didn 't want to admit it, but it was with some relief that 
we left him behind. 



Entry 16-The ~brine ,A_ oI V11lor. the ~ilver J1orn. 
~ and ~erpent's eustle 
~ cross the bay from Jhelom was 

the Shrine of Valor. I felt 
myself drawn there as if some 

powerful magnet were pulling me . The others 
encouraged me to meditate at the shrine, saying my 
instincts were telling me something . Britannians 
seemed to be very big on omens and feelings . 

The trip across the bay was short, and we docked 
next to the shrine. I wanted Geoffrey to come with 
me to meditate. After all , fighters were surely the 
most valorous folk. He declined, though, so I went 
alone. 

The shrine stood flush against the mountains. To 
reach the entrance I had to cross a broad flat plain. 
With each step, a sense of peace and well-being grew 
within me. Kneeling before the ankh, I pulled the 
Rune of Valor out of my pouch and concentrated on 
the Mantra. I don 't know how long I remained like 
that, kneeling and meditating, but at some point, a 
voice spoke to me and told me I'd achieved partial 
Avatarhood in the Virtue of Valor. I felt a thrill , a 
sense of accomplishment like nothing I'd ever 
experienced before. Then the presence revealed a 
sign to me . I carefully copied the sign in my book. 
This broke my concentration and I found myself 
standing outside the shrine, a little weak in the knees 
but, other than that, feeling wonderful. 

"Thou art changed," Jaana said looking at me 
intently. 

"Not so much," I replied , making light of my 
experience. ''There's still more to be discovered on 
this Quest. " 

I walked back to the boat with a renewed sense of 
purpose. The change in me must have been more 
profound than I realized , because Geoffrey began 
treating me with a touch more deference-something 
that was definitely out of character. I had earned his 
respect. 

"Where dost thou wish to go next?" asked Shamino. 
His demeanor, at least, had changed very little . 

I unfolded the map of Britannia. 
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"If I'm deciphering this right," I began, "this ~ 

Spiritwood here." I pointed to a large wooded area or 
the mainland east of Skara Brae. "When Jaana and 
were at Empath Abbey, a man called Malchor told LI! 

that the Silver Hom was on one of the islands off trn 
tip of Spiritwood. The horn must be important, but 
don 't know why yet . The map shows seven sma! 
islands directly north of here. They aren't very large. h 
shouldn't take us long to search them. " 

Shamino nodded , his face still closed to m\ 
scrutiny. 

"Aye," he said. "May I suggest we sail from there 
around the Isle of Deeds to the Serpent's Castle. 
hear there is much information there for one on lhE 
Quest." 

"Good," I said. "And then it's north and a littk 
west to Trinsic. We should be able to stock up a 
food and weapons there." 

'"Tis a sound plan, " said Geoffrey, cracking hi! 
knuckles. 

"Jaana? Do you agree?" I asked. 
"Aye," she replied. She wasn 't looking at me, sla 

was glaring at Geoffrey. "Stop that! " 
"Stop what?" he asked, confused. 
"Cracking thy knuckles. Tis a horrible sound and 

cannot abide it. " 
Geoffrey gave his hands one last hard crunch 

Jaana winced and covered her ears. 
"My apologies, Lady, " said Geoffrey. "I did na 

know thy temperament was so delicate. " 
'"Tis not my temperament thou shouldst fear, bu 

my fist, " Jaana said, holding her clenched hand 
front of her. 

Geoffrey looked down at her , then burst o 
laughing. 

I stepped between them, hoping to defuse tlv. 
situation . Jaana and Geoffrey were very differei 
types. Sometimes they rubbed each other the wroo 
way. 

"Stop it, both of you," I said. "You're compani11. 
on this Quest, not enemies. " 

"He is a great lummox, " said Jaana. "All bra" 
and no brains." 

"And she is too puny to be of use in a battle 
snarled Geoffrey. 
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"Okay, that's it, " I interrupted. "Jaana, Geoffrey 
may not be a great wit, but he is a valiant fighter and I 
know he'll make a difference in battle. " 

I turned around to Geoffrey. 
"Geoffrey," I began, "Jaana may be small, but she 

has proven herself to be fearless in combat and 
knowledgeable in the mystic arts. The two of you may 
not see eye to eye, but you will try to get along for the 
good of the Quest. I need you united , not bickering. " 

Jaana and Geoffrey looked chagrined. Geoffrey 
stepped forward and held out his hand. 

"My apologies Lady," he began, "I pray we may 
become good company on this Quest. " 

Jaana took Geoffrey's proffered hand and shook it 
briefly. 

"'Tis I who should ask thy forgiveness, sir," she 
said. "I judged thee too quickly. Clearly, I let pride 
cloud my good sense. " 

'There," I said, feeling full of myself. "See how 
easy that was?" 

Feeling smug, I turned away from them. Shamino 
leaned against the railing of the ship, looking at me. 
For the first time I was able to read his expression and 
I didn ' t like what I saw there-an indulgent 
amusement and a hint of cynicism. Who cares what 
Shamino thinks , I thought. But it did make me 
uneasy and I couldn't shake the feeling for the rest of 
the morning. 

0 0 0 

We set sail for Spiritwood, using the northern tip 
of Jhelom as our guide. The wind was with us and 
gradually we began to relax and enjoy the voyage. It 
was warmer here in the southern part of Britannia. I 
wondered what the weather was like back at Lord 
British 's castle. It had been a long time since I'd been 
able to see him and tell him what I'd discovered on 
the Quest. Maybe we would go to Britain after Trinsic. 

Shamino took the helm first , leaving the rest of us 
with a bit of free time. Jaana sat in the front of the 
boat, watching the waves break against the prow. 
Geoffrey did situps with his legs hooked under the 
siderailing. I pulled out my book and studied the notes 
I'd taken. 
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I knew that for each of the eight Virtues there was 
a rune. There was also a shrine, and a Stone. The 
Stones were colored according to the Virtues. So far I 
knew that the color for Valor was red. And I knew 
there was a black Stone and a white Stone out there. 
That left a rather wide array of colors to choose from, 
and no clue about what they might be or what Virtue 
they related to. One thing that had become clear-to 
get the Stones , we would have to go into the 
dungeons. The thought made my skin crawl. 

"Land ho! " yelled Shamino. 
I looked up from my notebook. Off the starboard 

side of the boat were the first of the seven small 
islands. No buildings were visible; the islands looked 
deserted. I wasn 't surprised . These were among the 
rockiest most godforsaken plots of land I'd ever seen. 

We set ashore on the westernmost island and 
started looking for the Silver Hom. We found it on 
the second island, just off the tip of Spiritwood, buried 
in the rocky dirt. The horn clapper was wrapped in a 
piece of velvet cloth. The horn was dull from being in 
the ground, but a quick wipe revealed it to be silver, 
carved with runes and abstract designs. Embedded 
around its bell were precious stones. I found myself 
wondering how such obviously precious and 
important items could be found discarded in such out­
of-the-way places. 

Shamino polished the horn with a cloth and soon 
it caught the sun and shone with blinding brightness. 
The ranger found that the wrapping was actually a 
bag just big enough to hold the horn. He slipped horn 
into bag and pulled the drawstring closure tight. 
Walking around behind me, he tucked the package 
into my knapsack. 

"For safekeeping, " he said. 
"Shouldn't we blow it to see what it does?" I asked. 
"'Tis a magic horn ," replied Shamino. "Who 

knows what the result might be? Nay, 'tis better to 
wait and see if we may learn its use from one more 
wise in such matters." 

I nodded. 
"Let ' s rest here tonight , then head for the 

Serpent's Castle in the morning," I said. 

0 0 0 



Serpent's Castle sat serene and secure on the bay 
of the Isle of Deeds. At each corner of the castle 
stood a round tower topped by colorful flags. 
Rounded roofs and ornate arches indicated a different 
architecture from that of the northern keeps. 

We entered through the south gate . To my 
surprise, a beautiful paladin stood in the center of the 
main hallway. 

"Welcome to Serpent's Castle, " she said with a 
dazzling smile. 

"Thanks," I said, trying to concentrate on my 
mission and not be flummoxed by this gorgeous 
woman. "We're on the Quest of the Avatar. Do you 
know of anyone here who can help us?" 

"There are many in the castle who might help 
thee. Thou needst but to ask. " 

"Any suggestions on who they might be?" I asked, 
more in control of myself now. 

"I am sorry, I cannot help thee with that. " She 
turned and walked away. I watched for a moment 
drinking in her loveliness. Then I turned toward the 
others. 

"Well, any suggestions?" 
"Let us first find the lord of this castle. Perhaps he 

will help us," said Geoffrey. 
"Good idea. " 
The main hallway led straight into the throne room. 

The architecture of the Serpent's Hold was somewhat 
more organic than what I'd seen before. Its walls and 
ceilings were curved and many arches overhung the 
halls. The throne itself was ornate, and in appearance 
much like a living thing . We approached the man 
seated on the throne. 

"Greetings," I said. "We have come on the Quest 
of the Avatar." 

"Thou art welcome," he replied. "I am Sentri, the 
lord of this province. " 

"Thank you for your hospitality," I said. "These 
are my companions-Jaana, Geoffrey, and Shamino. 
We have traveled long and hard to reach this place. " 

'"Tis much courage thee and thy companions 
show to undertake the Quest. How may I help you?" 

"If you are the king of this province, then you 
should know the ~orb of Passage to enter the Stygian 
Abyss." 
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"I have but one of the three syllables: COR. Dosi 
thou know the four cities of Courage?" 

"No," I said. 
"They are Jhelom, Minoc, Trinsic , and Skara 

Brae." 
"Who should we talk to about the Quest?" 
"There are many who may assist thee on th\ 

Quest." 
"Well, thanks." 
I walked over to the others. 
"Not a lot of help," I said. 
"But now thou hast two of the three syllables a 

the word of passage. Surely 'tis something, " sail 
Jaana. 

"You're right, " I said. "I just get tired of everyo11£ 
talking in riddles." 

"That is why 'tis a Quest," remarked Shamino 
"Remark well the four cities of Courage. Methin~ 
there is meaning hidden there." 

"I think thou shouldst check the Academy 11, 

passed," offered Geoffrey. 
"Academy? What Academy?" I asked. 
"The one we passed by to get here. Hast thou ll 

eyes? The Serpent's Castle is well known for trainin; 
fighters." 

"I guess not," I replied. "I've had other things ix 

my mind. What will we do at the Academy, beside 
letting you trounce a few recruits?" 

"Aye, 'tis a pleasant idea. But thou knowest h 
gossip passes through a school. Mayhap there will ~ 
a tale there for us." 

We walked to the Academy. 
It was little more than a large room with padd 

mats on the floor. On the west wall was a mun 
depicting scenes of battle. Weapons hung from 
north wall; towels were draped over hooks near!i, 
Several sweaty, tired students sat on a bench. B 
them stood an imposing woman , obviously t 
teacher. She was commenting on the bout that 11 

taking place in front of her. She was oblivious to 
presence and I didn 't want to bother her, so we 
down on the bench to wait. 

"Greetings," said one of the students. 
"Greetings," I replied. "Shouldn't you be payir 

attention to the instructor?" 
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Aye," he replied. "But 'tis a lesson I already know 
well. 1 do so want to be a fighter ." 

"So you want to be a ~ig~ter, " I said. "It's a hard job." 
"I plan to conquer the secrets of the altar room," 

he said. His eyes were bright. "Ask our teacher about 
the rooms, for she knows much." 

Altar rooms? What altar rooms? Then I 
remembered different conversations I'd had since the 
Quest began. A guard at Empath Abbey had 
mentioned the altars. And there had been references 
to them in Cove and at Lord British's castle, too. I 
made a mental note to review my journal when we 
bedded down for the evening. 

I stayed and watched the rest of the bout, then 
rose and approached the teacher when she called for 
a break. 

"Greetings," I said. "We are on the Quest of the 
Avatar. The students tell me you're a good teacher." 

"l thank thee. My name is Shyra. Hast thou come 
to learn to fight?" 

"Any help you could give would be appreciated." 
"Good," she said. "Thy companion looks 

familiar ." She pointed to Geoffrey. 
"l hooked up with him in Jhelom. His name is 

Geoffrey. Maybe he trained here. By the way, one of 
your students says you know about the J\lt11r J&oom.&." 

"In the altar room of Courage, use the red, 
orange, purple, and white Stones." 

"The orange and purple Stones? Where would I 
find them?" 

"I know not. Thou shalt have to ask someone else." 
"Thank you for your help," I said. 
Geoffrey wanted to stay and spar with some of the 

students, but we convinced him that the Quest was 
more important than pounding on amateurs. 

Across the hall from the Academy was another 
large room. Shoved into cubbyholes along the east 
wall were hundreds of scrolls. A large book lay 
open on a stand to one side of a table that ran 
down along the south end of the room. A glance at 
the scrolls and book revealed that this was the 
healer's room. 

There was only one room for the sick and in it 
we found a patient-an emaciated sailor lying on a 
thin cot. His face was badly sunburned as though 
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he had spent many days in the sun. 
'Tm sorry to disturb you," I began, but the sailor 

cut me off. 
"Enter, strangers ," he said weakly. "'Tis a long 

time since I've had visitors. " 
"What happened to you?" I asked, unable to tear 

my eyes away from his ravaged face. I ached for his 
pain. 

"I alone survived the shipwreck of the H.M.S. 
Cape. Hast thou heard of her?" 

I remembered that someone in Cove had 
mentioned the H.M.S. <II11p2, but, at the time, I didn 't 
think it of consequence. Mentally, I chastised myself 
for not writing that information down. 

"Yes." 
"She went down in the deep waters of the bay in 

the Cape of Heroes. " 
The Cape of Heroes was the body of water just to 

the south of Britannia and northwest of Serpent's 
Castle. I had noticed it on the map. 

Even this brief conversation exhausted the sailor. 
He closed his eyes and soon I heard the shallow 
sound of his breathing. He was asleep. I slipped away 
quietly. The others were waiting for me outside the 
healer's. 

We searched the castle and discovered that there 
were secret doors leading off the throne room. These 
led into treasure chambers. The treasure chambers 
also had secret doors, which led outside. In a pool 
behind the castle lived a nbde, named Noxum. He told 
us about the magic wheel from the H.M.S. Cape. 

Brother Antos helped us find the person who 
knew where the Bell of Courage lay. And Durham 
helped us with information about the Three-Part Key. 

We decided not to stay at the castle. We were 
impatient to be on our way. 

As we passed through the castle gate, I noticed a 
beggar leaning against the wall of the castle. 

"Greetings," I said. "Who are you?" 
"I am Roderick," he said. 
"Why are you here?" 
"I used to fight in the dungeons. Aye, those were 

glorious days, but I lost a hand to a zom. See?" He 
thrust out the bloody, putrefied stump where his hand 
used to be. "Wilt thou give me gold?" 



"Sure," I said quickly, reaching into my satchel. 
"You were really in the Jllung2ons?" 

"Aye," he said. "And dangerous it is too, but there 
are rewards." 

"Rewards?" 
"Aye. Gold. And other things." 
"Be more specific." 
"The orbs." 
"The ®rbs?" 
"An orb of blue light will make thee stronger , 

quicker, or smarter, but thou shalt pay a price." 
"What price?" 
He smiled, showing gaping black holes where his 

teeth had been. 
"Find out for thyself. If thou art brave enough. " 
Geoffrey grabbed my arm. 
"We must go now. The tide is with us. " He pulled 

me away from the beggar. That night I dreamed of 
blue orbs, the gaping maws of the unspeakable zorn , 
and the darkness and horrors of the dungeons. 

w 
:Entry 11-The eape 
ol ljeroes and Trinsic 
e sailed north to the Cape of 
Heroes. According to Lessorn, 
the sailor we 'd met in 
Serpent's Castle , it was there 
that we'd find a sunken vessel, 

the H.M.S. Cape. Aboard it when it went down was a 
magical wheel that had strengthened the hull of the 
ship. I hoped to retrieve the wheel and see if it would 
do the same for our boat. 

Jaana took the helm . She astonished and 
embarrassed the rest of us by singing a bawdy sea 
chantey. When she finished , she burst out laughing 
at our shocked expressions. Geoffrey looked like a 
fish gasping for air. Shamino crossed his arms over 
his chest and turned away; I could only stand there 
and gape. 

"If only you could see the expressions on your 
faces," she laughed. "Have you never heard a simple 
song before?" 

"That's quite a , uh , vocabulary you have," I said 
weakly. 
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'"Tis nothing," she said demurely. "Just a ditty ! 
learned from a sailor. Besides, 'tis a girl thing ." She 
looked pointedly at me. I blushed-hoist on my 011t 

petard. 
Luckily at that moment we sailed into the Cape a 

Heroes. Forests and low hills bordered the shoreline 
The water was crystal clear. I thought we'd run intr 
the shallows, but when we dropped a depth tester, 11 

discovered we were still in deep water. 
"This is amazing," I said. "The water must ~ 

hundreds of feet deep." 
"Thou exaggeratest, " said Shamino. "'Tis mor. 

like tens of feet , but deep nonetheless. " 
"What's that?" I pointed to a dark shadow on th 

bottom. 
'"Tis the shadow of our ship , I believe," sax 

Geoffrey. 
Jaana swung the boat around and we slowed to 

stop. I lowered the anchor over the side. 
"Well," I said, "what do we do now?' 
The others looked at me expectantly. I got th 

idea that they wanted me to tell them. I looked oo 
the side of the boat, then back at the others. 

"Okay . We need to get the wheel out of tl: 
water," I said. "That's the first thing. The question 1 
how?" 

"'Tis simple," began Jaana. "Hook a rope ar001 
the wheel and pull it from the water. " 

"And how do we hook it?" I asked. "Do any 
you know how to swim?" 

They shook their heads. 
"Ah. Well, looks like I'm elected," I said. 
I pulled off my shirt and boots, then walked to 

side of the ship. Taking a deep breath, I climbed oo 
the railing . The water looked far away. I never 
much of a diver. 

"Hand me a rope, " I said. Shamino passed me 
end of one of the lines. 

"Here goes nothing, " I said , and jumped. T 
seconds of free fall and then I hit. The water was 
cold. I bobbed to the surface, gasping for air. 
didn't drown, I'd freeze to death if I didn't get a roo 
on. Taking several deep breaths, I plunged benei 
the surface and opened my eyes to get my bearill 
The ship was directly below me. Clenching the 
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between my teeth, I made my way down until at last I 
reached the ship. Bubbles of precious air escaped my 
mouth , but I held on to what remained with grim 
determination. 

The H.M.S. Cape had seen better days. Algae and 
ribbons of seaweed covered her. Bloated, dead sailors 
bobbed with the current, arms and legs tangled in the 
seaweed and the wreckage. I shuddered at the sight of 
their watery grave, but did not hesitate. 

The wheel was lashed to the main mast of the 
ship. I swam over to it and tied my end of the rope 
around one of the spokes. I grabbed hold of two of 
the spokes and pulled. The wheel wouldn 't come 
loose. With a silent groan I released the wheel and 
frantically looked around. My lungs started to burn, 
but I still wasn 't ready to admit defeat. In the back of 
my mind I realized that I would never have 
accomplished even this meager feat in my former life. 
Britannia again. 

Meanwhile I was seeking something to cut the 
lashings. A dead sailor bobbed in front of me; tucked 
into his belt was a knife. With desperate fingers, I 
grabbed it. 

The knife was rusty, but still serviceable. I shoved 
the blade up under the ropes and worked it back and 
forth. Nothing happened for a moment, then with a 
muffled groan the bindings split. My lungs were on 
fire now, and my head pounded. I knew my air would 
not last much longer. My fingers were numb from the 
cold as I worked the knife under the other pieces of 
rope. Fortunately these were rotted almost all the way 
through and gave way more easily. In seconds, the 
wheel was free. The knife fell from my hand and 
tumbled to the bottom of the ocean. 

I tugged on the line, the signal to Jaana and the 
others. The wheel fell slowly toward the deck of the 
Cape , but then the line grew taut and pulled it 
upward. I grabbed hold of the wheel, hoping my 
breath would hold. The ascent seemed to last forever. 

Finally I burst to the surface, gasping for air. 
Shamino and Geoffrey pulled me and the wheel onto 
the ship. I sat down, dripping water and laboring for 
breath. 

"They had it lashed to their mast," I gasped. "Let's 
try securing it to ours." 
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Geoffrey held the wheel while Shamino tied ii 

securely to the mast. A moment passed, then a blUt 
light spread from the top of the mast down the lengtt 
of the boat, bathing the whole ship in a beautilu 
radiance. 

I lay back on the deck and stared at the wheel 
letting the ocean breeze dry my skin. 

0 0 0 

We put in at Trinsic the next day. The wheel froc 
the H.M.S. Cape had done its job, protecting our boa 
from the attacks of various sea creatures. Sailing a 
Britannian oceans was as dangerous as walkin; 
through Britannian woods. 

Trinsic lay close to the shore on a blu 
overlooking the sea. Surrounded by high stone wall 
it was a stronghold in a dangerous part of the world. 

To the east, as we entered town, was a shop tI. 
sold dueling weapons . Next door there was ~ 

armory. To the west we saw an inn and a pub calle 
The Tap. 

"Let's spend the night at the inn," I said. "A~ 
my dip in the ocean, I'm ready to rinse off with 
fresh water. " 

"The pub next to the inn is well known for 
brew," said Geoffrey. He smiled broadly. "Sea tra 
gives me a powerful thirst. " 

"Aye," added Shami no, nodding enthusiastica! 
"'Twould be a shame not to sample what might be 
finest ale in Britannia." 

"We seem to have a consensus here ," 1 sa 
"What about you, Jaana? Are you parched too?" 

"Being a bard, thou knowest that singing is 
work. Since I entertained thee with my songs onbci! 
ship, the least thou couldst do is to quench my thir> 

"I know when I'm outvoted. The pub-then 
bath. " 

The tavern was smoky , but not too crow 
Jaana, Geoffrey, and Shamino sat down at a ta: 
while I got the ale. When I returned to the tali 
handsome paladin had joined the others. 

"Hello," I said. "Who's this?" 
"This is Dupre," said Jaana, gesturing to the 

across from her. "He 's a town leader. " 
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"How do you do?" I asked. 
·1 am well ," he replied rising out of his chair 

lightly. "Thy friends tell me thou art on the Quest of 
the Avatar." 

"Yes," I said. "Do you know anything about the 
Quest?" 

"No, 1 cannot assist thee. " 
"Isn 't Trinsic the town of ~onnr?" 

"Aye," he said . "Honor is my constant quest. 
Honor is like finely polished armor. Without constant 
care it is soon tarnished." 

"Would you excuse us for a minute?" I asked . 
Private business." 

"Certainly," he replied . "My mug is empty and 1 
would refill it. " He rose and walked over to the bar. 

"ls anything wrong?" asked Shamino. 
"No," 1 replied, looking around the table at the 

others. "l just wanted to check and see if you would 
mind if 1 asked him to join us. " 

The others looked startled. 
"I know it's short notice, but I have a feeling about 

him. Besides, for the Quest to be balanced, our party 
must be balanced as well. We need a paladin. ' 

"Aye," said Jaana. "Thou art right, but will he do?" 
"Well , we're going to find out. " 
Dupre came back to the table and sat down . 

Have you finished your business?" he asked. 
"Yes, but we have a question for you. " 
"Aye, what would you ask of me?" 
"As you know, we're on a Quest and to complete 

it. we need a paladin . We were wondering if you 
would ]Jrrin us?" 

"I would be honored to join you," he said. 
We raised our mugs and drank a toast to the 

newest member of our party. 

0 0 0 

The next morning I woke with a pounding in my head 
like the anvils of a thousand angry blacksmiths. Great 
ale or not, I wasn't going to drink like that again. I 
dimly recalled the fifth toast, something about Jaana's 
eyes being brighter than all the stars in heaven. Which 
one of us had made that up escaped me and it took 
too much energy to think about it. 
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At this point I realized the pounding I had assumed 
was in my head was actually coming from the door. 

"Stop that! " I yelled, or tried to yell . It came out 
more like a weak croak. The door swung open and 
Dupre bounded into the room. He looked hale and 
hearty and ready for bear. Or ore. I wanted to kill 
him. 

"Good morning, friend! " he bellowed. 
"Keep it down, will you? Do you want to wake the 

whole inn?" 
He peered at me closely. 
"What is wrong with thee?" he asked. "Hast thou 

caught the plague? If so, we must send thee from this 
place, for surely we cannot endanger the lives of 
others." 

"A noble sentiment, Dupre. But what ails me is 
too much of your fine ale." 

"Thou shouldst not drink beyond thy limits. Thou 
art old enough to have learned this lesson before." 

"Once or twice," I said. "I don't make this a habit, 
if that's what you mean." 

"Even so, 'tis a fool who gets drunk." 
"Call me a complete idiot. " 
"Thou art an idiot. " 
I tried to glare at him, but it came across as more 

of a squint. Then I burst out laughing. The worst part 
was Dupre ' s expression. He wasn ' t mad , just 
disappointed in me and perhaps a bit confused. 
After all , I had told him to call me an idiot, and he'd 
simply obliged me. Now I told him to go get the 
others and meet me in a few minutes. He shrugged, 
turned, and left. 

I pulled on my clothes and went to face the music. 

0 0 0 

A man stood in the main room of the inn as I walked in. 
"Hello ," I said . "Have you see three men and a 

woman waiting around here?" 
"Nay," he said. 'Thy friends?" 
"Yes," I replied. "We're on a ({)uest together." 
"Aye, I know much about quests." He looked me 

over as if he doubted that I could be on a Quest. "Dost 
thou know what is needed to enter the shrines?" 

"Yes. The ~nntrn and the rune." 
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I think my answer impressed him. Anyway, he 
appeared to be satisfied with my answer. "Aye," he 
agreed. 'The Mantra for Honor is SUMM." 

That was helpful. "Know anything about the ~m 
of Honor?" I asked hopefully. 

"A man named Winthrope knows of the rune." 
"Thanks. I appreciate the help ." 
The others were waiting outside the inn. As I 

stepped out, I bumped into a scruffy merchant. 
"Excuse me," I said. 
"'Tis no great matter," he replied , waving his hand 

slightly. "I see thou art a traveler also. " 
"Yes," I said. "I am on a Quest. " 
"I am Winthrope. I trade in rumors." 
"What kind of ~umurs?" I asked cautiously. This 

Winthrope looked pretty disreputable to me. 
"Ask me." 
I thought for minute. I needed to know about the 

shrine, the Rune, the Stone, and the Codex. There 
was a lot of ground to cover. 

"What about the Shrine of Honor?" I asked. 
"I cannot help thee with that," he said. 
"The ~une?" 
"Which rune?" 
"The Rune of Honor." 
"Hmm." He stroked his chin. "There was a small 

child who knew. Terrin was his name, I believe. " 
"Anything else? Maybe the Stone, the Codex, the 

shrine?" 
He shook his head. 
"No , I cannot help thee ." Then he turned and 

went into the inn. 
"Well ," I said to the others "now all we have to do 

is find Terrin." 
We wandered around the town for the rest of 

the morning. We found out about nightshade from 
Virgil. Quix told us the names of people who could 
tell us about the purple Stone of Honor and its 
uses. 

We found the child Terrin hiding in a grove of 
trees behind the weapons shop. 

"What's wrong?" I asked him. 
"I am hiding," he replied. His voice was unsteady. 
"From whom?" I asked. 
''The bull. It chased me. Is it gone?" 
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I looked around, but didn 't see a bull. "I think it's 
gone now." 

He stood up , braver now. "Good . I was very 
afraid." 

"A man named Winthrope said you know where 
the ~n• is." 

He brightened then. I think he was happy to be 
useful. "Aye. Tis buried in the southwest corner o! 
town. " 

"Thank you for your help," I said. "And watch Oli 

for that bull." 
"I will ," he replied. 

0 0 0 

It was a short walk to the southwest corner of town 
but we had to push our way through the trees ar> 
bushes. I blundered out of the woods into a magica 
field . The air around me turned a sickly lime-green 
Then, suddenly, I was through the field and in a sma! 
open area. A young mage stood in one corner. H 
had a nasty, superior expression on his face . 

"Hello," I said. 
"Greetings, " he replied in a whiny, nasal voice. 
"Who are you? And what are you doing here?" 
"I am Sendrick," he said. "I practice great magics 
"Oh, really?" 
"Aye, really," he replied. He sounded put out th: 

I wasn't impressed. "Dost thou know the ingredier 
for all great magics?" 

I thought for a minute, then said, "Mandrake.' 
was a shot in the dark, an educated guess based 
my readings. 

"Aye," he said, his voice peevish . "Ask at 
Folley Tavern about mandrake." 

Then Geoffrey , Jaana , Shamino , and Dupr 
stumbled through the force fields into the clearing. 

"Hast thou discovered the rune?" asked Jaana. 
"No," I said. "I haven 't looked yet. " 
We spread out and searched the small clearing. TI 

rune lay under some loose dirt near Sendrick. 1 tuck! 
it into my satchel and was about to pass back thr~ 
the force field when Shamino grabbed my arm. 

'Thou shouldst dispel this field " he said. 
"Why? It didn't do us any harm coming through. 
'"Tis a poison field . Better not to try thy luck." 
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I shrugged and cast the spell. The field collapsed 
and fell apart . I let the others go back first and 
glanced over my shoulder at Sendrick as we left. He 
stood in his comer with a petulant expression on his 
face, as though we'd spoiled his fun . 

1 told the others I needed to visit the Shrine of 
Honor. We set sail the next day . After visiting the 
shrine, we sailed back around the Cape of Heroes and 
made our way back to Lord British's castle. 

T 
:Entry 1B-l)ythloth 
and the Ligliter-than­
z:tir-Device 
he first snow of winter had just 
fallen when we docked at Lord 
British's castle. I'd been away so 
long that I'd almost forgotten 

00.U beautiful this part of Britannia was. A white frosting 
of snow covered the turrets; dripping icicles gleamed on 
the ramparts and eaves. Our boots crunched in the drifts. 
Smoke wafted up from the chimneys rising above the 
castle's roof. It felt like home. 

' Why have we come back here?" asked Geoffrey as 
we walked toward the castle. 

"To rest and regroup," I replied. "Lord British likes 
to get information from other parts of Britannia and I 
need to talk to Hawkwind to see how I'm doing on 
the Quest. 

"Also, we need the white Stone. Isaac, the ghost 
at the Skara Brae inn, told me that it could be reached 
only by a lighter-than-air device. I've heard stories that 
two men in the Buccaneer's Den know of the lighter­
than-air device. According to the rumors, these men 
claim that the lighter-than-air device may be found in 
the dungeon outside the great castle. 

"If I'm figuring things right, the great castle is Lord 
British 's castle . There were a couple of doors I 
couldn't get through last time I was here because I 
didn't have keys. Well, I've got keys now and I want to 
see if they take us into the dungeon." 

"The dungeons are dangerous. Only those who 
are very brave , or very foolish , dare them ," said 
Shamino. 

"I know, but we need the white Stone and this is 
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the only way I know to get it. Besides, if the flying 
object is outside the dungeon, all we need to do is go 
into the dungeon , then cast a spell to get out-an 
Exit spell . If my calculations are correct, we ' ll be 
outside the dungeon in a matter of minutes, and find 
this lighter-than-air-device." 

"And if thou art wrong?" asked Jaana. 
"The, we've got problems." 
We entered the main hall of the castle. I stopped 

in the main hall's archway , amazed by the 
transformation wrought there. Garlands of evergreen 
hung from the ceilings and wrapped around the 
columns down the center of the room. Red, blue, and 
yellow bows adorned the greenery . Soft woven 
carpets covered the floor . Each depicted a different 
Virtue , they looked like oversized versions of the 
gypsy's tarot cards. 

The courtiers wore their finest clothes . Deep 
velvets, trimmed with fur , rubbed against heavy 
embroidered silk. Our rough , travel- and battle­
stained outfits set us apart and called attention to us. 

"Do you know what's going on here?" I asked. 
"It looks like a celebration of some kind ," said 

Jaana. 
Geoffrey, Shamino, Dupre, and I turned and gave 

her an annoyed look. 
"Thou hast a fine grasp of the obvious ," said 

Shamino dryly. 
Jaana blushed. 
"There's one way to find out what's going on," I 

said. "Let's go see Lord British. " 
The great monarch sat on his throne . He waved 

an arm and gestured for us to join him. Around the 
room the celebrants gawked at our appearance. If any 
of them had recognized me, which 1 doubted, they 
would no doubt have been amazed by my 
transformation from the pale, otherworldly slug I had 
been to the hardened Britannian warrior I had 
become. 

"Greetings ," said Lord British . "We have been 
expecting thee. " 

"How did you know we were coming?" I asked, 
suspecting something arcane. 

"Thy boat was sighted yesterday. We have been 
making preparations to welcome thee back. " 
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"Lord British, these are the companions who have 
joined me on my Quest: Jaana, a druid from the city 
of Yew. " 

"Welcome, Jaana, " said Lord British. 
"This is Shamino, a ranger from Skara Brae. This 

is Geoffrey. We found him in Jhelom. He's a fighter. 
And this is the paladin Dupre. We met him in Trinsic 
just before we came back here." 

"Welcome to all thy friends. I see thou hast made 
much progress on thy Quest. I have a gift for thee. " 
He gestured with his staff and there was a flash of 
light. Strength surged through my body and mind. 
Jaana gasped. Shamino and Geoffrey let out cries of 
surprise. When I turned and looked at them I saw that 
they had changed. They all looked stronger, more 
muscular. I touched my bicep and felt hard, corded 
muscle. And I felt sharper, more intelligent and alive. 

"This is my reward for thy journeys. Only after 
thou hast experienced many trials over a long period 
of time may I reward thee thus ," said Lord British. 
"Now, we have prepared a feast for thee." 

The rest of the day was spent enjoying the food, 
wine, and entertainment Lord British provided. The 
court listened intently as we told about our Quest. 
Lord British asked about the towns we'd visited, the 
people we'd met, the foes we'd fought. I thought of 
what I could do to a balron with my new physique. 

The revelry lasted all night and into the morning. 
The grey streaks of dawn colored the sky as we finally 
made our way to bed. 

0 0 0 

We stayed another day at the castle, making a short 
trip to Britain to buy supplies and visit with Iolo. As I'd 
expected , lolo and my companions became friends 
quickly. Jaana, Shamino, and I discussed the spells we 
would need in the dungeon. I made sure we each 
prepared an Exit spell. Jaana insisted on as many 
Cure and Heal spells as we could make. Shamino 
suggested we take along a spell of Quickness. 

"I don't think we're going to need these spells," 
I said. 

"Tis better to be prepared," replied Shamino. He 
mixed some reagents, and smiled as they bound 
together. 
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When the spells were ready we started looking for 
the secret entrance to the dungeon. We began in the 
prison because it was one of the places in the castle! 
hadn't investigated thoroughly. 

Guards stood at the entrance to the prison, bul 
didn 't stop us from coming and going at will . The 
prison was a large room divided into cells containing a 

variety of captives. On the western wall were two cells 
holding a collection of motley looking men. In a cell to 
our south was a monster of some sort. 

"What's that?" I asked Shamino as I pointed at the 
creature. 

"I believe it is a reaper," he replied. "I have ncl 
seen one before, but it fits the description-a trunk· 
like body with tentacles. Tis said they cast fearsom 
magic to destroy their foes. " 

I peered through the bars at the captured reaper. 
"Doesn't look so bad to me," I said. "But then, ii• 

behind bars and we're out here. It 's easy to be bravt 
under these circumstances. " 

"A true enough sentiment " agreed Geoffrey. "& 
why do we waste time discussing a conquered foe 
Tis time for action-not talk. There is a dungeon I 
find and monsters to fight. " 

"Thou wilt have plenty of foul creatures to 00. 
upon soon enough, " said Jaana. "Why must tho. 
borrow trouble?" 

'"Tis the warrior 's way, milady. Thou knowe~ 
Why dost thou chastise me?" 

"Me chastise thee? Why, thou overgrown ... " 
"Enough , already, " I interrupted. "We need I 

investigate these cells, not argue among ourselves." 
I used a magic key on the lock on the cell in 

western corner . We slipped into the cell. T 
miserable wretch chained in the corner raised 
head, then sank back into a stupor. We search 
the cell and discovered a secret door in one C0!11E! 

The secret door swung open with a touch. In th 
room beyond the door, we found a mage namr 
Zorin. He told us to find a man named Anthros 
each of the three castles and to ask about the Be. 
Book, and Candle. 

Leading out of the secret room was a passag; 
Following this passage west, we discovered anotli 
secret door leading into the cell holding the rea~ 
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The reaper smiled wickedly at us and its tentacles 
twitched, but it made no move to attack. It told us of 
an object of great power and said to ask about it at 
the Buccaneer's Den. Enough people had mentioned 
the Buccaneer's Den that I knew it should be our next 
destination. 

We continued to search the corridor, but found no 
other doors or passageways. The entrance to the 
dungeon was not here, and we went back the way 
we'd come. 

"Maybe thy information is tainted," said Shamino. 
·Not everyone is as honest as thee. Maybe there is no 
entrance to a dungeon near this castle." 

"Aye," said Jaana. "Perhaps 'tis another castle 
that holds the dungeon. " 

"Nay. Why would someone lie about such a 
thing?"' said Dupre. 

Jaana, Geoffrey , and Shamino looked at Dupre 
11ith astonishment. 

"Why do you stare?" Dupre asked. "I cannot 
imagine such a thing." 

"Paladins ," grunted Geoffrey, shrugging his 
shoulders. 

"Never mind all that," I said. "There's one more 
place I haven't searched. Follow me." 

I led the way back downstairs and through the first 
secret doorway I'd found in the castle. It was in the 
eastern wing. Two secret doors led to the outside and 
I went to the northern one. We made our way along 
the side of the castle to a small wooden door. The 
door was locked, but I had several magic keys. I pulled 
one of them out of my satchel. 

"Here goes nothing," I said, inserting the key into 
the lock. The key glowed and turned. The door swung 
open. We stepped forward. 

0 0 0 

It was dark. Not the dark of night, but an inky 
blackness utterly devoid of light. It felt like the 
blackness was pushing into my eyes, a solid mass. 

"Someone light a torch ," I said. I felt the darkness 
pushing against me , suffocating me. I couldn 't 
breathe. I . . 

Light. 
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I blinked a few times to get used to the sudden 
brightness and looked around me. We were in a 
dungeon. Only a dungeon could be so malodorous. 
Slime and moss clung to the stone walls. A trickle of 
fetid water oozed from between the stones and 
puddled on the flagstone walk. The air was stale and 
smelled of decay and death. Suddenly I was very 
afraid of whatever could live in such an environment. 

I'd thought we might investigate the dungeon a little 
before we went and got the lighter-than-air device, but 
now that I was here , I realized how perilous our 
situation was. I wanted to spend as little time here as 
possible. Not normally prone to claustrophobia, I was 
suddenly initiated into its unpleasant sensations. 

"I'm going to cast the spell to get us out of here, " I 
said. I managed to keep the nervousness out of my 
voice. The others didn't object. I glanced at their faces 
and saw my fear mirrored there. 

I gathered a ball of blood moss and spider silk in 
my hand and added a pinch of sulfurous ash . The 
sulfurous ash flashed and a bright light filled the 
dungeon. In an instant, we stood outside the dungeon. 
Except it wasn't where we'd come in . 

"I guess I didn't concentrate hard enough," I said. 
"Fear not," said Sharnino. '"Tis just as well we are 

gone from that foul place . Dost thou now 
comprehend why the dungeons are the most 
dangerous places in all Britannia?" 

"Yes, because only something horrible and foul 
could possibly live in a dungeon. But we' ll have to 
return, won't we?" 

''Aye. But when we are better prepared and better 
armed. " 

"No argument there. " 
As we talked, we made our way down the rocky 

path leading from the mouth of the dungeon. Rounding 
a large outcropping and heading east, we saw the 
balloon. It waved gently in the morning breeze. The 
balloon itself was pink, yellow, and blue, laid out in a 
geometric pattern. The basket was wicker with a wood 
floor, and was large enough to hold at least ten people. 

"Let's go get the white Stone," I said and climbed 
aboard. I had no idea how to work the thing, but I 
think I assumed it would be like the horse and the 
ship. I would figure it out when the time came. 



£ntry 19-The White 

< 1c:· <>tone. moonglow. and the 1ycaeum 
he balloon soared high above 
the Britannian landscape. For a 
while , we were content just to 
watch the ground pass far 

below. Through wisps of clouds, I watched the snow­
capped peaks and spiny ridges of the Serpent's Spine, 
the mountains north of Lord British's castle , as they 
passed below us. 

"Look," Dupre said, pointing toward the ground as 
we crossed the mountains. "Down there." 

We moved to Dupre's side of the basket. It tilted 
dangerously and I felt my stomach lurch . Dupre 
pointed at a small gap between two of the peaks. A 
large stone ankh stood in a small patch of grass. 

"That must be where the white Stone is," I said. 
"Land the balloon." 

Jaana and Shamino rushed to the damper , 
dousing the flame that kept the balloon aloft. We 
began to sink, but not fast enough. A strong easterly 
wind blew us over the ridge and we landed on a 
grassy plain to the west of the shrine. 

"Can we walk back to the shrine? I asked. 
Geoffrey shook his head. "Nay. There are no trails 

and only sheer cliffs. To reach the shrine, we must 
use the balloon." 

This was not good news. The balloon was difficult 
to control, blowing about at the whim of every breeze. 

"A Blink spell might get us there," I said. 
"Nay," said Shamino. '"Tis difficult to control the 

landing . If we could control the winds for a few 
moments we might be able to land the balloon on the 
small grassy patch of land near the ankh." 

I'd considered using Wind spells, but it seemed 
risky. We could run out of spells, run out of strength 
to cast them, or even run out of the reagents to create 
the spells, and then we'd be in real trouble. But there 
didn ' t seem to be any other choice. I told my 
companions to heat the air for an ascent. As the 
balloon began to inflate, I readied a spell to control 
the winds. We needed to go east, so I had to make 
the winds come from the west. Mixing together 
sulphurous ash and blood moss, I called out to the 
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patron of winds and whispered the direction I neede 
the breeze to take. The winds changed and w1 

loosened the lines on the balloon. 
The balloon floated up and over the mountaim 

We saw the shrine below, but we were too far soutl 
to land. I soon discovered how difficult it was to lair 
the balloon in just the right spot. 

After several unsuccessful tries , I took a sextilll 
reading as we passed futilely above the place wheri 
we wanted to land. The ankh was at F'A' F'A'. \\', 
landed the balloon west of the mountains again 
then went aloft and floated north until our longinrl 
read F'A'. 

Then we cast a spell to change the winds to ti» 
west. We floated east and made a perfect landing a 
the small grassy area! I clambered out of the ha.ski 
and dropped to the ground. After all the time it ha: 
taken to get to this spot, the moment it took to firr 
the white Stone seemed anticlimactic. I put the Stoo 
in my satchel and climbed back into the carriage. 

"Dost thou wish to stay here and rest?" ask 
Jaana. "It seems like the safest place we will find 
our wanderings." 

"Aye, 'tis a good idea," interjected Shamino. 
"Okay," I said. "We'll spend the night here, but 

the morning I want to head back to Lord British 
castle and drop off the balloon. Then I think it's tim 
we visited Moonglow." 

"But why?" asked Geoffrey. 
"We need a mage," I replied , "and I've heard 

may find one in Moonglow." 

0 0 0 

A few days later, after a nearly uneventful voyage, 
sailed into the harbor outside Moonglow. We ~ 

fought off some attacks by sea serpents and otlv 
creatures of the deep ocean, but our new strength ;r. 
greater numbers proved more than equal to the last 
We arrived safely, not much the worse for wear. 

We docked the ship and walked to the edge 
town, where a footbridge over a puddle led into c 
city. The streets were hard-packed dirt, lined wr 
bushes and other small plants. A tall mage stood 
the bridge and waved at us. 
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"Greetings, " he said. "Welcome to Moonglow." 
"Hello," I replied. "We've come a long way. " 
He smiled amiably. "All travelers come a long way 

to Moonglow. Dost thou seek a healer or an inn?" 
"We don't need either," I said. 
"Perhaps the shrine which lies to the north?" 
"Yes," I said. "We are looking for the shrine. " 
"There are many in Moonglow who may help thee 

on thy quest." 
"Thank you," I said. Then we passed into town. 
I stopped at the healer's to donate some blood. In 

the shop, the wounded mage called Shazom told me 
about the Recall spell. Two children , Christen and 
William, led us to the Rune of Honesty. I learned about 
the Mantra from a paladin named Cromwell. He asked 
me if I strove for Honesty and I said yes. Then he told 
me that the Mantra of Honesty was AHM. 

In a small field north of the path into town we 
encountered a young mage. She was sitting on a 
chest of gold with her chin cupped in her hands and 
her elbows resting on her knees . Long blond hair 
nowed down her back, and her bright green eyes sized 
us up with a quick glance. 

She stood as we approached. The top of her head 
came just to my chin. 

"Greetings," she said. "My name is Mariah." 
A sense of deja vu swept over me. I knew I'd 

never seen her before, but there was something 
familiar about her, something that fit into a puzzle I 
hadn't even known existed. 

"Hello, " I said. "What are you doing here?" 
"Just now I'm taking care of this chest, but I really 

wi h to seek adventure. " Her eyes twinkled as she said 
that. 

"So you're interested in adventure," I said. "Be 
careful what you wish for-you might get it. " 

"Aye. I hope to go on a Quest. Art thou on a 
Quest?" 

"Yes, as a matter of fact I am . These are my 
companions: Dupre, Jaana , Shamino, and the big guy 
is Geoffrey. " 

"I wish I could Jloin thee ," she said , looking 
longingly at us. 

"Why don't you?" 
"I would be glad to," she said. 
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"What about your chest?" I asked. 
'"Tis safe for now," she said. "I have set a Poison 

spell on it that will deter any who might try to steal it. 
Where wilt thou go next?" 

I thought for a moment. 
"I need to go to the Moongate and retrieve the 

black Stone. Merlin in Cove told me I should search 
the Moongate when both moons go dark. According 
to my calculations, the Moongate for Moonglow 
appears when both moons are dark. I know we also 
need to go to the Lycaeum and the Shrine of 
Honesty ." 

"Then thou shouldst go to the herb shop and get 
reagents and stock up on rations at the Sage Deli­
Dagger Isle , where the shrine lies , is a dangerous 
place. I am told the mouth of the dungeon Deceit is 
on that isle, too," said Mariah. 

"The maid hath a good head on her shoulders," 
said Dupre. "We should heed her advice." 

"Very well," I said. "Supplies, the black Stone, the 
Lycaeum, and on to Dagger Isle. Any objections?" 

The others shook their heads. 
"Then it's settled. " 

0 0 0 

On the shore west of Moonglow , the Moongate 
appeared when both of Britannia's moons were dark. 
I stepped into the gate and felt that familiar sense of 
vertigo , but when I emerged from the gate I found 
myself right where I had entered it. Unlike the other 
Moongates, this one hadn't teleported me anywhere. 
Still, something felt different. I looked down at the 
ground and there, between my feet , was the black 
Stone. 

Quickly I picked it up and stepped away from the 
Moongate. I didn't wanted to risk being transported 
anywhere else by accident. 

"Now we go to the Lycaeum," I said. 

0 0 0 

A stately wizard stood inside the entrance to the 
Lycaeum. His robes were blue , embroidered with 
green and purple designs. ln his hand he held a staff 
of black hardwood. 



"Welcome to the Lycaeum ," he said. "I am 
Tymus. " 

"Hello," I answered. "These are my companions: 
Mariah, Geoffrey, Shamino, Jaana, and Dupre. We 
are on a Quest. " 

"Then you must visit here for a while . There is 
information within for those on the Quest. " 

"Do you know anything about the Quest?" I asked. 
His eyebrows shifted subtly. He placed both hands 

on top of his staff and rested his chin upon them. 
"What dost thou wish to know?" 

"Can you tell us about the ,tluug~ons? " 

"Aye. In the dungeon there are altar rooms. To 
use the altars, you must have the Stones." 

"Which Stones?" I inquired. 
"I cannot help thee with that. " 
"Which dungeons?" 
"I cannot help thee with that. " 
"Where in the dungeon are the altars?" 
"I cannot help thee with that. " 
This was futile . "Thanks anyway," I said. "If you 

think of anything else, let me know." 
The mage simply smiled. 
We made our way over the two small bridges just 

inside the entrance and crossed into the throne room. 
A handsome man and woman sat on a double 

throne in the center of the room. The curtains that 
hung on either side of the throne were dark blue 
velvet embroidered with a red and yellow design. 

"Welcome," began the man on the throne. "I am 
Robert Frasier. How may I help thee?" 

"Hello," I replied . "We are on the Quest of the 
Avatar. We were told to ask each of the lords of the 
castles about the ,Irlorh of Passage. Do you know the 
word?" 

"I know but one of the three syllables. Dost thou 
wish to know it now?" 

"Yes," I said. 
"It is VER. Seek ye to know the other parts." 
"We already have them . They are : AMO and 

COR. " 
"Very well. Good luck on thy journey." 
I bowed to him and then to his lady, and we made 

our way out of the throne room. In the comer of the 
hall stood a druid who looked familiar to me. He was 
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the spitting image of his twin, Brother Antos, who 
lived at Empath Abbey. Brother Antos had mentioned 
that his twin lived at the Lycaeum. 

"Excuse me," I said. "Aren't you Father Antos?" 
"Aye, I am," he said. "I have much knowledge 

What dost thou seek?" 
"The ~00!1 of Truth." 
"It lies with the other books." 
"Thank you," I said. I was about to continue our 

conversation, but he wandered away. 
"Where dost thou think the book is? " askea 

Geoffrey. 
'Tm not sure. Where are books usually kept?" 
"In a library, of course, " said Mariah. 
"ls there one here?" 
"Aye, 'tis beyond this door," Mariah said pointi~ 

west to a small door leading off the corridor we stoo: 
in. "The Lycaeum is the main library of Britannia." 

I tried the door Mariah had indicated, but it Wi! 

locked. One of my magic keys took care of that. Th 
door swung open and the musty odor of books floatlil! 
out. I sneezed. 

"Bless thee," came a voice from inside. 
"Who's there?" I asked as I entered. 
"Tis I, Lord Terence," said the voice. A tall , agik 

man stood and walked out from behind a desk. 
"Hello," I said. "May we use the library?" 
"Aye. Art thou looking for a particular book?" 
"Yes. The llool1 of Truth." 
"Look under T. " 
"Thank you. " 
We made our way along the library stacks. I kep: 

sneezing. 
"Wilt thou stop that?" hissed Shamino with som 

annoyance. 
"I cabn't," I said. ''J'mb allerbgic to dubst" 
"I found it," said Jaana. She stood in the sectia 

marked R at my end of the shelves . She held 
leather-bound book. The pages were heavy vellui: 
gilded at the edges. The Book of Truth was stampe 
in gold runes on the cover. 

"Tis heavy," Jaana said. "Here. Feel." 
She passed the book to me. She was right. It 1 

heavy. But the weight had a comfort to it, a sense 
solidity that made me feel secure. I pulled off ir 
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backpack and was about to take the book when I 
hesitated. 

"What is wrong?" asked Mariah. 
I don 't know if we should take it. I mean , isn 't 

that stealing?" 
"Nay, " Mariah said. "Lord British hath instructed 

thee to find what is needed for thy Quest. Is not the 
Book of Truth part of thy Quest?" 

"Yes," l replied . 
"Then 'tis thine for the taking. " 
"If you say so," I said, and opened my backpack. I 

tucked the Book of Truth in next to the Candle of 
Love. 

·what is left for us to do?" I asked as I shrugged 
into my backpack. 

"We need to finish exploring this place," said 
Geoffrey. 

"Aye. But we still lack six of the Stones. For that I 
fear we need to go into the dungeons, " remarked 
Shamino. 

"How do you know we ' re missing six of the 
tones?" l asked Shamino. 

"Thou hast recovered the black and white Stones," 
hamino said. "Thou searchest for the eight runes 

representing the eight Virtues. 'Tis a simple matter to 
see that there must be eight stones, each 
representing one of the virtues. Since thou hast 
discovered two of the Stones, that leaves six more 
tones to be found. " 

"You have a point," I said. "But how do you figure 
that the Stones are in the dungeons?" 

"Jn Jhelom we met Gravnor. Dost thou remember 
him?" Shamino asked. 

"Yes, " I said. "A fighter we met in the pub. " 
"He told us we would find the red Stone in the 

Dungeon Destard . I am assuming that the other 
tones also lie in the dungeons." 

"That's a lot of assuming," I said. 
"Aye," said Shamino. "But hast thou a better guess?" 
"No. Any suggestions on where we should go 

next?" l asked in general. 
"There are still two cities of Virtue, Minoc and 

Magincia, that we have not seen," said Jaana. "And 
the Rune of Sacrifice has not yet been found ." 

"And I haven ' t even elevated in many of the 
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Virtues. That requires trips to the shrines. And we still 
need the Bell of Courage. " 

"There is much we have yet to do. And waiting at 
the end of our journey is the great Stygian Abyss," 
added Dupre. His voice filled me with dread. 

I sighed. It did seem like a lot to do. Would I ever 
complete this Quest? 

"Do not despair," said Mariah . "The Shrine of 
Honesty is on the next isle . We can stop there." 

I unrolled my map and looked at it. Dagger Isle lay 
to the east, just off the coast of Britannia. We could 
go to the shrine and then try the dungeon . If we 
managed to get the Stone, we could sail from Dagger 
Isle to Minoc. I pushed my exhaustion aside and rolled 
the map up. 

"Let's finish here , then go to Dagger Isle. From 
there we'll go to Minoc. " 

The others nodded and we resumed our search of 
the Lycaeum. We met Nigel there, and he instructed 
us as to the mixture for the Recall spell. A wounded 
fighter at the healer's gave us information about the 
altar rooms in the dungeons. Scatu suggested we talk 
to Zircon in Minoc about the Mystic Weapons and 
Armor. 

The most interesting aspect of our visit to the 
Lycaeum was the telescope in the central tower. 
Looking through it, I was able to see a map of all the 
towns and castles in Britannia, including the locations 
of the hidden rooms. 

0 0 0 

Editors ' Notes: 
The Avatar 's notes about his trip into the 
dungeons were torn from this volume. Whether 
the Avatar or another party destroyed them is 
unknown. The only information about his descent 
into the depths comes from crude maps found 
tucked into the spine of the book . We have 
reproduced these at the end of this volume in the 
hope that they may assist the unwary traveler who, 
through foolishness or bad luck, finds himself in 
the same situation. We cannot verify that these 
maps are accurate; however, we were able to 
discover the locations of the entrances to the 
dungeons . These are included at the end of this 
volume, along with the Avatar's notes on the 
sextant positions of other places of interest. 



Of interest to some scholars is the manner in 
which the Auatar claimed the Three-Part Key 
needed to enter the Chamber of the Codex . 
According to uarious authorities, the Auatar 
obtained the Three-Part Key by using the Stones 
from the dungeons in the Altar Rooms of Truth, 
Loue, and Courage. 

In the Altar Room of Truth , the Auatar stood on 
the altar and Used the blue, green , purple, and white 
Stones. In the Altar Room of Courage he repeated 
this process only using the red, orange, purple, and 
white Stones. In the Altar Room of Loue, he used the 
yellow, green, orange, and white Stones. 

The Auatar's tale resumes in Minoc. 
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s 
fntry 2'1-Minoc 
hentis the Tinker stood by the 
edge of the road leading into 
Minoc. His fat belly hung over 
his pants and bobbed up and 
down as he talked. 

"Welcome, travelers, " he 
said, walking toward us. "Welcome to Minoc, the city 
of Sacrifice." 

"Hello," I replied . "We have come a great distance 
to get here." 

·Aye, I can see that from thy clothes." 
We all looked down at ourselves. Our clothes were 

a mess, stained and faded from the time we'd spent 
at sea. 

''Do not trouble yourselves," said Shentis. "We are 
simple folk here. Remember, self-~ncrifice is a needful 
Virtue." 

"That's what we're here to learn." 
"The Avatar must strive to be virtuous. Dost thou 

strive for Virtue?" 
"Yes," I replied. 
"Then perhaps thou shalt become an Avatar. " 
"I hope you're right," I said. 
We said our goodbyes and went into town. 
Built on the rocky foothills of a small group of 

mountains bordering the shore , Minoc was more a 
village than a town. Still , the inn was large, probably 
because there were so few safe places to stay 
outdoors in this area . Zircon the Smith had his forge 
opposite the inn and his display case held weapons 
of rare beauty and magical power. The glass display 
case was the only one of its kind I'd seen in the 
weapons shops. 

Next to the inn was a poorhouse , where the 
indigent of Britannia ended up. We gave as much as 
we could to those souls who would accept our charity, 
but some were too proud or too ill to make any use of 
our gold. It was here that we met the seventh member 
of our party: Julia. 

She was tending a beggar when we walked in . Her 
hands moved with assurance over the bandages on 
the beggar's leg. A butterfly knot finished off her neat 
wrapping, then she stood and faced us, wiping her 
hands on her apron. 

79 

"Welcome ," she said . Her voice was low and 
musical. Clouds of red hair floated around a face 
dominated by the greenest eyes I'd ever seen. They 
were a true green, not the muddy shade of hazel that 
sometimes passes for green-a rich , vibrant jade 
color. My stomach felt as if I'd just gone up in a fast 
elevator; Jaana pinched my arm. 

"Thou art staring," she said. I glanced over at her, 
rubbing my arm. Jealousy wasn't what I expected, but 
I saw Jaana was grinning at me with amusement. So 
were Geoffrey, Dupre, and Shamino. 

"Sorry," I whispered , and turned back to the 
woman. She had moved on to the next beggar and 
was examining his wounds now. 

"Greetings," I said. "Who are you?" 
"I am Julia ," she replied. "I care for the poor. 

Within this house are many poor and destitute souls. 
Wilt thou help?" 

I looked around the room more closely. It was 
filled with suffering . My heart went out to these 
people who weren't as fortunate as me and I realized 
I'd do anything I could to help. 

"Yes," I said, surprised at the fervor in my voice. 
"Then I would join thee," said Julia. 
"l!Join me?" 
"Aye, on thy Quest. Thou shalt need my skills, for 

the way ahead of thee is dangerous. But first let's 
finish here." 

The rest of the day was spent tending to the sick and 
wounded and distributing food and money. I was tired 
but oddly elated when we finally headed to the inn. 

We sat in the taproom while the innkeeper made 
up our room. At one of the tables sat a petite tinker. 
We invited her to join us at the table. 

"I am Azure," she said as she sat down. 
"This is Jaana, Julia , Geoffrey , Shamino, and 

Dupre, " I said. "We're on a Quest. What do you do?" 
"I carve runes," she replied. 
"~mu .. ! We're looking for the Rune of Sacrifice. 

It's the last one we need ," I said. 
"Ask my sister, Mischief," said Azure. 
The innkeeper came back then and signaled that 

our room was ready. We said goodnight to Azure and 
thanked her for her help. 

0 0 0 
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The next morning dawned bright and cold. Winter 
had definitely arrived in this part of Britannia, and 
snow and ice crunched underfoot as we made our way 
around town. We found Azure's sister, Mischief, on 
the west side of Zircon's Iron Works. 

"Hello," I said. "Are you Mischief?" 
"Aye," she said. "Tis my name. What dost thou 

wish?" 
"Your sister Azure says you know the location of 

the ~um of Sacrifice. " 
"Aye, 'tis difficult to get. It lies within the fires of 

the Forge. " 
"You mean in Zircon's forge?" 
"Aye. Art thou on a Wuest?" 
"Aye," I said. 
'Then ask Alkerion about the ,St01tt ." 
Alkerion. The name sounded familiar. Then 1 

remembered that he was one of the people in the 
poorhouse. 

"Thank you, " I said. 
0 0 0 

Zircon's Iron Works was a warm haven. My hands 
tingled as the blood flowed back into them. A bard sat 
in a comer of the main room singing a song. It went 
like this: 

The raven sings, 
The raven saw 
And in the com 
He sayeth 'CAH' 

The rest of the song consisted of more nonsense 
rhymes. Zircon was in the forge room, working on a 
sword. In the flames of the forge I saw the Rune of 
Sacrifice. It glowed white against the red-hot coals. 

"Greetings, " I said to Zircon. 
He turned away from his forge and nodded at me. 

"Greetings. How may I help thee?" 
"We need to get the rune that's in your forge, " I 

said. 
'"Tis thine if thou canst retrieve it. Anything else?" 
I remembered a conversation I'd had some time 

ago. 
"I was told to ask you about the ~ustirn. " 

"Ah, yes, the Mystic Weapons and Armor, my greatest 
work! Those I gave unto Sir Simon and Lady Tessa. " 
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"Thank you, " I said. I had already talked to them 
but this confirmed what they'd said. 

"Well " I said, "here goes nothing." And then I 
plunged into the forge like a madman. 

Heat swallowed me up and I couldn't breathe. M1 
eyes watered and my eyelashes and brows wen 
seared off. It was like swimming through lava; m1 
movements were slow and laborious. At last I stood ~ 
the rune. I bent over and my hand closed around it. A 

moment of burning pain, then the rune was cool art 
hard in my palm. 

Staggering back to the mouth of the forge took a 
horrible toll. I collapsed onto the cool floor and ~ 
there for a long time, taking gulps of cool air the wa, 

a man lost in the desert might drink water at an o~ 
This was the last rune we needed, and it had been th 
most difficult to claim. Giddiness at completing t~ 
part of the Quest surged through my body and 
started to chuckle. Zircon and the rest stared at me ii! 
though I'd lost my mind, but still I couldn't stop. 
laughed until the tears came and my breath was gone 

0 0 0 

We were on our way back to the poorhouse to talk 
Alkerion when we met Merida. Merida's long blaa 
hair was caught in a band and pulled back from re 
face. Her dress indicated that she was a tinker tu 
she looked restless, not as rooted as the other tinke!! 
we'd met. 

"Hello, " I said. "Who are you?" 
"l am Merida," she replied. "I seek wisdom at t!J 

Shrine of Sacrifice. " 
"The folrrine of Sacrifice? Isn 't that far away fl'tll 

here?" 
"Aye, 'tis on a lake to the east. But I'll need 

Mantra. I am told a hidden shepherd knows it. " 
"Good luck finding him, " I said. 
"I thank thee," she replied . 
In the poorhouse we found Alkerion, who told 

about the orange Stone. We also spoke with a ml 

named Jude , who told us something about t 
horrible artifact known as Mondain's Skull. I decXk 
then that we would retrieve and destroy it. 

We were ready to leave Minoc, but we still neel: 
to find the Mantra of Sacrifice. We finally found 
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shepherd who told us the Mantra had been under our 
noses all along-it was in the song the bard had sung 
at Zircon's Iron Works. 

Entry 28-The ~hrine 
of Justice and 
magincia 
rom Minoc we sailed to the 
Shrine of Justice . During my 
last visit with Hawkwind, he'd 
told me l was ready for elevation 
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in the Virtue of Justice. That was the good news. But I 
knew I would have to visit all of the shrines to become 
elevated in each Virtue . Moreover , I could only 
discover the Mystic Weapons and Armor after I was 
uplifted in all of the eight Virtues. Then I would gain 
full Avatarhood when I conquered the Stygian Abyss 
and viewed the Codex of Ultimate Wisdom. 

Once again , I have no memories of my time at the 
Shrine of Justice . From there we sailed to the Shrine 
of Sacrifice. This period of the Quest is hazy; the 
battles we fought run together in my mind. Perhaps I 
had become jaded with the constant violence . Or 



perhaps the addition of my companions made each 
battle seem less urgent than those first few desperate 
fights had been. 

We agreed to sail back to Lord British 's castle and 
rest, but the time we spent there was brief. I felt as if a 
large part of the Quest was nearing its end. I had 
gained elevation in all but three of the Virtues, and 
when I visited Hawkwind he told me I was ready for 
elevation in the other five Virtues. This didn't excite 
me the way I'd thought it would, because I knew we 
had yet to enter the Stygian Abyss. It didn't seem to 
excite Hawkwind either. His stem visage did not show 
much animation, though he did congratulate me on 
my attainments. 

We needed to go back into the dungeons and get 
the Three-Part Key, which would help us conquer 
the Stygian Abyss, though I still didn 't know how it 
worked. We needed to go to Magincia, a place I 
would have preferred to avoid because it was 
reputed to be plagued by ghosts and other vile 
creatures. 

We went to get the Bell of Courage and the Skull 
of Mondain. I won 't recount our adventures while 
acquiring these two items here. Suffice it to say that 
our way was perilous and hard. Both items were to 
be found on the wide ocean: the Bell at N'A' L'A' 
and the Skull at P 'F' M'F'. After we retrieved the 
Bell and Skull, we sailed to Lord British 's castle. 

0 0 0 

I stood outside Lord British's castle with the others. It 
was cold and windy . Our cloaks flapped and 
whipped around in the breeze. Jaana's nose was red 
and her eyes watered. I suspected I looked much the 
same. 

"I need to go to Magincia," I began, "but I'm not 
sure how to get there from here. It's not on the map. 
Mariah, Jaana, and I have been discussing the Gate 
spell we learned. We can call up a Moongate any time 
we want. We don't have to wait for the appropriate 
phase of the moon-we can invoke the correct phase 
and call up the Moongate that can transport us to 
Magincia. " 
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"And if thou invokest the wrong gate?" asked 
Shami no. 

"We end up at the wrong place and we'll have to 
recalculate. The point is, if this makes anyone too 
nervous, we'll understand. You can stay behind." 

"Nay," said Geoffrey. ''I'll not stay behind." 
"Nor shall I, " chimed in Dupre. 
"Tis not even worth discussing," said Shamino. 
Inwardly, I breathed a sigh of relief. 
"Very well," I said. "Here we go." 
I mixed sulphurous ash , black pearl, and 

mandrake root together and invoked the crescenl 
waxing phase. Suddenly the sun disappeared and the 
familiar vertigo induced by gate travel swept over me 
I shut my eyes tight. 

Someone shook my arm. 
"Look," said Jaana. "Oh, look! " 
I opened my eyes. We stood on a tiny , barren 

island in the middle of the ocean. A small range a 
mountains rose to the north . Before us was Magincia. 
or rather what was left of it. 

Bits and pieces of a bridge spanned a small paid 
of swampland. The air was foul and fetid . 

"Tis a bad piece of business," said Shamino. 
"Yes," I said. "We 'll do what needs to be dollf 

quickly, then leave this accursed place." 
I started across the bridge and the others followro 

Halfway across, I heard a muffled curse. Turning. 
saw Geoffrey holding his leg. 

"What is wrong?" I asked. 
'"Tis nothing," he said. "Only some mild poisoc 

from this swamp." 
"I will heal you when we get across ," 1 sa1c 

making my way across as fast as I could. We weren 
quick enough. Jaana and Mariah were also injured ~ 
the swamp gas. This was proving to be a dangeroo 
place to visit. 

I mixed together the proper reagents and cast 
Cure spell. Their color returned almost immediat~ 
but I still wanted to be gone from this place as soa 
as possible. 

A daemon appeared at the edge of the bridge. 
hand went to my bow and mentally I debated h 
long it would take me to kill it. The daemon smiled 
me. Its long, yellowed teeth glistened in the light. 



·1 am Virtuebane," it said. Its voice was ground 
glass scratching against a blackboard. "l welcome thee 
:o Magincia, proud city on the high seas." Was there 
a hint of sarcasm in its voice? Or sadness? Or 
11fomsy? 

"So this is the legendary ~agincia ," 1 said. 
Aye. Magincia fell unto the realm of darkness 

because the foundation of its virtue was ill-placed in 
Pride. Art thou proud?" it asked , leaning forward with 
anticipation. I caught a whiff of its hot breath. 

"No ," I said firmly . 
Ah," said the daemon, its voice doubtful. 
"We're going in now," I said. I wasn't going to let 

this daemon scare me. 
"Very well ," said Virtuebane. "If that is thy wish. " 
The daemon took out a small bone and began 

picking its teeth as we passed. It didn't follow us. We 
passed out of the swamp into the field that 
surrounded the town. 

Magincia was ruined. The walls of the shops had 
tumbled to the ground and lay in sloppy heaps of 
rubble. Swamp encroached on all the buildings , 
making walking hazardous. A high, keening wind blew 
mournfully through the empty shops and deserted 
cottages. 

"This is terrible," I whispered. The atmosphere 
encouraged soft voices. 

"Aye. 'Tis a terrible thing, Pride," said Shamino. 
Only then did I notice the ghosts. They wandered 

through the town aimlessly, trying to go about the 
daily routines they remembered from life. 

"Come," l said . "Let's search the town. The 
quicker we get started, the quicker it will be over." 

The others nodded , but I could tell they were 
uncomfortable. 
l walked up to the first ghost that came near. 

"Hello," 1 said. "Who are you?" 
·1 am Ruskin," he replied. His form was watery 

and insubstantial. While we talked he flickered in and 
out of existence. 

"What are you doing here?" I asked. 
·1 haunt Magincia. The Pride was too much. " 
"Tell me about :f,lribe." 
·Art thou proud?" 
"No." 
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"Then ask the snake of the rune before it strikes." 
He floated away and passed through the wall of 

what had once been an inn. I'd already found the 
Rune of Humility in Paws, but 1 wanted to learn 
what had happened to Magincia because of its 
pride. There were many in Magincia who helped us 
learn about the tragedy that had befallen this once­
proud city. 1 spoke with many ghosts there. Several of 
them had questions of their own-questions designed 
to trick or mislead. I answered carefully and was glad 
of it. In the northwest corner of town, I learned the 
Mantra for Pride, MUL, from a skeleton named 
Faultless. I knew that by reversing this, I would discover 
the Mantra for Humility. 

When we left Magincia , I glanced to the south and 
was stopped short by what I saw there. 

A young shepherdess stood on a smooth patch of 
land by the edge of the swamp. She wasn't a ghost 
but a real, live person. 

Realizing she was alive jarred me into action. I ran 
to her across the short patch of grass. "What are you 
doing here?" I asked. 

"I am a survivor ," she replied . Her eyes were 
haunted. She stood erect, but I could see her spirit 
was bowed by the disaster that surrounded her. She 
must have been a woman of exceptional strength to 
have avoided the fate of the others. 

"A survivor?" I asked, slightly awed. "Of this? Of 
,iililagincia?" I swept the scene of desolation with a 
broad gesture. 

"Aye. Magincia was destroyed by its Pride. Pride 
flourishes in the absence of Truth, Love , and 
Courage. Humility is the Virtue that must overcome 
Pride." 

She was wise. Perhaps that was why she had been 
spared. "How long have you been here?" I asked. 

She shrugged. 
"You should not stay here," I said. "Jloin us on our 

Quest. " 
She looked all of us over with her solemn, quiet 

eyes. 
"I would be glad to join thee, " she said. 
"By the way, what is your name?" 
"I am Katrina. " 
And that was how we got our final party member. 
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Editors ' Note: 
There are missing portions of the diary between the 
next entry and the previous one. All sections 
referring to the Avatar's trips into the dungeons 
have been lost (except for maps of the dungeons). 
The account of his discovery of the Mystic Arms 
and Weapons is a/so gone. 

Legends from this time period claim that in 
order to retrieve the Mystic Armor and 
Weapons , one must gain elevation in a// eight 
Virtues. Only then may one recover these items. 
Through scrying, we were able to determine that 
the Mystic Armor was located in the Oak Grove 
at the Lycaeum and the Mystic Weapons were 
located in the Training Room at the Serpent 's 
Castle. 

There is some disagreement among scholars 
about the Avatar 's statements regarding the 
attainment of his Avatarhood. According to legend, 
the Avatar's Quest was to gain Avatarhood-this 
was the task given him by Lord British. Until he 
viewed the Codex of Ultimate Wisdom , he was 
merely on the path to enlightenment. 

We did discover a remnant of text that appears 
to be part of this journal. It recounts the Avatar's 
use of the Silver Horn to ward off daemons outside 
the Shrine of Humility. Many had tried to approach 
the Shrine without sounding the Horn and had 
been overrun by endless hordes of daemons. The 
Avatar, in his infinite wisdom, realized that only by 
continuously sounding the Horn could he approach 
the Shrine unmolested. 

w 
:Entry 29 (?) -The 
~tygian ffbyss 
e've completed all of the Quest 
except the descent into the 
Stygian Abyss. ln my travels I 
had become elevated in all 
eight Virtues and recovered the 

Mystic Armor and Weapons . We went into the 
dungeons and recovered the stones-though the less 
said about our time in the Underworld , the better. I 
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still have nightmares about the dungeons. I'd feared 
the Stygian Abyss would prove to be even more 
horrendous than all the other dungeons put together. 

I was right. 
We gathered as many supplies as we could for the 

journey into the Abyss. All our money was spent on 
food and reagents. We travelled from Britain to Pa11~ 
to ready ourselves for the journey. There were 
reagents and cheap rations in Paws--everything we 
might need for the trip . Those of us with magical 
abilities mixed spells together so they might be rea~ 
at a moment's notice. 

Then came the day we were to set sail. 
A small crowd gathered at the shore. The womei< 

in the crowd waved bright handkerchiefs while the 
men raised their arms. We fixed our magical wheel tc 
the mast and pushed away from shore. ln a few da11 
we reached the Pirate 's Bay, which led us to thf 
entrance of the Abyss. 

0 0 0 

Winter winds blew cold as we sailed toward Oii 

destiny, but we huddled together on the deck as moo 
for companionship as for warmth. The closer we ga 
to the Pirate 's Bay, the less we spoke. It was a; 

though the importance of the task before us was to: 
monumental to talk about. 

The faces of my companions reflected the hardsh1~ 
of our adventures. Jaana was still beautiful , but the Um 
we'd spent on the Quest had matured her, drawing 
fine lines of her face into something beyond pretl) 
Her face now had a wisdom and dignity all its own. 

I looked over at Shamino and finally realized IITT 
he reminded me of-Lord British. Shamino was min 

younger, to be sure, but the similarity was still there 
wondered how his new-found strength would chang. 
his life. 

Geoffrey's face was grim. His usual jovial manll 
was tempered by the seriousness of the task bef!J' 
us. Dupre's code of honor had never failed on 
during our wanderings. And now as I looked at hi: 
his steadfastness gave me hope that we might succet: 
in the perilous place ahead. 

Mariah pulled her cloak tighter around her neo. 
She disliked the cold and I knew she wanted to 
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back to Moonglow. Her expertise in magical matters 
had proved to be invaluable . It was at her 
recommendation that we'd built up as large a store 
of spells as we could make . Even then she 'd 
insisted we have extra reagents on hand. 

Julia and Katrina were sitting close together, 
their heads bent in conversation. They'd been the 
last to join, yet I found myself as concerned about 
their welfare as I was about the other members of 
the party. They didn't have as much experience as 
the others and I found myself frightened at the 
possibility of losing one or both of them. 

But then I ran out of time for regret or 
reminiscence. The mouth of the Bay of Pirates 
loomed before us. We had reached our destination. 

We sailed slowly into the bay. Twilight cast long 
shadows across the water and colored the boats in 
shades of grey. As we approached phantom pirate 
hips materialized across the bay . Tattered sails 

hung from rotting beams. Ghostly crews floated 
across the decks-spirit crews, forced to sail forever. 

The spirit pirate crews hustled about on deck, 
performing the actions of a past life: shoving cannons 
uito position , loading artillery, and aiming weapons. 

That first shot was a shock. The missile flew 
ilently toward our ship. I didn 't expect it to do 

anything. After all , these were ghosts-not corporeal 
beings. How could they have any effect on us? 

The first cannonball exploded on deck, sending 
splinters flying. Our ship rocked and bounced , 
throwing us off balance. As the ship seesawed, water 
splashed over the railing, making our footing on deck 
treacherous. Smoke filled the air and I waved my hand 
in front of my face to try to clear it away. A couple of 
econds later I got a glimpse of the damage: an 

enormous hole in the center of the deck. I rushed to 
the edge of the hole and looked down. The ball had 
passed through the deck below and come to rest 
uiside of the hull. The boards of the hull were dented 
and water was seeping into the boat. 

"How bad is the damage?" asked Dupre. 
"Real bad," I replied. "We can 't afford to take 

many of these hits. Even with the magic wheel , the 
damage is severe. Try the cannon and see if that 
slows them down." 
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Jaana and Shamino rushed to the cannon and 
fired a shot at the phantom ship. We quickly found 
that the cannon was no match for these ghost ships. 
To save our boat we were forced to close with and 
board each pirate ship. 

Our ship limped to the far side of the bay. The 
magical wheel we'd recovered from the H.M.S. Cape 
had saved us, but just barely. I wondered how we'd be 
able to return to Britain if we survived the Abyss. 

We dropped anchor. 
"Swamp," I said looking at the shore . " I hate 

swamps." 
"Aye," replied Shamino. '"Tis a nuisance to be 

sure. But we have come prepared. We have plenty of 
spells to cure the damage inflicted by the swamp." 

"Are we ready?" I asked . The others nodded their 
heads. "Well, here goes nothing. " I jumped over the 
railing of the ship. A noxious cloud of poison gas 
floated up from the swamp, making me dizzy. The 
others landed one by one behind me. From their 
coughing, I knew they were suffering too. 

We staggered north until we reached the edge of 
the swamp and found ourselves on dry land. Mariah, 
Jaana, and I cast spells to reverse the effects of the 
poison . After pausing to catch our breath, we began 
searching for the entrance to the Abyss, but we were 
surrounded by mountains on either side and the 
search proved to be fruitless . 

"The entrance to the Abyss must be somewhere 
around here. I was told that the entrance to the Abyss 
was on the other side of the Bay of Pirates," I said. 
"Spread out and search." 

Several hours passed with no luck . Finally , 
Geoffrey yelled for the rest of us , his voice barely 
audible in the distance. He had found a passage 
through the mountains to the northeast. We made our 
way through the pass into an open but rocky area. 
The cold of winter didn't permeate here. Fires burned 
across the ground. 

''Look, there in the fires," said Jaana. 
I squinted at the place she pointed. in the center of 

the flames was a dark spot. It looked like some sort of 
opening but I couldn't be sure. 

"That could be it," I said, "but there's only one 
way to find out. " 



I edged around and came as close to the spot as I 
could and then stepped into the fire. It occurred to me 
briefly that I had, indeed, achieved a level of valor 
that I would never have considered on that long­
ago day when my car had overheated. But I had 
no time to consider the past. Waves of heat rose up 
around me. The soles of my feet were burning. It 
was like swimming through flame, but I reached the 
opening. 

I tried to enter , but something blocked my way. 
Then I remembered the instructions I'd been given on 
how to enter the Abyss. 

I pulled the Bell of Courage out of my satchel and 
rang it. The note sounded, ringing on and on with a 
purity that made my ears hurt. Next I retrieved the 
Book of Truth and opened it. A voice rose and spoke 
the words printed there . The Candle of Love was 
next . Its flame shone like the sun ; the fires 
surrounding us paled by comparison. I started to step 
into the Abyss then remembered the Skull of 
Mondain. 

It had settled into the bottom of my satchel. I 
shuddered as my hand closed around the smooth 
bone. Pulling it forth , I looked at it one last time. 

The skull was incomplete, just the upper half of a 
man's head. The dome of the skull was oversized, as 
though the brain that had been housed here was 
larger than normal . Long, sharp incisors protruded 
from the upper portion of the mouth . They 
reminded me of a vampire's fangs. Power radiated 
from the skull-power over life and death . 
Omnipotence . For a moment I hesitated. The 
temptation of such power was almost irresistible. 
Then I thought of the Quest. With no remorse, I 
flung the skull into the Abyss. A cry rose from the 
blackness below, like the wail of a tormented soul. 
Then silence. 

I stood for a moment then turned to the others. 
"Let's go." 

0 0 0 

Blackness surrounded us . We were in the Stygian 
Abyss . Someone lit a torch , and the walls of the 
dungeon leapt into view. The long, narrow corridor 
was covered with slime and mold . The dank and 
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malodorous aroma of rot and decay I'd learned to 
associate with the dungeons was even worse here 
Above us the ladder to the surface dangled, but I kneu 
we couldn 't tum back. The corridor led east and 111 

followed it. 
A stout wooden door stood at the end of the 

corridor. 
"Ready your weapons," I said, and opened thE 

door. 
Lava lizards roamed the room . Pools of fir< 

covered half the floor. We fought our way throu~ 
this room and out, moving east, only to find ourselve 
in another one with more lava lizards and other 
creatures. With all due haste we rushed from thi 
room east into yet another room. This roorr 
contained more monsters and we fought them un 
we could exit to the south. 

The corridor led south , then east , then soutl 
again. We found ourselves outside another door. 
turned to the others. They were looking a little wolli 
for wear. 

"Can you make it?" I asked them. 
They all nodded, grim, silent, and determined. 
"All right. " 
I opene~ the door . Again we were assailed ~ 

monsters and again we fought. We left this room alt 
the next by going south. The third room we came tc 
we left by going east, and we found ourselves in ; 
large open area. 

An altar stood in the center of the room. 
approached the altar and tried to think of what 
should do. The last time I'd been in the dungeons, I· 
used the Stones on the altars. I pulled a Stone fror 
my satchel and started to place it on the altar. A voicr 
rang out and asked the question: 

"What dost thou possess if all may rely on 
every word?" 

That was easy. "Honesty, " I answered. 
"Use thy Stone," said the voice. 
I looked in my hand. The Stone I'd pulled oo 

was white-the color of Spirituality. I put it baci 
into my satchel and retrieved the blue ston< 
Placing the blue Stone on the altar, I stepped awi 
The altar disappeared and in its place was a laclrt 
leading down. 
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We climbed down the ladder to the second floor 
where we rested and regained our strength. 

We fought our way through the next level of the 
iimgeon. I'm making a map of the Abyss to give to 
Lord British if I complete the Quest. Perhaps this will 
help others if they dare this foul place. 

Eventually, we reached the altar room on the 
;econd level. As I approached the altar a voice cried 
out, "What quality compels one to share the journeys 
of others?" 

I thought for a moment about what I'd learned on 
the Quest, then I answered, "Compassion. " I placed 
lhe yellow Stone on the altar, which changed before 
my eyes into a ladder. We climbed down the ladder to 
the third level of the dungeon. 

I mapped out the path we'd taken on the second 
level, then we started to make our way through the 
dungeon once more. One thing I discovered about the 
dungeons was the presence of gremlins . These 
horrible monsters were small, hard to kill , and terrible 
thieves. If they got close enough to us , they would 
take ourfood. 

We reached the third altar and responded to the 
question: "What answers when great deeds are called 
!or?' 

The correct reply was Valor. I placed the red 
tone on the altar and was not surprised when the 

altar changed into a ladder leading to the next level. 
Level four was less dangerous than the previous 

three levels. We reached the altar room in a short 
time and I answered the question, "What should be 
the same for lord and serf alike?" 

I replied, "Justice. " Then I placed the green Stone 
on the altar. Again it changed into a ladder and we 
climbed to the next level. 

We rested then . Making camp in the dungeon 
wasn't my idea of a comfortable way to spend the 
night. 

1 will not chronicle all of our battles in the Abyss. 
uffice it to say that at each level the monsters 

confronting us were more and more dangerous. It was 
lucky we'd taken Mariah 's suggestion that we prepare 
several Negate spells. Many of the monsters in the 
Abyss used magical spells to do battle and tried to 
incapacitate us . We were equally grateful for her 
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foresight in bringing Resurrect , Cure, Heal , and 
Awake spells. 

At one point in our battles in the Abyss we 
thought we'd lost Katrina. Though great in humility 
and in her willingness to fight for her companions 
Katrina wasn 't as much of a fighter as the other 
members of the party. After one devastating melee 
with a group of balrons (how I hate balrons!) , Katrina 
lay lifeless on the ground. Unable to revive Katrina 
with Cure or Heal spells, Mariah declared that she 
must be brought back with a Resurrect spell . 
Performing such a great magic took a terrible toll on 
Mariah , but she managed to bring Katrina back to us. 

Our joy was tempered with caution. Those in the 
party who were able to perform magic healed Katrina . 
Then we all rested to regain our strength. 

I will, however, tell of our encounters with the 
altars, because the questions presented by the altars 
were related to the Virtues of the Avatar. 

The altar on the fifth level asked this question: 
"What is loath to place the self above aught else?" 

"Sacrifice," I replied and used the orange Stone. 
The altar question on the sixth level was: "What 

shirks no duty?" 
"Honor," I said. And I used the purple Stone. 
"What, in knowing the true self, knows all?" asked 

the altar on the seventh level. 
"Spirituality," I said. Then I placed the white Stone 

on the altar. 
On the eighth level the altar asked, "What is that 

which serfs are born with, but nobles must strive to 
attain?" 

Pulling the black Stone from my satchel, I said, 
"Humility." 

0 0 0 

It is here that the Avatar's journal ends, faithful reader. 
Though I was loath to finish his tale myself , I feel 
compelled by our adventures together, and the friendship 
we formed , to tell you the end of our adventure in the 
Abyss. 

The ground began to shake and rumble. A voice asked 
for the Word of Passage. The Avatar was ready for this 
question. From the Kings at the Serpent's Castle, the 
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Lycaeum, and Empath Abbey, he'd received the three 
syllables of the word: Ver, Amo, Car. 

"Veramocor," he said. This was the combination of the 
three syllables the kings had given him. 

He used the Three-Part Key he'd gain from the altar 
rooms of Truth , Love , and Courage in the other six 
dungeons. Passage was granted to the Chamber of the 
Codex. And the disembodied voice once again asked 
questions about the Virtues of the Avatar. 

"What dost thou possess if all may rely on thy word?" 
"Honesty," the Avatar said. 
"What quality compels one to share in the journeys of 

others?" 
"Compassion." 
"What answers when great deeds are called for?" 
"Valor. " 
"What should be the same for lord and serf alike?" 
"Justice." 
"What is loath to place the self above all else?" 
"Sacrifice." 
"What shirks no duty?" 
"Honor." 
"What, in knowing the true self, knows all?" 
"Spirituality." 
"What is that which serfs are born with but nobles must 

strive to obtain?" 
"Humility." 
"If all else is imaginary then this is real." 
"Truth." 
"What plunges to the depths while soaring on the 

heights?" 
"Love." 
"What turns not away from any peril?" 
"Courage." 
"If all eight Virtues of the Avatar are combined into and 

are derived from the three Principles of Truth, Love, and 
Courage, then what is the one thing which encompasses 
and is the whole of all undeniable truth, unending love, and 
unyielding courage?" 

The Avatar was silent. I glanced over to Dupre, but his 
face was calm. Obviously he had more faith in the Avatar 
than I. The Avatar closed his eyes, his head cocked to the 
side as though listening to something we couldn't hear. 

His eyes flew open. 
"Infinity," he said. 
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There was more rumbling and suddenly, the Codex 
Ultimate Wisdom was revealed . I can 't recount wha' 
happened next, partly because words are not adequate. 

There was blackness. When the light finally came agam 
the Avatar was gone, and only this diary remained. One ~ 

one, my companions began to vanish. I stepped forwar 
and took hold of the Avatar's diary. Then I felt a tuggi. 
sensation and I too was transported away from that place. 

I found myself in the throne room of Lord British 
castle. Our monarch looked at me and said, "Behold, tr 
home world of the Avatar." He waved his hand and 
image appeared in front of me. It was like peering into. 
looking glass where you cast no image. 

I saw the Avatar in a forest of strange, yet beautil 
trees. Branches scratched his face as he pushed throur 
the trees. He came to the edge of the forest and there was 
road leading down to a strange chariot. How odd was 
Avatar's world. 

"What happened? Was it all a dream?" he said. Then 
turned and made his way back to a circle of stones. Tilt 
looked like the Moongates of Britannia. 

And then, as though we shared the same thoughts. 
saw in his mind's eye: 

Memories of us passing through his mind. Jaar 
laughing at a joke. Geoffrey rushing into a melee. Dup 
throwing himself in front of a drake to save Katrina. Jw 
and Mariah discussing the best way to pick nightshade. 
missed us. He missed Britannia and everything about 
world paled by comparison. 

Then the image faded and I stood in front of Lo 
British. 

"Thank you, my liege," I said. 
The king looked at me and I felt a kinship with him. 

waved his arm and I was swept away once more. Whe· 
regained my bearings I found myself in Skara Brae, wile 
the Avatar had found me. I hope that one day I may retu 
this volume to its rightful owner. 

-Sham 



tiltima lV 
Quick C)olution and map~ 

Playing Hltima: 
t>ome General Tips 
Some important things to remember 
when you're playing the Ultima games. 

First: Save your game often . This is important 
(!(>Cause you never know what might happen from 
encounter to encounter. If you save often, you can 
always warm boot the computer and put yourself back 
before any unfortunate incident. You'll find that saving 
alter any encounter or series of events (like visiting a 
own, acquiring boats , finding items) is the best 
approach. 

Second: Keep notes. Ultima IV, V, and VJ are big 
~ames with lots of information. One source may send 
..ou to another source which, in tum, will send you to 
a third party. Careful note taking will allow you to 
keep track of who said what. It will also help you keep 
track of important pieces of information that you 
might otherwise forget. 

Third : Have fun . Remember , this is a game . 
You're supposed to enjoy playing it, not beat yourself 
up if you don't do everything right the first time. The 
Ultima games are big and are designed to be played 
over a long period of time. So don 't worry if you 
don't finish them overnight-or even over a long 
period of time. 

The answers you give to the gypsy's questions in 
the introduction of Ultima IV determines what type 
character you'll be running in the game. The character 
type also determines where you ' ll start the game. 
Because each character type relates to a Virtue, this is 
1ne of the clues about how to play the game and the 
unportance of the eight Virtues in the game. 

For example, if you want to run a Mage character, 
oou must pick Honesty above all the other Virtues. If 
there is a choice between Honesty and another Virtue 
no matter what, pick Honesty. Your final question 
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should be a choice between Honesty 
and another Virtue. Pick Honesty and 
you ' ll end up outside of Moonglow , 
running a Mage character. But, if you 
want to run another type of character, you'll have to 
choose the Virtue that character type holds as most 
important. 

Here 's a breakdown of the Virtues and their 
representations in Britannia: 

~onest!J ... .. ............. Mage .... .. .. .. ............. Moonglow 
C!Inmpassion ..... ... .... Bard .......... .. ....... .. ... . Britain 
~11 lur ................... ... Fighter ..................... Jhelom 
Wustu:e .. .. ...... .... .... .. Druid ............. .......... Yew 
~m:rifice .. ....... ....... . Tinker ...................... Minoc 
~r ........... ....... ... Paladin .......... .. ........ Trinsic 
~piritunlii!J ............ Ranger ..................... Skara Brae 
~umi I it!J ................. Shepherd .... ............. Mag incia 

When you visit the towns, you will get information 
on how to personify these Virtues. For example , when 
you are in Moonglow, everyone there will give you 
information on Honesty. How to behave in an honest 
manner, as well as how to find the artifacts in the 
game related to this Virtue. Keep careful notes of this 
information because you never know when it will 
come in handy. 

If you are playing a character who can use magic, 
you ' ll want to read through The Book of Mysti c 
Wisdom and make notes of the reagents and spells. 
You might want to go through the spells and write 
them on one sheet of paper with the list of reagents 
needed to make the spell to one side. This way you 
can keep better track of the spells and how to mix 
them when you're in a tight spot. 

Remember to keep lots of reagents with you when 
travelling through the dungeons. It is also helpful to 



W.'l'lmll: 'The llvmar lldventures 

have a number of spells readied in case you need 
them during a fight. 

In keeping with the tenor of the game, be sure you 
treat the inhabitants of Britannia well, particularly the 
residents of the different towns and villages. Stealing 
from the citizens of Britannia is a very bad idea. 
Avatars don't do that sort of thing. Not that you can't 
make the occasional mistake, but beware of the 
consequences for continued bad behavior. 

Remember to give a gold piece to any beggar you 
see, and donate generously of your blood to the local 
healers. Don't lie, run from danger, or kill animals 
who are fleeing when wounded in combat. All these 
actions will affect your Virtues. 

Visiting the Seer Hawkwind in Lord British's castle 
will help your Spirituality and will also give you a good 
idea as to the status of your character and what 
Virtues you need to work on. 

In short, remember all those things that you were 
told to do when you were growing up: be nice to 
people, don't steal, be honest and trustworthy, don't 
brag, give of yourself, don't run away from danger -
stand up for yourself. 

The Playthrough-tlltima JV­
Down mid Dirty 
In Ultima N, the fastest way to play the first third of 
the game is to play through with just the Avatar 
character. If you gather together the other party 
members too soon, it'll take you longer to get through 
the first part. For one thing, the more party members 
you have, the longer combat takes. This really slows 
things down in the beginning. 

Also, when you talk to the citizens of Britannia, 
always ask them their name, job, and health. These 
questions will often lead to answers that will give you 
information about the Quest. 

The first goal is to gather together the eight runes. 
The are located as follows: 

The Rune of Spirituality is in the southeastern 
comer of Lord British's treasure room. 

The Rune of Compassion is in Britain in the Inn at 
the end of the hallway. 

The Rune of Humility is in Paws in a group of 
mountains in the southeast comer of town. 

The Rune of Justice is in Yew in the cell with the 
felon on his cot. 

90 

The Rune of Honor is in Trinsic in the southwest 
comer behind the green force field. 

The Rune of Sacrifice is in Minoc in the forge at 
the Weapons shop. 

The Rune of Valor is in Jhelom in the secrel 
passageway in the wall that surrounds the city. It is in 
the southeastern tower. 

The Rune of Honesty is in Moonglow next to the 
chest of gold that Mariah is guarding. 

A sextant will greatly help when you're trying to 
get around Britain. You may purchase one at the 
Guild shops which are located in Vesper and 
Buccaneer's Den. Sextants are expensive (900 goM 
pieces) but invaluable for locating places and items 
Below is a listing of the coordinates for all the places 
and treasure in Ultima N : 

CASTLES: 
Empath Abbey ................................................ DC BM 
Lord British's Castle ........................................ GL FG 
Serpent's Hold ................................................. PB JC 
The Lycaeum .................. ................... .............. GL NK 

DUNGEONS: 
Covetous ................................ ..... .. ....... .. ....... .. BL JM 
Destard ........ ........... ........ ....... .. .. ...... .. : ............... Kl El 
Deceit ... ... ...... .... ............................................... EJ PA 
Despise .................................................... ........ ED FL 
Great Abyss ..................................................... OJ OJ 
Hythloth .......................................................... PA OP 
Shame ............................................................ GG DK 
Wrong .......... ................................................... BE HO 

TOWNS: 
Britain .............................................................. GK FC 
Jhelom ............................................................ NC CE 
Magincia ........................................................... KJ LL 
Minoc ............................................................... BEJP 
Moonglow ......................................................... IH 01 
Skara Brae ........................................................ IA BG 
Trinsic ........................................................... ... LI GK 
Yew ...... ............... ........................ .... .. .... ... ... .... CL DK 
Buccaneer's Den .......... ...................................... JO II 
Cove ................................................................... FK II 
Vesper ................................................... .......... DL MJ 
Paws .... .... .. ....... .. .................... ............. .. .... .. .. .. JB GC 
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MOONGATES: 
Britain ........... ...... ............. .. .. ........................ .. . GG GA 
Honor ................. ... ...... ........... ... ...................... MC GI 
Jhelom ... .... ...... .. .... ........ .... ... .... ... ... .. ... ........... OA CG 
Magincia ... ............................... ............. .. ... ... ... KH LL 
Moonglow ........ ......................... ... ................... .. IF OA 
Skara Brae .................... ..... .. .... ... ... ... .............. HO BH 
Spirituality ........ .... ..... .. ... ... ... ... .. ....... ............. .. BD KG 
Yew .............. .. .. .. ....... ... ........ ... ..... .. .. .... .... .. ... .. CF DD 

SHRINES: 
Compassion .. .. ... .... ... .. .... .... .. .... .. ....... ..... .. ....... FM IA 
Honesty .................... ........... .. ........ .. ... .... ........ . EC OJ 
Honor ..... ... ...... .......... ... ..... .. .. ...... .. .......... .. .... .. MP FB 
Humility ............. ..... .. ....................... .... ... ......... NI OH 
Justice ....... ........ ....... ..... .......... ...... ........ .. ....... .. AL EJ 
Sacrifice ............ ...... ........... .... .. ....... ... .. .......... CN MN 
Spirituality ....... .............. ... .......... ..... .. ........... ... BD KG 
Valor ... ........................................... .......... .. ...... OF CE 

ITEMS: 
Bell ........ ............... ... ........... ... ....... ................... NA LA 
Black Stone ......... ........... ... ... ... ... .. .................... .IF OA 
Book ............. .......... ....... .. ....... ..... ... ....... .. .... ... AG AG 
Candle ......... ..... ........ ... ....................... .. .. .. ....... AB BG 
Mandrake Root .......... .... .. ...... ......... ............... DG LG 
.................. .. ......................... ... ................... .. .. DH LG 
Mystic Armor ... ............. .. ... ... .......................... AE BG 
Mystic Weapons .. ..... ......... ... .... .... .. .... .. ... ......... AP Al 
Nightshade .. ......... ........ .. ... .. .................... .. .... CM MN 
.............. ..... ...... .... ....... .... ................................ JF CO 
Silver Horn ..... ...... ... ........... ......... ... ..... .......... .. KN CN 
Skull .................................... ................... .... ..... PF MF 
Telescope ..... .. .. ........ ..... ... ............. .. .... ............ AC BG 
White Stone ......... .. .. ........ .... .. .. .. .......... ............ . FA FA 
Wheel ...... .. ........ .. ... ..... .. .... ............ .. ..... ... ... ... NH GA 

After you've acquired the runes and the various 
items above, you'll be ready to brave the dungeons. 
Before you go into the dungeons be sure you have all 
of your party members together. (Check out the maps 
at the end of this chapter.) You 'll need to get the 
stones off the shrines in each of the dungeons. The 
other two stones (black and white) are found above 
ground. One is in the Shrine of Spirituality which you 
get to by entering the moongate in Moonglow when 
the moons are both full. The white stone is in the 
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Serpent's Spine (the mountain range north of Britain) 
and can only be accessed by using the balloon. 

Once you have all the stones, use them on the 
altars of Truth Love and Courage in the bottom of 
Hythloth. Stand on the altar and Use the stones. The 
colors to use for each altar are as follows: 

Truth: blue, green, purple, and white 
Love: yellow, green, orange, and white 
Courage: red , orange, purple, and white 

Each altar will give one third of the Three-Part Key. 

At this point you should have gone through all the 
dungeons and gotten the Three-Part Key and all the 
stones. The items you need to enter the Abyss and 
finish the Quest are as follows: 

The Stones, the Three-Part Key, The Bell , Book, 
and Candle, Mondain 's Skull , the Magic Wheel. If 
possible, buy up as many reagents as possible. The 
Abyss is deadly and you'll need lots of spells. 

Go into the Abyss. Follow the maps. Secret doors 
will be marked. 

On level one at the altar use the stone. The answer 
is Honesty and blue. Go down the ladder. 

On level two (need Dispel Field for this level). Use 
the stone at the altar. The answer to the question is 
Compassion and yellow. Go down the ladder. 

On level three use the stone at the altar. Answer to 
the question is Valor and red . Go down the ladder. 

On level four use the stone at the altar. Answer to 
the question is Justice and green. Go down the ladder. 

On Level five use the stone at the altar. Answer to the 
question is Sacrifice and orange. Go down the ladder. 

One level six use the stone at the altar. The answer 
to the question is Honor and purple. Go down the 
ladder. 

On level seven use the stone at the altar. The 
answer to the question is Spirituality and white. 

On level eight use the stone at the altar. The 
answer to the question is Humility and black. 

After answering this question , you 'll be granted 
access to The Chamber of the Codex. The answer to 
the first question is Veramocor. Then you'll be asked a 
series of questions ; the answers are : Honesty 
Compassion , Valor Justice , Sacrifice , Honor , 
Spirituality, Humility, Truth, Love, Courage, Infinity. 
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Rew moon 
moonglow: Goes to 1. 2. 3 

Gibbous Waxing 
Yew: Goes to 2. 3. 4 

Gibbous Waning 
'frinsic: Goes to 8, 1. 2 

fili'I'lHJlI JV: map:. 

erescent Waxing 
llritain: Goes to 4. 5. 6 

1-------- moonglow 
2 - llritain 
3 ------ lhelom 
4----Yew 
5 --------- m'inoc 
6 -------- Trimsic 
1-- ~klll'a nrae 
8--- magincia 

.Last euarter 
~klll'a lll'Zle: Goes to 3. 4. 5 
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1st euarter 
Jhelom: Goes to 1. 13. 1 

full moon 
m'inoc: Goes to ~brine. 6. 1 

erescent Waning 
m'agincia: <:ioes to 6. 1. 8 
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tfltima V 
Warrior~ ol De~tiny 

Jntroduction 
1 l :701· 111a1y .j'etV'if, eJie1' o6t atat1!J thr/owwal& att1Ybttted to t!te loatnr (!/ 

_f'tymd. we !laa' contu1acd otu' s~~r euia'uzce that tkr WM, riza'eed, tlle-
tmr.JotttYlal (!/the oerita61e Coata1•. ffhott:JA {()(7 haoe not;_flel.fiaml 

1cll/.f1ue J1•0,07. roe rll'lf_ 11.aoe a'tscooerea' somethm,_y rtetl/'/:; tilcollbooe;<ti/Jle. 1/JlzaL,jl-Ott, noco 1<ead ir 
1111111:1il.!J cAt•oaide. !7i c:S the Jeco/11/ 2ae.rt y the ..doatar. 
/({. 6flieoe tli1;r lo 6e t!le..51e1wine clomnzmt. !?h&-e cvv;,nza1y Jm-a!ldr Oe./w een tli'f:ilj\J't clomm ent 

J1h .reco1ul. Jeoe1'Cl! scholaM (()ho Aaoestudd thir, Otu' /letoe.i{/tiul, have commMted Oil 

lv.fia1Yl1es r/t t!te syk 01?d'!mg11y&(!/tlieto!'tltiz,_y. <ff/e.c:cui on(y .rry that tAy mY! con.rirlMt t()(tli tile 
. ,,/1111ml f'.oo~tion f!/tlie Coata1•a..r lie accej.;t.r !lir 1-oleuv our!lMt0ty. 

!i111 ((Jf' 'II a.ril.j'Otl t o 6e tluyiaye. 3.f thir th&t7<tt,edoty (!/tile katm•'s .2t<est to saoe Me %z,_y. 
r r.r ti q_/V(!Jety.0 

.7111yollmal Of9tilf_/a.rt g/ie1• dlf,/lllrlOa&, ana' g/i-recoMted. tale f!/tlze J Coatm· ~ /ltist e1uorulle1• 
1/,1Ju.J7wdoto01d, tiz wlui:!f !lesaoe&Jluvnuw 'sg;&tur<1!J a lllL[91cal amulet. 1/Je lwoe,biecea' tlus 

Vf w11alro11 fq)letluz/i''Om OW' 1wem•clz.es, thotf!1A the .Aoatm• mMtioM the Mcoun fet' witA tlte 
11/orulol'd o4; 61&fb. 

l 
:Entry l-Jolo'1> }1ut 
and the Road to 
ea1>tle 'llritannia 
've just helped Shamino back to 
Iolo' s hut deep in the woods. I 
can't believe what they're telling 
me. The joy of being back in 

Britannia ... erased by their news. Lord British, gone? I 
nave read the scroll his scribe managed to bring back 
1!0 the light. I think it must be true . The King has 
been taken! 

And the Shadowlords .. . Creatures so evil they deaden 
!Ile trees and grass where they walk! Had I not seen 
them myself I would scarcely have believed they 
exi ted! 

As if that weren 't bad enough, now all my old 
friends and companions-heroes of Britannia-are 
outlaws, hunted by the usurper, Blackthorn, and his 
men! It is too much. I had longed to return to this 
world, but I had envisioned an adventure a reunion, 
something clean and noble like my Quest for the eight 
Virtues. Never could I have imagined this horror. 

Britannia is soiled. I can feel it. And I ... I am not 
as strong as I was. Returning to my home world has 
removed the special properties of Britannia, and I 
quickly lost the almost supernatural health and 
strength I enjoyed here . Now, I know, I must start 
again to hone my skills and raise my powers. 

But there isn't time to wonder how this happened, 
or to question whether it's all a dream. I've been to 
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Britannia once. On this visit I'm not concerned about 
the fine points of reality. 

My life went well after I became the Avatar. 
Though I returned to my home world, I retained some 
of the strength of character I had gained in my 
adventures. To be sure, I was no hero with weapons 
and magic abilities, but I'd gained a certain . . . charm 
and, let us say, charisma, which helped me prosper in 
a very different world. 

But this isn 't the time for reflection. Now is the 
time for action. 

I discussed the situation with Iolo and the wounded 
Shamino , and we decided to journey to Castle 
Britannia at the first possible moment. 

'We must seek support in our efforts," lolo said. 
' There have to be others who oppose Blackthorn and 
the Shadowlords. Perhaps we will find some near the 
castle." 

Shamino, though still in pain, agreed. 
Going through our inventory, I noticed we had a 

small amount of gold, some meager weapons, a bit of 
food , and several vials of a thick yellow liquid. I asked 
Joto about the vials and he told me they were healing 
potions. I was about to administer one of them to 
Shamino, but he stayed my hand. 

"Nay, Avatar. Waste not this precious brew on me. 
I am sure that a good sleep or two under the sky will 
heal me just as well." 

"But 'tis not safe, " interjected lolo. "As we slept, 
we would be at the mercy of all the monsters that now 
roam the land." 

"Not if I sleep during the day and someone keeps 
watch." 

"I shall keep watch, " Joto and I said simultaneously. 
Shamino smiled gratefully. "So be it. Let us be 

off. " 
We were about to leave Iolo's hut, but he stopped 

and started taking the torches from the walls. "We 
may have need of these later. And we will have other 
uses for our gold. lf we are successful, it will be easy to 
replace them." 

And so we set off when the sun was high, and for 
just a moment I was able to forget the dire 
circumstances of our journey and enjoy the dappled 
shadows of the deep forest and the cool, reviving air 

of Britannia. I think, had the conditions been more 
favorable, I would have wept for joy to be back in tl1I! 

world . Or perhaps I would have danced a jig. As n 

was, I was preoccupied with helping Shamino, wli. 
was still very weak, and with a grim foreboding !hi: 
this would be a much deadlier experience than my las 
one had been. I knew, just from my brief encounter 
with them, that I was no match for the Shadowlonk 
The Amulet protected me, but would that protectioc 
last? 

We headed due east, and eventually reached a s~ 
in a clearing. It said, "Beware the Deep Forest," aoo 
for some reason , Joto and Shamino decided Iha· 
camping here would be a good joke. Joto insisted a 
taking the first watch. He pointed out that sleeping 
the magical air of Britannia would do me good­
think his actual words were "harden thy aspect"--ao: 
I couldn't argue. 

We slept for eight hours . By the time ~ 

awakened, it was full night. But Joto had kept ar1 

creatures from our camp. I was refreshed, and I cOO: 
see that Shamino was almost cured. One more slee: 
would certainly do the trick, but both my compani 
were anxious to begin our journey to Castle Britannia 

We headed out under the light of the twin moo~ 
wary at every step. We were marching south 
southeast, speaking softly, when we reached 
foothills. Climbing the low hills, we were caught 
surprise. A group of giant rats had been waiting I 
us. We engaged them successfully, though. My 
were not at their best, but I was still able to w 
one of them and Joto finished it off. Uninjured, 
continued on our journey and eventually tum 
east. We reached Castle Britannia without furth 
incident. 

At the very gates of the castle, Shamino stoppa 
"I should like to rest again, if you two don't mind.' 

It seemed safe here, and most of the castl 
occupants would probably be in bed at this h 
anyway. We agreed. 

This time, it was I who insisted on taking 
watch. Even Iolo needed rest. Shamino agreed, 
cautioned me to stay alert. A deadly ambush could 
surprise the unwary, he warned me, even in 
shadow of the castle. 
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It was a long night, but I was able to use the time 
~. I wrote this account of my adventures up to this 
1XJinl. I also studied my magic book. It appeared to be 
the same as the one I had carried in my previous 
• nture, but most of my best spells were no longer 
m it. What had happened to all my spells? Intuition 
tokl me I would have to learn them all over again . 

w 
fntry 2-ea~tle 
llritwmia 
hen my companions awoke it 
was late morning, so we 
hurried into the castle . The 
guards, normally taciturn, were 
completely unresponsive. Iolo 

reminded me in a stage whisper that we were 
::nminals, and I glanced furtively toward the nearest 
guard, but he seemed to ignore us completely. Were 
lhey secretly loyal to Lord British? Were we, perhaps, 
11alking into a trap? Shamino laughed when I voiced 
my concerns, though. 

"Blackthorn has his own castle. Here, at least, we 
will be safe enough , though we must be careful 
everywhere." He paused a second, then drew us into 
a quiet comer. "Avatar, I know you are the essence of 
Virtue, but I think the King would wish you to obtain 
any advantage you can from his possessions. There 
are a few items we might be able to use. Chief among 
these is a Magic Carpet. I've heard he keeps it in his 
rooms at the top of the castle. Shall we go and see if it 

there?" 
I looked dubiously at Iolo, but he only nodded his 

agreement and took me by the arm. "Come, Avatar. 
We must save the King . If this carpet will provide us 
with reliable transportation , I'm sure the King will 
iorgive you. And if we fail , what does it matter after 
all?' 

We passed Chuckles , the jester. I had already 
sampled his strange discourse on my previous visit, 
and I felt sure he would add nothing to my Quest. A 
brief attempt at conversation confirmed my intuition, 
and we continued onward. 

The ladders were in the corner towers, but the 
doorways leading to the two southern towers were 

locked. Iolo claimed that he could jimmy the locks with 
his skeleton keys, but we all agreed that, rather than 
risk breaking a key, we might as well take the ladder in 
the northeast comer of the castle. The door leading to 
it was unlocked. 

We climbed two ladders and found ourselves on 
the parapet overlooking the Britannian landscape. I 
paused for a moment and checked the pocket watch I 
was carrying. It was just past noon. Quickly we headed 
south, then rounded the comer carefully. 

Shamino stopped us short. "There's a guard here, 
and I'm sure he would not let us do what we're about 
to do." 

I remember frowning at that. "And what, good 
friend , are we going to do?" I asked. 

"Blow up the King's door," he answered with a 
lopsided grin. "There's no other way in , unless you 
can use the In Ex Por spell to unbind the magical lock 
on the door." 

I sighed at the thought of once-held power. "No. I 
can 't. I remember the spell , but not its working . 
Besides, I think I lack some of the reagents to cast it. I 
don't seem to have anything suitable for blowing up a 
door, either," I added with just a bit of sarcasm. I was 
beginning to think this was a wild goose chase. 

Shamino just smiled and pulled me around the 
comer. Luckily, the guard was facing away from us . 
He pointed dramatically toward a rather large cannon 
nearby. "Avatar, we have the means," he whispered, 
"but we shall have to await the opportunity." 

We waited, taking turns watching the guard. Then, 
around 1:15 p.m., the guard walked over to a nearby 
ladder and climbed down. The coast was clear. 

Shamino walked quickly to the cannon he 'd 
pointed out. As I joined him , I could see a short 
hallway north of us and a door at the end of it . 
"Come," Shamino urged me. "Put thy shoulder to it 
and we 'll push this cannon into place . Hurry. We 
don 't want the guard to return before we 're well 
gone." 

We all pushed and pulled the heavy cannon until it 
was standing before the doorway. Then, before I could 
have any second thoughts, Shamino fired it. The door, 
which had once glowed with the telltale signs of a 
magical lock, was splintered and destroyed. 
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My ears rang for several minutes, so I hardly heard 
lolo as he yelled, "There it is! Just inside the doorway. 
Quickly, Avatar, take the Carpet and let us be off! " 

I did as lolo instructed . I took the Carpet, 
practically cringing at the surge of guilt I expected to 
feel. Strangely, though, I felt nothing. One of the side 
effects of being an Avatar is that when you do 
something wrong, you feel it. I realized this was not a 
wrong act, and I was relieved. 

I remember thinking there must be more to find in 
the King 's apartment, but it seemed imperative that 
we be gone before anyone came to investigate the 
boom of the cannon. I had only quickly glimpsed the 
room, but I remember seeing a clock, a fireplace, and 
a beautiful harpsichord. There was also a ladder in the 
middle of the room. But all that would have to wait 
until another time. 

Still standing in the shattered doorway, I backed 
out, almost bumping into the still-smoking muzzle of 
the cannon . Quickly pushing the cannon out of the 
way, we hurried from the roof. · 

As we climbed down the ladders , I was all for 
getting out of the castle, and lolo agreed. From above 
me, he said, 'Tm sure there 's more to find here , 
though. The guards will be alerted now that we've set 
off the cannon. But if we leave the castle, then enter 
again, it should fool them." 

Reluctantly I acquiesced, but kept an eye out for 
trouble as we climbed down the stairs in the 
southwestern tower. We caught sight of no guards , 
though we had to jimmy the lock to get out of the 
tower on the first floor . I thought I heard shouting 
elsewhere in the castle, and judged it just as well that 
we'd taken this route. I could hear armor clanking and 
swords rattling in the northern part of the keep. 

Finally, we were able to run out the front gates, 
laughing with relief as we ran past a surprised jester, 
who winked at me . Once safely outside the castle 
grounds, I wrote down my memories carefully in case 
lolo was mistaken. But the bard was right as usual. We 
re-entered the castle, acting innocent and casual, and, 
once again, the guards ignored us. 

Most of what we did in the castle after that was of 
little consequence. In the upper kitchen , we spoke 
with the cook, Margaret who offered us food , but 

asked five gold pieces for it. I thought the price a bit 
stiff. Her granddaughter, however, told us of a certain 
Lord Stuart who had created a spell for creating food. 
It sounded interesting. I decided to find this Lord 
Stuart and ask him about the spell . 

In the basement, in a storage room on the westem 
side, we found a ring of seven keys discarded in a 
barrel , and in a room on the opposite side we found a 
Ring of Regeneration in a trunk. I felt no pangs ol 
guilt when we took these things, so I judged the acts 
to be virtuous and in a good cause. We also took as 
many torches as we could hold . I felt a little uneasy 
about that, but lolo brazenly took one right under the 
nose of one of the guards on the first floor, and the 
guard didn't even blink. After that I had no more 
worries about torches. 

Although we met several other people in the 
castle , we were unable to gain any significanl 
information. Max the Armorer , at the North Star 
Armory, was willing enough to sell us his wares, bl.I 
we were not wealthy enough to afford anything 
though he had some tempting weapons and armor 
We also saw a room with a magical lock on it. lok 
said it was the King 's Treasury, but, even if we~ 
been able to borrow from it, I wasn 't sure it wouk 
have been honorable to do so. It was a moot point 
however, because there were no cannons nearby. 
gave it no more thought. 

One encounter did yield something odd, however 
We met a young girl in the stables. She wore ht 
brown hair short and cropped . There was a bit 
straw caught in it. She was pulling on riding booo 
when we approached and introduced ourselves. ~ 
name was Treanna. We talked about her Job. th! 
Stables, Lord British, and horse Breeds. She the:' 
asked me which was my favorite breed. I was going 
say something like "Tennessee Walker ," but lo 
whispered in my ear, "Say 'Valorian. '" At my quizzia 
look, he added , " Tis the most prized war horse 
Britannia. " 

So I answered, ";i!uloriun. " 

She brightened considerably at that. "Hey, l1llll 

too! Ever heard of a talking horse?" I had of coU!! 
but the talking horse I'd heard of was called Mr F.: 

So I said ;N ,,_ 
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A mage from Paws named Bandaii claims one 
e.xists. l wish l could remember the horse 's name. " I 
thought Iola was going to say something again, but 
rrus time he kept quiet. 

So we completed our exploration of the castle. It 
il'ilS late at night by now, so we decided to rest a 
while , then head for the town of Britain in the 
rooming. Not feeling completely easy within the castle 

walls, we went back to our former camp and holed up 
there for another eight hours of sleep. Shamino 
insisted that it was his tum to stand guard. He seemed 
fully recovered. 

In my dream, I saw Lord British. He was limned in 
a bluish glow, and he seemed to speak inside my head. 
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''Thou showest well the wisdom of an Avatar, but 
not yet hast thou achieved thy potential. Stay on the 
path and thy soul shall flourish! " 

Then I realized that I was awake and this 
apparition of the King was standing above our 
campfire. My companions were awake as well, and 
beaming with pleasure. Before I could say a word, 
however, the ghostly image faded into nothingness 
and we were alone again. I felt terrific, though. All 
the pains and aches of the road had vanished. Iolo 
and Shamino looked similarly refreshed. We decided 
it was time to take the road to the town of Britain. 

l 
Entry 3-l>ritzain 
olo looked uneasy as we headed 
for Britain. Shamino remarked it 
and joked , "Worried lest thou 
dost encounter a lass thou hast 
made some promise to?" 

Iolo shook his head. "No, 
'tis an uneasy feeling my home town is under a spell. 
There's evil there. I sense it. " 

We were still a good mile away, but I think I felt 
what lolo felt. Something in the air itself, an electricity 
and an odor of fear and . .. something ugly. 

Our suspicions were given more substance as we 
entered the city gates. An air of hatred surrounded the 
town, and even the normally placid guards wore evil 
sneers in place of their customary neutrality. 

" 'Tis as I suspected," whispered Iolo. "There's a 
Shadowlord in the town. We must retreat, quickly." 

"What can we do, then?" I asked as we headed 
back beyond the city walls . 

"Wait, or go elsewhere," was the answer. 
We waited. 

We all felt the evil oppression lift just after midnight. 
The Shadowlord had gone. But there was nothing 
much to be done until morning, so we rested until the 
sun came up , banishing the dark and its malicious 
portents. None of us slept, however, and just before 
dawn, we fended off the attack of a band of ores. In 
our current mood, the ores were no match for us and 
we escaped with only minor scratches. My battle skills 

were returning , though I longed for a decent weapon. 
With the sun shining at last, we rushed to Britain 

to see if everything was all right. Fortunately, as 11~ 

entered the city gates, we saw that the guards were 
back to normal and a quick look revealed no lasting 
effects of the Shadowlord 's visitation, other than a 
noticeable tension in the faces of the townsfolk. 

We passed through the walls and headed for the 
city's center. Soon our attention was drawn to a noblr 
bard dressed in military garb, still eating his breakfast 
in the local pub. He greeted us over his gruel as 11 

approached. 
His name was Greyson, and he was an adventurer 

lolo seemed to know him and asked him about th! 
things he had seen on his adventures. 

"I've even seen the Guardians! " he boasted. 
"(jun:roi11n .. ?" I asked. 
"They are like two winged stone giants, yet the1 

possess life! " he told us in awestruck tones. 
"<iimti.,?" I repeated. ''They were giants?" 
He nodded his assent. "Only those upon a sacre: 

Quest ordained by the mystic Shrines are grantee 
passage unto the Codex of Ultimate Wisdom whid. 
lies beyond. " 

I felt a surge of hope. Perhaps he could save · 
some time. "Then you have seen the filollex ?" 

"I know not more , for I was not upon a sacre: 
Quest and could not pass." 

"What do you know about the ~frritm , then?" 
asked, trying to salvage something useful from 
conversation. 

He paused, the spoon held halfway to his moot 
"One must know first the Mantra for a particu.1 
Shrine. Meditate there, and be sent upon a saci 
Quest, then canst thou enter the Shrine of the Co® 

That sounded interesting, so I asked him, "Do 
know anything about ~11ntras?" 

His answer was somewhat off the subject, btJ 
chose to answer it honestly. "Who dost thou think 
the rightful ruler of Britain?" 

"~riti.,~ ," I replied. 
"Which Mantra dost thou seek?" 
I knew we were in the city of '1Lomp11Hiou, so Ii 

was my answer. He said, "The Mantra of Compassi; 
is 'MU.'" 
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I asked him about some of the other Mantras, but 
he knew nothing more of interest, and we said our 
goodbyes. I had thought to ask him to join us, but Iolo 
forestalled me. In any event, I don 't think Greyson 
would have abandoned his own adventure to join ours. 

We stayed only a day in Britain, but we learned 
much more. From the inn's busboy, Eb, we learned of 
a glass sword of immense power. He started talking 
o! it when lolo ordered a clean <l31a..,,.. The boy 
:nentioned a friend named Malik who lived in 
"loonglow. 

Meanwhile, Shamino had prowled around and 
struck up a conversation with a lady busy cleaning the 
rooms at the inn. He asked her if there was any good 
Oimip, and she let slip some information about an 
armorer in Jhelom. His name was Bullwier and he 
~as reputed to know something of the Alll!~stic ;tillleaptlns 
of the Avatar. I don't think Shamino let on that I was 
the Avatar. 

I was ready to complete our business in Britain and 
get back on the road again before sundown, but lolo 
disagreed. "There be them as haunts the night in 
every place. 'Tis not wise to leave wi' out sounding 
:hem for what they know." 

So we agreed to stay the night in Britain, and it's a 
good thing we did . It was on the balcony above the 
llO that we encountered the mage called Annon. He 
was a man of great height, garbed in wizard 's robes. 
In every way he looked the part, too. His long white 
hair and beard framed eyes that blazed under thick 
brows. Even his nose was large ; it seemed to 
punctuate the intensity of those eyes. I was 
unmediately reminded of Gandalf. I almost laughed, 
rut this man was real , whereas Gandalf had been a 
character in a book. I approached him cautiously, 
more nervous than I had been with any Britannian 
before, save the King himself. But Annon turned out 
to be most affable, and far less severe than his 
appearance had led me to expect. He even seemed 
glad to see us, and easily informed us that he had 
once served on the Great Council. I hadn 't heard of it 
before, but it sounded mighty important. 

"Tell me about the <IIcnmcil," I requested. 
·we derived the eight Words of Power! " he said, 

arxl some of the intensity of his eyes hit me full force. 

His eyebrows seemed to have their own life as well . 
They bobbed up and down as he spoke . As the 
conversation intensified, so did Annon. 

"May I inquire about the ;tilllt1r?ls of Power?" I 
wasn't sure I wanted to hear the answer, but I could 
not help asking. 

"We used these words to seal the eight dungeons! " 
That, at least, was good news. Those dungeons 

had been true hell-pits. It was a blessing to hear they 
were sealed up. Now I would not have to relive one of 
my worst nightmares . "That's good about the 
~un9eans," I said, a bit lamely. 

"Blackthorn hunts us down so that he might unlock 
them and free the evils within," the mage told me, 
more or less ignoring my comment. 

"1Ji&ils? Any evils in particular, or just general 
evils?" I asked. Now I was beginning to sound inane to 
my own ears, but the mage never faltered . He looked 
at me for several moments, as if reading my level of 
goodness. Finally, he seemed to judge me worthy of 
the information he next imparted, though I wondered 
at the time if he was right. 

"I know merely one of these Words. Dost thou 
wish to know it?" 

I was all set to say no, but some daemon inside me 
said, u'les. " 

"The Word is 'VILIS,' and remember , it can be 
used to open the dungeon Despise! The daughter of 
another Council member works as a sailmaker. Ask 
the child about her mother, for she too knows one of 
the Words of Power. " 

I thanked him and motioned for my friends to 
follow me from the balcony. I was not in a particularly 
good mood. The very knowledge of how to unlock the 
sealed dungeons made me almost certain that I would 
eventually find myself once again within their evil , 
fetid , slimy, and thoroughly deadly walls. 

We found beds as best we could during the night, 
but I slept fitfully, dreaming of my last experiences 
within Britannia's dungeons. It was a great relief when 
dawn finally arrived. I decided to head out of town 
soon, though I wanted to make one stop first. 

I had seen a sign for Iolo's Bows, and that's where 
we went next, but before we arrived, Iolo warned me 
not to expect any great deals . In fact , he had to 
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remain incognito , and donned a disguise before 
entering the shop . He wouldn ' t explain it, but 1 
imagined it had something to do with the security of 
the shopkeeper , who shouldn ' t be seen in the 
company of criminals. 

I was tired of fighting with sword alone. The sword 
allowed my enemies to get too close. I had already 
received several minor, but annoying, scratches and 
nicks. A weapon with some range was what I needed, 
so I bought a sling for myself and another for 
Shamino. Iolo said he was happy with what he had. 
Shamino and I readied our slings immediately, though. 
No sense being caught unprepared. 

Once we had made our purchase, we entered a 
side room and met a pretty young woman named 
Gwenno. As we spoke, lolo hung in the background. 
Finally, the young woman offered to join us. I don't 
think we had fooled her at all. She knew what we 
were up to . And she still wanted to join. 

I was about to find a polite way to refuse her offer. 
She seemed a bit too frail to bring along on what 
would certainly prove to be a deadly quest. Before I 
could frame my reply, however, Iolo came forward 
and took her by the hand . At one point, I think I 
remember hearing Gwenno say she was lolo 's 
"better half." Or something like that. At any rate, 
they finally made me understand that they were 
married. lolo said he would like Gwenno to come 
along, for now at least. So my decision was made, 
and now we were four. 

We decided to leave Britain then, but as we headed 
for the city gates, our attention was caught by a 
cheery young man standing in a fruit orchard. He 
hailed us. 

"What is your ;Nrune?" Shamino asked. 
"My name is Terrance," he answered. 
"And Terrance, what is your 'J.lob?" I asked. I had 

found this to be a good ice breaker with the 
Britannians. 

The man smiled heartily. "I keep this orchard to 
earn my humble living." 

I asked him about his 1Ji6ing, and he replied , "I 
barely manage to make ends meet. Dost thou have 
enough to eat?" 

I was surprised at the question , and started to 
answer yes, but Shamino interrupted and said , "No. 
we can always use more provisions." 

I was embarrassed by Shamino's outburst, but said 
nothing more as Terrance handed me some frui t. 
saying, "Then here, friend , I have enough to shari 
with one in need." 

I glared at Shamino. We certainly weren't in need 
but the knight smiled and said, for my benefit, "We 
use this food in a good cause, friend. " I felt onl1 
slightly better after that. 

To change the subject, I said, "'filim~s are bad. · 
seems." 

Terrance frowned and kicked at the dirt. "It s 
mostly on account of them blasted Shadowlords, .. hi 
told us. 

"~l1nbofulorbs ?" I asked, wondering if this mar 
might shed some light on their dark natures. 

"If it weren't for the Resistance, I'd have nothing. 
"~esistnnce? What is that?" I asked, my attenti 

suddenly riveted on the answer. I felt, rather than sa• 
lolo and Shamino stiffen, but Terrance looked as if lx 
had accidentally shot his best friend. 

"Ooops ... . Dost thou intend to tum me in ft' 
treason?" 

"Nay, lad," said lolo. "Speak up. " 
But we got little more from Terrance that day. 11 

simply whispered , "Ask the owner of the Arms : 
Justice! " 

After the conversation with Terrance, we talked briefr 
among ourselves. lolo told me that the Arms of J 
was in Yew, so we agreed that Yew would be our 
destination. 

But as we left Britain, I think the nature of 
Quest became clearer in my mind . I was not 
ordinary person. I was the Avatar. Though I felt 
or less as I had always felt, something had hap 
to me during my previous Quest, and no~ 
represented something good, something powerfU 
this world . Evil had taken this land, and the 
suffered in its grip. The very Virtues I had sought 
hard to master were now being used to subju 
innocent people. In the name of Virtue, Blackthr 
had created a reign of tyranny . How had 
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happened? Couldn't they see how wrong it all was? 
Though l had no idea how I would do it, I knew I was 
!he one chosen to set things right. But who had 
nosen me? How could I defeat creatures of such 

OCIJious power as the Shadowlords? How could I live 
p to the terrible burden I had inherited with the title 
r Avatar? 

And how could I stop my beard from itching? I 
h.idn"t shaved in days. 

0 
Entry 4-Tite l\oad 
to Yew 
n the road to Yew, around 
sundown , we were ambushed 
by a large band of Skeletons. 
These undead creatures were 
lacking in skill, but difficult to 

de·troy, and I was thankful that I had thought to 
l'JfChase slings. We were able to damage some of the 
Jeatures before they reached us. Having no projectile 
•-eapons themselves , they were unable to harm us 
~om a distance. Gwenno proved to be a stout fighter 
as well, wielding her sling with skill and courage. 

However we were badly outnumbered. There must 
·.ave been eight or nine of the bleach-boned monsters, 
l11d they soon lined up to take their swings at us. I 
switched from sling to short sword as the creatures 
:.ime closer, and Shamino wielded the long sword in 

one hand and a club in the other , doing double 
damage. I missed some of my swings , but had the 
satisfaction of feeling my blade bite into a brittle arm, 
breaking it in two. But the answering blow barely 
missed my own sword hand and nearly sent my 
weapon flying . 

Eventually , I was forced to counter the blows of 
three of the creatures , though Iola and Shamino 
flanked me and Gwenno continued to harry them 
from behind our stout line . It wasn 't until we had 
destroyed a few of the monsters that several of them 
took to their bony heels. I switched back to my sling to 
send them painfully on the ir way (though I suspect 
these undead creatures felt nothing as we hacked 
them apart; certainly they let out no sound) . 

Fortunately, Gwenno and I were unhurt, though I 
think it was as much from lolo's and Shamino's skill at 
protecting us as from our own efforts . Gwenno 
remained behind us anyway, and had never been in 
danger. Iola and Shamino had received some blows, 
Iola taking the worst of it, but neither was in any real 
danger and they bore their wounds without complaint. 
Gwenno fussed over them while we examined the 
treasure chests left behind. 

I trusted Iola most of all to find any traps set on the 
chests, but he discovered none, and we found much­
needed booty. We'd killed seven skeletons, and five of 
them had carried chests . The firs t four chests 
contained no traps, as Iola had determined, but the 
fifth surprised us . It was trapped with acid , and 
Shamino took the brunt of it. He was hurt badly now, 
and we knew we would have to rest or use a precious 
healing potion to revive him. However, we did walk 
away with 73 gold pieces, one leather helm, one set 
of quarrels, one dagger, six keys , six torches, and 
seven portions of food . Even Shamino judged it to 
have been worthwhile. 

We camped outside Yew and Gwenno offered to 
take the watch. Once again , we were visited by the 
spirit of Lord British, or whatever it was . Anyway, 
when it had gone again we were all healed and full of 
energy. 
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l 
:fntrv 5-
Tite Deep f or~t:i 
t was still dark when we 
awakened, so we decided to 
patrol the area around Yew for 
a while. We were making it 
safer for the citizens by 

t;!lllinating some of the monsters that dwelt in the 
~ woods around the area. We dispatched several 
;iant rats, giant spiders, ores, trolls, and headlesses 
:dare dawn. Iolo and I both got poisoned, he by a 
;iflhon and I by a giant rat, but we had plenty of An 
~x spells and the poison was quickly removed. I was 
~for hours afterward, though. 

Once we tried to enter Yew, but a Shadowlord was 
:here and we had to retreat. We decided to patrol the 
area until the evil creature left town, but we hadn't 
reckoned on meeting another band of skeletons, the 
·~ twin of the group we had dispatched previously. 
These were even more determined, and managed to 
iUJTOund us before we could beat them back with our 
;tings and our swords. I cursed the lack of a decent 
.wapon, but kept fighting as hard as I could. This time 
all of us, save Gwenno, sustained serious wounds . 
fom she was hurt, I could tell, though she hid it well. 
By the time the battle had ended, lolo was barely 
s:anding and Shamino was in little better shape. I was 
l\lllJfl<led in the left arm and had taken a vicious blow to 
Ille head, which had caused me to stagger and almost 
eat a skeleton's steel. I would have, too, if Shamino 
1-00n't parried the blow. I fear the effort cost him, as 
one of the creatures to his left took advantage of his 
attention to my foe. This wasn't the first time Shamino 
had saved me, and I feared it wouldn't be the last. 

Wounded as we were, we took time to open the 
chests and recover some food and other items. I got 
acid on me from one of the trapped chests, but it was 
minor compared to the other damage already done. 
This battle had been less rewarding and more 
damaging than any we had encountered before, and 
~uealized it was time to rest again . 

Gwenno stood guard again as we lay down to 
sleep through the day. With the Shadowlord in Yew, 
we had little choice. None of us knew what the 
Shadowlords were doing in the towns, but we knew 

their very presence caused the people to suffer . 
Shadowlords exuded Evil. I longed to plunge a sword 
into one of them, but was sure, from my previous 
meeting, that I was overmatched. As galling as it was, 
I had to bide my time. I knew my companions felt the 
same way. 

We made camp in a clearing, where Gwenno 
could warn us if any foe approached. Our sleep 
refreshed us, though my dreams were black and 
ominous. Despite my nightmares, the air of this 
strange world revived me quickly, and I felt my health 
return, but lolo was not so lucky, and Gwenno needed 
some rest herself. 

It was night, so we took the risk of sleeping again 
since nothing could be done before morning. This 
time I stood guard. After eight hours, just as the sun 
began to rise, I saw Lord British again . He appeared 
as if from within our campfire. This time, he smiled. 

"Hail, Shamino! For thy valiant deeds, I shall 
reward thee! Thou art now Level 3, and quicker! " 

That's exactly what he said. He then delivered his 
standard speech to me, healed us all , and disappeared. 
I felt wonderful, but slightly miffed as well. Hadn't I 
fought side by side with Shamino? And what about the 
others? Did we not deserve a similar reward? I quickly 
dismissed the thoughts as unworthy, and was the first 
to reach Sharnino's side and congratulate him. 

As we were breaking camp, Gwenno approached 
me and stood waiting for me to acknowledge her 
presence. 

"What is it, Gwenno? Is something wrong?" I 
asked. I hoped she wasn't going to tell me she had to 
leave us. We still needed her. 

Her shy smile told me that her news could not be 
so dire. 

"Avatar, I have heard thee curse the lack of good 
weapons, and am distressed to see thee so badly 
equipped. Would that I could provide better for thee! 
But I may be able to do just as well. Tis rumored that 
a silver sword is hidden in a basement in Yew, and an 
even more precious treasure, a Magic Axe, hidden in 
Jhelom. One hears much, working in an armory. I 
believe these weapons are thine to take, if thou canst 
but find them. " 

I thanked her and shook her hand heartily. I think I 
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would have kissed her, but I wasn't sure what lolo 
would think. But quickly my thoughts returned to Yew. 
I had added reason to enter the city as soon as 
possible. As the light began to spread through the 
forest, we headed back to the city of Justice. It was 
time to find out more about the Resistance, and to 
find that silver sword! 

:Entry 6-Yew and 
the tihrine of Ju~tic.e 
e finally entered Yew in the 
dark of night. I thought the 
Shadowlords would never 
leave! No sooner had one left 
than another arrived . My 

frustration grew until finally , after midnight, the evil 
lifted from the place. and we knew it was now safe to 
enter. Of course, the gate to the city was closed for 
the night. Yew was that kind of place. So we waited 
before the gate until it opened early in the morning, 
then headed directly for the Arms of Justice. I had to 
find out about the Resistance first thing. 

Imagine my irritation to find that the smith slept 
well into the morning . Didn 't he know I was on a 
Quest? Well , apparently he didn 't. so we cooled our 
heels until he came out and began his work day. 
Then, and only then , could we discuss the matters at 
hand. 

I guess it was Blackthorn's doing, but the people in 
Britannia had never seemed so stiff and inflexible. I 
pushed my anger away. It would not serve me, and if 
this man was really with the Resistance, then perhaps 
his actions were warranted. It would be dangerous to 
deviate from normal patterns in these times. I had 
seen the stocks in the middle of the city. and the poor 
unfortunates imprisoned in them. But now, finally, I 
had the chance to talk to the smith. His name was 
Chamfort. He nearly brushed me off when I asked 
about his goods, so I got right to the point. 

"What do you know about the ;lResistmm?" I asked, 
sotto voce. 

He became even stiffer than before, if that was 
possible. 

"Who told thee to ask me?" he asked , a hint of 
fear mixing with the suspicion in his voice. 

"Dost thou know U!errmu:r of Britain?" I inquired. 
one of the rare times I found myself talking in the local 
vernacular. I thought it best not to arouse any more 
suspicion than I already had. 

"I see ... " he muttered. His suspicion wa; 
dropping away, and his eyes narrowed as he 
appraised me and my companions. "Dost thou wish Ii 
aid the Resistance?" 

There was no hesitation in my response. "Yes." 
"What is thy name?" 
I told him, and he smiled for the first time. "Ven 

good. The first thing thou dost need is to see 
Landon. " He looked around-somewhat theatrically 
thought. 'The password is 'DAWN.' " 

After that, I asked him about }Canlhm, whom ~ 
identified as the leader of the Resistance. Asked aboo 
the )!Jeaber, he directed me to a secret passage that 
through the fireplace in his bedroom. I thanked h1rr 
and my friends and I went in search of the bedroor: 
Once there, I looked at my companions and shrugge: 
The fireplace certainly looked hot, but we all agreed 
was no time to back out now. 

A few first-degree bums later, we found ourseM> 
in a very small room with a ladder, which we climbe: 
It was dark, and Iolo lit a torch. A plain nam 
hallway stretched out ahead. The walls were ro 
stone and small trickles of water ran down thee 
staining them with yellow and white residue. At c 
first intersection, we headed south and finally fo 
ourselves at a door. I was about to knock, but realiM 
where I was. It was probably better just to enter 
be prepared for what was on the other side. 

I had prepared myself for nothing. The room 
empty. Or, on second thought, it was almost em 
Sitting at the table eating breakfast was a tn; 
marvelous sight. Jaana! My old companion from 
Quest of the Avatar days! I had forgotten many th . . 
but I had never forgotten her. 

I hurried over to Jaana and she greeted me Wit' 

bow, but I put my arms around her and hugged, 
Once I had gotten over my excitement, we talka: 
while. I asked Jaana to join us and she agreed 
would be good to have her magical talents with .. 
was fond of her personality, too. 

We were carrying an extra sling so we gave r 
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Jaana. who took it thoughtfully. "I yearn for battle, " 
htold me. 
·rve no doubt you'll find it ," I replied. Though she 

, slender and pale, I knew she would hold her own. 
ne looked a little less robust than I remembered, 

lilwever. Perhaps she had spent too much time in this 
llisement recently. Some Britannian sun would do her 

~· 
It was just past eleven in the morning and I saw 

!hat a man was sleeping in the adjoining bedroom. I 
h.ld a feeling it was Landon, and Jaana confirmed it. 
II< were about to sit down to wait politely for him to 
awaken, when Gwenno turned to Jaana and spoke 
somewhat teasingly. 

Now that the Avatar hath finished his business 
~ith thee, hast thou time for thy friends? Welcome, 

er Tis good to have you with us." 
Jaana smiled and went over to Gwenno, hugging 

!ler It was obvious that they were old friends . Jaana 
W1 greeted Iolo and Shamino with equal warmth. 

Finally, after all the reunions were completed , 
G.venno asked , "Tell me, hast thou heard of a silver 
\\lllrd hidden somewhere in Yew?" 

Jaana frowned in concentration. "I know not of 
'.:\€ sword, but there is a suspicious wall at the end of 
trie corridor in this basement. It 's next to the ladder at 
:he eastern end. " 

That's all I needed to hear. We left Landon to his 
t and headed for the hallway to the north. Then we 

headed east until we reached the ladder Jaana had 
mentioned. Sure enough there was something just a 

strange about the wall. I searched it more carefully 
and found one of those secret catches I'd seen so 
:nuch on my previous visit to Britannia. Pushing the 
catch revealed an ordinary door , which I opened 
:mpatiently. 

·Let's go," I called to my friends , and we all filed 
00wn another narrow hallway. 

At the end of this hall was a fetid pool that looked 
illngerous. Several giant rats stood in the comer as if 
guarding the room . Behind the rats I spied a lone 
barrel. 1 had to know what was in that barrel. 

I was about to attack the rats when Iolo suggested 
~e use the Magic Carpet . We might avoid 
.nnecessary battle by floating safely over the 

poisonous pools. I agreed , but we ended up battling 
one group of rats while the others stood off to the side 
and watched. We easily disposed of the rats, however, 
and came upon the barrel. In it I found the silver 
sword I sought. I hefted it and found it to be of 
superior craftsmanship. I did not immediately need the 
sword, however, even though the other group of rats 
took the moment to attack. Our slings were more than 
a match for these overweight rodents! 

We discovered another secret room off the main 
hallway, but found nothing other than more rats. Then 
we returned in search of Landon. It was now just past 
2 p .m., but Landon was still deep in slumber. We 
decided to wait an hour or two. The others spent the 
time catching up while I updated my notes. 

At 3 p .m . Landon emerged from his bedroom , 
looking ready to take on an army. He obviously wasn't 
one of those people who needed coffee to get going 
in the morning, though it was hardly morning , come 
to think of it. I liked him on first sight. Don 't ask me 
why. Charisma, I guess . Anyway, the man was a born 
leader. He nodded to us as if we had been expected, 
and beckoned us to follow. He took up a position in 
the hallway, then turned and waited for me to speak. 

"Hello ," I said, perhaps not brilliantly, but at least 
with good intentions. 

This was a man who would be a stalwart friend , or 
a deadly enemy. I could see it in his eyes as he looked 
me over. 

"What is thy name?" he asked. 
I answered , and he went through the ritual of 

determining my loyalty to Lord British and asking me 
the password. I think he knew I was all right, though. 
It was just for form . I don't recall all that transpired in 
our meeting, but suffice it to say I came away with a 
renewed sense of commitment. This guy was good! 

Landon also told us that Blackthorn had stolen 
Lord British 's crown and planned to use it for evil 
purposes . More cheery news . I was the one who 
would have to get it back. What's more, Blackthorn 
had protected his castle so that magic would not work 
there. I wasn't looking forward to breaching a castle 
with just a few loyal friends , but it looked as if that was 
part of this adventure. 
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Finally, Landon told me to seek out Sir Simon on a 
mountain island west of Spiritwood. Then he hurried 
off in that way common to many Britannians. We also 
had people to see and places to go, so we didn't linger 
either. We made our way through Chamfort's 
fireplace again (ugh!) and headed for the herb seller's 
place across the square. It was time to stock up on 
reagents. We had already had to use several spells and 
it was time to mix some new ones, especially An Nox 
and Mani. We bought spider silk, ginseng, garlic, 
blood moss , and sulfur ash . Our purse was lighter, but 
we were better prepared for the battles to come. And 
with Jaana among us, we were also better able to 
wield the magical forces available in Britannia. I was 
still worried , though, about storming Blackthorn's 
castle without any magic to help us. But I didn 't have 
time to worry about that now. 

We immediately mixed several batches of An Nox 
and then left the shop. My attention was drawn 
toward two figures locked up in the stocks at the town 
square. I'd noticed them each time we passed that 
way . One was just a child . It didn 't seem right. I 
approached the young boy. His eyes drooped as if he 
were falling asleep, but when I came near, he looked 
up, scared at first , then with an innocent look of hope. 

Talking with the boy, I teamed that his father was 
accused of not giving enough to charity and the 
unfortunate child had been locked up for not turning 
him in . This was Blackthorn 's justice! He had 
perverted the Virtues and the Principles until they had 
become just the opposite of what they were meant to 
be. I was angered. Outraged. To lock a man up for 
not giving enough to charity .... It was an 
abomination. I turned to Iola and suggested-not too 
politely, I'm afraid-that he pick the locks and set 
them free at once. He did so with a grin, and I felt a 
surge of good feeling go through me. I knew this was 
a good act and that these were honest folk. Undoing 
Blackthorn's misguided justice was an act of Virtue! 

Avoiding the guard standing nearby, we ducked 
into the courthouse. Jaana had suggested that we 
search the prison for information, and I agreed. 

We tried the left-hand cell first. We found a wizard 
there-named Felespar-a former member of the 
Great Council. 

He had been involved in the sealing of the eighl 
dungeons, and Jaana asked him if he knew about the 
;morb11 of Jlofuer. He seemed to know what she was 
talking about. He told us the word for the dungeon 
Wrong was "MALLUM." I couldn 't have been more 
pleased to know that I might get to go back into that 
nasty dungeon. Terrific! 

In another cell, we met a man named Greymarch 
He asked after his son, Froed, but we were unable to 
help him. We left him sitting, dejected, on the rougt 
wooden bench that served as his bed. 

In the middle cell we met Jerone, who told us ~ 

seeing an apparition much like the one we had nC1.1 
seen several times. But he knew little else. H1; 

brother, however, might know more. Jerone told I! 
that his brother always came at 10 p.m. and 10 a.m 
It was just past 7 p.m., so we decided to wait. I !al 
down on the hard cot and closed my eyes to think, !xi 
awakened a couple of hours later when Jeron1 
decided to take the bed. 

Jeremy, Jerone's brother, was already there, 
hour early! I peered at him through the bars of the 
door. He was a fair haired young man with an hones: 
looking face. "Hello. What is your Jlob here?" I ask!!! 
My standard greeting. 

"I work hard ; I need the money," he repli 
earnestly. 

"~o•ttu? For what?" 
'Tm trying to get my brother out of jail. " 
The conversation went on in that vein . I aske: 

about Jlail about the gold Oirofuns needed to get 
brother out. He then offered to sell me some ke'j 
food, or information . We had keys and food, 
never enough ,J.lnformation, so I asked about that. 

"All I can tell thee is that Chamfort knou; 
Mantra." 

This was useful information, and I handed him 
crowns with my thanks. It was time to find Chamf 
again. I was ready to leave, but Jeremy wanted to 
around a while and I couldn 't get him to move. 
tapped me on the shoulder and showed me ~ 
looked like a suspicious wall just behind the bed. 
we couldn't get to it to investigate because Jerone 
fast asleep. What a predicament! Oh, well. Chamfort 
probably asleep anyway. We would have to wait 

118 



mming. So we waited until Jeremy left, then completed 
)JI' exploration of the jail, learning nothing new. 

Eventually we found beds at the Slaughtered Lamb 
nere we could hole up for a while, though we were 

~.rown out to make room for the regular customers 
rtera few hours. 

The next morning we questioned Chamfort about 
tlt lllantrn of Justice. He told us it was "BEH. " 

We left Yew then, and discussed our next move. 
Leaming the Mantra of Justice had reminded me that 
·hadn 't visited any of the wonderful Shrines of 
Bntannia, and that the Shrine of Justice was not far 
.. om Yew. My friends agreed that the Shrine of 
Ji.stice would be a worthy destination , and we set off. 
We decided to ride the Magic Carpet. It was faster 
·han traveling by foot , and protected us from 
poisonous swamps as well. 

The Shrine of Justice was just a little northeast of 
!ew. at the very tip of a point of land that reached out 
:nto the ocean. We made it there with no difficulty and 
~over the swamp that guarded the entrance. I went 
lllSide. alone. 

I was relieved to find the shrine seemed safe , 
Jltouched by the defilement of the Shadowlords. Its 
:ieace and otherworldly atmosphere could almost 
~you to forget the great danger that hovered over 
~,< land. 1 stood still a moment and refreshed myself 
. the Shrine's aura, then walked to the center, where 
I removed my arms and armor, taking the role of a 

rshipper. 
A deep, booming voice spoke in my head and 

isked what virtue I wished to meditate on. Of course I 
m;wered, "Justice. " I then intoned the Mantra three 
::mes. "Beh ... Beh . . . Beh .... " 

Then the voice spoke again, and its words were a 
compulsion upon me. This was no mere statement, 
:xrt an almost hypnotic command that forced me to 
heed it well. " 'Tis now thy sacred Quest to go unto 
•he Codex and learn the weakness of the Unjust! 
Return again when thy Quest is done! " 

And then I must have passed out. At least I don 't 
remember much else , just a hazy image of dressing and 
inning myself and walking out of the shrine. Suddenly 
: was aware that I was back among my friends . They all 
JOked at me strangely and Jaana nodded knowingly. 

"What?" I asked, feeling like I had a wart on my 
nose or something. 

But Jaana smiled and took my hand. "There is a 
light about thee, Avatar. Tis the glow of the sacred 
Quest. Few receive such an honor, or such a duty . 
Wilt thou take us along on the Quest? For we would 
serve thee to the end." 

I didn't like this "to the end" stuff, but I was more 
than grateful to have the support of these friends . 
Somehow I wondered what it would be like to spend 
some ordinary time with lolo and Shamino . . . and 
Jaana. But such reveries got us nowhere nearer to 
saving Britannia, so I put my thoughts in order and we 
headed south. 

It was night and the moons lit our way, though the 
addition of a torch didn ' t hurt. Even as we flew 
southward , I was thinking what to do next . I was 
anxious to get to Jhelom, for there I might learn more 
about the Mystic Arms, and Gwenno had promised to 
help me seek the hidden Magic Axe. But I needed a 
boat to get to Jhelom. The moons were still several 
days away from the position necessary to take the 
Moongate there. I was thinking where else to go , 
when Shamino, who had been unusually quiet for the 
past few hours, suggested Minoc. 

"Minoc? Why there? " I asked . The others 
grumbled a little, as if echoing my question . Minoc 
was not a place most people went for fun . It was the 
city of Sacrifice-a most austere place. 

Shamino 's answer was anything but informative. "I 
don't know. I just think we should go there. I've a feeling ." 

"That's good enough for me! " shouted lolo , in 
high spirits for some reason. 

"And for me! " 
"And me!" echoed Gwenno and Jaana. 
So it was decided. We would undertake the journey 

to Minoc next. 

:Entry '7-Minoc 
o get to Minoc , we had to 
travel south , then east. It was a 
long journey, and took the 
better part of a day and a night 
on the Magic Carpet. It would 
certainly have taken longer on 
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foot, so I blessed the King and his carpet many times 
along the way. 

We traveled in and out of the mysterious forests 
east of Yew, passing north of the towering Serpent's 
Spine mountains, whose peaks seemed to loom off in 
the distance whenever we could peer past the thick 
woodlands. From there, we crossed the High Steppes, 
enduring the cold winds that blew there, skirting the 
River of Despair-if for no other reason, because its 
name was so unpleasant. 

We were chased several times by misshapen 
creatures, but managed to elude most of them. The 
Carpet could fly where they could not walk. We 
reached another mountain range, but quickly found 
the pass through it. The Carpet flew easily over the 
rolling foothills and passed us safely between the 
higher peaks on either side, and we came to the 
Bloody Plains, so named for ancient battles in which 
whole armies had been destroyed. Now, however, the 
Bloody Plains were mostly peaceful grasslands, and, as 
our journey took us north to find the entrance to 
Minoc, we were able to relax a little for the first time. 

The entrance to Minoc was as I remembered, 
nestled within a ring of mountains . The peaks 
surrounding Minoc were majestic, but their shadow 
cast a gloom upon the town. Strange, twisted trees 
and shrubs grew in the Minoc valley, and the winds 
swirled around us, causing dust storms and buffeting 
us about. We were glad to reach the city gates and all 
looked forward to some respite from the journey. 

Our fate was to be otherwise, however. As we 
neared the city, we sensed the foul emanations of a 
Shadowlord. If we were to obtain any rest, it would 
have to be in the open. We would not set foot in the 
city until the embodiment of evil had gone. 

So we rested through the day , recovering our 
strength, and scoured the countryside for monsters 
during the evening. Finally, after midnight, we entered 
the city and reconnoitered a bit. We would be busy 
come daylight. 

While we waited for the city to awaken, Shamino 
told me one of the reasons he was drawn to Minoc. 

" 'Tis a place of great spirit. In particular, 'tis good 
to hunt the evil creatures that live about here . Even if 
thou art wounded or poisoned, the local Healer will 

cure thee without charge! Thou who hast the magk 
may not appreciate that, but I have none, and such a 
Healer is like wine to a parched throat. " 

It was still early in the morning, before six by 111\ 

watch, that we encountered the unfortunate Fenelor 
and his daughter, Rew. Fenelon told us of his servitu:li 
to one Captain Blythe, whom he described as "a rea 
nasty soul." But it was Rew who turned out to be wist 
beyond her years. Gwenno went to talk with her ill 

she ate her meager breakfast. 
"Tell me about your J}ob , Rew," Gwenno inquired 
"I sew sails ," the little girl answered , a 

seriousness. 
"Do you like sewing ~nils?" Gwenno persisted. 
"It's very hard work," the girl answered, still llel' 

serious. 
Gwenno continued to talk with the girl , askiD; 

about the long Hours and the seven-day ;nieeh Reoi 
had to put in, while I put two and two together an: 
got the Great Council. I remembered suddenly wh< 
Annon had said about a sailmaker's mother. But 11'1 

girl was singing a little song, so I didn't interrupt. 

" The raven sees 
Thy raven saw 
And in the com 
He sayeth 'Caw' " 

The song meant nothing to me, but Gwenno ~ 
more perceptive. "<!! ~;ll? " she asked. 

The girl smiled for the first time and said 
believed it to be a Mantra. Then the two talked 
;illlislrins ;!!Neils and ;ifarses but I didn't listen. l thinli 
was just childhood fantasy, though I filed away 

If you throw a coin in a well and wish for 
horse when you come to a new town, th 
is a small chance that the wish will 
granted. 

thought that I might try dropping a coin in some 
and wishing for ~orses . Who knows? Maybe I'd. 
lucky! On a more practical note, I realized that 
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~ the Mantra of Sacrifice. In fact, I remembered 
dial I had once known it. 

What about your Jillotl1rr ?" I asked the girl. 
This elicited the second smile of the day . "Her 

name is Fiona. She works at the poorhouse." 

We left the child to her breakfast then and went in 
search of Fiona. We soon found her on the way to the 
poorhouse. She was clearly a woman of some power. 
I could see something of the mage in her, though she 
~-as dressed in simple homespun rags and carried no 
amulets or other implements of the trade. Still, she 
~a a pleasant woman who spoke freely and 
enthusiastically of her work at the mission. She also 
~ished that Lord British would return, and we knew 
!or sure she was one of us. She even gave us some 
lood. though 1 was reluctant to take it. 

Finally, the conversation took a more meaningful 
urn as I asked about the Great <ILouncil. She 
immediately clammed up, claiming to know nothing, 
Wt I whispered the Resistance password, JD,A)ml,N, to 
~.and she gave me a knowing look. 

·Tuen yes, l did once serve on the Great Council! 
Thou must be the Avatar of Legends past! What 
knooiedge dost thou seek from me?" 

Once again, I wished I didn 't have to ask, but it 
seemed important, so I answered with a question of 
my own. "Do you know a _mori'.l of :j}loCucr?" 

"The Word of Power to open the dungeon of 
CoYetous is 'AVIOUS.' " Her grave expression told me 
!hat the interview was probably over, so we wished her 
..-ell and watched as she headed for the poorhouse. 

We looked around for a few hours, stopping to eat 
a mall breakfast and talking among ourselves. I 
ooticed that Iola and Gwenno, normally inseparable, 
were seated some distance apart, but gave it no 
lhought. Around ten in the morning, we came upon a 
beggar kneeling by a tree near the Healer's. I knew 
that Minoc was the city of Sacrifice, but this man 
seemed to have given up a great deal. His eyes were 
li.1ck hollows, and I could see that his rags hung on 
him as if they had originally clothed a much larger 
frame. ln all, I felt pity for him and approached him. 
For a second I thought Shamino was going to stop 
me. but then he seemed to change his mind. 

The man asked a few coins of me, which I freely 
gave. I felt better for the giving. He also promised that 
I should find him a worthy investment, and I thought 
about that statement as I walked away from him. Was 
he looking for a job or planning on going public? 

We visited the Darkwatch Armory and spoke with 
Tactus and the proprietor , Shenstone, but did not 
purchase anything. I found Tactus to be somewhat of 
a boor. His support of Blackthorn made me wary. 
While I was dealing with the proprietor, however, Jolo 
spoke with Tactus at greater length , learning 
something about a judge named ,Dryi'.l"n who was part 
of something called the ®ppression . Dryden was in 
Yew, but I had no desire to see him. He sounded, well 
. .. oppressive. 

As we left the armory, I thought again about what 
the beggar had intimated. Perhaps he knew something. 
1 returned to him, and, once again, he begged some 
coins of me. I gave them and waited. He came forth 
with some information about Shenstone that intrigued 
me , and I gave him a few more coins for his 
cooperation. He led me to believe that Shenstone was 
up to something and that I should watch him around 
noon. It was now nearly eleven, so we had only an hour 
to wait. We resolved to stake out the Darkwatch 
Armory and see what Master Shenstone was up to. 

Our wait was very short. Within a few minutes, we 
saw Shenstone emerge from the doorway to the 
armory and look around furtively. We managed to 
look nonchalant, and he paid us no notice. Carefully 
we followed him as he crossed the square and headed 
to the northeast corner of town. As we watched, 
crowded close to a wall so he wouldn 't notice us, he 
dug a shallow hole at the base of a tree and left 
something there. 

We backed around the corner of the building as he 
retraced his steps, still acting all wound up tight and 
nervous. We didn 't want to arouse his suspicions so 
we pretended to be deep in conversation. Once he 
was safely out of sight, we hurried to the spot and 
searched the area . lolo dug up five keys with skull 
markings on them. I was mystified. They looked like 
no keys I had ever seen before, but lolo and Shamino 
nodded to each other as if these keys had some 
special significance. 
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As soon as we had moved away from the tree , I 
rounded on them and demanded, "O.K. What's the big 
secret? You two are up to something, so out with it! " 

Surprisingly, it was neither Shamino nor Iolo who 
answered , but Gwenno, and she looked distressed. 
"Avatar," she began . I nodded, indicating that she 
should go on. "These two have cooked up a scheme 
that I don't like. Not one little bit. " Again I nodded, 
encouraging her to continue, but Iolo laughed and 
interrupted. 

" 'Tis no harebrained scheme as my dear Gwenno 
would have thee believe. But first , let me ask thee a 
question." 

"Go ahead ," I replied , though I was growing 
more confused by the moment. I had derived so 
much comfort from my loyal friends that this discord 
did much to undermine my sense of security. I was 
pretty sure I wouldn 't like what I was going to hear. 

"Tell me, Avatar. What is more important, the well 
being of the entire land and of its rightful king, or 
arguing needlessly over petty points of honor?" 

On the surface, it seemed easy enough to answer. 
Certainly the welfare of Britannia and the King were 
the reason for our Quest. But, on the other hand, Iola 
and the others had not completed the Avatar's Quest 
as I had. What might appear to be a petty point of 
honor could be the door leading to a world of self­
justification and expediency. Saying the end justified 
the means had been a tradition most often leading to 
disaster and moral degradation. But perhaps I judged 
too quickly. 

"What are you talking about?" I asked cautiously. 
"Would you agree, my friend , that we lack enough 

gold and weapons to attempt the King's rescue at this 
time?" he countered. 

"Doubtless," I replied, waiting for him to continue. 
"There may be a way for us to secure that whith 

we now lack, and, I believe, at no cost to our Virtue. " 
I didn't like this much, but felt compelled to hear 

the rest. "I'm listening." 
" 'Tis the King 's own Treasury of which we 

speak. We feel sure the King would approve, though 
there are those among us who see things 
differently ." He looked pointedly at Gwenno, who 
huffed and looked away. "And these Skull Keys here 

are the literal key to the problem," he continued 
'Thou mayest not know't, Avatar, but these keys wi~ 
open the Treasury." 

Gwenno started to object , but I forestalled her 
outburst with an upraised hand. They were looking to 
me for leadership-that was clear-and I was going to 
try to play Solomon in this dispute. 

"O.K. , I get the idea. It's the King 's own Treasury. 
and he would want us to help him. But I'm uneasy 
about it. Still, I agree that we could save His Majes~ 

far more quickly if we had a little help. Lord Briti$ 
has offered me his aid many times before, and has 
even appeared to us in visions recently ." I realized 
suddenly that I had made up my mind . I was sti 
uneasy about it, though. "I will try it, but we must ~ 
aware that it could hurt our Virtue if the King has 
placed a magic spell or glamour over the Treasury." 

"What of it?" asked Shamino heatedly. "Dost Iha. 
not see that even the sacrifice of thy Virtue in th€ 
name of the better good is a worthy act? Besides 
Avatar, 'tis a certainty that thou wilt recover an~ 
lost by thy good acts in the future. " 

I was not completely convinced, but, standing hen 
in Minoc, the city of Sacrifice , his argument Wi! 

persuasive. What was Virtue that I could own it a 
place it above the well being of an entire nation? U 
the other hand what was the Avatar without Virtue 
Would I not sink to the level of Blackthorn and It 
terrible "ethics," as he called them? I had no~ 
and by my indecision was I damned. 

We stayed a few days more, each day watching di 
furtive movements of Shenstone , and each ~ 
collecting five more keys . We never found 
person for whom he buried them, but I was sure 
purpose of the keys was not for good. I could 
that strongly. 

Shamino was all in favor of camping ou 
the city while we waited, but I had a feeling that 
presence might keep the Shadowlords awa1 
couldn't prove it, but it seemed safer to sleep in 
city. There was usually a free bed to use . 

Once we had a good collection of keys, u:e 
agreed, even Gwenno, that it was best if we visited 
Treasury as soon as possible . Gwenno was 
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enthusiastic, but I think she had accepted my 
µlgment. Besides, I had noticed lolo turning his not 
n::onsiderable charm on her, and it was obvious that 
;he couldn't resist him for long. 

fntry a-eastle 
Hritannia-w The Treasury! 
e left Minoc in the early 
afternoon and arrived at Castle 

- Britannia in the dead of night. 
The Magic Carpet had taken 

quickly over all obstacles and no monsters had been 
able to surprise us on the way. When we arrived at 
Wslle Britannia, we headed directly for the basement. 

I allowed Shamino to open the door with a Skull 
Key. He seemed eager to begin, while I hung back, 
naving more second thoughts. Once inside, 
nowever, we found several chests and Iolo joined 
hamino as he examined them . There were 

weapons, scrolls, gems, gold, and much more. It 
was certainly the King's treasure! Iolo and Shamino 
l'egan taking what they could find , stacking up any 
ilemS they didn't need in other comers of the room. 
They even took some extra weapons to sell later, in 
ca..<.e we ran out of gold. 

I sat in a corner , unable to participate . Even 
:nough the logic of their argument had reached me, I 
:ould feel something being sucked out of me as they 
·ook the items. Perhaps they weren 't sensitive to it. 

Not even Gwenno and Jaana seemed as bothered by 
it as I was. I kept telling myself I was just a wimp after 
all . There was no reason to feel all this guilt! But 
somehow I knew there was a price to be paid for this 
action. I could feel the wrongness despite my belief 
that we did it for a good cause. I recalled Shamino's 
words. Was I, then, sacrificing my Honor for a better 
cause? It was certainly unclear, and I vowed to redeem 
myself as soon as I could. 

Finally, the deed was done. No guards showed up; 
they generally avoided the basement, and we were 
gone without having raised any alarm. As we reached 
the first floor , however, Jaana exclaimed that she 
could not find her special dagger. It had been her 
father's and she could not bear losing it. 

"I must have laid it down inside the Treasury. We 
must return for it. " 

Fortunately, we had plenty of Skull Keys left, so we 
climbed back down the ladder and once again stood 
before the door, which had magically reset its lock. 
This time I opened the door and Jaana went in alone. 
Her low whistle a moment later caught all our 
attention. 

"What is it , Jaana?" I asked quickly. 
"It's all back," she exclaimed. 'The treasure. It has 

been magically replenished! " 
We all piled into the room then and sure enough, 

she was right. The room was full of new treasure. And 
this treasure was of even greater quality than before. 

Shamino looked briefly at me, then started sifting 
through the treasure again. I sighed. Each time they 
opened a new chest, I felt something go out of me, 
but there was no stopping them now. Even as he 
worked, Shamino was stating his justification. 

"It seemeth the King hath magical resources we 
never dreamed of. We can work no hardship on a 
Treasury that can so replenish itself. Come, Avatar, 
cheer up! We will have the King safe again before 
thou knowest! " 

I groaned, but refrained from telling him the price I 
was paying. 

Things got worse still , and I'm sure I have only 
myself to blame. I should have said something, but 
once it was discovered that the room would magically 
recharge its treasures , and that even greater, more 
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powerful items would appear , Iolo and Shamino 
seemed to go a little mad. We made many trips back 
and forth . I should have said something , but was 
feeling too sick to do more than register feeble 
protests. I honestly don't think they understood what 
was happening until it was too late. By the time they 
had finished , we had enough money and weapons to 
support an army, but I felt as if I had no honor left at 
all. I was like a ghost. 

I remember an argument that Shamino and Iolo 
had as they were skeining the treasure for the very 
best weapons and armor. 1 had listened in a dull state, 
without interest. I only recount it now because it is one 
of the few incidents I can remember from that time. 
Iolo had started it by saying, "Give me a Magic Axe and 
a silver sword, and I shall be prepared for any foe! " 

But Shamino had a different view. "Nay, good 
lolo. Thou art mistaken. The Magic Axe, aye 'tis the 
very best weapon. But thou shouldst carry a shield to 
protect thyself. A spiked shield will even damage thine 
enemies. " 

"My enemies are cut down all the faster by my 
double attack, good friend ," boasted lolo. "Whilst thou 
hidest behind thy shield ," he added, stacking a shield 
with various daggers, slings, and other small items and 
tossing it into the growing pile in the comer. 

"As thou wilt " muttered Shamino as he hefted a 
great two-handed sword thoughtfully . They both 
returned to their inspection of the loot, and the matter 
was forgotten . 

As we began to leave following our final trip (we 
had nearly run out of Skull Keys), I tripped and nearly 
fell. Iolo caught me and Shamino helped him. They 
set me down gently on a nearby bench and asked if 1 
was all right. Jaana came to me with her herbs, ready 
to heal, but I waved her off sadly. 

"It's nothing of the flesh , my friends , but I'm afraid 
the King's Treasury has taken its toll on me. I'll be all 
right in time. Just give me a moment to breathe. " 

Shamino knelt before me and took my hands in 
his. The expression on his face would have made even 
Blackthorn weep. "Avatar. I fear we have done thee a 
great injustice, and I feel ashamed. We were caught in 
a net of our own weaving, perhaps a mite overzealous 
in our actions. Canst thou forgive us?" 

I smiled at him, as best I could. 1 felt as if 1 had been 
drinking for a week and the hangover had just caught up 
with me. But I knew I would live. "I think it's time for me 
to earn my Avatar's stripes all over again," I joked, but 
this only left Shamino looking bemused as well as upset. I 
patted his armored shoulder and did my best to retrieve 
my lost energy. I was partially successful. "What's 
done is done, friends ," I told them. "Now let's arm 
ourselves with Magic Axes and stout armor. We're on 
a Quest. Moping down here will do us no good at all 
I wished I felt as confident as I was trying to sound. 

The others murmured their agreement, but therr 
was still an air of uncertainty about my little party 
"What next, then? Where do we go?" asked Gwenno 
who had been silent throughout the whole TreaSUJ\ 
incident. 

"I feel I must complete my Shrine Quest as soon ii! 
possible. 1 sense that it will provide some of what 
have lost. " 

"Agreed! " shouted lolo , and his voice echoo: 
down the long hallways of the basement. We a: 
swiveled our heads looking for guards. None ca~ 
and we set off as quickly as possible before anytlliD; 
else happened. 

1 
Entry 9-fast 
llritmmy. Horth 
llritanny. and West 
llritanny: The ~hrin~ 
of the eodex 
t was time to get ourselves 
ship, because that was the a: 

way we could reach the Codex and complete ~ 

Shrine Quest . I walked along , choking back r 
nausea, gradually gaining control over the way 11 
By the time we had reached East Britanny, a h. 
village just east of the castle, I felt I probably would 
after all. In fact, it was not so much that I was r 
harmed by my experience in the Treasury, as thir 
had returned to my pre-Avatar state. In some way 
no longer felt the title Avatar was appropriate 
more. But once an Avatar. ... I needed to r 
myself, that was certain. 

East Britanny was a small village whose rr 
industry was The Oaken Oar, a shipwright's shop 
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Master Hawkins. There was also a Healer in town 
rd I briefly toyed with the idea of paying a visit there, 
J! decided against it. What ailed me would not 

il.XWllb to the Healer's touch. 
It was about half past ten in the morning when we 

mved, and we found two workers arriving at The 
~Oar-Sir Adam and his son, Squire Jimmy. Sir 
l(Jam was holding a small black box as if it contained 
lamily of serpents. We spoke with Sir Adam about 
ater travel , and he said something strange that 

:aught my attention. 
Look out, this might explode," he said. I think he 

· referring to the box. Not serpents, then. Maybe 
powder. 
I asked him what was going to 'l.ixplobe , and he 

s:arted talking about a fire on a ship. When 1 asked 
about the ~ltip , he mentioned an experiment and 

:iauned to have discovered a way to boost the speed 
aship. l wasn't sure I wanted to know much more if 
i11Ulved the mysterious and obviously unstable box. 
Squire Jimmy also gave us news. We were talking 

.oout Master ;lflnfukrm1. Jimmy was trying to impress 
I think. He was proud of his job, and of his master. 

Hawkins," he stated, "is a third-generation master 
~Jj)Wright. " 

A .S~ipfurigl)i? " asked Jaana , to encourage him. 
His grandfather designed the HMS Cape, fastest 

i1p that ever sailed. Now Master Hawkins and his 
i!l\anls ply the family trade." 

I wasn't expecting much from this conversation, so 
was beginning to tune it out and think about other 

matters when I heard something that caught my 
merest. Jaana had just asked, "What was that about 
::ie lUR,S Olape?" 

And Jimmy answered, "Master Hawkins misplaced 
::ie plans for 'er long ago and nothing since has been 

fast. Still, we try many new ideas. " 
I was thinking about these plans. I remembered the 

SfECial ship's wheel I had used before. Perhaps these 
l)lallS could be of some help to us. 1 barely heard Jimmy 
i1J!!€S! that we talk to his father about his new ideas. I 
a)already wondering if we could find those plans. 
I went to talk with Master Hawkins, but he seemed 

~terested only in selling ships. We did need a ship, so 
1 paid his rather stiff price for a Frigate, and he 

added a Skiff for another small fortune. But he would 
not talk about anything else . I noticed a double 
doorway at the eastern end of the building, near a 
table and some chairs. We made our way in that 
direction and when nobody was looking, we jimmied 
the lock on one door and entered a storeroom. A 
thorough examination of the premises revealed several 
scrolls. The old man had them all mixed up, which is 
why he couldn 't find anything, but we found the HMS 
Cape plans among them, in the third chest of drawers 
from the left. 

I took the plans and tried to talk to Hawkins about 
them, but he wouldn't even look at them. I don't know 
if he was trying to tell me he wasn't interested in them 
any more, or if he was just pig-headed. At any rate, I 
was certain it would be all right to borrow the plans, 
so we tucked them into our packs and headed for the 
docks, where we would find our Frigate waiting. 

On our way to the wharf, we passed through two 
other small villages , North Britanny and West 
Britanny. North Britanny turned out to be a hotbed of 
Resistance fighters . Whenever we mentioned the 
Resistance or said the password, DAWN, we were 
treated to useful information. For instance, we learned 
about Shadowlords and their vulnerabilities . They 
could be struck down , but not killed by ordinary 
means. Joshua instructed us to meet with a man called 
Sutek, who lived on a remote island somewhere in the 
Great Sea. 

Leof told us about Sir Sean, who could be found at 
the Lycaeum on Dagger Isle. We were supposed to 
ask him about Stonegate. 

As much as we felt at home in North Britanny, we 
found little to hold us long in its western neighbor, not 
surprisingly called West Britanny. There were a few 
friendly sorts there, especially Christopher and his 
friend Philip, and Kurt the stable boy told us all about 
his favorite horse breeds . There was no use ful 
information, though. 

We continued on , past the town of Britain, and 
found our Frigate waiting on the dock to the west. 
The dockmaster handed it over to us without delay 
and we boarded the ship. 

All of us had previous experience on the high seas, 
so we set to work instantly. First we rowed away from 
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shore so our large craft wouldn't run aground. Then I 
used the HMS Cape plans to mcxlify our rigging and 
give us extra speed. I was still feeling pretty bad, but 
being back on the sea invigorated me and I finally 
yelled , "Hoist the sails! " and we quickly ran up the 
sheets. 

I watched the wind puff out the sails and listened to 
the creaks and snaps of the rigging as the great ship 
began to gather speed. Soon we were headed east at 
a rapid pace. Jaana sang the same bawdy sea chanty I 
remembered from our last adventure, but this time I 
didn't find it so shocking. 

As we sailed past the Britannian coast, Iolo and 
Gwenno retired belowdecks and Shamino stocxl at the 
helm . Jaana and I found ourselves talking at the 
starboard rail. 

"Art thou well, Avatar? Is there aught I can do for 
thee?" she asked. 

Sadly, I could think of nothing to ask of her, 
though in these quiet moments , I found myself 
thinking about her. Jaana had a far-away quality that I 
found most intriguing , but she also had a very 
immediate warmth about her. I had never considered 
more than comradely affection for her before. Well, I 
had considered it, but not too seriously. Now I found 
myself wondering what it would be like to get to know 
her better. Much better. In fact, I think I was thinking 
about kissing her when Shamino shouted , "Sea 
Serpent! " and all hell broke loose. 

The whole upper deck cracked from the blow and 
Jaana was nearly thrown overboard. I managed to 
catch her before she went over, but there was no time 
to deliberate. All of us took our battle stations while 
Shamino deftly steered the ship, which now seemed 
puny, close enough to the giant monster for us to use 
our weapons. If we had tried to outrun the beast, it 
might have destroyed the ship before we had a chance 
to get away. Nor could we bring the cannons to bear 
because the time it would take to swing the ship 
around might allow the great monster to blast us again. 
At close quarters, though, we knew our newly acquired 
Magic Axes and Bows would help us destroy it. 

The battle was quick, but not without its cost. 
Several of us were injured by the great balls of fire the 
creature spat out at us , and the ship took some 

damage. But we prevailed. The sea serpent finally 
slipped beneath the waves and was seen no more. We 
set sail again. 

I looked for Jaana, but she had gone below to tend to 
the wounded. I was almost untouched, so I helped at the 
helm until we reached the coast above Dagger Isle. There 
were no more attacks, but it was dark now, and we were 
concerned that more attacks might come at any time. 

"We head north from Dagger Isle to find the islan: 
of the Ccxlex, " announced Sharnino. "Shall we seel 
the Ccxlex now, Avatar, or visit the Lycaeum first?" 

"The Codex. Please. " I needed to complete th! 
Shrine Quest as soon as I could. 

So we headed north. We endured several atoo 
by roving bands of sharks and poisonous giant squil 
but we were able to beat them off without talu 
much further damage. We blasted some of them 
of the water with a gocxl broadside from the caruxn 
but others were able to get too close for the camn 
and we fought them hand to tentacle, 
tooth, whatever they attacked us with. 

We found the island that housed the C 
without much trouble. At the southern tip was a 
that started at the mouth of a small river. Taking 
path led us to the Shrine of the Codex. Two 
living stone guardians blocked the path. They 
much as the bard had described them back in B 
but I had no time for awe. Later, upon reflectkt 
realized what unlikely behemoths they were. I 
never believed anything living could be so huge. 
they certainly appeared to be fashioned from 
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not flesh . At the time, though, the only fact I found 
important was that they let me pass . Like some 
oversized Michelangelo ' s masterpieces of white 
marble , they stood as still as the statues they 
resembled- until we tried to pass. Then they spoke, 
and their voices echoed through the canyon where the 
shrine lay. They hailed me as a Seeker and let me 
pass while the others waited behind. Only those on a 
Shrine Quest were allowed beyond the Guardians. 

The walls of the shrine reverberated with a low 
steady beating. It was something between a kettled~ 
a nd a human heart. The air was hot and nearly 
stifling , but the walls and huge stone columns were 
solid white . No adornments or other embellishments 
marred the stark purity of the shine. In the middle of 
the room stood the Codex itself, open on a simple 
dais made of marble . I found myself idly wondering if 
the dais was alive too. 

C\X 
ShpMit\O StG 
Io lo S"IG 
Gwet\t\O 83G 
:Janna "l"IG 

I felt unworthy as I walked toward the book. 
though I knew I was here on a just and vital mission 
The Voice of the Codex , however , passed no 
judgment of me, but congratulated me on completing 
the first Shrine Quest. The book itself was open to the 
page I was required to read. It told me, "Those who 
inflict injustice upon others cannot expect fa ir 
treatment unto themselves." Then the encounter was 
over and I returned to my friends . If anything else 
occurred, I wasn't aware of it. 

"I need to return to the Shrine of Justice " I tali 
them. Nobody spoke. The place was truly a~esome 
and some of the aura of the Codex escaped even th! 
confines of the shrine. On the Magic Carpet, we fle11 

silently away from the two Guardians and onto the 
waiting ship. I was thinking about the words of th! 
Codex, fixing them in my mind , delving into th! 
meaning of justice and injustice. Meanwhile, we se: 

sail , heading southwest. The Shrine of Justice wott 
be easy to find , though the journey would be long. 

t:ntry 10- Tite ~brine 

11 of Ju:;lice: l!Tinoc: 
~brine of ~ucrilice 
(~brine ~ue~t) 
t has been a long time since 
last sat down to write in w 
journal. I was ravaged by few 

on the return trip to the Shrine of Justice, and I thl'. 
only Jaana's patient ministrations prevented me fw 
slipping into a permanent delirium. But during it al 

never voiced my feelings for her. In truth , I did: 
know what my feelings were. All my companions 
become like my own family, and I would have laid 
life down for them without hesitation. It's true.~ 
can't say that truthfully in the world I came from. 
in this wild world, with death stalking us at every 
I had already risked my own skin for them m~ 
times. And they had done the same for me even 
often. 

My return to the Shrine of Justice did muc~ 

revive my spirits, though I knew my redemption 
still far off. I felt more virtuous and also sharper 
mind and body after completing the Shrine Quest 

n 
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We sailed back to Minoc and camped out under 
stars before entering the city. We all needed some 

est at this point. As before, our slumber was 
11errupted by the appearance of Lord British's 
soecter. Jaana was rewarded for her service by being 

'liled to the next level, but when the King turned to 
~. his expression was most concerned. My heart 
sank. I knew he'd seen my failings clearly. 

·Thy soul seeketh direction from thy heart, 
·sguided one," he began. "Accept now this new 

OlllCe to prove thy worth, 'ere thou loseth the Way 
:irever!" 

This was bad . When the apparition had 
:.1appeared, I was once again thrust into a black 
:rood, and my companions, though respectful of my 

!ings, avoided me the rest of the day. 
I had been confused for some time about "levels " 

·I approached Jaana and asked about them. 
·The levels of which the King speaketh are 

rtiations into higher qualities of thy essential being. 
>_,instance, at a higher level of attainment, a mage 
;.di as 1 would cast more powerful spells, and cast 
·•m better, too. A fighter would be stronger and 

"X>re telling with his blows. Only the King can grant 
;.di advancement. " 

Then, if we are trying to save his life, why doesn't 
iJSt advance us to the highest level now?" I asked. I 

immediately that I had said something rather 
"'J!Jid. I could tell from Jaana's patient smile. I could 
?e my third-grade teacher explaining the 
• .:ltiplication table to me for the tenth time. 

"Such attainments cannot be given out on a whim, 
Avatar . Thou, of all people , shouldst know that. 
Though the King has the power to advance, he can 
only do so if the recipient be worthy." 

"Worthy," I muttered, returning to my black mood. 
I wasn't sure I understood all of it, but I now had the 
basic concept more clearly in mind. I had eventually 
learned the multiplication tables, and in time I'd 
probably figure this out too. 

We entered Minoc in the morning and I went 
immediately to find the beggar. I gave perhaps more 
than was seemly to him. Though I may have overdone 
it, the poor man would have enough to begin a new 
life by the time I was through. Each time I gave him of 
my gold, I could feel my inner Avatar sense of Virtue 
increase. I was a little surprised, given the amount I 
handed over, that he remained a beggar. Perhaps he 
also needed some kind of career counseling, but that 
was beyond my abilities. He did seem to be of 
somewhat limited intelligence. He never remembered 
that he had already told me about Shenstone and his 
noontime habits, and kept repeating his offer to sell 
me that information. Still , I was patient with him. I 
knew that my charity was as much for me as it was for 
him. It was what back home we called a "win-win 
situation." My black mood lifted as I handed over coins 
to the ragged man. 

The trick of taking items from the King's 
Treasury costs the Avatar his Virtue (which 
can be read by pressing Ctrl-K on the 
keyboard). Some of the people you meet will 
not help you if your Virtue (or Karma) is 
below 50. Therefore, since you now have a 
lot of money, you can afford to be generous. 
Each time you give money to the beggar, you 
gain 1 Karma point. Each time you complete 
a Shrine Quest, you gain 3. Therefore, if you 
complete a few Shrine Quests and give to the 
beggar many times, you will regain enough 
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Karma to complete the Quest. You can 
choose to do this slowly or all at once. It's a 
good idea to do it as soon as possible, 
however, and we recommend that you give 
to the beggar until your Karma reaches at 
least 44 points. Following the story line in 
this book, you'll complete two Shrine 
Quests, which will bring your Karma to 50. 
Freeing the prisoners in Yew (the ones in the 
stocks) also increases your Karma. You could 
choose to do that after visiting the Treasury 
instead of before, as we did in this story. 
And there are prisoners in Blackthorn's 
castle. You can free them, but you can't 
afford to get caught. We chose to visit 
Blackthorn's Castle later in the game, but 
you may choose to do it sooner. As long as 
you have the Magic Carpet, you should be 
able to do so. Take plenty of keys, though. 

From Minoc we sailed east until we had reached 
the area of the northern desert. It was just southeast of 
a great peninsula that jutted out into the deep ocean, 
pointing to the northeast. We left the ship anchored 
near the shore and rowed in on the skiff. Then we 
headed south on the Magic Carpet until we found the 
shrine in the middle of the barren wasteland of the 
desert. It was a short, unremarkable hike. Other than 
cactus, we saw nothing of interest, and we avoided the 
cactus. 

We made good time. We quickly found the Shrine 
of Sacrifice and I entered . It was in all visible ways 
identical to the Shrine of Justice , but I knew that 
Sacrifice was unique. I meditated on the Mantra CAH. 
The peace of the Shrine descended upon me. All too 
soon we were on our way back to the ship and the 
Shrine receded into the distance. Barely an hour had 
passed and I had a new Shrine Quest. 

The journey back to the Shrine of the Codex was 
not remarkable. We arrived soon after sundown. We 

had discovered that the most dangerous time to be 
sailing was after midnight and into the early morning 
But this trip was uneventful. Once again , the Codei 
was open to the page appropriate to my Quest. It said 
"None live alone, save they who will not share theJi 
fortune with those around them." I thought of tru 
beggar in Minoc and hoped he was no longer alone. 

We returned quickly to the Shrine of Sacrifice, !XI 
the journey was far worse than before. We had set 
in the early evening, but as the moons passed t1lf 

zenith , we were suddenly assailed by a seeming 
endless stream of squids, seahorses, and sharks. The' 
Iolo spotted a pirate ship off our bow. We tried 
outrun her, but a few broadsides from her cann 
threatened to break our ship apart. Already our 
was far less seaworthy than she had been. We lillm 
about and closed the distance between us. I was gol!l 
to order Shamino to fire our own cannons, but 
advised against it. 

"Nay, Avatar. Our own vessel is near ruined, 
we must fight these scurvy seadogs, mayhap we 
find their ship of use once we have taught ther 
lesson." 

Soon we were close against their starboard ra: 
they were within our magical weapons' range. · 
pirates refused to yield and we were forced to 
them to the sharks. I would rather have struck a 
with them, but they were obdurate. Their ship 
better shape than ours, so, once we had dealt v.ir 
bodies, we boarded their vessel and left ours e 
fate . e 
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We reached the desert a short time later and I 
't.Umed to the Shrine of Sacrifice to complete the 

JESt. Once again , I came away feeling refreshed, 
~onger and more agile than before. I could almost 
>T:ile now, and my friends noticed that my mood had 
nproved. 

"Where to, now?" asked Gwenno, poking at Jolo 's 
m playfully with a sharp dagger. I pretended not to 
Jtlce, though Joto made a great show of being 
oonded until I, along with all the others, laughed 
m~. It felt good. I realized that this was the first 
:me I had laughed in a long time. 

·1 think I'd like to complete at least one more 
nrine Quest. We have learned the Mantra of 

'ornpassion. Let's sail to that shrine. Does anyone 
Qlll\ll where it is? I seem to have forgotten ." 

Of course, Iolo knew. He was from Britain, the city 
•Compassion, and had been there often. 

'TIS south of here, as the crow flies, but we'll have 
· sail around to the east, then back west again ." 

"Couldn't we sail north from here and still reach 
oor goal?" asked Gwenno. 

"A'fe, we could. But 'tis a fearful long journey over 
the open ocean," replied Iolo. 

In the end, we decided to sail east, then south 
around Dagger Isle . Jaana suggested we stop at the 
[\taeum and visit Moonglow on the way, but I wasn't 
l9iy yet to visit the city of Honesty or the revered 
1!1Xl5itory of Britannian learning. Despite my good deeds 
nl my Quests, 1 was still not feeling worthy enough for 
ht Compassion was more to my liking just then. 

We had little difficulty as we sailed around Dagger 
and then turned west to hug the main coastline 

ni find the Shrine of Compassion. But it was a long 
and none of us relished sailing at night, particularly 

~er midnight. So as the moons shone overhead, we 
to shore and rested. That's when a singular event 

my adventure occurred. 
We had already seen the apparition of Lord British 
ml times, but the last time had left me shaken. He 

seemed to appear when we were under the open 
1 This time, I slept eight full hours and awakened to 

!.'€ the now-familiar shape above the campfire. I was 
maid he would chew me out again, or cast me out 

tirely, but his healing touch was more than I had 

ever expected. It was like an explosion of light and 
sound and I could feel myself changing within . It's 
almost impossible to describe. Through it all I heard 
his voice, as if from a great distance . 

"For thy valiant deeds, I shall reward thee! Thou 
art now Level 3, and wiser! Well armed art thou to 
fight Death 's embrace , 0 enlightened one! Thy 
destiny awaits thee!' 

I was feeling pretty good as we headed back out to 
sea that morning. I was once again an Avatar in good 
standing. I was so happy, in fact , that I failed to read 
the weather. My companions seemed likewise to 
ignore the signs until, suddenly, we found ourselves in 
a gale. We had drifted some distance from the shore 
and soon the boat was being blown completely off 
course. We watched the Britannian shore grow more 
and more distant, and were helpless to do anything 
about it. 

The storm mentioned here is not a part of 
the Ultima adventure, but is used for story 
purposes only. 

When the storm finally released us, we were none 
the worse for it, all of us having good sea legs but 
neither did we have any clue where we were . 
Everywhere we looked, there was ocean . We had 
been blown far to the south- of that we were sure­
so we were about to tum north when Gwenno, who 
had climbed the mast to look around , called down, 
"Land ho! " 

We all looked up to see her pointing east. With a 
shrug , I wheeled the helm around until we were 
headed in that direction. 

Within a couple of hours, we had docked at a small 
pier on an island. It looked familiar, but it was Joto 
who breathed "Buccaneer's Den" under his breath. 

"Should we check things out here?" I asked. 
The others smiled . They thought my language 

quaint. They had no idea what I thought of theirs. But 
they all nodded agreement. We might as well find out 
what was going on in the pirate's lair. I guessed they 
would have no love for Blackthorn and his rules here. 
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T 
~ntrv 11-
nuccmieer's Den 
he Buccaneer ' s Den was 
nothing more than a small 
settlement surrounded by a low 
wall. The place would not have 
stood long under a determined 

51¥· But for a small band of adventurers the place 
:ad its dangers, and its rewards . The Fallen Virgin 
served a fine rum and wild boar, though its main fare 
as information. One could learn plenty from these 

pirates and adventurers , if one knew the right 
~ons to ask. They were a boastful lot, and more 
than ready to spill an earful of gossip after hoisting a 
'ell ales. 

We arrived early in the day and went directly to the 
Fallen Virgin, where I was delighted to encounter my 
ill friend Geoffrey, a powerful fighter , even stronger 
than Shamino. When he offered to join us, I accepted 
~ith pleasure. 

Sven, a glassblower turned pirate, reminisced with 
about his earlier days, and I thought to ask if he had 

Mr created the @!nu ~foorbs we had heard about. 
He told us that he had never succeeded, but had heard 
there might be one lost in the mountains of the 
Serpent's Spine. He also mentioned an airship, but 
mew nothing about it. 

Somebody must have set an alarm clock at the 
ixal inn because at just about 9:15 a.m., four of the 
lxal citizens emerged from wherever they had stayed 
:he night. As they headed for the Fallen Virgin, I took 
!he opportunity to ask them some questions. From a 
bard named Scally I learned about a pirate , David, 
~ho had been an inventor. He had invented a Sextant 
o aid in navigation. Scally didn 't know where I could 
nd David, but thought he might be running a 

lqithouse somewhere. 
Lord Dalgrin and the saucy wench Tierra had little 

·o add, but Bidney was a character. A real drinker , he 
~-as. I followed him into the tavern and he proceeded to 
gel soused . I nursed a bottle of rum that I had 
purchased to keep him company, though I hardly 
expected to drink much of it before ten in the morning! 
tArrconversation was a bit surreal , but I recount it here 
~use it was both amusing and informative. 

"So what's your Jjob , Sidney?" I asked. 
He picked up his glass and drained it in one long 

satisfying gulp, signaling almost simultaneously for the 
barkeep to refill it. "Ahh. That's it. I loves to drink! " 

"What's your ~dn!t?" I inquired, just to keep the 
conversation moving. 

Already his voice was beginning to thicken and his 
eyes seemed to lose their focus . I had the impression 
that he peered through me at some spot on the wall. 
' Rum, that's me favorite! " He hiccupped and excused 
himself under his breath, which by now was getting 
powerful enough to scorch my eyebrows. 

"~?" 

"Yo ho ho! " he chanted. 
"1,\!o 110 110! " I repeated, falling into an inane state of 

mind. I was beginning to wonder if I could get drunk 
just listening to this man. 

"And a bottle of rum! " he continued. 
"A ;Jiloflle," I murmured. 
"Of rum! " he answered. "Ey, got any?" 
"1,\!es," I answered. 
I was already shoving over my practically untasted 

bottle as he asked , "Might I have a li 'l taste?" 
I nodded and said, "Ues ." He was already drinking 

it by then. 
"Didst ye ask me 'bout mountain climb'n?" 
I hadn 't , but it sounded like a good change of 

subject from rum and drinking. "lies ," I said. 
"I used to be a mountain climber ... Gave it up .. 

. Too dangerous . . . So I became a pirate! " I could 
imagine Sidney hanging off a cliff, clutching a bottle 
of rum. Giving it up was probably a wise decision. 

I asked him about being a mountain climber then 
and he answered , "Grapple of Rum." Even though it 
made no sense, nothing he had said so far had been 
much use. I decided to ask him about being a lflirn:L!. 

"Gave me Grapple to a man named Lord Michael 
. . . Lived o 'er at the Empatical Abbeyneyney ... " 

That was about all I could get out of Sidney. He 
passed out then and I left him with what remained of 
his precious bottle. The Grapple he had given Lord 
Michael sounded more useful . 

I could see no point in staying long here. I wanted 
to be on my way. Iolo figured it wouldn't take too long 
to reach the Shrine of Compassion if we started early, 
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and I didn't want to stay in the Buccaneer's Den any 
longer than I had to . On the way out of town, we 
stopped at the Guild of the Broken Lock and bought 
some Gems. We had no easy time getting in. The 
place was a fortress! First there was an ordinary door, 
then a locked door, then a magically locked door. 
Fortunately, we still had Skull Keys and were able to 
get past them all. They also sold keys and torches at 
the Broken Lock, but we had plenty. We also had 
Gems, but figured we could use some more. 

f:ntry 12-t>hrine 
of eompz11s1>ion: 
Lycaeum 
e sailed almost due north until 
we reached land, then veered 
west until we reached the great 
river east of Britain. We sailed 

up the river a short distance Iola guiding us, then 
moored the ship and continued by Magic Carpet. We 
flew north and around a small range of mountains, 
making good time, then veered east until we 
encountered a small stream. If we hadn't been on the 
Magic Carpet , we would have been poisoned by 
nearby swamps and would have needed the skiff to 
reach the Shrine of Compassion, just to the south. 

As usual , I entered alone meditating on the 
Mantra MU. When I rejoined my companions, I had a 
new Shrine Quest to complete. 

After my visitation from the King, I now felt more 
worthy, and so I acceded to Jaana 's request that we 
visit Dagger Isle on our way to the Shrine of the Codex. 

We sailed due east, seeing nothing but the waves 
and the shoreline (and even the shoreline eventually 
fell away). The route to Dagger Island was directly east 
of us and we made good speed with the HMS Cape 
rigging to augment the ship's sails. I silently thanked 
Master Hawkins of East Britanny for his kind, if 
unintentional, loan of the HMS Cape plans. 

We landed very near the Lycaeum. I was anxious 
to see the place again . I was sure it would be a haven 
of learning and peace in these troubled times, and I 
was not wrong. 

We had arrived late, and the gates had already 

closed for the night, but we rested under the stars and 
nothing bothered us. Jaana set a charm on our camp 
and stood watch. In the morning we walked within the 
walls of the Lycaeum and went in search of Lord 
Shalineth and Lady Janell, the rulers of the Keep of 
Truth, as the Lycaeum was known. 

We met them at breakfast in the downstairs dining 
room. I paid my respects to the Lady first. Lady Jane! 
was a stately woman who looked as if she had been 
born wise. Her dark eyes seemed to see things thal 
others would never even know existed, and her hair 
shone in the torchlight like molten gold. A ma!UJ'E 
woman now, I imagined momentarily that she might 
have looked somewhat like Jaana when she had beer 
younger. 

The Lady began by reminding me that she was 
Queen of the Magi of Britannia. I wondered for 1 

moment if she had read my mind and was putting l11f 

in my place, but there was only kindness in her voice 
I replied by mentioning the sad state of ~ritannin . He 
answering smile was full of hope and wisdom. 

"Evil times are before us, but the hearts of oc 
people shall persevere. " 

"These are evil '(!limes," I agreed. 
''Though the days grow darker, there are man 

who still seek the light of Truth. " I could see tho 
nothing would shake her faith . 

"Ahhh. The 'lllrutl1 . . . " I began. 
She interrupted me. "I know of two sisters, ascetil 

of a temple of Virtue, who know of the evil artift 
which most opposes Truth! " 

"Something that ©ppose11 Truth?" I asked. I! 
foolish . Her eyes bored through me and she sal 

unmoving concentration as if willing me to get 
information from her. I tried to match h 
concentration, but even as I listened to her wo!C! 
was realizing, not for the first time, that becoming 
Avatar hadn ' t necessarily made me a g11 

1 conversationalist. 
"Seek out the twin sisters in the hidden ci~ 

Cove, and ask them of the Shard of Falsehood!" 
told me. I nodded to indicate my comprehensior 
the task . The Shard of Falsehood sounded like a~ 
item, though . Then she was peering even deeper 
my soul. "Dost thou meditate at the shrines?" 
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·ll••. of course." It was nice to have an answer I 
sure of. 

She looked pleased, and I felt as if I had just passed 
r:i~ algebra test when I was fourteen. "Dost though 
;eek the Shrine of Spirituality?" 

·u,.," I said. 
"Enter one of the mystic Moongates when both 

ll'OOns are full , then shalt thou find the shrine! " 
I was about to make one further attempt to say 

something coherent when her husband motioned me 
~r I made my apologies to the Lady and moved closer 

·o Lord Shalineth. He began without much preamble. 
'I am the Lord of the Keep of Truth!" 
I knew that already, but I would have been content 

10 have him tell me anything he wanted as often as he 
\11Shed. His voice carried an authority and a sense of 
nghtness like none other . His grey hair contrasted 
i.ith youthful, energetic eyes that seemed to see into 

soul in a masculine way, direct and forthright. The 
Lady's soul peering had been feminine and full of 

tery. Anyway, it's hard to explain here on paper. 
You had to be there. One thing I knew. I had been 
right not to come here until I had redeemed myself. 
Otherwise, I would not have borne his gaze for long. 

Talking about 'Cl!rut11 had been fruitful with the 
Lady, so I asked Lord Shalineth about Truth as well. 

·we use the precepts of Truth to strengthen our 
magic." 

"1l!agic?" I asked. 
·11 is Truth that lends our arts the power to 

owrcome all Evil , if we but trust it. " 
That sounded encouraging , but not foolproof. 

What about Evil?" 
He searched my face a moment, as if making a 

great decision , then continued as if nothing had 
happened . His tone , however, became almost 
conspiratorial. "A creature of great Evil must hide its 
llclllle, for it is at the mercy of one armed with such a 
sun pie truth. " 

This was getting very interesting. "It is at your 
.irrrv?" I inquired to encourage him to continue. 

'Through the exercise of great magic and scrying, 
I have gleaned the name of the Shadowlord of 
Falsehood. " Once again, the appraising look. "Dost 
110U swear not to use it foolishly?" he demanded. 

"ies. I swear," I answered before I could think 
about it. 

"The Name of this dread lord is FAULINEI. Speak 
it not, for only at thy bidding can he enter our 
hallowed Keep." 

I think that after telling me the name of the evil 
Shadowlord of Falsehood, Lord Shalineth considered 
our little audience over. I know I was reluctant to press 
the issue any further. What was I doing with some 
mystic evil creature's Name? It was an uncomfortable 
knowledge, despite the fact that it might one day help 
save Britannia. But was I up to the task? 

We took our leave of the Lord and Lady of the 
Keep and, with their permission, stayed awhile within 
the sacred halls of the Lycaeum , talking with the 
people we met there. We came upon an old friend , 
Mariah, who was still recovering from an encounter 
with the Shadowlords. She offered to join us, but I saw 
that she was not fully recovered . Besides , I had 
determined that our party should be no larger. A band 
of six adventurers was not so noticeable , but any 
larger and we might call too much attention to 
ourselves. Blackthorn and his minions would have 
been happy to get their hands on any of us. Better to 
keep our band small for now. 

The rest of the people we met were full of good 
advice, but had little practical knowledge . The one 
exception was Sir Sean, the Keeper of the Eternal 
Flame of Truth. He was on the third floor, guarding 
the sacred flame. We spoke for a few moments about 
the Shadowlords when lolo reminded me of the clue 
we had gotten from Loef in North Britanny. He had 
urged us to seek out Sir Sean and ask him about 
Stonegate. 

So I asked him, "What do you know about 
~tonegnte?" 

He gave me one of those looks. You know, the 
kind Lord Shalineth had given me. I was getting used 
to it by now. I just smiled. 

"Art thou afraid to journey into Evil 's abode?" 
You bet I was, but I figured that was where this 

whole adventure was going to take me eventually. 
Besides, afraid or not, I was willing to do whatever I 
had to. I was the Avatar, after all , and I was on a 
Quest. I knew it might sound a little silly to the part of 
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me I'd left behind at home, but here in Britannia, that 
was the way you found yourself thinking. So I said, 
"~o- " 

"Then sail first thy ship unto the southernmost part 
of Lost Hope Bay. Travel so far as thy skiff will take 
thee. Some speak of a special implement that can be 
used to cross the mountains. Find first this equipment. 
Then climb thy way through the mountains to the 
south. There thou shalt find the black keep Stonegate, 
guarded by Balinor, foulest of daemons! This is the 
earthly domain of the three Shadowlords from which 
few have returned." 

I asked him if he knew anyone who had returned. I 
didn't catch his reply. I found myself thinking . . .. It 
didn't sound like a vacation cruise to me. In fact, it 
sounded like a fool 's errand. But then , perhaps I 
was a fool. Look at me. Traipsing around in 
breeches and tunic with magic reagents in my 
pouch and a Magic Axe, ready for trouble. 

Maybe it was the proximity of the Flame of Truth, 
but one moment I was the brave Avatar, then next 
minute I saw myself for what I was-an outsider 
playing hero in a world he didn't really understand. It 
was all I could do not to sit down right there and give 
up the whole thing . How could I really hope to 
continue with this folly? What made me think this 
was even real? Everything was beginning to look 
two-dimensional. What was going on? Couldn 't I 
change the channel? 

"Art thou well?" I heard Jaana ask, and with a 
start, I watched her come into focus before my eyes. I 
was going to say something I would have regretted, 
but her pretty, sincere face stopped me. I looked over 
my companions. lolo and Gwenno, brave to a fault 
and loyal , too. Shamino, mysterious but steadfast. 
Geoffrey, a grizzly bear of a man with a heart that 
wouldn 't quit on you . . . ever. And Jaana. She was 
perhaps just beginning to become a great magic user. 
She was already a fine companion and , well , I 
obviously had a soft spot for her. How could I leave 
these great friends now, even if they were just 
illusions? 

Suddenly my moment of doubt had passed. I was 
once again the Avatar. I had no other reality to which 
I owed anything. I said, "Let's go," and led my little 

party of brave warriors down the ladders and out pas1 

the Lycaeum gates. I had reached a turning point 
And now there was no turning back. 

:Entry 13-HJoonglow: 
eodex: .hycaeum 
e took the short path down tc 
Moonglow after leaving th£ 
Lycaeum. Moonglow was th1 
city of Honesty, and I expectec 
to learn something more abet:. 

our Quest. Nor would I be disappointed. 
It was late when we entered the city and most · 

the citizens were sleeping. There was an observata-. 
in the center of the town, however, and we all filed L; 
to look out over the battlements. There we discovere: 
the stargazer , Zachariah , looking through h1· 
telescope. He wore a robe of blue silk covered 111 

comets and stars in pale yellow. He wore his broo 
hair long, tied in back with a small leather thong. 
around him were charts and what looked like a slKI 
of notebooks. I asked him about the ,Stars, and~ 
started talking about watching for signs among th 
planets. 

",Signs?" I asked. 
He gestured toward the heavens. "Comets ha; 

come! They are a sign of Evil! " His voice was fuJ; 
warning. 

"Really? Of ~&ii? " I had always thought co~ 
were just comets. You know, balls of gas and ice. 

The astronomer was becoming more agitated 
we spoke. Now, in addition to the gestures intendec 
punctuate his statements, his shoulders began to 
and his eyes grew wide. I was afraid he might 
having a mild epileptic seizure. But he continuec 
speak, so I tried not to be alarmed. "There are 
comets in the firmament. Likely each of th 
represents one of the Shadowlords. " 

Indeed. That made as much sense as anything 
in this world. But I wasn 't sure what differenc 
would make . So I asked how it related to· 
.ffeiltabofttlorbs. 

"It seems that when a comet aligns with a 
the city of that Virtue comes under attack! " He 
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horrified. Testimony to the fear the Shadowlords 
'a:! spread throughout the land. 

I hadn't even known the planets were aligned with 
Virtues in the way the cities were but it made 

:mse in a Britannian sort of way. I asked him about 
e Uirtues, but he only muttered , his agitation 

roomentarily turning to a caricature of despair. "If only 
tie Avatar would return." 

The }\bat11 r?" I said slowly. Something in my 
ue must have caught his attention. He studied me; 

lhing new, of course. Eventually most of the people 
r;iet ended up scrutinizing me. 

Art thou the Avatar of Legend?" he finally asked. 
"l.!••· " 
Indeed?" He looked just a bit skeptical , but 

!iJpeful. "What is the password of the Resistance?" I 
n·t sure what knowing the password had to do 

nil being the Avatar, but I told him. He replied, "I 
Ml'e news that may aid thee. There is a mage named 
Ci>eth that knows a newly discovered power of the 
Moongates. Seek him out in Jhelom. Beware, some 
say he has gone insane! " 

That was encouraging. Anyway, 1 asked Zachariah 
d I could look through his telescope, and he agreed. 
menough, there were three comets in the sky, and 
each was near a particular planet. Zachariah explained 
!hal the planets were in roughly the same relationship 

each other in the sky as the major cities were on 
lhe ground. So the planet to the northwest of the sky 
11asassociated with Justice and with Yew. Below that 
me was the planet most closely associated with 
Compassion and with the city of Britain. As I looked I 
ould see that a comet shone near the planet 
·ociated with Justice . I supposed that meant a 

Shadowlord was in Yew. 
It was still night, but none of us were sleepy. We 

explored the city. In the corner towers of the city 
:ails, we found rooms full of barrels and trunks. In the 
ortheast and southeast rooms we found useful 
ems-torches in one and a Ring of Invisibility in 

mther. 1 felt no harm in taking them. They had long 
l:ttn abandoned. 

Early in the morning, we found Nilrem, proprietor 
f lhe Herbalist, already at work. Jaana suggested that 
• stock up on reagents, so we bought what we felt 

we'd need. We purchased some rare ingredients such 
as mandrake root and nightshade, but these were very 
costly, even with our swollen purses. Still, they were 
also ingredients in some powerful spells which we 
might find need of before our adventure concluded. 

Our next stop was a place called the Honest Meal . 
We had discovered that many people would come to 
eat their morning meal in such a place, so it was a 
good place to gather news. 

The first one down was one Lord Stuart the 
Hungry. I remembered his name. He was the one 
working on a food spell . I asked him about the spell 
and he eventually told it to me. The incantation was In 
Xen Mani and it required ginseng , garlic , and 
mandrake root. Except for the mandrake root, this 
spell would be edible without the casting , but I 
wondered if it would be cheaper just to purchase food 
or find it in our travels. Of course, if we were running 
especially low, the spell might come in handy. We 
tried it and weren't all that impressed, but thanked 
Lord Stuart anyway. 

A little later we met a young Gypsy child named 
Malik. I remembered hearing his name before-from 
the busboy, Eb. Malik's mother was a fortune teller. 
He only charged us three coins to tell us that. I felt 
that he could tell us more, though , so I kept asking 
him about J1f ortune '<l!elliug. Eventually he came out 
with another bit of information. He told us about a 
man named Saul who lived in Skara Brae. This man 
was supposed to have information about the two 
expensive reagents we had just purchased. Maybe he 
knew how to get them cheaper. 

I decided that it was time to speak with Malik's 
mother. Not surprisingly, she was sitting across the 
table, also eating, so I went closer and greeted her. 
She returned the greeting as if she knew me, but I 
didn't remember her. No matter, though. There were 
all sorts of gaps in my memory, and this was probably 
one of them. She bade me sit and speak to her . I 
asked about her J)ob and she responded that she could 
see many things. 

"'<1!11ings?" I asked. "What things?" 
Her answer was a little evasive. "Tell me what thou 

seekest. " 
I had to think a second. What was I looking for? 
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What did I need to know? I asked her first about 
~ladtilrom. 

" I see that he resides upon an isle of three 
volcanoes, far to the south in the great sea! " 

5il1ahofulnrll1J? 
"Their magic is too black for even my eyes to 

penetrate!" 
~antrm1? 
"I see an honest man chanting 'AHM!' " 
That was helpful. How about ~orll of Jofner? 
"I see the runes 'FALLAX' inscribed upon the 

entrance of the dungeon Deceit! " 
I could think of nothing else to ask at the time, so I 

thanked her. She asked 15 gold crowns for her aid, 
and I gladly gave them. 

We met outside the Honest Meal and spoke of 
what we had learned. I favored heading for the Shrine 
of the Codex and then returning to the Shrine of 
Compassion to complete the Shrine Quest. Joto 
added, "Cove is very near the Shrine of Compassion. 
We can visit the mysterious sisters there ." We all 
agreed it was a fine plan. 

The journey to the Codex and back to the Shrine of 
Compassion was one of the hardest we had yet 
endured. That was due entirely to my foolishness, 
however, and it still pains me to remember. I am 
tempted to leave it out of my journal, but I feel that 
would be less than truthful, should anyone ever care to 
know what really happened. Having made the trip 
several times to the Shrine of the Codex by now, we 
were full of confidence and , using the HMS Cape 
plans again, headed at breakneck speed around 
Dagger Isle and north toward the Isle of the Codex. 
We were careless and nearly destroyed our beloved 
ship in the shallows around an eastern peninsula. The 
ship survived, but in a weakened condition. There was 
little to do but continue, hoping nothing bad would 
happen to us, but once again , carelessness cost us. 

We made it safely to the Isle of the Codex, where I 
read the words, "Only a detested life owes its 
pleasures to another's pain ." I meditated on that 
thought as we headed back to the Shrine of 
Compassion . I thought that Blackthorn must really 
despise his existence, judging by his actions. 

It was late at night . We had made it safely t 
Dagger Isle. We should have gone ashore to rest wt 

morning . We knew full well that the hours aftr 
midnight were perilous at sea. But we thought" 
would trust to luck. This one time, our luck ran out. 

It was around 2 a.m . that we found ourseil 
surrounded. The attack began with a sea serpent 
further weakened our poor ship until I feared sl 
would break up . We fought the monster off, 
Jaana, standing bravely to cast a spell , was wounde: 
severely. I told her to take cover, but she continued 
fight . We were attacked again by glowing gia 
seahorses. Again , our luck was bad. One of thg 
scored a direct hit on Jaana and another on Shamin: 
I was grazed, but not badly hurt. I threw my M 
Axe again and again until my arm ached and 
pains ran through my shoulder. But I was sea 
heavily on our enemies. I occasionally stole a glance 
Jaana 's direction. She was pale and seemed to 
losing her balance. The others were fighting for 
lives. 

After the seahorses, we were attacked by s 
but they posed little danger. We dispatched them 
then tried to outrun another sea serpent. That was 
final mistake. One blast from the sea serpent's f" 

and our ship was broken to pieces. We were force: 
abandon her and use the skiff to try to escape. & 
were in water too deep and rough for the skiff, an: 
we rowed frantically , we were tossed ar 
mercilessly. We all received additional wound . 
the rough seas. The sea serpent continued to f 
us. 

I don't know the exact moment when Jaana 
We were all trying to survive. I blame myself. I 
have healed her with the Mani spell . She was 
weak to tend to herself, her magic spent and nxs 
her strength as well. We reached shore at 
broken little band of would-be adventurers, anil 
into the forest to escape the monster that still 
our deaths . We had little time to mourn J 
passing, but Geoffrey carried her to the relative 
of the land. 

We were obliged to fight off a single wyvem 
our ordeal was over. This magical creature 
finished off lolo , who took one too many 
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"Jgical attacks, but we were able to destroy it. 
.>'.Offrey ran up close to it and hacked at its neck with 
. monstrous two-handed sword. His great strength 

JJed a deciding factor. We made camp as the sun 
tl'gal1 to peek over the horizon. We were a beaten, 

"Kldy, discouraged lot. I ministered to those in the 
1SI dire shape, but my magic was not enough to 

·. to all. I was bleeding from numerous gashes and 
d received many burns which now alternately 
robbed and stung. 

We all gathered around Jaana's body. None of us 
had dry eyes. I don't know how long I stood there, 
silent tears mixing with the blood all over my tunic. 
I'm sure nobody would have recognized their precious 
Avatar now. I was in favor of burying her on Dagger 
Isle. She would have liked that, I think, but my friends 
stopped me. 

"Avatar, knowest thou not that there be great 
Healers in Britannia?" asked Gwenno, her arm around 
my shoulder to comfort me. 
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"Yes, of course there are Healers. But she's dead! " 
My tone was reproachful. I did not mean to let the 
bitterness and self-recrimination escape me, but I was 
unable to prevent it. Fortunately Gwenno seemed to 
take no offense. 

"My dear friend ," she began, "death is no obstacle 
to our great Healers. Come. Bear her with us and we 
shall find comfort for thy pain. Jaana will once again 
ride with us. n 

I must have known, long ago , that such a thing 
was possible, but now it came as great news. Like a 
ray of sunshine penetrating the darkest storm, my hope 
was renewed . Could it be true? I prayed that it was. 

The nearest Healer was at the Lycaeum, only an 
hour 's Magic Carpet flight away . We entered the 
Shield of Truth , and I confess my heart was in my 
throat while baby dragons clawed at my stomach. If 
this failed , I wasn't sure I could go on. 

The Healer asked us what she could do for us. We 
brought Jaana before her and she nodded. 

" 'Tis a most difficult task, but it can be done. I 
will have to charge ye, though ." She named a price 
that was, indeed, much higher than ordinary healing. 
On the other hand , it was about the same price as a 
skiff . Looking at it that way , it was a bargain . 
Anyway, no price was too high to bring Jaana back 
to us and I cheerfully handed over the coins. 

"Just be sure you do it right," I warned, but lolo 
grabbed my arm as if to restrain me. I guess you 
didn 't speak that way to a Healer. At any rate, my 
comment didn ' t elicit any reaction. The Healer 
simply gestured for Geoffrey to lay Jaana on a pallet 
in another room. We could see soft glowing flashes 
through the doorway as we waited. Then, several 
minutes later, the healer returned . Behind her came 
Jaana. She was alive! 

We all crowded around our newly resurrected 
friend . She was obviously weak from her ordeal, but 
she smiled. She claimed to remember little of the 
afterlife. A vision of Lord British. A sense of love and 
peace~ her. Nothing else. 

We asked the Healer to give Jaana something to 
strengthen her, for she was still \A2ry weak. Then we thankro 
the Healer again and again. Ftnally we left and headed back 
out of the Li,raeum. Jaana looked us over and laughed. 

' Why, my good friends , you save me even from 
the jaws of Death , but you have done little for 
yourselves. 'Tis time to rest and recover from your 
trials. " 

She was right. We were all ragged and wounded 
We settled down for a long rest in a safe spot on the 
island. When we awakened, now refreshed and healed 
by the magic in the Britannian air, we realized that we 
were stuck on an island without a ship. 

"We could take the Moongate," suggested lolo, but 
Shamino had another idea. 

"We can take the Magic Carpet through thi 
narrow strait at the north end of the island. The water 
there is shallow and calm. We should be able to maki 
it across to the mainland. " 

We decided to follow Shamino 's advice . Th• 
Moongates were difficult to use. We would have Mi 
to wait a long time for the right phase to arrive. B, 
that time, we could have reached our next destinatioc 
and gone on. Time was of the essence. That was: 
term I had heard many times in my home world. 
was true in Britannia as well. 

1 
fntry 14-~hrine of 
eompaososion: eove 
must recount one importar 
event that occurred on the I 
journey to the Shrine 
Compassion. It was impora 
to me, anyway. We wer 

traveling overland on the Magic Carpet. I was thinlo:i: 
about Jaana; losing her like that had shocked me 
had already been wondering about my feelings for~ 
and when I lost her I was sure 1 had lost the love of 
life . But I had also realized that our danger was 
real , too immediate . I had to rely on all 
companions , and I was sure it would compli 
matters for me to pursue my feelings about Jaana 
further. 

We were crossing an open plain. It was da _ 
little innocuous-looking puffy clouds dotted the 
and there was no danger in sight. I sat close to J 
I took her hand in mine. 
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Jaana," I began. 'Tm glad you're back with us." 
he laughed a moment. Then I think she noticed 

•ne earnest expression I wore. I probably radiated 
:iervousness as well. "No less glad than I, " she told 
.,. "But thou lookest troubled, Avatar. Dost thou 
1Sh to confide something?" 

Bingo! She was right on it. What was I going to 
>Jy, though? "I guess so. I . .. " 

·1 have long admired thee, Avatar," she interrupted. 
Often my thoughts have dwelt upon thee." 

· .. dwelt upon thee ... " Suddenly my heart was 
;:ooiding. Did I want to deal with this? Why was it 
that I could face the most fearsome ore or even a 
mighty sea serpent, but this girl could reduce me to 
pudding? 1 said nothing , not trusting my mouth to 
~me. 

She went on. "However-Ahhh, here it comes. 
The letdown. Well, this would get me back off the 
'IOOk, anyway--dost thou not agree that our Quest 
'.:IUSt come first?" 

Yes. She had it. Just what I was going to try to tell 
her. But l probably would have bungled it. She was 
remarkable. So honest and direct. I nodded and 
croaked, "l agree." 

"Then, I thank thee, Avatar, for thy great love and 
~isdom. Let us hope our Quest is over soon. " 

At that moment, Iolo began to sing a bawdy song 
and we all joined in. The mood was broken, but I 
ioond myself wondering if she had wished the Quest 
:i1er soon because it was dangerous, because it would 
save Britannia, or because we might then talk more 
about our feelings for each other. I continued to gnaw 
at that question for the rest of the day. 

We made it safely to the Shrine of Compassion, 
~!Jere 1 was able to complete the Shrine Quest. It was 
a relief both to have Jaana back with us and to 
complete the Quest. I was feeling pretty good, as good 
as I was able to feel under the circumstances. Then we 
1isited Cove. Iolo led us there. 

Cove was a very small settlement nestled in the 
mountains just east of the Shrine of Compassion. The 
IWl!l had only three buildings-an herbalist's, a Healer's, 
1rd a small temple. We went directly to the temple. 

There we found two women who could only have 
~identical twins. They were a strange pair. Ava 

and Leona, they were called. They looked like beggars 
in ragged shifts and bare feet , but they turned out to 
be caretakers for the Temple of Virtue. Both women 
were thin, even frail-looking. Their bare arms were 
white as cream, and their jet-black hair was thick and 
curly , but uncombed. Despite their strange 
appearance, which 1 admit made me hesitate to 
approach them, the eyes that met mine were not wild 
or crazed, but calm and at peace. 

These women turned out to be the sisters Lady 
Janell had told me about. The ones who could give me 
some information about the Shard of Falsehood. I 
asked Ava about the JS>lpir~ , and she told me to ask 
her sister about the Vision they had shared. 

I asked Leona about this ;ltlishm and this is what 
she said. 

"In the deep of night, many moons ago a vision 
came unto my sister and me .... We saw the Shard of 
Falsehood deep below a dungeon named Deceit. The 
path that was revealed traveled first southwest across 
many high peaks , opening to a large system of 
caverns. Then the way led southwest. At a major 
intersection it turned northwest , soon branching 
northeast. After a long journey northward, the 
passage turned west. Here the path went on to rocky 
hills to the southwest, then turned northwest. Over a 
lake it ran, unto a massive series of great falls , ending 
in a larger lake. Here, upon a small isle, lies the Shard 
of Falsehood." 

Piece of cake. Dungeon? Deceit? Northwest , 
northeast? I wasn 't looking forward to this. As I had 
suspected all along , our path would lead into the 
stinking dungeons of Britannia, places I'd hoped never 
to see again. 

We took our leave of the sisters then , and talked a 
while about our next step. I was sure we weren't yet 
ready to brave the dungeons. The others agreed. 

''I'm trying to sort out the information we 've 
gotten ," I said . "I admit, it gets confusing . Does 
anyone have any suggestions?" 

"What about this Sir Simon? Landon told us to see 
him," offered Iolo. 

Shamino nodded , then suggested , "Or Lord 
Michael. He has the Grapple . Methinks some 
mountains lie in our future ." 
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"Yes," I agreed . "I think we 'll visit the Empath 
Abbey, then seek out Sir Simon." 

It was getting late, and we all agreed we should rest 
a while at the healer's. We slept a few hours, getting 
ready for the next leg of our great journey, but at just 
past 11 p.m. , when all was dark and quiet, I heard the 
clank of armor. Startled, I lunged for my sword, but 
then I saw a frail fighter arising from his sickbed. 1 had 
noticed him earlier, asleep in that bed . I had seen 
nothing remarkable, however. 

I got up and followed him out of the room. He 
stood by the stove, warming himself in the chill night 
air. I had not taken the time to put on a cloak, and 
stood barefoot and cold. But I thought it polite at this 
point, having followed him and all , to ask after his 
health. We got to talking and he told me his name was 
Ambrose and he had been in a great battle. 

That sounded pretty interesting. "A 1iJnttle, you 
say?" I tried to edge a little closer to the stove. The 
brick floor was freezing! 

He took his time answering, as if dredging up a 
memory better forgotten . "I was deep below the 
surface of Britannia, in search of the fabled mystic 
weapons of the Avatar! " 

"You were seeking the ~ustic weapons?" I rubbed 
my arms to keep them warm . He seemed not to 
notice my discomfort. 

"I heard that they lay at the foundation of the 
Great Abyss! " 

I shuddered, but this time not from the cold. "The 
Great~~"" •" I repeated, not wanting to think about it. 

Again , he pondered his answer while I tried to 
drink up the radiance from the stove behind him. His 
body blocked most of it. "Though the Abyss is gone, I 
descended through the mines of Hythloth to search 
out the mystics." 

"~11tqlotq! " I blurted. 
I remembered that name. And the memories 1 he~ 

were not pleasant. But Ambrose laid his hand on my 
shoulder, drawing me closer. In a whisper, he said, 
"Within the Underworld, where the Abyss once was. 
the lava still flows, north of the underground entrance 
of Hythloth. 'Tis there, northward across cavernous 
peaks from the dungeon, amidst the boiling lava, that 
the Mystic arms are said to lie! Dost thou seek the fate 
of Lord British?" 

This all sounded pretty bad. Boiling lava, indeed 
Even half freezing as I was , the thought sent an 
additional chill down my spine. But I answered hi; 
question. 1 was doing nothing else but what he askoo 
"lies, I seek the King. " 

His hand seemed suddenly to grip me with terribk 
strength. I was afraid for a moment that he might 
become violent, but he only said, "Remember, o~ 
the Mystic weapons work near great Evil. Only 500 
Evil could hold our Lord! " 

Suddenly the strength seemed to go out of hin: 
He looked once again the ailing fighter. I suggestedf-r 
might want to lie down again, and he thanked ITii 

saying he would stand by the fire a while, then sleep. 
My companions had awakened at the sound of ru 

conversation, and crowded around me to learn Mia 
had transpired. I told them, and, at the mention of tiY 

Abyss, they all made signs against Evil. Even stakl'!' 
Geoffrey wore a look of dread. 

"We had best be off ," I said . " Ambroseh~ 
rekindled my sense of urgency. Is everyone resteif 
They all nodded. "Then let us brave the night to tea: 
Empath Abbey before the day has passed." 

0 
Entry15-
Empath llbbey 
ur journey to Empath Ab 
was fraught with the us 
battles. Giant rats, ores, n.s 
headlesses and ettins ... Th 

142 



?iL'l'lmlt V: WZUTior:; of })~:;tiny 

"'1e all around. We could outmaneuver some of them 
flying the Magic Carpet where they could not go, 

· by flying faster , but we still did our part to rid 
Bntannia of such monsters. In our haste, we got lost 
:xi took a wrong tum. We never did figure out how, so 

didn't arrive at the Abbey until late. We decided to 
• until the next morning to recover from our battles. 

When we finally entered the Abbey , we saw a 
1Jjg]er near the front entrance. Iolo seemed to know 
·mi. His name was Hardluck; he identified himself, 
somewhat redundantly, as the Abbey jester. He sang 
"M! a .Song that underscored the nature of this place­
bpathy. 

"Blackthorn once was a fine ol' man 
Upon fine principles he would stand. 
But then came the Shadowlords, full of evil. 
Blackthorn's soul they came to steal. 
All at once tl)e Tyranny began. 
All because of Fate's dark hand! " 

\lihen he had finished, he asked if I liked it. I said it 
ma fine song . He explained, "Thou may have 

bced that it points out that Blackthorn himself is not 
'lsponsible for the evils he imposes. Rather, he is 
::apped, as we are, under the control of the truly evil 
Shadowlords, only more so. A pity." 

His words were wise. I had forgotten that 
Blackthorn was not the true villain. He had once been 

al to Lord British and to the Principles. His very 
~alty had been corrupted. I thanked Hardluck for his 
D1Sights, and he looked very pleased. 

We found Lord Michael in the east wing on the 
second floor. When we entered the room, a young 
Tmker stood and called to me. It was Julia, one of my 
k>nner companions. We greeted each other warmly 
ard spoke of recent events. She offered to join me, 
but I had to decline her offer for the moment. Our 
party was as large as I thought it should be. But I 
cidn't want to offend Lord Michael , who sat on a 
::irone watching our reunion patiently so I made my 
ipologies to Julia and walked over to Lord Michael, 
1troducing myself. 

Lord Michael might have posed for some great 
Renaissance painter's image of a saint. He exuded 

that sort of kindness. He looked troubled , though, as if 
he could use someone else's empathy just now. 

We talked about his ]ob and about the Clrnstlt. He 
mentioned the 1E&il that sought to corrupt the 
Principle of Love and we talked about that. At one 
point he mentioned the Shadowlord of Hate. If there 
was one monster who would oppose the Principle of 
this Abbey, it would be that one. Apparently there was 
a daemon somewhere in the desert to the east who 
knew something about the Shadowlord of Hate. Lord 
Michael suggested we go see if we could learn 
anything from him. I didn't relish the thought of trying 
to question a daemon , but did not even think of 
voicing my reservations . I didn ' t want to seem 
cowardly. 

Finally, I asked Lord Michael about the Oihapplt . To 
my surprise, he gave it to me freely . He didn't climb 
mountains any more, he said. Then, as I was thanking 
him , he added that we should feel free to take 
anything we could find if it would help us on our 
Quest. Again I thanked him and started to leave the 
room. 

A mature , stately woman sat at a table in the 
southeastern corner of the room . Before leaving, I 
thought it would be a good idea to see if she knew 
anything. 

She turned out to be Barbra, keeper of the Flame 
of Love. We spoke a few minutes only, but she told 
me of a vision . In her vision, she had seen a great 
man in a distant place. "I saw him as if through a 
looking glass . I saw naught but his reflection ." That 
was all she couli;I tell me. We talked a few moments 
more, then I took my leave. It wasn 't until a long, long 
time later that I would understand her vision. 

With Lord Michael 's permission, we searched the 
Abbey, finding a few useful items-food , a healing 
potion, that kind of thing. We also met T oshi, a tough 
customer who was studying at the Abbey. Like Julia, 
he offered to join us, but I had to refuse his offer for 
the moment. I promised to return and enlist his aid if 
the need should arise, though. 

In the downstairs kitchen we met Cory. She was 
most interested in speaking of culinary delights and 
spoke at length with Geoffrey, who had a prodigious 
appetite . She gave us all samples of her ~~a rh 
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Delicacy. It was delicious and we went back for several 
servings. 

The oddest encounter we had at Empath Abbey 
was with Tim. We found him pacing the battlements 
of the castle. 

'"You're a llarb?'" I asked , recognizing his outfit . 
He was young and somewhat shorter than I. He 
carried a small stack of papers in his hand. They were 
covered with what looked like musical notations. 

"Yes , I play and sing for the inhabitants of this 
castle. " 

"You ltllall? What instrument do you play?" I 
asked. 

He smiled. "Dost thou enjoy fine harpsichord 
music?" 

"\!•s, " I replied. 
Tim fussed with his music papers a moment as if 

thinking about something else, then he looked up and 
said. "Since Lord British's disappearance, his Court 
Composer, Lord Kenneth , is said to be traveling 
throughout Britannia. " 

"Lord llem1et~? I don't know him." 
"He trades music lessons for melodies. He is 

compiling a collection of Britannian folkmusic ." 
"I like Jf ollrn1usic," I said, not sure where this 

conversation was heading. 
"Recently he gave a recital in Trinsic, and then 

headed south. He often teaches a piece by Iolo and 
Gwenno. "Tis a favorite of Lord British. " 

I stole a glance at Iolo, but he merely shrugged. 

Apparently he didn't know what piece Tim was 
referring to. "So this is one of the King's Jfi"a&oritro," I 
said. 

Tim examined his papers again, then said, shyru. 
"Some even say that to play the piece on the fines 
instrument may cause magical occurrences. " 

"@a:urreum1? What exactly do you mean?" I aske: 
him. 

But he only answered, "Only on an instrumen· 
worthy of kings!" I had a mental image of a beautilll 
ornate harpsichord in a stately room. Where haa 
seen it before? Then I remembered. Lord Britisl> 
Castle. 

Finally, we left Tim and the Abbey itself. I asked 
Iolo and Gwenno about the piece Tim had mentione: 
but neither seemed to be able to recall it. We ~ 
have to find Sir Kenneth , then. These "magi 
occurrences" had sparked my interest in music. 

:Entry 16-Yew 
moongme to 

W Jhelom: Jhelom 
e shall need another boat. 
Shamino said. He had 

- up with a plan. I was glad. 
It was sometimes difficult 

know what to do next. There seemed so much 
accomplish . Shamino's suggestion was that we 
south from Britain, then come "around the horn· 
eventually reach the island where Sir Simon 
supposed to be. Along the way, we could visi! 
cities of Trinsic, Skara Brae, and Jhelom, as 110 

Serpent's Hold. But to embark on such a j 
would require a new ship. He continued, "We 
many weapons we have no need of. We should 

1 in Yew and sell some of our excess, then hea: 
East Britanny to obtain another vessel. What 
thou, Avatar? Shall we follow this plan?" 

I agreed. It was the most sensible course of 
anyone had suggested. Looking around, 1 sa" 
nods of agreement from my companions. 
headed back toward Yew. It was a short ride 
Magic Carpet, only an hour or two. 
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It was late night when we arrived and Iolo 
mrked that the Moongate was up. Checking his 

4115 and tables, he told me that the gate was perfect 
travel to Jhelom. 
'Perhaps we should consider using the gate to 

:'ll'e! there, Avatar," he suggested. "There is a fine 
upwright on Jhelom, and I believe his prices to be 

reasonable. " 
Everyone agreed that a quick trip by Moongate 

'lJld be preferable to a long ocean voyage, though 
ildlllino did point out that we would bypass our visits 
Trlnsic and Serpent's Hold that way. In the end, we 

SZJ)ped into the Moongate around midnight and were 
nisked away , to the accompaniment of a slight 
mge in my stomach and a moment of blurred vision. 

~iments later, we were just south of Jhelom. 

We walked to the entrance of the city, but found 
.at the Shadowlord of Hatred had gotten there 
~ore us. We had no choice but to wait until the evil 
~g left the city. Geoffrey and Shamino were all for 
attacking the monster as a group, reasoning that we 
•1ght overcome it , but Iolo argued that the 
Shadowlords could isolate us and make us fight one by 
::oe. How he knew this I never found out, but it made 
Ji all stop and think. lolo told us that a fight with the 
Shadowlord now would only result in our deaths. 

We found a place inland , so we wouldn 't be 
a.'taeked from the sea , and rested a few hours. Even 
• ough lolo stood watch, we were beset by a small 
SfOUP of giant rats and skeletons. They fell beneath 
w blows, but our sleep was disturbed. There was little 

to do but wait until the Evil had left the city, so we 
slept through the day and the next night . In the 
morning, we entered the city very early. 

We encountered nobody but the city guards, who 
we had learned to avoid , and so we explored the 
town. In the southwest corner of the courtyard, we 
discovered a pair of locked doors. Iolo soon opened 
one of them, however, and we found ourselves in a 
passageway that led all the way around the 
battlements. We found some abandoned barrels and 
chests , but our most notable discovery was in the 
northeast corner of the city. Climbing down the ladder 
in that tower, we found ourselves in a room full of 
barrels, but Gwenno's sharp eyes caught the hint of 
something out of place in the northeast corner of the 
room: the telltale sign of a hidden door. 

I searched the wall and found the secret catch . 
There was a locked door behind the false wall, but it 
gave us no trouble. 

We walked outside the walls for a moment, but I 
saw nothing interesting and was about to return . 
Gwenno stopped me. 

"Dear friend , wouldst thou still be interested in a 
Magic Axe?" she asked. 

We had several, but I knew it to be a most effective 
weapon. The more the merrier! "Yes, indeed! " I told her. 

Gwenno led us to a rotted stump south of the 
secret door. Searching there revealed the very weapon 
she had promised. Gwenno beamed with pleasure , 
and so did Geoffrey when I handed him the axe. 

In the northwest tower, we found a strange mage. 
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His eyes were focused a great distance away and he 
didn't seem to know where he was. We tried talking to 
him, but he made little sense. We left him there and 
continued our search. 

When we were satisfied that nothing remained to 
find in the battlements and towers, we headed for the 
tavern, the Sword and Keg. There we found a minstrel 
breaking his fast . His name was Trian. We talked of 
Songs and of Valor , and of brave Deeds. He 
mentioned a man called Thome and we asked about 
him. Apparently this man Thome was like us. He also 
found himself on Quests, and apparently knew some 
of the Shrines. We thanked Trian for his help and 
walked outside. 

We found a burly knight nearby and engaged the 
fellow in a brief discussion. He was the very Thome 
Trian had mentioned. Good fortune for a change. I 
thought at first Thorne was just another braggart , 
telling of his ~attle with mrolls, but when I asked him 
about the ,Sl1rines, he became much more serious, and 
I suddenly felt a great deal of respect for him. 

"Who dost thou serve?" he demanded of me. 
"Lord ~rilh;~ , of course," I answered, hoping he 

was not one of Blackthorn's men. 
But he was not. He relaxed when he heard my 

answer and stated, "The Mantra for Valor is 'RA'! Wilt 
thou be explorin' the dungeon Destard?" 

I was hoping we would not, but figured that was a 
long shot, so I said, "1[es ." 

"In many dungeon rooms there are traps. The 
more devious ones are those that must be pushed like 
wall panels. Some even must be shot at, such as a 

torch across a chasm. And remember, you'll need the 
Word of Power to get in! " 

"What is the 3lforll of l,llnfuer?" I asked him. 
"Ask the minstrel ," was his reply. 
So we returned to Trian, who was still eating, an: 

asked him about the ;nllorll of Jofuer. He lookec 
surprised, but asked me "Dost thou intend to explor. 
one of the forbidden dungeons?" Of course I answere: 
in the affirmative. He continued "Well, if thou m~ 
be so foolish as to try that, I can tell thee only f/n; 
There is one in this towne who doth search for tre 
which is not there. He knows the Word of Power. &: 
he hath gone quite insane, so if he doth have troul't 
remembering, saying each word backwards oft is 
some help! " 

I thought immediately of the mage we had met 

the northwest tower. My companions must ha 
thought the same thing, because, before I knew it. 
were on our way back there. 

The mage's name was Goeth and I suspected th 
he had once been a powerful magician. Now 
seemed lost and confused. In his hand he held am 
rock, which he turned over and over as he spoke~ 
us. I felt some pity for him. I asked about his ~ob . 

"Looking for something, I am ." he repliec 
understood now. "Rof" was "for ." I asked him 
~olting. 

"Not gnol ago I tsol it. " He was looking doof 
his hands, at the stone he carried, but he seemed 
to see it at all. 

"11ost it?" I prodded. 
He looked wistful as he plucked at his unk 

beard. "Valuable, saw iW 
This was getting nowhere. "What about the\ 

of Power?" I asked finally, but he answered that ~ 
not remember, though he knew he should. 

I was still trying to figure out how to reac 
hidden memory when Jaana stepped in and < 
"~rofu of ;Rem op?" S 

He brightened , and his eyes seemed to' 
momentarily on the present place and time. ·Af, 
coming kcab to me it is . Drow which , that di 
Remember ton I. Drow of Rewop thou se W. 
remember 'AIPONJ' htod I. " de 

Just then I remembered something I had bee' le4 
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arlier. Where was it? I asked Shamino if he 
:imembered somebody mentioning a crazy mage. 

"Yes, ' twas in Moonglow , was it not? " he 
flS\\'l!Ted . 

"Ahh. Zachariah had said something about a new 
m>er of the moonstones. " I turned back to Goeth, 

.o seemed not to have even noticed the 
~terruption . "Do you know anything about the 
:ooonstones?" I asked. 

He seemed confused still. ";Noom foenots? " I 
n]Uired. 

He smiled then , holding the stone he carried up 
~ore my eyes. "On taht, my dnim is more clear! " he 
11ated almost coherently. "Noom Gates, thou tsod 
lroW about?" 

I nodded and said, , .. i•s. " 
·1 have found taht, below the location erehw a gate 

appears, there si a stone! Reveal it nae thou, htiw a 
smple hcraes, retfa the gate senaw. If uoht takest siht 
llOOe and yrub it elsewhere, the noom gate shall appear 
111 the wen location. Amazing, it si ton?" I agreed , and 

added, "This sevig one great rewop indeed! " 
Great rewop , indeed . We deknaht him and 

~ed. He had been very helpful, but understanding 
his mixed-up speech had been an effort of lliw rewop. 

The day was waning, and we hurried back to the 
center of town to complete our business. We sold 
lO!lle of our excess weapons to replenish our purse, 
ind were about to head over to the Island 
Slupwright's when we encountered a thickset older 
man of powerful build. He wore an eye patch. He 
nmied out to be Bullwier, a man we had heard about 
·ong ago in Britain . He was reputed to know 
miething about the Mystic weapons, but he turned 
j\Jt to be rude and uncouth. He did tell us about 
Ambrose when we asked about the Mystic weapons, 
tilt we already knew more than Bullwier and so we 
~y got away from him. Nor was he sorry to see us 
!PJ. either. 

We purchased a fine Frigate and Skiff at the Island 
Shipwright's, but thought the prices less reasonable 
than Iola had promised. Still, we had our ship , and it 
m time to cast off again . In the little remaining 
Ja~ight, we hoped to find Sir Simon's abode, or at 
east a safe port where we could spend the night 

under the stars. We were reluctant to sail much at 
night after our last experience. 

T 
fnfry 1'1-
nordermarch 
he winds were favorable and, 
rigged for double speed, our 
new Frigate took us safely 
north to the island where Sir 
Simon lived. We recognized it 

by the cross-shaped mountain range. It was just 
northeast of a small archipelago, and we found it 
without too much trouble. But it was late by the time 
we got there, and we decided to rest until morning 
before trying to find the Keep of Bordermarch. 

The night passed uneventfully, and that morning 
we set out to find a way into the mountains. Deep 
ravines and boulders the size of small asteroids 
alternated in the lower elevations with cypress and 
small shrubs. At their peaks, the bare rocks stood out 
grey against the blue sky. Steep, craggy outcroppings 
and slippery shale beds made us retrace our steps 
several times. We were no mountain climbers and the 
way looked too steep. We fell many times trying to 
climb impassable cliffs or negotiate the treacherous 
shale, and were getting pretty banged up. 

Somebody, either Gwenno or Ioio I think, found a 
way from the south that looked hopeful . We had the 
Grapple and used it to climb up and over a narrow 
pass. The way was hard , and more loose shale caused 
us to slip again and again, but we made it over the 
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pass more rapidly than I would have predicted. There, 
nestled upon a mountain plateau and surrounded by 
craggy peaks , stood Bordermarch . We marched 
directly into the keep and searched for Sir Simon. 

We began our search in the room to the southeast 
of the keep and there we found a dear friend . Even 
though I had forgotten much of my former visit, I had 
not forgotten Dupre . His powerful fighting and 
steadfast honor had always been an inspiration for me 
as I proceeded on my Avatar's Quest. It was a hearty 
reunion we had, and he immediately offered to join 
us. I had a great reluctance to include more than six in 
our party, and all my companions were of great help 
to me. Geoffrey saved the day for me, though. 

He came up rather diffidently for such a big man in 
armor. "Um ... Avatar, may I speak?" he inquired. I 
nodded and signaled for him to go ahead. 

"Well, it seems that Lord Dupre would like to join 
thee, and I had not planned to say anything , but .. . " 
Then he stood silently, fingering the hilt of his sword. 

"What is it?" I asked. "Are you all right?" 
He smiled then. "Oh. I am fine, Avatar. It is just 

that ... " Again he hesitated . I was beginning to 
become alarmed. Then he continued in a rush. "It's 
just that I've a girl in Skara Brae. I was thinkin ' to see 
her, beggin' yer pardon, but now it seems ... " He let 
the sentence die . 

I smiled. That was the answer . We would let 
Geoffrey rest in Skara Brae and come back for Dupre. 
I voiced my plan to the others and everyone seemed 
content. Then we took our temporary leave of Dupre 
and continued in search of Sir Simon. 

We found the Lord of the Keep in the northeastern 
comer room. He sat with his wife, the Lady Tessa. He 
was young for a man of his reputation. His powerful 
hands gripped a long staff which looked well worn. 
His beard was full and cropped short after the fashion 
of younger men, but his eyes showed the years of to~ 
and the stress of his current lot. For he and his striking 
wife had been governors of Britannia before the 
Oppression. Now they lived in exile in this faraway. 
forgotten place. I bowed slightly to them and asked 
leave to speak. Sir Simon inclined his head. 

"Lord , I've come to ask your ~Ip to save Lord 
British. " I began. 

He nodded, but spread his hands as if to say il 
could do little. Nor did his words encourage me much 
"All I know is that his crown jewels, the Crown, tht 
Sceptre and the Amulet must be recovered. " 

"And what of the <llrofnn?" I asked. 
"A powerful artifact. Lord British once told me rl 

its ability." 
"And what J\hilit!l is that?" I knew the King ha; 

many magical powers. Perhaps this was the secret 
some of them. 

"When worn, it absorbs all magical forms of attaci. 
no matter how powerful ." 

"That sounds very useful, " I said sincerely. "Art 
what about the ~ceptre?" 

He rose to his full height then, towering over Ill 
His hands described the action of dispelling as he · 
"A mighty item of immense power. It is said th< 
when used it can disperse all magical barriers even 
the ethereal plane. I hear 'tis held by the Shadowloo 
themselves in their earthly fortress! " 

That was encouraging. Oh, well. "And what a 
the J\muU.t?" I concluded. 

He shrugged and sat back down again, gesturJt 
toward his lady. "Of that, my wife knows more than! 

The Lady then graced me with a smile I shaU ne.t 
forget. Golden-tressed, she was almost elven in 
beauty (though there were no elves to my kn~ 
in Britannia, so I had only my imagination to teB 
so). Her grace was that of a deer walking uncon 
through a forest , her hands like swallows gliding 
the wind as she spoke. And her voice was like CJ'1 

goblets clinking together in a gentle toast to 
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ealth. I almost lost her first words and had to 
recollect myself quickly. 

· .. seen the Amulet which Lord British once 
iore.' she was saying. "It lies forgotten in the 
Lnderworld amongst the graves of valiant warriors. 
~1th only this can thee find thy path in a place of 
:riho~ darkness, which I have foreseen shall block thy 
oay. 'Tis beyond such a place that thou must search 

thou art to mend the injustice wrought upon the 
;rorld by Blackthorn and his spectres." 

We chatted a while with the Lord and his Lady. It 
a pleasant diversion from the rigors of the Quest. 

fa~n when the Lady spoke of unholy darkness, I felt 
oone of the alarm I should have experienced. I knew 

pleasant visit could not last long. Nor did it. We 
tea small meal, though it was memorable for the 

nlition of spicy mountain mushrooms and rare herbs 
oond only in the area. I was just beginning to relax 
tien Dupre entered the room, followed by a swarthy 

ajhter. They both sat down at the table. 
·Have we not met before?" inquired the swarthy 

man. 
1 thought he looked familiar, but my memory was 
I full of gaps. Uncertainly, I said, "No." 
But the man was not easily dissuaded. "Ah yes, I 

remember, 'twas before the dark times! Thou art the 
Avatar of Legend art thou not?" I agreed that I was, 
and he continued. "Art thou here collecting 
~nturers for thy cause?'' 

I wasn't sure whether I should say yes or no. In the 
erd 1 said no and he replied, "I see." 

·why, 'tis Sentri ," called Shamino . "Well met, 
'nend." 

Then I remembered. Sentri had been one of my 
tnends before, but he had changed somewhat. He 
looked more mature somehow. Or maybe he had a 
new haircut. I couldn 't be sure how , but he had 
changed. We talked a while, and then I began to feel 
!hat we had best be off. We still had to sail to Skara 
Brae and back to drop off Geoffrey and collect Dupre. 
Reluctantly, we took our leave of our good hosts and 
returned to our boat, making our way back through 
the mountains more easily this time. 

We made good time getting back to the boat, but 
'l'OOd ourselves immediately in terrible trouble. Our 

boat, it seemed, had attracted the attention of a nearly 
endless horde of enemies. Two sea serpents topped 
the list , and began pelting us with their fire even 
before we could reach the ship. Sharks and seahorses 
were also circling and we spied a pirate ship just off in 
the distance. We had little choice but to fight. 

The battles we fought that day belong in a book of 
legends. Our small band was sorely tested, and all of 
us received serious wounds, but we were not about to 
allow a repetition of our last experience. None of us 
would die! 

We struck back at the monsters with all our 
strength, casting powerful magic and wielding death 
with our hands. It seemed an eternity before we had 
finally dispatched the foul denizens of the deep, made 
especially brave in these troubled times. Then we 
quickly boarded our ship and set sail northward, 
counting on our special rigging to take us away from 
trouble. 

We outdistanced the pirate ship, but a group of 
sharks kept a watchful eye on us. These must have 
been very fast sharks! Finally, we reached the islands 
where Skara Brae was located. At that moment, the 
sharks attacked. We handled them easily, never letting 
them get close enough to bite us, but by the time we 
had finished with them, the pirates had caught up with 
us. They fired an accurate cannon round that hit us 
square in the rigging, and I knew our ship would be 
damaged beyond repair if she took more shots like 
that. So I hauled on the wheel and headed directly 
toward the enemy, on a collision course. At the last 
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moment, I pulled with all my might, calling for 
Geoffrey to help me. We came around just before 
ramming them, and quickly engaged the pirates in 
close combat. 

They would not yield, and in the end we were 
forced to deliver them to Davey Jones' Locker (if such 
a place also existed here in Britannia, that is). At any 
rate, we were victorious and all of us, wounded as we 
were, felt a surge of elation and power at the end of 
this latest series of battles. 

fntry 1a-.t>lu1ra 
~ ~ llra~;llord~rmZll'ch D (again} 

ur Frigate made incredible 
speed to Skara Brae and the 
sun was still high when we, 
sore and wounded, limped into 

the city. Though we still ached, we decided to search 
the city for information-our usual method whenever 
we visited a new place. Also, I remembered that the 
Gypsy child, Malik, had told us to seek a man named 
Saul in this city. 

Skara Brae was a rough-hewn town, an island 
outpost. Its buildings were small and quaint. It was not 
much bigger than the little Britanny villages, but this 
was the city of Spirituality, and one would not expect 
it to put on airs. 

As we walked over the drawbridge and up the 
main path, Jaana spotted a child in the woods to the 

west. He was hiding and only our battle-sharpened 
senses had detected him there. We went to see if we 
could offer him any help. He was battered and dirt\ 
and, as we came closer, we saw that he had thal 
haunted look some children develop when mistreated 
In one hand he carried a wooden flute, but he carrie:I 
it more like a club than an instrument. 

Not surprisingly, he was afraid of us and tried to 
get away. Seeing six huge warriors, wounded and 
battered from their own battles, would certainly have 
scared me when I was a child, and I was nol 
mistreated. He was fast, too. He dodged through th£ 
woods and would not heed our calls. Finally.; 
suggested that we board the Magic Carpet, whicl: 
could travel very fast. With the Magic Carpet we were 
able to catch up with the youngster and get him le 
stop. He told us his ~nll1.2 when we asked. It was 
Froed. 

"Why are you hiding, child?" asked Gwenno. 
He answered us bravely, almost defiantly. "Frix:: 

those nasty people!" 
"What Jeopw?" I asked. 
He shrank back from me, but answered, "~ 

dragged off my father." 
Gwenno signaled me to wait, and asked, "Tell rrt 

who is your Jlf ntJier?" 
The boy seemed to open up to Gwenno. I ha: 

never seen her as a motherly type, but she was kirx 
and he obviously needed to trust someone. 

"His name is Greymarch. He spoke out agai. 
Blackthorn and they took him away. Hast thou e-.e­

heard of him?" 
I remembered Greymarch. He was one of tit 

prisoners we'd met in Yew. "ies. I have," 1 told 
boy. 

For the first time, he smiled. Suddenly Isa" 
renewed strength in the lad. His fear seemed to \/i!lW 

as if it had never been there. Perhaps it was I 
bravery, but I wondered if he weren't just a bit 
resourceful than I had given him credit for. At 
rate, when we told the boy his father was in Y<N; 
answered happily, "Then there is hope! Wouldst 
take him a message?" 

I was not sure we would pass through Yew 
but I said, "les, if I can." 
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The boy nodded as if that were the best he could 
of any stranger. "Tell him Froed is well and I'm 

'he shall reward thee! " 
He raised his flute to his lips and played a quick 
illy, then started to run off again. We called after 

him, offering our help. Some food? Maybe a few coins? 
But he shrugged off all our offerings and ran off to hide 
again in the woods, his flute once again a weapon. 

We headed for the Inn. In this small town , that 
seemed the most likely place to find anyone . Sure 
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enough, we found the man named Saul loitering about 
the room. He seemed a poor man, dressed in tom 
clothing, but there was nothing evil about him. He was 
just a simple man, perhaps a bit down on his luck. His 
voice was hushed, as if he feared to wake someone, 
though we saw nobody nearby other than the 
proprietor of the inn. 

Saul was here to 31lisit an old Jlj'riimh named ~inhOT. 
"He was struck by a Shadowlord's bolt!" 

Shamino stepped forward when he heard that, 
obviously remembering a similar experience. "Thy friend 
also took one of those accursed ~olts?" he asked the man. 

The man 's whisper barely reached us. His sad eyes 
examined the floor as his foot pushed small piles of 
sawdust about. "He resisted the Shadowlord's 
takeover of this towne! " was the answer. 

"A 'llrul1eo6er, thou sayest," prodded Shamino, and 
we all Ustened intently to catch the soft answer. 

"He fled after he was shot. I found him near death 
and brought him here. Wilt thou help us vanquish 
these daemons?" 

"l!•s," answered Shamino, and we all echoed his 
promise. "We shall. " 

Saul accepted this without much enthusiasm, but 
did tell us, "Kindor has some information regarding a 
shrine that might aid thee." I was about to thank him 
and ask who Kindor was when he added "Visit him at 
the Healer's near six p.m." 

I did step forward then and asked the man about 
the JJlunllrnk£ and ~ig~tsl1ulle. The Gypsy child had told 
us Saul had information about these reagents. The 
man answered, "Legend tells of a spot in the Bloody 
Plains, forever damp from the blood of many battles. 
Mandrake root can be found there or in the Fens of 
the Dead. Deadly nightshade can only be found in the 
most thickly forested spot of Spiritwood. Both may be 
collected only in the darkness of midnight! " 

We thanked him and took our leave. It was still 
only just past 2 p.m., so we explored a little more. In 
the middle of the town stood a magically locked 
building. None of us liked the feeling we got from it, 
but we decided to explore it anyway. When we 
removed the magical lock from the door and 
attempted to enter, our way was blocked by a cloud of 
angry bats. We fought our way in. 

Climbing a ladder, we found a mage standing by a 
telescope. He glared in our direction, and when "' 
attempted to speak with him, he threatened us. 
didn't like this man at all. I was getting ready to lea 
the place when I had an inspiration. I conferred witll 
my friends a moment, then we returned and accoste! 
him again. This time Shamino asked , "Dost thO' 
know of the ®f!PreHion ?" 

He was all set to deliver another round of 1 

when the words sank in. "Who sent thee?" 
We were guessing here, putting the clues togethe' 

T actus in Minoc had mentioned a judge named II . 
in Yew. I had instructed Shamino to use that name 
produced surprising results. 

"Dost thou wish to join the Oppression?" 
Shamino looked at me for guidance, and l ncilit 

I wanted to see how far this would go. So he · 
"l•s." It was a lie, and 1 hoped it wouldn't do 
harm to Shamino's honor to do this. But we had 
know the extent of this Oppression. Perhaps we 
infiltrate it. But the wizard's next demand pushee 
too far. 

"First, thou must prove thy allegiance! " Uh 
'Tell me the name of a member of the Great 
so we might dispatch the traitor!" 

There wasn 't anything we could do abov 
Shamino did the only thing he could. He gave a 
name. The wizard didn't buy it, though, and disrr. 
us with his usual threats. I wasn 't afraid of him 
saw no way to pursue the matter without ri1 

capture by Blackthorn's agents. So we left. 
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We purchased some reagents from the herbalist at 
Alchemist. We stocked up especially on black 
rl and blood moss, but took samples of all their 
· pausing to mix some spells. 

Olo left us then, saying he had some business he 
ted to attend to. He returned somewhat later, just 
we were about to head for the Healer 's. He 

't say anything about his private errand, but he 
so pleased with himself that I had to ask. 

lolo. My friend. What have you been up to?" I 
i!ked. 

No small matter, Avatar. I've found a way to 
uade our friend the wizard to tell me what I 

iMed to know. " 
I frowned . "And what was that?" 
Oh, nothing, really. Just the password for the 

Oppression ," he told me, beaming in self-approbation. 
Well done! " shouted Shamino, clapping the bard 

artily on the back . "Thou hast beaten the 
erable creature at his own game." 

But I was not immediately so elated. "I hope 
.oo ve done nothing to harm anyone," I cautioned. 

lolo looked at me in near disbelief. "Avatar! Thou 
iQl.l:est me too well to believe that! I merely used 

th and cunning. I overheard it as he muttered it 
.iW his breath. He never even saw me." 

ow 1 smiled at last . "Then you 've done well. 
nk you, Iolo. I'm sorry I ever doubted you." 
He smiled, then . " Tis only thy way, Avatar, to 
k for justice in every act. Shall I tell thee the 

rd?" he asked, finally. 
If you must, " I replied, not really eager to know it. 
To converse with those of the Oppression, simply 
IMPERA. ' That is the word they use. " 
By this time I had heard enough about the 
pression . It was nearly time to visit the Healer's. I 

ed we head in that direction. 
Saul's friend awakened early, at just about 5 p.m. 
·name was Kindor, and he was obviously shaken by 
experience. He settled slowly into a chair and sat 
whole time we talked. His eyes had a haunted look, 

tandable when one realized that he had tried to 
on a Shadowlord. He was lucky to be alive. 

We talked with him for a few minutes, and 
1tually got to the reason we had sought him out. 

"Your friend Saul tells us you know something 
about the ~~.rines ." 

The very mention of the shrines seemed to give him 
courage. "Yes ," he answered slowly , "I know the 
Mantra of Spirituality. If I give it unto thee, wilt thou use 
it to help rid us of the evil Shadowlords?" Of course I 
told him we would. He continued then. "Use it soon, 
for remember, Blackthorn too searches for the Mantra . 
He will use the Mantra to destroy the shrines and 
remove their power from the world! The Mantra of 
Spirituality is 'OM.' Guard it well! I have not yet learned 
the location of the shrine, but 1 was on my way to see 
Lady Janell in the Lycaeum. She may know." 

I nodded and told the man what the Lady had told 
us. It seemed the least we could do for this brave man. 
He smiled and thanked us again and again. But, as 
always, the time quickly came for us to be off. 

We returned to the inn and checked Geoffrey into 
a room for an extended stay. We all said our farewells, 
then, each of us knowing that we might not see each 
other again. But Geoffrey looked relieved and said he 
would find his girl in the morning, after a good night's 
rest and a chance to clean up. 

The rest of us decided to allow ourselves the rare 
luxury of a night in clean beds. We usually preferred to 
sleep under the stars, but we were still badly wounded, and 
a night in one of Britannia's inns was said to work wonders. 

The next morning , refreshed and healed of our 
wounds , we set off early to collect Dupre at 
Bordermarch. There was no sign of Geoffrey. During 
the short sail we laughed again and again as each of 
us recounted stories of near misses and heroic acts. 
We sang Geoffrey 's praises to the clouds and the 
seabirds as well, saying farewell in our way to a good 
friend and staunch ally. 

When we reached Bordermarch, we anchored our 
frigate on the west side of the island. We had chosen 
the eastern coast the time before , and had been 
surrounded with enemies. Perhaps the other side 
would turn out to be safer. 

We climbed the steep path to Bordermarch 
without too much difficulty, arriving around noon. We 
found Dupre up on the battlements , near the 
southwest tower. He joined our party readily and we 
prepared to set off on the next stage of our adventure. 
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"Before thou leavest the city, Avatar, why not visit 
the Shattered Shield? 'Tis an armoury of the finest 
calibre where thou canst find the most powerful and 
rare of weapons." 

We took his advice and visited the Shattered 
Shield. Despite its inauspicious name, we found Dupre 
had not misled us. This was not at all a surprise, for 
Dupre was the noblest of Paladins, a seeker of Virtue 
and Truth. Those who joked at our friend 's prodigious 
appetite for ale were certainly missing the point. 

The prices at The Shattered Shield were as high as 
the quality of their goods, however, and we were only 
able to afford a few items. Fortunately, we were pretty 
well armed from our visit to the King's Treasury. For 
some reason, though, I didn't feel it necessary to tell 
Dupre how we had come upon our good fortune . I 
doubted he would have agreed with our methods. 

Still , we were a refreshed and encouraged little 
band of adventurers as we set off that day from 
Bordermarch. Our next destination: Serpent's Hold. 
The Keep of Courage. 

:Entry 19-~hrine 
( ) of Vlllor: f lll'lhing 

D n our journey south toward 
Serpent's Hold, Dupre told us 
we would pass the Shrine of 
Valor, and we all agreed we 
should stop there and 

meditate. Once again, I received a Shrine Quest. 
By the time we left the shrine, it was dark. We had 

had enough bad experiences on the high seas at night, 
so we sailed to the nearby island where Dupre told us 
the settlement of Farthing could be found. Here we 
might find a place to rest. On smaller islands it was 
dangerous to sleep close to shore. Sea monsters were 
attracted to us or to our boat. At any rate, we still had 
a long way to go, and preferred to rest for the night. 

Farthing was little more than a manor house set in 
the deepest part of a thick forest. We entered late at 
night and found the gates closed. However a door just 
east of the gates, though magically locked, proved no 
great barrier. We entered a snug, warm kitchen. Two 
hot wood-burning stoves blazed to our right as we 

entered, and we spotted a round , jovial man who I 
us his name was Quintin. We spoke with the man 
a few minutes, learning little. It was nice to know 
people here were friendly , though. 

We soon found out, however, that everyone 
was asleep, and even our friend Quintin was abo\f 
retire for the night. Even worse, there were no 
beds. I guess the people of Farthing weren't usea 
having visitors. In the end we decided to retire to 
forest and rest there under the trees. 

In the morning we arose, feeling refreshed. It 
after nine by the time we re-entered Farthing, an: 
went in search of Lord Seggallion, whom Quintin 
mentioned. 

We found Seggallion in the main hall and s 
while with him. He was courteous and well gr 
He had the look of a man of action who had be€l! 
for many years. There was a sense of caged 
just beneath his very polite and mannered surface 
learned that he had once been a pirate, thougr 
never used that term, but now he was retired It 

manor. Quintin had told us the same thing, but 
bluntly. Seggallion gave us permission to stay as 
as we Uked , so we thanked him and wandered 
the estate for a while. 

In the southeast comer room, we found a· 
and a child sitting at writing desks. We guessei: 
the child was an apprentice from the way he 
so diligently at copying scrolls . The wizard 
seemed preoccupied and motioned for us to 
with the child, which we did. 
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The apprentice 's name was Dufus. O.K., it's a 
tty dumb name, and my expectations of him 

iUnmeted. The wizard, we learned, was Temme. We 
lllied with the child about '<Iremme and got onto the 

ject of the wizard 's magical spells . Dufus was 
mtainly impressed with his master. 

"Beyond imagining! Why, one day I even saw her 
DMrly kill a Giant Rat with a single spell! " His eyes 
ee wide with wonder, and I didn't have the heart to 
.. him that many spells could do that! 

I encouraged him. "A ~at? Very good! " 
·ves, 'tis true. I saw it with my own eyes! Would 

IOO like me to tell you something really amazing?" I 
·beginning to think I was wasting my time with this 

duki. but I nodded anyway. He continued in awestruck 
. "Just the other day, the Great Mage Temme lit 

1 lire with no flint or steel, but merely Lord 
iiggallion's spyglass." 

~pyglnss?" I asked, my interest finally aroused. 
·Lord Seggallion uses it to study the stars! If thou 

!51'.eth, he might show it unto thee." 
At this point, the wizard, the Great Mage Temme, 

oked up from her studies and asked what we 
mted. I quickly found out that the teacher shared her 
apprentice's high opinion of her abilities. 

I am a mage of great repute! " she told us 
emphatically. 
·or great ~epute? " lolo said with a touch of 

sarcasm. 
The mage was not entirely self-absorbed , and she 

"1ught the skepticism in Iolo 's tone . "Modesty was 
De1er one of my great virtues," she told us with a hint 
m apology. "But I am actually quite good. Would you 

unpressed if I told you that I can cast a spell that 
creates light even on the darkest night?" 

It was a common spell, but there was no sense in 
bemg rude . The woman might have some other 
lllKjue skill, so I said, "ljes. That is a good spell." 

Temme beamed. "Well! If you think that's good, 
nearly made things disappear! " 
Di1nppm?" echoed Jaana. Apparently she had 

'.lll heard that one before. 
Temme suddenly wilted a little. "I know I've got the 

'Ords right, but I may have mixed the reagents 
improperly, I think." 

Jaana asked her, "What are the ;rlllorbs?" 
"I use the chant . . . Now don 't tell anyone else ... 

ANYLEM!" 
Shamino muttered , "An Ylem ," as if trying the 

words on for size, but the wizard shrieked, "Not now, 
fool! Am I still here?" 

I wasn ' t sure she'd be there long if she called 
Shamino a fool again , but Jaana interrupted and 
asked, "What are the ~ea gents?" 

The wizard calmed down again, and I grinned at 
Shamino, who finally grinned back, but continued to 
finger his dagger ominously. I knew he would not 
harm the woman, however. Scare her a bit, maybe, 
but no more. Meanwhile, Temme answered, "I think it 
was Ash and Mandrake ... But, then again, perhaps it 
was Garlic and Blood Moss. Oh, I don 't know. I've 
never had a very good memory. " 

The Great Mage Temme continued to babble and 
argue with herself as we let ourselves out of the room. 
We went in search of Lord Seggallion and found him 
still in the main hall. When I asked him about the 
~pgglaH , he looked pleased. 

"I used my spyglass to study the stars. Wouldst 
thou like to see it?" 

"ljes, I would ." I replied . 
"I used it on many nights for navigational 

purposes. I use it but rarely now. Dost thou study the 
stars?" he asked, suddenly. I nodded, and he studied 
me. I knew a question of my loyalty would follow. 
They always got that look before asking one of those 
questions. Seggallion's question was a little different 
however, and almost threw me. "What is it said that 
the eight planets represent?" he asked. 

I had to think a moment. Then I remembered what 
Zachariah in Moonglow had said about the planets . 
"They represent the 3i)irtU£s ," I answered. 

Satisfied , Seggallion handed me the Spyglass, 
saying , "I would like thee to have my spyglass . 
Wouldst thou like it?" When I said I would, he advised 
me to use it wisely. 

A little later, after spending some time with 
Seggallion trading adventure stories, we took our leave 
and made ready for the next leg of our journey. I was 
all set to try to reach the Serpent's Hold before dark, 
but Dupre suggested we stop off at the Greyhaven 
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lighthouse. I had no reason to go there, but none to 
avoid the place either. 

The Greyhaven lighthouse was at the southern tip 
of the Britannian continent. It was practically due east 
of Farthing, and just a bit north. When we reached the 
southern islands, we had to row our ship carefully to 
avoid running aground. We found the lighthouse on 
the eastern peninsula that jutted down off the 
mainland. The journey had taken only a few hours, 
but the sun was already setting by the time we arrived. 

l 
Entry 20-<:ireyhaven 
n the twilight, we entered the 
lighthouse grounds, where we 
saw a young boy playing in the 
bushes to our left. He played a 
game of hide and seek with us, 
but we chased him down and 

asked his name . We learned that his name was 
Anthony and that his parents were David and 
Charlotte. What was most disturbing was the way he 
had been indoctrinated into a belief in Blackthorn's 
misguided laws. I don 't think he believed I was the 
Avatar when I didn 't support Blackthorn's position, 
but I had no time to argue the point or to try to undo 
the damage that had been done to his mind. He was 
young. I assumed he would grow wiser once we had 
rid the land of the scourge of the Shadowlords and 
restored the King to his place. If we could do all that. ... 

Inside we met a man named Sir Arbuthnot, a 
fighter who claimed to have created the coin that had 

brought me back to Britannia. He seemed to have 
little else to add. He was hiding from Blackthorn's 
justice. 

In a room to the west we found Lord Kenneth, thE 
court composer we had heard about at the Empa~ 
Abbey. I asked about his Wob, just to confirm that i 
was, indeed, the same Lord Kenneth. 

"I am the Court Composer," he stated. 
acknowledging my question. 

I asked him about being a <Hom:po1m and he askej 
me if I wished to learn the harpsichord. I rememberal 
Tim at Empath Abbey saying something about th~ 
instrument, so I indicated my willingness to be! 
student. Lord Kenneth told me to open the Book .. 
Lore, a book I had found in my pouch when I had fus 
arrived this time. In it I found a musical piece calJe: 
"Stones." He told me the first three notes and m 
me to read the next three. 

"~<!I~?" I guessed. He then converted the first lei. 
lettered notes into numbers and asked me to do !ti 
same with my answer. 

" gs1?" I guessed again. 
"Good!" he congratulated me. I had guessed!¢ 

both times and he seemed satisfied. "So the fi~ 
phrase goes 678 987 8767653! Now thou ml.l 
practice. " 

I fingered the little tune a few times and foum 
easier than I had thought at first. Of course I la& 
the delicacy of a real musician. After all, my hare 
had most recently been used to rig the Frigate 
to hack apart ores. Though enjoyable, my one rrns: 
lesson was clearly not the beginning of a new-! 
career. 

We left Lord Kenneth after the lesson and dlmli 
the ladder to the top of the lighthouse. Here 
spotted an old man tinkering with the gear assenn 
that drove the lighthouse beacon. He grunted as 
worked, but paused when we approached, lookirli 
over with some suspicion. I couldn't blame h 
though. Here we were , six battle-harder 
adventurers, walking up to him in the dead of nigr: 
would have been suspicious, too. 

This grizzled old veteran turned out to be the 
of the boy we had met outside. His name was 
and his conversation was hardly more polite thai: 

156 



W.'l'lmll V: WZlrrior:s ol De:stiny 

.xpression, which was sour. I had a purpose in 
i:J<aking with the man, however, and guided the 
.:.cwersation as quickly to that subject as I could. I 
·1membered hearing about an ex-pirate named 
David at the Buccaneer's Den. I thought this might 
~ the very same one. So I asked him about the 
kdaul. 

The old man was most pleased that I knew of his 
:.?Vice and warmed to me suddenly, calling me a 
:~rson of exceptional wisdom. I tried not to say 
:iything to make him change his opinion. Eventually, 

.., gave me one of his inventions, and I thanked him. 
·was with some pleasure that we left him, still 
::-.kering with his lighthouse beacon. 

On our way out of the house, Dupre caught up 
lh me and seemed most pleased with something. 
"What is it, my friend?" I asked him. 
'Oh, 'tis nothing of much import, Avatar. Tis just 

·~t we have come and gone in the night and so will 
.:it have to speak with the lady of the lighthouse." 

'Oh?" I wasn't sure what he was getting at. 
He grinned even wider. "Meanin' no disrespect for 

·!le good woman, I've met her before. She fancies 
::erself a philosopher, but follows a confused logic. 
She supports Blackthorn's laws, thinking they are in 
nordance with the Virtues. No amount of argument 
ill change her mind. I doubt she knows anything else 

'.'ESides, · he added. 
"So that's where the young boy gets his 

:*Ulosophy," I guessed. 
"Aye,· agreed Dupre. "He's an acorn fallen not far 

~om the tree, right enough." 
"Do you think many people believe in Blackthorn's 

;Mosophy?" I asked him. 
He shrugged. "Some do, many do not. Many a 

:rue seeker has been diverted from the path by such 
~~usible half-truths . 'Tis easy enough to turn the 
'nnciples into rules and to tum seekers into slaves." 

'And they don't see the difference, do they?" I 
~sadly. 

"Few have the strength of character to follow the 
:rue path of Virtue, Avatar. Thou must bear thy 
:uden and be an example to those whose eyes do not 
;ee 'Tis the Shadowlords who darken people's sight 
ind their minds. Defeat the Shadowlords and the 

people will see again." 
"Yes , my friend. You're right , of course . No 

amount of argument will change the minds of people 
convinced of their own righteousness. But we can 
remove the darkness and allow them to see for 
themselves." 

I think Dupre's smile indicated a new respect . 
"Well said, Avatar," he told me. 'Thou hast grasped 
the essence of the problem." 

We found a suitable place to camp , just a short 
distance from the lighthouse, and holed up for the 
night. The rest was refreshing and washed away any 
tiredness we felt . By morning we were bound for 
Serpent's Hold. 

:Entry 21-
t>~rp4imt':i ljold 
e sailed east , then turned 
south , coming in at the 
northern coast of the island of 
the Serpent's Hold. We set the 
anchor there and took the 

Magic Carpet overland until we reached the castle 
itself. The island was a paradise of low woods, rolling 
hills, and dense green grassland. The weather was 
quite warm, and we all loosened our armor just a little. 
But when we reached Serpent's Hold , we made 
ourselves as presentable as we could . The castle 
sprawled at the mouth of a great bay, two great 
bridges leading to and from it. The architecture was 
truly a marvel, done in the southern style. We had 
seen traces of that style in Jhelom and even at 
Farthing, but here was a magnificent masterpiece of 
colonnades, arches, and great rounded towers . 
Carved relief figures adorned the castle walls , 
depicting geometric designs that caught the eye 
hypnotically. 

As we entered the gates, gawking like tourists, we 
felt the refreshing coolness that emanated from the 
stone walls. There was also a sense of strength here, 
and of hope. I knew that Serpent's Hold held Courage 
above all other Principles. Our spirits were lifted by 
the magic of the place. 

157 



Passing under the arches of the front hall, we 
came upon a peaceful fountain. Flowers of all kinds 
lined the flowing water in special ornate planter boxes, 
a riot of rose , fuchsia , sky blue, indigo, and lemon . 
Fragrant perfumes wafted from fruit trees that grew in 
the corners of the courtyard . We breathed the 
intoxicating pollens and listened to the water falling 
for a few minutes, each of us captivated in his own 
way by its beauty and peace. I only sneezed once. 

We passed through the gardens and entered a 
door to the west. The door led to a small chamber, lit 
by smoky torches, and at the far wall we spotted a 
ladder. Climbing up this ladder, we reached another 
chamber. This one was lit from above by windows 
sculpted into the walls and embellished with a design 
of interwoven vines . Heading through the north exits, 
we found ourselves in the throne room of Lord 
Malone, the Castellan of Serpent's Hold. It was just 
past 11:30 in the morning. 

The throne room was almost Spartan in its 
simplicity. It had virtually no adornment, just massive 
stone walls and a solid table of some hardwood , 
surrounded by heavy chairs that could have been used 
to batter down the gates of lesser keeps. 

Lord Malone was almost like part of the furniture 
of this room , massive and solid , simple and 
unpretentious. His clothing was that of an ordinary 
soldier, though he held a small baton-like scepter in 
one hand. 

We spoke with Lord Malone for several minutes, 
passing on our news and asking if he had any to offer. Of 
course, one of our questions had to do with 1lirrb ~riti11q . 

"I fear that Lord British is no more ," he told us. 
His hawk-like eyes searched us as he spoke and his 
hands gripped the scepter of his office, wringing it as 
if to squeeze the truth out of it. "He has been missing 
for some time. I feel sure if he still lived he would deal 
with the imposter Blackthorn!" 

My companions muttered their disagreement at 
this notion of the King's fate , but I asked the Lord if 
he knew anything about ~luchtqirrn . 

"This castle, a bastion of Courage, is one of the 
last redoubts against the evil of the Shadowlords! " he 
told us, holding his scepter as if to encompass the 
entire castle within its protection. 

"And what of the ffeiqubofnlorb11? " I asked him. 
The scepter smashed onto the table with a looo 

bang, making me jump a foot in the air. I heard the 
brief swish of weapons being drawn behind me. "Even 
Nosfentor dares not cross the sacred threshold ol 
Serpent's Hold!" he said in very even tone . 
enunciating each word very clearly so there could Ix 
no mistaking his meaning or his certainty. 

')fosfentor?" I asked him in a whisper, almo 
afraid to talk after witnessing his intensity. 

Lord Malone raised a great, calloused hand as if tt 
stop me. "Speak not that name too loudly, for ' tis ~ 

name of the Shadowlord of Cowardice! " I felt Jik, 
washing my mouth out with something antiseptic, an: 
preferably intoxicating. 

Lord Malone proved to be a great host, an 
encouraged us to visit his kitchens and also to pc 
homage to the Flame of Truth in the basement, whei 
his valiant knights often stood vigil. He als 
encouraged us to take anything we could find th! 
might aid us. As I was turning to leave, he motiore 
me over and told me in a quiet voice that I might · 
the prisoner to have some useful information. 1 di<ll: 
know what he meant, but nodded my thanks as 
companions filed out of the room, back the way 
had come. 

We explored the rest of the west wing, and 
found a secret library behind a fireplace . There 
little to interest us there , however, other than 
abandoned potion that Iola took. Dupre frowned. 
Lord Malone had told us to take what we needed. 

In the southwest tower, we found a ladder that 
down to the first floor of the keep. From there. 
headed east, through a door, then down anot 
ladder to the basement. 

The air in the basement was smoky and sti 
hot. Through a doorway we found the Flame 
Courage, but nobody was nearby. We paid holllalJ 
the flame, then hurried back to the ladder to relulr 
cooler and fresher air. Just as we were about to 
the easternmost ladder, Dupre called my attention 
strange part of the eastern wall. It was a false one 
a door hid behind it. We found a long passage11~ 
the other side, but it seemed to go nowhere 
found another hidden door at the end of 
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:assageway, but there was nothing of interest in the 
'Xlm that was revealed when we opened it, only a 
nail, noxious seepage from the ground. It looked 
:llisonous and we all avoided it. 

Back on the first floor, we explored the east wing, 
here we met Gardner, the keeper of the Flame of 

:ourage. When he mentioned the J9lp1llofulorll•, I 
. 1ked him about them . His answer was most 
teresting. 
'Within the flames I often see visions! " he told us. 

He seemed sincere and without pretense. 
'Jli1i11tt•. What do you see?" I asked. 
'Avatar, I can offer thee my vision of the Shard of 

wwardice to aid thee in thy Quest. " Again, he was 
~serious and yet seemed to place no importance 
ii his own contribution. 

"You know of my ~urst, then?" 
He nodded and went on with his story. "Upon the 

Si! of the Codex, there lies a dungeon. At its bottom 
but a small, cavernous room of the Underworld. 

Hcl.vever, there are many more such small chambers, 
'.€ar enough to be reached by one with the proper 
:nagic! With many uses of such magic, and a great 
jeal of exploration , one may find the Shard of 
Cowardice. It lies at the location which upon the 
~ace would be recorded at LA' LI'." 

And that was it. He returned to his meal, ignoring 
JS I discussed this information with the others and 
Jaana told me she thought she knew the spell he 
~erred to. It was called the Blink spell, and could be 
\niled easily by even moderately trained mages. 

A pretty young woman asked us if we needed 
anything. Her raven hair cascaded over her shoulders 
l!ld her violet eyes reflected the light of the torches to 
Sive her an almost wild look. But she was perhaps less 
~ikl than her appearance suggested. It turned out she 
~as Kristi, the castle's head cook. We talked about her 
:ooking for the hungry ~t~• in the castle, and she 
mentioned that she also cooked for any Visitors. That 
lOUilded good to me. 

'Jli1itm?" I asked , hoping I was hinting broadly 
mough to entice her to bring out a morsel or two for 
:ne and my friends. Her answer surprised me, however. 

We don't have too many these days . .. .. A few 
.~ ago there was a strange, silent mage who ate 

here. He gave me 5 Skull Keys as payment. He said 
they are magic and powerful, worth many gold pieces. 
I have no use for them." Then she offered to sell them 
to me for 100 gold crowns. I thought about it a 
moment and decided a few more of these keys would 
be worth having, just in case. I asked if she had any 
more and she said no. She also told me they had 
come originally from an armorer named Shenstone . 
Small world! 

After we had had a bite, we looked through more 
of the east wing and found a Monsieur Loubet and his 
pupil, Maxwell. Monsieur Loubet was a fencing master 
with a decidedly French accent. He knew about the 
Magic Carpet, which he claimed was his method of 
arriving in Britannia from a "faraway land ." It all 
sounded pretty dubious, but I wasn't about to argue 
with a fencing master! 

Maxwell offered to join us, but we said no , not 
now. He shrugged and turned back to his master for 
more sparring. As we left the room, we heard the 
French master saying, "En garde! " The clash of steel 
followed us out of the room. 

We were about to leave Serpent's Hold, having 
done all we could think to do, when I remembered 
Lord Malone's advice regarding the prisoner. The jail 
was at the northern end of the garden courtyard , 
making it perhaps the nicest-smelling prison in all 
Britannia. We headed that way and jimmied open the 
lock to the main door. Inside , we could see two jail 
cells. Only one held a prisoner, making it easier to 
guess who Lord Malone had meant. 

Inside the cell, I immediately noticed some hidden 
doors. Later inspection of them showed that they led 
nowhere important . However , the prisoner 's 
testimony proved to be interesting, at the very least. 

His name was Toede-pronounced like "Toady"­
and he lived up to his name. It turned out that he had 
been the architect of Blackthorn's castle and knew 
where all the pits, traps, and secret doors were. We 
didn't learn all of it, but he was persuaded to give us 
some of the information we wanted . Though we 
stopped short of saying we supported Blackthorn, 
neither did we pose as the man's enemies. He may 
have hoped we could help him, so he was free with 
the information-up to a point. 
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f:ntry 22-Trinsic: 
Paws: Rew Magincia 
t has been some time since I 
caught up in my journal. Much 
has happened, and I hope I can 
remember it well enough. First, 
after leaving Serpent's Hold, 

we visited Trinsic and Paws. In Trinsic, we dug up a 
moonstone and took it with us as the crazy mage 
Goeth had suggested. I was half afraid we would end 
up like him. 

In Trinsic, I learned the Mantra of Honor from 
Gruman, a noble fighter we met in a strange way. We 
had spotted a hidden doorway just at the entrance to 
Trinsic . It led to a long hallway that encircled the 
town. On the second floor, in the northeast comer, 
we found Gruman looking out over the battlements. 
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When we spoke of ~nnar, we discovered the depth ol 
this man's commitment to the virtue represented~ 
Trinsic. He told us the .ffe!antrn of Honor was SUMM 
He told us he was waiting for a sign, and when he sa• 
it, he would go in search of Lord British. I wanted i. 
ask him to join us, but our party was full. At any rate. 
don't think he would have come. He didn't recogni:. 
me as the Avatar, though he did trust me with tlk 
Mantra. 

Nearby, we found a barrel containing four magia. 
Gems. Gruman told us to take them, so we did. \\, 
also heard about a sleepwalker who sound 
interesting, so we stayed around until nightfall a 
looked up in the battlements, near where we had mr 
Gruman at first. The sun had been down several ho.r· 
when we came across him. He was sleepwalking, 
right. 

"Hey!" I called. "~nlte up." 
He looked a little startled, but not quite all then 

"Wake?" he asked dimly. 
He was dressed as a wizard, so I asked, "Ar~ 

you a ~iwrll ?" 
"Yes," he told me. 
He reminded me of the crazy wizard, Goeth. : 

asked him, "Hey, do you know a ~nrll nf llJower?' 
He paused so long I didn't think he was going 

answer at all. Then he mumbled, "JNFAMA." 
Score one for the Avatar. "Great. Then do 

also know what ~ungeon that is for?" 
"Shame," he said after another pause, and I \lid! 

sure whether it was a comment or the name of 
dungeon. I decided it was the dungeon as the old 
wandered off, still mostly asleep. 

After Trinsic, we paid a brief visit to the very 
village of Paws. We left the ship at anchor near T 
and followed the well-kept road that led north. 
was only a couple of hours away by Magic Carpei 

In a dead tree north of the stables, Jaana 
Ring of Invisibility. We took it, since it seemed 
abandoned. 

In the Guild shop we found Glinkie, a self 
adventurer who turned out to have some , 
information. He was seeking the Shrine of Spirit 
but was having some trouble finding it. 
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Actually, we were talking about the Ciuilh and the 
""'they made there when he said, "I am searching 
'the mystic Shrine of Spirituality and feel they 

ooki be of good use!" 
I asked, "What do you know about the ~~rim?" 
·1 fear it has been destroyed," he answered. He 
standing near a bookcase, and he pulled a book 

"1111 the shelf, The Great Avatar Hoax by Richard 
J?Main. (My great-great-great-grandfather, I believe. 
-RDM) 

·n .. tro~•ll?" I asked. "I hope not." 
He looked up from the book hopefully. "Dost thou 

•1JJJ where to find it?" I answered him and he asked, 
,\'here?" 
I told him about the Moongates then and he was 
ted. "Art thou saying that I must enter a Moongate 
reach the Shrine of Spirituality?" 
I nodded and found myself smiling. His excitement 
contagious. 
"At midnight?" 
Another nod. 
·oh. no wonder I never found it. Well, that one is 

Kely safe then. But should thou see one destroyed ... 
:WUember, they can be restored with the ~orbs of 
J<t11rr ." 

This was something new. "With the Words of 
~:N.-er?" 

Now it was his turn to nod. "Whilst at the 
'€stroyed shrine, yell the Word of Power. Then 
iieditate upon the Shrine's Virtue with the proper 
\lantra for three cycles." 

While I was speaking with GUnkie, lolo had found 
Jllle keys hidden in a barrel. I frowned at him to 
,rorm him that I didn 't think we should take them. I 
ooght at the time that he'd put them back, but later I 
wi't so sure. Oh well . I don't think it harmed his 
rrtue . He has done so much good, even if he is 

;omewhat irreverent. 
Around noon , when all the merchants were at 
h at the Smuggler's Inn, we ran across an odd 

·.age out in the central square. If it is possible to walk 
.'S!eriously, he was doing it. I was surprised to see 

out in broad daylight. His name was Bandaii , and 
told me was searching for Smith, the talking horse. 
e had been through that before, and helped him as 

much as we could, telling him to look near Iolo's hut. 
He told us something about the Magic Carpet, but of 
course we already knew all about it. We were riding it 
at the time, and I was surprised he didn 't notice . 
People in Britannia could be so one-pointed and 
myopic at times , it was no wonder that they had 
embraced Blackthorn's false philosophy. They just 
failed to look around them and observe the larger 
truths. 

After we left Paws, we returned to the ship and 
sailed northeast until we reached the Buccaneer's 
island, then sailed due east from its southern tip. In 
that way, we reached the shores of New Magincia 
without incident. 

The city was under siege by a Shadowlord, and we 
still weren't ready to face one of those monsters, so we 
camped outside. The apparition of Lord British visited 
us again, advancing some of us, and healing us all . 

We entered New Magincia before dawn, and though it 
was still dark, we saw an old man standing in a field of 
wheat. He seemed to be deep in contemplation, but 
when we approached he greeted us openly. 

"I am called Wartow," he told us. 
Closer up, I could see that he had lived a full life. 

The lines in his face told a story of laughter and tears 
as clearly as a book. But he seemed to be at peace 
and his eyes were young. I asked him what he did, and 
he answered, "I stay here to live out my life! " 

"1li£e," I said. "You have had a long Life, I think." 
"I have lived many years," he answered simply. 
"Many lJlenrs , indeed. " 
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He smiled a little. "Too many to count. " 
I could think of nothing else to say, though I 

enjoyed meeting this man of peace. But our Quest 
would not wait. I said goodbye and he advised me not 
to stray from the Path. 

We searched the village, but found no people at 
first. What might once have been a great city was now 
little more than a collection of adobe huts surrounded 
by fields of grain and other crops. It was not a bad 
place, but a very simple one. We saw no frills. In fact, 
there seemed to be only one small tavern in the whole 
village. 

Suddenly I remembered being here before. The last 
time I had been to New Magincia, it had been a ruin 
populated by deformed ghosts. I had been only too 
happy to leave it then. Now it was a place where I 
could imagine staying for a while, though life would 
not be easy here. But the town had begun to rebuild, 
and I was suddenly filled with joy at the rebirth of this 
community. They had learned a bitter lesson. Now 
they would act as a living example of humility. 

Eventually we reached a field in the western part of 
the city. There we found four villagers already at work. 
First we spoke with Kaiko. In another place, Kaiko 
might have been a Lady of the Court or perhaps a 
Healer. Here, she was diffident and seemed to lack 
confidence. She held onto a long hoe and kept her 
distance from us as we spoke. I began by asking her 
about her ~ob-that standard Britannian ice-breaker. 

She gestured around her. "I work to grow the crops 
for our towne ," she said, bending back to her work. 

"The <lrrop .. are good?" I asked. 
"Without our work, many would starve, yet we 

seek no more than our humble earnings, unlike the 
new King!" Was there just a hint of fire underneath 
that shy exterior? Her eyes were hidden by her bangs 
as she continued to work the hoe, but I caught a hard 
edge of outrage in her tone. 

"What about the new ~ing?" I prodded. 
"Blackthorn, the usurper! " she muttered . Yes. 

There was the fire! 
"Tell me about ~lncktJiorn, " I asked her. 
She didn't look up from her hoe, even now, but 

she told me, "He takes half our harvest, and imprisons 
those with the knowledge of the ancients! " 

"What ~owldlgr?" 
Finally she looked up at me again , and I could see 

that she was close to tears. "One of our people was of 
the Council, and was jailed by the King even though 
he never lifted a finger against the throne! " 

I shared her frustration . "They :1)11Ueh him?" 
Suddenly she looked tired . The strain was 

obviously getting to her. "Hassad came to us from 
Skara Brae, fleeing Blackthorn's search. A long time 
he lived among us, for Magincia was near-forgotten. 
But the Shadowlords found him. Now he lies chained 
in Blackthorn's dark dungeon. He is to be an example 
to those who refuse to yield their knowledge for 
Blackthorn's evil use! " 

I could offer little comfort, but I promised I wotl: 
do what I could to rescue Hassad. She looked gratehl 
but not convinced. She returned to her hoeing. 

The others with Kaiko were steadfast in ther 
pursuit of Virtue, but had little new information tc 
offer us. So we left the little field and began to expJor, 
once again . That's when we ran into my formr 
companion, Katrina. She looked well , but when 
saw me, she immediately offered to join my band 
seemed that life in New Magincia was not acti1 
enough. When I told her I could not invite her, · 
seemed genuinely disappointed. So was I, for the 
matter. Katrina, though not the most powerful fighte 
of all, was a person of great inner power. I told he: 
would return for her if the need arose, and s~ 
seemed somewhat mollified. But I knew she ached 
join us. I even considered bending my rule, but lk 
thought better of it. For above all , Katrina was 
woman of peace. She fought well when challe 
but was at her best in times of peace. She was 
shepherd, but we were not out hunting wolves. 
prey was more deadly! 

In the graveyard we spotted an old woman tert: 
the graves. She was clipping the grass around tit" 
and arranging flowers at the headstones. 
approached a bit nervously . Speaking for m1 
graveyards are not my favorite hangouts. But 
never knew who was going to tell you something 
just had to know. And in a town like this, the 
unlikely people could have the most informa! 
Anyway, I went up to her and she greeted me, sa i 
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name was Shirita. She told me she tended the 
.. es of the former residents of Magincia. I asked 
Ail the ;Jlnlptlritmtt&, and she told me how Magincia 
been destroyed for its sins of pride and arrogance. 
Arrogance ," 1 commented. "Well, that's all gone 

She sighed. " Magincia was once a thriving 
rithant community, the envy of all Britannia!" 

Ah, ~ritannia . . . " 1 was going to say something 
, but she interrupted me. I think she wasn't really 
mg to me any more. She seemed to be reliving the 
glories and the degradation of Magincia in her mind. 
Sadly, they were not at all humble. Daemons 

from the earth, engulfing Magincia in flames! " 
seemed to see the horror of it, and I could only 

liter "'lnmu" under my breath before she went on 
her story. She almost seemed to be transported 

the past. It was like listening to a ghost. I got 
rlen skin all over. 

The souls of the inhabitants lived on as undead 
1atures to ward others from the twisted path of 

=-de! After years of torment, they have finally been 
· to rest. " Then she turned her gaze toward me and 

tl!lled suddenly to be back in the present. The effect 
no less disconcerting than her ghostly reminiscences 

· been. "Pride, 'tis difficult to avoid. Dost thou strive 
•alk a humble path?" she asked. The question had 
ht me off guard, but the answer was simple. 
~··." I said. 
he smiled , a kindly old woman once again . 

:ool. There is a wise old man in this towne, who 
the life of a recluse. He has much wisdom on the 

:tue of Humility. " The old man in the field . He had 
Ile the one. 
I can 't say I was sorry to leave Shirita and her 

731e-tending, but neither would I soon forget her. 
. her final farewell , " 'Til then," sounded ominous. 
:.!Id she one day soon be tending my grave? Or 
rllaps someone just like her? I noticed that my 
x:ipanions seemed just as eager to be elsewhere, 

that gave me some small comfort. 
We hurried back to Wartow's field and found him 

ure or less where we had left him. He was working 
iy in his field . After Shirita, I felt like getting to the 
~I right away. 

"Can you tell me about ~1m1ilit1i? " I asked. 
I can't say this was a great surprise, but he tested 

me. "Who dost thou serve?" he countered. 
"British," I assured him. 
He nodded slowly. "Dost thou hate the evil tyrant 

Blackthorn?" 
Now just a minute! I'd already answered the 

obligatory question . No fair asking another. What 
should I say? The fact is, though I might have good 
reason to hate Blackthorn, I was well aware that he 
was a victim of a greater evil. And, as Avatar, I knew 
hatred to be the opposite of Love, which was one of 
the cardinal Principles . ;No , I could not hate 
Blackthorn , though I wasn 't sure I could love him 
either. I told the old man as much. 

He smiled, a slow sort of grin that came out like 
the sun peeking from behind dense clouds after a 
storm. "Thou are wiser than I thought! " he told me. 
"Dost thou need the Mantra of Humility?" 

I was somewhat overcome by his smile . I felt 
somehow as if I had just pleased my own father , 
something that every son wishes he could do . But I 
made the appropriate answer. 

He took my shoulders in his hands . They were 
surprisingly strong. "Then it is thine! " he said . " 
'LUM' is the chant which thou dost seek! " 

And that was that. With another "Farewell , and 
stay on the Path, " Wartow saw us on our way. Next 
stop, the Shrine of the Codex. 

s 
Entry 23-~utek's 
Jsland 
ailing due south off the 
western coast of New 
Magincia, we planned to turn 
east after a few hours, hoping 
that would lead us to the Isle of 

the Codex. We rigged her for double speed, and set 
sail just before noon. We were surprised, however, by 
the appearance of a small island just about an hour's 
sail south. We could see a small dwelling set on the 
middle of the island , which seemed to be a nasty , 
poisonous place covered by fens and steaming 
swamps. 
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"Whoever lives here must not want company, " 
commented Shamino as he tied a length of cloth 
around his nose. 

'Then let us give 'im some and find out the reason 
why," added Iolo, flexing his sword hand. 

Fortunately, we had the Magic Carpet, for I would 
not have liked the idea of slogging through the muck 
on that island. But we flew over it and simply had to 
hold our noses, or do as Shamino had done and bind 
a cloth over our faces. We arrived at the rude dwelling 
none the worse for wear, though slightly lightheaded 
from breathing the stinking gases. 

There were several paths leading through the 
swamp. We found one that led to a small footbridge 
over a freshwater lake, and we glided past it to find 
the hut just beyond. Inside , however , we found 
nobody. We flew the Magic Carpet around outside 
again until we spotted a small graveyard. The well­
tended grass of the graves stood out in stark contrast 
to the fetid mire of the area. Standing next to one of 
the graves was a tall, neatly dressed wizard. He 
contrasted even more heavily with his surroundings 
than the grass did. I just had time to read one of the 
headstones before the wizard looked up and 
acknowledged our approach. It said , "Here lies Lebling 
in his coffin. Kickest the dragon once too often. " 

When we approached the wizard, he greeted us. I 
was half afraid he'd be a lunatic, living out here in the 
middle of nowhere surrounded only by the most 
noxious pools of deadly muck I'd seen this side of a 
Britannian dungeon. But he was very civil and spoke 
with an educated tongue . He told us his name was 

Sutek (a name that rang a bell somewhere in my h~ 
and then asked if I was the Avatar of Legend. I 
acknowledged my identity and he began to tell us a mOSl 
amazing tale. All through the telling of it , he studied rm· 
face, as if willing the information into me. It was a l1105" 

intense few minutes. In some ways it felt like hours. Ir 
another sense, it seemed to flash by in an instant. 

"I have been scrying for the nature of the threi 
Shards!" he began. "I have learned they were forme: 
at the time of the first Dark Lord. When Mondam• 
Gem of Immortality was destroyed, its shards s 
harbored unspeakable Evil! " 

He paused a moment for effect. I could feel the 

sweat dripping off my forehead, but I was so rivetr. 
by his stare that I couldn't even raise my arm to \It~ 
it off. I remember a part of my mind thinking sw 
would run into my eyes while another part sim 
concentrated on Sutek. lt was almost as if I were Ill 
people. It was weird . But the wizard was alreac 
speaking again and I realized I was already listening. 

"They lay festering deep within the earth, but 
their malevolent power has been unleashed upon 
world." He drew a deep breath and I almost winced 
the irrational thought that he was about to blOllt 
down. With a tremendous authority , he said, ·t­
Shards and the Shadowlords can and must be destrO) 

Now I knew he was using some kind of m 
control on me. I saw visions of the scenes 
described next. "The Shards must be recovered 
their resting places in the boundless Underworld, 
cast into the Eternal Flames of Truth , Love. -
Courage . . . " He paused again while visions ol 
Eternal Rames flickered in my head. Then s 
they were there. Standing near the flames were 
Shadowlords. I hardly heard his next words. Hall 
mind was cringing in horror at their black evil star 
these sacred places. 

But Sutek was punctuating the visions, com 
his thoughts with the words, "Even as each r 
Shadowlord stands nigh upon the flame ol 
Principle it opposes." 

Suddenly I was released from the spell. Noo: I 
just myself, standing there talking to a rather 
old wizard. He was still speaking, though. "Take 
this knowledge and use it well! " he told me. 
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And that was that. 
As we were walking away from him, however, he 

;afled, "I've some scrolls, potions and other items in 
hut, Avatar. Take what thou hast need of." 
So we backtracked to the hut and found an orange 
p potion, a Negate Time scroll, and a Summon 

:lieinon scroll. We also found an Amulet of Turning , 
l:h would protect the wearer from undead creatures. 
Finally we got under way again . We were all 
teful to see the last of Sutek's island, though I think 

iana and Gwenno, the least vocal about their 
pleasure, were the most relieved. They both 
shed on perfumes until we were all reeling in 

iS!Ulle and gardenia. 
Our destination was still the Shrine of the Codex, 

id we sailed into the night, due east, until we 
m its shores. Then we turned south and followed 

shore until we came to the river mouth that led up 
!he Shrine. 
The Shrine was unchanged , but this time the 

:.dex was opened to a page that read, "Those who 
to try know not their limits and thus know not 

Ives." 
It was a long journey back to the Shrine of Valor, 
that had to be our next destination. Feeling the 

of the Codex within my soul, I fought off any 
·ts of my ability to complete this immense task. I 

I would have to test my limits before this was 
. For now, however, another sea voyage faced 

and my companions. We continued our sail north 
1 !hart distance until we reached a bay on the eastern 

re of the Island of the Codex, then began the long 
east until we found land. Finally, we sailed along 
coastline until we found the Shrine of Valor. 
After completing the Valor Quest, it was but a 

iOOrt sail to the northeast to find the Shrine of Honor, 
at the head of a small bay. 

l 
f:ntry 24-~hrine 
\)uests: eodex: 
~in'Vrzizil: G:rendel 
the llm 
make an entry now after many 
days of sailing and questing. 

We have completed all the Shrine Quests , but the 
adventures have quickly blended into one another. I 
have chosen to spare my pen and conserve ink by 
relating only some of the most important aspects of 
our journey. 

From the Shrine of Honor , we returned to the 
Shrine of the Codex and learned from the sacred 
book, "It is the guilt, not the guillotine, that constitutes 
the shame. " 
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From the Shrine of Humility, located right there on 
the Island of the Codex, the book told me, "Pride is a 
vice, which Pride itself inclines one to find in others, 
and overlook in oneself." 

From the Shrine of Honesty, the Codex said , "A 
dishonest life brings unto thee temporary gain , but 
forsakes the permanent. " 

After we had completed the Shrine Quest of 
Honesty, we had completed all but one of the Shrine 
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Quests. We knew that we would have to wait until 
both moons became full to reach the Shrine of 
Spirituality, but we hadn 't noticed that happening . 
Gwenno suggested burying the moonstone we had 
gotten in Trinsic and waiting a few days, but Jaana 
had another idea , which sounded very interesting. 

"Why not get the moonstone from near Minoc?" 
she asked , frowning a little as if trying to grasp a 
difficult concept. "Maybe its moonstone will have 
some special property, especially because Minoc is 
associated with the full moon." 

"Now why would a moonstone have any effect on 
the moon itself?" Shamino inquired skeptically. He 
stroked his beard with one hand while gesturing , 
somewhat dramatically I thought, toward the sky." 'Tis 
harebrained! " 

"Nay, Shamino. Tis a truly inspired conception," 
Iola countered, clapping Jaana heartily on the back. 
Jaana grimaced, but said nothing. 

Everyone had an opinion, but in the end we 
decided that it was just weird enough to work. E~ 
Shamino grudgingly accepted the notion, so we 
sail for Minoc . The voyage was pleasant, though 
found myself on more than one occasion wonde~ 
how I had so easily discarded the laws of physics th! 
had once seemed so immutable. 

Sure enough, when we came into proximity " 
the moonstone, it seemed to affect the phases of 
moon. Now if this happened where I came from. 
would have driven a lot of people crazy, but here 
merely seemed improbable and fortuitous. 

We tried waiting there , near the Moongate 
location, but kept getting attacked by all manner 
creature, both by land and by sea. So we dug up 
stone and moved it to the relative safety of the v.00 
where Minoc was located. There, we could wait , 
the time until the moons reached the correct phase 

We waited for several days, but both moons h 
not yet become full at the same time. One mg, 
though, both moons went dark at the same time.~ 
were both new moons. For some reason-call r 
hunch-we all decided I should try the Moongate !la 
and , to my surprise, I found myself at the Shrine 
Spirituality as soon as I had stepped into the gale. 
don ' t remember much about the Shrine. 
remember is that familiar feeling once the S 
Quest was ordained. 

We returned to the Avatar's Island, where I 
again visited the Codex. I read , "To forsake 
inner being is to abandon thy hopes for thyself aOO 
thy world. " 

Just as I finished reading the passage, the 
Shrine began to shake and there was a gr 
rumbling . I think the only thing that prevented 
from running was that I was in a state of shock. ~ 
air itself seem~d to vibrate palpably, perhaps s 
up by the earthquake. Whatever it was, it cause: 
page of the sacred book to turn . Here is what it 
"Beyond Shame 's egress in the centre of 
Underground there is a place of Darkness! Beyorvl 
darkness lies the gate to the core of the worldl ~ 
thou art ready thou must call forth Veramocor to 
the gate and venture past ethereal wards and steW 
souls. That which the world hath lost awaits thy co 
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I could think at the time was that I was glad I 
tread that passage earlier. I thought perhaps I 
t have backed out of the whole thing. Place of 

? Stealers of souls? I had a bad feeling about 
~tiole thing . 
When I rejoined my companions, I didn 't say 
trung about what I'd seen in the Codex. Not at 

anyway. But they noticed my mood was somber 
questioned me. When I did tell them, however, 
. seemed unconcerned , and I tried to use their 
· ence to bolster mine. It worked, a little. I knew, 
J)h, that we were soon to find ourselves in places 
worse than those we had visited so far. I kept 

g about dungeons, undergrounds, and places of 
ess. It weighed on me constantly, and I began to 

almost eager to get to it, to get it over with . 
l.leanwhile, we sailed south from the Avatar 's 
nd. past the Shrine of Honesty, and around 
~r Isle. Then we veered west, intending to head 

·to the Britanny area . Along the way we had one 
lll' more memorable encounters. 

Along the southern shore of the main continent, 
potted a hut off in the distance. It was set in the 

of the southern desert, and I was reminded of 
information we'd received about a daemon who 

1n the area. I wasn't too thrilled with the idea of 
g a daemon, but I knew I would meet worse 

ore this Quest was over. 
We anchored the ship offshore and made our way 
·ne hut. We found the monster tilling his . fields . I 
;nuck by the similarity between it and the people 

of New Magincia. Not that they looked alike! This was 
a truly frightful monster before us. But the very bucolic 
nature of its activity brought up the association, and 
perhaps lent me some courage to approach and speak 
with the creature instead of burying a Magic Axe in its 
skull. 

The creature had great leathery wings, like some 
sort of man-sized bat, though it towered over even the 
tallest of us. I don't think it would have taken more 
than a gesture from the thing to make us all draw 
weapons or take to our heels, but it held silent and 
didn't move. 

"I think thou shouldst wish the creature a good 
day," whispered lolo, "and we should be gone. " 

"Art thou afraid?" taunted Shamino. "Dost thou 
want to remain in the boat, my fragile friend?" 

Iolo stood to his fullest height and turned to face 
Shamino. His eyes were like full moons and his mouth 
worked a moment before anything came out. "Afraid? 
What manner of slanderous dragon excrement is 
this?" he cried. 

Shamino only smiled, then started to laugh. We all 
started laughing then , and, after a moment, even lolo 
joined in . "Thou hast got me a good one , ' 
commented lolo. 

Suddenly I noticed that our levity had aroused the 
attention of the daemon . It looked at us with what 
might have passed for a bemused expression in its 
race . I walked toward it , still chuckling at Iolo 's 
outrage; my moment of anxiety was gone. I could see 
the greenish-yellow eyes watching as I approached, 
the scaly, horned head swiveling to keep me in view. 
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Finally I judged I was close enough and I greeted 
the creature. I asked its ,Nanu and it answered, "My 
name is Sin'Vraal." At least that's how I would spell 
what it said. Its voice was surprisingly intelligible , 
though I doubted the monster would have much of a 
career as an FM radio personality. But there was an 
echoing quality to the voice that vibrated in the pit of 
my stomach. I was suddenly glad I hadn 't eaten within 
the past hour. 

"Do you have a Jjob?" I asked, keeping to tradition. 
The wings spread out and I took an involuntary 

step backward as it answered me, "I once served tht 
mighty ASTAROTH, but that was long ago." 

"!-starot11?" I asked. 
I could see very human-like concern in its faet 

"Speak not that name in too loud a voice, lest !hr. 
summon the Shadowlord of Hatred! " it warned. 

I think I was having a difficult time concenlratif"I! 
At any rate, I asked Sin 'Vraal to repeat. ')fotrib? h 
that what you said?" 

He nodded , then told me, "Beware, for they vii 
yell their Names, oft die at the will of the foul wraiths 



I had heard of wraiths before, but I wasn 't sure 
nether it had been on this Quest or in a book I had 
w somewhere. So I asked him about ~raitfrs. His 

er was not precisely to the point, but I wasn 't 
mrt to argue. 

"No longer do I serve Evil, for deep below the 
rarth did the Once and True King show me the paths 
·Virtue!" 

Now we were on more familiar, not to mention 
ore pleasant , ground. He knew Lord British. 

~oreover, he had seen him alive. I tried to find out 
mre about Lord British, but he couldn't, or wouldn 't, 

me more. I tried a different approach. "Uh," I said, 
\OU learned about ~irtue." 

-1 can only tell thee that he has turned me from 
lhe darkness, but he' ll have no such luck with the 
~owlords!" 

I remembered just then to ask the creature about 
the S~nrbs . He was supposed to know something. His 
riswer, though probably helpful, did nothing to raise 
'Tll:Spirits. 

"The accursed Shard of Hatred that spawned my 
3rmer master lies within the Underworld at the 
ocation thou wouldst call IA' IA'. Enter through the 
dlngeons by Lost Hope Bay! " 

And that was the end of the interview. We all 
!!lade tracks out of there and back to the boat. 

Later on the same journey, we spotted another 
illt. this one surrounded by swamps almost as bad as 

surrounding Sutek's little settlement. There we 
lrund a talking rat, who taught us the spell Rel Xen 
Bet to tum an enemy into a rat. It seemed that our 
tnendly rodent was really a mage named Grendel 
llflose experiments had backfired. Anyway, the spell 
ailed for a mixture of spider silk, sulfurous ash , 

mandrake root, and nightshade. 

f:ntry 25-ea~tle 
nruannia:~erpents 
~pine 
e were heading back toward 
the area around Castle 
Britannia to search in the 
Serpent's Spine mountains for 

the Glass Sword we'd heard about. But first we paid a 
short visit to the castle itself. I kept remembering that 
harpsichord and the clues I had learned from Tim and 
Lord Kenneth. I had a feeling there was something 
more to learn in the King's upper chambers. 

This time, we waited until night. We had the Skull 
Keys, so we didn 't have to use the cannon on the lock 
again. For that matter, we could have used the In Ex 
Por spell now. We had learned it again . 

We were waiting for the guard to go away, or at 
least to go around the comer but, even as we waited, 
a figure came near us in the darkness. It was just past 
11 p.m. and he seemed about as eager to be noticed 
as we were. I was instantly suspicious. What could he 
be up to? 

lolo spoke with this man while I stood back and 
observed. He was dark-skinned and somewhat shorter 
than Iolo. His hair was black and he wore a very dark 
tunic and breeches as well as a cap on his head. He 
had the look of someone who was trying to blend in 
with the night. 

We found out his name was Saduj and he claimed 
to be a gardener. There were no gardens up here on 
the castle battlements. He claimed to be inspecting 
some plants, but I didn 't see any potted plants here 
either. Still , it could be true. Maybe there were some 
plants I didn't know about. 

Iolo was following my line of reasoning, I think. He 
asked Saduj about the l!Ilnnts he was supposed to be 
watering. 

The man 's eyes never focused on one spot for 
long. Whenever he spoke, he looked away from lolo's 
eyes. It was a sure sign that he was nervous about 
something, and was probably lying as he said, 'Thou 
knowest, watering and the like! " 

"~atering?" asked lolo not hiding his suspicion. 
Now Saduj gave us one of those really innocent 

looks. "What is the matter . . . Dost thou not believe 
me?" Iolo just stared at him without answering or 
acknowledging his question. Saduj shifted on his feet 
and his eyes started to dart about as if looking for an 
escape. I found myself watching his dagger hand, but 
he only said, "I see. " Then a sort of cunning light 
seemed to shine from his eyes. He half-leaned onto 
the balls of his feet, putting his eyes but a few inches 

169 



fil T.IMlt: The ltvZltZll' ltdve~ 

from Iolo 's nose . "For that matter, what art thou 
doing here?" 

I didn't hear what lolo told him. I think he said 
something about viewing the moon. Anyway, the little 
man didn 't buy our story any more than we bought 
his. Maybe it was our own shiftiness, but he suddenly 
asked us if we were with the Oppression. Iolo told him 
he was . I wouldn 't have done that, but it was too late to 
stop him, so I waited to see how Saduj would respond. 

Saduj asked for the password then. I had forgotten 
that we even knew of it, but Iolo remembered and told 
him it was ~tnpmt. 

Suddenly Saduj became much more relaxed, even 
conspiratorial, as he asked Jolo, "Dost thou know of 
my mission?" He made it sound very important. This 
time Iolo said, ')fo ." 

"Blackthorn himself sent me here to find an object 
hidden in Lord British 's chambers." 

"In his ®1innhm1? What is it?" asked Iolo. 
The man shrugged. "I know not what it is, but it 

rests in a Sandalwood Box." 
"In a ~ani:la lfuooi:l ~ox?" lolo prompted. 
Once again , Saduj looked quickly around to see if 

we were being observed, then told us, "If destroyed, 
there shall be no chance for that scourge British to 
return." He seemed to come to a conclusion suddenly 
and asked , "Might I join thee , that we might work 
together?" 

lolo told him ~o and the man seemed unconcerned. 
"Maybe later," he said, then he skulked off. 

Meanwhile, making sure we weren't followed, we 
entered the King 's chambers . I went to the 
harpsichord and played the first notes of the tune I 
had learned from Lord Kenneth while the others 
searched for hidden doors or anything else of interest. 
They did find a secret room behind the fireplace , but 
there was nothing worthwhile there . However , as 
soon as I finished playing the first bar of the tune, 
there was a scraping as of stone on stone and a 
passageway slowly opened up behind me. We dashed 
over to inspect it and found a small chamber there. 
Inside the chamber was a single object-a small 
sandalwood box. 

"This must be the very box Saduj was looking for," 
I whispered. 

"Aye," agreed lolo. "Let us take it and begone 
before he returns." 

We were all thinking the same thing, so we took 
the box. I hid it in my cloak as we made our way bacl. 
down the ladders and out of the castle. Our next goo! 
was to seek out the Glass Sword we had heard about 

We made it to the foothills below the Serpenl< 
Spine by midday, and searched until the sun we!1l 

down. We were somewhere in the northwestern 
part of the mountain range when Dupre fina ll1 
called us over. He had found what looked like a '™ 
pass through the mountains . We had to use !hi 
Grapple to climb through the pass, but it even~ 
Jed us to a tiny valley where the grass was starl 
green against the russet and violet mountain peak; 
reflecting the dying sun. I stood a moment admirm; 
the view, which looked almost like a silken tapesll) 
Jaana came up to stand beside me and Iolo follov.e: 
arm-in-arm with Gwenno. I saw nothing of Shamirl 
or Dupre. 

I tried to soak in the beauty of the moment. · 
store its peace and vibrancy for later, when I was dee: 
in the bowels of Britannia. Was this the calm bef 
the storm? 

The sun went down quickly and the mome 
passed. We used the Sextant to confirm our loca 
It was FA' EA'. There we dug until we found a 
cask, long and narrow. Opening the cask, I fowx: 
shimmering sword of glass. Its edge was so shair 
feared I might be cut just looking at it. I tested it a­
hair from my head and it sliced it neatly in 
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i::igthwise. I handed it quickly, and very gingerly, to 
' .IJlre, who stood waiting at my side. 

Be careful , friend. This could cut your toe off if 
~ drop it," I said. 

There 's no tavern nearby ," commented Iolo 
~htfully . "He'll most likely manage not to drop it." 
I could drop thee, my friend, tavern or not," 

.;wered Dupre. "And I'll drink thee under the table 
t time we find a decent establishment, " he added. 

~ 1e11 Dupre wrapped the Glass Sword carefully so it 
&ln't slice any of our body parts off by accident. 
I searched again and found yet another sword 

actly like the first. Gwenno took this one, and I 
i41'Ched again. There was something magical about 
• cask, because whenever I searched and any sword 
' 't being held by one of my companions, I found 
·<Jthing. But if someone was holding each of the other 
ords, another would appear. We hiked away from the 
· valley richer by seven Glass Swords, all wrapped 
:relully for the time when we might need them. 

Each member of the party should equip a 
Glass Sword before you seai..-ch again. 'fhis 
way, you'll end up with seven-one 
equipped by each member and one in the 
inventory. 

We visited several other special places as well. We 
Jnd Mandrake Root at midnight, south of Minoc, 

and deadly Nightshade south of Spiritwood. We were 
preparing ourselves for the next, most dangerous, part 
of our journey. Now that we had completed the 
Shrine Quests, it was my intention to go underground 
and recover the Shards and the other items hidden 
there. I was sure we would be completely tested 
underground, and I wanted us to be as well prepared 
as possible. 

We fought many battles, hardening our skills and 
on several occasions the apparition of the King visited 
us, raising us and giving us renewed strength, more 
abilities, and, most of all , hope that he still lived. 

One of the most frightening places we visited was 
Stonegate, the abode of the Shadowlords themselves! 

l 
Entry 26~tonegate: 
Blackthorn's Castle 
n our travels, we came across 
the castle controlled by the 
Shadowlords. Stonegate it was 
called. It was located deep in a 
mountain range north of the rat 

Grendel 's hut. The exact location was EK' JE' by the 
Sextant, but we only found it by accident when climbing 

the mountains. We had spotted what looked like a high 
pass through the north end of the range of mountains, 
and discovered that it led south to the castle. 

We used a Skull Key to open the door to the 
castle, but once we had done so we were accosted by 
a daemon, not nearly so well spoken as Sin 'Vraal. Its 
name was Balinor, and it seemed to like to play 
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games. It promised that if we guessed the answer to a 
riddle, it would spare us, but if not, it would kill us. 
Sounded like a fair deal to me. Any sensible person, 
when faced with a daemon, would agree. 

So it asked its question. "What is as tall as a house, 
round as a cup, and all the king's men can't draw it up?" 

1 thought for some time. It was tall and round. A 
tower came to mind, but there was more to it. I was 
still pondering it when sharp-witted Iolo yelled, ";meu!" 

The daemon snarled. "Thou hast guessed well, 
foolish mortal, " it said wittily; then in an ugly tone of 
voice, even for a daemon, "but thou has committed a 
fatal blunder! Never trust a Daemon's word! " And with 
its last syllable, it launched an attack on us that we 
narrowly avoided. 

The battle with Balinor was not as bad as I had 
expected. That's because I'd expected to end up dead, 
and I didn't. In fact , we did pretty well against the 
monster until it decided to call in one of its friends. 

Now we had two daemons to battle. Fortunately, the'! 
kept their distance and we were able to score 
repeatedly with our Magic Axes. We took our lump> 
but we gave better than we got. Maybe we were lucky 
because Balinor 's attacks missed us twice in a row 
perhaps because he was dodging a veritable rain ot 
Magic Axes. I don't know. All I know is that we survived 

After defeating the daemons we walked up the 
hallway. We knew from the stench of evil that the 
Shadowlords were home. But we had to see what this 
place was. Call it curiosity. Or call it a death wish. 
don 't know. Anyway, we opened a door at the end 11 

the hallway and found ourselves staring at three­
count 'em ... three!-Shadowlords. 

My eyes were riveted on the evil wraiths in 
shimmering cloaks of Evil. But Shamino ran up 
to me and pointed. Behind a stone barrier I 
glowing item. Shamino whispered, "It's the Ki 
Scepter. We must obtain it. " 

Easier said than done, my friend. We triec 
outmaneuver the evil creatures, but they kept 
us off. If we hadn't been on the Magic Carpel 
probably would have been caught, but we me 
faster than they did. Still, we couldn't get the 
We all knew it was certain death if we had to 
these creatures, though we suspected that even 
would run if caught a good blow from a Glass s~ 

We decided, however, that it would be m 
prudent to deal with the Shadowlords at a time 
place of our choosing, and made a hasty. t 
dignified retreat. In other words, we ran. 
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Fortunately, the Shadowlords did not follow us, 
ril we were able to escape with our skins intact. Still, 

of us were any happier for having run , nor were 
satisfied that the Scepter still resided in the hands 
those monsters. Their Evil laughter echoed in my 

eis for hours afterwards. 

possible to gain the Scepter even when 
Shadowlords are present. With the 
c Carpet, and a little luck, you can 

•wu!Uver them, grab the Scepter, and be 
without having to fight them. If you 

up in a fight, you can use the Glass 
s to beat the Shadowlords off, but 
· not kill them. The easier method of 
g the Scepter is to destroy the 
lords first. Then irs easy pickings. 

Having seen the domain of the Shadowlords, we 
decXled to have a look at Blackthorn's Castle. We had 
sailed past it a few times when crossing the southern 
~ters. It was on a small island west of the Avatar's 

Island. 
When we arrived at the castle, we all took a deep 

eath and walked in, watching carefully for any signs 
· trouble. As soon as we had entered the place, we 

saw that there were guards everywhere. We were 
petty sure that these guards would not let us pass as 

as those in Castle Britannia had , so we kept our 
d:stance from them. 

We weren 't sure where to go , so we began 
exploring some of the ladders and stairs , carefully 
. iding contact with anyone. In an upstairs room on 
:he south end of the castle, we found two prisoners. 
They had little to say, but we released them and they 
set about making their escape. 

We had learned about some hidden doors from the 
irisoner at Serpent's Hold, and knew of a passage at 
the back of the main hall on the first floor. However, 
~ guards were blocking our way. 

"I think we'll have to try to sneak past the guards," 
whispered Iolo. 

"Can we manage it?" I asked. 
Iolo nodded and motioned us to follow him. And 

we almost made it. At the last minute one of the 
guards spotted us and called his friends . We were 
surrounded and pinned down before we could even 
draw weapons. 

What happened next was a blur. I can only say that 
it was a kaleidoscope of violence, questions, and fear. 
The next thing I remembered was finding myself 
chained to a wall , unable to move. My arms ached and 
my head was throbbing. I must have been knocked 
unconscious. I was just beginning to get a clear idea of 
what was happening when Blackthorn himself stood 
before me. 

He told me it was an honor to meet me. Big deal! 
Blackthorn might once have been handsome, but 

now his soul was twisted by the Shadowlords' Evil . His 
face was mottled with red and yellow blotches that 
showed in the places his beard did not cover. His 
hands shook, and it even seemed to me that one of 
his legs dragged a little as he paced before me. I 
listened to his oily voice only because l couldn't move 
my hands to cover my ears. 

"Since I myself seek Avatarhood as once did thee, 
mayhap thou couldst aid me in my Quest by 
answering a question. " His tone was intended to 
reassure me of his virtuous intentions, but I could 
almost imagine an adder 's forked tongue licking 
Blackthorn's lips in anticipation. I looked quickly for 
cloven hooves. 
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In the silence Blackthorn allowed me I said 
nothing . I was trying to figure a way out of this 
situation. Blackthorn ignored my silence and asked his 
evil question . "What is the Mantra of the Mystic 
Shrine of Honesty?" he asked , all sweetness and light. 

"FahrvergnUgen," I told him. 
He looked so confused for a moment that I could 

almost have laughed. But then his eyes clouded over 
and his whole face took on a luminescent shade of 
vermilion. 

"Make not the mistake of laughing at me! " His 
voice dripped venom. Still, I could hardly help myself. 
He was so pathetic. But then he found a way to erase 
my smile instantly. 

Blackthorn, the usurper, turned and motioned to 
the guards. Several of them marched over to Shamino, 
unlocking his manacles and dragging him into the 
center of the room. There they forced him onto a sort 
of bench over which hung a great axe blade. It was like 
something out of Edgar Allen Poe , though I doubt 
Blackthorn would have recognized the reference. 

Then one of the guards turned over an hourglass 
and the sand began to pour into the bottom. The 
tableau was set, and Blackthorn told me, with a look 
of utter relish , "I will ask thee until the sand has fallen . 
And then Shamino will die . Now tell me, what is the 
Mantra of Honesty?" 

I simply shook my head. What could I do? Even if 
he killed us all , I could not betray the sacred Shrines. 

The scene became uglier by the minute as the 
sands flowed unceasingly and the time ran out. I 
continued to refuse his demands , and Blackthorn 
became more and more frantic until he was screaming 
at me , "My patience with thee has worn away! 
SPEAK UNTO ME THE MANTRA OF HONESTY! " 

Wishing there were something I could do even 
wishing I could tell him what he wanted to know, I still 
said no. Without another word , Blackthorn waved his 
hand and the blade fell . 

And, mercifully, I awakened. 

We were still outside Blackthorn's Castle. It had been 
a dream. An ugly dream that left me shaking, my 
heart pounding, sweat pouring off me even in the chill 
night air. It was still only just past midnight! 

It took me more than an hour to calm myself 
down, to tell myself it was not real , and would not 
come to pass. But I was only partly convinced when I 
fell asleep again . 

Again l dreamed. It was the same dream, only thi; 
time I told Blackthorn what he wanted to know. That 
was even worse. And he killed Shamino anyway. This 
time, when I awakened, I stayed awake the rest of !hi 
night. There was no point in trying to sleep again un~ 
I could tum my back on Blackthorn's evil palace onu 
and for all. 

When dawn finally broke, and the morning light drO\ 
away my fears , I joined my companions in a sim~ 
meal. A thin mist hung over the castle, which gleama: 
coldly in the growing light. We ate quietly. There w1! 

little joking or the usual banter. I wondered if m. 
friends , too, had been visited by dreams. Shamino 
with his back to the castle, looking out over the wat~ 
lolo picked his teeth with a sharp dagger while OujJi 
and I finished eating and began to pack up the gear 
Jaana and Gwenno disappeared for a few minute! 
and when they returned, nodded that they were r~ 
We carefully approached the castle , passing wa 
through the main gateway. We saw many guards. ill 
kept ourselves as inconspicuous as possible. We 11e1 

not spotted or challenged. 
In the main entry hall, we saw more guards. Thi 

stood at their posts, but were not very alert. Pr 
they didn't get very many visitors. 

We hid in the alcoves of the great hallway. 
noticing the somber, dark tapestries that adorned 
walls. We did see areas of the floor that looked 
Jolo whispered to me that they were probably traPJ* 
We were on the Magic Carpet, so we felt we 
avoid setting off any traps . The guards~ 
something else again . There were so many that I 
my dream could come true if we were caught. 

Just as in my dream, Iolo led us toward the bcl:i 
the room, cleverly outwitting and outmaneuverins 
guards there. This time, however, we were not ra. 
I breathed a sigh of relief as we passed through tc 
stairs at the back of the room. If we didn't get 
in the next few moments, we would have !J' 
further than we had in my dream. Then l wool: 
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·e to shake the sense that we were reliving my 
tmare and would end up prisoners, or worse. 

We climbed the stairs at the back of the main hall 
found ourselves in a large room with a great desk 

:he north end. In a chair at the desk sat a man. We 
lolo to question him while the rest of us hid in the 

alcws. The man was simply a clerk, and answered 
without questioning his right to be there . He told 

how to get to several locations in the castle. lolo 
:JTied back to us. 

With what the clerk, Weblock, had told us and the 
~~lion from the prisoner in Serpent's Hold, we 
·~a great deal about the castle 's layout . Most 
portant, there were several secret doors in the 

:.!!l!e, and one of them should be in this room. When 
1 clerk was looking the other way, we dashed 
·iund the corner from the stairs and stood by a 
.der near the southern end of the room. Iolo 

'31'Ched the wall south of the ladder. There he found 
secret catch, jimmied open the door behind the 
and we went through. 

On the other side of the door was another ladder 
ading up . We climbed this one . . . and found 
Jrselves in even deeper trouble! We were in 

j,ackthorn 's own throne room, and with the evil 
;urper were two fearsome daemons! Their backs 

ot!e toward us, however, and they did not notice us. 
They were talking loudly as well, so they did not hear 

furtive movements. In fact , we actually had the 
J.iacity to release two prisoners chained against the 
• wall. Dupre and lolo did, anyway. 

"Avatar! We cannot leave these unfortunate men 
to their fate ," whispered Dupre. 

"Nay," agreed Iolo, "I will not sleep well if I do not 
free them. " 

I was less worried about my sleep than about my 
life just at that moment, but my friends were right. I 
nodded for them to go ahead, not trusting myself to 
speak. 

Thankfully, they were very quiet as they jimmied 
the locks on the prisoners ' chains. With a nod of 
thanks, the freed prisoners headed out through some 
doors to the side while we returned to the ladder that 
had brought us to this room and searched the wall 
behind it. Again , there was a false wall and a secret 
door. 

This door led to Blackthorn 's own secret 
apartments . We might have searched these 
apartments more thoroughly, but we decided to hurry 
onward, along the path described by the prisoner in 
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Serpent's Hold . At the back of Blackthorn ' s 
apartment was a ladder leading up. We climbed it and 
found ourselves on the battlements of the castle. We 
saw no guards. Nobody at all. Carefully working our 
way around the walkway, we found a room set in the 
south end of the roof level. 

There was a magically locked door leading north . 
Two gargoyle dogs guarded the entrance. This looked 
important, so we used a spell to open the door and 
went inside. 

ClX ~ 

ShetMit\O 93C 
Io lo t20C 
Gwet\t\O t20C 
:Jetett\et 90G 

u re 90C 

Opening the door, we came into a treasure room, 
but only one object was of interest to us. Lord British's 
Crown shone with an ethereal light in the very center 
of the room! This was the prize we sought. Quickly we 
retrieved it and made for the exit. Suddenly the two 
gargoyles came to life and started to chase us! One 
minute they were stone; the next they were running 
after us. Though I had faced many creatures of more 

fearsome appearance , there was something unsettling 
about these "dogs," and I didn't want to tangle with them. 

It was lucky we had the Magic Carpet, because we 
were able to outrun the supernatural beasts. As 11~ 

flew away from them, Gwenno said , "I have heara 
that the magical gargoyles cannot be defeated ir 
combat. Any wound they receive causes them tc 
create another of their kind . Before long, thou has 
created an army to fight. Perhaps some powerful spel 
might defeat them, but I know it not. " 

Jaana answered , "Nor do I. But, Avatar, yo 
should wear the Crown until we can return it to !Ir 
Kin " g. 

I was horrified. Even as the Carpet careened m>e: 

the castle roof, the undefeatable monsters gradua! 
falling behind, I had to reply. "No. I have no intere; 
in the Crown or the Kingship, " I argued. 

But Jaana only smiled. " 'Tis not to make thee a: 
as King , or even as Regent, Avatar, but to pro\U 
thee with protection from magic. The King 's Cr(7.I 
has that special property , and methinks the K1 
would prefer that thou wearest his Crown now arr 
savest him from captivity or death, rather than fail 
wear it and be magically overcome in battle." 

"Aye, " added Dupre with a grin. "And if thou wealll 
the Crown, its protection may also extend to ytS 

friends. I'm sure the King would not want to loseni. 
lolo poked the paladin in the arm. "Dost 

mean to imply that His Majesty might not mind 
one of us?" 

Dupre only laughed. "No doubt he values 
equally, my friend , each in his own way." 

Then Shamino interjected, "We each have 
kinship and special place with the King, but about 
Crown, Avatar, 'tis true that thou shouldst wear it 

I couldn't argue with their logic, such as it was 
put on the Crown. It felt heavy and strange. I 
forward to the time when I could remove it and 
to its rightful owner. I was never much for o 
headgear. 

We still hadn't found Hassad, the Council 
who was being held somewhere within the 
remembered someone mentioning a basement 
we searched for it. We eventually found a fast 
down to it, too. But in our searches we found 
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. There were some scrolls and a magic ring. But 
also found a dark item, the Chaos Sword. I could 
from its evil vibrations that it was a cursed thing. I 

. it behind. It could never have served our cause. 
From the rooftop, we climbed down the ladder on 
eastern side, then headed south and climbed down 
ther ladder. From this point, we headed north 
~ until we found a ladder in the northeast comer. 
Fiore climbing down this ladder, we freed a prisoner 
:'ire, but he had no information for us. 

Taking the ladder down to the next floor we found 
;econd ladder in the same room and climbed down 

ow we were in the basement. The room we found 
Ives in was built upon a pool of lava, and we 

21efully skirted the fiery pit to find a door at the 
em edge of the room. 

The door led to a long hallway. It seemed blank, 
~ Dupre spotted the telltale sign of a secret door just 

steps into the hall. We searched, opened the door 
T search revealed and entered a prison cell. That's 
nere we found Hassad. 

Hassad was a mystic, a dark-skinned wizard . His 
ite hair was long, as was his beard. He seemed 

Jrlaunted by his captivity, though his eyes shone with 
when he saw us enter his cell. We told him the 

Q} to escape and gave him some items he might find 
ful. He thanked us, but said little more-until, that 
I asked about the ;311JloTll of ~ower. I knew that as a 

JJ11cil member, he'd have one of the words. 
He looked uncomfortable when I aske\i about the 

A 1rd of Power and backed away from me, perhaps 

suspecting one of Blackthorn's tricks . It occurred to 
me that this was just the kind of thing a man like 
Blackthorn might try. 

"I know of the Great Council," he admitted, "but 
what makes thee ask me? I know nothing about it! " 

I wasn't sure how to answer him. Then, in my 
mind's eye, I saw the shy woman with the traces of 
fire in her heart. Kaiko! I told him, "~ailU1 sent me." 

He relaxed then. "She is a fine woman," he told 
me. "If she has told thee of me, she must have great 
faith in thee. I presume thou dost seek the Word of 
Power for the dungeon Hythloth. Are we where we 
may speak freely?" I looked around. My companions 
indicated that there was nobody nearby, so I told him 
yes. He answered without further hesitation . "The 
Word thou seekest is 'IGNAVUS'!" 

After we left Hassad, we found another prisoner in 
the cell next to his. We jimmied the lock on his prison 
cell and entered. This prisoner's name was Gorn . 
Even though a prisoner here , he looked to be a 
powerful fighter. His stance was that of a skilled 
warrior, and his dark eyes seemed to see everything 
about him. He still wore a somewhat torn mail shirt 
and equally ragged leather pants, and he had a chain 
coif to protect his head. In his hand he held a dagger. 
How he had gotten it past Blackthorn 's men was a 
mystery. 

He smiled when we entered , apparently 
recognizing potential salvation , and asked us to 
attempt an escape with him. We agreed, and he motioned 
us to come closer as he told us of his escape route. 

"I've escaped many times , and been caught as 
many. I knows this castle likes the backs of me hands! 
In the dead of night we must go out through a secret 
door that's here behinds me. Climbs up onto the roof 
and sneaks down the northern ladder. In Blackthorn 's 
bedroom, go through a secret door, down the ladder 
on t' other side. Through the secret door to the north, 
down another ladder and out the back gates! Wait 
there till morning when the drawbridge is lowered and 
flee for your lives. " 

It wasn ' t anything new, but we thanked him . 
Unfortunately, there wasn't room in our party to take 
him with us, but he offered to join us if we ever were 
short a member. 
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We retraced our steps, following the route that 
Gorn had outlined. It was almost the same route we 
had taken to get here. Then we made our way out of 
the castle and to the relative safety of the Britannian 
seas and sailed away. I breathed more easily when I 
realized my nightmares were behind me. Of course, I 
wasn 't taking into account the nightmares I would 
soon meet. 

Entry 2'I-'f2ythloth; 

m ?:lnderworld (Mystic 

D Weapons: ~hard 
of eowardice} 
y relief at having escaped 
Blackthorn's palace of evil was 
profound, but might have been 

far less so had I but known what lay ahead. For it was 
time now to enter the feared dungeons . I couldn 't 
delay it any longer. It was time to get the three evil 
Shards as well as the magical items necessary to 
complete our mission. When the realization hit me 
that we would next be descending into the hell that 
awaited us below the surface, my mood blackened 
immediately. 

Once again , my stalwart friends helped me get 
over my fears. When I told them our next destination, 
Hythloth , they hardly blinked an eye. Shamino and 
Dupre both seemed eager for battle , and no one 
showed any hesitation. 

"I enjoy a good fight ," was Shamino's comment. 
Dupre only stated, " Tis a privilege to rid Britannia 

of more Evil. " 
For once, Iola said little. I saw him glance over at 

Gwenno. I think he was worried about her. I thought 
of Jaana, but when I looked in her direction she was 
preparing reagents and powerful spells. She would 
take care of herself, and perhaps the rest of us, as well. 

So we sailed east until we reached the Avatar's 
Island, then south around the tip. This time we passed 
by the familiar bay and sailed up the western side a 
short distance. A rocky path led up to the sealed 
cavern that had once been Hythloth's entrance. As we 
walked up a narrow pass between the foothills and the 
towering mountains of Avatar's Island, I could see the 
huge boulders and slabs of stone that buried the 

entrance to the dungeon. Better if we left it alone.! 
thought. But even as I thought it, I knew it was 
impossible. Though I would have been glad to turr 
around and go back the way I had come, I knew I ha:: 
to see this through. 

It was time. I stood before the wreckage of the 
entrance and gathered my breath ... and m. 
courage. I yelled the Word of Power. "IGNAVUS 
The sound echoed through the hills and little valle<,! 
for a long moment and all was still. The silence v.as 
eerie, almost as if we had suddenly been cast into 1 

vacuum. Then a low rumbling started from undemea& 
our feet , deep in the bowels of the earth, and 
grumbled and shook and came closer! 

We all ran back as the pile of rubble began to 
I thought at first it would tumble upon us, but instei 
it changed, metamorphosed, shifted itself until 
resembled a huge serpentine mouth , fangs ready 
strike. It was the Hythloth of old. And we were aOOI 
to step into its maw! 

I will not write all our adventures within t 
dungeon, only those parts that might help futur. 
adventurers. 

The first part was easy. We climbed down a kn 
ladder that led all the way to the seventh level of 
horror pit. We saw nothing other than the dank llM 
and the occasional bat. 

On the seventh level, we eventually found that 
could open a hidden door to the south of the ~ 
We then walked south two steps, west two, and 
two more. There we found a ladder that took us to 
eighth level. There were other ladders, but this 
the one that we needed. 

From here we followed a twisting path first 
then west, then north again, west, north, and east 
ladder leading back up. At first we wondered ~ 
should go back up, but eventually we found that 
had to do so. 

Back on the seventh level, we found a secret 
two steps to the east. Through that door led the 
down to the Underworld . But this is where our 
ran out. Until now we had met nothing to c 
our passage and I was beginning to believe 
dungeons of Britannia had lost their sting. 11 
better soon enough. 

178 



-~ 01.P.191D}i\Bv1PM£~-~l,.PBl~~~·PMlll-\J1PM£~':.Uv1Pft'.)li~ .. ~!--

179 



lliiTlMlI: The livmDr lidventure:> 

This room was guarded by fearsome daemons and 
we were forced to fight for our lives. I wore the King's 
Crown to protect us from the daemons' power to 
enchant, and Jaana cast a Fear spell at them to make 
them more vulnerable. The spell seemed to help. We 
killed them as they hesitated, caught between attack 
and flight. We took few wounds and were able to pass 
through to the ladder without further incident. It led 
down, into the Underworld. 

In the Underworld , we were taxed mightily . It was a 
confusing land of darkness and huge mountain peaks. 
I had no idea how large this subterranean world was, 
but it felt immense. Though we could see only a part 
of it, even using a Gem to view it, we were in awe of 
this completely primitive place. 

We stood in a strange grassy meadow. It could not 
have been ordinary grass-there was no sunlight 
here-but it was green and soft underfoot. We listened 
for a moment to an assortment of chirps and buzzes, 
falling rocks in the distance, and , over it all , a silence. 
The air was very still and dank. And that silence hung 
over everything , amplifying every sound. At the 
extreme limits of perception I thought I heard a 
roaring, but it might have been the blood rushing past 
my eardrums. I think we all gathered our courage and 
our breath together before setting out. 

We had gathered many precious Gems and had 
come prepared with Blink spells, having heeded the 
visions of the keeper of the Flame of Truth, Gardner. 
Using the first of many Gems, we saw a cross-shaped 
area of lava off to the northwest. I also remembered 

that Ambrose had talked of a lava pit near the exit of 
Hythloth. This must be it! 

We soon found a path leading up to the lava. The 
air and the ground grew hotter as we approached and 
when we finally reached the edge of the cross-shaped 
inferno, I was ready to head back the way we had 
come. But Dupre chided me. 

"Avatar, knowest thou not the power of thy faith i 
Aye, 'tis hot, but let thy blood run cold with vengeaoo 
'gainst Evil and the boiling rock will scorch thee not' 

Dupre was one of a kind. Who else could have tok! 
me this and make me believe him? But Dupre couki 
not dissemble. He was a man of the highest 
principles. If he said it could be done, then, by tht 
Eight Virtues, it would be done! 

I closed my eyes a moment to prepare, breathe: 
deeply, and saw myself walking above the lava as if 
weren 't there. I visualized myself in its center 
gathering the Mystic Arms. And then the vision wa; 

past, and I stood there with my five companions, art 
we each had a set of arms and armor! I could nct 

explain it, but I had apparently not been visual~ 
had been doing! In fact, as I came back to mysel 
realized that I had some bums. Nothing severe. !xi 
few blisters around the feet and hands, and my far 
felt red, as if I had fallen asleep on a tropical beae 
But whatever I was feeling , it was not what I 11 

have expected from looking at the lava nearll. 
hoped I hadn't just used up my last miracle. I was 
I would need more. 

"Well done, Avatar! " exclaimed Shamino, and ! 
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me satisfaction, for Shamino was not inclined to 
out compliments easily. 

Jaana came up to me and used some herbs on my 
. l immediately felt better. Then we all put on the 

Ill ic Armor and readied the Mystic Swords we now 
med. They were made of some metal much lighter 

:wi steel, but with a power about it. You could feel its 
;:rength and sturdiness. If nothing else, the new 
111apons and armor bolstered our spirits, and we were 

jovial as we walked back down the path. 
We easily dispatched four giant rats and a whole 
e of bats that tried to attack us. After dealing with 

:.aemons, these were merely inconveniences to be 
pt aside. 

l will skip the bulk of our explorations, which 
11volved many confusing false trails. Eventually we 
' und our way to the place where the Shard of 
Cowardice lay. To get there, we travelled !iOUth from 
e Hythloth exit until we reached another green 

meadow. From there we used the Blink spell to travel 
west to another meadow. We walked up to the 
northwest until this meadow, too, gave way to the hills 
and mountains of the Underworld. Then we Blinked 
again to the west. 

Once more we Blinked west, then walked west a 
short distance, using another Gem to allow us to line 
up our position until it was directly below the next 
meadow north. We Blinked north , then we Blinked 
north again, and we found ourselves in a swampy 
area. We rode the Magic Carpet to avoid the poison 
of the swamp, but had to fight off ugly giant wormlike 
creatures that tried to drag us down into the muck. 
We destroyed them with our superior weapons, taking 
little damage , and then made our way to the 
northeastern tip of this area, Blinking once more to 
the north. From here, we walked northwest until we 
found the Shard. 
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It glittered there , to all appearances a thing of 
exceptional beauty, practically quivering in the 
torchlight with coruscating reds and purples. Yet I 
knew what Evil lay within it and could hardly bring 
myself to touch it. But I did. Without a word to my 
companions, I took the thing in my hands, intending 
to wrap it up so its sinister glow could not intrude on 
my senses. I had a momentary glimpse of its evil and 
felt a grip upon my mind that gave me an instant 
headache. 

A sinister power flowed from the Shard, 
attempting to infiltrate my innermost being. Like 
tendrils of pure evil , its power tried to wrap me in its 
glamour, speaking to me in half-heard voices-sweet 
voices, sincere-sounding voices, voices as intimate as 
that of my own mother's. The voices prophesied my 
doom and that of my companions while the Shard 
painted pictures in my mind-pictures that I could not 
dispel by closing my eyes or by looking away. It tried 
in every way to instill me with Fear, but I fought the 
madness the Shard pressed upon me. Its power was 
great, and I didn't know how long I could hold on to 
my courage. And then someone wrapped a thick cloth 
around the thing , covering it with a second layer of 
silk, and , when I could no longer see its evil glow, the 
effect was reduced. 

I finished wrapping the Shard and put it away until 
the time we would need it. I knew I had experienced 
only the smallest part of its power, and I could feel an 
uneasy pressure within for some time after the 
incident. But, after several minutes, I put all thoughts 
of the Shard behind me and turned my attention to 
my surroundings. With an effort, I banished the voices 
that still hovered at the edges of my perception. 

"Art thou well?" asked Jaana. 
They all stood there looking at me as if they 

expected me to start shouting profanities or spinning 
my head around in circles. I nodded. "It wasn't much 
fun , but I'm all right. Just give me a minute to catch 
my breath." I closed my eyes then and tried to picture 
the sunset at the Serpent's Spine and the closeness 
and comfort of my friends. I imagined a cool, fresh 
breeze blowing up the mountainside from the valley 
below. By the time I opened my eyes again, my 
companions had already turned back along the path 

we had just taken. Only Jaana remained by my · 
Numbly, my hand in hers, I followed them. 

As quickly as we could, we retraced our ster. 
Blinking many times, finally making our way back 
Hythloth, and from there back to the surface \\ 
encountered a few more creatures whose goal was · 
destroy us, but we were too strong for them. Q: 

experience on the surface had served us well. \\ 
were all operating at a very high level. 

Speaking of high levels , it was a great relief• 
arrive finally at the top of the dungeon and once 
breathe the clean air of Britannia. Even tainted 11 

the evil of the Shadowlords, the air on the surface \\_ 
miraculous and retained the power to heal. Below 
surface, though it might still be the same air and mi; 
still be able to heal, it didn't have what I would call 
quality of freedom. Whatever that quality was, 
were glad to be surrounded by it once more. 

Before we rested that night, we all gathere 
around the campfire and gave thanks. Once all ·· 
others slept, I inscribed my memories so they 
not be forgotten. I knew that the next day would 
us heading for yet another dungeon , and mo· 
danger. 

[J(] 
t:ntry 2B-ffrm-m: 
~hzird of l}atred: 
Wrong 
any days have passed. 0 
supply of magic herbs hi 
fallen dangerously low on . 
journey to the Underworld. 

we all agreed it would be foolish , and deadly 
attempt another dungeon expedition withe 
replenishing our supplies and preparing spells. By 
time we had a full arsenal of spells to cast, and mea-: 
to use them to our advantage. 

There was an eagerness about my friends 
could feel the end of our Quest as a tangit 
quickening of our senses. Even the presence of•· 
evil Shard failed to dampen our spirits as we tra 
the land in search of supplies and prepared to go a!: 
the Shard of Hatred. 

We were sailing from Minoc toward Dagger I , 
was a sunny, clear day and the winds were with 
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~'e could almost have been on a pleasure cruise as the 
~JP cleaved the gentle swells and the spars creaked in 

ineffable rhythm of the sea. I was content, watching 
• distant shoreline drift by. I was caught completely 

prepared when the whirlpool swept us up. 
One moment we were in calm seas, and the next 
were beginning to spin around and around. Our 

:oor frigate was grabbed as if by a giant hand . The 
-xmment was gentle at first, simply nudging us out of 
All' path. I noticed suddenly that the shoreline I had 

n idly viewing was now to the stem. Then the pace 
:r.ockened. 

Before I could secure myself, the boat was violently 
;ttock by a massive wave. Water crashed over the port 
railings, drenching me and nearly knocking me off my 
·eet. l had been at the starboard rail, and the water 
·.id smashed across the entire deck! 

The ship heeled over and I found myself hanging 
:irecariously over the side. Desperately I sought a 
·:.othold on the outside of the rail and launched myself 
:Jaek onto the deck as the ship righted herself. The 
ombination of my efforts with the ship's sudden 

'OCking back toward the port side had the effect of 
iugmenting my forward motion to the point that, 
::istead of simply vaulting back over the railing onto 
:ie deck, I found myself catapulted through the air like 
!.'le human cannonball in the circus! 

l had just a moment to survey the deck as I flew 
verhead. My companions were all clutching some 

part of the ship or another. I saw Iolo's face, lit with 
!W'prise, as he watched me fly high into the air. All 
· I caught in an instant. Then I saw the mast. 
That was the last thing I saw. It caught me square 

m the head. I have a hazy memory of landing on the 
IJWest spar and wrapping my arms and legs around it 
as everything went gray, then black. 

Q Q Q 

\ly eyes flickered open, almost of their own accord. I 
405 still only partly conscious, so it was a shock to see 
Jaana and Gwenno both looking down at me. I was 
about to babble something trite like "Where am !?" 
ollen memory returned. The headache that suddenly 
;rushed me in its ham-handed grip evoked the image 

of the mast speeding toward me, of the sickening 
crack that had led ultimately to my losing 
consciousness, of the whirlpool that had caught us 
unaware. 

I couldn't resist. "Where am !?" I said capitulating 
to the inevitable. Then I noticed the heavy air and the 
particular musty scent I had so recently observed . 
"The Underworld? " I asked, answering my own 
question with another. 

Jaana nodded and put something in my mouth that 
tasted like chalk in a mushroom base. It made me gag, 
but my headache faded to an unpleasant memory and 
I was able to sit up. 

"Thou shouldst be more careful, Avatar! " she 
chided. 

"Thou makes! a fine bird, " interrupted Iolo dryly, 
"but thou shouldst learn to perch upon the mast, or at 
least fly on by it. " 

Jaana gave him a sour look as I fingered the lump 
above my forehead . "I've no plans to sprout wings, 
my friend ," I answered. "But if I do, I hope you'll be 
flying right along with me." 

"Nay, Avatar. I prefer to keep my feet upon the 
ground." 

"Thou hast been known to fly high enough after a 
few pints of ale , Iolo my love," said Gwenno. 

"Speaking of ale, " muttered Dupre, "the sooner 
we find our way out of here, the sooner we may 
return to the Blue Boar and hoist a few." 

I gathered myself as they went on with their 
conversation. I surveyed our surroundings. First, I saw 
the ship , floating quiescently in a small lake. From 
appearances, we were back in the Underworld, but 
not in the area we had previously visited . Then, as I 
recovered, Shamino Jolo, and Dupre gathered our 
supplies from the ship, which looked none the worse 
for the experience. 

A few minutes later we were aboard the Magic 
Carpet, flying over a wide, slow-moving river. Since 
none of us knew where we were headed, we simply 
explored the area . Therefore it was probably 
something of a lucky break that we reached the 
waterfall leading to Ararat. 

We had flown in a south-by-southeasterly direction 
when Sharnino 's sharp hearing detected the sound of 
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a waterfall . We headed over to the western shore, 
where the roaring seemed to originate. 

A small waterfall emptied into another lake, and 
there, in the middle, was a small building fashioned 
from the hulk of a frigate much like ours. Perhaps this 
was the work of an unlucky sailor who, having 
survived the whirlpool, had simply given up hope of 
returning to the surface and had made a home here. It 
could not have been an easy life. Already, in the short 
time we had been flying over the still waters of this 
part of the Underworld, we had spotted several bats, 
fearsome mongbats , and giant squids . We had 
managed to avoid contact with these monsters, but it 
was obvious that living here could be no picnic. 
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We flew the Carpet up the gangplank leading into 
this strange abode. It was clearly a home now, and 
showed some signs of recent occupancy-a tattered 
robe hanging to dry from an equally frayed rope; a 
pair of small creatures, gutted and hanging before the 
ship's entry; and a set of muddy footprints leading up 
the gangplank. A sign proclaimed the name of the 
place--Ararat. 

We spotted the man standing near the mid-deck. 
He had the look of a wizard fallen on hard times. We 
stood staring at him for several long moments while 
he returned our stares with equal intensity. His 
wizard 's robe was ripped and patched in many places 
and his staff seemed to have been used for a variety of 
purposes ranging from hammer to fire poker. I am 
convinced that he didn't believe we were there. He began 
to walk away from us, muttering and shaking his head. 

I approached and hailed him. He turned in surprise 
that his hallucination had spoken, but I think he 
realized I was real when he reached out and touched 
my hand with his. 

"At long last, another living soul! " he cried. 
I smiled and asked his ~uuu. That's when 1 learnea 

that he was the infamous Captain Johne. 
The subject of conversation quickly turned to the 

Shadowlords, though there were other questions : 
might have asked. But on the subject of ~l1nbawlor!1 
Johne was most enlightening. 

"Years ago, my ship was swallowed by a massil 
whirlpool. " This part, at least , was familiar. ·n, 
remains of my ship washed up on this isle along wit 

me and three others. " Yes , it was just as I hac 
suspected . "When I recovered , I explored m 
surroundings and found a great Gem broken in! 
three Shards." 

He shuddered at the memory, and I felt an echoc 
his distress, thinking about the evil thing we c:amt 

wrapped tight so we would not see it. But Johne u~ 
continuing his story. His head hung now, and 
studied the deck beneath his shoes as he spoke Hi 
seemed unable to meet my eyes or those of r 
friends. 

"The Shards, full of evil, drove me to kill my thm 
companions," he told us miserably, "and from the: 
blood sprang the three Shadowlords. Taking It 
Shards deep into this underworld, they entrappe: 
Lord British and now hold Blackthorn in their poo-er 
Now a hint of anger gleamed in his eye, and 
became a little steadier on his feet. I could imagine 
younger, stronger Captain Johne who must have 
someone to fear. Finally he told us, "They spare 
only to taunt me with such news until my dying da1 

Johne looked at me then , with that look I 
grown to recognize all too well. "Wilt thou 
Britannia?" he asked. 

I was going to say yes, but was wondering hoir 
might do so if I was still stuck down here. I nodded 
little uncertain, but that did nothing to deter the 
Captain. He asked to join us. 

I was tempted to let him, but my rule of k 
our party to six adventurers had become habit. 
shook my head sadly. I was convinced that J 
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~ have made an important contribution to our 
. but I couldn't break the rule I had set. 

Some players may consider replacing one of 
lhe other characters with Johne, who can 
rut powerful magic spells. It depends on 
when you encounter him and how 
idvanced your other players are. If you plan 
lo add Johne to your roster, you must leave 
mother player behind before entering a 
whirlpool. 

Before we made our exit and left Johne to his fate, 
found a scroll in his quarters. He gave it to us, 
mg it was the least he could do and wishing us 

He also told us that the ruins of a dungeon were 
oe found almost due east of his little island . I 

ted that he might accompany us as far as the 
· of the dungeon, but he seemed reluctant. He told 
~ would wait where he was. He looked suddenly 

and old, but by the time we were at the bottom 
the gangplank he was busy retrieving his small 
:nal carcasses, no doubt thinking about his dinner. 
Taking a footpath south of Ararat, we returned to 

;;xii just southeast of the waterfall and headed east. 
' found the entrance to the dungeon Despise at the 

emmost edge of the broad river. We were about 
:ise the Word of Power to open the dungeon and 
tk our way back to the surface when I had an idea. 

"Why don't we see if we can use our Blink spells 
to explore the Underworld some more?" I asked . 

"Good idea," said lolo. The others agreed, all 
except for Dupre. 

"What's the matter, Dupre?" I asked. 
His right hand curled tight around the hilt of his 

sword, and as he spoke, he would drag it several 
inches from its scabbard, then lower it back into place. 
He did this again and again in an unconscious rhythm. 
"Thou knowest I will go wherever thy Quest should 
lead, Avatar. But I like these Blink spells not at all." 
He sighed then. " Tis a great concern of mine that I 
will not reappear, but will be lost in the strange 
timelessness of the magic spell. " 

Jaana laughed. "Good friend , our Blink spells are 
far less dangerous than the risk you take every time 
you walk in the Deep Forest alone or explore the 
depths of a dungeon . In fact , thou art probably in 
more danger when drinking at thy favorite pub than 
thou art from our spells." 

"Still, I like it not," insisted Dupre. "But I am no 
coward. I will brave anything thou asketh of me. I just 
wonder if all this coming and going from existence is 
good for a body." 

"No worse than the prodigious amounts of ale 
thou dost consume," interjected Shamino. "Come, 
friend , ' tis of no consequence . The Avatar hath 
decided. Whatever thou thinkest, thou wilt follow. Let 
us be off, then." 

Dupre smiled his agreement . "Aye. Thou art 
correct, Shamino. Though I prefer to face an enemy 
with my sword, I will come." 

We headed along a rocky path until we had 
reached a place as far to the east as we could go. 
Then we used a Gem to view the area . Finally, we 
Blinked east and ended up on another rocky path. 

It took us some time, but we eventually discovered 
a mountainous path that led to the Shard of Hatred. It 
lay on a rocky barren plateau, surrounded by small 
hills and taller peaks. The only way to the plateau was 
a maze-like path of hillocks that meandered among 
the higher mountains. Starting from the north , just 
below a fork in the path, we climbed first east, then 
south, east again, south again and then turned east. 
The way turned gently southward, then doubled back 
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to the west, and finally to the north. One final leg to 
the west led us to the plateau and the Shard. 

Forewarned by my experience with the Shard of 
Cowardice, I handled the Shard of Hatred as little as 
possible. Though I felt the anger and intolerance of its 
nature seeping from it , I wrapped it quickly and 

packed it away before it could infiltrate my being. We 
retraced our steps, back through the mountainou; 
maze, and after a short search, using Gems several 
times, we found entrances for the dungeons Wrong 
and Covetous to the north. Several attempts to Blin 
further east failed, and we decided to climb to thE 
surface via the dungeon Wrong , despite its 
unfortunate name. 

Wrong was a catacomb of death. In addition to~ 
corpses chained to the walls at intervals, it was littere: 
with traps to catch the unwary. We stepped cautiousl. 
through its corridors. However, unlike most dungece 

in Britannia, Wrong didn't smell too bad. The corpse 
were old and had long since rotted and dried. l1 
only scent was a musty one, something like y 

grandmother's closet or bread a week too old to 
At any rate, we had other worries besides our se 
noses . We were kept busy dispelling fields 1 
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nning bomb traps on our way north from the 
nom ladder. We searched carefully at each step, 

'nfmg and disarming the traps as we went. 

At the north end of the corridor, we entered a 
IOO!ll that might almost have been cozy-if it hadn't 
Deeri for the occupants, that is. A table and chair, a 
OOi:k. a fireplace , and even a potted plant lent an 
rerie charm to this room at the bottom of the 
mmgeon, but the resident mage and his attendant 
eons were anything but hospitable. I tried to hail 

mage, thinking we might avoid another conflict, 
lilt he ignored my efforts. There remained no choice 
rut to fight , which is what we did . 

During the battle, one of us, I forget who, tossed 
m errant Magic Axe and it revealed a hidden room 
~lund the fireplace , where lurked a deadly reaper. 
~ killed the fiend along with all the others in the 
m. A Fear spell helped keep them off balance as 
weapons gradually wore even the tough daemons 

Wmi. The mage himself had gone down in the first 
. None of them even got close to us, and Lord 

Bnllsh's Crown protected us from magic attacks. 
A bomb trap and another field trap greeted us 

111Ce we had left the cozy room. But dead ahead was 
1 healing fountain , which we visited gratefully. There 
ll!ellled to be no other exit from the corridor, but a 
lrief search revealed a hidden door three paces east of 
~ fountain. Through the door was a room, another 
battle, and a ladder leading to the next level. Without 
the Crown, I might have succumbed to the charms 
l!'d enchantments of the daemons in this room, but 

with it we were able to reach the ladder safely and 
depart without much difficulty. 

We took this ladder two levels upward , walked 
south, then turned east and climbed again. From here 
our way was straightforward until we reached the 
second level , where we were nearly sent down a pit 
that stood just before a field trap . We found the ladder 
up without event, however, and climbed it, ending up 
in a room. The resident ores didn 't take kindly to our 
presence, but we dispatched them and exited north , 
soon encountering the next ladder up. At last we were 
free in Britannia again. 

The entrance to Wrong was almost due north of 
the Britanny villages , so we headed south to buy 
another ship. Our next destination was the dungeon 
Deceit. I think we all felt more confident now that we 
had turned the adversity of the whirlpool to our 
advantage and had recovered the second Shard. 

fntry 29-Deceit: 
~hard ol fal:iehood 
eceit was located east of 
Dagger Isle. It had once been a 
catacomb used by the ancients 
as a burial ground. At some 
time in its long history it had 

been the scene of bizarre rites of an arcane sect, but 
now it was simply the abode of monsters . It hid 
nothing of importance, but at its bottom was another 
entrance to the Underworld . We believed that the 
Shard of Falsehood would be found beneath it. 
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When we first entered the dungeon, we found a 
hallway leading south, but Jaana discovered a secret 
door that led north. My practice , learned from 
experience in my former adventures, was to follow the 
secret doors. It wasn't an infallible rule, but I figured 
that whatever someone had taken the trouble to hide 
was exactly what I wanted to find . 

So we headed north to the ladder and climbed 
down. We spotted a healing fountain at the ladder's 
bottom. Heading south this time, we climbed down 
the ladder we found . I think we all felt we'd landed in a 
hornet's nest. The room we found ourselves in 
featured two ladders, one at either end of the room. A 
force field bisected the enclosure and our greeting 
committee consisted of some rather unfriendly 
daemons. Once again, I was glad I was wearing Lord 
British 's Crown. 

Jaana dispelled the force field with the An Grav 
spell while the rest of us tore into the daemons. 
Gwenno cast a Confuse spell, I think. Or was it a 
Fear spell? 

One of the daemons got close enough to me to try 
to rake me with its razor-sharp claws. I was just 
ducking its attack when a Magic Axe flew over my 
head and buried itself in the creature's shoulder before 
magically returning to its owner. The daemon began 
to retreat then, and I finished it off with a blow from 
my own Axe. I looked around and saw Dupre 
grinning. It was good to have friends ; that's what I 
found myself thinking as I gave him a quick thumbs-up 
sign. 

Meanwhile, my companions and I completed the 
rout of our enemies, sweeping the room clean of the 
evil. Our wounds were painful, but not serious. S 
we took the time to climb the ladder we had 1u 

descended to visit the healing fountain befor 
continuing our descent. 

The ladder in the daemons' room led two levels 
down to Level 5 where a short walk east, then 
took us to another ladder down. Iolo spotted some 
bats flying in the distance, but we were down the 
ladder before they could catch us. 

On Level 6 we headed east, spotting a pit trap 
an intersection, where we turned north. The ladde' 
took us to Level 7. 

A doorway led west, and we crossed its thr 
finding ourselves once again in a room full of dilf9! 
A horde of rats stood sentry over some treasures 
well as the body of some unfortunate explorer, but 
had to be on guard against other, more de 
enemies. We ignored the rats and quickly made 
way through the room, exiting to the north. 
continued north, turned east, then north again 
we found another ladder. 

On the eighth level, we first walked south until 
reached a wall. There we found a false door 
revealed a trapped chest. Foiling the trap, we 
away with some rations, gold , and keys. Then 
turned east and south again to face a doorway. 

Through the doorway was a truly a devious rom 
confess that I stepped foolishly on the trip-stone 
released the headlesses and bats, but we fought 
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off with little trouble. It was the dragons that were 
most difficult. Though they were trapped behind some 
stout stone pillars, they could occasionally blast us with 
their fiery breath. We chose not to stand and fight 
them , however , but passed through the room as 
quickly as we could. 

The first room led to its mirror image. Yet again 
we tripped a hidden stone and released more 
monsters while we walked gingerly past the trapped 
dragons. This time we stopped at an advantageous 
position and killed all the headlesses and the dragons 
as well . I think we'd grown tired of taking a singeing 
from the dragons . They 'd left several of us with 
blisters . It wasn ' t our nature to take such abuse 
without reprisals. 

Once we were through the second of the dragon 
rooms, we came upon the most puzzling place we'd 
seen yet. Still heading south, we entered a room that 
seemed to end in a brick wall, but we could hear the 
sounds of evil creatures coming from within the walls. 

"What do you make of this? " I asked my 
companions, unsure whether to head back the way we 
had come or stay and resolve this mystery. 

" Tis a sturdy wall," said Dupre, banging on it with 
his sword hilt. "We'll not break through it easily." 

"There's some devious purpose to this room," 
stated Shamino. "I suggest we search." 

Meanwhile, Iolo and Gwenno were examining the 
wall more closely. "Avatar! " cried Gwenno. "Methinks 
this wall may move. There is something irregular here." 

We all crowded around Gwenno and she showed 
us the slight crack in the mortar that might indicate 

some moveable wall segment. "There must be a cat!± 
or lever somewhere," I said. "Let's find it. " 

We searched for what must have been near~ ar: 
hour amid the grunts and growls of the creatures 
trapped behind the wall. Finally Dupre found a raoo! 
spot behind the torch in the upper right comer of t!v 
room. It was sheer luck-first he'd taken the torch 
help him search, then he inadvertently pushed on t!f 
spot and the wall opened before us! 

A misshapen creature glared at us, blinking in 
sudden light. It had been trapped within the wall 
who knew how long. I slew it mercifully before it 
realize it was free at last. I walked into the gap lefi 
the disappearing wall and examined the area 
revealed. It was a small cell , barely big enough f11 
man to stand in, and it smelled vile . Urine and feca 
combined with the small bones of hapless crealur!! 
formed the foul palette of some deranged artist 
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:n It was, in its way, a masterpiece. But I could 
rely stomach my exposure to it and searched 
ckly, once again finding a raised spot on the 
stern wall. The cell east of me opened up and I had 
'.Jght off another monster. 

This pattern continued. First I'd press an eastern 
wall and the cell to the west would open. We'd kill the 
grotesque creature it housed, then cross into its filthy 
nest to press yet another wall stud and open yet 
another cell . Each successive cell revealed a more 
fearsome monster until, finally, we faced two horrible 
dragons in succession. And I can tell you, these scaly 
beasts were anything but grateful to have been 
released. 

We battled the great green lizards and, though 
weakened by their fireballs, we killed them both and 
took their treasures. Then we were faced with a blank 
wall. No longer did the ends of the corridors reveal 
any mechanisms or new gaps . Again we had to 
search. We found the answer on the southern wall, 
two paces from the western edge of the row of cells. 
Pressing on a stud there opened the final wall segment 
and revealed a ladder to the south. We were through! 

Back in the Underworld again, we paused to get our 
bearings. The sounds of a distant waterfall greeted us. 
It was off to the northwest, but there didn't appear to 
be a passage through the mountains in that direction. 
We climbed the low hills to the southwest until we 
reached a rough pathway littered with sharp rocks and 
small boulders. 

We continued south until we came to a fork in the 
path, which had by this time widened considerably. 
We turned north up the fork, fighting our way through 
a reception committee of giant rats and spiders. When 
we came to another fork, we headed northeast. The 
western fork turned out to lead to a series of meadows 
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ird eventually to a dead end. I would have reason to 
thankful for these meadows later on. 
As had been the case frequently in the 

~derworld , earthquakes shook the ground and 
:aused us to lose our footing . Though we were bruised 

·h time these tremors hit , we were not seriously 
rmed. As usual , we picked ourselves up off the 
ound . dusted ourselves off , and continued our 

nuney, each of us , no doubt, dreaming of a time 
wi we could spend a few days in bed. 

I think we must have spent a day or more walking 
:rJT!h. always climbing, as the pathway became ever 
me narrow and confining. But we eventually turned 

t and reached the shores of a great underground 
Ke By this time we had climbed a great way 

'!)llard, and the roaring of the waterfall had grown 
arly deafening . We headed along the southern 
ire of the lake to investigate. 

When we reached the head of the falls , we flew the 
Magic Carpet close in to investigate further , but 
something must have caught the Carpet-or we flew 
too far over the edge- because before we could 
change directions, we were crashing down the steep 
waterway. No rapids were ever so long or so rough. 
We were tumbled downward for what seemed like an 
hour. I could no longer tell which way was up and 
soon became convinced that I was caught in a 
waterfall that led to the very center of the world . I was 
already coughing and sputtering while the world spun 
about me. I figured I would drown before it was over. 

I don't think I ever lost consciousness, but I was 
retching from dizziness and coughing from the water 
in my lungs when we finally reached the bottom. I 
managed to crawl onto the soggy but still serviceable 
Magic Carpet, but then I was overcome by my nausea 
and coughing . It could have been worse . A quick 
check-between heaves and hacks-revealed that my 
friends were all present and accounted for . In fact , 
they were all gathered around me as I hung over the 
side of the Carpet. Dupre stood on the shaky platform, 
with hands on hips , and Iolo apparently thought the 
sight of me on my belly was something hilarious . 
Shamino just looked disapproving. Only Jaana and 
Gwenno seemed to have any sympathy for my plight. 
Jaana put her hand on my back in silent support while 
Gwenno cuffed Iolo about the ears for mocking me. 

I said nothing. I just lay there a few minutes to 
catch my breath. Then, gathering my strength and my 
pride, I said, "Well? What are you all waiting for? Let's 
go find out what this hellhole has to offer. " 
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"Thou shouldst consider taking up residence 
permanently in Britannia, Avatar," suggested lolo still 
chuckling. "Thy constitution is still not as sturdy as 
ours. We spend more and more time here." 

"Aye, " added Shamino. "What is it thou findest so 
attractive back in our homeland?" 

I had no immediate answer. "Perhaps we should 
discuss this matter after we've completed our current 
mission. Without Lord British, even you, my friends, 
will admit that Britannia is not the same." 

The Magic Carpet still floated serenely, drying 
quickly. A quick check under the hood, so to speak, 
revealed that its magic threads were still serviceable. 
Looking around me, I discovered that we had landed 
in another lake. A faint glow to the south caught my 
attention, and that was the way we headed. On a 
small island in the middle of the lake we found the 
Shard of Falsehood. 

I was still weak from the beating and the dizziness, 
so I was reluctant to touch the tainted fragment. I 
motioned toward lolo, inviting him to take it, but he 
wasn't laughing then. He just looked at me as if to 
say, "It's your job. You do it. " 

My struggle with the Shard was awful. But I had 
experience, having handled two Shards before this, 
and I was able to dispel the lies it tried to breed within 1 

my soul. Once I had controlled it, we wrapped the evil 
relic and prepared to return to the surface. 

Following this path as far east as we could, we used a 
Gem to check our position. The large meadow we hac 
seen previously was just east of us. A single Blink 
spell took us back to that meadow, only a short hik< 
from the entrance to Deceit. We were almost back 

We rested a while before attempting our return 
through Deceit. Then we began the long return to tht 
daylight of Britannia. The ascent was much as the 
descent had been. We had to search out and open tht 
studs in the puzzle room in reverse order this time 
and to pass through the two dragon rooms again. The 
rest was easy, though we traveled carefully. When"' 
found the healing fountain again on the second le1 
we were all grateful for its balm. 

We had nearly completed our Underworld ql.l€S'· 
One item remained , the King 's Amulet. We h 
waited to retrieve it until we had all the other p1ec 
Now it was time to follow the King's path and find 
way to the place where he had last been seen. We Iii 
the scroll his companion had brought to the surfact 
described the way to the King's last battleground 
would have to follow his path if we hoped to 
in our Quest. It was nearly over, but I couldn t · 
thinking that the worst was yet to come. 

fntry 30-~piritwQOlf 
-=- ____,_ Underworld (the 

It was clear we would never make it back up the 
waterfall, but I had a brilliant idea, if I do say so 
myself. Flying the Carpet east of the small island, we 
came to a rocky path that headed into the mountains. W funulet}: })estard 

e had in our possession 
scroll written by Remoh 

I 
British 's scribe, on the 
of the King 's expedition 

the Underworld. In it, Remoh details the e 
their journey: the treacherous attacks, the dealh! 
the heroic members of their party, and the 
capture of Lord British. This sad and he 
chronicle was to be our guide as we set out I 
waterfall Remoh describes, just east of Spiritwooi 

Riding the Carpet, we found the waterfall ~ 
day and , without hesitation, we rode it tumbh~ 
into the depths of the earth. We were becom~ 
at such adventures, and arrived unharmed 
the middle of a small lake, just as Rem 
recounted. 
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To the south , we found the small wooden sign 
ed by the King's party and we followed the small 

eam south , riding the Carpet instead of a more 
skiff. Why the King had not taken his Carpet 

a question that had often nagged me, but I 

supposed that British had his reasons for keeping its 
existence secret. That secret was no longer safe. Too 
many had seen us flying by for there to be any doubt 
that the rumor of a flying rug would be all over 
Britannia by now. Of course, that rumor would have 
reached Blackthorn long ago , and he would be 
anything but pleased. 

We were about to follow the long, circuitous route 
taken by the King and his party, keeping to the south 
when we reached the first fork in the river , but Jaana 
and lolo both voted that we take a different route and 
go east. At first we were four against two, but slowly, 
as we read the scribe 's account, we came to the 
conclusion that there might be a shorter way to the 
site of the final battle, where we hoped to find the 
Amulet or at least some clue. 

So we took the eastern fork and flew over the 
rushing stream until it split again . One fork went 
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further east and the other turned south. We used a 
precious Gem and discovered that the eastern fork 
described a loop, so we went south. In viewing the 
Gem, we also noticed the telltale sign of a dungeon 
entrance to the southwest. I filed that information for 
later, hoping we would have reason to need it. 

Soon we heard the sounds of falling water and we 
rushed down a short but violent rapids , narrowly 
avoiding some monstrous sharp rocks that might have 
smashed us. Once again, the Carpet was caught in the 
undertow of the rushing water, but once again we 
were able to hang on and come out only a little 
sodden, but unharmed. 

When the river split again , we took the eastern 
fork. This time the river meandered about, first east, 
then south, then back to the north , east, and finally 
south again. After a long straight stretch to the south, 
the river turned to the west. We used another Gem to 
get a better look at our surroundings, and discovered 
something almost due south of us that seemed 
unusual. However an attempted Blink spell failed to 
take us to the place we had seen. Still, I think we all 
knew we were close to something. 

Continuing in a generally southwesterly direction, 
we came upon a rock-strewn path leading south. We 
decided to leave the river then and try a little 
exploration overland. The path took us south a short 
distance , then turned basically southwest. When we 
reached a straight section heading due west, we used 
another Gem and discovered a swampy meadow due 
south . High mountains prevented our passage 
overland, but a Blink spell took us to the swampy oasis. 
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The swamp turned out to be larger than we hai 
supposed. It was huge, in fact, and we came to the 
conclusion that we had rejoined the King's path in this 
swamp. We were soon to find out how right we were 

We explored to the east , eventually finding a 
pathway that fit the description given by Remoh in his 
scroll. I kept my eyes open for an ambush, but 
nothing. We followed the path until it opened upon a 
meadow of the strange Underworld grass. Conlin~ 
east, we found them. 

There were five graves , with marke· 
commemorating the brave men who had lost t 
lives in the King's defense. Behind the graves was 
eternal flame erected in their honor. Finally, 
was the King's Amulet, abandoned near the gm 
How it could have been overlooked was beyond tit 
Whatever had killed the King's party certainly failed 
recognize its value. But whoever had buried them 
assumed it had been Remoh) should have kno\\n 
value. I guessed that he had been forced to rel!d 
unexpectedly and had had to abandon the precilll 
relic. 

The Amulet glowed with a luminescence that 
have cut through the darkest night. In every way 
the evil Shards had glowed with a sinister light. 
Amulet radiated goodness and health . I picked n 
and my whole being became charged with 
presence. I surrendered myself to its radiance aJli 
just a moment I imagined I saw the King's face 
me. Then the moment had passed and I was g · 
at my companions. 
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We have it now! " I exclaimed . 'Let's go kick 
Shadowlord butt! " 

Well put, Avatar," exclaimed lolo. The others 
ghed, though I think none of us had as much 
fidence as we expressed. We still had to get back 
Britannia, face the three Shadowlords, get the 
epter, and then find the King , who, according to 

Codex, was somewhere down here . But first 
::ngs first. It was time to get back. 
I had noticed , when using the Gem , that there 

meadows off to the east, and thought we might 
able to Blink our way to a familiar area of the 

\xlerworld. It was always easier to ascend one of 
familiar dungeons than to explore a new one. 

But it was a risky course , and we were not well 
ro.igh stocked with Blink spells to make too many 
r.rong moves. So we headed back the way we had 
t0me, toward the dungeon entrance I had noted 

ore. 
We found getting to the dungeon easier said than 

me. however. In the end, we were forced to travel 
to the west, retracing the King 's own route . We 

our way up the stream, using Gems to look for 
in the mountains, but there were none. 

The most difficult part of our journey was getting 
,WJd the numerous waterfalls as we made it farther 
me north. We were forced to abandon the use of 
Carpet at one point and climb some low hills . 
tually we found ourselves back near the small lake 

;ere we had begun. We continued east, seeking the 
filth that led to the dungeon entrance, our best hope 

returning to the light. 

We slid and crashed through the rapids again: 
then , at a fork in the river, we checked a Gem and it 
revealed a northwesterly path that led directly to the 
dungeon . In our haste to make it to the dungeon 
entrance , I'm afraid we were careless and were 
attacked by the same subterranean beasts that had so 
injured the King ' s party. "Corpsers" was what 
Shamino called them. 

We had learned something of discretion in our 
travels and we were able to slip away from the 
corpsers before they could get a grip on our ankles. A 
pack of giant rats then attempted to waylay us, but we 
gave them the slip as well. 
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At the end of the path we found the entrance to 
Destard, another place of unpleasant memories. I took 
a deep breath, looked once at my friends, and yelled 
the Word of Power, INOPIA. 

Destard was a nasty hole in the ground little more 
than a mud pit. Once a gold mine , it was now the 
home of Britannia ' s creatures of the dark . Its 
meandering shafts were now the highways and byways 
of Britannia 's merchants of death . On our trip back to 
the surface, we had commerce with them, and though 
we ultimately prevailed, the price we paid was both 
painful and horrifying. 

The first room we found , though full of treasure, 
was also the abode of several dragons and we had to 
fight for our lives. A Fear spell gave us the advantage, 
however, and we were able to defeat five dragons! It 
must have been some kind of record , but I wasn 't in 
the mood to give it much thought. We gathered 
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considerable treasure from the room before exiting to 
the north . 

This dragon room led immediately into a room that 
was even worse. No sooner had we stepped within the 
doorway than we were viciously attacked by three 
daemons, who had probably been waiting for us to 
come in . I began to regret the time we had taken to 
gather the treasure, but in retrospect it had probably 
made no difference. 

I immediately cast a Fear spell as my companions 
began to fight for their lives. One of the daemons 
went down quickly. The Fear spell had caused it to 
drop its guard . The others fought even more 
ferociously , however. Their magic at close quarters 
was formidable, and they caused our own weapons to 
tum upon our comrades. We fought without a word; 
only the grunts of the wounded and the clash of steel 
defiled the silent intensity of our battle. 

The situation was grim, though we were gaining 
the upper hand. One of the creatures was critically 
injured and the other seemed to be weakening when 
something even worse happened . One of our 
weapons went astray and hit the fiery brazier in the 
center of the small alcove where this battle was taking 
place. Immediately the floor beneath us turned into an 
inferno of barely hardened lava . We could smell 
burning leather as our boots began to scorch. It would 
soon be burning flesh if we didn't hurry. 

We redoubled our efforts. Then Jaana cast a Time 
Stop spell and we quickly ran from the lava . The 
daemons were not so lucky. When the spell wore off, 
they attempted to follow us. Each step caused them 

obvious pain, and they were soon reduced to hOIM 
at us in rage as our Magic Axes bit into them a 
and again. They died horribly-their corpses ins 
cremated in the lava- but we had no time to \\ll"' 

about them. I sensed the presence of other bei 
among us. I suspect that, without the King's Croor 
protect us, we might have been prey to some e1 

more evil magic than the daemons had possessed 
didn't wait around to find out. Having destroyed 
daemons, we hurried from the room, taking the exl1 

the north. 
We followed the passage north. It turned east, 

north, then east again. Finally we came to a fork" 
led north and east. We took the northerly path 
found a crude hole leading upward. We climbed 
some effort through the hole. We came up thr 
grating, perhaps a drainage hole for the old mine 
our reception committee was anything but fri 
Though not as dangerous as dragons and daetllOO!. 
room full of slimes did nothing to reassure us 
battled them grimly. Though they divided many 
we eventually slew them all. Jaana quickly turnt'll 
odds against the creatures by casting a Tremor 
which shook the jelly-like creatures until many of 
fell apart. The others solemnly ate the remains OI 

companions and then resumed their slithering 
on us . But our strength had defeated the 
fearsome enemies, and these slimes were no 
for us. 

Once the battle was over, we breathed a c 
sigh of relief. We were all damaged in one~ 
another from the continuous fighting, and we 
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11.1e some precious healing potions to cure the worst 
our wounds. We dared not use healing magic. 
~e might be more rooms such as those we had just 

behind. 
We discovered a hole leading upward just outside 
doorway to the slime room, but decided to skip it, 

!lowing an instinct born of many trips to the 
W:ieons. South of us, we found another room and 
nered it with some trepidation. 

A narrow hallway separated two wider halls within 
ti room. Exits led in all directions and we headed for 

southern exit. However, as we passed through the 
'.i!TOW passage, we must have tripped a mechanism 
liat released a cloud of bats from the walls. Though 

posed little danger to us, we had to take the time 
· destroy those that didn't fly away. After that, we 
ere unchallenged as we completed our passage 
rough the room. 
Outside the room we found a hole leading upward, 
the sixth level of the old mine and on to the fifth, 

~ere a short walk west , then north, took us to 
ther upward egress . 
We found ourselves in a troll's nest. Their grisly 
ts were upon the fire and their meager treasures 

i.d the walls. Knowing trolls , we saw no point in 
:.i!Mng to discuss current events. With little hesitation, 

threw a few Magic Axes to show them who was 
, killing their leader. That was the way to deal 

:tth trolls. Then we exited to the south, leaving them 
wonder at the appearance of such a fierce band of 

arriors in their domain. Needless to say they made 
attempt to follow us. 
We found a ventilation shaft due south of the trolls ' 

and were able to climb it all the way to the first 
~I. Heading north from the shaft, we followed a 

passage to the final exit. Once again we stood 
:eneath the Britannian sky, and for what seemed like 
ale hundredth time, we collapsed on the rocky ground 
!00 gave thanks. 

Our celebration was short-lived, however. 
'ordlessly, we all acknowledged that our next task 
oold be among the most dangerous we had ever 

ed. We would have to summon the Shadowlords 
md destroy them . We had avoided confrontations 

.:h these evil creatures until now. The time had 

come, though, to challenge them once and for all. We 
had the three Shards and the monsters ' names. Now 
we would see if what we had been told was true. 

w 
f:ntry 31-~erpenfs 
'ijold-The f:nd of 
a ~hadowlord 
e had left our ship in a great 
bay south of Spiritwood, and it 
remained there still. It was a 
short distance by Magic 

Carpet, and we were soon at sea again . The salt air 
washed the grime and filth of Destard from our souls, 
even as the river had previously washed our bodies 
and clothing. We were ready for the Shadowlords. 

We decided to sail south to Serpent's Hold, where 
we would summon the Shadowlord of Cowardice. 
Then we would see . ... 

At Serpent's Hold, we went directly to visit the 
Eternal Flame of Courage. There we stood a moment, 
silently gathering our courage. We had faced many 
deadly enemies together, and we knew our collective 
strength was able to defeat the most powerful dragons 
and daemons in the land, but we all knew the fear of 
the Shadowlords. You could see it in the faces of the 
people throughout Britannia. Only here, in the Keep 
of Courage, did we dare this arcane experiment. As I 
gathered myself to yell the creature's name, I prayed 
fervently that Sutek had been right. We were risking a 
lot on his say-so. 

One by one, my companions came to me, nodded, 
embraced me, and walked back to stand behind me. 
They looked into my eyes with such confidence in me 
that I no longer doubted. 

"The Shadowlord will come at thy call , Avatar," 
said Shammo. "Do not waver before it! " 

"Here," said Iolo , walking up to me. "Take the 
Shard of Cowardice. Use it when the Shadowlord 
walks into the Flame of Courage. Thou must lure it 
into the flame. Thou wilt do it. 'Tis a piece of 
pudding. " 

"You mean a piece of cake, don 't you?" I asked. 
"Whatever, " muttered Iolo. "Just do it and we can 

leave this smoky pit and get some fresh air." 
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I turned to face the Flame of Courage. I drew a 

great breath, let it out and drew another. 
"NOSFENTOR! " I yelled . "Come to meet thy 

doom! " Well , I could be theatrical if I wanted. I might 
be dead in the next second. 

I waited . At first nothing happened. I stood just 
before the Flame itself. Then, behind the Flame, the 
air seemed to shake and to implode, as if it were being 
sucked into a giant vacuum cleaner. With an eerie 
popping sound- something like a champagne cork 
opening, but ten times louder-the Shadowlord of 
Cowardice materialized. I waited. I wasn 't sure what 
to do. 

The creature was enraged. I could see in its blood­
red eyes the hatred it bore me. It thought of only one 
thing: my death! Its claw-like hands reached for my 
neck as it prepared to step toward me. Just at that 
moment, I unwrapped the Shard of Cowardice and 
held it aloft. 

The creature smiled then and I had the most 
horrifying sensation that I had just done something 
quite wrong. The evil emanations of the Shard began 
their battle for my soul while its creature sent a mental 
bolt to augment its power. I was fighting a silent battle 
within , though from the outside it might have seemed 
that the danger came from the creature's razor-sharp 
claws. But my danger was of being subverted to Evil. 
The Shard and the Shadowlord whispered to me in 
the tones of a lover, yelled at me like an angry father, 
screamed in spasms of madness. 

I was losing focus . The image of the Shadowlord 
wavered before me. But so did the Flame of Courage. 
The Shadowlord, blind with hatred, stepped forward­
right into the Flame itself! I could feel the magic of the 
Flame reaching to me. It gripped me like a protector's 
hand upon my shoulder, and at first I actually thought 
Dupre was standing there beside me . The 
Shadowlord's smile disappeared as it writhed in the 
Flame, but its grip on my mind was still there , still 
powerful . 

With a great effort, I ejected the Shadowlord from 
my mind , simultaneously throwing the Shard of 
Cowardice into the Flame of Courage. There was a 
great explosion as the two opposing forces met . 
Then, in an instant, it was over. I found myself on my 

knees. A many-headed worm of nausea twisted in 
bowels. My head ached, and my limbs were leaden 
couldn't stand. I could barely breathe. 

But my friends were all around me, giving 
courage with their congratulations. When 1 finally 
able to look up, I saw the Eternal Flame, still bUll'llllJ 
as if nothing had happened. Of the Shard and 
Shadowlord, not a trace remained. I managed a \\U 

smile. 
"One down and two to go ," I gasped . Then 

blacked out. 
Q Q Q 

I came to several hours later. Jaana had given 
some potion that set me right again . I was famllhet 
however , and Lord Malone sent an exotic 
satisfying feast to our rooms. Later I met with Main 
privately and he thanked me. He vowed that the 
of my courage would never be forgotten. 

All of this meant little to me, however. I kne11 
would soon have to repeat our performance 
Empath Abbey, and then again at the Lycaeum. I 
anxious to be on my way, to get it over with. 

fntry 32-fmpmh 
ltbbey: The LyClle1111 
e were able to destroy· 
remaining Shadowlords 
the Flames of Love and T 
We could feel their evil 
from the world. And each 

I banished another of these creatures, it bee 
easier. Their grip on me became weaker, until, w 
destroyed the Shadowlord of Falsehood, I did so 
contempt for his once-feared power. He succ 
as the others had , with nothing but blind hatred oc 
mind. They all walked directly into the Flames 
were their true nemesis, never realizing that I 
nothing , just a tool in their destruction. 

I think the struggle with their evil had changed 
I felt stronger and more complete than I ever ha: 
was ready to free the King. The time had corneal 
I was no longer the weak, confused stranger I 
had been. I was no longer the shadow of the A~ 
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was now Avatar in name and in deed. It was a feeling 
I strength, of humility, and of supreme confidence in 

!he power of Virtue. Not the blind virtue of 
Blackthorn's endless rules , twisted logic , and 
~rannical enforcement, but the virtue of the heart, 
ruled by Love, Courage, and Truth. I longed to tell the 
people of these three Principles, but that task would 
properly fall to the King. My job was to bring him 
back and end Blackthorn's abominable regime forever. 

Now that the Shadowlords were gone, we returned 
to Stonegate and retrieved the King 's Scepter 
llrlopposed. Then it was time to find the King. We 
ll!leW the way. There was nothing else to wait for. We 
neaded for Shame, the dungeon we knew would lead 
.; to our final encounter. I had doubted Sutek (who 
i'<ld turned out to be a most excellent mage), but I had 
no doubt that the Codex had been correct when it had 
eered us toward Shame. Battle-hardened and armed 

with the best weapons and armor, we almost looked 
forward to another dungeon , just to test ourselves 
again. None of my friends even thought of backing 
out; of that I am positive. 

s 
Enl'l'y SS-Shame: 
Underworld (Jnto 
he Darkness) 
hame lay west of Britain , 
surrounded by high mountains . 
A great bay stretched out from 
its entrance , and the waters 

practically lapped the fallen stones where the Great 
Council had sealed it. Our journey to Shame had been 
uneventful , but I was thinking about what was to 
come. Beyond Shame were the place of Darkness and 
something called "stealer of souls." 

"INFAMA," I yelled before I could think any more. 
The earth shook, as it always did when I yelled a 

Word of Power, and the rocks sealing the entrance 
lifted and returned to the mountains from where they 
had come. We stepped into the rough-hewn portal 
that led to Shame. 

We found ourselves in a room without an exit. It 
was confusing. Some magic must have sealed the way 
out. We searched , but found no obvious studs or 
levers. 

lolo , ever the most inventive of us, threw a Magic 
Axe at the wall in the southwest comer of the room. 
Why he threw it I never knew, but I don't think he did 
it out of frustration (as I was close to doing). Anyway, I 
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didn't ask why. I just marvelled at the result-a whole 
section of wall simply disappeared. 

We proceeded to attack the south wall then, and 
revealed a passageway leading due south. We had to 
climb over some huge stones that had been set in the 
way, but that proved no great difficulty. Single file, we 
marched out of the room and into the dungeon proper. 

Shame had once been a great mine. It was much 
better built than Destard, which was little more than a 
hole in the ground. The passageways in Shame had 
been nicely reinforced , and the wooden framework 
that supported walls and ceilings still held. Only close 
inspection showed the dry rot that was slowly 
weakening the structure. One day, this whole mine 
would collapse upon itself, but for now it seemed safe 
enough. 

I spotted some giant rats dead ahead on the path 
south, but we turned into an eastern passage almost 
directly outside the door to the room we had left. We 
followed that path a long way until we found a ladder 
with a sign above it reading "Deepest. " This seemed a 
good bet so we climbed down. 

The ladder turned out to be a blessing. It took us 
directly to the seventh level of the mine . Then, we 
were lucky again. Just four paces to the south we 
found another ladder leading to Level 8. 

This is where our luck ran out. Reaching the 
bottom of the ladder, we found ourselves near an 
underground river. A small army of slimes practically 
surrounded us, and three huge sea serpents floated in 
the subterranean waters. The only exit was west, and 

we headed for it. A lengthy battle with the sea 
serpents was the last thing any of us wanted. We Ml 
long since learned when to run and when to fight. We 
ran. One Confuse spell to slow them down, then 11e 

were out of there! 
Once outside the sea-serpent room, we walk~ 

west, then south, west again, south again, and m 
another room. Jaana suggested we might use the De 
Por spell to attempt a descent to the Underworld~ 
leaving the sea-serpent room, but I thought we hal 
better find the exit just in case. In retrospect, I wisll 
had followed her advice. 

Not that the room we found ourselves in was 
terrible. We easily handled the giant rats, ores, an: 
ettins we found there. And there was some treasure 
too. But the sight of a grisly corpse in their treasu< 
trove brought home once more the mortal danger · 
all faced. We hurried from the room after taking 11.!i 

we needed, exiting to the east. 
We were in a small closet-sized alcove, but~ 

weren 't fooled for long. A hidden lever revealeti 
doorway leading farther east, and beyond it, the lath! 
down! 

Once again in the Underworld , we began 
explore. Eventually we discovered that, by going as fl 
east as we could, we were within a Blink of a . 
meadow area. That is what we did , but not be( 
resting and healing our wounds. We didn't know11. 
would lie before us, but if the past was any indica 
we would need all our strength and abilities. 

We floated on the Carpet, on the western shore 
an underground lake. In the middle of the lake 
could see an island. I think we all knew the island 
our destination. We glided over the water toward 11 

The middle of the lake was very agitated, a1 

some deep force were constantly churning the ' 
It bubbled and swirled beneath us, and we were t 
roughly on the Carpet until we reached the 
shallows near the island. Only slightly bruised. 
began to reconnoiter the area. 

Using a Gem, we found that the island's cc 
was impenetrable, except for a small area in its 
middle. The way into the center would invariab~ 
us over some lava streams, but we had seen 11 

We searched out the shortest path, the one· 
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'!QUired the least amount of fire-walking. It involved 
;Jme mountain-climbing from the southern tip of the 

, and a brief crossing of the lava, but soon we 
,,rled the edge of the great Darkness described by 

me Codex. 
It was impenetrable. It was the darkness of a child's 

ghtmare. The darkness of the inside of a coffin 
'.\en you're buried alive. It was the darkness of death! 

T- darkness was like nothing I had ever experienced, 
·d even my similes are only weak attempts at 

description. It was oily and thick and it flowed over us, 
aling us in its utter blackness. I saw lights and 
1rling shapes, and realized only slowly that they 
rang from my brain, desperate artifacts of utter 

:iindness. We could not walk through this cloying black 
resence. It was almost alive . I felt it seeping into my 

, my mouth, my nose. I began to suffocate. 
I was desperate. If I spent any longer in this place, 

would lose myself. I searched for any image of light, 
'hope. That's when I remembered the Amulet and 

pure brilliance. The image of the Amulet sprang 
lllo my mind, and it was a full minute before I realized 
that I was already holding the glowing talisman aloft. I 
a not imagining the light any longer. I had 

:consciously taken the Amulet from its place beneath 
11 tunic. The light I was seeing was real, pure, and 

nger than the Darkness. 
With the help of a Gem and the Amulet , we 

s:wnbled through the gelatin-like blackness to its very 
center. There we found a great pile of rock on a 
imched, desolate oasis in the Darkness. This was a 

forbidding place, but by comparison, it was heavenly. 
I stood before the rock pile, piercing it with my 

gaze. It appeared much the same as the sealed 
entrances to the dungeons at the surface of Britannia, 
and I knew with instant certainty that this was the way 
to the depths of the earth. This was the final dungeon, 
Doom! 

We rested here. It seemed inconceivable that 
anything could attack us from within that profound 
Darkness, and we needed to be at our full strength 
before we descended this deepest of all dungeons. 
Shamino took the watch. 

When I awakened, the King 's apparition was there. 
He said nothing he hadn't said before, but he healed 
us all and then disappeared. I took it as a sign. If Lord 
British could appear to us even here, in the heart of 
this evil place, then he must truly be near. 

I had put the Amulet away in my pack while I 
slept, so I drew it out once more. 

"VERAMOCOR," I yelled. 

B 
:Entry 34--Doom 
eing sure to wear the Crown, I 
entered the dungeon Doom­
pe r haps to save the King , 
perhaps to die. My companions 
followed me. 

We found ourselves in a 
room with no exits. I mean no exits. There was no 
sign of the entrance we had taken to get here. The 
whole room was sealed with force fields . 
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I used the Scepter to dispel the field along the 
western wall. The field dissolved immediately and an 
exit appeared. We left the room, walking cautiously. I 
think I was prepared for anything. 

The walls of Doom were cut from the very bedrock 
of the world. They were rough, as if gouged carelessly 
by some giant hand. Here and there we saw the glint of 
gold, the sparkle of precious gems, but we had no time 
to worry about such trivialities. We headed west, then 
followed the path until we found a ladder leading down. 

Due south of us we saw another ladder leading 
both up and down, but it turned out to lead into a 
trap. The correct path was south, then east at the first 
fork. We found another ladder after the path turned to 
the north again. This took us to Level 3 . 

As we started out from the base of the ladder, Iolo 
began to whistle. He had often done so when faced 
with danger, but I think this time we were all a little 
unnerved. 

"Must thou keep up that infernal noise?" 
complained Shamino. "Dost thou really intend to call 
every monster in these depths to our side?" 

Joto stopped his tune in mid-bar. "Why, Shamino. 
Thou wert always a music lover. What hath happened 
to spoil thy ear?" 

"If thou couldst carry a tune ... " 
"!? Carry a tune?" Joto countered incredulously. 

Then he laughed. "I promise thee, Shamino, a song 
commemorating thy bravery when this adventure is 
done." 

Shamino, too, laughed. "Now thou art making 
sense. But shall we not wait until we are once again in 

our cups at the Blue Boar. Now I would keep my ean 
tuned to the sounds of our enemies. " 

" 'Tis true," added Dupre. "We must be alert ." 
"As you wish, my friends," said lolo, turning bail 

down the passageway. "I thought only to entertain cxr 
dungeon dwellers before we end their miserab 
existences." 

"Thou art a prince among adventurers." sa 
Shamino to his receding back. 

We had been gathered around the bottom of ~ 
ladder that had taken us to Level 3. From there.·• 
went east, the took the first fork south . The pa• 
curved east again , then turned north. We didn t tali< 
the northern route, though. We discovered two hi~ 
doorways at this comer and headed east through one 
them. We were attacked by a torrent of bats, but~ 
beat them off and continued on our way unharmed. 

Rounding another comer, we were attacked~ 
small army of gremlins. These nasty, quick creatur 
would rob us of food and other essentials if they ~ 
close and we threw ourselves into the ball 
feroci~usly . We had come too far to let these thi~ 
little monsters thwart us. 

Some of the gremlins left treasure chests behirli 
but we had little need for their purloined gold OOi 

We continued onward until we found a rough st 
entrance leading into a small cavern. 

A ladder down to the next level stood behmd 
force field, and behind the ladder, a daemon. T\l.ll 
its friends also awaited us . I quickly checked 
Crown to be sure it was in place to ward off th 
magic, then we set about our grim task of battling" 
creatures. It was nothing new, except that I haa · 
dispel the force field before we could rid ourselves 
the daemons. 

The daemons attempted to stand before the Im 
to prevent our escape, but we had no intention 
escaping while they still stood. We fired our M. 
Axes through the narrow opening left by the dispe 
force field. In time, we killed all three daemons. Th 
never got close enough to us to do any damage. lk 
we headed for the ladder, which took us all the way 
Level 5. 

The next part of our descent into Doom 
confusing. It took us a long time to find the co 
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•e. but we eventually did. I'll skip the false trails and 
we walked into. Here is the route we eventually 

:«: 
From the ladder that took us down to Level 5, we 
ed two paces east and climbed up a ventilation 

rt, back to Level 4. 
Walking south, we found a pit two paces away, at 

·our-way intersection. We climbed down this pit, 
to Level 5. 

We walked east until we found a passageway 
uth. Walking along it, we found a shaft leading back 
~d again. This we took, bringing us back to Level 
J!lce more. 
Next we walked west one, south two, and turned 
the west, where we found a hidden shaft, partially 

.aied beneath the dirt of the floor. This we climbed 
"'-TI, finding a ladder beneath it that led to Level 6 . 

On Level 6, there was only one path to take, and 
•e followed it until we reached a cavern with a great 
rushing river. A waterfall splashed and roared at the 
10rth end of the cavern. The place would almost have 
. en beautiful had it not been for the presence of 
;aieral sea serpents and giant squids. We battled the 
monsters, using spells and weapons, exiting finally to 
the north. My Fear spell was especially effective and 
.aused the monsters to froth about in the water, 
~ving them vulnerable to our attacks. 

Just north of the cavern was another ladder, this 
one leading down to Level 7. We climbed down and 
found that the ladder continued to Leyel 8. If only it 
had been that easy. But we soon found that we must 

remain on Level 7 and head south, into a diabolical 
cavern filled with the most fearsome enemies we had 
met so far. There were daemons and dragons, and a 
new enemy that lived beneath the sand at our feet. Its 
huge jaws, studded with sharp teeth that would have 
made a great white shark envious pushed their way 
from below to snap us up. We used all our powers to 
save ourselves from disaster. Fear spells worked 
against the daemons and the dragons. Tremor spells 
seemed effective against the terrible sand creatures, 
but we dared not deplete our magic powers too much. 
In the end, these sand creatures proved dangerous and 
tough, but we finally beat them. 

When the battle was over the room was filled with 
treasure chests. We opened them and gathered what we 
needed. In the center of the room, we found and opened 
a chest. When we had removed everything, we found a 
ladder, previously hidden from view. It led down. 

As if things hadn't been bad enough! Now we were 
in another cavern with a great waterfall. It was much 
like the one we had been in before , but now, in 
addition to sea serpents , we were surrounded by 
dragons. And there was no obvious way out of the 
place other than the ladder we had taken to get here! 

The old reliable Fear spell worked here, too. We 
still had a major battle on our hands , but most of the 
monsters were easy prey for our Magic Axes once the 
spell took hold of them. Just as we were mopping up 
the last of the dragons, an errant Axe flew past its 
target and hit a comer of the wall at the northwestern 
edge just below the waterfall . Two things happened 
then, one good and the other not so good. 
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Well , compared to dragons and sea serpents, 
mongbats were pretty wimpy, and we never missed a 
beat. The room was soon free of monsters. We 
collected the treasures we required , then headed 
across the bridge and out the western exit. 

More of the same. A ladder led back to Level 7 , 
and directly into another trap. This cavern was full of 
mongbats, but there was also a reaper in the center. I 
always worried about reapers and their ability to 
possess the unwary. And they were truly ugly. There 
were several varieties of reaper. This one looked 
something like a short, stubby tree trunk with four 
tentacles. It glowed with an unholy light and emitted 
strange, high-pitched sounds. We concentrated on 

killing it first , even though the Crown afforded 
some protection from its spell. 

The battle was soon over, though I'd receivell 
some nicks and scrapes from the mongbats. Our fill! 
impulse was to exit to the west, but something told 
to search this room more closely. Behind the grate. 
an alcove I pressed a stud, revealing a small area · 
above it. I then threw my Axe at a stud at the back 
the newly revealed area. Yet another region openei 
just south of the grating. Shamino tossed an Axe at 
and passages leading north and south opened before 
us. We quickly headed south. 

The area south of the puzzle room was a dead 
but some suspicious-looking dirt led us to search at . 
end of the passage . We found a shaft lead1 
downward, which we took down to Level 8. 

We took the ladder we found just west of us, w. 
brought us back to Level 7. I was growing tired of 
back-and-forth journey, but it was obvious•: 
someone , or some thing , had made our jourr 
difficult on purpose. 

At any rate we headed west on Level 7, avo 
a hidden pit in the corner of the passage, then 
south and found another pit two paces from ' 
previous one. This time we climbed down the pit. 
to Level 8. 

We were on a small island, surrounded by 
sharks. Around the edges of the cavern we could 
the winking lights of wisps , creatures who c 
appear and disappear, and whose powers I hopec 
to test. I checked the Crown to be sure it was 

206 



W..'l'lMlI V: Warriors of Destiny 

e. Then the battle began. The sharks snapped at 
'lll feet while the wisps hovered across the water. We 

re all tired, but fought as hard as we could. We 
1WTe low on magic power by now and decided to save 

magic for more powerful enemies. It took longer 
mhout magic to help us, but eventually we succeeded 
clearing the cavern of enemies. However, the one 

!Xlt. leading north, had mysteriously sealed itself. I 
ent alone to investigate while the rest of my 
mpanions waited on the island. 
As 1 walked along the northern wall of the cavern 
re was a grinding noise behind me. Looking to the 

a1i, I noticed that a small hole had been revealed . I 
diked to the hole, and pushed on the northern wall 

re. Again there was a great sound of grinding rock. 
An exit appeared, leading east. Though I couldn't see 

from where I stood within the hole, Dupre called to 
111< to tell me of its appearance. We made haste to get 

of the cavern, using the eastern exit, in case it 
!<aled itself as the other exit had. 

A ladder led back to Level 7 and we took it. I was 
tieginning to fear we would never get out of this maze. 
No other dungeon had been so confusing. I was tired 
· the constant battles, but my wish for an end to 

lhings was not to be granted yet. When we came out 
a'. the top of this latest ladder, we were in another 
cavern. A force field bisected the area, and there were 
umerous mongbats and daemons awaiting us. I had 

t'.e impression that we had encountered a reception 
·immittee of some sort. As usual, we responded to 

ir hospitality in kind. 
We killed a few stray mongbats , then I strode 

forward to dispel the field. As I did so, yet another 
surprise was added for our amusement. The floor 
beneath our feet suddenly turned into lava! Once 
again, we would get the hotfoot treatment. 

Well, all this activity convinced me that we were 
close to our goal. We were all battle-weary and half 
beaten low on magic power and bleeding from a 
dozen slashes and scrapes. But I was damned if I 
would let these daemons know it. Raising the Scepter 
high above my head, I destroyed the field and taunted 
the daemons behind it. 

"Is this the best you can offer?" I screamed as I 
threw my Magic Axe in the face of one of the 
monsters. It reeled back a step, then held its ground. 1 
think Jaana used the last of her magic to cast a Fear 
spell, and then the battle was fully joined. Once again, 
the Fear spell worked wonders . Mongbats were 
heading for the exit while the daemons grew confused 
and ineffective. We stepped quickly, but carefully, out 
of the lava and finished off the daemons. A few of 
them had kept their heads, and it took some time to 
kill them. The rest went down with one or two blows. 
We were soon the masters of the cavern. Wounded, 
beaten-up, worn-out masters, to be sure. I wasn't 
convinced we could go much further. One more battle 
like this last would probably finish us. 

Despite our condition, we hesitated only long 
enough to heal the worst of our wounds, then headed 
east, out of the cavern and into the passageway 
beyond. Though it appeared a dead end, we searched 
and found a pit leading down. Once again, we were 
headed into the jaws of death. We had not yet met the 
"stealer of souls" mentioned by the Codex. I had no 
doubt we soon would, though. I felt a profound sense 
of sadness as I looked over my brave companions. We 
weren't strong enough to last much longer down here. 
How would we ever get back? 

Nobody said anything. We just climbed down the 
hole, one after the other. I think we were all ready to 
risk everything, to succeed or to die. We just wanted a 
resolution of some sort. Dungeon Doom had taken its 
toll, and no amount of false bravado would replace 
what we'd lost. As I set my feet into the hole and 
prepared to lower myself, I said a little internal prayer 
for all our benefits, then I dropped. 
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I found myself in a pleasant enough room. One by 
one, my companions dropped down the hole and 
joined me. No daemons or other creatures of evil 
attacked. There was no apparent danger, and that 
bothered me the most. There were books here , a bed, 
and a table set with silverware. Torches lit the walls, 
and at the north end of the room , a mirror . My 
attention was drawn to the mirror, where I thought I 
saw a shape moving independently of the objects and 
people in the room. There was definitely something in 
the mirror! I walked up to the shiny, reflective plane 
and ... 

I was in a timeless place for a heartbeat. It was not 
unlike the sensation of the Moongates, but worse. I 
felt a wrenching at my soul. Something pulled at 
me, dragging me through a soul-stealing molasses. I 
couldn 't breathe, though I wasn 't sure I needed to. 
The dragging continued until .. . 

"Well met! " I heard him say. Even so, I wasn't sure 
was he, or that I was still alive. Wherever I was, it " 
the strangest place I had been yet. Everything ·' 
tinged by a weird greenish light and the face tr · 
smiled at me was a face I had seen only as a ghost · 
so long, that I doubted its reality. 

But it was Lord British himself. He was helping r 
through the mirror. Behind me came my compan· 
Each of them , one after the other , came siler· 
through the eerie gate of the mirror. We were int 
twin of the room we had left. Obviously, we v. 
inside a mirror world. I thought of Alice, but this • 
not Wonderland . The sound of the King 's vc. 
warbled like a bad phonograph record , but' 
strength came through it anyway. 

"Didst thou bring my box?" he asked. 
"Yes , Sire ," I managed to stammer as 1 d 

through my possessions to uncover the preci 
sandalwood box. I handed it to him. My hands sh< 
It had been a long Quest. I had a bittersweet fee: 
that it was just about over. A sense of foreboc 
swept through my stomach and chest, but a er· 
elation struggled to escape my lips . I took a di 
breath and held it as Lord British began to speak. 

This is what the King said: 

"An artifact of astral power fell to this earth long -
from the skies . . . From the world that thee aoc 
both call home did it come. Often did I return to 
old world with its magic, and now will it free us fr 
this prison! Older even than Mondain's evil are· 
forces which bind us here . . . But older still is · 
power of the Orb of the Moons! " 

"Follow! " cried Lord British , as he extracte· 
small, red sphere from the wooden box. He then 
it to the floor. "Our worlds await! " 

208 



W.'l'JMli V: WmTiors of Destiny 

-~1s is the end of the second chronicle of the 
.\oolar. Wha t happened to the Avatar after this, 
•dhow the manuscript managed to find its way to 
'e surface from deep in the earth , from the 
ysterious mirror world of the Soul Stealer ... 
ne of this is known. But we believe this to be a 

'Je account. It accurately presents many of the 
ts as we know them. Many reports tell of a party 

1 aduenturers who rode a flying carpet. Stories 
,,,e been handed down in some famil ies . For 
stance, in New Magincia there is a man who 
aims to be descended from Kaiko and who swears 

"'~t the Ava tar did speak with his ancestor. Other 
·ories are less certain, but their vague references 

·11nforce the truth of this tale. Certainly the journal 
111ues man y questions unanswered, but it does 
count fo r most of the Avatar's Quest as it is 

nown in legend. We leave it to you to judge. Is it 
'!Ill? Or is it a hoax? 

-Carlotta Stein and Robert DeMain 
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Ultima V 
'The Down and (Keally) 

Dirty Walkthrough 
The following information represents 
one fairly efficient way to play through 

· :ilna V. It's a big game, and there's no way to do it 
·1<1lly fast. In this walkthrough we follow the same path 
·~n in the fictional narrative, but we've condensed 

information. If you get stuck somewhere, check the 
·.irrative section. It's more explicit. 

You can play the game more quickly by skipping 
nany of the clues, obtaining the objects needed, and 
1scuing the King . This walkthrough guides you to 

of the clues and through almost all of the game. 
".'1ere are, however, a few shortcuts that can make 
"'game a little easier. It's up to you whether you 
~t to take advantage of these shortcuts or not. 

Be sure to save your game often. Sometimes it's a 
]'xxl idea to return to the operating system and copy 
·1e SAVED .GAM file to another name (like 

VE1.U5) This way, any time you want to return to 
an earlier save, simply copy the archived game back to 
SAVED.GAM. If you really make a mistake, you can 
· over. To return to DOS on PCs, press Alt-5 (on the 
·urneric keypad) . This will bring up a prompt allowing 
.JU to drop directly to the operating system. 

lolo's Hut 
• Get torches. 

Forest 
• Head east. 
• Camp out at sign for 8 hours (to heal Shamino). 
• Go to castle. 
• Camp out for 8 hours. 
Castle Britannia 
• Climb ladder in northwest tower room. 
• Climb again to reach ramparts. 

• Walk around the parapet to the 
south. 

• When guard is gone, Push the cannon in front of 
the door. Fire cannon. 

• Get the Magic Carpet and Use it. 
• Exit castle. (This makes the guards forget about 

you. Otherwise they'll try to capture you and you'll 
end up in jail in Yew.) 

• Return to the castle. 
• Explore the castle and talk to everyone. There's no 

really critical information here, however. You can 
get a Ring of Regeneration and a ring of keys in the 
basement. Search the barrels. Take as many torches 
as you like. There's no penalty for taking them. 

• Exit the castle. 

Britain 
• Talk to everyone. In particular, talk to Greyson 

about the Codex and about Mantras. Talk to Eb, 
the busboy. Talk to Telila about Gossip. Talk to 
Annon at night and get the Word of Power. Talk to 
Terrance. You can get free food from Terrance by 
asking about his Living. Talk about the Times and 
the Shadowlords to learn about the Resistance. 

• Purchase Slings and Ready them. 
• Talk to Gwenno. Gwenno joins the party. 

Yew 
• Talk to Chamfort at the Arms of Justice about the 

Resistance. 
• Go through passageway behind Chamfort's 

fireplace . 
• Meet Jaana. She joins the party. 
• Find secret door at the end of the hallway and get 

the silver sword in the barrel. 
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W.. 'l'J1'1Jll.: The ll.vZltZU' ll.clventures 

• At 3 p.m. talk to Landon; tell him the password. 
• Stock up on reagents at the herb seller's shop. 

Prepare An Nox and Mani in particular. 
• Free prisoners in the stocks by picking the locks. 

Oolo is good for this.) 
• Visit jail cells. In the left cell, Felespar gives you a 

Word of Power. 
• You can buy food, keys or information from 

Jerone's brother, Jeremy. 
• Return to Chamfort and ask about the Mantra. 

Shrine of Justice 
• Meditate at the Shrine and get a Shrine Quest. 

Minoc 
• Minoc is a good place to gain experience. The 

Healer is free. You can get food as well. 
• Talk to Rew, the sailmaker, about her Job, the 

Hours and Week. The song she sings is instructive. 
Pay attention to her talk about Wells and Horses. 

• Talk to Fiona (at the poorhouse). Ask about Great 
Council and the Word of Power for Covetous. 

• Give coins to the beggar. Leave and return. Give 
coins again to get the hint about Shenstone. 

• Follow Shenstone from the Darkwatch Armory 
around 11 a .m. to noon. (You don't actually need 
to follow him at all , if you already know where the 
tree is .) Dig up Skull Keys from base of tree. Stay 
several days and collect 25 to 30 Skull Keys. Use 
the time between to hunt monsters and raise 
character levels. 

• If you want to know about the dark side of the 
game , talk to Tactus and learn about Judge 
Dryden in Yew. 

Castle Britannia (Again) 
What you are about to do is going to damage your 
status as Avatar. It is justifiable , only with some 
difficulty, but any damage done to your Virtue is 
recoverable. This is the best way to get stocked up 
with supplies , weapons, and gold. It is not 
necessary to do this, however. It just helps you 
bypass some of the routine monster-hunting. 

• Return to Castle Britannia, go to the basement, 
and use Skull Keys to open the Treasury room (the 
door to the south with the magic lock) . Each time 

you open a chest, you lose Karma points (use Ctrl­
K to check Karma points) . When you haw 
everything in the room, leave, climb ladder up 
climb back down and return to Treasury. Do tlu; 
20 or 25 times. You'll get lots of useless stuff, 00: 
you'll also stock up on important items. When ~ 
get Magic Axes, equip them. Try to end up \I.it: 
five or six Magic Axes. By the time you're finishe: 
you'll have no Karma points. 

East Britanny 
• Talk to Sir Adam and Squire Jimmy to learn abo..1 

HMS Cape. 
• Find HMS Cape plans in locked room in easte:­

end of the Oaken Oar. It's in a chest of drawers. 
• Purchase a Frigate and a Skiff. 

North Britanny 
• Talk to everyone and mention the Resistanc 

often. Learn about Shadowlords, Sute 
Stonegate, and more. 

West Britanny 
• Be sure to visit Christopher. (Hint: Christop. 

may seem familiar to fans of some of Orig1r 
other games.) 

Shrine of the Codex 
• Sail to the Avatar's Island and visit the Shnne 

the Codex. Find it by following the river in 
southern tip of the island. 

Shrine of Justice 
• Complete the first Shrine Quest. 

Minoc (Again) 
• Give money to the beggar to recover Kanna 

(Virtue) . Give as much as you want. It will 
your Virtue up again . It should be at least 44 
the time you stop, but we recommend bringm; 
to 50 or more. You'll get more Karma poin 
you complete Shrine Quests. 

• Pick up some more Skull Keys while you're here 

Shrine of Sacrifice (Shrine Quest) 
• Visit the Shrine of Sacrifice in the desert l14S 

Minoc. Then visit the Codex; return to the slu 
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Buccaneer's Den 
• Talk to Sven and find out about Glass Swords. Talk 

to Scally to learn about the Sextant. Talk to 
Bidney to learn about the Grapple . The 
conversation is a bit weird. 

• Geoffrey will join the party here . Now you have 
Shamino, Iolo, Gwenno, Jaana , and Geoffrey. 

• Stock up at the Guild of the Broken Lock. 

irine of Compassion 
• Visit the Shrine to get a Quest. 

TheLycaeum 
• Talk to Lord Shalineth and Lady Janell. From the 

Lady, learn about the twin sisters in Cove and 
about the Shrine of Spirituality. From the Lord , 
learn the name of the Shadowlord of Falsehood. 

• Talk to Sir Sean about Stonegate. 

lloonglow 
1 Talk to Zachariah to learn about comets. He'll also 

tell you about Goeth. 
• Search barrels in the towers for objects of interest. 
• Stock up on reagents at the Herbalist. 
• Talk to Lord Stuart if you want the food spell. 
• Talk to Malik. Keep talking to him to learn about 

Saul. 
• Talk to Malik's mother, Malifora . Ask her about 

Mantras , Words of Power , Blackthorn , and 
anything else that occurs to you. 

Cove 
• Talk to Ava and Leona. Learn about the Shard of 

Falsehood. 
• Talk to Ambrose (after 11 p.m.) at the Healer's. 

Learn about the Mystic weapons and armor. 

Empath Abbey 
• Talk to Lord Michael about Love, about Evil, and 

about the Grapple. Get the Grapple. 
• Talk to Barbra about her vision. 
• Talk to Tim to learn about Lord Kenneth and the 

harpsichord. 
• Get free food from Cory in the kitchen (the Shark 

Delicacy). 
1 You'll find various objects hidden in the keep. Take 

whatever you find . 

In the narrative, the Avatar takes the Moongate at 
Yew to Jhelom. It is also possible to sail there from 
Britain or from Minoc. 

Jhelom 
• Find a Magic Axe by opening the hidden door in 

the northeast corner tower. Search the rotted 
stump outside the city walls. 

• Talk to Thom to get the Mantra of Valor. 
• Trian tells you about Goeth if you ask about the 

Word of Power. 
• Talk to Goeth and ask about the Drow of Rewop. 

Also ask about Noom Senots. 
• Buy a Frigate and a Skiff. 

Bordennarch 
• Talk to Sir Simon to learn about the Crown , 

Sceptre, and Amulet. 
• Learn more about the Amulet from Lady Tessa. 
• You'll can recruit Dupre and Sentri here. 
• The Shattered Shield has some awesome weapons 

and armor, if you can afford the rather stiff prices. 

In the narrative walkthrough we have the party sail 
to Skara Brae, where they leave Geoffrey, then 
return to recruit Dupre. That is optional. 

Skara Brae 
• Use the Magic Carpet to catch Froed if you want. 

He'll tell you about his Father, Greymarch, who is 
a prisoner in Yew. 

• Talk to Saul about his Friend. Also ask him about 
Mandrake and Nightshade. 

You can talk to Flain, the astronomer in the locked 
observatory. He will reveal the password for the 
Oppression, but only if you give him the name of 
one of the members of the Great Council . That 's 
not a good thing to do, but you can save the game, 
get the password, then restore the game. That way 
you avoid hurting your Virtue or causing harm to 
any of the good guys. You don 't need the password 
for the Oppression, however, to complete the quest. 

• Visit Kindor at the Healer's sometime after 5 p.m. 
Learn the Mantra of Spirituality. 

• Stock up on reagents. 

213 



Shrine of Valor 
• Get the Shrine Quest. 

Farthing 
• The Great Mage Temme has some spells you don't 

really need, but you might want to talk to her anyway. 
There's a clue about the Spyglass given by Dufus. 

• Talk to Seggallion about the Spyglass. Get the 
Spyglass. 

Greyhaven Lighthouse 
• Talk to Lord Kenneth; have a harpsichord lesson. 
• Talk to David about the Sextant. Get the Sextant. 
• There's no real need to talk to anyone else. 

Serpent's Hold 
• Talk to Lord Malone about Shadowlords to learn 

the name of the Shadowlord of Cowardice. 
• In the basement, visit the Flame of Courage and 

talk to Gardner. Ask about his Visions; he'll give 
you information about the Shard of Cowardice. 

• If you need them, you can get 5 Skull Keys from 
Kristi, the cook. 

• Maxwell will join you if you want. 
• Talk to Toede, the prisoner, for information about 

secret doors and traps in Blackthorn's castle. 

Trinsic 
• Gruman has the Mantra of Honor. 
• Get some Gems from a barrel near the northeast 

comer of the battlements. 
• Talk to Sindar, the sleepwalking wizard. Find him 

on the battlements at night. He knows the Word 
of Power for the dungeon Shame. 

Paws 
• Glinkie has some information about restoring a 

Shrine. This information should not be needed; 
however, there are circumstances in which you 
could cause the destruction of one of the Shrines. 
If that happens , you can restore the Shrine 
following Glinkie's instructions. 

• There are some keys hidden in the Guild shop. 
• Bandaii has information about the Magic Carpet. 

New Magincia 
• Talk to Kaiko to learn about Hassad. 

• Katrina will join the party if you wish. 
• Talk to Sharita, the grave-tender, to learn abool 

the history of Magincia. 
• Talk to Wartow about Humility and learn th, 

Mantra. Consider his questions before you answer 

Sutek's Island 
• Almost due south of New Magincia is Sutek 

Island. Talk to Sutek to learn about the Shards cm: 
how to destroy the Shadowlords. Take som 
scrolls and potions from his house. 

Shrine Quests 
• Complete the quests for the shrines of Honor 

Humility, and Honesty. When both moons are f 
enter a moongate (try Minoc) to visit the Shrine · 
Spirituality. Complete these quests in any order 

• When the last Shrine Quest is complete, the COOel 
will reveal the secret of Doom, the dungeon in 
center of the Underworld. 

Sin'Vraal 
• Find Sin'Vraal in the southern desert, just west 

Dagger Isle. From him you'll learn the name of !Ii 
Shadowlord of Hatred. He can also help 1~ 
locate the Shard of Hatred. 

Castle Britannia (Again) 
• Get the Sandalwood Box by playing the King 

harpsichord. Play the tune Lord Kenneth ta "' 
you. If you meet Saduj , don 't let him join t: 
party! 

Serpent's Spine 
There's a place to get Glass Swords in the Serpe 
Spine at location FA ' EA '. Climb in from : 
northeastern foothills . You'll find a meadow amid 
high peaks. Use the Sextant to help you find it. 

When you find the first sword, have one plo 
equip it, then search again. Keep searching a 
giving the swords to party members until each 
has a sword. Search once more and you'll have 
Glass Swords. You can use these to kill anytl: 
except a Shadow lord with one blow. Even: 
Shadowlords will run if sliced by the Glass Sword. 
they won't be killed. 
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«Lr.rnJlt V: Tips ZlDd f;)uick WZtllUhroug 

Mandrake Root and Nightshade 
You can obtain these expensive and powerful reagents 
'.\ searching at particular places in Britannia. Search 
·ir Mandrake Root south of Minoc . Search at 
~.ifnight at location DG' LG' . Find Nightshade south 
I Spiritwood, at midnight at location JF CO'. 

Stonegate 
··onegate is located north of the rat Grendel's hut, 
~pin the mountains. It is at location EK' JE'. Enter 
!he mountain range from the north and climb south, 
~west to find Stonegate. 

At Stonegate, fight Balinor. You can answer his 
Dile, but he'll fight you anyway. 

If you haven't destroyed the Shadowlords, all three 
j them will be there, guarding the Scepter. Be sure to 
ic1l'l! the game before attempting to obtain the Scepter, 
ir wait until you've dealt with the Shadowlords. It is 
:1)5Sible to get the Scepter by using the superior speed 

the Magic Carpet to outmaneuver the Shadowlords. 
for the more daring or impatient, that is the way to 
;o Otherwise , once the Shadowlords have been 
~oyed, the Scepter is unguarded. 

You'll find the Scepter handy when exploring the 
ilngeons. It dispels any magic field, saving you spell 
:omts and reagents. 

Blackthorn's Castle 
Blackthorn's Castle is located west of the Isle of the 
Codex. It's full of secret doors. The guards will capture 
\QI if you're careless. If you get the Black Badge from 
Elestaria in Windemere, you can walk freely, but to get 
~he badge you must have the password for the 
Oppression. It's actually more fun to outmaneuver the 
guards. Be sure to ride the Magic Carpet, though. 

In the narrative walkthrough you'll find a detailed 
description of the route through Blackthorn's Castle. 

On the roof you'll find the Crown of Lord British. 
You should wear it at all times. It protects you from 
magic attacks, particularly from possession spells. 

In the basement you'll find Hassad, who can give 
100 the Word of Power for the dungeon Hythloth. He 
won't give it until you mention Kaiko (from New 
~agincia , remember?) . 

Gorn will give you directions for escape if you 
don't already know the way. He'll join you if you have 
·oom for him. 

For a description of what happens if you get 
caught, see the narrative walkthrough, Entry 26. 

Dungeon Hythloth (Mystic Weapons; Shard of 
Cowardice) 
Have many Blink spells prepared: at least 15, though 
more is better. Also, bring as many Gems as you can 
afford . Save the game. For more details, follow the 
maps and read the walkthrough in Entry 27. 

In the Underworld, take a path leading northwest 
from Hythloth 's exit . Find the Mystic armor and 
weapons in the middle of the lava pool. Use Gems to 
find your way. 

Travel south from the Hythloth exit as far as you 
can walk. From there use a Blink spell to travel west 
to another meadow. Walk northwest , then Blink 
again to the west. Blink west again, then walk west 
a short distance , using another Gem to line up to 
the next meadow north . Blink north , Blink north 
again , into a swampy area . Ride the Magic Carpet 
to the northeastern tip of this area , and Blink north 
once more . The Shard of Cowardice is to the 
northwest. 

Ararat 
To get to Ararat, find a whirlpool and sail into it. Then 
sail southeast until you find a waterfall. Go down the 
falls and you'll find an island. 

Talk to Captain Johne. He will join you, and he's 
worth recruiting since he can cast high-level spells. If 
you want to recruit Johne, you must leave someone 
behind before you enter the whirlpool. 

Johne can tell you about the origins of the 
Shadowlords. He also has a few items that you can take. 

Underworld (Shard of Hatred) 
You can leave Ararat and climb back up dungeon 
Despise, but if you have a Blink spell, you can go 
northeast as far as you can, then Blink east to the 
area where the Shard of Hatred is found . Enter the 
mountains to the northwest and wind your way 
through the maze, using Gems to guide you until you 
reach the Shard. 

Return via Wrong or Covetous. Entry 28 of the 
narrative walkthrough describes the ascent through 
Wrong. 
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Dungeon Deceit 
Use the maps or the walkthrough in Entry 29 to find 
your way through Deceit. 

Underworld (Shard of Falsehood) 
Use the Underworld map or the walkthrough in Entry 
29 to find the way to the Shard of Falsehood. Use 
Gems to locate the paths. Basically you must make your 
way to the north, to the top of the great waterfalls, then 
slip and slide your way down to the bottom. The Shard 
is on an island in the middle of the lake. 

East of the island , you can Blink into a large 
meadow to the east, then climb back up Deceit. 

Underworld (Amulet); Destard 
Find the waterfall east of Spiritwood and enter it. It 
takes you into the Underworld, following the path 
described by the scroll that comes with the game. 

You can follow the path taken by the King's party, 
or head east at the first fork in the river and follow the 
path given in Entry 30 of the narrative walk.through. If 
you take the eastern path, you'll need to use a few 
Blink spells, so be prepared. You'll want some Gems 
as well . You II find the Amulet to the east of a vast 
swamp. Follow a path that leads to a large meadow 
with five graves. 

Return by heading west and flying up the river until 
you reach the point where you first branched east. 
Retrace your steps then until you find the path to the 
dungeon Destard. Use the maps provided and the 
walkthrough in Entry 30 to help you through the 
dungeon if necessary. 

Serpent's Hold; Empath Abbey; Lycaeum 
It's time to get rid of the Shadowlords. In any order, 
go to Serpent 's Hold , Empath Abbey , and the 
Lycaeum, stand before the Eternal Flame , Yell the 
appropriate Shadowlord 's name , wait until the 
Shadowlord steps into the flame , and Use the 
appropriate Shard. 

• In Serpent's Hold, yell the name of the 
Shadowlord of Cowardice and use the Shard of 
Cowardice. 

• In Empath Abbey, yell the name of the Shadowlord 
of Hatred and use the Shard of Hatred. 

• In the Lycaeum, yell the name of the Shadowlord 
of Falsehood and use the Shard of Falsehood. 

Before You Enter Shame 
Be prepared with plenty of ammunition. Your 
adventurers must be very strong , have plenty ol 
magic points, and carry the best weapons you can get 
Prepare a lot of Fear and Confuse spells. Wear the 
Crown at all times. Also, be aware that you will haw 
to pass through two difficult dungeons , one after 
another. So stock up before attempting this last part 
of the quest. 

Shame 
Attack the walls to open a passage south from the lint 
room in dungeon Shame. You must (K)limb over the 
rocks to get through the passage. 
Use the maps or the narrative walkthrough in Enny 
33 if you need help getting through this dungeon. 

Underworld (The Darkness) 
Walk east as far as you can, then Blink east again. 
Ride the Magic Carpet over the water to the islaM 
the center of the lake. 
Use a Gem to find a path into the center of the islard 
Avoid the lava as much as you can. 
Once you reach the Darkness, Use the Amulet am lllllll 
for the center. You'll find the ruins of a dungeon there 

If you want, you can Hole Up at the center of !hi 
darkness. Lord British may even visit you there. N 
any rate, it's a good idea to enter the next dungeai 
with your characters at their strongest. 

Doom 
When you're ready, yell the Word of Power the Ccxll 
gave you to open the dungeon Doom. 

Use the Scepter to get out of the first room. 
that you can 't go back. Hope you saved the 
before you entered .... 

If you need help with Doom, check the map or 
narrative walkthrough in Entry 34. At the bottan 
the dungeon, you'll find what you seek. 

If you haue followed all the steps in this cha 
you will haue finished Ultimo V: Warriors 
Destiny. Enjoy a moment of peace and accept 
reward, then get ready for more. Ultima VI· 
False Prophet awaits. 
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Ultima V Town maps 
~ Items In Britannia 111111t be a b'lcky lll'OllOlltlon. Why do we say that? Beclule 1111 '*"" 1111 Avatar's lnt8lllgence, 1111119 
1111 prlca he'l llnd. Tiie prtca wa'va lncludad hBl'B 81'8prlcn1111 Avlt.m' was able to get when he had m lntallgala l'dlllll 
Olrvloully, at 1111 beginning of 1111 game, hll lnt11B1nca Wll be lower tllln that-and 1111 prlca Wll be higher. To 1111111'11111• 
1118111 battBr, 1881111 key 11111111 lllt page. 

moonglow 

The Herbalist 
Ginseng ....... .............. 10 for 22 gold 
Garlic ... ...................... 6 for 19 gold 
Spider Silk .. ............... 4 for 13 gold 
Nightshade ................ 13 ea 
Mandrake Root.. .. ...... 14 ea 

The Honest Meal 
Mutton ........... .... ....... 3 per person 
Rations ...................... 11 gold for 25 
meals 
Ale ............................. 1 per person 

"TIJE bO>JEST meAL 

Moonglow Ground Floor Moonglow 2nd Floor 

llritain 
Tbe wAYl'AReR 11JIJ The Wayfarer Tavern 

Mutton ...................... 4 per 
person 
Rations ...................... 16 for 25 
meals 
Ale ............................. 1 ea. 

The Wayfarer Inn 
Lodgings ................... @2 gold 
ea. guest 

lolo's Bows 
Dagger .......... .. .......... 1 
Sling ...... .................... 11 
Bow ............... .. .......... 82 
Arrows .... .. .. ...... ........ 11 
Crossbow ..... ... ... .... .. . 150 
Quarrels ............. ....... 16 
Magic Bow ................ 880 

10Lo's nows 

Britain Ground Floor 
Britain 2nd Floor 
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<be S WORO A"10 k E G Jhelom 

Naughty Nomaans 
Flaming Oil .. .............. 5 
Mace .... ................. ... . 55 
Spiked Collar ..... .. ...... 264 
Throwing Axe ... ... ..... . 3 
Spiked Helm .. .. ........ .. 165 
Spiked Shield ............ 132 
Morning Star ............. 66 

The Sword and Keg 
Mutton ... ........... ..... .. . 5 per 
person 
Rations .............. ........ 22 for 25 

1S LA"10 S blPWRIGbTS meals 
Jhelom Ground Floor 

IM Warrior's Stead (inn) 

Ale ............................. 1 per 
person 

Lodgings ................... @ 3 gold per 
guest 

Yew 

The Slaughtered Lamb 
Rum .......................... 1 per person 
Wild Boar .................. 3 per person 

Healer's Herbs 
Sulfurous Ash ........... 12 for 13 
gold 
Ginseng ..................... 8 for 17 gold 
Garlic ......................... 8 for 17 gold 
Spider Silk ................. 2 for 8 gold 
Blood Moss .............. .4 for 22 gold 

Arms of Justice 
Leather Helm ............. 16 
Cloth Armor ............... 22 
Leather Armor ........... 55 

Yew Basement Club ........................... 5 
Spear ......................... 7 
Silver Sword .............. 275 
Magic Axe .. ......... ...... 1100 
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Tb€ WARRIORS STE AO 

Jhelom 2nd Floor 

Island Shipwrights 
Frigate ....................... 660 
Skiff .... .. .. ................. .. 220 

Tbe S LAUGl)TE R E O L.\crrn 

1>e 11.LERs' 

l)E RtlS 

Yew Ground Floor 



TIJE CROWS N ST 

i>A.RkWATCIJ ARffiOURV 

IJEAlERS 'OJISSION 

Minoc Ground Floor 

TIJE P.l.lA.l>lNS PROTCCTORA.TE 

IJORSE A.NO Rll>CR 

ID'inoc 

Darkwatch Armoury 
Iron Helm ........ .. ........ 132 
Small Shield ............. .44 
Ring Mail ................... 11 O 
Short Sword ............. .40 
Long Sword ............. .77 
Mace ... ...................... 55 
2-Handed Hammer .. .. 93 

The Crow's Nest 
Frigate .. ................... .. 828 
Skiff ...................... ..... 192 

The Healer's Mission 
Healing ..................... .Free 
Curing ...................... .Free 
Resurrection ... ........... @ 200 

'frimsic 

The Paladin's Protectorate 
Two-Handed Axe ....... 165 
Two-Handed Sword ... 220 
Halberd ..... ... ............ .. 275 
Iron Helm .................. 132 
Large Shield .............. 77 
Scale Mail. ................. 165 
Plate Mail .................. 770 

Wounds of Honor 
Healing ..... ... ... .. .... .. ... @ 40 
Curing .. .... ................. @ 25 
Resurrection .............. @ 215 

Horse & Rider 

T)JE WOUNDS Of= l)ONOUR 
Steeds ....................... 11 o 

Trinsic Ground Floor 
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Minoc 2nd Floor 

Trinsic 2nd Floor 



Skara Brae Ground Floor 

TbC bume l e Pl.LUE 

oo 
0 

0 
0 0 
ew Magincia Ground Floor 

tlli'l'lmlI V: 'I'own HJz:ips 

The Spirit Healers @ 45 
Healing ............................ @ 

30 Curing·····:······················ .. @ 
225 Resurrection ................... . 

The Hau~ting Inn 2 gold each 
Lodging .................... . 
guest 

The Alchemist 14 for 15 
Sulfurous Ash ................. . 

gold a for 17 gold 
Ginseng ···························

5 
for 33 gold 

Blood Moss ················· .... 6 for 19 gold 
Black Pearl. ..................... . 

Rew magincia 

The Humble Palate 1 per person 
Stout ... ··· ··· ·················· ··· · 

2 
per person 

Fruit... .............................. 
3
3 for 25 meals 

Provisions ······················· 

The Den (through fir.eplace in Humble 

Palate and upstairs) 3 keys: 209 gold 

Keys ······················::::::::::4 gems: 280 gold 
Gems .. ....... ············ 

5 
torches: 13 gold 

Torches .............. ... ......... . 
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~escope 

Skara Brae 2nd Floor 

•• •• 
• 

Tb € '>E N 

• 
• 

New Magincia 2nd Floor 
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Castle Britannia 2nd Floor 

~tlirihmny 

The Oaken Oar 
Frigate ............................. 715 
Skiff ................................. 137 

Healer's Sanctum 
Healing ............................ 50 
Curing .............................. 35 
Resurrection .................... 237 

C!a:itle liritmmia 
North Star Armoury 
Chain Coif ........................ 55 
Magic Shield ................... . 2200 
Chain Mail ....................... 330 
Plate Mail. ..... ............ .. .. .. . 770 
Long Sword ..................... 77 
Silver Sword .......... ....... ... 275 
Ring of Protection ... ........ 550 

Castle Britannia Ground Flcn 

Castle Britannia 3rd Floor 

Rorth 
Brihmny 

The Sllblehouse 

a 
Steeds ............................. 143 

Hotel Brlllnny 

T€Lescope 

Lodgings ................... @ 3 per guest 
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Ism 

We:st Bl'itzmny 
The Blue Boar Tavern 
Wine List 
Rose ................................ 18 
Claret ............................... 192 
Sauterne .......................... 79 
Muscatel .......................... 36 
Moselle ............................ 275 
Chablis ............................ 98 

Cheese ............................. 5 ea. 

Spider Silk ................. 2 for 6 gold 
Blood Moss ............... 2 for 8 gold 
Black Pean ................ 2 for 8 gold 
Nightshade ................ 11 ea. 
Mandrake Root... ....... 16 ea. 

ry 
Heallng ...................... 55 
Curing ...................... .40 
Resurrection .............. 247 
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(3 

PZ1W:5 

TlJE SCT>UGGIERS '"'"' 

WLShl"'G WELL IJORSES 

The Smuggler's Inn 
Lodgings ................... @2 per guest 

The Guild 
Keys .......................... 3 keys: 176 gold 
Gems ......................... 4 gems: 220 gold 
Torches ..................... 5 torches: 12 gold 

Wllltlng Wall Horses 
Steeds ..•.................... 176 

The Cat's Lair 
Mutton ...................... 3 per person 
Ale ............................. 1 ea. 
Ratlons ...................... 25 meals: 22 gold 



The Fallen Virgin 
Rum .......................... 1 per person Tl} · RUSTY uuckc1 

Wild Boar .................. 4 per person 
Buccaneer's Booty Tl)E j:ALLEl.J VLMG11.J UUCC .. \JJCt:rls 

Leather Helm ............ 16 
Leather Armor ........... 55 
Dagger ...................... 1 
Main Gauche ............. 16 
Short Sword .............. 44 
Flaming Oil ................ 5 
Ring of Invisibility ..... 495 

The King's Ransom Inn 
Lodging ..................... 3 gold ea. 

The Rusty Bucket 
Frigate ....................... 770 
Skiff ........................... 110 

The Guild of the Broken Lock 
Keys .......................... 3 keys: 220 gold 11) GU Ill:> 01' 11Je UROkCN lock 

Gems ......................... 4 gems: 247 gold 
Torches ..................... 5 torches: 27 gold 

11JE Sl)ATl"ERCl:> Sl')IELD 

Bordermarch 

The Shattered Shield 
Magic Shield ............. 2200 
Two-Handed Axe ....... 165 
Magic Bow ................ 880 
Arrows ...................... 11 
2-Handed Hammer .... 93 
Ring of Regeneration 220 
Amulet of Turning ..... 990 
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Bordermarch 2nd Floor 



Blackthorn's Castle Basement 

6 

Blackthorn's Castle 2nd Floor 

CROWt-1 

4 

Blackthorn's Castle Roof 

BLr.rnm V: '!'own MDps 

Blzackthom'8 Czaatle 
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Blackthorn's Castle Ground Floor 

Blackthorn's Castle 3rd Floor 

The numbers represent the 
Avatar's secret route. 



TtJE 

Lycaeum Ground Floor 

The Folley Tap 
Mutton ...................... 5 per person 
Ale ............................. 1 per person 
Rations ...................... 25 meals: 33 gold 

The Sharper Mage 
Blood Moss ............... 4 for 55 gold 
Nightshade ................ 33 ea. 
Mandrake Root... ....... 44 ea. 

The Shield of Truth 
Healing ...................... 60 
Curing ....................... 15 
Resurrection .............. 249 

TOE EOlPATIJ 
Empath llbbey 

Empath Abbey 
Ground Floor 

Empath Abbey 2nd Floor 
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\ 

I\ ,_, 

" " D --
Lycaeum 2nd Floor 

I I 

/ 

Lycaeum 3rd Floor 

Empath Abbey 3rd Floor 
The Empath 

Healing ...................... 65 
Curing ....................... 10 
Resurrection .............. 262 



Serpent's Hold 
Basement 

Serpent's Hold 2nd Floor 

«L'l'lmlt. V: 'fown LH'Zlp:s 

krpmt'zs Jiold 

OOW}..JSTalRS 

upsTatRs 

~ SECRET OOOR 
c OOOR 
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SIEG CRA(7T"1{5 

Serpent's Hold Ground Floor 

Siege Cl'llllrs 
Chain Colf .................. 55 
Chain Mall ................. 330 
Crossbow .................. 165 
Quarrels .................... 16 
Halberd ...................... 275 
Throwing Axe ............ 3 
Morning Star ............. 66 
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1 Ooww lA00ER 

l up L~.OOER 
~FORCE Fl.El\> 

I SECRET OOOR 

T TRAP 

I= f'OUt-:ITAlt-1 

Q ROOCTJ 

PlT <OOWl-1> 

pn mp> 
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1) ljytblotb 5) ~bzird of fnlsehood 9) Wrong 13) C>hmne 
2) Mystie:i 6) lil'nrm 10) C!ovetous 14) Doom 
3) ~nrd of C!owZll'dice 'I) Despise 11) Destnrd. 
4) Deceit a) C>hZlrd. ol ljmred 12) l!mulet 
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Ultima V eharts 
Think of this chapter as an Ultima V reference. This chapter contains information 
you'll find very useful while you are playing Ultima V. You'll especially find the maps 
helpful. Included here are handy charts and tables designed to help you understand 
the world of Britannia better. 

Virtue Chart 
Table US-1 Cross-section of Virtues, Cities, and Clues in Ultimo V 

Honesty Compassion Valor Justice Sacrifice Honor Spirituality 
Mantra AHM MU RA BEH CAH SUMM OM 
Person Mali oria reyson home Chamforr liew Gruman Kindor 
City Moonglow Britain Jhelom Yew Minoc Trinsic Skara Brae 

Humility 
LUM 
wanow 
New 
Magincia 

Word of Power FALLAX VILIS INOPIA MA LUM AVIDUS IN FAMA IGNAVUS VERAMOCOR 
Dungeo Deceit Despise Destard Wrong_ Covetous Shame ythloth Doom 
Person Maliforia Annon Gaeth Felespar Fiona Sindar Hassad Codex 
City Moonglow Britain Jhelom Yew Minoc Trinsic Blackthorn's Codex 

Castle Shrine 

moongates 
Table US-2 Moongate Locations and Destinations 

Gate Near Phase Location Dest1 Dest2 Dest3 
A Moonglow New IFOA A B c 
B Britain Crecent Waxing GGGA D E F 
c Jhelom 1st Quarter OACG G H A 
D ew Gib ous Waxing CFDC B c D 
E Minoc Full BO KG shrine F G 
F Trinsic Gibbous Waning MCGI H A B 
G Skara Brae Last Quarter HO BH c D E 
H New Magincia Crecent Wanmg KRCL F G H 
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Patio nos 
Table U5-3 Potions 

Yellow Heal 
Green Poison 
Orange Sleep 
White X-ray vision 
Black Invisibility 
Blue Awaken 
Purple Tum into rat 
Red Cure poison 

eremure ~tutos 
Each creature or character you meet in Ultima V has certain abilities and statistics. Here's a complete 
list of these statistics. 

Str Strength 
Dex Dexterity 
Int Intelligence 
Arm Armor (protection) 
Dmg Damage (attack power) 
Hp Hit points 
Max# Maximum number you'll normally encounter 
Treas An estimation of the gold it carries (actual amounts are variable) 

Table U5-4 Creature Statistics 

TYPE STR DEX ARM HP MAX# TREAS 
mage 10 15 0 10 3 20 
bard 15 20 4 15 9 10 
fighter 20 15 8 20 6 15 
avatar 25 25 to 1 25 
villager 12 12 0 8 1 10 
merchant f 2 12 8 ---- 10 
jester 12 18 0 8 
6in1oplayer l"Bii'd") f2 16 0 8 

10 
10 
0 
0 

stocks 12 12 0 5 
manacles 12 'f2 0 
child 8 8 0 0 5 1 0 
beggar 8 8 0 0 ~~~~~1 0 

guards 22 30 6 30 99 8 5 
'wanderer 30 30 30 99 0 
Blackthorn 30 30 30 30 99 1 0 
Lord Briti 30 30 --.;uo-----......,---,,..----..1 0 99 
sea horse 17 20 2 10 30 3 0 
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squid 24 20 8 0 20 50 2 0 
sea serpent 17 17 8 2 30 70 1 0 
shark 20 17 5 0 8 22 10 0 
rats 5 20 5 0 6 10 10 5 
bats 5 30 5 0 6 5 16 0 
spiders 10 10 5 0 8 10 4 5 
ghost 1 20 10 0 12 20 6 0 
slime 6 6 2 0 4 10 16 0 
gremlins 10 21 10 2 4 10 13 12 
mimic 20 30 12 3 15' 30 1 20 
reaper 20 25 12 4 20 40 3 25 
gazers 8 10 25 0 fO 20 4 0 
gargoyles 20 10 5 15 20 40 1 0 
Insects , 30 1 0 4 5 10 0 
ores 15 13 10 2 12 10 10 11 
skeletons 10 20 "5 0 12 20 8 13 
snakes ("Python") 5 18 8 1 8 10 4 0 
ettin 20 15 12 3 15 30 6 17 
headless 19 12 8 2 12 20 8 12 

isps 8 3Cf 20 0 20 40 4 0 
devil ("Daemon") 25 25 25 5 20 75 4 0 
dragon 30 25 25 10 30 99 2 30 
sandtraps 25 25 5 10 30 80 1 25 
troll 18 17 9 4 15 15 4 15 
force fields 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
whirlpools 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
mongbats 10 30 15 4 20 20 16 5 
corpse rs 17 10 8 0 15 40 4 0 
rot worms 5 17 6 0 6 5 10 0 
shadowlords 25 30 30 10 30 99 1 0 
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~pecial llbilitie::i 
Most of the creatures and characters you'll encounter in Ultima V have certain abilities. It's useful to 
know what those abilities are. In the following chart, you'll find a list of those abilities and which 
creatures or characters have them. 

Table U5-5 Special Abilities 

li u~ magic (Zit rzange) l bludgeon:i 
B normZll l'Zlllge zatta~ J PO:i:ie:i:ie:i ( chZlmt:i) 
c teleporm K undezad nzature 
l) "l>i:iappezar.ir on dezath L :iplit:i in two 
E inVi:iibilily m immortal (never hlke:i dmnZlge) 
f gzata in daemoms R poi:iou Zit l'Zlllge 
6 poi:iOM e :itezal:i lood 
Ii inlect:i with plague p nocorpK 

~ none 

ereature rutribute ereature rutribute 
Mage A Spider G, N 
Bard B Ghost E, K, P 
Fighter a Slime L, P 
Avatar a Gremlin 0 
Villager a Mimic G, I 
Merchant a Reaper A, I 
Jester a Gazer A, J 
Bard a Gargoyle I, L 
Guy in Stocks a Insect p 
Guy in Manacles a Ore I 
Children a Skeleton K 
Beggar a Snake N 
Guard a Ettin B, I 
Wanderer A, C, D, M Headless I 
Blackthorn A, C, D, E, F, J, M Wisp C, J, p 
Lord British A, C, D, M Daemon A, F, J, K, P 
Sea Horse A, B, P Dragon F 
Squid B, N, P Sandtrap a 
Serpent B, p Troll B 
Shark p Mong bat a 
Rat G, H Corpser a 
Bat p Rot Worm G, H 

Shadowlord A, C, D, E, G, H, J, K,P 
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&llDck tltms. friend:s. mtd Mi:s:sile Type 
~enemy in Ultima V has a range of attack as well as a type of missile. In addition , many characters 

to attack in groups together. Table U5-6 shows these values. If the Range= 1 and Missile Type is 0, 
~it means no missiles, not arrows. 

lf:ssileTypes: O=arrow; l=cannonball; 2=axe; 3=red; 4=blue; 5=green; 6=violet; 7=rock 

·,b/e US-6 Attack Stats, Friends 

NAME ATIACK RANGE MISSILE TYPE FRIENDS 
mage 7 4 SKELETONS 
bard 3 0 BARD 
fighter 1 0 BARD 
avatar 1 0 AVATAR 
villager 1 0 VILLAGER 
merchant 1 0 VILLAGER 
jester 1 0 VILLAGER 
banjoplayer 1 0 VILLAGER 
stocks 1 0 VILLAGER 
manacles 1 0 VILLAGER 
child 1 0 CHILD 
beggar 1 0 VILLAGER 
guards 15 2 GUARDS 
wanderer 9 4 WANDERER 
Blackthorn 9 3 BLACKTHORN 
Lord British 9 4 LORD BRITISH 
seahorse 5 4 SQUID 
squid 7 4 SEA HORSE 
sea serpent 9 3 SQUID 
shark 1 0 SHARK 
rats 1 0 SKELETONS 
bats 1 0 BATS 
spiders 1 0 RATS 
ghost 1 0 SKELETONS 
slime 1 0 SLIME 
gremlins 1 0 MIMIC 
mimic 2 5 ETTIN 
reaper 9 4 BATS 
gazers 5 6 BATS 
gargoyles 9 7 GARGOYLES 
insects 1 0 SLIME 
ores 1 0 TROLL 
skeletons 1 0 MAGE 
snakes 3 5 SPIDERS 
ettin 5 7 HEADLESS 
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headless 1 0 ffilN 
wisps 1 0 GHOST 
daemon 9 3 DRAGON 
dragon 9 3 DRAGON 
sandtraps f 0 SANDTRAPS 
troll 5 2 RATS 
force fields 1 0 FORCE FIELD 
whirlpools 1 0 WHIRLPOOL 
mongbats 1 0 MONG BATS 
corpse rs 1 0 CORPSER 
rot worms 1 0 RATS 
shadowlords 9 3 DAEMON 

• These creatures like to ambush campers: troll, rat, bat, slime, spider, gremlin, and headless. 
• These fellows roam the dungeon's depths: rat, bat, spider, ghost, slime, gremlin, gazer, and reaper. 

Wtimzi 5 Wezipon l\zinge~. rutzick Vzilue~. etc. 
Each weapon or item of armor has certain abilities. Table US-7 lists these statistics. Also included in 
this list are stats for combat spells. Values are relative. For instance, Mystic Armor gives twice the 
protection of Chain Mail. 

Table US-7 Weapon and Armor Stats 

Glass Sword 99 attack 
Jewel Sword 0 attack 

NAME ATIACK DEFENSE RANGE MISSILE 
Leather Helm 0 1 0 0 
Chain Coif 0 2 0 0 
Iron Helm 0 3 0 0 
Spiked Helm 4 3 0 0 
Small Shield 0 2 0 0 
Large Shield 0 3 0 0 
Spiked Shield 6 3 0 0 
Magic Shield 0 5 0 0 
Jewel Shield 0 0 0 0 
Clotn Armour 0 1 0 0 
Leather Armour 0 2 0 0 
Ring Mail 0 3 0 0 
Scale Mail 0 4 0 0 
Chain Mail 0 s- 0 0 
Plate Mail 0 7 0 0 
Mystic Armour 0 10 0 0 
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Dagger 6 0 3 0 
Sli 6 0 4 7 
Club 8 0 0 0 
Aaming Oi 8 0 4 3 
Main Gauche 8 1 0 0 
Spear 10 0 5 0 
Throwing Axe 10 0 4 2 
Short Sword 12 0 0 
Mace 15 0 0 0 
Morning Star 1 2 0 
Bow 10 0 7 0 
Arrows 1 0 0 0 
Crossbow 12 0 8 0 
Quarrels 1 0 0 0 
Long Sword 15 0 0 0 
2H Ham e 20 0 0 0 
2H Axe 20 0 0 0 
121i.Swon 0 
Halberd 30 0 2 0 
Sword of Chaos 0 0 0 
Magic Bow 15 0 15 0 
Sliver Sword 12 0 0 
Magic Axe 20 0 15 2 
Glass WO 0 0 
Jeweled Sword 1 0 0 0 
Mystic Sword 30 1 0 
Ring of Invisibility 0 0 0 0 
Ring of Protection 0 2 0 0 
Ring of Regeneration 0 0 0 0 
Amul umln 0 0 0 0 
Spiked Collar 0 2 0 0 
Ankh 0 0 0 0 
Flam Por 16 15 4 n/a 
Vas Ram 15 3 n/a 
In Corp 99 15 4 n/a 
Uus14ox 18 15 5 n/a 
Uus Zu 0 15 6 n/a 
Uus Fla 1 5 3 n/a 
Uus Sanct 0 15 4 n/a 

Missile Types: 0 arrow 1 cannonball 2 axe 3 red 4 blue 5 green 6 violet 7 rock 
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Clltima Vl 
The f'al~e Prophet 
Diary of the livatar 

E:ntry 1- march 15 

11 th" been "'vernl yea" now 
since my last visit to Britannia. 
Though I have accomplished 
much here on Earth during 
that time, I find myself wishing 
to return to Lord British ' s 

kingdom to see how he's fared since the downfall of 
Blackthorn and the Shadowlords. 

I miss the friendships I forged with Iolo, Shamino, 
Dupre, and the others during my last two Quests . 
Though I have many acquaintances here, there 's no 
one with whom I can share my secret life. My trips to 
Britannia only make me more aware how pale and flat 
my life on Earth is. 

The Renaissance Fair I organized after my first visit 
to Britannia is now running almost by itself. The 
proceeds from the Fair help various charities and 
philanthropic organizations I've found worthy. In my 
spare time, I've been studying the teachings of the 
great philosophers and teachers: Plato, Socrates, 
Kant , Aristotle Machiavelli , Spinoza , Buddha , 
Mohammed, and Jesus, to name but a few. I'm 
searching for answers, but what I've discovered is 
that l don't have any questions. Or at least not the 
right ones. 

Life is much clearer in Britannia-more 
straightforward. At least it was the first time I was 
there. The last time, well, things were a little more 
complicated. 

There's a storm brewing outside. I've been sitting 
here writing and flipping through the channels on the 
TV. One hundred channels and nothing to watch. I 
should get up and unplug the computer. Even with a 
surge protector, I'm still nervous about losing data. 

The storm is getting worse. Every lightning bolt is 
like the flash from a camera. I see the circle of stones 
for a second, then it's gone. The image lingers before 
my eyes. I hear something now. I know this sound, 
like wind chimes, only stranger and otherworldly. I've 
heard this tone several times before. Each time, a gate 
from Britannia has appeared to take me to that land . I 
will close now. Once again, I sense that my destiny 
awaits outside, in the storm. 

s 
E:ntry 2-
Date Unknown 
o much has happened since 
my last entry. How do I begin 
the tale? 

I rushed out of the house 
toward the circle of stones 

with lightning flashing all around me. One bolt struck 
the center of the circle, leaving behind the smell of 
ozone and burning grass. The wind whipped around 
me, pulling my clothes in every direction. Rain washed 
over me, but I didn't mind. I was going back to Britannia. 

Then I looked closely at the spot where the 
lightning had struck. In the center of the scorched 
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circle lay a small obsidian stone. It was a moonstone 
of some kind. I reached out and picked up the stone. 
It was smooth and surprisingly cool to the touch. As I 
contemplated this small object, a red Moongate rose 
in the center of the circle. 

I stepped closer and the hair on the back of my 
neck stood on end as it always did when I was near a 
Moongate. But this Moongate was red-not its usual 
sky-blue color . This pulsating crimson doorway 
frightened me. Then I came to my senses. I was the 
Avatar. I had responsibilities. Still I knew, if this odd 
doorway boded anything, it was an ill wind. 

The gate began to waver and dim. There was no 
more time for deliberation; I must act now or my 
chance would be lost. 

"For Lord British and Britannia!" I yelled at the top 
of my lungs, diving forward into the gate. 

The world went away and I felt the familiar lurch of 
my stomach as I passed through the portal. Darkness 
swallowed me. 

0 0 0 

When I could see again , I wished I hadn ' t leapt 
through the gate . I found myself standing on a 
desolate plain. In front of me was a huge stone altar 
covered with carved runes . But the runes didn 't 
appear to be the those I'd learned to decipher in 
Britannia. Though some years had passed, I'd have 
recognized Britannian runes in a minute . This was 
another language entirely, but I didn 't have time to 
ponder this oddity. 

From off in the distance came the low murmur of 
voices raised in song. With each passing second the 
sound grew louder and louder. Something about the 
slow, funereal hymn made me want to flee , but I didn't 
run. And in a heartbeat, it was too late. 

From across the plain came a daemon horde. They 
swayed from side to side in a rhythmic manner, as 
hypnotic as the undulation of a cobra. They crossed 
the flat expanse of land with inhuman quickness and 
were upon me before I could move. 

Scaly claws grabbed my arms and legs and I was 
hoisted onto the altar, my limbs tied with stout ropes. I 
struggled against my bonds, but to no avail. I was 
trussed up tight and couldn 't move. 

Then the monsters knelt , still swaying back an! 
forth , chanting in their horrible tongue. Their voices 
rose in a cacophony the like of which I'd never heaid 
before . Again I strained against the ropes. A 
struggled , one of the creatures stepped forward 
Larger than his companions, this monstrosity also lwl 
enormous leathery wings growing from his back 

In his right hand he held a velvet-covered. braiY 
bound book. Opening the book, he began reciting m 
stilted, formal tongue. Shouts and jeers broke forth 
from the chanting horde as this unholy priest solerrui) 
closed the foul tome. 

In his left claw the winged one held a sharp start 
knife. While his brethren continued their gha 
wailing, he raised the knife above his head, pain~ 
at my chest. 

Furiously I thrashed against my restraints. What ai 

ignoble end, to die in a strange land because J 

foolishly leapt through a strange Moongate. 1 cicEal 
my eyes and tried to think of a way to escape. 

I heard catcalls and bloodcurdling screams r~ 
the air; then the sound of pandemonium, shrieks 
rage and terror. Would I die now with this terrible 
in my ears? I prepared myself for death. I was one 
Britannia's chosen. I was the Avatar. And I vollel 
would die with grace. 

I waited for the blow. 
It never came. 
To my amazement, the bellowing horde fell sileit 
Cautiously, I opened my eyes. 
A hellish red glow filled the darkness, reflec~ 

the scaly hides of my captors. At my feet. I 
another of the scarlet Moongates appear. I heard 
familiar wooden clack of a crossbow being fired 
my right, the daemon priest stiffened, his fore 
sprouting a violet blood-rose. He collapsed to 
ground, out of sight. 

Then , in the red doorway, figures appeared 
first their bodies were only outlines against the 
Then I saw the faces of my dear friends 1 
Shamino, and Dupre. Never had old friends been 
welcome! 

While Iolo held the foul horde back with a ram 
crossbow bolts, Dupre hacked through the cords 
held me, then pulled me from the slab. 
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"Quickly old friend! " Shamino shouted, thrusting a 
:.are sword into my eager hand. Then he leapt 
rough the shimmering doorway . The sword felt 

»Xi and solid in my anxious palm and I realized how 
J:li I'd missed this way of life. After having been so 

o:ardeath, I was alive again! 
·Nice of you to drop by," I called after Shamino's 

·,treating form. lolo smiled at me, quickly reached 
. wn and grabbed the priest's book, then leapt 
rough the doorway. I took a swing at one of the 

·mest creatures to back it off , then followed lolo, 
;th Dupre hot on my heels. 

The howling throng surged forward, voices raised 
. terrible wails of frustration . The gate was closing 
xlliod me and my saviors, but not rapidly enough. 
:.001 the horde's vanguard, three of the abominations 
.rambled toward the gate. Driven by fury, the 

:reatures hurled their bodies into the portal 's last 
iaOOspan of light. 

Once again, the familiar vertigo and darkness of 
:ie Moongate engulfed me, but I wasn 't comforted. 
Nherever we landed, we would still have to face 
mons. 

E:n.try 3-.hord 
nriti:ih':i eu:itl£ 
ord British' s throne room 
appeared abruptly, but I didn't 
have time to exchange 
pleasantries or to ponder how 
we had arrived . The three 

Mons who had followed us through the Moongate 
we attacking. 

1 turned and drove my sword into the daemon 
:iearest me, but to my dismay, the blow barely broke 
ihe beast's hide. Inwardly I groaned-it seemed that 
every time I returned to Britannia I found myself 
L1cking most of the abilities I'd acquired during my 
last visit. There was no time to dwell on this 
problem , however , because the daemon had 
returned my blow with one of his own. The force 
of this assault staggered me and sent me flying 
backward. From over my right shoulder, Iolo sent 
a bolt into the beast's hide. 

The monster howled and grabbed at his chest as 
maroon ichor dripped between his claws. With his 
other hand, the creature raised an axe above his head 
and threw it at me. I tried to block the blow with my 
sword, but the axe drove deep into my shoulder, 
crippling my free arm. 

The pain was intense and searing, but I couldn't let 
that stop me. Dupre and Shamino were dealing with 
the other two monsters-the least I could do was 
finish off this one . I flailed away at the scaly red 
horror, but I believe it was Iolo who finally killed him. 

When all was still, I looked around. The bodies of 
the three daemons lay scattered about the throne 
room in pools of blood. As the Avatar I'd defeated 
many monsters in my time, but I'd never really grown 
accustomed to the suddenness of death in Britannia. I 
turned away from the fallen bodies and stepped 
toward the throne. 

There sat Lord British, looking little different than 
the first time I'd laid eyes on him. His hair was long 
and blond and streaked with white. His piercing eyes 
were still clear, though now punctuated by careworn 
lines. 

"Welcome, Avatar," he said. " 'TIS good to see thee 
again. Much hath happened since thou last departed 
our realm." 

"Tis good to see you again, Lord British," I said. 
"Please tell me the news since my last visit to your fair 
land." 

Lord British smiled . He loved it when you 
complimented Britannia. 

"Very well, Avatar, but 'tis a troubling tale. 
"The vast underworld from which thou didst rescue 

me hath collapsed. Yet there are still forces of evil 
abroad in the land . Britannia is under attack by 
Gargoyles such as those thou hast just now fought. 
They have been coming up through the dungeons." 

This was interesting. I'd assumed the creatures 
were daemons , but they were in fact Gargoyles. I 
vaguely recalled meeting a Gargoyle during my last 
trip to Britannia, but I didn 't realize the creatures 
who'd attacked me were of the same race. 

"Thus far, they have been mainly attacking the 
shrines of the eight Virtues. When the Shrine of 
Compassion did fall , Sir Geoffrey sent a party to free 
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Do thou ask him of this mission . Perhaps thou 
Cl1S! provide some assistance. " 

·Geoffrey?" I asked. 
·Aye, he is Captain of my Guard." 
I wondered if this was my old friend Geoffrey 

.rod assisted me on my Quest for Avatarhood. If so, 
bed certainly come up in the world. 

"Whilst thou art here," continued Lord British, "I 
have a room set aside for thy personal use. Tis in the 
wst wing of the castle, just south of mine own 
hambers. I have had my servants place some 

81J!pment there in case thou shouldst have need of it. 
OI course, thou mayest feel free to borrow anything in 
lllJ castle if thou shouldst need it. Anytime thou dost 
need healing, do thou but ask me." 

I breathed a little easier knowing I could count on 
Lord British to heal my wounds. This kindness had 
iroved invaluable in the past. 

"Uh, I would like some healing now," I said. "That 
Gargoyle swung a wicked axe. " 

Lord British waved his scepter. My wounds and 
!OOse of my companions vanished. 

·oost thou require more assistance?" Lord British 
liked. 

"Yes," l replied. "I found this black stone on the 
!P'O'JOd just before I came back to Britannia. Can you 
dentify it?" 

Lord British took the stone from my hand and 
examined it carefully. 

"Hmmm," he said. "I have such a stone, as thou 
may recall. [ did not know there were more such orbs. 
Twill serve thee well in thy travels if thou canst learn 
to master its powers. To make a gate, use the stone 
and carefully position it a few feet from thee. Thou 
~ill discover that placement is the key. In the proper 
p.?Sitions the stone can conjure up gates to take thee 
to numerous destinations. " 

This was exciting news. Traveling around Britannia 
was difficult and waiting for Moongates seemed 
1ndless. If I could figure out the secret of the 
moonstone, my travels would be easier. 

"Here is a key to my castle, " Lord British said, 
handing me a large pewter key. "It will unlock the 
gatehouse by the southern entrance . Inside the 
gatehouse are levers controlling the portcullis and the 

drawbridge . The same key will also let thee enter the 
sewers under the castle. " 

'Thank you for your help, my Lord ," I said. 
"Tis I who should thank thee, Avatar, for all thou 

hast done for Britannia. " 
I bowed, acknowledging this great compliment. It 

was then that I noticed there were two other people in 
the throne room. One was a concerned-looking mage; 
the other was my old friend Geoffrey. 

Geoffrey stepped forward and grabbed my hand, 
shaking it enthusiastically. 

"Greetings , Avatar, " he began. "Perhaps thou 
canst succeed where others have not. I sent a party of 
ten to recapture the Shrine of Compassion from the 
Gargoyles. Alas, they failed dismally. The survivors are 
recuperating in the town of Cove. 

"Thou wouldst do well to speak to them first. 
Mayhap they learned something which may assist 
thee . I confess, I fear the worst. The Gargoyles are 
such powerful foes and they are spreading fast. 
Perhaps the end of the realm is nigh. 

"Good luck and pray thee, go see Gerland in Cove." 
With that, Geoffrey turned and walked away from 

me . I'd grown accustomed to strange and abrupt 
conversations in Britannia, but this was scary. Next to 
Dupre, Geoffrey had always been the toughest among 
us. To hear the fear in his voice and see the haunted 
look in his eyes made me want to get our gear 
together and go immediately to Cove to find out what 
had happened. 

l turned away from Geoffrey's receding back and 
found myself face to face with the mage. His white 
hair was nearly hidden by a turban; he wore a yellow 
robe. His face was thin and heavy lines had etched 
themselves into the area around his mouth and nose . 

"Hello," I said. 
"Hail to thee and well met," he replied . '"Twas I 

who learned of thy peril through my mystic arts so 
that aid might be sent unto thee. I am Nystul." 

"Then I owe you a debt of kindness, sir," I replied. 
Nystul shrugged as though it were of no 

importance. "Jolo," he said. "I saw that thou didst find 
a book." 

"Aye, my lord," replied lolo, handing the book to 
Nystul. "Perhaps thou canst make sense of it. " 
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Nystul examined the book with reverent care. 
"Strange," said Nystul finally . "Its cover has a 

picture of a Gargoyle standing with one foot on the 
chest of a slain human. Interesting. 'Tis written in a 
language I know not. Take it to Mariah, the finest 
scribe on the great Council of Wizards. She studies 
languages at the Lycaeum. Perhaps she can decipher 
this book for thee." 

"Thank you for your help, Nystul." 
"Thou art welcome, Avatar. Good luck. " 
Nystul turned away and began speaking in hushed 

tones with Lord British. I walked toward the south 
entrance of the throne room, intent on finding my 
room in the castle. I had almost reached the doorway 
when Iolo grabbed my arm. 

"Avatar," he began. "I know thou hast been away 
from Britannia for many years. So forgive me for 
reminding thee of what thou must already know." 

"Which is?" I asked. 
"After battling a foe , 'tis prudent to examine the 

remains for valuables . In these perilous times, any 
equipment or food is welcome, no matter what the 
source." 

"You're right, lolo. I've forgotten a thing or two 
since last we adventured together." 

Iolo smiled and slapped my back. "'Tis good to 
have thee among us again," he said. 

We searched the bodies of the three Gargoyles and 
found many weapons and some leather armor. I took 
the armor but left the weapons since they were no 
better than my sword. Servants appeared with mops 
and buckets of water, and started the process of cleaning 
up the mess we 'd made. I didn't envy them the chore. 

My room was south of Lord British 's bedroom. 
The castle had changed somewhat since my last visit. 
The furnishings were more comfortable and the colors 
were livelier. Potted plants brightened the comers of 
the room, contrasting sharply with the somber gray 
stone walls. 

One corner of my room was dominated by a 
comfortable curtain-hung bed. Across from the bed 
stood a full-sized mirror, and next to it a large table. 
On the table were a candle, a bottle of wine, and a 
book. The book intrigued me and, as I approached the 
table, I saw that it was my old spell book. 

"Where did he get this?" I wondered aloud as Ira: 
my fingers over the familiar gold-embossed leathc 
cover. 

"Our liege's powers are many," said Shamin 
"This is but a sample." 

I opened the spell book and my excitement r. 
Most of the spells I'd acquired in my last visit 
vanished. The few that I could still make out wouk! 
useful, but I knew we'd be facing many dangers ari:t 
well-stocked spell book would even the oa 
considerably. But there wasn't time to dwell on 
problem of lost spells . Of course , I still need 
reagents to work the spells I had. 

I turned my attention to a chest and bag next 
the table. Opening the bag, I discovered that Jt 111 

stocked with reagents. That solved one problem. I!.: 
the bag to my belt and opened the chest. Inside 
discovered a chain mail coif, food , wine, boots. lit 

another bag of reagents . I tossed aside the lea 
helm I'd discovered on the dead Gargoyle and sh~ 
on the chain mail coif. It fit perfectly. Another of 
British 's talents , no doubt . Then I donned~ 
remaining parts of my gear. In moments I was · 
out in garb becoming an adventurer in Britannia 

Now that I was set, it was time to see how 
equipped my companions were. "Let's see what 
have and decide how we want to handle supplies · 

lolo, Shamino, and Dupre showed me t 
equipment. We needed to travel as lightly as 
so I advised them to unburden themselves of~ 
piece of equipment that wasn 't necessary for 
mission or for survival. 

"Leave behind my wine and glass?" gr • 
Shamino. "Tis barbaric." 

"They 'd just get broken in a fight ," I rep 
"Besides, we'll need every bit of our strength to 
supplies for the Quest. " 

"Good wine is a necessity," muttered Shamioo 
"Thou shouldst not complain," said Iolo. ·Ht 

making me leave my lute behind." 
"Aye, and me .. . my cup," said Dupre. 
"Enough already," I said. "Let's see what 

can find in the castle to aid in the Quest." 
I confess I felt a bit squeamish rummaging 

the castle and through Lord British's effects 
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oon discovered that I suffered no ill effects from these 
:lions, so I put aside my fears and concentrated on 

'lie task at hand. 
We searched Lord British ' s room and found 

.eapons and armor in the chests in his closet. Magic 
ootions filled Nystul 's laboratory and we discovered a 
rragical wand in a chest in his room. Food from the 
~tchen filled our wallets . Finally I pronounced us 
ready to head to Cove. 

Entry 4-The ~brine l"' 111 Cllmpllli11i11n he first part of the trip to Cove 
was easy. Since my last visit, 
Lord British had obviously 
made building roads 
throughout the countryside a 

pnority. We left his castle and passed through Britain 
JO our way to Cove. I commented on the new street 
:ights, the sun dials, and the fine buildings that had 
changed the face of the town since my last visit. 

"Aye," said Iola. "Much hath changed in Britannia. 
Though 'tis good to see thee, thy presence means a 
nme of dire consequences for us all. " 

This was a sobering thought. It was true that I 
seemed to come to Britannia only during times of 
trouble. I guess people could see my appearance as 
ooth a curse and a blessing. 

I pondered this thought as we walked along . 
taring absent-mindedly at my companions ' feet 

pushing up small clouds of dust , I noticed lolo 's 
ixlots-soft green leather and apparently painstakingly 
hand-stitched. 

"What kind of boots are those, Iola?" I asked. 
"Swamp boots," he replied. "Finest in Britannia. 

Yotomo at the Arms of Justice in Yew makes them." 
"Swamp boots?" 
"Aye. They protect the wearer from the ill effects 

of the poisonous swamps. " 
"I think I remember something like them, but yours 

seem especially well-crafted. Do you know how much 
they cost?" 

"Yotomo's rates are most reasonable-just ten 
gold pieces." 

I whistled . "That 's a bargain ," I commented , 
looking over the rest of my party. None of the rest of 
us had swamp boots. I remembered the Britannian 
swamps all too well and made a mental note to visit 
Yotomo as soon as possible . 

We followed the worn path toward the Shrine of 
Compassion. I knew from previous visits that the 
shrine was close to Cove. Quietly, we crept forward 
toward the shrine, but I didn't see any Gargoyles and 
this made me bold. I stepped into the circle of stones 
and approached the altar. Only then did the Gargoyles 
attack. 

They moved as quickly here as they had across the 
barren plain where I'd first met them. My companions 
tried to help, but they seemed to be moving in slow 
motion. Everything we did seemed to take forever, as 
if only the Gargoyles were able to move at normal 
speed. I tried to flee, to lead us out of danger, but the 
Gargofes pressed their attack. There was no place to run. 

In desperation, I remembered the moonstone. A 
gate had saved me before; maybe it would save us 
now. I fumbled in my bag for the small rock. Behind 
me I could hear the cries of my three companions as 
the Gargoyles landed their blows. An axe glanced off 
my back and I dropped the stone in front of me, to 
the north. Immediately a red Moongate rose from the 
ground. 

"C'mon, " I yelled and dove through the gate . I 
didn't know where we would land or where we were 
going. All I knew was I had to save my friends . 

Entry 5-The 
moonstone 
he Moongate took us back to 
Lord British's throne room. He 
was on his throne as usual, and 
didn't seem surprised to see us. 

I glanced back to see if my 
companions had made it through the doorway. They 
had , but my foolishness at the shrine had led them 
into danger. All three had numerous cuts and were 
dripping blood onto the floor . I stepped forward and 
asked Lord British to heal us. Once again, his magic 
took effect. 

253 



I turned to my companions and asked their 
forgiveness. "My apologies, friends ," I began. "It was 
my own stupidity that imperiled your lives." 

"Nay, Avatar," said Jolo. "Twas not all thine own 
doing. We agreed to follow thee on this mission and 
knew that our pledge included the danger of battle." 

"I, for one, enjoyed it," remarked Dupre. 
I smiled at them. I'd almost gotten them killed and 

they were trying to make me feel better. 
"Well, I think it would be prudent to discover how 

this moonstone works. I was lucky this time, but I need 
to discover how placement affects where the 
Moongate takes us. We may need to make a quick exit 
again." 

I pulled out my notebook and quill. 
"Let's go find an open space and see where 

Moongates come up." 
...... 

I stood on the drawbridge leading into Lord 
British 's castle. Dupre, Shamino, and Jolo took up 
positions a short distance away. I placed the 
moonstone on the ground to the north of me, in the 
same place I'd dropped it at the Shrine of 
Compassion. A red gate rose up. If my suspicion was 
correct, I would step through and end up in Lord 
British's throne room. 

''I'll be right back," I said, stepping through the 
door. 

The drawbridge and my friends disappeared and, 
in an instant, I found myself once again before Lord 
British's throne. 

He looked at me expectantly. 
I waved my hand. 
"Just doing some tests," I said. 
He nodded knowingly . "The moonstone? " he 

asked. 
"Yes," I replied . I raced out of the throne room 

and back to the drawbridge. lolo and Dupre were 
sitting with their legs dangling off the bridge; Shamino 
was looking with great interest at a tree. 

"Okay," I said. "The gate position seems to be fixed 
by the location of the person who places the stone." 

They looked at me with puzzled expressions on 
their faces. 

"What I mean is, it doesn't matter where I am, the 
position of the gates is fixed ." 

More puzzled looks. 
I stepped off the bridge and dropped the stone tc 

the north of me again. A gate appeared. I steppe: 
through the gate. A few moments later I came l1.ll1J1ITT; 

back from the throne room. 
"See, every time I put the stone just to the north c 

where I'm standing, the gate that comes up takes l1lE 

to Lord British's castle." 
"Ah," said Shamino. "But, Avatar, how man 

gates are there?" 
"I don't know," I said. "Let's see what happens 

we put the stone elsewhere. " 
I placed the stone to the south of me and a rec 

gate appeared. I picked the stone up and placed rt · 
the east, and still another gate appeared. I repeat 
this action until I was surrounded by gates two deep 
the way around. I counted-there were 24 gates. 

ga e appears, 

carol ine: 
>Use-Orb oF th 

oons 
h.ere: a red 

gate appears. 

I made a small diagram of the gates and labeled 
gate to the north of me "Lord British 's castle 
looked at my friends. 

"I'm going to find out where all these gales go 
come back here and label them as I go." Th 
stepped toward the gate to the south. 

"Wait, " said Shamino. "I would come with thee 
"I too, " said Iolo. 
"And I, " said Dupre. 
I tried not to show my relief (it was unbecominl 

Avatar) but I was grateful that they wanted to colllE 
"Thank you, my friends, " I said. "Shall we go 
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Aye," they said in unison. And together we 
ped through the southern gate. 

0 0 0 

It took the rest of the day, but eventually we 
covered where each of the gates led . I made 

· tations in my journal so we wouldn ' t forget. 
3e:ause some of the gates led to the shrines that were 
~ by the Gargoyles, discovering the destinations of 
gates was a perilous task in itself. 
Some of the gates led to the towns Yew, Skara 

Brae, Trinsic, New Magincia, Britain, Jhelom, Minoc, 
:xi Moonglow. One led to Lord British ' s castle and 

:oe to the Isle of the Avatar. 
Three of the gates led to the Shrines of Control, 

]igence, and Passion , which I'd never heard of 
~ore. Two of the gates took us nowhere and one 
Jolie returned us to the slab where the Gargoyles had 
;ied to sacrifice me. 

Perhaps this instant access to the shrines would 
'ilp us to liberate them, but I wasn't sure how. It was 
ilse to evening, so we rested, then headed for Cove 
:.'le next morning. 

Entry 6-eov~ 
e made our way to Cove, this 
time taking care to skirt the 
Shrine of Compassion in order to 
avoid alerting the Gargoyles 
there. Unlike Britain, Cove hadn't 
grown much since my last visit. 

As we strolled through the village, we came upon a 
lllStinguished man in elegant dress. He wore his curly 
brown hair long and had a mustache. 

"Greetings , Avatar ," he said . "Welcome to the 
tO\IJllof Cove." 

"Thank you," I replied. "Who are you?" 
"lam Viscount Ahrmaand. I govern here in Cove. 

TIS hard work, but my people love me for it. I always 
thought it a blessing to live so close to a shrine, 
though since the Gargoyles came, none dare go near it." 

"Geoffrey told me that the men he sent to free the 
shrine are recuperating here. " 

·Aye. A party of adventurers came here after their 

attempt to defeat the Gargoyles at the Shrine of 
Compassion. I spoke with their leader when they 
arrived. Thou shouldst speak to him thyself. He told of 
a strange violet energy field. I think mayhap 'tis similar 
to the force field which blocked entry to the shrines 
many years ago. The eight mystic runes were most 
useful in those days. " 

When I was on my Quest for Avatarhood, there 
had been force fields blocking my entry to the Shrines 
of the Eight Virtues. In order to get into the eight 
shrines, I'd needed the runes and the mantras. 

"I remember the runes. Can you tell me more?" 
"Use the Rune of Compassion whilst chanting the 

Mantra of Compassion. Methinks this may negate the 
Gargoyle's magic field at the shrine. Ask Lord British's 
Chancellor, Tholden, of the mantra and like as not, he 
will also know of the rune." 

I nodded . The runes were powerful objects in 
Britannia. I made a note to talk to Tholden about the 
Rune of Compassion when we returned to Britain. I 
would also speak to Lord British about the other runes. 

"Thank you for your assistance , Viscount 
Ahrmaand . Can you direct me to the place where 
Geoffrey's men are recuperating?" 

Ahrmaand removed his hat and bowed to me, 
"Aye, Avatar, they are at Sasha the Healer's. Follow 
this road east and 'tis the last building to the south. 
Farewell, sir, and good luck with thy Quest. " 

I bowed in return and followed his directions. In 
minutes we arrived at Sasha's house. Pushing open 
the door, I stepped into the cool darkness of the 
healer's shop. 

Sasha was a small woman with short blonde hair 
and violet eyes. She had a busy air about her. 

"May I help thee?" she snapped. 
"Uh, no. We're-" 
"Dost thou need to be healed?" she asked. 
"No, we're not injured we're-" 
"Then why art thou wasting my time?" she asked 

as she turned away. 
I looked over her shoulder and saw men lying on 

beds. Most of them appeared to be asleep. All were 
gravely injured. One was sitting up and seemed to be 
in somewhat better shape than the others. 

"Hello," I said. "Are you Gertan?" 
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"Aye, I am Gertan," he said between coughs. "My 
fellows and I are recovering from a fierce battle. " 

"Yes, I know. Geoffrey sent me to speak to you 
about your battles against the Gargoyles at the Shrine 
of Compassion." 

Gertan nodded and coughed a few more times. 
Several minutes passed before he was able to catch his 
breath. 

"We sought to liberate the Shrine of Compassion," 
he said. "The Gargoyles did slay more than half our 
party. I have no doubt they use some kind of foul magic." 

"That would be the only way to defeat such valiant 
warriors as yourself and your men," I said. Gertan 
brightened at my words. 

"Aye, thou knowest not the full of it," he said. "A 
moonstone was upon the shrine surrounded by a 
strange, violet glow. I tried to get to it , but ' twas 
protected by some sort of force field. But that is a matter 
beyond my comprehension. I am but a simple fighter." 

He coughed again and his face went pale. I took 
his hand and grasped it firmly in a brief shake. 

"Thank you for your valor, " I said. "Now 'tis time 
for us to leave and let you get your rest. " 

Gertan sank back into his pillows and smiled 
weakly at us. 

"May thy efforts meet with more success than mine." 
I patted his shoulder, then led my party back out 

into the sunshine. 
"Whither now, Avatar?" asked lolo. 
"I think we'll return to Lord British and speak with 

him about the runes. Obviously we need them to free 
the shrines. After that, we 'll talk to Tholden, who 
knows the Mantra of Compassion and can tell us 
where the Rune of Compassion lies." 

I took the moonstone from my pocket and 
dropped it on the ground to the north. The red gate 
rose up and we walked through. 

fntry 1-llritZlin 
e were transported to Lord 
British 's throne room, but he 
wasn ' t there . This was 
strange-he 'd always been 
there before. 

"Where is he?" I asked impatiently. 
" 'Tis near the supper hour, Avatar." said Iola 

"Even the King needs to eat. " 
"Oh," I said, embarrassed. I'd grown so used 

Lord British being there that I sometimes forgot he 
was flesh and blood like the rest of us. 

We went to the dining room and found Lcr. 
British making short work of a capon in cream sauce 

"My apologies for interrupting your dinner, L; 
British," I said. 

"Supper," he corrected me around a mouthful" 
bird. 

'Tm anxious to free the shrines and I've discover 
that the Runes of the Virtues will help." 

Lord British wiped his mouth on a napkin, 
began rinsing his fingers in a silver bowl filled 1w 
rosewater. "Aye. Ask the leaders of each town to 
thee of that. My Chancellor, Tholden, knows of 
Rune of Compassion." 

"Thank you," I said. I started to walk away. 
"Wilt thou stay and have dessert? The cook 

made one of my favorite dishes-cheesecake. Hi 
smiled sublimely. "'Tis good to be King." 

"No, thank you, " I said. "I must find the runes. 
Lord British nodded, then returned his attention· 

his supper. We made our way out of the castle an! 
lolo led the way to the Royal Mint where we 11 

find Tholden. 
As we entered the mint, Dupre stopped a: 

exchanged his gold nuggets for gold pieces. fu 
we met was very flirtatious and had I not been 
Avatar .. . ah, well. 

Tholden was seated behind a large table 
served as his desk. He was preoccupied with 
ledgers, but glanced up as we entered. 

"Records to keep, festivals to plan .. . l can ;pill 

but a moment," he said. 
"I won't keep you long," I said. "Lord British· 

me you know of the Rune of Compassion." 
"The Rune and the Mantra of Compassion a.~ 

the hands of the bards at the Conservatory. l en 
them with the rune due to their compassionate 
As for the other runes, they are no longer togethe: 
they were when the Codex was recovered. Since" 
they have become scattered throughout the larxl 
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·Each was sent to a town near its shrine. lf thou 
task the lords of each of these towns, they should 

~able to tell thee more. The towns are Moonglow, 
1elom, Yew, Minoc, Trinsic, Skara Brae, and New 
llagincia." 

This confirmed what Lord British had told me. I 
·:ianked Tholden for his help and we left the Mint. 
lie Conservatory was across the street, so we made 
'Jlilt our next stop. 

At the Conservatory we talked to a small girl who, 
-och to my amazement, held the rune. She told us to 
· her parents (who worked at the Blue Boar T avem) 
x permission to use the rune, which we did. When 
·~returned , the girl gave us the Rune of Compassion. 
Kenneth, who was also in the Conservatory, knew the 
mantra, as did a nervous bard named Nan. Thus we 
ilarted the Quest. I vowed that the shrines would soon 
:e free and the Gargoyles vanquished. 

Entry a-moonglow 
Z'lnd the LyCDeum 
With the Rune of Compassion 
safely in hand, I decided we 
should head for Moonglow 
next . Not only would we 
discover where the Rune of 

Honesty was located, but the Lycaeum was close by 
a00 we could t'alk to Mariah about the strange book 
kilo had recovered. 

I dropped the moonstone on the ground two feet 
'10rthwest of where I stood, and the red Moongate 
appeared. It still sent shivers down my spine . I 
rondered if I would ever get used to these strange 
crimson gates. I refused to dwell on this and jumped 
lhrough the gate with the others following close 
behind. When we emerged, we found ourselves in the 
arde of stones at the edge of Moonglow. Across the 
treet was a large building , which we agreed to 

mvestigate first. 
l opened the door to the building and jumped back 

in surprise. Covering the entire surface of the room 
were magical fields-protection fields, poison fields, 
fire fields, and sleep fields blanketed the room. 

"Looks like someone doesn 't want company," I said. 

"Thou art a wonder of observation," remarked 
Shamino dryly. 

I shot him a look and closed the door, making a 
mental note to acquire a Dispel Field spell as soon as 
possible. Once again I bemoaned the loss of many a 
precious hex. 

Moonglow was smaller than I remembered-there 
were only two other buildings of note in town. One 
was Lord Aganar's manor and the other was the Blue 
Bottle Tavern . We stopped first at Lord Aganar's 
home. 

"Greetings, Avatar. Thou must be the Avatar-I 
saw thy portrait in Lord British's castle. " 

"Indeed, I am the one called Avatar," I said. "We 
are searching for the Rune of Honesty to help free the 
shrines." 

"I had it once, but I entrusted it to Beyvin's care, as 
he is the most honest man I know. He lives with 
Penumbra." Aganar's voice dropped to a low whisper. 
"But if the truth be told, I can't imagine what he sees 
in her. It is a long time since I saw him. Mayhap she 
can tell you where he is. " 

"Thank you for your help. Where might we find 
Penumbra?" 

"Why, she is in the house to the east of the circle 
of stones." 

I looked at the others. The house east of the circle 
of stones was the one with all those force fields . I was 
getting a bad feeling about Penumbra. We left Lord 
Aganar's and headed for the Blue Bottle Tavern. 

I opened the door to the tavern and was 
immediately assaulted by smoke, loud voices, and the 
odor of roasting meat. Many of the pub's patrons 
were clumped around heavy oak tables , and some 
were crowded around the long bar that ran along one 
side of the room. My attention was immediately drawn 
to one customer standing by the bar. He was tall and 
thin with long black hair. What made him remarkable 
was that the image of the Codex was tattooed on his 
forehead . I confess I've always had the secret desire to 
get a tattoo, but not on my face! 

We strolled over to him. 
"Hello, " I said. "That's one impressive tattoo you 

have. Might I ask your name?" 
"I'm Manrel," he said, smiling and extending his hand. 
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"Glad to meet you," I said, giving the proffered 
hand a quick shake. "Where did you get that tattoo?" 

"I went drinking the night we heard of the 
discovery of the Codex. When I woke up the next 
morning, I had this tattoo . ... " 

"It must have been some party . . . " 
"Aye, I wish I could remember it. " 
"I was wondering if you'd heard of a man named 

Beyvin." 
"Oh, hast thou visited my cousin 's grave?" 
"Your cousin 's grave? No." 
"Oh, my mistake." 
This took me aback. I'd assumed that Beyvin was 

alive . How were we supposed to find a rune in the 
keeping of a dead man? I had a bad feeling that the 
answer lay beyond the force fields at Penumbra's. 

'Tm sorry about your cousin," I said. We downed a 
quick pint of ale and slipped out of the tavern into the 
cooling dusk. 

"This is a problem," I said. 
"Aye," said Dupre . "One pint of ale is hardly 

enough to quench a man 's thirst. " 
"'Twas only ale , Dupre, not fine wine ," sighed 

Shamino, looking at me reproachfully. 
"That's not the problem," I said irritably. I was the 

Avatar and this was a Quest to free the Shrines of the 
Eight Virtues and all Dupre and Shamino wanted to 
do was have a petty argument about drinking. 

"We need to get into Penumbra's to talk to her, 
but I don't have the right spell to get through the force 
fields . Without her, we can't find out about Beyvin and 
the rune . Forget about wine and ale! This is 
important. " I spoke forcefully , maybe too much so. By 
the time I'd finished , my companions looked so 
downcast and disheartened that I felt guilty. 

'Tm sorry to speak this way, but this is serious. 
These Gargoyles are a real menace and it's our 
responsibility to defeat them and save Britannia." 

Iolo stared at me for a minute, then said , "Our 
apologies, Avatar, but surely jest can lighten such a 
heavy burden?" 

I thought about it. Maybe I was getting a little too 
serious, but I was the Avatar. I had to set an example. 
Still, these were my friends-some levity couldn't hurt. 

"You're right, Iolo. Among friends there should be 

humor. But I am an example to the people o· 
Britannia. How would it look if I played the fool?" 

"Perhaps like Chuckles?" remarked Shamino. 
"Nay, Shamino, the Avatar shows good sense 

interjected Dupre. "He is a beacon to us all and shoux: 
behave accordingly." 

Shamino nodded. "My apologies, Avatar. I jest too 
much at thy expense . 'Tis a noble venture th 
pursuest and I am happy to be of service to thee." 

''Thank you," I said, thinking that maybe Sham 
did have a point-I might be taking myself just a fin 
bit too seriously. 

0 0 0 

We walked north from Moonglow to the Lycaa: 
It was a pleasant day . The sun was shining art<l 
gentle breeze blowing through the trees carried C 

strange, otherworldly scent of the Britannian forest 
It was a short trip and we didn't talk as we str 

along. I was worried that I'd alienated my friends. 
realized this wasn ' t a hostile silence, rathe• 
companionable one in which no words were needed 
realized that, even if they didn't always agree with 
my friends trusted me and would stand b~ 
judgment. This cheered me up and I was feeling m 
better by the time we reached the Lycaeum. 

The Lycaeum had changed since my last visit a: 
hardly recognized the place. We entered through 
front door and made our way through corrido11 
rooms to the back of the building. In the middle o 
Lycaeum was a large square room with a ladder u: 
center. Surrounding the ladder were protection f; 
Once again I became annoyed at my lack of spells 

We found Mariah in a room in the southw 
portion of the castle. I remembered her from 
previous visits , but she showed no sign of re 
me. Her red hair was still long and she had a 
more freckles ; her smile was as enchanting a! 

and I felt a tug at my heart at the sight of her 
"Welcome to the Lycaeum ," she said I 

Mariah , the newest member of the Counc 
Wizards. In my free time I use the library to pw;il 

own studies." 
That was the Mariah I remembered. 

intellectual. I motioned to lolo to remove the 
from the bag he was carrying. 
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·1010 took this book from one of the Gargoyles. 
~WI said you might be able to decipher it for us." 

Mariah took the book from Jolo's hands. Her brow 
::rrowed as she studied the tome. After a moment, 
~ looked up at us, a smile replacing the frown she 
'IXl worn a moment earlier. 

"I've seen this script before! I have part of an 
ancient silver tablet in my study, with writing both in 
ltJr language and this . I have learned little from 
;nxiying it, but I can still make out a few words. The 
title to your book is 'The Book of Prophecies' and it 
;ays something about 'the end of our world .' If only I 
nad the other half of the tablet, perhaps I'd be able to 
.kipher the rest of the book. " 

'Where might we begin to look for the other half 
ii the tablet?" I asked. 

"I got my piece from some gypsies I met at a pub. 
\layhap they can tell thee where to look for the other 
piece. Bring both pieces of the tablet here and I will 
:ell thee what I can. " 

·Thank you, Mariah. We'll look for the gypsies and 
see if we can get the other half of the tablet." 

She smiled at me and I thought I detected an 
iffectionate twinkle in her eye, but it was gone so 
~ckly that I decided it must have been my imagination. 

"Whither now?" asked Iolo as we stepped out of 
!he Lycaeum. 

'We need to get some spells before we look for 
"1ariah's gypsies. Do you know anyone who sells 
spells and reagents around here?" 

'Xiao lives to the north, " said Shamino. "I believe 
she might help us. " 

"Good," I said . "Let's find her while there 's still 
;ome daylight left." 

bltry 9-Xizio's 

~( 
ijouse 
iao 's house stood at the end of 
the road leading north from 
the Lycaeum. It was stately, 
with high walls made of fine 
white marble. I pushed open 

the front door and walked through the magnificent 
loyer to a room on the north side. Stone lions like 
those in Lord British's castle flanked the doorway. 

"Pretty impressive, " I murmured, feeling a little bit 
intimidated. 

A large Rube Goldberg-like machine was in motion 
at one end of the room. The machinery was huge and 
extended beneath the floor of the building. Xiao stood 
in the center of the chamber, making notes on a piece 
of parchment. She looked wise and scholarly. 

"Greetings," she said, walking toward us. "For 
what purpose art thou come?" 

'Tm looking to buy a Dispel Field spell. Do you 
have one?" 

She smiled. "I have many spells. That is a Third 
Circle spell, and it will cost thee 75 gold pieces. Art 
thou still willing to purchase it?" 

I nodded. She withdrew a piece of parchment from 
inside the sleeve of her robe. lolo handed me the gold 
and I passed it to Xiao. 

"Anything else?" she asked. 
"Mass Dispel would be nice," I said. 
"I sense that thou art not ready for that circle, but 

'tis not my concern. If thou dost wish the spell, 'tis 
100 gold." 

I asked lolo how much money we had left. The 
figure was low. Declining Xiao's offer, I started to turn 
away. Then I stopped. 

"How many circles of magic are there?" I asked 
"Thou knowest there are eight. " 
"What spells do you have that are Eighth Circle?" 
"Thou art not ready for such knowledge. Seek out 

the Wisps and learn their secrets. Then thou wilt be 
prepared for the Eighth Circle." 

I bought some reagents from Xiao and we left her 
house. 

"Do any of you know where the Wisps live?" I 
asked. 

Shamino nodded. "Jn Spiritwood, outside of Skara 
Brae, I've heard tales of these creatures. " 

"Aye, and near the mage Nicodemus' hut in the 
Deep Forest they've been known to appear," added Iolo. 

"The Deep Forest near Yew?" I asked. 
"Aye." 
"We have to go there to get the Rune of Justice. 

Later we'll pay a visit to Nicodemus, and to the Wisps, 
as well ." 

0 0 0 
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Entry10~Penuntbrn~ 

~W-=- nou:;e 
e camped out along the road 
back to Moonglow. Iolo sang a 
song for us, though he looked a 
bit forlorn without his lute. We 
ate and talked for a while, then 

went to sleep with Dupre standing guard. 
We reached Penumbra's house by mid-morning. 

Even though it was a bright shining summer 's 
morning , a pall seemed to hang over her home, 
driving off the warmth of the sun. I pushed open her 
front door and was once again confronted with the 
room of force fields. 

I cast An Grav and the first field vanished. Again 
and again I cast the spell until we reached the far end 
and the room beyond. Penumbra's main room was 
cloaked in shadows. Across the northern wall were 
three mirrors, the middle one shattered into a million 
pieces . Penumbra sat in front of a gazing globe; 
forming a vault over her head were the bones of some 
huge unidentified animal . Placed in a circle around the 
room were burning candles, which gave off a sickly­
sweet smell. Blood and dried gore from long-forgotten 
evil deeds spattered the floors and walls. 

Penumbra wore a hooded cloak, pulled up over 
her head so her face was partially hidden. Small and 
inscrutable, she reminded me of a spider in its web. I 
stood for a moment trying to decide how best to 
approach her, but then she spoke-before I could 
formulate a plan. 

"Greetings, Avatar. " Her voice was repellent aJXl 
seductive at the same time. "I see you have yet tc 
fulfill your destiny." 

"I take it you're Penumbra, " I said, trying to scxmJ 
nonchalant. 

"Aye, I am the daughter of the eclipse. I can 
foretell your future for you. " 

This was interesting, but it wasn't what we'd come for 
"No, thank you," I said. 'Tm looking for the Rime 

of Honesty. " 
Penumbra smiled. It sent chills up my spine. 
"'Twas buried with Beyvin, rest his shade." 

smiled again. 
"Beyvin? Do you know where he 's buried1 

caught the quaver in my voice. I hoped she hadr' 
noticed. 

"He was a terribly honest fellow. Alas, he Jacka: 
the virtue of tact. He told the truth once too often a: 
those he spoke of did not appreciate it. He's burioo 
the catacombs under Moonglow now, pushing 
daffodils. Even virtue has its price ." She smii 
again-I really wanted her to stop grinning. One ll'lll 
question and we were going to get out of this place. F 

"Uh, about the mantra . I mean, do you kn 
anyone in town who knows it?" 

"For five gold coins I can use my powers to chi 
the mantra for you. Shall I do this?" She stared at 
with her dark eyes and I felt the chill hand of dra: 
grip my heart. 

"Yes," I whispered. I handed her five gold coin; 
She closed her eyes in concentration. Many . 

minutes passed. 
"What are we waiting for? " whispered Du; 

"She's doubtless fallen asleep and you've wasted 
money for nothing . . . " 

Penumbra's eyes snapped open at that 
and said, "The word you seek is AHM." 

Then her eyes closed again. 
"Let's get out of here," I said, edging towaro 

door. 
"Wait," hissed Shamino . "See what I've r 

here." 
We all tiptoed to the row of chests againll 

south wall. Shamino was gesturing at the open 
Inside we could see grisly remains. One chest . 
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~ dragonette , another the desiccated bones of a 
mall hwnan, and the last a fresh human corpse. 

·Perhaps this is what happened to Beyvin, " said 
ilwnino. 1 glanced over at Penumbra, who was still in 
itrance. I wouldn't have put anything past her. 

"We don't know that for sure, " I said, trying to be 
~voice of reason. "This is just circumstantial. " The 
:tliers looked at me with disbelief. "Okay, okay, so it 
ooks really bad. Let's just get out of here and find out 
.!Jere Beyvin was buried." 

' If that wasn ' t him ," stated lolo , "then he is 
irobably in the Crypts." 

"Then we must find the Crypts," I replied. 
We skirted Penumbra and her unholy shrine and 

<!de our way out of the house. We all agreed that 
hat we needed most now, before anything else, was 

a good stiff pint of ale. 

Entry 11-The erypt:i 
e hoisted a few ales at the pub 
and discussed how we should 
proceed next. Finally, after a 
fair amount of discussion, we 
decided to locate the entrance 
to the Crypts and find the grave 

Beyvin. I knew there was an entrance to the Crypts 
!Olllewhere in Moonglow, and since we were already 
11the pub, we decided to search here first. 

I suggested we split up . I took the kitchen while 
lo, Shamino, and Dupre searched the main hall. 

After a few minutes I heard Iolo noodling on the 
harpsichord in one corner of the pub. He just couldn 't 
resist playing an instrument 

I was poking around in the pantry when a slight 
11Tegularity on the north wall caught my eye. I had to 
move a couple of milk pails out of the way to get a 
00ser look. There was, in fact, a secret door. I knew 
Britannia well enough to know that secret doors often 
k!d to interesting places. 

I started to open the door, but it stopped halfway, 
striking something in the room beyond. Poking my 
~ around the door, I saw that there was a ladder 
leading down through the floor. There were so many 
barrels and plants (of all things!) that it took me the 

RUIR 

better part of a half hour to move everything around 
so I could get to the ladder. I went and gathered the 
others and together we descended into the dark. 

0 0 0 

Shamino lit a torch , driving off the gloom. The 
bodies tucked into niches along the walls left no doubt 
that we 'd found the Crypts. Maybe it's just morbid 
curiosity, or perhaps a strange bend to my personality, 
but I couldn't stop myself from looking at each and 
every one of the corpses down there. 

"Must thou do this?" complained Dupre. He didn't 
mind killing when necessary, but graves were not his 
favorite things . Meanwhile , Shamino was poking 
along up ahead trying to find even smaller places to 
crawl into. He liked spelunking, something I wouldn't 
have expected from such an outdoorsman. 

I discovered many wondrous items people had left 
with the dearly departed-a firewand , a Glass Sword, 
a ring of invisibility, gold, gold nuggets, and more. I 
took items we might have some use for. Unlike taking 
things from living Britannians, taking items from the 
dead seemed to have no effect on my well-being. 

We searched the whole of this level of the Crypts, 
but did not find Beyvin's tomb. A ladder leading to a 
lower level took us to a large open space with nine 
tombs in the center. More bodies were tucked into the 
walls. Beyvin's tomb, the middle one, was magically 
locked. 

"I can't believe it! Locked! And we have no Ex Por 
spells," I groaned, annoyed at my own lack of foresight. 
"I guess we'd better go find out if Xiao sells that spell ." 
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"Perhaps this might help," said Iolo, picking up a 
oote from the ground. 

He read aloud: "'With love, Cousin Manrel. ' 
·Maybe Beyvin's cousin Manrel has a key to the 

kXJlb," he said. "From the fresh flowers on the ground 
looks as though he has been here recently." 
This cheered me up. If we could get the key from 

Manrel, it would save some time, but I made a note to 
go visit Xiao anyway and see if she sold Ex Por spells. 
We trudged back up to the tavern and found Manrel, 
imo did have a key to the tomb, but he was suspicious 
ol us. He only lent it to me after I promised to return 

and leave flowers at the grave. 
We went back down to Beyvin ' s tomb and 

retrieved the Rune of Honesty. I found gems and gold 
nuggets on the body, but somehow it didn't seem right 
to take them. The daffodils Manrel had us leave 
ooked oddly bright and cheerful against the darkness 
ol the tomb. I gently locked the door to Beyvin 's 
aypt, closed my eyes and bowed my head in respect. 

Exploring the rest of the Crypts took a while . We 
lound a ladder that led to another level and we 
lollowed it downward . There was one tomb on this 
level, but it was magically locked. Since I didn't have a 
spell to counteract this, we were stuck. I grumbled a 
little, then decided that the best course of action would 
be to use the moonstone and go to Yew to retrieve 
the Rune of Justice . The others agreed , and in a 

tually the Avatar did indeed reach the 
level of the Crypts. There, he discovered 
y wondrous items which aided him in 
Quest. It is suggested that those true 

ers of the Way of the Avatar return to 
· 's tomb when they have learned the 
ck Magic spell. Venture down to the 
h level and thou mayest find 

.. ieth:.in:g the Avatar left behind that may 
thee in thine own Quests, whatever they 
be. 

- The Editors 

matter of seconds we stepped out of the Moongate 
into the twilight outside of Yew. 

E:ntry 12-Yew ( I[' ho fi"t thing wo did afte< 
arriving in Yew was to visit the 
Lord Mayor. The Lord Mayor 
was housed in the High Court. 
Her name was Lenora and she 
was stem, with graying red hair 

and a perpetual scowl on her face . 
"Welcome, worthy Avatar, to the Hall of Justice. 

How may we assist thee in thy Quest?" 
I didn't like her. Something about her reminded me 

of my high school principal. According to him, it 
didn 't matter what the facts were, you were guilty until 
proven innocent-and sometimes even after that. 

"We 're looking for the Rune of Justice and we 
were told you might know its location ." 

Her face pulled into an even worse frown . 
"Aye. The Rune of Justice was sent here for 

safekeeping. A thief stole the rune from the grave of 
our most respected resident, the former Lord Mayor. 
Even though the thief was caught, we have not yet 
found the rune." 

"Where are you keeping this thief?" I asked. 
"He is in jail awaiting the carriage of justice." 
"Thank you for your help. By the way, could you 

tell me the Mantra of Justice?" 
Lenora gave me a sharp glance. 
"'Tis most strange Avatar, that thou knowest not 

the Mantra ." Her beady eyes looked at me 
speculatively, then she seemed to decide to relent. 
"Hmmmm ... well, no matter, I suppose 'twould be 
improper to deny anything the Avatar requires. The 
Mantra of Justice is BEH." 

"Thanks again , and good day," I said. I marched 
quickly out the door with the others falling in behind me . 

"Lady Lenora is very strict," remarked Dupre. 
"I don't like her," I said. "There's something about 

her .... Anyway, let's go talk to the thief.' 
We reached the jailhouse and were informed by 

the jail keeper that we needed a letter of permission 
from Lady Lenora to talk to the prisoner. Then we 
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had to get the key to the cell from the jailer. After 
jumping through these legal hoops, we were finally 
able to talk to the thief. 

"Hello," I said through the bars of the cell, trying 
to get a look at the prisoner. 

A short, squat man with a bulbous nose and several 
day's worth of stubble on his chin peered through the 
bars. 

"Who's there? .. . 'Strewth, it's the Avatar! You've 
got to get me out of 'ere. " 

"Not so fast. Where's the rune?" 
"I'll tell ye where the rune is if ye'll let me go. I've 

got me little ones to think of." 
"Little ones? Is it true that you've got children?" 
"Even a thief like me wouldn't lie to the Avatar." 
"You must take me for a fool. " 
The thief looked chagrined. "Oh, all right, I admit 

it, I haven 't got any children . But that stupid cow 
they've got running this place won't listen to reason­
a little give and take, know what I mean, guv? If I tell 
ye where the rune is, will ye take it away? I don't want 
any pompous bigots to 'ave it. " 

This didn't seem like a compromise of my virtue, 
since I'd planned to take the rune with me anyway. 
Besides, even though I didn 't approve of the thief's 
behavior , I had to agree with him about the Lord 
Mayor's personality. 

"Yes," I said. ''I'll take the rune away with me." 
"Go to the Slaughtered Lamb; I 'id the rune under 

a potted plant there. And spit on Her Ladyship for 
me! " 

We dropped off the key with the jailer; I crumpled 
up Lady Lenora's letter of permission and threw it into 
a comer of the jail. The Slaughtered Lamb was on the 
edge of town and we headed there without pausing to 
talk to the citizens of Yew. I remembered Yew as being 
a much nicer place when I'd been here before. Maybe 
that had something to with my recollections of Jaana. 

We discovered the Rune of Justice under a potted 
plant just to the east of the front door. 

"Except for justice, what happens in Yew?" I asked 
my companions. 

"I know not, Avatar," said Iola. "I spend most of 
my time in my home in the Deep Forest when I am 
not adventuring." 

"Lady Lenora would know of such matters. 
probably knoweth everything that happens in Yev. 
said Shamino. 

I made a face. "Do we have to talk to her agac 
She's an awful pill. " 

"Only if thou desirest answers." 
I groaned, but started back to the Lord Mayor 

"Greetings again, Avatar. How may I help thee1 

"I know that Yew is known for its Justice." Al 
remark she smiled-and I'd thought Penumbra 
bad. "But I was curious to know what else the 
produces." 

Her voice filled with pride, she said, "We p 
the finest wood in all the realm . Go ask Ben~ 
logger. He doth live in the forest to the west of taro• 

"Lumber? Anything else?" 
Lenora glared at me. "Surely that is enough. 

snapped. 
"Okay, I was just wondering. " But Lenora· 

turned away and was reviewing documents on 
desk. The audience was over. 

0 0 0 

Ben the logger was a decent fellow, if a bit wa.., 

first. We had to convince him that we weren't !her! 
get him to fight in a war, and after that he was 
friendly. He had logs for sale, but I couldn't· 
having any use for one. 

After thanking him for his time, we decidf: 
return to Yew and get swamp boots from Yr;. 
then head for Trinsic. 

Entry 13-Tiu: &oil 
The 3tzalf. 'flu: Moua 
'frinsic 
t Y otomo 's I bought s~ 
boots for myself, Shamux: 
Dupre. Iola said his were~ 
repair and he didn't neai 

ones. I bought a few extra pairs, just in Cill 

needed them. I l..t:. 
Then we made a short trip to icodemus 

was dark as we made our way through the " 
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Forest. I felt like I should be saying "Lions and tigers 
and bears, oh , my! " When I mentioned this to the 
ithers they just looked at me as if I'd lost my mind. 

As the first fingers of dawn reached across the sky, 
~ stumbled into the clearing where Nicodemus' hut 
ood. He had many spells and reagents for sale (at 

OO!ter prices than Xiao's, I might add), but the items 
that interested me most were the magical staffs. 

He told me that by using an In Ort Ylem spell on 
the staff, I could make it hold spells, even those of 
circles I hadn't yet attained. I purchased the staff and a 
few spells. Ex Por and Vas Sanct Lor were two spells 
I thought might be handy. 

I decided we should drop off the extra boots in my 
room in Lord British's castle on our way to Trinsic. 
With the moonstone, dropping off items I didn't need 
was a simple matter. 

It was after dark when we stepped through the 
Moongate into the throne room. The castle was very 
still. I led the way to my room, and was about to enter 
when I heard Lord British's voice. I stepped up to the 
doorway into his room and saw that he was reading 
aloud to himself. Or so I thought at first. Then I saw a 
mouse sitting at his feet , with its head cocked attentively 
to one side as though it were listening to his tale. 

I went into the room. 
"Lord British," I began. 
"Hello, Avatar. I see thou hast misplaced thy key 

to my castle. Here is another." He handed me a key. 
I'd dropped the last key he'd given me into the moat 
after I'd finished with it. "What else can I do for thee?" 

"ls that mouse listening to you?" 
"Aye, you've heard about Sherry. I'm very proud 

of her. I'm sure she 's the only talking mouse in 
Britannia." 

"Talking mouse?" 
"Aye. She comes and listens to me read stories 

every night. " 
"Oh," I said. I turned to the mouse, who had been 

looking at the two of us as we conversed. 
"Hello," I said weakly. 
"Squeak, squeak, squeak," she replied. 
Talking mouse . Right. Lord British had a vivid 

imagination, but it wouldn't hurt to humor him. 
"Squeak," I said politely. 

"Squeak, squirk?" 
Naturally, I said, "Squirk. " 
"Squeeeeek!" 
"So what's you name?" I asked. 
"Sherry," piped a little voice . I looked over my 

shoulder at Dupre, but he just shrugged his shoulders. 
"I am Lord British's friend," continued the voice. 

I looked down at the mouse. She sat back on her 
haunches and her front paws rested on her hips. 

"Lord British's friend?" 
"He reads me bedtime stories every night," she 

continued. "hast thou any cheese?" 
I was a bit confused by the non sequitur, but I was 

talking to a mouse after all . 
"Uh, yeah, I think I have some here," I said as I 

dug around in one of the bags on my belt. I pulled out 
a really ripe piece of Camembert which Sherry 
proceeded to make short work of. She finished and 
started neatly cleaning her whiskers. 

"Come and see me again," she said in her high­
pitched voice. 

"Okay," I said as I stumbled back through the door. 
Talking mice. Britannia sure was an interesting place. 

We stepped into my room across the hall and 
closed the door. 

"I can't believe he knows a talking mouse," I said, 
lifting the lid to my trunk and dumping the boots 
inside. "How do you like that?" 

The chest was getting pretty full , so I sent Dupre 
out to get me the rest of the chests we'd found in the 
castle to help us keep track of our various possessions. 
I'd discovered that the housekeepers would clean up 
anything that wasn't in a chest. 

We bedded down for the evening outside of the 
castle and stepped through the Moongate to Trinsic 
the next morning. 

Finding the rune in Trinsic was pretty anticlimactic. 
The Rune of Honor was sitting on a pedestal in the 
center of town, so we didn't even need to ask anyone 
where it was. We found Lord Whitsaber, the mayor of 
Trinsic, and told him we'd taken the rune. 

"Quite all right, Avatar," he said. "Welcome to 
Trinsic." 

"Do you know the Mantra of Honor?" I asked. 
There was something not quite right about Lord 
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Whitsaber. He didn't quite meet your eye, and under 
all his polish there was something oily about him. 

"The mantra? Hmmm, let me think. Ah, yes. The 
mantra is SUMM. ls there anything else?" 

"No, thank you, " I said. I got the feeling I was 
getting the bum's rush from Lord Whitsaber-like he 
didn't want us there one minute longer than absolutely 
necessary. We stepped out of his fine house into the 
square. I checked the items I had in my bag. We'd 
recovered four of the runes and the mantras that went 
with them. We hadn't been to New Magincia yet. I 
decided it would be our next destination. 

s 
E!lh'v 14-R~ 
Mzigincizi 
heep, sheep, and more sheep 
are what I'll remember best 
about New Magincia. We 
stepped out of the Moongate 
into a flock of these ovine 

beasts and into other, more pungent, reminders of 
them. Cursing and shoving them out of the way, we 
managed to make our way from the circle of stones to 
the edge of town. 

New Magincia was a small village made up of 
simple huts. We found Lord Antonio in the town hall 
north of the Humble Palate, the local pub. Lord 
Antonio sat behind a rough table delicately dissecting 
an orange. 

"What brings thee to New Magincia?" he asked, 
looking up from his task. 

"I-I mean we-are looking for the Rune and 
Mantra of Humility, " I said. 

"The most humble amongst us knoweth the 
mantra. If thou canst find who that is, I will give thee 
the rune." 

"Maybe you're the most humble person in New 
Magincia," I said, venturing a guess. 

Lord Antonio laughed. "Hardly. Thou shouldst not 
guess. Come back when thou hast discovered the 
most humble." 

I thanked him and left him to his orange. 
We spent much of the next few days talking to 

everyone in the village, trying to discover who was the 

most humble. I quickly found that many of their 
thought they were humble and made quite a show )I 

their "humility," but they weren't really humble. 
I got pretty discouraged. 
Early one morning, we went and sat on the edgt 

of the pier and watched the sunrise. It was nice just 
sit there and watch the sunrise without thinking abo 
the Quest, or runes, or Gargoyles. 

"Hello," came a deep voice behind us. We tuml3l 
and saw a broad-shouldered man with a full yell™ 
beard and green eyes. 

"Hello," I said. "Who are you?" 
"I am Conor Starfalcon," he replied. "Forgive nY 

for not introducing myself." 
"What do you do here on New Magincia?" I askec 
"I am a fisherman. In catching fish , as in all of Iii< 

there is something to be learned." 
He didn't look like a fisherman. In fact, he looked 

like a fighter. 
"You don't look much like any fisherman I've t. 

seen," I said. "You look more like a warrior." 
Conor's smile was wishful. 
"I no longer follow the way of the warrior." 

said. He glanced at lolo and I could swear I sa11 
flicker of recognition pass between them. Sometlun: 
was going on there, but I wasn't sure what it was. 

"Do you know who is the most humble person 
New Magincia?" I asked. 

"Thou seekest to find the most humble one in ' 
Magincia, " he said, stroking his beard. "That; 
difficult task. I would hate to commend one of 
neighbors to thee and fail to do justice to the othe:I 
The one thing I can tell thee for certain is that I 
not the one thou seekest." 

At last, someone in New Magincia who didn't th 
he was humble! There was one other way to tell. 

"Can you tell me the Mantra of Humility?" I ask: 
"Dost thou plan to visit the shrine?" he asked~ 

excitement. 
I nodded. 
"The shrine is far to the southeast. Thou rra. 

borrow my boat if thou wilt. And the mantra is LGV 
"Thank you," I said. "I don't think we'll n~ • 

boat right now. But we may need it later." 
"Any time, n he said. 
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We left then , and went back to Lord Antonio 's 
'louse. He asked us again who was the most humble 
in all of New Magincia , and we said, "Conor 
tarfalcon." Then he gave us the Rune of Humility. 

We now had five of the runes and the 
.:orresponding mantras. Yet we still lacked the other 
half of the tablet that would help translate the 
Gargoyle book. So far , the gypsies who knew where 
lhe other half of the silver tablet was hadn 't appeared. 

I decided that we should go to Jhelom next and 
!ind the Rune of Valor. 

w 
bltry 15-Jhelom 
hen the Moongate deposited 
us in Jhelom, the first thing 
we did was seek out the lord 
of the town. He was in the 
Town Hall, looking wistfully 
out the window like he 

wanted to be anywhere but cooped up indoors. 
"Hello," I said. "I am on a Quest for Lord British. 

Are you the lord of this town?" 
"Greetings," he said, rising from his chair. "My 

name is Zellivan and I am lord here. Lord British has 
spoken fondly of thee. " 

"He has?" I was surprised by this. 
"I have seen thy portrait in Lord British's castle. 

Art thou not the Avatar?" 
"Yes, I have been called Avatar." 
"I knew it was thee. Our liege speaks of thee with 

great fondness. " 
"To have His Majesty's praise is a high honor 

indeed. How do you know Lord British?" 
"I grew up near Castle Britannia. 'Twas the sunset 

o'er Brittany Bay and the ships at rest in the harbor 
which drew me to the sea." 

I smiled. I remembered the lure of Britannia's seas 
from my earlier Quests. 

"We are looking for the Rune of Valor and we 
understand that Lord British left it in your hands." 

Zellivan leaned forward and rested his elbows on 
the rough table. 

"I held a tournament to decide who would be 
entrusted with the rune's care. You might say that 'no 
man' was the victor." 

Riddles. I hate riddles . There ' s something 
unbearably smug about a person asking you a riddle. 

"What about the mantra?" I sighed. 
"Hear it for thyself at the Sword and Keg Pub. The 

songs and tales do the heart good, I say! " 
"Well, thanks for the help," I said . 
"Convey my greetings to Lord British the next time 

thou dost see him. " 
From the Town Hall we made our way to the 

Sword and Keg Pub. It was still early afternoon and 
the tavern wasn't crowded. We leaned against the bar 
and made small talk with the owner until a young girl 
ran by with a large tray of mugs in one hand. It was a 
wonder the way she handled that tray. 

"Hello," I said the next time she passed by. "Who 
are you?" 

"I am Lyssandra, but ye can call me Andy." 
"Aren't you a little young to be working here?" I 

asked. 
"'Tis rough sometimes , but I doesn 't mind . 

Someday I'll be a great fighter, ye know." 
"Do you know anything about the rune?" I asked. 

One thing I knew was that people who served others 
were often treated like they were invisible. This meant 
that they saw and heard things that weren't supposed 
to be common knowledge. 

"I know how to get it from the you-know-what. " 
"The what?" 
"The rat, " she whispered. 
"Rat?" 
"Shhhh!" She glanced around the nearly empty 

room as though we might be overheard. "See that 
hole in the north wall over there?" She pointed to a 
small rat hole where the floor and the wall met . 
"That's where it took the rune! They tried all manner 
of tricks to get it out, but they all failed . I had an idea, 
but none would listen to me." 

''I'll listen," I said. 
She smiled and my heart melted . Brave and 

smart-I knew she would be a great fighter one day. I 
hoped I'd be able to return to Britannia and see her 
then. 

"Know ye the talking mouse? Lord British 's 
friend?" she asked. I nodded. "A mouse could get the 
rune, of that I'm sure! " 
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"That's a wonderful idea," I said. "We know Sherry 
and I bet she'd come with us if we gave her enough 
cheese. " 

Lyssandra blushed with pride, then hurried off to 
finish her work. 

"Let's go back to Castle Britannia and see if Sherry 
will help us ," I said . The others agreed , and in 
minutes we were back in the castle. I couldn't find 
Sherry at first, but I waited until Lord British went 
into his room to read . Sherry appeared a few 
minutes later. We asked her if she would help, and 
after a bribe of a small amount of cheese she agreed 
to join the party. 

We returned to the pub to find a full-scale brawl in 
progress. I sent Sherry into the pub alone to retrieve 
the rune . She came running back, dragging the rune 
and a ring of invisibility that she'd found in the rat 
hole . Then we took her back to Lord British and 
thanked her for her help. 

caroline 
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We returned to Jhelom to try and get the mantra. 
The tavern had settled down somewhat when we 

returned. A couple of the brawlers were crumpled in 
one corner , overcome by the fight or the ale-I 
couldn't tell which. 

Several patrons leaned against the long oak bar. 
One was an angry-looking man with a short sword on 
either hip. Another was dressed in velvets and silks of 
yellow, green, and blue. The third was a small man 
whose vest was made entirely of seashells. 

"Quite a ruckus in here a while ago," I said to no 
one in particular. 

Just then, Shamino leaned over my shoulder aro 
shook hands with the angry-looking man. 

"This is Stelnar ," said Shamino by way of 
introduction. 

"Pleased to meet you," Stelnar said as he graspea 
my hand in a strong grip. 

"Thanks. I'm looking for the Mantra of Valor to 
help free the shrine from the Gargoyles. " 

Stelnar grimaced like he 'd just tasted something 
bitter. 

"Monsters, you mean," he growled. "I've beer: 
killing Wisps and the like in Spiritwood. They're hart! 
to kill , not like Gargoyles. " 

"You've killed Gargoyles?" I asked. 
"There's one they call Sin V'raal. If I had my wav 

that Gargoyle would be a statue. You know they ti.an 
to stone when you slay them." 

Just then the man in silks joined in the 
conversation. 

"That's drivel, Stelnar," he said. "A Gargoyles a 
flesh-and-blood beast. Stone indeed! " He turned back 
to his beer. 

"What dost thou know, Van Kellian? Thou artjulta 
bard. A Gargoyle is an ugly monster, and that's that 

"Ugliness is but skin deep," I heard Van Kellia!: 
murmur. I walked over to his side and asked him alni 
the mantra, but he didn't know it. The man with tt'i 
seashell vest overheard my question and interrupted 

"The Mantra of Valor bringeth great cheer. I'm 
a great singer, but I love to play the Song of Valor 
makes me sing." Saying this , he launched into · 
following song, accompanied by everyone in the bar 

It seemed like such an easy climb 
Upon the Serpent's Spine. 
I hadn 't euen time to blanch, 
When down there came an aualanche! 

And then the mantra came to mind, 

Though boulders bounced and passed with speed 
My frozen fingers gripped the rock 
As sliding snow swept loose my feet. 
Sing 'RA,' my friends , sing 'RA.' 
'Tis a song to make thee strong. 
When mountains be high and the ground be far 
Sing 'RA,' my friends, sing 'RA!' 
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And singing the Song of Valor we left Jhelom and 
the Sword and Keg Pub and went on to Skara Brae. 

Entry 16-~kara (D) Bra<:. Th<: Wi:;p:; ur visit to Skara Brae was 
extremely strange. We had to 
sift through many rumors and 
innuendoes to get to the 
location of the rune. A murder 

and a ghost in the town distracted us for a while, but 
after carefully reviewing our information, we realized 
!hat we were being kept from our true goal: to find 
!he rune. 

Trenton , the lord of Skara Brae (and a weasely sort 
J Ive ever seen one) , denied ever having the rune. He 
said it had been given to Quenton for safekeeping. Of 
:curse, Quenton was the murder victim and nobody 
seemed to know where he 'd hidden the rune. 
Everyone was sure the Gargoyles had murdered him, 
rut it didn 't add up. 

After chasing a number of false leads, I suggested 
we visit the house where Quenton lived with his 
daughter, Marney. We knocked on the door and it was 
answered by a tall delicate girl whose smile could put 
you at your ease. 

"Hello ," I said . "Are you Marney , Quenton 's 
daughter?" 

"Aye," she said. "May I help thee?" 
"We're looking for the Rune of Spirituality." 
Her easy smile disappeared and tears gathered in 

her eyes. 
"I am sorry for our town . My father was the 

caretaker of the runestone. After he died, we had no 
way of finding out where he put it. " 

She dabbed at her eyes with the corner of her 
apron. Iolo and Dupre looked at me disapprovingly, 
like it was my fault her father was dead and the rune 
was missing . I decided to change the subject and try to 
cheer her up a little. 

"Uh , Marney is a beautiful name. Is it a family 
name?" I asked. Shamino rolled his eyes and smacked 
his head. Okay, so it wasn't the smoothest transition. 
What did they want? 

Luckily for me , she brightened up. "It was in a 
poem my mother wrote to my father when they first 
met," she said, opening the locket hanging around her 
neck. She read from the paper inside: "At first we met 
and dark clouds gathered, the thunder sounding your 
approach. Then comes the storm of hearts pounding 
and in the end the marney's touch." 

"That's beautiful, " I said. "May !?" 
She held out the small scrap of cloth the poem was 

written on and I took it from her fingers. 
I read the second verse of the poem aloud: 

"Remember where my love is kept: Inside a basket made 
of promise, you'll find my dreams of us have slept. " 

Marney sniffed bravely, then looked at us and 
collapsed sobbing. The others gave me "How could 
you?" looks and shifted from foot to foot awkwardly. 
A lot of help they were! Marney pulled herself 
together and apologized for crying. 

'That's okay," I said. "You really loved your father. 
I just wish we could figure out where he left the rune. " 

Marney sniffled a little and I was afraid she'd start 
crying again . In an effort to change the subject, I 
started talking about the first thing that came to mind. 

"We need a skiff to reach Horace the Alchemist's 
house. Do you have one available?" 

Marney blew her nose loudly into a small 
handkerchief she'd retrieved from her apron pocket. 

"Not to buy, but thou mayest borrow the one on 
the dock if thou needest it to visit him. " 

We thanked her and gratefully went outside to the 
dock. A skiff was tied to the moorings. We piled into 
the small boat and headed northwest to Horace 's 
island, a trip that took only minutes. 

Horace didn 't have any information about the 
rune, but he did have spells and reagents for sale. 
Though he was a bit befuddled-extreme old age will 
do that to you , I guess-when I asked him about 
business he snapped back to reality right away. We 
stocked up on all the reagents he carried and bought 
spells (In Mani Corp and Vos Mani) that I thought 
might be useful . Even though I couldn't use them yet, I 
wanted them for later. 

All the while, I couldn 't get Marney's poem out of 
my head. "At first we met and dark clouds gathered, 
the thunder sounding at your approach ." Pretty 
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romantic stuff. It had been a long time since I'd felt 
like that about anyone. Or since anyone had felt that 
way about me, much less someone who would commit 
it to verse. 

"Aren't there Wisps around here somewhere?" I 
asked. 

"Aye," said Shamino . "In Spiritwood, to the 
southeast, I have seen them at night. " 

"It's almost sundown. Let's head there tonight and 
find out what Xiao was talking about. 

0 0 0 

~ Is l 1"" 
The blue sphere hovered six feet above the ground 

in front of us. 
"What do we do now?" I whispered. 
"Talk to it?" said Dupre. 
"Uh, hello," I said. 
The ball pulsed , then said, "Again 'you ' on this 

plane address 'I' of the Xorinite dimension. By what 
name do 'you' wish to be addressed this time?" 

This time? "Uh, Avatar will do fine, " I said. 
"Very well, 'Avatar. ' Do 'you' have memory of a 

previous discussion with 'me'?" 
"Nooooo." Curiouser and curiouser. 
"So be it. '!' must often repeat information when 

conversing with the life of Britannia, it seems. '!' do 
not see how each unit of life here can have different 
memories , different desires , but again 'I' inform 
Britannia that it is not so in 'my' realm. Those which 
you know as 'Wisps' are projections of life of Xorinia. 
'!' extend into many planes besides this one. Britannia 
communicates with 'me' very seldom and is known by 
those of very few other planes. Every time T speak 
with Britannia, it seems '!' must explain 'my' nature 
again . This is very strange." 

"No kidding," I said. 
"'!' do not understand, " said the Wisp. 
"What do you do?" I asked. 
"Xorinia serves as a conduit for information 

between different planes. In exchange, the planes 
provide information that can be used to improve 
Xorinia. Occasionally payment is accepted in the form 
of substance, but this is not preferred." 

"What kind of information?" I asked. 
"Britannia has never participated in an interplanar 

exchange of information. T have presented a sample 
known in Britannian terms as a 'secret,' but no further 
interest has been shown." 

"Secret?" 
A scroll appeared in my hand. I unrolled it and 

read the incantation, then realized that what I was 
holding was a Corp Bet Mani Spell. 

"Holy cow! This is ... " 
"Yes, yes," said the Wisp in a bored voice. ·an 

Armageddon Spell. It is not very powerful, as it onl, 
affects the plane in which it is invoked. If 'you' present 
a reasonably dense information source to a 'Wisp' urut. 

arrangements will be made to transfer some suitahil 
valuable commodity into Britannian possession." 

"Got anything in particular in mind?" I asked. 
"The vagaries of 'your' language are mot 

strange, " said the Wisp. 
"Well, thanks anyway,'' I said. The Wisp pulsed 

again and started rambling on about not having to 
goodbye every time we stopped talking, et cetera 
wondered what source of information we had 
Britannia that pan-dimensional beings would want. 

That night we made camp, and off in the distain 
the Wisps pulsed and glowed. 

0 0 0 

That night I dreamed many things. Of a murdeial 
father and horrible Gargoyles chasing me. A beautilil 
woman quoted from a poem she'd written to herla.t 
And baskets filled with promises floated everywhere 

0 0 0 

I woke with a start. Dupre was on watch, and lw 

turned and looked at me. 
"Didst thou sleep well?" he asked. 
I shook my head. "No, I had these dreams. I 

to figure out what they meant. " 
"Tell me about them," he said. 
"Well, " I began slowly, "there were GargQI 

They were chasing me. And I dreamt about Mil!l11V 
mother and the poem she wrote to Quenton." 

"Perhaps the poem hath something to do with 
Quest," said Dupre. 

"And there were baskets," I continued. "Did 
see a basket in the hut?" 
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"Nay, only the girl 's hope chest. " 
"Let's wake the others. I think we need to go back 

to Marney's hut. 
0 0 0 

Marney smiled at us when she opened her door. 
"Thou hast returned, " she said. "Didst thou visit 

Horace?" 
"Yes," I said. "He's a bit crazy." 
"Nay, divinely inspired," she replied. 
"Do you have a basket?" I asked her. 
"I have one in my hope chest. Feel free to look for 

thyself." She motioned to a pretty painted chest in 
one corner. 

Searching through the chest I discovered a large 
basket, and inside the basket was the Rune of 
Spirituality. Marney also had one of the books that 
were scattered all over town. Gideon was responsible 
for this, I'm sure. I picked it up and discovered that the 
Mantra of Spirituality (OM) was written there. 

fn.try 16-The 
eyclops's eave and 
lH'inoc 
ith only one rune left to get, I 
was anxious to be off to 
Mince, the City of Sacrifice. 
But Shamino took me to one 

side and mentioned that there was a Cyclops's cave 
nearby that might provide us with items we 'd need 
later on. 

As usual , Shamino was right. There was a cave 
filled with Cyclopes which had many things we needed 
for our journey. I discovered packs , gold , gems, 
torches , and powder kegs on various levels of the 
Cyclops's cave. By using my ring of invisibility, I was 
able to battle the creatures without their being able to 
do me any harm. I soon discovered that being 
invisible prevented most Britannian creatures from 
being able to land a blow on me. After spending 
much time in the Cyclops 's cave defeating these 
monsters, I discovered I was regaining much of the 
experience I'd lost. 

When we felt we had exhausted the resources of 

the Cyclops's cave, I dropped the moonstone two feet 
to the southeast and stepped through the Moon~te 
into the circle of stones outside of Minoc. 

0 0 0 

Our first stop was the house of the Lord Mayor d 
Minoc. This was an elegant building with large all) 

rooms. In the main chamber of the building, a worrai 

wearing a finely embroidered dress sat as though sll 
were expecting us. She rose and walked toward U> as 
we entered. 

"Greetings," she said. "I am Lady Isabella. Tua: 
art the famous Avatar, of course. I have heard of 11r; 

exploits, but never expected to meet thee in persoo 
'Tis indeed an honor." 

"Thank you, Lady Isabella. Your kind welcome & 
indeed appreciated. " The Britannian style of gr~ 
was coming back to me. "Lady, I am looking for 
Rune of Sacrifice to free the shrine. Lord British 
you might be able to assist me." 

"Aye, we were entrusted with the care of the Rn 
of Sacrifice. I gave it to Selganor, the Artisans' Gj! 

Master. He's a fine musician. He lives just across Iii 
road from here." 

"Thank you for your help, Lady," I said, and kislai 
her hand. If I were not the Avatar on such 
important Quest-oh well. I'd been feeling like this 
lot lately. 

We strolled over to the Artisans' Guild. As we 
closer, the sound of music floated out from the 1111 

We opened the door and the music swelled. A ~erd! 
graceful man was tuning a lute in one corner 
another man played a tune upon a harpsichord oo 
stage in the center of the room. lolo walked t 
the dark-haired woman seated next to the stage 
embraced her. 

"Who's that?" I asked Shamino. 
"'Tis Gwenno, Iolo's wife," he replied. 
"Do you know which one's the Guild Master'" 
"I believe ' tis the man in the corner tuning 

lute." 
I walked over to the man and introduced myself. 
"Hail and welcome. I am Selganor. Perhaps 

wouldst like to join the Guild?" 
"No," I said. "I just need the Rune of Sacrifice 
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"I'd be glad to lend thee the rune, but only Guild 
:nembers may handle it, " he said. "Art thou certain 
:nou hast no interest in joining?" 

Obviously I wasn't going to get the rune without 
l-€ing in the Guild. 

"I'm not really a musician, but how do I join?" 
"First thou needest a set of panpipes. Julia can 

:each thee how to make them. Thou also needest to 
commit 'Stones' to memory. Tis a simple tune; ask 
Gwenno to play it for thee. " 

"Where can I find Julia?" I asked. 
"She lives just across the road , next door to Lady 

Isabella. She made my lute, and most of our other 
lllSlruments as well." 

We thanked him , then spent a few moments 
talking to Gwenno. She and lolo were holding hands 
and staring into each other's eyes. She told us the 
numerical notation for 'Stones,' which I note here: 
678987 8767653. 

With that settled, we went to Julia 's shop to see if 
she could help me make the panpipes. 

Julia was seated behind a large wooden table, 
\\Qrking on a lute. 

"Aye, and wha ' can ye be askin ' of me? " she 
hollered as we entered. 

"Hello, Julia, " I said. "Remember me?" 
She squinted against the sunlight filtering in 

through the doorway behind us, then a look of 
recognition flickered across her face . 

"Well , the rumors are true! Tis well and good that 
ye have returned to our land, Avatar! " 

I hadn't realized I'd been holding my breath until 
that moment. Julia had always been pretty outspoken 
and wasn't shy about making her opinions known. If 
there was any rancor over my return, she'd let me 
know about it. 

"An' wha' can I be doin' for ye?" she continued. 
"Selganor sent me to you for panpipes. " 
She brightened and a rare smile lit her face. 
"Sent ye to me, did he? Aye, I can believe that ... 

Now the panpipes are a tricky instrument. Ye must have 
the freshest wood if ye want to learn how to make the 
pipes. Ye'll need a yew board, but it must be fresh cut. " 

"And how am I supposed to get a fresh-cut yew 
board?" I asked. 

"Go to Yew, where they grow the best wood in 
Britannia. Buy a freshly cut yew log and take it to a 
sawmill . Have them cut it into a board and bring it 
back here. Then I'll show ye how panpipes are 
made! " 

Great, back to Yew. Thank goodness I have the 
moonstone, otherwise this would take forever . 

We thanked Julia for her help , then went to an 
open area to use the moonstone. In moments we 
were back in Yew and walking through the forest to 
Ben the logger's hut. He gladly sold us a fresh-cut yew 
log, which I made Dupre carry since he was the 
strongest among us. 

I used the moonstone again to transport us back to 
Minoc. There was a sawmill on the edge of town near 
the circle of stones-I'd noticed it when we first came 
to town. For a price, Aaron , the man who ran the 
sawmill, cut the log into a board. We took the log back 
to Julia, who whittled it into a fine set of panpipes for us. 

With this portion of our task complete, we returned 
to the Guild and showed Selganor the panpipes. 

"Very nice, " he said. "Tis a fine set of panpipes. 
Now, tell me the sequence of 'Stones' and I'll induct 
thee into the Guild." 

I read off the notation I'd taken from Gwenno, and 
Selganor played the tune on his lute. The he took the 
lute and tapped each of us lightly on the shoulder with 
it, saying, "Thou art now a full member of the 
Artisans' Guild. " 

Then he reached into his belt-pouch and pulled out 
the Rune of Sacrifice. 'Tm sure you'll be needing this 
in your travels. I know you'll find a solution to this 
Gargoyle problem." 

I was about to leave when he held up his hand. 
"Oh, by the way. There's something you might want 
to know." 

"What is it?" I asked. 
"CAH .. . " 
"Cah?" 
"The Mantra of Sacrifice. You'll need to know it. " 
Well, that about did it. There seemed nothing more 

to do with Selganor. We might have stayed for a jam 
session, but we had other tasks ahead. We thanked 
him and walked into the dying daylight. We had all the 
runes-all we needed to do now was free the shrines. 
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l 
t:ntry 11-freeing the 
~brines 
pondered for the rest of the 
evening and into the next day 
about how we should go about 
freeing the shrines. Finally, I hit 
upon a plan . I'd accumulated 

four invisibility rings during my Quest. It was my hope 
that, like other creatures in Britannia, the Gargoyles 
were unable to detect you when you were invisible. 

We put on our invisibility rings and I dropped the 
moonstone in the spot that would take us to the 
Shrine of Compassion. We stepped through the 
Moongate and were transported to the shrine. In an 
instant, we stood next to the altar. On the altar was a 
moonstone surrounded by a glowing violet field . 
Enormous winged Gargoyles stood guard everywhere, 
but they didn't seem aware of our presence. I pulled 
out the Rune of Compassion and chanted the Mantra 
of Compassion. There was a ringing noise and a flash 
of light as the violet force field vanished. 

I snatched the moonstone off the altar and 
dropped my moonstone on the ground where it would 
take us to the Shrine of Valor. Again we stepped 
through the Moongate. At the Shrine of Valor, I 
repeated my actions , using the proper rune and 
mantra, and freed the shrine. This all took a matter of 
minutes. So quick were we that the Gargoyles had no 
time to react. 

From the Shrine of Valor I went to the Shrines of 
Justice, Sacrifice, Honor, Spirituality, Humility, and 
Honesty. At the Shrine of Honesty , I dropped the 
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moonstone onto the ground and transported us all 
back to Lord British 's throne room. 

I'd freed the shrines, but there was a hollo11 
sensation about it. Like I hadn 't completed the Quest 
But I had! I'd freed the shrines-wasn't that why 1 was 
here? 

I stepped up to Lord British. 
"Sire, " I began. "I have freed the shrines of the 

Eight Virtues. " 
"I see thou hast misplaced the key to my castle 

he said, handing me another. 
"No, I threw it away. I didn't need it anymore, 

said, tossing the key over my shoulder. 
"Here's another key," he said. 
"Thank you, my liege," I said, jamming the keii 

into my pocket. All this talk about keys was m~ 
me impatient. I'd just freed the shrines and here 111! 

were nattering on about keys. 
"Look, I've completed the Quest, I've freed an dw 

shrines, and I'm ready for feasting and accolades. am 
then you can send me home." 

"The Gargoyle menace hath not yet been ~ 
down," said Lord British. "Thou must hurry." 

"Aren't you listening? I've freed the shrines. Thi 
was the Quest. Wasn't it? Well I've done it. and ooi 

I'm finished ." 
" Nay, Avatar. The Gargoyles still threa 

Britannia and thou must find a way to stop them.' 
This really burned me up. I'd had a funny f~ 

for a while now that freeing the shrines wasn t 
there was to this situation, and now a more omirlll 
thought occurred to me. Maybe Lord British dd! 
know what was really going on; maybe 1 was 
trying to figure this whole mess out by myself. 

I thanked him for the key, then went back to 
room . I had the eight runes and the eight moonstall 
from the altars . My own moonstone came I 
somewhere else. Maybe the Gargoyles had used 
stone to bring me from Earth. 

"lolo, give me that book," I said. 
He handed the leather-bound book to me. 1 

at the cover. The picture of the Gargoyles stan!q 
over the dead human looked all too familiar. like 
had almost happened to me. I had to discover 11iiy 
Gargoyles wanted me dead. The secret was m 
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book, and without the other portion of the silver tablet 
we would never find out the meaning of the book or 
~tiy I was here. 

"Let's go try to find the gypsies," I said. 

f;ntry 1B-The 
Gypsies 
e spent days looking for the 
gypsies. In each town the story 
was the same: ''They were just 
here; sorry thou hast missed 
them. " 

Outside Trinsic I thought we'd discovered them, but 
I soon found that these were not the gypsies we 
sought. These gypsies were more interested in telling 
our fortunes than in answering questions. Or, more to 
the point, interested in relieving our purses of gold. 

One wench, Wicked Wanda, made me an offer 
that any red-blooded man would have had trouble 
refusing. Luckily, Dupre was with me; otherwise I 
might have been tempted by her charms . The 
expression on his face when she made her 
proposal almost made it worth refusing her. 

"IF we can Find 
so..,eplace 
private, I' 11 
gladly st.ow you 
I.ow I got "'X 
nickna...e . .. 

"Go on, wench," said Dupre, waving the gypsy 
away with his hand and huffing indignantly. "Leave 
this man alone. " 

Wanda sniffed, stuck her nose in the air, and 
turned her back on us. "Come back when thou hast 
permission from thy mother, " she called over her 
shoulder. 

"Wait," I said. "Come back." 
She turned , and a very naughty smile spread 

across her lips. "Changed thy mind, eh?" 
"No," I said. Her smile faded . "We're looking for a 

silver tablet. Do you know anything about it?" 
"Andreas has a silver tablet, but I have something 

much sweeter. " She leaned toward me and I caught a 
whiff of the hot, spicy fragrance of her skin. 

"No, thank you, " I said, backing away. I bumped 
into lolo, who grabbed my elbow. 

"Steady, friend," he laughed. "'Tis but a common 
wench. " 

"Yeah, but it's been a long Quest. " 
Andreas was the younger of the two male gypsies. 

He had curly black hair and brown eyes. 
"I see thou hast met Wanda, " he said. "Is she not 

to thy taste, or dost thou prefer something ... else?" 
He looked me over boldly. 

"Uh, no. No. Nope. Unh unh. Just too darned 
busy with this business for Lord British ," I said , 
dropping my voice as deep as I could. Unfortunately, I 
just ended up sounding like Walter Brennan with a 
head cold. "Do you know anything about a silver 
tablet?" 

"I overheard a bard in a tavern say that it was 
somewhere on the Isle of the Avatar. Perhaps Arturos, 
my father, could tell thee more." He pointed across 
the campfire to a short man with curly hair streaked 
with gray, wearing a strange cap. 

Arturos looked up from his cards as we 
approached. 

"Hey, paisan! " he exclaimed. "Iffa you were 
looking t'getta you fortune told, you came to the right 
place." 

He reminded me of someone, but who? 
"No fortune telling, thank you. We're looking for a 

silver tablet." 
"The silver tablet? I donna know anything about it. 

But hey, maybe there's something in the cards about it. " 
The oldest trick in the book, and I was about to 

pay through the nose for it. 
"Okay," I sighed. "How much?" 
We bickered back and forth-eventually I paid 

what he asked and he told me my "fortune." Ha! 
What he did was bilk me out of lots of gold. 
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"Look, " I said finally , leaning across the space 
between us. "What about the tablet?" 

"The cards didn't say nothin ' about the tablet. 
Guessa that means you're not gonna find it. That'sa 
61e, you know?" 

"This scoundrel knows nothing and is trying to 
cheat thee," interjected Shamino. 

"Hey! Whatsamatta with you? " cried Arturos , 
~ping to his feet. The cards scattered as they fell . 

"Never mind, Shamino," I said, putting up my 
hand in a warning gesture . "He doesn ' t know 
anything about the tablet. Thanks for the reading. " 

"Attsa all right," replied Arturos. 
"Whither now?" asked lolo as we left the gypsy 

camp. 
"I'm not sure. Maybe if we stay here a while, they'll 

catch up to us-rather than the other way around." 
We took lodgings in Trinsic for a fortnight, and at 

the end of that time, the gypsies we were looking for 
appeared. 

0 0 0 

There were five of them: a pretty young girl who 
danced like an angel ; a shaggy dog who said the most 
amazing things if you asked him to speak; Taynith , a 
mysterious woman who told fortunes (real fortunes) ; a 
young juggler; and Zoltan, the king of the gypsies. 

Though the other members of this group had 
much to tell me, particularly Taynith, it was Zoltan 
who knew about the silver tablet. 

"Hello ," I said, extending my hand. "I've been 
looking for you." 

"Huzzah! " he cried. "I am Zoltan, king of the 
gypsies. Why do you seek me?" 

"I am looking for the silver tablet you brought to 
Mariah at the Lycaeum. I understand that you know 
about the other half. " 

"I'll be glad to help you out. But 'tis a hard life, 
sometimes, being a gypsy. Would you be willing to 
pay ten gold pieces for the information?" 

1 pursed my lips. This constant demand for money 
was wearing. "Yes," I said, and handed him ten gold 
pieces. 

"Some gorgio called Captain John brought us the 
silver tablet and paid us to take it to the Lycaeum," 

said Zoltan. "While we were on the way there, we 
were ambushed by Captain Hawkins and his crew. 
The tablet was broken in two during the scuffle. The 
pirates got away with the bigger half. Hawkins took 
my finest earring as well-I spit on his mother's grave! 
Most likely they went to the Buccaneer's Den with 
their loot. We took the comer of the tablet that they 
missed to the Lycaeum and sold it to Mariah." 

I groaned-not Buccaneer's Den! Nobody there 
would give you a straight answer about anything. It 
was a hideout for pirates, thieves , and assorted 
shadowy types. I hated trying to get information from 
them. 

Dupre slapped me on the back. "'Tis not so bad," 
he said. "We can purchase a boat in Britain, then 
transport back here to set sail. " 

"And how are we supposed to get it here?" I 
asked. 

"I shall carry it ," Dupre replied. 
"Very well," I said, rummaging through my bag for 

the moonstone. I dropped it on the ground and we 
stepped through the gate. 

w e 'd planned to set sail from 
Trinsic and head due east to 
Buccaneer 's Den . Luckily , I 
checked the map and saw that 
we should make our way from 

Paws instead. Dupre put the dinghy we'd bought in 
Britain into an enormous sack and slung it over his back. 

Paws was one of my favorite towns in Britannia. I 
wished we could stay and look around, but time was of 
the essence. A small pier jutted out from the coast at 
the edge of town. Dupre dropped the skiff into the 
water and we all piled in, elbows and knees poking 
over the side or into someone else's ribs. 

Within a few hours, we landed at Buccaneer's Den. 
0 0 0 

I pushed open the door of the tavern on the north 
side of the road leading into town. It was just after 
sundown and the place was packed. We pushed our 
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way to a table and managed to secure seats. I told the 
others to wait for me while I tried to find out about the 
silver tablet. 

Many of the pub's patrons were former pirates, but 
it took me a while to track down anyone who knew 
about Hawkins-or would admit to knowing him. At 
last I sat down across from a shifty-eyed man who had 
a cane propped up on the table next to him. 

"Buy you an ale?" I asked. 
"What d'ye want?" he snarled. 
"Well, I'm looking for a silver tablet. " 
His eyes narrowed and he looked me over. "Who 

sent ye?" he asked suspiciously. 
"Zoltan the gypsy said that Captain Hawkins and 

his pirate crew made off with the tablet. " 
"Hawkins," he spat, "that heartless bastard! He 

was killed by his men. Of course, I had nothing to do 
with it." 

"Who said you did?" 
"Nobody. What did ye say ye wanted again?" 
"The silver tablet. " 
"Ye're not a member of the Guild . I don't have to 

tell you anything. " 
"What Guild?" I demanded, getting frustrated. 

Buccaneer's Den was always like this-lots of strange 
conversations. 

"Go ask Budo. And ye didn't hear that from me." 
With that, he rose from the table and grabbed his 
cane. Using the cane for support, he limped out of the 
pub. 

I went back to the table where Iolo, Shamino, and 
Dupre sat. Two women had joined them. 

"Hello," I said as I sat down. "Who are your new 
friends?" 

lolo pointed to the woman on his right, who was 
smartly dressed . "This is Leonna, captain of the 
Golden Hind. Her ship is in for repairs." He gestured 
to the woman who sat across from him. She looked 
slightly seawom and wasn't as nattily dressed as her 
companion. "This is Leodon, a mate on the Golden 
Hind. They are looking for something to do while the 
Hind is being repaired." 

I looked the women over. They appeared to be 
well-seasoned, and both had a competent air about 
them. We were in need of some help with the Quest. 

"Would you like to join us?" I asked. 
They glanced at each other, then looked back d' 

me. 
"Aye, I'd be honored to join thee," said Leonna. 
"I think it would prove interesting," said Leodon 
"Good, that's settled," I said. "Does either of IQ.. 

know anything about a man called Budo?" 
They shook their heads. 
"Stay here while I look for him ," I said, rising from 

the table. 
I left the pub and spent the next hour sear~ 

through the town. Budo was nowhere to be foUJ'j! 
Wearily, I made my way back to the pub-called 
Fallen Virgin Tavern-and joined my companiors 
They were pretty much in their cups and had n 
interest in talking about the silver tablet. 

I was hungry and decided to try to get some fool 
from the cook The kitchen was small and hot. anl 
the cook didn't feel much like talking. On the north 
wall of the kitchen, I noticed a secret door. I had 
move the cook out of the way to get to it, but ~ 
wasn't a problem. Slipping through the door 
found myself outside a small cottage. I pushed ope­
the door and saw a chubby man seated at a 
wooden desk. 

"Hello," he said jovially as I entered. "Do you nee:! 
supplies?" 

"Are you Budo ?" I asked, ignoring his question 
"Aye, Budo is my name. Though some call me 

Den,' but I don't think that's my name." 

278 



liLl'lMK Vl: 'l'he fnl:ae PNphet 

Strange. I wondered what guild would hold this 
:1.1bbly merchant and someone as shifty as Homer. 

"I'm interested in the Guild," I said. 
A startling change came over his features . 

Suddenly, the good-natured bumbler who sat before 
me was transformed into a shrewd, sharp, dangerous­
boking man. 

"Who sent ye?" he asked. He leaned forward and 
stared into my eyes. 

"Homer," I replied. 
"Uh-huh . Well .. . were ye hoping to join?" 
Then it hit me-what an idiot I was-this was the 

Thieves' Guild I was about to join. The Avatar a member 
of the Thieves ' Guild . Good grief! But there was no 
other way to get Homer to talk about the silver tablet. 

"Yes," I said. ''I'd like to join." 
Budo nodded and leaned back in his chair. "All 

nght, maybe ye've got what it takes. We'll see. To be 
a member of the Thieves' Guild, ye have to get your 
cmn belt. 

"Now we have a limited membership, so there's 
only so many belts in the world . If ye want one of 
them, ye have to ' retire ' a member of the Guild. 
Luckily for ye , it just so happens that there 's a 
member we'd like to see 'retired' soon. Her hideout is 
deep below Britain, in the sewers. Ye'd best watch out 
for the rats down there! " He paused and looked me 
over again , as if to be sure I was worthy of 
membership. 

"One last thing. It would be an embarrassment for 
the Guild to have bodies turning up inconveniently. So 
don't get too violent, unless ye have to. I'll talk to ye 
when ye get back. " 

"What kind of supplies do you sell?" I asked , 
curious about his cover. 

"Gems , lockpicks, torches , backpacks , bags, 
shovels, and powder kegs." 

I bought a few items I needed from him, then 
left . I finagled a leg of turkey from the cook on my 
way back to the tavern. The others were nodding off 
at the table and I suggested we spend the night in 
the attached inn-the King's Ransom. That's about 
what it cost too. The next morning, I dropped the 
moonstone to my north and we stepped into Lord 
British's throne room. 

f:ntrv 20-
The Pirzate Mzap 
eodon and Leonna gawked at 
the throne room . They 
curtsied awkwardly to Lord 
British and he bowed somberly 
to them . When their backs 

were turned he winked at me. 
"Hast thou made any progress in ridding the land 

of these dreaded Gargoyles?" he asked me. 
"No, not yet," I said. 'Tm working on it. " 
"Thou must hurry. Time is of the essence. " 
I nodded and replied, "I am close to discovering 

the location of the silver tablet Mariah needs to 
translate the Gargoyle book." 

"Very good," he said. 
We went to the ladder leading down into the 

sewers in the southwest tower of the castle . I'd 
discovered this entrance when I came back to 
Britannia this last time. 

"Whew, what a foul odor," said Shamino, waving 
his hand in front of his face. 

"Well, it's a sewer," I snapped. I wasn't looking 
forward to this trip into the Britannian underworld. 
We climbed down the ladder and I asked Shamino to 
light a torch . The slimy walls leapt into view . 
Greenish-brown moss hugged the slick rock. A pack 
of huge rats ran past and Leonna gasped. My 
sentiments exactly. 

We wandered around the tunnels on this level, 
looking for any sign of human life, but we only 
found rats. Some of the hungrier and bolder 
rodents attacked us, but we dispatched them with 
ease. 

We found a ladder leading down to the next level 
and made use of it. There was no sign of human 
inhabitants on this second level either, so we made 
our way to the third level. It was here that we 
discovered the thief. 

This level housed a large underground lake. A 
passageway led to the north from the large cavern 
into another, smaller cave, where the thief had built 
her house. As we passed through the tunnel leading to 
this cave, we discovered the trap that the thief had set 
for unwary explorers . An invisibility spell cloaked a 
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bear trap, which inflicted horrendous damage on our 
party before we realized it. 

In my anger, I donned my ring of invisibility and 
moved the bear trap into the thief's hut. Then I gave 
the others the extra rings of invisibility I'd discovered 
in my travels and instructed them to surround the thief 
as I placed her on the bear trap. She was unable to 
escape and was soon destroyed by her own trap. We 
recovered the Thieves' Guild belt from her, as well as 
many other fantastic items. 

I was not proud of this deed, but I experienced 
none of the usual pain or dishonor I had grown 
accustomed to feeling when I did something against 
my Avatar principles. I'd let my anger and my pride 
get the better of me and it didn 't seem to bother me. 
What's wrong with me? I wondered . There was 
something fundamentally wrong with the world, but I 
couldn't put my finger on what it was. This sense of 
nagging dismay had stayed with me, and was growing 
with each passing day. 

I shoved it aside for the moment. Then I pulled the 
moonstone from my pocket and dropped it to the 
ground. 

0 0 0 

Back at Buccaneer's Den, I went to the secret door 
in the kitchen of the Fallen Virgin and entered 
Budo's hut. He looked up with his jovial idiot face, 
but when he saw it was me , he dropped the 
charade. 

"Ye have the belt?" he asked. 
I pulled the belt from my bag. It was stained with 

blood. 
"Things got a little nasty, did they?" he said. "Oh, 

well , it happens. Congratulations and welcome to the 
Guild. I can offer ye the standard member's discount 
on all supplies from now on. Just remember, whatever 
ye do, don't tell anyone about our Guild." 

I thanked him and left. In the Fallen Virgin, I found 
Homer seated at his usual table. As I sat down across 
from him, I slapped the belt down on the table . A 
gleam came into his eye. 

"Welcome, brother thief," he whispered, then 
shoved the belt back at me. I picked it up and returned 
it to my satchel. 

"Enough of the game, Homer," I said. "Tell me 
about the silver tablet. " 

"It's part of Captain Hawkins' treasure that was 
buried in a small cave." 

"Where's the cave?" I asked impatiently. 
"After Captain Hawkins passed away, we tore his 

treasure map into nine pieces. The plan was, when 
nobody was looking for us anymore, we'd get togethe! 
and dig it up. Splitting up the map was my idea," he 
said, grinning at his own cleverness. 

"I figure after all these years the others must haw 
given up, so it's all right for me to search for the !:ream 
by myself. " He leaned forward , resting his elbows on~ 
table, and I caught a whiff of his fetid breath. 

"01' Hawknose set out for the Dry Land, to kill the 
daemon that is said to live there . Sandy, the ship 
cook, went to T rinsic with the first mate. Old Ybarra 
said he was headed for the dungeon Shame, looking 
for more treasure. I think one of the men died in a 
shipwreck. 

"Trouble is," he continued, "I've got a bit of g<U 
in one leg and I can't travel much any more. Ma~ 
we can help each other out. I know where my piece 
the map is hidden, and if ye bring me the other eight 
pieces, perhaps we can make a deal. I'll tell ye all I kro.i 
about where the other pieces might be." He leaned 
back in his chair and started rubbing his injured leg. 

"All right, " I said. "Tell me what you know.' Hi 
grinned and sat forward , resting his elbows on the ta1* 

"Then there was one more. Can't remember lui 
name, but I've heard tell he settled in Jhelom. He'll 
easy to recognize-he had a hook in place o' oned 
his hands. 

"That's all I know. Perhaps in your travels ye cal 

find out where the others have gone. Remember,~ 
I know where the ninth piece is, so come back hen 
when ye've got the other eight. " 

He rose and grabbed his cane, then hobbled ootd 
the tavern. I sagged in my chair. In a few minutes, 
companions joined me. 

"What hast thou discovered?" asked lolo. 
"That the tablet was buried with Hawkins' !ream 

and the map was ripped into nine pieces1ight 
which have been scattered to the four corners 
Britannia." 
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Just then, Shamino slapped a mug of ale on the 
:able in front of me . I took a long pull on it and 
mtinued. "Seems two of the pirates went to Trinsic-
5andy, the cook, and the first mate . One went to 
:ielom-he's missing a hand and has a hook instead. " 

"We were accosted by a one-handed man outside 
:he pub in Jhelom. Dost thou not recall?" asked Dupre 
excitedly. 

I thought for a moment. Then I remembered . 
There was indeed a one-handed beggar who asked for 
:oins outside the Sword & Keg. 

"You're right! " I exclaimed. "Let's get to Jhelom, 
1\en on to T rinsic." 

1 pulled the moonstone from my bag and dropped 
on the ground. 

Entry 21- ]helom 
e found the one-handed man 
outside the Sword & Keg in 
Jhelom. I gave him a few coins 
and asked him about the map. 

'That bit o ' news will cost 
ye twenty coins. What say 

lhee, matey? Aye or nay?" 
lolo stood behind Heftimus and shook his head, 

11.Jt we had a fair amount of gold from our trip into the 
Cyclops' Cave and we needed the information. 

"Here," I said, handing over the amount he asked. 
He dropped the coins into his small purse and said, 

·Thank you kindly, matey. The last I saw o' that bit o ' 
JA'lrchment . .. I needed it to start a fire in a dungeon. 
But afore I could apply sparks to the tinder, a huge 
swarm o' rats drove me away. The scrap o ' paper lies 
in the dungeon Wrong, matey." 

1 closed my eyes. The dungeons. I was doomed to 
spend my life under Britannia. 

When I opened my eyes, the beggar was gone. 
"Let's go to Trinsic," I said. 

0 0 0 

1 figured if Sandy had been the cook for Captain 
Hawkins , he might still be plying that trade . The 
logical place to look for him would be at the local 
tavern-the Fool's Pair o' Dice. 

Sure enough, he was there , just shoving a large 
meat pie into the oven when we arrived. 

"Hello," I said. "Are you Sandy?" 
"Aye," he replied . "I am Sandstone Angus. But 

most folks call me Sandy. I cook for Lord Whitsaber. 
He especially likes my fish in white wine sauce. It's my 
specialty." 

"That's fascinating , but you wouldn ' t know 
anything about a pirate map, would you?" 

His face went pale and he turned away, muttering, 
"Hmmm, I better get back to my cooking. Now to 
make Magincian pastry ... " 

"Wait ," I said , grabbing his arm. "What about 
Magincian pastry?" 

Sandy smiled. At least he was still talking to me. 
"Truly, it shall be a magnificent dessert! I could do 
thee a favor if thou didst one for me first. " 

Now we were getting somewhere. 
"Okay, name it," I said. 
"Let's see ... A golden orb on a crystal sea, in 

box sans hinges, lid, or key. I'll give thee one guess to 
this riddle." 

I smiled. Usually I hated riddles, but this one was 
easy. "An egg," I said. 

"Very good. To make Magincian pastry, I require 
one dragon egg." 

"A dragon egg?" 
"Only a dragon's egg will do. There's a lair in the 

dungeon Destard, to the northwest. It's not far. " 
"What about the first mate?" I asked, but Sandy 

wouldn't answer any more of my questions. 
I turned to my companions. "Looks like we 're 

going to visit some dungeons." 

Entry 22-'fhe 

< ,~· Dungeon~ here were three dungeons we 
knew we needed to enter in 
order to get some of the 
pieces of the pirate map : 
Shame, Wrong, and Destard. 

I didn't want to face the dragons in Destard right 
away, so I suggested we try Shame first. Iola agreed, 
pointing out that Shame had once been a gold mine 
and we might be able to pick up some extra gold for 
arms and armor while we were down there . 
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The entrance to Shame was in the mountains west 
of Britain, near the Cyclops' Cave. I was glad of the 
swamp boots I'd thought to buy; there were many 
swampy areas in this dungeon. 

Iolo was right about Shame-there were lots of 
gold nuggets scattered about the floors of the tunnels. 
We encountered rats, bats, and alligators, but nothing 
we couldn't dispatch quickly. 

Level after level we descended , until at last we 
reached the fourth floor of this dungeon. Down here 
we discovered fountains that would grant you food if 
you wished for it. We also found the pirate Ybarra. 

He 'd made camp in a small cavern. From his 
emaciated appearance and sunken , wild eyes, I 
surmised that he'd spent a long time lost in these 
tunnels. 

"Food! " he cried . "Have you any food for a 
starving man?" 

I gave him our food, but his hunger was insatiable. 
"Do you have the map?" I asked. 
"Map?" he asked around a mouthful food. "Ah 

yes. It should be worth some food , shouldn't it?" 
I looked at the remains of all our food that Ybarra 

was finishing . Though I had an Jn Mani Ylem spell, I 
went to one of the fountains and wished for food . 
Then I returned and gave it to Ybarra, who gave me 
the piece of the map. 

"Come with us " I said. 
"Hast thou any more food?" he asked. 
"No, we have no more food," I said, "but we can 

take you out of here." 
"Then thou shalt die too," he wailed. 
"Canst thou not see his wits have left him? " 

whispered Shamino. "There is nothing we can do for 
him, poor wretch." 

I nodded. As much as I hated to admit it , Ybarra 
was too crazed to bring along with us. I dropped the 
moonstone on the ground to take us to Yew; from 
there we would make our way northeast to the 
dungeon Wrong. 

0 0 0 

"This is the dungeon Covetous/Wrong ," said 
Shamino as we entered the dank cave that led into the 
tunnels below. 

"I thought they were separate," I said. 
"Not any more ," interjected Iolo . "Since the 

Gargoyles started appearing, many things ha11 
changed in the Underworld." 

I pondered this while we made our way down. Th: 
dungeon was less like a tunnel and more like a maZ£ 

The walls were made of brick and were in berte· 
repair than either the sewers or Shame. 

On the second floor I discovered that I needed • 
Ort Por Ylem spell to open the portcullis that blockec 
the doorway leading to the ladder to the third level. 

Oddly enough , we discovered no monster· 
roaming loose; they were all locked up in the vaJ1C!.6 

rooms of the dungeon. I also found that shutting 
door behind us prevented them from escaping ' 
attack our rear. 

On the third level we found the map piece. It ~ 
behind a secret door, which was protected by a h)llra 
I thanked my lucky stars that I'd spent time at r 
Shrine of Spirituality after we liberated it in order 
increase my ability to use the various Circles of 111agt 

Using the staff I'd bought from Nicodemus, I defeated 
monster with an Jn Corp spell I'd placed on the staff 

We entered the small hidden room and recovere:'. 
the map piece and various other treasures we r 
there. Then it was time to brave the dungeon Destare 

0 0 0 

Before we went into Destard, I wanted to efl$!! 

the safety of my companions. With this in mioo. 
went to the Mint in Britain and exchanged all our 
nuggets for gold coins. From there, we went to 
Paladin's Protectorate in Trinsic to buy magic anra 
To my dismay, we didn 't have enough gold to 
armor for the entire party. Depressed and d 
I went and sat on the edge of the dock next door 
the armory. 

"I don't know what to do," I said to the others 
we try to face the rigors of Destard without be 
protection, we'll die. " 

This worried the others as much as it worried 
We all sat along the edge of the dock, chins in 
elbows on knees. After a long silence, Dupre spolii 

"What about the Wisps?" he asked. 
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I looked at him. He was staring off at the horizon, 
his eyes focused on some point in the distance. 

"The Wisps?" I asked. "What do you mean?" 
"Did they not say that they would reward us with 

rubstance if we provided information?" he asked. 
"Yes, but what's your point?" 
"Why don't we ask for gold for information?" he 

;aid. 
"And what information would we have that they 

might want?" interjected lolo. 
"Books, " said Dupre. 
"Books?" I asked. Then I realized what he was 

saying. "The library at the Lycaeum! There must be a 
book down there that they might want. " 

"Aye, but which one?" 
"Wait a minute, " I said. "Xiao knew about the 

Wisps. I'll bet she knows what information they might 
be interested in, too ." 

0 0 0 

My suspicion was correct. Xiao did know about the 
Wisps. But she couldn't tell us more than she had 
already. However, she sent us to Thariand, the 
librarian at the Lycaeum, for more information. He 
recommended a number of volumes, and I chose one 
that sounded likely. After I made my selection, he sent 
us into the library under the Lycaeum. The Maze, it 
should have been called instead. 

There was much convoluted going up and down 
~dders to reach the book we wanted. Eventually we 
discovered The Lost Book of Mantras , which we 
hoped to trade to the Wisps for gold . During our 
search, we also came across my favorite book from 
childhood, The Wizard of Oz. I don 't know what 
prompted me to take it , but I slipped it into my 
satchel. 

We left the library and went to Spiritwood to see 
the Wisps. 

0 0 0 

The blue light pulsed, then turned white. 
"Do 'you ' have a previous memory of a 

conversation with 'me'?' " asked the Wisp. 
"Yes, " I replied. "And I think I have some 

information you're interested in. " 

I pulled The Lost Book of Mantras from my sack. 
The Wisp glowed brighter. 

"The volume 'you' bear is a prime source of high­
density information. Do 'you' wish 'me' to locate a client 
who is willing to make an exchange for it at this time?" 

"Yes," I replied. "And I'm interested in substance 
rather than information." 

The Wisp glowed brighter again . 
"Very well. Rklbwm have expressed a desire for 

this information and have agreed to the terms asked. 
Though you have sent only a few life forms and 
cannot carry much. " 

As the Wisp said this , all of our packs grew 
heavier. I looked inside my bag and found that I now 
possessed more gold nuggets than I'd ever seen 
before. The others confirmed that they were likewise 
burdened. 

We made camp in Spiritwood and watched the 
dancing lights of the Wisps until we fell asleep. 

0 0 0 

With our money problems taken care of , we 
exchanged our nuggets for Britannian gold coins. We 
didn't need all that gold now, so I placed some of it in 
bags and secured these in the chests in my room. 

We went back to Trinsic and outfitted the party 
with magic armor, then headed out to Destard. 

The Wisps will only exchange information 
fof' gold once. Before you visit them, 
unburden your party in your room in Lord 
British's catle-making sure to put away 
your weapons and armor in a chest so they 
won't get picked up. 

Though the Avatar RSked only 
Leonna and Leodon to join him, there are 
two in Serpent's Hold who will prove to be 
most 'Dtduable-Segallion and Sentri. They 
are hale and hearty fellows who are also 
very strong. 

-Editor's Note 
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s 
:Entry 23-Destard 
wooping down out of the sky, 
the dragon attacked as we 
walked to the entrance of 
Destard. One minute it wasn't 
there , the next minute the air 
was full of claws and teeth. 

·Get back! " I yelled to the others as I pulled out my 
staff. I'd enchanted it with an Jn Corp spell; I hoped 
against hope that it would work. The staff glowed with 
a violet light. The dragon let out an anguished wail, 
then dissipated into a million pieces. 

·1 think we should use our invisibility potions now," 
I said. Iolo, Shamino, Dupre, Leonna, and Leodon 
nodded eagerly. Shamino pulled several black potions 
irom the bag on his belt, and we quaffed down our 
potions eagerly . In seconds we had all become 
mvisible. 

"Keep close," I whispered. "The going will be 
treacherous." 

Drakes flew about the open caverns in this 
dungeon. Pools of lava covered the floor. The heat 
111as stifling. 

The invisibility potions wore off Leodon and 
Leonna, and I had to cast Sanct Lor in order to keep 
them from being attacked by the drakes. The constant 
stress of exploring the cavern and trying to keep my 
companions invisible took its toll on me. By the time 
we reached the third level of the dungeon, I had to 
rest and regain my magical strength. We hid at the 
end of a long tunnel near a ladder leading to the 
fourth level. 

When I felt like I could go on, we climbed down 
the ladder. We found ourselves in a huge open 
cavern. Dragons flew about the space like enormous 
predatory bats. I prayed their magical abilities would 
not extend to detecting us. 

At the northern end of the great cavern was a 
smaller chamber. The dragons were drawn to this 
room, and I wondered if the eggs we sought were 
being tended there. Summoning all our courage, we 
sprinted for the slender opening. 

Inside , the floor was covered with the leathery 
eggs. Some had already burst open and the clear, 
viscous fluid that had once encased the embryos 

puddled on the floor. Most of the eggs were 
motionless, but a couple pulsed with their horrible 
contents. 

The remnants of the hapless adventurers who had 
had the misfortune to stumble into this den were 
scattered over the ground. Dupre and Leodon each 
grabbed an egg and the rest of us gathered as much of 
the dragons' booty as we could carry. 

The dragons must have sensed that we were in 
their lair , because their actions became more and 
more frenzied . They began attacking each other and 
flying wildly about the cavern. 

Not willing to risk any more time down here than 
we absolutely had to, I fumbled for the moonstone and 
dropped it on the ground to paces south. The gate 
rose, and for once I was anxious for its crimson light. 

:Entry 24-s The Mi""ing mate 
andy was whipping cream in a 
big copper bowl when we 
arrived. 

'That big , carefully wrapped 
bundle could only be a dragon's 

egg," he exclaimed. "Now I can make Humble Piel " 
He gave me a sticky hug. "So, the subject of pirates 
interests thee?" 

He wiped his hands on his greasy apron , then 
picked up a wooden spoon and tapped it thoughtfully 
against his temple. 

"Well , first there is one in Serpent 's Hold. I 
cannot recall her name, but she has a piece of the 
map with her. There is one on Dagger Isle . A third I 
know of is at Empath Abbey. Nathaniel Moorehead 
is his name. 

"The fourth . . . but then , maybe I've said too 
much already." 

This was too much. We'd risked life and limb to 
get that damn egg so he could make Magincian 
pastry (which I had learned was also called Humble 
Pie) , and now he was darning up on us. It was too 
much. 

"Tell us about the fourth pirate ," I ground out 
between my teeth. Pulling myself up to my full height 
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and dropping my hand to my sword, I glared across 
the butcher's block at the skinny cook. 

He blinked in surprise, then said , "Before Lord 
Whitsaber came to Trinsic to be our mayor, he had 
another job-as first mate to Captain Hawkins 
himself. His real name is Alaster Gordon. " 

"Thanks," I snapped , turning on my heel and 
stalking out of the kitchen . I was fit to be tied. I strode 
across the town square and kicked open the door to 
the Lord Mayor's house. 

He didn ' t look like a pirate-more like a fat 
bourgeois . 

"Welcome, Avatar!" he exclaimed all unction and 
smarm. 

"Okay, where's the map?" I demanded abruptly. 
"What dost thou insinuate?" he asked , leaping to 

his feet. 
"I know who you are-Alaster Gordon. " 
He collapsed into his chair, face pale and mouth 

working furiously. 
"Wh-what did Sandy tell thee?" he finally asked. 
"That you were once first mate to the infamous 

Captain Hawkins." 
He slid from the chair and dropped to his knees in 

front of me. "Please, Avatar , have pity. I have 
changed since those days, truly I have! " 

'Then prove it and hand over the map! " 
With shaking fingers he pulled the piece of 

parchment from his vest pocket. ''I'll give it to thee if 
thou wilt promise to keep my secret. " 

I plucked the parchment from his fingers and said, 
"Very well, but you'd better be on your honor. " 

Relief swept across his face. "Of course, Avatar. 
Whatever thou sayest. . . " 

I know he said something else, but I didn't catch 
what it was. I'd already turned and walked out of his 
house. 

"What ails thee?" asked Iolo. 
"Something is wrong , but I'm not sure what ," 

said over my shoulder. "I guess I'm tired. " 
"Aye, " he replied. "I sense something is amiss, 

too. Where do we go from here?" 
"To get the map piece from the woman in 

Serpent's Hold." 

:Entry 25-The 
Ghost ~hiE mid 
~erpenfs Ijold 
or once, luck was running our 
way. On the way to Serpent 
Hold , we discovered the 
shipwrecked Empire on the 

Cape Islands. Sandy had mentioned that one of the 
pirates who held a piece of the map had died m a 
shipwreck. Fortune had smiled upon us, for this w 
his ship. 

The ghosts of the pirates still roamed the decks. 
and animated skeletons attacked us as we put ashore 
We dispatched them with ease. In searching the 
ruined hull of the ship, we discovered another piece 
the pirate's map. 

0 0 0 

It was dark when we arrived at Serpent's Holl 
The local tavern was full of fighters who were ~ 
about their battles. We grabbed a table and ordered 
dinner and ale. 

I spoke with many of the patrons, but none krw 
about the map. They were almost all members of 
Order of the Silver Serpent, or trying to beco 
members. 

A heavy-set, tough-looking woman pushed open 
the door to the pub. She glared around the room A 
few of the soldiers yelled to her, and she answ 
them with a universal gesture of contempt. 
walked over to the bar and ordered an ale. 

"!'II be back," I said , as I rose to speak with her 
"I don't envy thee thy task," said Shamino I 

at the woman and shuddering. 
"Aye," echoed Dupre. I glanced over at lolo. 

he smiled sympathetically. 
I squared my shoulders. How hard can it be 

thought. 
"Greetings, madam," I said. 
She started insolently at me. This was one t 

customer. 
'Tm looking for something. Maybe you can 

me with it. " 
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"I doubt that, ' she said shortly, turning back to her 
ale 

"I'm looking for a piece of a map," I continued. 
She glanced furtively about the pub. "Well, now, I 

might have seen the likes of that in me travels." She 
looked over at the table where the others sat, and 
pointed at the shield resting next to Dupre. "Isn't that 
a shield of the Order of the Serpent?" 

I nodded. "We found it in the dungeon Destard. 
IVh ?" y. 

"Usually ye have to be a member of the Order of 
the Silver Serpent to get one. It's a tricky process to 
make one; only Gherick can do it. Ye must bring him 
a curved heater and gems, and only then will he make 
one for ye. Tell ye what, matey. Give me the shield 
and I'll tell ye about the map. n 

I retrieved the shield from Dupre (who wasn't too 
happy about parting with it) and gave it to the woman. 
She pulled a small box from a fold of her coat. Inside 
was the piece of the map. 

"I was going to give this magic shield to Caradon, 
but methinks I'll keep it for meself instead! " She 
tucked the shield under her arm and left the pub. 

I returned to the table. 
"In the morning we'll continue our search for the 

remaining three map pieces," I said. "I think we need 
to pay a visit to Nathaniel Moorehead at Empath 
Abbey." 

:Entry 26-

NI :Empath ffbbey 

l ot much time to spare today. 
~ At Empath Abbey we 

_I ~- learned that Nathaniel 
Moorehead had passed away . 
His widow told us about a piece 

of a chart that Nathaniel had left her that would make 
her rich. It had to be his part of the map. She says 
gypsies came by and stole it, along with a locket he'd 
given her. I suspect these are the ones who camp 
outside Trinsic. We'll go there now and find out. 

:Entry 27-smne date 
fter haggling with Arturos, I 
managed to buy the map piece 
from him. 

Our next stop is Dagger Isle. 

:Entry 2B-smne date 
o@ I[' he Sh<ine of Hone•ly WM on 

Dagger Isle, and I dropped the 
moonstone on the ground to 
take us there. 

I was shocked to discover 
that there were still Gargoyles 

near the shrine. They managed to inflict some light 
damage on us before we could respond to their attack. 
We killed them all , and I felt a stab of sadness. Why 
were they still here? What compelled them to 
attack us? To attack me? 

I didn 't ponder this. I just knew we had to find the 
rest of the map and get the silver tablet. Maybe when 
Mariah translated the book we would find out the 
meaning of all this . 

The pirate's hut was nestled against the mountains 
on the eastern shore of the island. He was outside 
tending to his garden when we approached. Catching 
sight of us, he turned and started running to his house. 
We heard him screaming, 'I knew ye'd come to steal 
me shoes someday! But I was too smart for ye! Ye 
see, I HAVE NO SHOES! " His hysterical laughter 
chilled me to the bone. 

I tried to talk to him, but it was to no avail. He was 
mad and made little sense. I did manage to figure out 
that the map was hidden in his hut. We left him 
outside, dancing between the rows of com and yelling 
about his shoes. 

I entered the small hut and looked around. The 
place was surprisingly neat and tidy , not what I'd 
expected from such a confused mind . I looked 
everywhere I could think of in the hut, but couldn't 
find the map. Iolo sat at the harpsichord and began to 
play 'Stones. ' 

"Do we have time for that?" I asked impatiently. 

287 



Iolo shrugged. "I wonder that a pirate has so fine 
an instrument. He doesn 't have the hands of a 
musician." 

"You're right about that," I said. "Wait a minute, 
help me move it. " 

Joto and I shoved the harpsichord to the south and 
discovered a trap door underneath. 

We climbed the ladder down into the tiny 
basement and found the seventh piece of the map. 

"Whither to now?" asked Shamino. 
"The Dry Land," I said. 

T 
:Entry 29-The Dry 
Lund 
he Shrine of Sacrifice sat at the 
northern edge of the Dry Land. 
We stood at the edge of the 
desert and peered out across its 
expanse. 

"How are we going to find this pirate?" asked 
Leodon. 

"Well, he came looking for a Gargoyle who lives 
here in the desert. I suppose if we find the Gargoyle, 
we'll find him. " 

"But how will we know if it's the right Gargoyle? I 
mean, they all look alike," said Leonna. 

The others nodded in agreement. But I disagreed. I 
saw each Gargoyle, even those we'd met in battle, as 
unique. Still, I kept my thoughts to myself. 

We started out into the desert. 

0 0 0 

After wandering around the desert for several 
hours , we came to the southern border of the 
wasteland. A small cottage sat here. Outside, carrying 
on the mundane task of sweeping his step, was the 
Gargoyle. The others instinctively dropped their hands 
to their weapons, but I felt that we had nothing to fear 
from him. 

Motioning for my companions to stay their hands, 
I walked toward the beast. 

"Greetings," I said. "Who are you?" 
"I am Sin'Vraal ," he replied. "What seekest thou?" 

Yes, I definitely remembered this fellow. The one 
with the booming voice. 

'Tm looking for a pirate," I told him. 
The Gargoyle smiled, showing his long, pointed 

incisors. "Yes, I once met a pirate here in the desert 
He seemed to be hunting me, but he got dragged oJf 
by the ants." 

During our trip through the desert, we'd passerl 
holes in the ground that spewed forth giant anti 
These must be the entrances to the ant mound h 
looked like we were going to go underground agam. 

After all I'd been through so far , I was curious 
about Gargoyles. Maybe Sin'Vraal could shed some 
light on them. 

"What do you do, Sin'Vraal?" I asked. 
"No job. Here I am free to wander where I wish. 
"Free? Here?" It astonished me that he would f 

free here, where his kind were so hated. 
"Among my people, those who can fly rule. he 

said. 'Though I have wings, I cannot fly. Here I an: 
free! " 

"Your people are strange to me," I said. "Pie 
tell me more." Out of the comer of my eye, I saw tN! 
my companions were also listening with great interesi 

"I am not a daemon, though humans think so. he 
said. "I am a Gargoyle . I fled here to the Unde1woril 
because I was not free among Gargoyles." 

"Maybe you can decipher this book for us," I sail 
excitedly, motioning to Joto to pass me The Boo« 
Prophecies. 

Sin'Vraal shook his scaly head. "Because I cixjl 
not fly, I was never taught to read ," he said sadly. 

"That's the stupidest thing I've ever heard 
exclaimed . "What does flying have to do 11 

reading?" 
"There are two kind of Gargoyles: winged 

and wingless ones . Wingless ones are mute a 
unintelligent. They do all the manual labor. Wi 
ones are smart, and do all the planning and I~ 
Being able to fly is, to them, a sign of intelligetn 
Even the Temple can only be reached by air!" 

"But you have wings-doesn 't that count 
something?" 

"Remember, I cannot fly ." 
"But that's stupid." 
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·ves, it is a strange concept. There are some in 
who can tell you that flying can be achieved by 

ne." 
His world sounded so strange and so different from 
. It fascinated me and I wanted to know more. 
We have temples here in Britannia too. Please tell 
about your temple, " I said. 
The great Temple of Singularity held the Codex," 

began. A sudden wave of cold passed over me at 
mention of the Codex. Could it be ... ? 
The Temple is the most holy Gargoyle place. A 

lJl1lall could learn much by traveling there. But you 
. JU!d never get to the temple. Not only is it deep 
:OOw the surface, but it can only be reached by flying . 
W you cannot fly any more than I can." 

A suspicion was forming in my mind. A feeling of 
11Xh profound and deep unease that I could barely 
!low myself to think about it. Drawing a deep breath, 
:heard myself asking , "Have you heard about The 
h>k of Prophecies?" 

"The Book of Prophecies says a False Prophet will 
:ooie to destroy the Gargoyle race. Only the sacrifice 

the False Prophet will save us." 
A wave of nausea passed over me. I knew now 

.tiy the Gargoyles were trying to kill me. Why I'd 
!Jeen overwhelmed with a sense of foreboding and 
~pair since my return to Britannia. Why everything 
;eemed wrong with the universe. 

I was the False Prophet. 
I had taken the Codex from the Gargoyle shrine. 

Though my intentions were pure, in my carelessness 
and ignorance, I had taken the most holy item from 
the Gargoyles' most sacred place. 

·what is the sacrifice?" I whispered , unable to 
bring myself to speak louder. 

··sacrifice' means many things in my language, " 
Sin'Vraal said. "You should seek a Gargoyle scholar to 
learn more. Travel to the other side of the world, and 
vou should be able to find one. You can go down 
through Hythloth to get to the realm of the 
Gargoyles." 

I nodded and staggered away from him. My 
companions gathered around me, their faces lined 
with concern. 

"What is it?" asked Leodon. 

"The Codex, " I said as I loosened my cloak. I 
opened my canteen and splashed some of the water 
on my face . 

"What about the Codex?" asked Leonna . 
"I took it from them," I said. "The Codex was in 

their temple and I stole it. " 
"Surely not! " exclaimed Dupre. "Thou art the 

Avatar. Thou wouldst not do such a thing. " 
I ran my hand over my wet face. "No , not 

deliberately, but that doesn 't matter. My ignorance is 
obviously hurting them in some way. And damaging 
Britannia too. Haven 't you noticed? The Dry Land, 
the earthquakes." I turned away from them, ashamed . 
What a fool I was! A proud, ignorant fool. The very 
virtues I thought I'd been upholding were being swept 
away by my hubris. There was only one way to rectify 
the situation. I steeled myself and spun to face them. 

"I did this and I must fix it, " I said. "I don't know 
how yet, but maybe the answer lies in The Book of 
Prophecies . We must find the other half of the silver 
tablet. " 

My friends looked at me with compassion on their 
faces. The disgust that I feared would be mirrored 
there wasn't, and I felt a wave of relief. I couldn't bear 
to hurt anyone else. We stood there for a long time, 
the silence growing. At last Dupre shattered the 
awkward moment. 

" 'Tis time to find that eighth map piece," he said 
simply. 

With the tension broken, we started talking as we 
made our way across the desert to the Ant Mound. 

l 
:Entry 30-The lint 
mound. the final 
map Piece. the 
Pirates' Treasure 
hardly remember our trip into 
the Ant Mound, so preoccupied 
was I with my guilt. We found 

the dead pirate on the lowest level in the Queen 's 
Chamber. The parchment map piece was in his pocket. 
We retrieved it and went back to Buccaneer's Den. 

As we sailed toward Buccaneer's Den, Shamino 
came and sat beside me. "Thou hast been troubled 
lately," he said. 
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I toyed with the strings of my cape. "Yes," I said. 
"My conscience weighs heavily on me." 

"Did thou intend harm to the Gargoyles when thou 
didst take the Codex?" he asked. 

I shook my head, "No. You were there, you know I 
didn't. But still . . . " 

He put his hand on my arm in a comforting 
gesture. "I know thy heart, Avatar. Thou art pained 
because thy actions, however well intended, have had 
an ill effect. Does this sound like the actions of an evil 
man?" 

"No," I said slowly, "but they aren't exactly the 
actions of an Avatar." 

'Thou art Avatar here , friend , but who is to say 
what thou mightest appear to be to others." 

I leaned back and looked at the night sky. "I know 
I'm overreacting, but 1 just feel so bad." 

"Maybe thou hast substituted self-pity for action," 
he said. 

I glanced at him; his face was hidden by the night. 
"What do you mean?" 

"Thou hast been so absorbed by thy plight that 
thou hast not been here"-he slapped his wooden-slat 
seat-"with us . Maybe thou hast grown so used to thy 
guilt it is now a habit. " 

I started to protest, then thought about what he'd 
said. Maybe I had been wallowing in self-pity. That 
certainly wasn ' t the action of the Avatar-or of 
anyone who would right a wrong. 

"You're right, my friend ," I said. "I thank you for 
your honest words." 

"Thou art welcome," he said. 
We sailed on into the night. 

0 0 0 

Homer was seated at his usual table when we entered 
the Fallen Virgin. 

"So, have ye found the eight pieces of the map 
yet?" he asked. 

"Yes," I said, waiting to hear what dungeon we'd 
be going into next. 

"Right. The ninth piece of the map is hidden ... 
right here in my pocket! " He grinned wickedly. "l had 
to keep it safe while ye were off gathering the others, 
didn't !?" He handed me the last piece of the map. 

The island in the upper left-hand corner 1 

Buccaneer's Den." 
He rested his elbows on the table and peered 

intently at my face . 
"Ye'll keep your word and come right back here 

with the Magic Storm Cloak, won't ye?" he asked 
"Yes , you misera-yes ," I said containing my 

temper. 
"Good, then I'll tell ye this: When ye reach the 

island marked with the X, find the three stones an! 
stand in the center. Walk three paces due south, nine 
paces due west, and twelve more paces south. That 
should put ye right next to an old dead tree. Dig in tl¥! 
patch of dirt just south of ye , and ye 'll find Iha: 
treasure. Now go get it! " 

Without bidding him farewell, I left the tavern. 

0 0 0 

Outside, we gathered around and tried to fit the piece 
together. It took a while to get everything to mat.: 
up, but at last we succeeded . This is what the map 
looked like: 
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"Let's go," I said. 

T 
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0 0 0 

I:23/'12s 

REllR 

a nice day! 

f:ntry 31-
Pirmes Jshmd 
he island where the pirates had 
buried their treasure was a 
swampy mess . Hydras and 
alligators bred here, and weren't 
pleased by our company. 

carol ine 

, 1-• .~ ... 
~ ~ , , ;~!P 
:t::9/25s +i:~7/So: 

COMMllHD 
Slil"'le killed! 
ca.roline: 
>llttack witk Fire 
wand-s 1 i l"'le. 

Slil"'le killed! 

carol i ne: 
>I 

ca.roline 

, .t• .~ ... 
• ·n1

' '•1.;t . . ~"'-
:E: 9/25s +i:~7/So: 

COHHllHD 

Homer's instructions were excellent, and soon we 
located the dead tree . Dupre began to dig, and in 
moments a hole leading down into a cave appeared. 

Though this cave didn't match Destard 's dragon for 
deadliness, the acid slugs that lived on the fourth level 
were deadly in a slower way. The pirates' treasure was 
in a hut in the center of a large cavern on the fourth 
level. We had to blast our way through the steel door, 
which made me glad for the powder keg we'd taken 
from the Cyclops' Cave. We found more powder kegs 
inside. To keep the acid slugs at bay, we placed these 
kegs across the gaping doorway. 

The other half of the silver tablet was here, as well 
as an enormous amount of treasure. Among the items 
we found were a magical fan that controlled winds , 
the Storm Cloak , gems , magical wands , magical 
armor, and other items an adventurer might need. 

On our way back to the Lycaeum, we stopped by 
Buccaneer's Den and gave Homer the Storm Cloak. 
He cackled malevolently about his plans, then ran off 
into the night. 

l 
"Yes," I replied. 

Prophecies now?" 

f:ntrv 32-The 
Prophecy Revealed 
burst into Mariah's study at the 
Lycaeum. Her eyes widened in 
surprise. "Hast thou discovered 
the other half of the silver 
tablet?" she asked. 

"Can you translate The Book of 

291 



W..TlHJlt: The ltvmzir ltdventures 

She fitted the pieces of the tablet together and 
placed them on the table . 

"With both pieces I should be able to work out a 
translation," she said. 

A look of concentration crossed her face. I paced 
as she ran her fingers along the lines of text. Finally, 
she began to read in a slow, halting voice: "An ancient 
prophecy tells of the final days, when the end of our 
world shall come. Three signs shall precede the end. 
Thrice shall a being of great evil come unto our land, 
and by this it shall be known that the end is nigh. 

"This evil one is of another race, which considers 
the evil one a great prophet. Yet this false prophet 
follows not the principles of Control, Passion, and 
Diligence. 

"One day the false prophet will come and 
desecrate our most holy shrine. And the false prophet 
will steal our most holy artifact, the Codex of Ultimate 
Wisdom. This shall be the first sign. " 

My blood ran cold and I felt the eyes of everyone 
in the room upon me. What I had feared most was 
true-in my desire to do good, to become the Avatar, 
I had created destruction and evil. 

"Then, it is written , the false prophet shall descend 
deep into the bowels of the earth and shall cause the 
Underworld to collapse . This will cause great 
earthquakes to tear our world asunder, and there will 
be a time of plague and famine . This shall be the 
second sign. " 

No wonder the Gargoyles wanted to kill me-if 
what was told in the prophecy was true, their world 
was coming apart and it was all my fault. But there 
was more. 

"One last time shall the false prophet come. This 
time , the false prophet will come with a band of 
warriors and they will destroy all that remains of the 
Gargoyle race. There is only one way this prophecy 
may be averted: That is by the sacrifice of the false 
prophet. " 

Mariah looked up from the text at me. "When they 
refer to 'the false prophet,' they must mean thee," she 
said . I nodded miserably. "It would seem they had 
reason to think thee evil, from their perspective. This 
is a difficult matter to resolve. I think thou must seek 
out more information. A Gargoyle named Sin'Vraal 

lives out in the desert . He speaks our language 
Perhaps he could tell thee more about this book, an: 
of how the Gargoyles view us. " 

"I've already spoken to Sin'Vraal," I said. "What & 

in this book merely confirms what I suspected after 
talking to him. He told us the way to the Garg~ 
world was through the dungeon Hythloth, and that 
where I'm going now." 

I faced my companions. 
"The path I've chosen will be treacherous. Ari 

who wish to leave should do so now." I glanced~ 
each of their faces. Their countenances were somber 
but I saw no condemnation there . "Well." I sa1 
relieved that they wanted to stay. "Let's go to tne 
other side of the world." 

0 0 0 

" 

f:ntry 33-ijythloth 

l 
ythloth was by far the wo 

[] 

dungeon we 'd been 
Between the volcanoes and 
drakes , I thought we'd ne1 

- get out alive. On the last 
of the dungeon we discoveral 

Captain John , a scholar who told us about' 
Gargoyles and who taught us their language. 

From him I learned that the Gargoyles' land. 
as extensive as Britannia, had been reduce to a 
city. Earthquakes, volcanoes, and other catac 
had destroyed their world. Disasters I'd broughlaba.I 

He instructed us to wait outside Hythloth at 
when we could meet the young Gargoyle named Btll 
Lem. According to Captain John, Beh Lem c 
guide us through the Gargoyle land. With m 
trepidation , I led my companions into the 
daylight of the Gargoyle world. 

f:ntry 34-Heh 1em 
and the ijouse of 
Valkade:>h 
s Captain John had told 
the Gargoyle Beh Lem 
at noon. He was smaller 
the other Gargoyles~ 
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mcountered so far-I guessed him to be roughly 
:he equivalent of a twelve-year-old human child. He 
rushed up and started talking eagerly in Gargish, 
'..'1e Gargoyle language. 

"To greet you human," he said. 'To recognize you 
is the False Prophet. " 

This made me feel wonderful, I can tell you. Even 
Gargoyle children thought I was the destroyer of their 
.oorld . 

"ls your name Beh Lem?" I asked. 
"No name," he said, "just Beh Lem." 
"But I thought Beh Lem was your name," I said, 

~nning to get confused. 
"To not receive true name until I prove myself 

~10rthy. To be called Beh Lem, which means 'just 
one.' But to get one someday like my father , 
Valkadesh! " 

His chest puffed up with pride. It was clear he was 
proud of his father. 

"What does Valkadesh do?" I asked. 
"He is a scholar. To want to be a scholar someday, 

i.ist like him. " 
"I know your people believe I'm the False Prophet. 

Why aren't you afraid of me?" I asked. 
Beh Lem smiled. "To be feared by everybody­

everybody except me and Valkadesh . To find the 
house of Valkadesh my father , go through the pass in 
lhe mountains east of the Hall of Knowledge. " 

"Why should I go see Valkadesh?" 
"To avoid the Hall! To talk to Valkadesh first! " 
Beh Lem was getting pretty agitated. I decided that 

calming him down was a priority. Besides it was 
better to talk to someone who wouldn 't automatically 
uy to cut me into pieces. 

"Lead the way to your father 's house," I said. 

0 0 0 

We skirted much of the Gargoyle city, but still I got 
a glimpse here and there. Their houses were exotic­
shaped like pyramids , made of white marble . I 
wondered what they would look like inside. 

Beh Lem led us through a narrow pass and out into 
a small clearing. Trees pressed up against the sides of 
lhe house, and to the east we could see the sea. 

I walked into the house. Hovering in midair were 
three globes, which glowed and illuminated its interior. 
I'd never seen anything like it, even on my own world . 
The floor was covered with tiles laid out in an intricate 
pattern. There were no fireplaces , only a cube in one 
comer that produced a gentle, even heat. 

This place was so different from Britannia or even 
from my own world . What forces had shaped these 
beings and their culture? They'd managed to devise 
such advanced sources of heat and light , yet were 
unable to halt the destruction of their land. I had no 
more time to ponder these questions, for standing in 
front of me was a huge, winged Gargoyle. 

"To offer greetings , False Prophet ," he said , 
bowing slightly. "To have waited long for you to 
return to this side of the world . To believe The Book 
of Prophecies is wrong. To believe I can reason with 
you, persuade you to spare my people. To wish to 
address you honorably." 

Relief coursed through me. Maybe there was a way 
to rectify what I'd done. I was ashamed at having felt 
such anger and hostility toward the Gargoyles. In their 
eyes I was the force intent on the destruction of their 
world; no wonder they'd tried to kill me. And here was 
one who wanted to help me even though he knew 
nothing about me. 

"I am here to set to rights that which I have 
harmed," I said. "It is my intention to do whatever is 
necessary to fix things. " 

Valkadesh nodded. "To see that you are a being of 
honor and respect. To not betray that honor-to 
return the Codex! To save my people from the 
prophecy! " 

"But how? I can't enter the Shrine of the Codex 
unless I'm on a holy Quest. I couldn 't get the Codex 
even if I tried! " 

Valkadesh frowned. "To beg you to return the 
Codex! Avert the prophecy! To save your life and my 
people's as well! " 

"But I can 't! " I exclaimed . "Is there any other 
alternative?" 

"Only a sacrifice from the False Prophet will do." 
"Sacrifice?" I asked . This smacked of death and 

dismemberment to me. 
"Wait! " He exclaimed. "To know that 'sacrifice ' 
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nas three meanings: of self , of others, and of 
'aiuables. Perhaps to find a better answer in one of 
those other meanings. To suggest you seek out 
'laxatilor himself for further enlightenment. " 

"Who is Naxatilor?" I asked. 
"Naxatilor is the wisest Gargoyle . To find his 

:hambers just to the northeast of the Hall of 
Knowledge. But perhaps ... " 

"Perhaps what?" 
"To show honor, the False Prophet must surrender 

to Draxinusom, the Inquisitor. Then to be considered 
no longer a threat by my people. To be able then to 
speak to my people freely." 

l really didn't like the sound of this. "Are you sure 
that's the only way?" 

"To know that the moons are not yet aligned 
properly for the ritual. To assure you that you will not 
be sacrificed for many weeks. To assure you further 
that surrender is the only way you can travel among 
my people." 

l thought about it. Perhaps if I learned about the 
Gargoyles and learned their ways, I would discover 
some way to alter the prophecy. 

"Very well, " I said. "I will go to Draxinusom. 
Where is he?" 

Entry 35-
The Gargoyle World 
e stood outside the Hall of 
Knowledge at the southern end 
of the Gargoyle city . To the 
west was the house of 
Draxinusom ; to the east, the 

abode of Naxatilor. My stomach was doing enough 
rolls to convince me that anxiety wasn't all that good 
for my digestion. Better to face a flock of dragon 
drakes than this. 

"Well ," I said. "Here goes nothing." 
"I'm coming with thee," said Shamino. 
"I, too " said Dupre. 
"Do not forget about me," lolo said with a grin. 
"To go with you," said Beh Lem. 
"We're in it for the duration, " interjected Leonna, 

with Leodon nodded in agreement. 
"Well then, let's go." 

It was surprisingly warm inside the building. Like 
Valkadesh's house, this one also had a heat source in 
one corner. Draxinusom was seated behind a large 
table . His skin was darker than Valkadesh 's and he 
had sharp, piercing eyes. 

"To express astonishment at your audacity, False 
Prophet," said Draxinusom. "To demand to know why 
you have come before me. To have refrained from 
slaying you only because of the presence of the child." 

"I have come to surrender, " I said , hoping the 
quaver in my voice wasn't noticeable. 

"To be here to surrender?" 
"Yes. Valkadesh said it was the only way." 
He lifted a crystal amulet hanging from a leather 

cord off the table. 
"Hssss. To consent to wear this?" he asked. 
"You mustn't," whispered Dupre. "It's some sort of 

magical trap." 
Draxinusom waited patiently, the amulet swinging 

back and forth from the ends of his scaly fingers . I 
reached up and pulled off the ankh. I'd worn it since 
the time I came to Britannia and became the Avatar; 
my neck felt naked without it. Plucking the amulet 
from the Gargoyle's hand, I slipped the leather loop 
over my head . A startled expression crossed his 
features. 

"To surprise me with the nobility of your deed. To 
no longer be a threat to my people. To bid you to 
travel among my people and talk to them, learn our 
ways. To inform you when the time of your sacrifice is 
near. " 

"Thank you ," I said . I led the others from 
Draxinusom's house. 

"Hast thou lost thy mind?" asked Sharnino. 
"No," I said, stroking the amulet and feeling right 

for the first time in quite a while. 'This was the thing 
to do. Now let's go see what we can find out from 
Naxatilor." 

We walked across the small clearing to the house 
of the Gargoyle Seer. 

Naxatilor was much darker than either Valkadesh 
or Draxinusom . He reminded me of the stone 
gargoyles I'd seen on churches in Europe. 

'To greet you, Avatar of the Underworld. To see 
the Amulet of Submission around your neck. To 
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to 

"But t o be unable 
to avert wh.at is 
ritten in ti..e 

Book of" 
Propl\.ecies . .u 

consider your acceptance of this both noble and wise. 
To observe by your aura that you are not a being of 
evil. To regret for your sake, then , that you are fated 
to destroy the world. " 

"Thank you, " I replied. "But I haven't done so yet. 
Valkadesh told me to talk to you about the prophecy." 

"To have spoken to Valkadesh. Then surely to 
know what harm you have caused my world. To have 
no choice but to return the Codex. " 

"Is there no other choice?" 
"To give up the Codex, or your life." 
"But a sacrifice ... " 
"Hsss. Yes, to know the three meanings of that 

word. To ask which type of sacrifice you prefer: self, 
others, or items of value. " 

I thought. To sacrifice others was no good. To 
sacrifice myself wasn't appealing either. But items of 
value-there was a possibility. 

"Items?" 
'To know only one item of true value-the Codex 

itself ... but surely not to destroy the Codex! " 
"Then what?" 
"To direct you to go to the Hall of Knowledge. 

There read The Book of Ritual. There also to get the 
Vortex Lens. Then to return here, where I will tell you 
what must be done. " 

"But the Codex is valuable to my people as well," I 
said. 

"To remember that Captain Bolesh has just 
returned from the Codex. To suggest you seek him. 
To try the healer's house." 

"All right, I'll do as you suggest. " 

0 0 0 

The Hall of Knowledge dominated the Ga 
city. In here they displayed their most pr:z 
possessions, as well as items from Britannia. It 
funny and strange to see a rolling pin and a 
dress displayed as though they were precious artif 

The Caretaker was an old , winged Gargoyie 
was slightly hunched over, and his skin was almos: 
dark as Naxatilor's. Upon his stubby nose he~ 
spectacles. He reminded me of my grandfather 
he looked over the top of his glasses as he spoke to 

carol ine: > T al k-Caretalcv 

You see an olf• 
~:.. l\~:i~ a~~?:: I 

~~~f"~:taYF r:~f:' 11111illlifiidtill(I ¥pon h.is Fao1. 

"Yes? To inquire about the reason for 
interruption." 

'Tm looking for the Lens and The Boo 
Ritual." 

"To find what you seek, look in the V 
Chamber and the Librum Chamber. " 

We read from The Book of Ritual, then 11<ert 

the Vortex Chamber. We caught our breath as 
entered. It reminded me of the Shrine of Sp1 
Both felt like they were hovering in the void. A 
led to the Vortex Lens. As I approached, I noticell 
the Lens had been shattered. Was this my doi 
wondered. Gently, I gathered up the pieces and 
them in my bag. I noticed there was another 
opposite the Vortex Lens, but it was emptv 
Vortex Cube, " read the small engraved sign a 
to it. 

As we left the Hall of Knowledge, I asked 
Caretaker what had happened to the Vortex C 
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llfonned me that it had been stolen by humans who 
;aid they were taking it to Stonegate. 

0 0 0 

Naxatilor then instructed us to take the Lens to the 
lens maker, who would be able to repair it. While he 
ground the Lens, we went and talked to Bolesh at the 
healer's house. He told us about an impervious force 

"To f'ind tt.e 
teMple in th.e 
Moun.to.ins to th.e 
north..u 

"To need to f'ly 
to get th.ere, 
though.!" 

you so.y: • 

field around the Codex, and said that only those on a 
Sacred Quest could enter the shrine and view the 
Codex. Of course I already knew that. 

He also told me I could receive a Sacred Quest 
~om the Temple of Singularity. 

We picked up the finished Lens from the lens 
maker and returned to Naxatilor's house. 

"Okay," I said to the ancient Gargoyle. "I know 
that to reach the Codex, I've got to be on a Sacred 
Quest and the Temple of Singularity can give me one. 
But 1 can't get into the temple except by air. " 

"Excuse me, Avatar, " said Leonna. "But when we 
met the daem -the Gargoyle Sin'Vraal in the desert, 
he told us that someone in Minoc knew something 
about flying. Would that not allow us to reach the 
Temple?" 

I could have kissed her and almost did, but was 
afraid of what Naxatilor would make of such an 
action. 

"You're right! " I said excitedly. "Naxatilor , how 
may I solve this riddle of the Codex?" 

'To be able to see the Vortex from both sides of 

~-~ 

the world. To benefit both races equally if the Codex 
is returned there." 

"How would that be possible?" 
"A human Lens-the opposite of the Gargoyle 

Lens. Show the human lens maker the Vortex Lens. 
Be sure to tell the lens maker that his Lens must be 
concave. Then the Codex shall reveal how the ritual is 
to be completed." 

'Thank you, Naxatilor," I said" "I will try my best to 
prove myself worthy of the honor you bestow by 
allowing me to know your name." 

Naxatilor smiled (an awful sight) and returned to 
warming himself in front of his heat source. 

s 
:fntrv 36-
~utek's Castle 
in 'Vraal had told us that there 
was someone in Minoc who 
knew how to fly . We went 
there and talked to Lady 
Isabella about flying, and her 

instructions led us to Selganor. He told us the 
balloonist had last been seen heading for Sutek's 
Castle. 

0 0 0 

Sutek's Castle was on an island to the west of the 
Isle of the Avatar. There were no guards , no 
protection of any kind that we could see as we 
docked. 

"Look," said Leonna. "Rabbits." 
White, fluffy rabbits clustered at the end of the 

pier. I'd expected monsters, not bunnies. 
"Let's go," I said, heading for the entrance to the 

castle. Whereupon I was attacked by those sweet little 
hares. They leapt through the air and went for the 
jugular. I cast a couple of Kai Ort Xen spells, which 
made short work of them. By then I'd realized all was 
not as it seemed at Sutek's Castle. 

Sutek 's castle was full of secret passageways, 
hidden doors, and nasty "pets. " His experiments on 
his "pets" were horrifying. I wouldn't let the others see 
the carnage of his laboratory. Sutek himself was mad 
and I decided it was best to leave him alone. We 
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discovered the remains of the balloonist on the fourth 
level of the tunnels under the castle. In the pocket of 
his tattered jacket I found plans for a balloon. 

0 0 0 

The plans called for a basket large enough to carry 
eight people, a silk bag, rope, and a cauldron to heat 
the air for the balloon. 

For a price, Michelle in Minoc wove the basket. 
The rope we bought from the rope maker in Paws. 
The cauldron we took from the kitchen in Lord 
British' s castle. Getting the silk bag was a little more 
difficult. It required 40 pieces of spider silk, for which I 
made a visit to Xiao's . The thread maker in Paws spun 
this into silk thread. Charlotte in New Magincia wove 
it into cloth, and the clothes maker back in Paws 
sewed it into a bag. 

We assembled the components according to the 
instructions, and within minutes had a balloon. 

During our trip to Xiao's to get the spider silk, 
Dupre mentioned that he knew of an astronomer who 
lived outside the Lycaeum. The astronomer's name 
was Ephemerides. We showed him the Gargoyle 's 
Lens and he agreed to make the human Lens. He told 
us he would need a Glass Sword to make the Lens. I 
still had a Glass Sword-one of the ones we 'd 
recovered from the thief in the sewers. I handed the 
Sword over and he ground it into a Lens. 

We went to Stonegate and got the Vortex Cube. 
The male Cyclops required that we fish-yes , with a 
pole and everything-before he would give us the key 
to the room housing the Cube. Once we'd retrieved 

the Cube, I felt it was time to return to the Temple of 
Singularity. 

Entry 3'1-llltar ol 

c@ I[' 3ingullll'ity he balloon floated over the 
mountains and we landed Ill 

front of the Temple. Silence 
had fallen over the party-part 
reverence, part fear. The Altar 

of Singularity was a finely carved stone pyramid. 
I faced the altar and a voice rang in my head. The 

fear left me then; this was familiar territory. 
"Thou hast far to travel and much to achieve. May 

the wisdom imparted here help to purify thy inner 
flame. What do you seek, Avatar?" 

''The Codex of Ultimate Wisdom," I replied. 
"For whom dost thou seek the Codex?" 
I stopped. I'd never thought about it. I knew it was 

important for the Gargoyles-they needed it to save 
their race. But I had retrieved the Codex for Britannia 
during my Quest to become the Avatar. Who had 
more right to it? Humans or Gargoyles? Both valued 
above all else. Then it came to me. 

"I seek the Codex for both the Gargoyle and the 
human races." 

"Thy answer is wise, " said the Voice. "But l'ar 
canst thou truly work for the good of a race whmt 
ways thou dost not understand? Go to the Catacooa 
of Control , Passion, and Diligence. In each thou 
find the final resting place of a being who be!I 
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exemplifies that principle. Return when thou hast 
visited these catacombs. " 

Then the air was still. 
My companions looked at me with anxious eyes. 
"We're going into the Catacombs," I said. 

ll ~~r~nes of 
eontrol. Passion. 
and Diligence 
n the mountains surrounding 
the remains of the Gargoyle 
city, we located the Shrines of 

Control, Passion, and Diligence. 
The Shrine of Control, northwest of the city, was 

the first place we visited. Huge bones arched over the 
entrance to the shrine and a skull hung above the 
entry. Its empty sockets seemed to stare at us as we 
passed through. 

We found ourselves in a small room. Levers 
covered the edges of the floor, and there were four 
switches that controlled electrical fields. Through the 
portcullis on the north wall, I could see a long hallway 
leading to another room . By trytng the various 
switches, I managed both to turn off the electrical 
fields and to open the portcullis. 

I left my companions in the room and entered the 
hallway. A field of poisonous gas blocked my way, 
which I quickly dispelled with an An Grau spell. 
Behind the field was a drake, which I killed using my 
staff. There were a number of drakes living here. I 
slipped on my ring of invisibility to avoid having to kill 
them. 

The shrine appeared to consist of a statue on a 
raised platform surrounded by pillars. I walked closer 
to the shrine, a trickle of nervousness starting in my 
stomach. 

I drew closer and saw the face of the statue. I knew 
this face-the memories came flooding back to me as 
though they happened yesterday. How could I haue 
forgotten? Why had I neuer remembered before? 
Three times I'd been to Britannia prior to my Quest 
for Avatarhood. The first time I'd defeated the wizard 
Mondain, whose countenance was on this statue. But 
the other two-the memories wouldn 't come. 

"We meet again, Avatar, " the statue said. As if 11! 

instinct, I raised the staff to cast another of the deadlv 
spells I'd laid upon it. "Fear not," continued the voice 
How well I remembered that voice now! "I have lu 
one task now, and am no threat. " 

I took a step backward. How could I possibly lru!t 
this monster? 

"Mondain," I said, disliking the sound of the nanr 
on my tongue. "I have no reason to trust you. V. 
are you here?" 

"The Gargoyles enshrined my spirit here as the 
embodiment of control. Control was the essence 
my soul-control of self and control of others. But di 
desire for more control overcame me. I forsook 
self-control in my hunger for conquest. 

"Control must start with the self and expa 
outward. Contemplate what thou hast learned ani 
repeat the Mantra of Control with me ... UN ~ 
... UN ... " 

I found myself repeating the mantra with my 
foe. Its hypnotic yet soothing rhythm relaxed me all! 
my mind was freed . Taking in the concept of con 
My spirit drifted outward and understanding floo 
through me. 

"I can teach thee no more ," said the v01ce 
Mondain. "Farewell, Avatar. May thy control helpihlr 
succeed in thy Quest. " 

I stood for a moment more, pondering the 
that my once-mortal enemy could be enshrined 
representation of a force for good. I knew then 
even with my Avatarhood, my knowledge was~ 
and flawed. Humbled by this new-found insigh! 
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'rurried back to my companions to tell them of my 

0 0 0 

The Shrine of Passion was to the northeast of the 
city. As with the Shrine of Control , there was a 
challenge to be met in order to reach the shrine. At 
thlS shrine I had to walk through lava. As before, I left 
the rest of my party just inside the entrance to the 
shrine. I wore my invisibility ring to avoid having to 
fight the daemons that surrounded the shrine. To 
think I'd once considered the Gargoyles members of 
this horrible breed of monsters! 

"We meet again , Avatar ," said the statue as I 
approached. I saw the face on the statue and I could 
almost feel the adrenaline pumping through my veins. 
It was the evil witch Minax, whom I'd defeated on my 
second visit to . . . but it wasn't Britannia then , it was 
Sosaria. The land Britannia had been before Lord 
British had united it. 

"Fear not! I have but one task now, and am no 
threat. " 

These were the same words Mondain 's statue had 
used. 

"The Gargoyles enshrined my spirit here as the 
embodiment of passion. Passion was the essence of 
my soul. But that passion knew no bounds. I wanted 
everything, and because of this I strove to conquer all. 
Passion must be directed, focused. Unbridled passion 
leads to chaos. The Gargoyles understand passion. 
Their society is based on the passion leading those 
who lack motivation . Contemplate what thou hast 

learned . Repeat after me the Mantra of 
Passion ... OR. .. OR ... OR. .. " 

Again I fell into the soft chant of the mantra and 
was swept away. The voice of Minax snapped me 
back. 

"I can teach thee no more," she said. 
I turned away, then looked back over my shoulder 

for one last glimpse at my former foe . Was it the dim 
light in the cavern, or had the harsh lines on her face 
been eased somewhat? The cruelty I'd once witnessed 
for myself was tempered by something else . 
Understanding? Wisdom? But this was just a statue, 
after all---cold stone, unchanging. 

I returned to my companions and we went to the 
Shrine of Diligence. 

0 0 0 

The first level of the Shrine of Diligence was a 
maze. We would have wandered in here forever, but it 
was as if some force were guiding our footsteps . We 
went south from the entrance through two doors, then 
west through another door. Just inside was a secret 
door, which led to a ladder down to the second level. 
Once again I left my companions out of harm's way. 
And glad I was, for this shrine was guarded by more 
daemons than I'd ever seen in one place. Never had I 
been more grateful for my ring of invisibility. Only a 
Glass Sword could destroy these monsters quickly, for 
they were impervious to my In Corp spells and I was 
reluctant to try any other spells upon them. 

I approached the raised platform where the statue 
of the embodiment of Diligence rested. And for a final 
time the hand of fear gripped my heart. How had I 
forgotten this terror? Maybe the mind does protect 
us from that with which we're not strong enough to 
bear. 

Before me was a statue of the evil Exodus. Of all 
the foes I'd battled, this was the most frightening. For 
no mere mortal was this creature, but an inhuman 
monster, a machine. I'd tricked it into destroying itself, 
having no other way to defeat it. It was not in the 
form of a machine now, though. Rather, an artistic 
interpretation of the soul of Exodus. 

"We meet again, Avatar, but fear not. I have but 
one task now, and am no threat. 
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"The Gargoyles have enshrined my spirit here as 
the embodiment of diligence. Diligence was the 
essence of my soul-cold, unswerving diligence in my 
path of conquest. But in my devotion to achievement I 
lost sight of my original goals. Diligence without a goal 
is as worthless as a goal without diligence. The means 
cannot replace the end, and diligence cannot be the 
goal. The Gargoyle society is based on the diligent 
leading the wayward. 

"Repeat after me the Mantra of 
Diligence .. . US .. . US ... US ... " 

And again I succumbed to the lure of the mantra. 
Episodes from my life when 1 had and had not been 
diligent ran across the screen of my mind. 

"Contemplate what thou hast learned. Thou wilt 
need diligence to succeed in thy Quest, Avatar. But 
thou wilt most of all need a clear vision of thy goal to 
be worthy. " 

Then the statue was silent once more. 
I had what I needed to know to return to the 

Temple. 

0 0 0 

1 stood before the Altar of Singularity. Bowing my 
head , I freed my mind and reached out to the altar. 

"Hast thou completed thy journey to the 
Catacombs?" asked the altar. 

"Yes," I replied. 
"What is the Mantra for Singularity?" 
"UNORUS. " 
"Let the Principle of Control guide thy Quest," said 

the altar. "Let the Principle of Passion drive thy 
Quest. Let the Principle of Diligence maintain th1 
Quest. Then thou wilt truly achieve the unified spirit 
and singularity of purpose that is necessary for success 
in all endeavors. This is the Gargoyle way; let it be 
thine as well." 

The altar began to glow with a cold blue flanw 
The urge to seek out the Codex surged through me. I 
knew my final Quest had begun. 

l 
into the shrine. 

Entry 40-The ~hrim: 
of the eodex 
stepped out of the MoongatE 
with lolo , Shamino, Dupre 
Leodon, Leonna, and Beh 
Lem at my heels. Before us 
rose the stone statues leading 

This time my entry was not denied. I strode 
through the gates and up the steps of the shrine. ThE 
Codex rested on a pedestal in the center of the room 
In one comer of the room a blue flame burned in a 
brazier. Its twin in the opposite comer glowed with a 
red flame. I stepped up to the Codex to discover the 
way to return it to the Vortex. 

carol ine 
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Set it on th.e 
ground in l'ront 
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Printed on the pages before me was the solution 
my dilemma. 

Working quickly, I pulled the red, convex Gal'g<7) 
Lens from my bag and positioned it between tr 
Codex and the Flame of Singularity. Light poured 
of the Lens, bathing the book in a scarlet glow. 
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From another bag I retrieved the blue, concave 
ins Epherimides had made and set it up between the 
Codex and the Flame of Infinity. Blue light from the 
Lens spilled over the Codex, combining with the red. 

The Vortex Cube had settled to the bottom of 
mother satchel and it took me a few minutes to find 
'. When I did, I dropped the eight moonstones I'd 
recovered from the shrines into it. I positioned the 
Cube in front of the Codex. I concentrated on sending 
the Codex back to the Vortex. In the blink of an eye 
!here was the roaring of a thousand winds, the world 
!wisted, and the Codex vanished. 

At that moment, a portal sprang from the floor. 
Framed in its crimson depths were Lord British and 
!he mage Nystul. Nystul 's normally worried expression 
was replaced by sheer panic. Lord British directed a 
steely gaze at me and said, "Thou didst have cause to 
purloin our Codex, I trust? But for Virtue 's sake, 
WHAT HAST THOU DONE WITH ITT" 

I picked the concave Lens up from its stand and 
placed it in his hands. 

"Was the Codex ever truly ours, Your Majesty?" I 
asked. "Was it written for Britannia alone? You no 
bnger hold the Codex, but its wisdom is not lost. Look 
into the Vortex and the Codex will answer for itself. " 

Lord British raised the Lens to the wall. The Codex 
of Ultimate Wisdom leapt into view against a myriad 
of shimmering stars. But the book remained closed. 
The hair on the back of my neck rose, heralding the 
appearance of a Moongate . I was not disappointed. 
Another portal appeared, and from its shimmering 
depths strode Lord Draxinusom, flanked by a 
contingent of his wingless servants. Like Lord British, I 
could see that he was restraining his rage only through 
a supreme act of will . Grabbing my shoulder in his 
scaly hand, he leaned toward me, saying, 'Thy time 
hath come, thief! " 

The Amulet of Submission glowed wanner and I 
knew that soon it would become unbearably hot. 
Snatching the concave Lens from its resting place I 
thrust it into his claws. 

"Join my lord in his striving for peace," I said. 
Reluctantly King Draxinusom raised the Lens 

before him . The Codex opened and its wisdom 
poured forth to all who stood there. 

0 0 0 

As I write these last lines I feel myself being pulled 
back again to my world. Will I ever return to Britannia 
to see for myself what the Codex has wrought? Will 
my friends remember me and our adventures 
together? 

I'm leaving this diary with Shamino so that my 
deeds, in my own words, shall not be lost. He has 
been instructed to take these pages to the Lycaeum. I 
hope that one day the scholars there shall find it in 
their hearts to treat me kindly. 
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Clltima Vl 
Tip~ and Quick ~olution 

Down mid Dirty lfltima VJ 
Walkthrough 

As usual, this walkthrough giues you 
lhe steps you need to take to solue the mystery of 
Ultimo VI. Don 't read this unless you really want to 
know the answers. We suggest that you keep trying 
10 understand a puzzle or solue a mystery before 
using this walkthrough. 

Ultima VI is broken up into three parts: The 
Runes, The Pirate Map, and The Gargoyle Land. 
The walkthrough is diuided basically into sections 
that correspond to these parts. 

When you start the game, you have a moonstone 
that will take you to almost every important location in 
Britannia. A diagram showing where each placement 
will take you appears on page 309. 

The Runes 
The runes are needed to free the shrines from the 
gargoyles ' control. At each shrine, will Use the 
appropriate rune and say the appropriate mantra . 
This will free the moonstone from the force fie ld 
surrounding it and you can take it. Since you need 
the moonstones to complete the game, hold onto 
them. 

Compassion: Ariana holds the rune; you need to 
get permission from her parents. The mantra is MU. 

Honesty: The rune is in Beyvin's tomb. Manrel 
has the key. The mantra is AHM. 

Honor: On the pedestal in the center of Trinsic. 
The mantra is SUMM. 

Humility: The mayor in New Magincia has it. 
When he asks you who the most humble is , say 
'Conor. " The Mantra is LUM. 

Justice : Under the plant in the 
tavern in Yew. The mantra is BEH. 

Sacrifice: Selganor has the rune. 
To get it : Get a log from Ben in the 
forest outside of Yew. Take the log to the sawmill in 
Minoc and have it made into a board. Take the board 
to Julia in Minoc and have her make it into a set of 
panpipes. Take the panpipes to Selganor and give 
him the notation to "Stones." (678987 8767653). 
The mantra is CAH. 

Spirituality: The rune is in Marney's chest. Ask 
her about the basket. The mantra is OM. 

Valor: The rune is in a mousehole in the tavern. 
You 'll need Sherry the Mouse to get it. The mantra 
is RA. 

The easiest way to free the shrines is to cast an 
invisibility spell or have all the party members wear 
invisibility rings. Use the moonstone to take you to the 
shrines. 

The Pirate Map 
You'll need the pirate map to get to the pirates ' 
treasure. To get Homer in the Buccaneer's Den to 
talk to you, you have to be a member of the Thieves' 
Guild. Talk to Budo behind the kitchen in the Fallen 
Virgin. He 'll send you into the sewers under Lord 
British's castle to get a Guild belt from Phoenix. 

Killing Phoenix will affect your Karma, but if you 
Move the bear trap in the corridor outside her home 
into her house and Move her on to it, it'll kill her 
without affecting your Karma. She has magic armor, 
glass swords, and the Guild belt. Or you can use the 
Pickpocket spell and just make off with the belt. 

Bring the belt back to Budo and you'll become a 
member of the Guild. Talk to Homer and he'll tell you 
where some of the map pieces are. Sandy, the cook 
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in Trinsic, knows where the others are, but won't tell 
you until you bring him a dragon's egg. The dragon's 
eggs are in Destard. 

To find the map pieces: 
•Search the shipwreck on the Cape Islands. 
• Ybarra, on the fourth level of Shame, has another 

piece. You will need food to trade with him. Use 
the fountains and wish for food. 

• Heftimus, the one-armed beggar outside the pub in 
Jhelom, left the map piece on the third level of the 
dungeon Wrong. 

• Arturos, one of the gypsies outside of Trinsic, has a 
piece. If you haggle with him, he'll sell you it for 
50 gold pieces. 

• Morchella in the Serpent's Hold has another piece. 
She wants a shield of the Order of the Silver 
Serpent. There's one in Destard. Conor Starfalcon 
in New Magincia has one (under a plant in his back 
yard), but if you take Conor's shield, it's stealing. 
Or you can have one made by joining the Order of 
the Silver Serpent and getting instructions from 
Corona. 

• On Dagger Isle, there's a pirate who holds a piece. 
Move the harpsichord and under it you'll find a 
trapdoor. 

• The Mayor of Trinsic also has a piece; ask him 
about pirates, then say Sandy sent you. 

•On the fourth level of the Ant Mound, there's a dead 
pirate who has the eighth piece. Unless you want 
to be fighting ants all day, use your invisibility 
potions, rings, or spells. 

• After you have all eight pieces, go back to Homer, 
who will give you the ninth piece. He 'II ask you to 
give him the Storm Cloak out of the treasure. Say 
"Yes" and bring the cloak back to him after you've 
gone through the Pirates' Cave. You get lots of 
Karma points for giving him the cloak, so be sure 
to do it. Homer will give you directions on where 
to dig once you've reached the island. 

Assemble the map on the ground. Buy a shovel and a 
powder keg from the Provisioner in Britain. (Powder 
kegs can also be found on the third level of the 
Cyclops' Cave.) 

The treasure room is on the fourth level; you'll 
have to blow the door up with a powder keg. To keep 

the acid slugs at bay while you look through the room 
Move the barrels in the room in front of the door. The 
missing half of the Silver Tablet is in this room as 11 

as lots of other goodies. Take whatever treasure yo,. 
want-there is no Karma penalty for this. Be sure 
take the fan-you 'll need it later. 

Take the half of the Silver Tablet back to Mariahar 
the Lycaeum and have her translate The Book o) 
Prophecies . Ask her about the ~nok. 

Once the book's been translated, you'll realize . 
need to go into the Gargoyle land. To get to th£ 
Gargoyles' kingdom, go through Hythloth on the ISli 
of the Avatar. Use the moonstone to take you to th! 
Shrine of Humility. On the fourth level, you'll fird 
Captain John, who will give a scroll to help you le.im 
Gargish, the Gargoyle language. Use the scroll befoo 
you exit into the Gargoyle land. You'll need to ha1 
Beh Lem, a young Gargoyle, join your party. He oo 
shows up at noon, so you may need to wait for him 

About Hythloth. A very deadly place. Not only are 
there flocks of drakes, but there are also min 
volcanoes down here. Mass Protection couldn't hu:'. 
and if you 've managed to get to seventh Im 
Enchant the staff from Nicodemus with sever 
Resurrect spells. Your party may need them. 

The Gargoyle Land 
You must have Beh Lem in your party to avoid brnj 
attacked by the Gargoyles . Go talk to Beh Lem 
father , Valkadesh, first. Then go to Draxinusom 
house and agree to wear the Amulet of Submis.si 
Talk to Naxatilor next, who will send you to the HI.I 
of Knowledge and to the Healer's to talk to Captau. 
Bolesh. 

Read The Book of Rituals and get the broker 
Vortex Lens. Ask the Caretaker about the Vort 
Cube. He 'll tell you thieves stole it and took it· 
Stonegate. Take the Lens to the lens grinder and halt 
him fix it. Go talk to Naxatilor again. 

Talk to all the Gargoyles. They have interesu: 
information and some will even give you gifts. 

At this point you'll need the following: 

• The Vortex Cube. 
• A balloon to take you to the Tempie of Singular.ti 
• A human Vortex Lens. 
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The Balloon 
•Go to Minoc and ask Lady Isabella about the 

balloon. She'll send you to Selganor, who will send 
you to Sutek's Castle. In Sutek's Castle you'll need 
to lower the drawbridge with a Telekinesis spell 
(see attached map). 

•Find the room with the Hydra and kill it. There's a 
secret door to the south. Go down the ladder and 
to the room in the northwest corner with the 
wooden door. Use the electrical switch on the far 
right; go to the room with the down ladder at the 
southernmost door. Go down the ladder and use 
the secret door to the north . Use the ladder down 
to the right (don 't use the ladder to the left!). 

• The dead balloonist is on the fourth floor. Search 
him and find the balloon plans. 

•To make the silk for the balloon bag, get 40 pieces 
of spider silk. Have the thread maker in Paws spin 
it into thread. Take it to Charolette in New 
Magincia and have her weave it into cloth. Go to 
the clothes maker in Paws and have her sew the 
cloth into a balloon bag. 

•There 's a rope maker in Paws you can buy rope 
from , or you can pick up some rope in the 
Cyclops' Cave. 

• Michelle in Minoc will weave the basket. 
•You can get a caldron in the Cyclops' cave or in the 

sewers below Lord British's castle. 
•Use the plans and you'll have the balloon. Use the 

fan from the pirates' treasure to control the winds. 

After you have all the stuff for the balloon, you need 
to get the Vortex Cube and the human Vortex Lens. 
Epherimides, to the east of the Lycaeum, can make 
the Lens. He'll require a Glass Sword. Dale, in Minoc, 
can make a sword out of five Gems. Since you have 
maps of all the locations in Britannia, we suggest you 
have as many Glass Swords made as possible. You 
might need them against the daemons in the 
Catacombs later on. 

After you have the Lens, Use the moonstone to 
take you to Minoc. Go south through the mountains 
to Stonegate. Be nice to these Cyclopes-they have 
the key to the room where the Lens is located. You'll 
have to go fish befor the male Cyclops will to tum 
over the key. The Vortex Cube is on the fourth level 
of Stonegate. 

Use the moonstone to transport you to the Slab 
(see diagram page 309). Use the balloon to take you 
over the mountains to the Temple of Singularity. Talk 
to the altar, which will send you into the Catacombs to 
the three Gargoyle shrines to get the Mantra of 
Singularity which is a combination of the Mantras of 
Passion, Control, and Diligence. 

These shrines are pretty deadly, so after you go 
into them, go into solo mode and use any invisibility 
enchantments you have. 

The Shrine of Passion has you walk through a pool 
of lava to reach the shrine. The Shrine of Control has 
you figure out a series of switches and levers (see 
diagram). There are drakes and daemons here. 

The Shrine of Diligence is a maze of doors (see 
diagram). There are also daemons here. Talk to the 
statue in each shrine and it will reveal its mantra . 

Return to the Temple of Singularity and speak the 
mantra UNORUS. This triggers your Sacred Quest. 

The Finale 
Use the moonstone to take you to the Isle of the 
Avatar. Go to the Codex and read the instructions. 
Place the Lenses according to the instructions from 
the Codex. Put the eight moonstones you freed from 
the shrines into the Vortex Cube. Place the Vortex 
Cube in front of the Codex and Use the Cube. 
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filtima VJ-Statistics. Maps. and other Hselul Jnlo 
Think of this chapter as an Ultima VT reference. This chapter contains information you'll find very useful while 
.ou are playing Ultima V. You'll especially find the maps helpful. Included here are maps for all the dungeons 
ind other locations handy charts, and other charts and tables designed to help you understand the world of 
Britannia better. 

Orb ol the moon:s 

lt moonglow :t lbl'ine of PDDiOD 0 lhrlne or llWgmce 
B lhl'ine of Jion~tv J lbl'ine of Valor l\ :tale or the llvatar 
c Bl'itain K Rew maglncia I 111r1ne or Jmsttce 
l) lhl'ine of CompDDion L Void T lharaBrae 
I Jhdom m Void u lhrine ol Jlonor 
f iillll'ine or Jiumllily R Yew v Trtmstc 
ti lhl'ine or Control 0 lbl'ine ol lpil'ilualily w lhrine ol lacrtflce 
Ii Ca::itle or Lord Bl'iti::ih p Thellab x l!Jlnoc 
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In this section you'll find pretty much 
all the maps you'll need when playing 
the game. They ' re mostly in 
alphabetical order , although the 
Gargoyle World maps are at the end. 

First are the Britannia town maps. 
Because there are so many maps , 
we've had to stuff them into these 
pages; otherwise we'd have had to call 
this book the Encyclopaedia of 
Ultima! 
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Getting ffround by Moongme in tlltima VJ 
The chart on the previous page indicates the locations you can reach using the Orb of the Moons. Simply Use 
!he Orb, then move the cursor to a location relative to the Avatar's position. When you click on that location, a 
Moongate will appear. It will take you to the place indicated on this chart. 

Creature Data 
This monster data is taken from one of the source files for Ultima 6 . This is how to interpret the tables: 

The first table gives the average stats for monsters that hatch from eggs. The actual stats may vary from 50% 
to 150% of this value. For example, alligators with average strength of 20 can range from 10 to 30. The values 
in this table are: 

STR strength DEX dexterity INT intelligence ARM armor (defense value) DMG damage (attack value) HP hit 
points 

Other notes: The monster listed as "Chest" is really a Mimic. The "Zu Rower" is just the central part of the 
Tangle Vine. 

Table U6-1 Monster Stats 

Ham11 SIB DEX INT ABM DMG HP ALIGNMENT Char# 
Acid Slug 5 5 2 0 1 10 CHAOTIC 000 
Alligator 20 10 3 6 10 30 CHAOTIC 001 
Giant Ant 16 15 2 3 8 10 CHAOTIC 002 
Avatar 25 25 25 0 4 30 GOOD 003 
Giant Bat 5 25 4 0 6 5 CHAOTIC 004 
Beggar 8 8 9 0 3 6 CHAOTIC 005 
Bird 1 28 4 0 1 3 NEUTRAL 006 
Child 8 8 9 0 2 6 CHAOTIC 007 
Corpser 17 6 3 0 15 40 CHAOTIC 008 
Cow 14 7 5 0 3 10 NEUTRAL 009 
Cyclops 27 8 7 4 20 40 EVIL 010 
Daemon 35 26 31 10 20 100 EVIL 011 
Deer 11 18 5 0 2 8 NEUTRAL 012 
Dog 5 16 8 0 3 6 NEUTRAL 013 
Dragon 40 35 27 12 30 150 EVIL 014 
Drake 22 22 13 4 10 50 EVIL 015 
Dress Wearer 10 14 15 0 4 8 NEUTRAL 016 
Farmer 15 15 10 0 4 8 NEUTRAL 017 
Fighter 20 17 11 0 6 20 CHAOTIC 018 
Gargoyle Leader 15 32 33 5 6 50 EVIL 019 
Gargoyle Worker 25 19 8 10 15 30 EVIL 020 
Gazer 2 10 21 0 1 20 EVIL 021 
Ghost 1 10 9 0 . 12 20 EVIL 022 
Gremlin 2 26 7 0 1 5 CHAOTIC 023 
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Guard 30 30 9 0 8 100 EVIL 024 
H_eadles_s 19 13 8 2 12 2D EVIL 025 
Horse 22 27 7 0 3 15 NEUTRAL 026 
Horse Rider 22 27 7 0 3 15 NEUTRAL 027 
Hydra Center 26 11 2 0 15 50 CHAOTIC 028 
lnsec 40 1 0 1 1 CHAOTIC 029 
Jester 14 16 12 0 4 8 CHAOTIC 030 
Lord BritLsh 30 30 30 30 255 255 GOOD 031 
Lute Player 12 16 14 0 4 8 CHAOTIC 032 
Mag 10 14 22_ a 4 30 E\LIL 033 
Merchant 12 12 18 0 4 8 EVIL 034 
Cites 22 9 8 5 15 30 CHAOTIC 035 
Mong bat 20 27 13 4 20 30 EVIL 036 
Mouse 2 25 3 0 2 5 NEUTRAL 037 
Rabbit 3 9 3 0 2 5 NEUTRAL 038 
Giant Rat 5 13 4 0 6 8 CHAOTIC 039 
Reaper 21 20 16 4 20 30 CHAOTIC 040 
.BotW 3 17 2 0 2 5 CHAOTIC 041 
Giant Scorpion 13 13 3 3 8 20 CHAOTIC 042 
SeaSe1pent 1Z 17 9 2 30 70 EVJL 043 
Sheep 5 10 4 0 2 6 NEUTRAL 044 
Ship 30 30 30 30 30 30 CHAOTIC 045 
Silver Serpent 60 21 8 15 60 200 CHAOTIC 046 
Skeleton 10 14 7 0 6 20 EVIL 047 
Slime 6 6 2 0 4 15 CHAOTIC 048 
Snake 7 6 1 2 5 CHAOTLC 049 
Giant Spider 9 11 4 0 8 10 CHAOTIC 050 
Giant Squid 24 20 8 0 20 50 EVIL 051 
Swashbuckler 15 18 12 0 4 15 CHAOTIC 052 
Tangle Vine 20 25 1 4 1 30 CHAOTIC 053 
Troll 18 14 9 4 6 15 EVIL 054 
Villager 11 12 12 0 4 8 CHP.OTIC 055 
Wisp 1 40 20 0 1 40 CHAOTIC 056 
Wolf 8 16 8 0 4 8 CHAOTIC 057 
Zu Flower 20 5 1 4 1 30 CHAOTIC 058 
Skllf 20 20 20 20 20 20 CHAOTIC 059 
Raft 10 10 10 10 10 10 CHAOTIC 060 
Balloon 10 10 10 10 10 0 CHAOTIC 061 
Cat 4 18 8 0 2 6 NEUTRAL 062 
Stocks 11 12 12 0 4 8 CHAOTIC 063 
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The second table gives a list of immunities and other attributes of each monster type: 

A immune to sleep 
B immune to death spells 
c immune to poison 
D immune to fire 
E takes double damage from fire 
F uses strength rather than dexterity to hit in combat 
G causes poison damage on a successful attack 
H takes half damage from nonmagical weapons 
I can fly 
J can move through water 
K can move through any terrain, including walls 
L leaves no body when killed 
M fizzles away when killed 
N leaves blood when killed 
0 can walk through doors, etc. 

Table U6-2 Monster Abilities 

Acid Slug A E M 
Alligator F N L c 
Giant Ant A F N L 
Avatar F N 0 
Giant Bat I L N 
Beggar F N 0 
Bird I L N 
Child F N 0 
Corpser A E L 
Cow F N L 
Cyclops F N 
Daemon A B D F H N 
Deer N 
Dog N 
Dragon D I M 
Drake D I N 
Dress Wearer F N 0 
Farmer F N 0 
Fighter F N 0 
Gargoyle Leader A F I N 
Gargoyle Worker F N 
Gazer A F I M 
Ghost A D B c K H M 
Gremlin L 
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Guard F N 0 
Headless F N 
Horse F N L 
Horse Rider F N 

Hydra A D F M 
Insect A I L 
Jester F N 0 
Lord British F N 0 
Lute Player F N 0 
Mage F N 0 
Merchant F N 0 
Mimic c A F 
Mo11gb I N 
Mouse N 
Rabbit L N 
Giant Rat c G L N 
Reaper A E F 
Rot Worm c A E G L 
Giant Scoepion A G N 
Sea Serpent J L 
Sheep N 
Ship J 
Silver Serpent G M A D B F 
Skeleton c H 
Slime A E G M 
Snake G N 
Spider G N 
Squid A G J L 
Swashbuckler F N 0 
Tangle Vine A E F 
Troll F N 
Villager F N 0 

Wisp A B D F K M 
Wolf N 
Zu Flower A E F 
Skiff J 
Raft J 
Balloon I 
Cat N 
Stocks L 
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Original Equipment 
The third table is a list of equipment generated with the monster when it is created. The special abilities in the 
first row are mostly the names of spells that it can cast. Bet Sanct Lor is an invisibility spell that makes only the 
caster invisible. 

Table U6-3 Equipment Inventories 

Beggar Dagger. Club, Cloth 
Cow Mutton 
Cyclops Two-Randed Hammer, Sling, Clull, Scale ~au, Iron Hefm, Spiked Shield, Chest 
Daemon Ort Jux, Bet Sanct Lor, Par Flam, An Xen Ex 
Deer Mutton 
Dragon Par Flam, Flam Hur, Ort Grav, Vas Ort Grav, Kai Xen Corp, Chest, Gold, Gold 
Drake Por Flam, Ort Grav, Gold, Gold 
Dress Wearer Dagger, Cloth, Gold 
Farmer Hoe, Pitchfork, Clo1h Armour, Gom 
Fighter Sword, Crossbow, Chain Mail, Curved Heater, Iron Helm, Plate Mail, Gold, Gold 
Garg Leader Ort Grav, Vas Por Flam, An Xsn Por. Two-Handed Sword, Bow, Halberd, Boomerang, leather Armour. 

Garg Worker 
Gazer 
Ghost 
Guard 
Headless 
Hydra 
Jester 
Lute Player 
Mage 

Leather Helm, Spell 
Club, Boomerang, Throwing Axe, Leather Helm, Wooden Shield, Leather Armour, Scale Mail 
In Zu, Ort Gra An Xsn Ex 
Bet Sanct Lor, Quas Corp 
Crossbow, Halbe late Mail Curved Heater, Iron Helm, G=ol=d-----~---~~~~ 
Club, Spear, Cloth Armour, Wooden Shield, Gold 
An Xsn Por, Vas Ort Gray, Grav Hur. Ort Grav 
Dagger, Sling, Cloth Armour, Gold 
Bow, Sling, Sword, Ring Mail, Leather Helm, Wooden Shield Gold, Lute 
Ort Jux, Par Flam, In Zu, Kai Xen, Ort Grav, An Xen Ex, An Xen Par, Flam Hur, Dagger, Cloth Armour, Leather 
Helm, Spell, Chest, Gold 

Merchant Dagger, Sword, Cloth Armour, Leather Helm, Gold 
Mimic In Nox Par, An Xen Ex, Chest, Chest 
Mongbat Dagger, Sword, Spear, Throwing Axe, Wooden Shiel Cloth Armour, Leather Armour, Chest, Gold 
Rabbit Dead Animal 
Reaper Ort Jux, An Xen 8, Kif Bet Xen, Ort Grav, Spe I, GOI ---------------
Sea Serpent Par Flam, Flam Hur, In FlamGrav 
Sheep Mutton 
Skeleton Sword, Spear, Throwing Axe, Bow, Dagger, Wooden Shield, Leather Helm, Gold 
Spider In Ues Por, Mutton 
Squid Ort Jux, Ort Grav 
Swashbucl<ler SworCI, Bow, Slmg, Ring Mal , eattier Reim, WOOffiiil Sfilel , Golct, GOICI 
Troll Throwing Axe, Spear, Sword, Bow, Club, Wooden Shield, Leather Armour, Leather Helm, Ring Mail, Chest, 

Villager 
Wisp 
Zu Ffower 

Gold, Gold 
Sword, Sling, Clo Armour, Go~ld~-------------------~ 
In Zu, An Xen Par, Ort Par 
lnlu 

329 



Weapon Ranges, Attack Values, etc. 
The fourth table gives armor protection ratings while the fifth and sixth tables reveal weapons range 
and damage ratings, respectively. 

Table U6-4 Armor Ratings 

Defense value of armor: 

Leather Helm ........................ 1 
Chain Coif ............................. 2 
Iron Helm ............................. 3 
Spiked Helm ......................... 3 
Winged Helm ........................ 2 
Brass Helm ........................... 2 
Spartan Helm ........................ 3 
Magic Helm .......................... 5 
Wooden Shield ..................... 2 
Curved Heater ....................... 3 
Winged Shield ...................... 3 
Kite Shield ............................ 3 
Spiked Shield ........................ 2 
Black Shield .......................... 2 
Door Shield ........................... 4 
Magic Shield ......................... 5 
Cloth Armour ........................ 1 
Leather Armour .................... 2 
Ring Mail .............................. 3 
Scale Mail ............................. 4 
Chain Mail... .......................... 5 
Plate Mall... ........................... 7 
Magic Armour ..................... 10 
Main Gauche ......................... 1 
Spiked Collar ........................ 2 
Ring of Protection ................ 5 

Table U6-5 Weapon 
Range Ratings 

Weapon ranges: 

Morning Star. ........................ 2 
Halberd ................................. 2 
Dagger .................................. 3 
Oil ......................................... 5 
Sling ..................................... .4 
Throwing Axe ........................ 3 
Spear .................................... 4 
Bow ....................................... 5 
Crossbow .............................. 7 
Spellbook ..........................•... 7 
Charge .................................. 5 
Boomerang ........................... 5 
Triple Crossbow .................... 7 
Ship ...................................... 5 
Sleeping Powder ................... 4 
Magic Bow ............................ 7 
Lightning Wand ..................... 7 
Fire Wand .............................. 7 
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Table U6-6 Weapon 
Damage Ratings 

Weapon damage values: 
Spiked Helm ....................... 4 
Sling ................................... 6 
Club .................................... 8 
Main Gauche ...................... 8 
Spear. ............................... 10 
Throwing Axe .................. .10 
Dagger ............................... 6 
Mace ................................ 15 
Morning Star .................... 15 
Bow .................................. 10 
Crossbow ......................... 12 
Sword .............................. 15 
Two-Handed Hammer ...... 20 
Two-Handed Axe .............. 20 
Two-Handed Sword ........ 10 
Halberd ............................ 30 
Boomerang ........................ 8 
Triple Crossbow ............... 12 
Glass Sword ................... 255 
Spiked Shield ..................... 4 
Cannon ............................. 90 
Oil ...................................... 4 
Magic Bow ...................... 10 
Rolling Pin ......................... 2 
Scythe ................................ 6 
Pitchfork ............................ 4 
Pick .................................... 4 
Shovel ................................ 4 
Hoe ................................... 4 
Cleaver ............................... 4 
Knife ................................... 4 
Decorative Sword ............... 4 
Ship .................................. 30 
Sleeping Powder ........... 0 
Staff .......................... 4 
Llghtning Wand .......... 30 
Hre Wand .................. 20 
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£ntry 1-"frin:iic 

W 
e sat by a fire at the Emerald in 
Cove, Carlotta and I, with the 
man who called himself Avatar 
and his companions. The light 

- danced along the walls and our 
shadows danced with it. 

Around the fire with us were the Avatar (I shall call 
him that from now on , though I retain some 
reservations}, Iolo , and Jaana. The young boy, Spark, 
lay just behind them, and Shamino and Sentri played 
a game of chess by the light of a lantern in the 
northern alcove of the room. I have only their own 
claims that they are who they say they are. However, I 
am near to being convinced. 

The Avatar sat near the flames and his face was 
often shrouded in darkness. When I saw his face at all , 
it seemed to shift, as if he were many people-his 
features were never the same from moment to 
moment. I know it was nothing but an illusion of the 
dim light, but it struck me nonetheless. 

He began his tale in his home world, speaking of a 
visitation, a voice, and a fearsome image he had seen. 
It was this phantasm that had brought him once again 
to Britannia. 

The Avatar spoke in low, even tones, obviously lost 
in his memories. 

0 0 0 

I only knew that Britannia was in 
trouble. Many years back, I 
would have dismissed the 
apparition as nothing more than 
a strange dream. But, though 
some time had passed since my 
last visit to Britannia, this fair 
world was never far from my 
thoughts. I could not ignore a 
threat to this enchanted land of 
adventure. I could not pretend it 
was a dream. 

Of course, the fact that a red Moongate awaited me in 
the circle of stones left me no doubt that "the game was 
afoot," to quote Doyle. There was no time to consider. I 
flung myself into the pulsating doorway, felt myself 
wrenched in that familiar way, my stomach turning over 
and my vision blurring; then I stepped out onto the street of 
a city at once familiar and strange. 

As the gate slowly receded behind me, an old man 
accosted me. At first, I failed to recognize him. He had 
changed much. But his voice ... it could only be lolo! 

"Avatar! If I did not trust the infallibility of mine own 
eyes, I would not believe it! I was just thinking to myself, 'If 
only the Avatar were here! ' Then . . . Lo and behold! Who 
says that magic is dying! Here is living proof that it is natl' 

I must have stood there seeming dumb struck and 
dazed, because my friend felt obliged to explain. "Dost thou 
realize, Avatar, that it hath been 200 Britannian years since 
we last met? Why, thou hast not aged at all! " 

Of course we both knew why he had aged and I had not 
He had stayed in Britannia. I had been .. . elsewhere. 

My reunion with lolo was interrupted by Petre, a young 
peasant, who mentioned the stables. lolo's joy sudden~ 
turned to concern as he glanced over at a nearby building. 

"Ah, yes. Our friend Petre here discovered something 
truly ghastly this morning." lolo walked up to me and began 
to guide me toward the nearby doorway. "Take a look inside 
the stables. I shall accompany thee." 

As I was about to enter the stables, a burly man 
approached us. lolo introduced him as Finnigan, the Mayor 
of Trinsic. Did I mention that I was in Trinsic? 

The Mayor, though skeptical of me, accepted lolo's 
assurances and asked me to help investigate what was 
apparently a grisly murder. Of course I agreed, though I 
was still unsure whether this murder had anything to do 
with the circumstances that had brought me once again lo 
Britannia. 

It was cool and dark inside the stables and it took a 
minute for my eyes to adjust to the dim light. When they did 
I took an involuntary step back from the horror before me. 

Splayed out was the body of Christopher-{)r rather 
what was left of him. Black candles had been placed at hlS 
hands and feet. The monsters who had performed this to~ 
deed had eviscerated him. They'd pulled his entrails from 
his body and disposed of them heaven only knew where. To 
the right of his body was an overflowing bucket. I stepped 
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ciose to see what it held and put my hand up to my mouth 
to keep from retching. Red-black and clotted, it contained 
blood. 

I staggered away from the body, past the stalls. On the 
ground , mixed among the hoof prints were bloody 
footprints criss-crossing over one another. 

In the small tack-room I discovered yet another outrage. 
Hanging from the northern wall was a dead gargoyle. His 
body sagged forward against the binding that held him, 
cutting cruelly into his scaly flesh . A pitchfork protruded 
~om his stomach. From the expression on his face, I knew 
he had suffered greatly before he met his death. 

Steeling myself, I turned from the body and walked back 
to Christopher's corpse. There might be a clue to his 
murder somewhere around here, I thought. I looked the 
body over, trying hard to remain dispassionate . I 
discovered a key resting on his leg . Snatching it from it 
grisly resting place, with a shudder I wiped it off on my 
pants leg. 

Who in Britannia would perform such a deed? What had 
happened to Britannia since I'd left? 

I left the stables on unsteady legs , I can tell you. I 
sought out Finnigan again and he asked if I had searched 
the stables. I was surprised he had to ask; my expression 
should have told him I had. But he asked what I had found. 
What should I tell him? A body? A bucket of blood? I told 
him I had found a key and he seemed pleased at my 
progress. 

"Hmmm, a key. Perhaps if thou dost ask Christopher's 
son about it, he may know what it is for." 

Of the murder, Finnigan entreated me to talk to the 
townsfolk and try to piece together the mystery. He asked 
that I report to him when my investigation was complete. 
Oh, and he added one comment I thought significant. 

"Actually, I have seen something like this before. It was 
about four years ago , in Britain ," he told me in a 
conspiratorial whisper. Obviously he didn't want to upset 
the townsfolk. 

I asked him to tell me more about the events in Britain 
and he said, '"Twas before I came to Trinsic. There was a 
murder with strikingly similar aspects. A body was found 
mutilated exactly like poor Christopher. It appeared to be a 
ritualistic killing . I would wager that whoever was 
responsible for that murder is the culprit behind this one." 

I asked the good Mayor some additional questions 

about the folk in Trinsic, but his answers did little to solve 
the mystery. So I took my leave of him and, with lolo, 
headed to the northwest corner of town to find the 
murdered man's son. whose name was Spark. 

0 0 0 

Just then a small boy, who had been dozing in the 
comer of the room, sat up and said, "Milord Avatar? 
Didst call me?" 

"No, Spark. I merely mentioned the time we first 
met. Rest now. " 

But the boy was wide awake and began to push his 
way nearer the fire . "May I tell it? Please? May I tell 
the story?" he entreated. 

It was obvious the Avatar had a soft spot for this 
young lad , and he smiled as he told the boy to 
proceed. 

0 0 0 

When I seen him coming .. . 
"When I saw him coming," 

corrected lolo. 
Like I said, when I seen him 

coming, I was afraid , but I 
wasn't going to show it. I knew 
why he had come, him and his 
friend there. They came to take 
me away to a orphanage. I had 
my sling ready. I'm good with it, 
I am. 

My father was a good man. 
He ... he raised me good. I didn't need no one telling me 
nothin'. 

Then he tells me he 's the Avatar! Thou couldst 'a' 
blowed me down . . .. He might as well 'a' told me he was 
Lord British hisself. That I would'a' believed , maybe. 

Well, his friend here, lolo, vouches for 'im, and I guess I 
was glad he wasn't some Fellowship flunky tryin' to take me 
somewhere I didn't want to go. And he did look familiar, 
like a painting I remember of the Avatar. 

After that, I told him everything I knew. He asked a lot of 
questions. I told him about the dream I had and about 
running out in the night and seeing the man with the hook 
and the wingless gargoyle. And of finding ... Father. 

335 



UL'l'lHJlI: The livZltZJ.r lldventures 

0 0 0 

At this point the boy began to sob and the Avatar 
patted him on the back to comfort him, taking up the 
story. 
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He's a brave lad. He led us to 
our first clues . Of particular 
interest was his mention of an 
argument between his father 
and the Fellowship head, Klog. 

At one point the boy asked to 
join us. Neither lolo nor I was 
much in favor of taking so 
young a child on our quest. 
From past experience, I knew 
my adventures in Britannia to be 

dangerous for even the most hardy warrior. But then the 
boy did something to change our minds. He shot a fly from 
the air above lolo's head. Whether it was a masterful shot, 
or just lucky, we could not tell. But it was bold, and the boy 
passionately wanted to avenge his father. Rarely have I 
seen Iola so taken by surprise .. 

Iola interrupted. "I am not accustomed to allowing 
people to shoot in my direction ... and live." 

Yes, my friend. But it gave me a good laugh. Anyway, I 
decided to let the boy join us, and I think we have been his 
family ever since. 

Upstairs we found a chest, and opened it with the key 
from the stables. There was a large sum of gold , a 
Fellowship medallion, and a scroll which spoke of a delivery 
and a payment. There was no point in leaving these items, 
so we took the gold and the medallion , with Spark's 
permission, putting both in my pack. We also learned of 
Christopher's shop, and we decided to head down to the 
southwestern part of town with Spark as a guide. 

Before we left Spark's house, we heard the parrot 

squawking something about a treasure. "I know where the 
treasure is!" it said. 

I didn't think much about it, but then Spark did 
something that surprised me. He took the 11zrnunu from the 
table near the bed and hit the parrot over the head with it. I 

was about to reprimand him when the parrot spoke again. 
This time it told us the c:oorllinntes for a treasure. I wrote 
them down somewhere. Perhaps we'll find this treasure on 
our quest, though it is probably of little importance. 

But we were still in for some surprises. On the way to 
the blacksmith's shop, we stopped at the weapons shop. 
The proprietor was a surly man named Dell. He seemed 
impatient either to sell something or to see the last of us 
But it was when I told him I was the Avatar that he said 
something really strange. 

"Oh, art thou really?" he asked. "I did not know there 
were so many of thee! Why, only last week did an 'Avatar' 
come through here! He took me for 20 gold, too! An expert 
trickster, he was!" 

This was the first I had heard of an Avatar impostor 
Unfortunately, it was not to be the last. I almost purchased 
a two-handed sword, but I didn't like the man's attitude. I 
decided to wait until I found a more civil shopkeeper before 
I equipped myself. We did buy something, though-some 
additional crossbow bolts for Iola. Even then, this was one 
shopkeeper who was hard to please. As we concluded our 
business, he had the audacity to tell us to spend more 
money next time. 

By the way, I noticed a strange leuer near the front of 
the shop. I think it opens a s ecret boor through the wall in 

the back of the armory. 

Dell's ~ecret Lever 
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The blacksmith's shop was eerie. First I thought I heard 
maniacal laughter. I glanced at my companions, lolo and 
the boy, but they seemed not to have heard anything. 
Before I could mention it, my attention quickly shifted to the 
room itself. I could swear the place was haunted. Chairs 
moved by themselves, doors opened and closed, and 
torches suddenly burst into flame. There was little of use 
here; a little gold, that's all. 

From the smithy, we went to the healer's, just to the 
northwest. Here we interviewed Gilberto, the guard on duty 
when the murders occurred. He told us what he'd seen, but 
the most important clue he gave us had to do with the ship, 
il:qt C!:roftm 3)efuel, that had sailed out that night. 

We left Gilberto and searched more of the city. We 
spoke with many people, but learned little else. I remember 
seeing some swamp boots in a small house in the northern 
part of the city. Spark remarked that they'd be useful, but I 
didn't know their owner. Besides, I told him, we could buy 
our own from Dell, if we wished. Spark made a face when I 
mentioned Dell's name. "I have no desire to see him again," 
he told me. 

We met Klog, the head of the Fellowship in Trinsic. This 
was our first encounter with the Fellowship, and I was quite 
curious about it. Though he seemed in many ways a 
genuinely kind man, I couldn't help wondering about him. 
Already I was getting conflicting impressions about the 
Fellowship. But Klog mentioned some Fellowship visitors 
who had recently left and then spoke of an argument 
Christopher had had with the Fellowship. I found myself 
putting pieces together. Spark had also said something 
about that. 

Spark sat up then, saying, "They killed him, I know it." 
And the Fellowship itself .. .. What was this Fellowship 

all about, anyway? I thought of staying around for one of 
their meetings, but neither lolo nor Spark wanted to wait. 
Besides, Klog had recommended that I meet Ballin , the 
Fellowship's founder, in Britain. lolo and I agreed that we 
had best follow the trail to Britain. 

After taking our leave of Klog, we found the Mayor in his 
office and told him what we had seen. We told him about 
the man with the (ioolt and the Qhofun 3)efuel, and he seemed 
satisfied that we had done all we could in Trinsic. He 
handed me a fair sum of gold, which I knew would come in 
handy, and told me the password to get past the guard at 
the city's entrance. 

ffiA'RkUS Tb€ T'RAlNER 
t>ell'S SPA.Rk 
WEAPONS 

i;<if1N smnbv 
Cb.A.'NTU Tb€ bEA.l 

"frinsic. 

0 0 0 

By this time Spark had nearly fallen asleep on the 
floor , obviously comforted both by proximity to the 
Avatar and by the warmth of the fire . I watched , 
feeling very sorry for the boy, as Carlotta laid a light 
blanket over him. The Avatar paused in his story and I 
was afraid he too would grow tired before finishing his 
tale . But Carlotta , obviously sharing my concern, 
fetched a fresh draught of ale , which he took 
gratefully. As she handed it to him, she said, "You 
were telling us about the password . . . " 

I don 't think our obvious attentions escaped his 
notice-I , poised with my notebook in hand; she , 
catering to his thirst for ale as he catered to our thirst 
for knowledge. His amusement was evidenced by a 
slight grin and by the sparkle of his eyes in the 
flickering illumination. 
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We left Trinsic soon after our 
meeting with the Mayor. The 
guard raised the portcullis and we 
stepped out into the wilderness of 
Britannia. It had been long since I 
had seen the Britannian sea and 
forest. I admit I was happy to be 
away from Tri nsic , with its 
gruesome murders and its 
Fellowship. Outdoors I was much 
more content. 

We walked north along the rutted path toward Paws. I 
noticed how much wider and more heavily traveled the road 
was. There had been many changes in 200 years, and the 
amount of traffic on the roadway seemed to be one of 
them. But my reverie was to be short-lived, for, as we 
walked along the road leading to Paws, once again I heard 
the Voice that had called me to this adventure. It told me I 
was going in the right direction. It was unnerving. 

"lolo! " I cried. "Did you hear that?" 
lolo just stared at me then. 
"I thought him mad," interjected Iola from somewhere 

deep in the folds of an eiderdown to the left of the fire. 
"I heard nothing untoward, Avatar," he told me. 
"lolo, my good friend ," I entreated. "You mean you 

didn't hear a voice just now?" 
But by now I knew the answer, so I hastily interrupted his 

reply. "Never mind. It was nothing. Let's not waste time. 
Look! Young Spark is running ahead. He'll be in danger if he 
reaches the swamp up ahead. Come, let's catch up with him." 

And so I distracted my friend from thinking any more 
about my hearing things he could not. The truth was that 
I'd heard the voice of a creature speaking to me, but I must 
have been the only one. Yet it was definitely the same voice 
I'd heard before, the one that had brought me here. Of that I 
was sure. Why was this voice trying to give me advice, 
however useful? I'm sure you can see I had more questions 
at this time than answers. 

:Entry 2-PaW:) 
he Avatar paused for a 
moment, sipping his ale, as the 
fire crackled and a sudden wind 
blew through the chinks in the 
walls, sending a chill up my 

spine. Iolo got up and poked some new life into the 
fire then added a split log. There was a brief moment 
of darkness as the new log blocked the flames, then 
the fire began to lick along its edges. We all watched. 
in that most human fascination with fires that we aU 
share, as the flames toyed with the new log. Then it 
reached its kindling temperature and the whole 
fireplace roared back to life. 

A few moments later, the Avatar continued his tale. 

We arrived at Paws almost 
without further incident. 
although there was one small 
occurrence of note. I had put the 
mysterious voice behind me, but 
we had all decided to bypass the 
road through the swamp and try 
to go around to the west of the 
area. So we began to walk along 
the western edge of the swamp. 
The day was pleasant, and we 

walked slowly. Meanwhile, Spark kept searching for stones 
for his sling. He practiced shooting at some of the small 
creatures that lived in the pools and fens of the swamp. 

Well, when we were about midway through the swamp. 
near a small stream on our left, Spark bent down to gather 
some stones from a pile of debris. He let out a low whistle. 

"Avatar, come look! " he cried. 
At first I was alarmed, but then I saw the bluish glow of 

a magically enchanted object peeking from beneath the pile 
of stones. Spark triumphantly handed me a pair of magic 
gauntlets. 

"Well done, lad," I said. 
"They won't fit me, but they may fit thy hands," he said 

seriously. 
"Yes, Spark. I believe they'll fit me perfectly. Thank you 

You've got a sharp eye." 
I think the lad was pleased. I know I was. The gauntlets 

fit perfectly and I knew they would protect me well. 
From there, we made it quickly to the edge of the little 

village of Paws. I entered , enjoying a certain sense of 
nostalgia. Paws was still small. It had grown a little, but not 
so much as to have become unrecognizable. 

We came along the western edge of a slaughterhouse 
and saw a man working there. A cow grazed in the field 
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outside. I can't say I liked the looks of this man-he had a 
shifty look about him-but it was my habit to speak with 
people as I met them. This man, Morfin, turned out to be 
even ruder than Dell I 

"Oh, there must be a traveling show in town!" he tells 
me. "That is a very nice clown costume! Who art thou?" 

Imagine my surprise at such a greeting! But I answered 
honestly. "I am the Avatar," I said. Usually people treated 
me well once they knew my identity, but Morfin's response 
reminded me that times had changed-not necessarily for 
the better. 

Sneering as he began to turn away from me, he said, 
"Thou art a vile fool, desperate for others to like thee. I 
would pity thee, were it not that I loathe thee even more!" 

I could feel lolo getting ready to raise his crossbow and 
give this man a lesson in civility, but I was not anxious to 
rise to such foolish bait. The man was walking away, but I 
approached him again. This time I smiled as I greeted him, 
you know, as if I really liked being insulted. It seemed to 
confuse the man a moment. I don't imagine he was used to 
people smiling at him after their first meeting. Whatever the 
reason, this time he was civil in his greeting. And when I 
asked nicely for an apology, he gave it, though I still was 
not satisfied it was genuine. 

But Morfin had quite a tale to tell. I learned, by asking 
him many questions, that he was a diversified merchant 
who prospered in the small village of Paws . His 

slaughterhouse was doing very well, and he did a lucrative 
business selling silver serpent venom, which people used 
to enhance their strength. The venom had less desirable 
side effects, however, and the longer I listened, the less I 
liked the substance. 

It turned out that some of this venom had been stolen. 
Morfin was quite distressed about it. In fact, he asked me to 
help investigate the crime, and I agreed to do so. I cared 
little for Morfin's own loss, but the silver serpent venom 
itself seemed a dangerous substance, and I thought it wise 
to get to the bottom of the situation. 

At Morfin's suggestion, we sought out Feridwyn, the 
local Fellowship leader. We found him across the bridge to 
the northwest. 

Feridwyn looked no more friendly than Morfin had, but 
at least he was civil as he greeted me. He did, however, 
express his doubts as to the authenticity of my claim to be 
the as Avatar. 

After some small talk, Feridwyn turned out to be a 
good source of information about the people in Paws. 
From listening to Feridwyn, I was able to make some 
guesses about who was friendly to the Fellowship and 
who was not. But I was no more sure who had stolen the 
venom than before. 

One of the men Feridwyn mentioned was Merrick, a 
farmer who had turned to the Fellowship in hard times. We 
found him in the Fellowship shelter. The man was obviously 
a nervous wreck, though he claimed to have been much 
improved by the Fellowship. Like Morfin, he started out by 
insulting me. 

"Thou art a most pathetic little worm. Really, all this 
Avatar nonsense is nothing more than a sad plea for 
attention," he told me. I found myself wondering if there 
was an epidemic of psycho babble running rampant 
throughout Britannia. People seemed to be trying to analyze 
my personality. But, like Morfin, Merrick then apologized. 
He also mentioned the Avatar impostors, something I found 
even more distressing than the amateur psychoanalysis. 
Besides that he told me little, other than to regale me with 
the Fellowship credo , the so-called Triad of Inner 
Strength-Strive For Unity, Trust Thy Brother and 
Worthiness Precedes Reward. 

Before leaving the Fellowship shelter, I chanced to 
speak with Alina, an impoverished young woman-a 
mother with a newborn child. She told me of her husband, 
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who had been imprisoned in Britain. And what she told me 
of the Fellowship only added to my already growing distrust 
of them. 

North of the shelter, I came across a young boy playing 
in the meadows. This was Garritt, the son of Feridwyn and 
Brita. He seemed friendly enough, but he displayed an 
arrogance that I found less than appealing. He had nothing 
good to say about the people of Paws, and I cut our 
conversation short as soon as I could. 

Just north of the Fellowship shelter, we came upon a 
small farm and, working in the field outside, an attractive 
young widow named Camille. Unlike the others in this town, 
she recognized me immediately as the true Avatar. We 
spoke of the Fellowship, and I must say she had adopted an 
enlightened attitude. Though she had some doubts about 
the Fellowship itself, she recognized the good that some of 
its members did. 

Camille asked me to deliver a bag of wheat to Thurston, 
at the mill. Since I was going to have to see Thurston 
anyway, I agreed. 

Tobias was Camille's son. An unhappy lad, he worked by 
her side in the field , but would not look me in the eye. 
However, when I asked him about the Fellowship, he 
certainly heated up. And I have to say that he was much 
more thoughtful than I had expected. Despite his occasional 
rudeness, by the time I had left the lad I'd grown to like him. 

As I left the small farm, I had a vivid picture of a town 
divided in two. There were those who prospered and those 
who suffered. There were those who followed the 
Fellowship's guidance, and those who disdained it. I felt sad 
for the people of Paws. It had once been an innocent little 
village. The petty politics and personalities that I had 
witnessed were a sad commentary on the evolution of 
Britannian society. In the days of Blackthorn, an evil force 
had shifted the meaning of the Virtues, oppressing the 
people. Now the Virtues were passe. Now I was passe. Now 
the Fellowship and its Triad of Inner Strength were the light 
that people followed. 

We all shifted uncomfortably before the Avatar's anger. 
If this man was an impostor, he did a very good 
imitation of righteous indignation. I was silent, brooding 
over the picture of our fair land this man had painted. 

Carlotta was not so retiring. "What did you do 
next, Avatar?" she asked. 

Well, I took the grain to the mill 
and delivered it to Thurston, of 
course. I'd promised to do so. 
Thurston had little to say, 
though . Outside the mill I met 
two beggars, Komar and Fenn. 
These were embittered men, 
particularly Komar, and yet their 
independence and self-reliance, 
even in adversity , had to be 
admired. 

I decided to return to Camille's farm to tell her I had 
delivered the grain, but as I was passing the shelter. 
Feridwyn came running out after me. "Avatar! Oh, Avatar! I 
have news!" he shouted . "Garritt, my son, told me that 
Tobias was in possession of some silver snake venom. I 
went to investigate and found Tobias with it! " 

This disturbed me. I had liked Tobias, but it looked as rt 
he'd been the thief all along. Who could blame him, after 
all? Paws was so full of bitterness, it would not surprise me 
if some had rubbed off on the youngster. Still , after 
listening to Feridwyn gloat over his discovery, I resolved to 
investigate further. 

When I returned to the small farm, Camille ran over to 
me and protested her son's innocence. I would have 
expected no less. But she was convinced that someone had 
placed the venom in Tobias' possession to frame him. This 
too seemed plausible. 

I returned to Morfin, who had promised to keep his eyes 
open. Though I had no reason to like the man, I thought he 
might have something to say about Tobias. What he said 
surprised me, however. For when I told him the news about 
Tobias, he responded, "I am not so sure Tobias was the one 
who stole the venom. I have not seen any of the signs of venom 
use in Tobias and I am quite familiar with its symptoms." 

He went on to mention that Garritt had seemed very 
tired of late, alternating between hyperactivity and lethargy 
Morfin suggested that I search Garritt's belongings 
Coincidentally, Morfin had found a key Garritt had dropped 
while playing in the area. He gave it to me. 

0 0 0 

"Hmmm," I muttered. "That seems a great deal of 
coincidence." 
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The Avatar smiled. "Yes, perhaps. But remember, 
the silver serpent venom can also affect the mind. If a 
child as young as Garritt had used it , he might have 
grown quite careless and would sometimes have 
trouble concentrating on what he was doing. Anyway, 
when one is out on an adventure , one accepts all 
assistance offered . Sometimes the smallest 
coincidence may spell the difference between life and 
death , or, as in this case, guilt and innocence." 

"So I suppose you found the evidence you sought 
among Garritt 's possessions," Carlotta guessed. 

"Yes," answered the Avatar, smiling again . "The 
key opened a chest, and inside the chest was a bag 
containing the venom. When I confronted Garritt, he 
confessed. Feridwyn promised me that it would never 
happen again . I wasn 't convinced that anyone had 
really learned a lesson, though. Feridwyn seemed still 
to blame Tobias for leading his son astray, and Garritt 
himself attempted to justify his actions, claiming he 
was trying to help the Fellowship by forcing Tobias 
and his mother to join. It is unfortunate that some 
people cling so tightly to their delusions. Still , there 
was little more I could do for them. 

"But I was not quite finished in Paws," the Avatar 
continued, as lolo poked at the fire once again. 

This whole business of the 
venom bothered me, so I 
decided to investigate a little 
more. I found Morfin's house at 
the far north edge of town. In it I 
found a key, which I borrowed. 
Andrew at the dairy-did I 
mention him already? Anyway, 
Andrew had told me about the 
locked storeroom . I wanted a 
look inside. 

In the slaughterhouse, I investigated a little and 
discovered another key, hidden under a bucket of blood. 
The first key opened the storeroom. The second opened a 
chest containing many gold bars, a ledger, and a quantity of 
silver serpent venom. 

I discovered some interesting sales in the ledger and went 
to confront Morfin with my discovery. First he expressed his 
gratitude that I had returned the stolen venom. But then, with 
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Paws 
the evidence of his ledger before him, he admitted selling the 
venom to the Britannian Mining Company, which was not 
strictly legal. He seemed unconcerned with the effect the 
venom would have on the gargoyles who worked for the 
mining company. He also revealed that he got his supply from 
friends in Buccaneer's Den. 

morphin's t>luughterhouse 
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I could think of nothing to do with Morfin just then. I 
didn't like him, or his traffic in the venom, but there were 
other matters that needed my attention. These matters 
beckoned me and my companions to Britain. We began the 
next leg of our journey immediately. But before we left, we 
confi scated the vials of venom from the chest. Morfin 
raised no objections. 

We also chanced to stop at a local curio shop. There I 
found a Sextant at a reasonable price. There was an ornate 
hourglass there that lolo admired, but we didn't purchase it, 
having no idea what we would do with it on our adventure. 
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Entry 3-llritain 
I was surprised at how quickly 
we reached Britain . On my 
previous visits, Paws had been a 
good distance from Britain. Now 
the great capital city began just 
north of Camille 's farm . I was 
reminded of an expression from 
my homeland-"urban sprawl." 

We walked north along one 
of the main streets, passing an 

open-air food market on our left. Soon we came to a shop 
that carried the sign of an apothecary. 

.. . ~-- - . ......,_. ___ _ 
"Could this be the place Morfin has been selling his 

venom?" I asked lolo. 
"Verily, Avatar, 'tis possible," he agreed. "This may be 

the same place." 
So we entered the shop and spoke with Kessler, the 

apothecary. I was curious why he'd been purchasing the 
venom in the first place . At first I'd suspected some 
nefarious scheme or some less than virtuous purpose. After 
all , he had been dealing with Morfin. But Kessler was 
working in conjunction with Lord British to learn about the 
effects of the venom and to warn people. 

"People need to be alerted to how dangerous silver 
snake venom is," he told us earnestly. "To this end I wish to 
announce my findings before Lord British and a consortium 
of lords and mayors, but to do that I must first finish my 
study." 

When Kessler offered to purchase any venom I could 
supply, of course I offered the vials I'd confiscated from 
Morfin. He wouldn't take them free, but insisted on paying 
me for each vial. I promised to put the money to good use 

and he promised to work hard to complete his studies. 
From the apothecary shop we continued northward until 

we reached the next corner, where lolo stopped me. 
"My friend, we've arrived at the Blue Boar. Let us down 

an ale and rest a moment," he suggested. 
"I really want to go see Lord British," I began to say, but 

lolo interrupted me. 
"The King? Aye, we'll see him soon enough. But he's 

grown set in his ways. He'll be there waiting, but I'll be in 
the mood to meet him better with a bellyful." 

I laughed, but Spark poked lolo in the back and asked. 
"What about me? I could use a drink or something to eat!" 

"Have no fear, little one," answered lolo. "We'll find 
something for ye. Perhaps a good plate of carrots?" 

"Ugh! " responded Spark, kicking lolo playfully in the 
shins and running down the street. 

"Ill-begotten urchin," yelled lolo, hopping on one foot. 
"He 's a brave lad to challenge me so," Iola added. "But 

he won 't catch me unawares so easily next time." 
So we followed Spark through the front door of the Blue 

Boar, but before we had gone a step, Spark turned in 

amazement and told me, "Britain sure is big! " 
"The city has grown much in 200 years," I told him. I 

suppose that the Blue Boar was very large by comparison 
with anything Trinsic had to offer. 

Finally we entered the front room of the tavern. There 
we found an old friend sitting behind the harpsichord. A 
somewhat older friend than I remembered. 

"I heard that," called Shamino from the alcove. We all 
laughed, but the Avatar continued his story. 

Yes, it was Shamino. 
"Avatar! " he called when he spotted me. "What bringeth 

thee to Britain?" 
I told him of the events in Trinsic and of the red 

Moongate. 
I remember he remarked that the Moongates had given 

him trouble. And he was very interested in the Trlnsic 
murders. 

He told me, "I would be honored to join and help thee m 
investigating this matter." So of course I invited him to join 
lolo, Spark, and me. 

Soon we all adjourned to the bar to order a drink and I 
continued my discussion with Shamino. It was then that he 
returned my pocket watch. It is something remarkable to 
have an item returned to you after 200 years! Of course. m 
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defense of my friend, I must admit I hadn't been around to 
collect it. 

There was some more talk, and something about an 
actress named Amber came up in the conversation. I could 
see that Shamino though had grown up, he certainly hadn't 
grown old . He was still much the same as I remembered 
him. It was good to be with my friends again. 

We were about to head for the castle when Shamino 
mentioned that another of our former companions was in 
town. We walked west, past the Wayfarer's Inn, to a 
training hall from which came the sounds of heavy activity. 
We entered and found Sentri practicing his archery. 

"Sentri! Look who hath come to visit! " 
Sentri looked over while casually shooting another 

bullseye. "Avatar! Thou art returned." 
"Hast thou a job here?" asked lolo. 
"When I am not adventuring with old friends, I am a 

trainer in Britain . I specialize in combat involving 
swordsmanship. I am quite good at that, as thou dost 
remember." He smiled broadly . "But I would drop 
everything to join thy group if thou art not too 
encumbered." 

"Of course," I cried, delighted. "Join us! " 
For the next few minutes Sentri renewed his 

acquaintance with lolo and Shamino, and met Spark for the 
first time. "I shall train the young one, if it is thy wish," 
offered Sentri. I nodded, indicating that he might do so. 
Turning to Spark, Sentri said, "Since I am a member of thy 
group, I shall train thee for free! " 

We took a few minutes to watch the training session, 
then prepared to leave. But Sentri stopped me, saying , 
"Avatar, what's mine is thine. Take anything you wish from 
my shoppe." 

When you recruit Sentri, talk to him when he has 
the bow in his hand. Wait until he stands before 
the target, bow in hand, just before he shoots for 
the first time. When he joins the party, he should 
have a bow, some quantity of arrows (though 
you'll probably need to get him more of them), 
and a two-handed sword. If you talk to him 
when he has the sword in his hand, he will not 
have the bow among his possessions. 

This was wonderful. Taking a key from his dresser, I 
opened a storeroom and found armor and weapons to 
make a warrior proud . Gratefully I equipped myself, 
thinking all the while of the greedy and insulting Dell in 
Trinsic. Once we had taken all we needed, we left together 
and headed north to Castle Britannia. It was time to see the 
King and continue our quest. 
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:Entry 4-­
C!zistle llritzinnizi 
As we approached the castle, I 
could see there had been some 
changes. A wide moat surrounded 
the keep and new towers jutted 
out from the corners of the 
fortress. Like the rest of Britain, 
the castle had expanded in the 
past two centuries. 

As we marched up the drawbridge, I thought I caught a 
movement out of the corner of my eye. Turning, I spotted a 
giant tentacle piercing the water and flailing high in the air. 
Spark gasped, and even I took a step backward. 

Whatever Lord British had guarding his moat, it wasn't 
something I would want to meet face to face-if it had a 
face, that is. Our footsteps drummed faster on the wooden 
bridge as we quickly put the castle walls between us and 
the moat creature. 

Once our pulses had slowed, we marched directly to the 
throne room, toward the back of the castle keep. We passed 
several people along the way, including a gargoyle and a 
familiar-looking mage. Inside the throne room we 
discovered some old acquaintances. Chuckles the Jester 
was there, though we didn't talk to him yet. However, one 
of our former fellow adventurers was there-Geoffrey. This 
time, though he offered us some advice, it seemed that 
Geoffrey was happy in his job in the castle and had no wish 
to join us. Still , it was good to see him. 

After speaking briefly with Geoffrey, we approached the 
throne. I noticed it was a new throne, simple, carved from a 
great block of gray stone. The headrest was in the shape of 
an ankh . Simple embroidered cushions promised that it 
would make a comfortable seat. 

But there was no Lord British in the new throne room, 
so we went off in search of His Majesty. We found him 
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busy with important (or important-looking) work in his 
office in the east wing of the castle. 

He looked up from signing some paper or other and at 
first didn't recognize me. Then he made the connection. 
Funny how a mere 200 years can make people forget, 
however temporarily. But then he embraced me heartily and 
said , "Welcome, my friend. Please. Tell me what brings 
thee to Britannia! Or, more importantly, what 'brought' thee 
here?" 

Now my first impression was that the King had grown a 
bit older-and wider. I had the sudden thought that he 
might spend more time adventuring and less time at the 
table eating his favorite cheesecake. But then I just found 
myself smiling. Lord British had that effect on me. It had 
been a long time since I had last spoken with him. He was a 
man of great strength and charisma. 

I made small talk to hide the depth of emotion I felt at 
once again being with Lord British. At first, I asked the 
ili1tg about his Job, but he laughed that standard question 
off. He was more interested in speaking of other subjects. 
So we talked briefly about our mutual ~onudanl'l, and he 
offered his J\ib to me, as he always had-including healing 
and curing and such, as well as tJtquipnmrl. He told me of a 
storeroom in the battlements where I could find a spellbook 
and other items. The key, he said, was in his study in the 
western end of the castle. 

We talked then of Britannia, of my friends , lolo, 
Shamino, and Dupre, and of the improvements to the 
castle. While the King and lolo were getting reacquainted, 
the subject of the murders in Trinsic came up. 

I told British about my adventures so far. He seemed 
concerned. He frowned as he listened and fingered the ankh 
around his neck. When I had finished my tale, he told me he 
was happy that I had taken an interest in solving the 
murders. Then he told me a little more about a murder that 
had taken place in Britain several years earlier. I 
remembered Finnigan's mentioning something about that. 

We talked for some time. When I asked Lord British 
about the Orb of the Moons, he asked if I had brought mine. 
I had not, so he gave me his, "Be careful , though," he said 
in a low voice. ''The Moongates have become dangerous." 
Then why is he giving me the stone? I wondered. 

We got onto the subject of magic, and Lord British told 
me of the problems that had occurred. He also told me of a 
mad mage named Rudyom in the village of Cove. I 

remembered Rudyom from another time. The King said 
something about a substance called blackrock. He 
suggested I go to Cove and talk to Rudyom myself. 

From some of his comments, I'd begun to fear that the 
King had lost touch with his people. I had seen the signs of 
discontent among my friends as well as among the 
villagers, especially in Paws . I also suspected the 
Fellowship of being, if not the cause, at least a symptom of 
something. But British was not quite as removed as I had 
thought, and he told me of his concerns . "There is 
something wrong in Britannia," he began, "but I do not 
know what it is. Something is hanging over the heads of the 
Britannian people. They are unhappy. One can see it in their 
eyes. There is nothing that is unifying the population, since 
there has been peace for so long. Perhaps thou couldst 
determine what is happening. I implore thee to go out 
amongst the people. Watch them in their daily tasks. Speak 
with them. Work with them. Break bread with them . 
Perhaps they need someone like the Avatar to take an 
interest in their little lives." 

I did not know if I had the antidote for what ailed "the 
people," but I was willing to do what I could. This had been 
such a fine place. I'd always faced so much danger here, 
but the people I'd met had always seemed so content. 
There had never before been a class struggle or such a 
sharp cultural division among the people here; just the 
healthy differences of men and women of different 
occupations and widely separated regions. British was right 
about one thing. There was something wrong here. 

When we spoke of the Fellowship, Lord British seemed 
to have a higher opinion of them than I, and I briefly 
wondered if I had misjudged them. He named some of the 
ways the Fellowship had benefited his realm. Still , I wasn't 
convinced. The King told me I should visit Batlin , the 
founder of the Fellowship, and I resolved to do so as soon 
as I could. 

Before leaving the King's study, I met some of his close 
associates. Two gargoyles were there-Wislem and 
lnwisloklem. After speaking with them, I spent some time 
talking to Miranda, one of the members of the Great 
Council. Miranda told me about her son, Max, then spoke of 
a ~ill she had drafted to stop the dumping of wastes in 
Lock Lake, near Cove. Since I was planning to visit Cove 
anyway, I agreed to take the bill there for signing and to 
return it later. 
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We said our good-byes and headed across the 
courtyard toward the west wing . On the way, I saw Nystul. I 
must say, my conversation with him was disturbing. He 
was disoriented and couldn't even hold on to his magic 
wand! But he did offer to sell me some reagents and spells. 
Not having my spellbook, I declined the offer for the time 
being. I knew I'd be back eventually. 

Lord British had made something of a game out of our 
finding the key and the storeroom, so we began to search 
the rooms in the castle 's western wing. We found the key in 
the drawer of a night stand in the King's study, a room 
whose walls were adorned with the King's hunting trophies. 
Now all we had to do was find the storeroom. 

The Key to the King's ~toreroom 

I had no idea where to look, and neither did my 
companions, but as we searched , we happened to pass 
through the throne room once again. I spotted Chuckles 
and decided that he might, perhaps, know something. 

As usual, I find it difficult to describe the conversation 
we had. It didn't help me find the storeroom, but it was 
most interesting. It seems that Chuckles wanted to play 
something he called "The Game." He promised me a clue if 
I would play, and, thinking he might tell me what I sought 
to know, I agreed. 

To the best of my ability , I will recount our 
conversation. I admit it makes no sense to me now, nor did 
it at the time. I began by asking him about '<lll1e " mnt . 

"Thou must play The Game to get the clue! " he said, 
pirouetting on his toes. 

So I said, "What are the rules?" 
"Thou must just learn The Game and then jump in and 

play it!" He tossed a ball high in the air. 
Knowing Chuckles, I decided the best way to proceed 

was to plunge right in. "I know The Game," I told him. 
"Then just play it! " He caught a ball behind his back. 
"Of what do we speak?" I asked. 
Chuckles bowed low with a sweep of his right arm, as if 

beckoning me to enter a room. "Of what thou wouldst like,' 
he said. 

"Thou. Let us speak of thee, Chuckles," I replied. This 
man and his game were impossible. 

"Why dost thou want to speak of me? Canst thou nol 
think of a thing much more fun of which to speak?" 

Of course I could. "Food. What about food?" I asked. 
By now Chuckles was standing on his hands. "There is 

good food at the pub! " he exclaimed, upside down. "As for 
me, I like to eat on the floor of my room! " 

Indeed. I can believe it. But I kept my tongue civil and 
said, simply, "Where is the Blue Boar?" though I knew the 
answer well enough. 

"Thou canst get a good meal there! But I could give 
thee a good clue! " 

So I asked him about the clue and he asked me if I was 
sure I could play The Game. I thought that was what we had 
been doing already! I said yes. It seemed the only answer 
that would please him. 

"Then prove it. Talk to me," he said. 
I didn 't know what to say. I just blurted out, "Hi, 

Chuck." 
He didn't even blink. "Hi there! What is on thy mind?" 

he replied. 
"Too much is on my mind," I told him, quite truthfully. 
"Ah, I do know what thou dost mean! Thou dost need 

help, yes?" 
"Yes, I do," I said. 
"Hmmm. I might could give thee a clue," he said, yet 

again. I was trying my best to keep my exasperation under 
control, but Iola was less patient. 

" I would like to give Chuckles a black eye!" he 
exclaimed. 

I tried not to show my agreement or break out in a fit of 
laughter. Instead I answered, "That would be big of thee !" 
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So then he asked me, "What wilt thou give me for a 
clue?" 

I thought about it for a moment while Chuckles spun 
around, the bells in his jester's cap ringing in my ears. "I'll 
give you a smile," I said finally. 

And that's when he gave me the scroll. I also think I 
learned something, though I couldn't explain it then and still 
can't. In some way, though, this silly game had benefited me. 

"So long, my friend! " said Chuckles. "Do not forg .. . I 
mean, do not lose how to play The Game! " 

We passed through the throne room then, heading for 
the rooms in the northwestern corner of the castle. In what 
looked like the King's own apartments, Spark's sharp eyes 
spotted a lever near a wall in a small study. Before we could 
stop him, he had pulled it back. 

~ecret Lever 

There was a nearly silent click and suddenly the walls 
opened, rolling smoothly on silent casters. Spark had found 
a secret passageway. We discovered that the entire castle 
was ringed by a secret hallway, with levers that opened 
hidden doors into nearly every room! 

Our searches eventually revealed a staircase leading up 
to the battlements. We climbed and began to search the 
upper story of the castle. 

In the southwestern corner we came upon an 
unfortunate prisoner. His name was Weston. 

"Avatar," said Iola. "Weston is a familiar name. Where 
have we heard it recently?" 

"You're right, Iola," I replied. "It was the poor woman at 
the Fellowship shelter in Paws. She mentioned that her 
husband was named Weston." 

Our conversation with the prisoner was frequently 
interrupted by the derisive comments of the guard, but we 
eventually discovered that there was more than a little 
corruption going on, and that Weston was probably more a 
victim than a criminal. We agreed to tell the King about his 
problem. 

In the northwestern tower we found the storeroom the 
King had mentioned. The key unlocked the door, as the 
King had promised, and we helped ourselves to armor and 
weapons, food, and anything that looked useful. I picked up 
the spellbook. 

We searched some more and found another storeroom 
in the northeastern tower, but there was no apparent 
doorway into it. The King liked his games. But we knew 
there had to be a way in, so we searched. 

It took a while, but we eventually found a lever on the 
first floor, just under the northeast tower. It seemed to do 
nothing, but when we pulled it and climbed back to the 
second floor, we found that it had opened a hidden door. 

Behind this door was a second storeroom, loaded with 
weapons, including a musket. By the time we left this 
storeroom, we were all heavily loaded with weapons, shields, 
armor, and other items. But we were feeling ready for 
whatever dangers awaited us. At least I think we were. I, for 
one, was feeling the weight of plate mail, great helm, and the 
other paraphernalia hanging all over me. I could hardly walk, 
but I didn't want to complain. Besides, I knew I'd eventually 
get used to the extra weight. I just wasn't looking forward to 
all the sore muscles I'd have for the next few days. 

The castle was a busy place . There were people 
everywhere going about their business. I could tell you 
some interesting stories about these people, but most of it 
would be sheer gossip. We did get a good meal from 
Bennie, the head servant, and we also learned a thing or 
two about the people in Britain. One special occasion came 
when we renewed our acquaintance with Sherry the Mouse. 
She told us a delightful story about a lion named Hubert, 
but I'll save that, too, for another time. 

Before leaving the castle, we sought out Lord British 
and told him of Weston's situation. He immediately issued a 
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pardon for the man and promised to look into Figg 's 
administration of the Royal Orchards. 

Entry5-
Britain ltgain 
The time had come to move 
onward. Our next stop would be 
the Fellowship Hall. I knew I 
would have to meet this Batlin 
character that everyone was 
talking about. I admit I felt a 
little trepidation . No monster 
I've ever met was nearly as 
dangerous as someone who is 

soft-spoken, but has bad intentions. Such a man could 
conceivably be a real threat. Of course, I had no proof that 
there was anything unsavory about Batlin. I just had a bad 
feeling about the Fellowship. 

On the way to the Fellowship Hall, we met a pretty 
woman named Millie. We wouldn't have stopped to speak 
with her, but she practically beckoned us over when she 
noticed us. She was near the southern corner where the 
Blue Boar and the Wayfarer's Inn meet. 

It was fortuitous that we met Millie just then, because 
she turned out to be a Fellowship recruiter. That explained 
her aggressive friendliness. I had often found that people 
who were overly friendly had something they wanted from 
you or wanted to get you to join them in something. 

But Millie was also informative. When we spoke of her 
job, she said, "I spend all my time trying to recruit, er .. . 
spread the word of the Fellowship. It is better than having a 
job! I learned how to do this at the Meditation Retreat. " 

"What is this Meditation Retreat?" I asked her. 
'"Tis located on an island in south Britannia near 

Serpent's Hold. Most new Fellowship members spend some 
time down there learning the tenets of the group. One can 
also learn to hear 'the voice' at the retreat." 

I felt a ch ill and the hair on my arms and neck stood up. 
"And what is 'the voice'?" I inquired, none too steadily. 

Mill ie never noticed my discomfort, however, but 
continued blithely on with her story. "Fellowship members 
have an inner voice which speaks to them. I have not heard 
it yet, but I am working toward it. I may need to spend 
another few days at the Meditation Retreat in order to do 

so. Batlin tells me not to be discouraged, though. He says I 
will hear it when I have made myself worthy." 

We left Millie then, as she seemed to know nothing 
more. As I turned away, she called to me to attend the 
nightly Fellowship meeting. 

It was some time in the afternoon when we arrived atthe 
Fellowship Hall. The place was nearly empty, but we found 
the man we sought quickly enough. He was wandering 
about the hall , straightening this, rearranging that. 

Batlin was a portly gentleman with florid cheeks and a 
wise, perhaps cunning , look in his eyes . He sported a 
goatee and wore a gold earring in his left ear. He was 
sweating a bit in the afternoon heat. But his look was kindly 
as he spotted us, despite our obviously martial wardrobe. 

I had half expected to receive the kind of reception 
Morfin and several others had given me when I met Ballin, 
so I was quite taken by surprise when he told me, "My 
name, good friend , is Batlin . And indeed it is tru ly a 
privilege to meet the Avatar in the flesh ." 

He was certainly in a good humor as he told me of his 
background and his formation of the Fellowship, and I 
listened intently to his description of the Fellowship ideals. 
As he spoke, he guided me to the back of the chapel, and. 
as if by mutual consent, my companions lingered near the 
front. So I was alone with Batlin, though I thought I noticed 
Iola listening in from time to time. 

First things first. I asked him about El izabeth and 
Abraham, the Fellowship representatives who had been in 
Trinsic at the time of the murders. 

"Ah, my good colleagues Elizabeth and Abraham were 
just here," Batlin told me. "They left this morning for Minoc 
on Fellowship business. They deal with the distribution and 
collection of funds." 

Batlin then turned the topic toward his favorite 
subject-the Fellowship itself. Of course, I couldn't put my 
finger on anything specific about their philosophy, but there 
was something wrong with it. Of that I was sure. The 
Virtues I had learned and mastered had brought me a great 
sense of fulfillment. And though the three main principles of 
the Fellowship sounded like good sentiments, in my opinion 
they would fall short of being the keystones for a virtuous 
life. I was particularly put off by his rejection of older 
virtues. 

"We strive to avoid the mistakes made by mystics and 
sages since the dawn of time. They apply the standards of 
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the past, such as the virtues, for example, to qualify the 
present, and thus they do not perceive it correctly. We seek 
to examine our present lives each on our own terms and 
see the world the way it is." 

That statement hit pretty close to home, so I asked him 
what he thought of the Virtues. 

"They are perfectly adequate for those who feel that 
they still need them for whatever reason ," he told me 
sincerely, without a hint of sarcasm or rancor. "But no one, 
not even thyself, thou must admit, Avatar, can fulJill them 
perfectly." I wasn't ready to admit any such thing, but he 
didn't give me a chance to reply. "Therefore they are a 
philosophy that is ultimately based upon failure . We have 
never claimed that our teachings are a substitute for the 
virtues. However, ours is a belief that is based upon 
success, not failure." 

Batlin was very good at explaining his credo , and I 
found myself wondering. Could this Triad of Inner Strength 
truly help the people who followed it? Could he be right 
when he described the Virtues as a goal that people 
couldn 't reach? After all , how many true avatars were 
there? To my knowledge, there was only one. Me. 

When Batlin had finished telling us about the Triad of 
Inner Strength, I asked him some of the questions most on 
my mind. 

"I've heard something about a Meditation Retreat," I 
probed. 

Batlin raised his hands as if to throw all his cares to the 
heavens. "It is a retreat from the pressures and distractions 
of everyday life," he told us proudly, "where new members 
of the Fellowship may go and study the philosophies of the 
Fellowship. It is located on an island east of Serpent's 
Hold." 

Now came a question I was really worried about. "I've 
also heard something about a 'voice.'" 

Now Batlin's brow creased a little and for the first time I 
think he showed some concern, but he quickly turned it into 
an advantage. "Only active or potential Fellowship members 
are privy to the concept of 'the voice.' I can tell thee more 
when thou dost take the Fellowship test.'' 

I thought a moment about this test. I decided to ignore 
it for the moment. "And what if I did want to 'J)oin the 
Fellowship?" I asked. 

Now Batlin positively beamed. "Ah, but first things first. 
I recommend that thou takes! our Examination to determine 

if thou art truly in need of The Fellowship's teachings. Dost 
thou want to take the test?" 

There was that test again. I hardly gave it much thought 
before I found myself saying "Yes." After all , what kind of 
test could they give that I could not pass? I had already 
passed a great test in becoming the Avatar, and had 
survived the greatest evils Britannia had ever known. 

Little did I know what a truly harrowing experience this 
test could be. I won't repeat it all to you, but the questions 
were impossible, and the answers . .. Well , I don 't think 
there were any good answers to some of the questions. 
And worst of all, Batlin's sanctimonious assessment of me 
made me want to split him in half with my two-handed 
sword. But I restrained myself. I had to know where this all 
was leading. 

Finally it was over. I could sense my companions 
growing restless nearby. And Batlin was giving his 
summation of my personality. 

"Thou art a person of strong character, Avatar, but one 
who is troubled by deep personal problems that prevent thee 
from achieving thy true potential for greatness. In short, thou 
art precisely the type of person for which The Fellowship was 
created." I was hardly delighted to hear myself summed up 
so curtly. Nor was I pleased to be deemed "the type of 
person for which The Fellowship was created." 

Well , in a rather magnanimous gesture, Ballin waived 
the usual sabbatical of study, but he did ask that I perform 
one mission for them , following the tenet Worthiness 
Precedes Reward. 

"I need thee to deliver this sealed package unopened to 
Elynor, the leader of our Fellowship branch in Mince. Elynor 
will reward thee upon receiving it, thou dost have my word. 
May I trust thee to do it?" 

Once again, I agreed to do as he wished. As soon as I 
had agreed to deliver the package, he gave it to me and 
turned as if to dismiss me. But I wasn't quite through . I 
asked him again about the 'voice,' and this time his answer 
was more complete. 

"Once a person has walked with The Fellowship long 
enough and applied the Triad of Inner Strength to his life, 
he has cleared his mind of all conflicting, counterproductive 
thoughts to the point where he may actually hear his 
internal voice of reason. This voice of reason is the core of 
thine inner mind which guides thee through pure instinct, 
wisdom and irreproachable logic. Once one starts to listen 
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to it and follow its guidance, one has achieved the height of 
enlightenment. Perhaps thou shalt hear it one day." 

Then I took my leave of Batlin. I didn't tell him that I 
might have already heard his precious 'voice.' 

My friends had been busy in my absence. When I 
rejoined them they all began to talk at once, but I silenced 
them with a gesture. As we left the Fellowship Hall , they 
were barely able to contain themselves. 

"We have discovered some interesting information, 
Avatar," said lolo as soon as we were back in the streets. 

"Yes,'' continued Shamino. "Young Spark here located a 
key in one of the rooms. It opened a chest in the room 
where the apples are, and we took a look inside." 

"We found a scroll that said, 'Once the construction is 
complete, store the blackrock in the hold of the Crown 
Jewel,"' said Sentri. 

'"Tis a plot of some kind, Avatar. I like these people not 
at all, " lolo told me. The others agreed. "So tell us, friend, 
"he went on, "what did the 'good' Batlin have to tell thee?" 

I told my friends about Batlin's philosophy, about the 
Fellowship test and its strange result, and about the 
mission I had agreed to. Iola and Shamino frowned when I 
told them I had volunteered to join the Fellowship. 

"'Ware these people, Avatar. They are dangerous 
fanatics," warned lolo. 

"Aye. There's more to these folk than meets the eye,'' 
added Shamino. 

"Don't worry, friends. I have no intention of being 
fooled by their rhetoric. Nor do I intend to become 
embroiled in their power struggles . But I must have 
information, and pretending to be one of them is a good 
way to find out what they're up to." 

"Quick, then, let us open the sealed box and see what's 
within,'' suggested Shamino. 

We carefully undid the seal, but I'm afraid we ruined it 
in the process. Oh, well. I felt it was important to know 
what was in the box. 

We found a scroll inside. It had instructions for some 
kind of monument. It said, "The stone pedestal should be 
four feet high, three feet wide and two feet deep. Atop each 
of the three pedestals shall be set the three receptacles: the 
tetrahedron, the sphere, and the cube. 

"All of these items for the defense mechanisms of the 
portal have already been constructed by the Trinsic 
blacksmith." 

This was serious. For one thing, it linked the Fellowship 
with Christopher. We had to restrain Spark from rushing 
back to the Fellowship Hall to attack Batlin himself. 

"Hold on there, lad," I told him. "Don't go running into 
trouble without preparation. We'll deal with this Batlin in 
good time. But there's more to this than meets the eye. 
Don't worry, Spark. We'll avenge your father.'' 

Well , I was able to calm the boy down, just barely, and 
we continued on our way. Our next stop was lolo's shop, 
where we bought some arrows from his young protege 
Coop. Then we explored some more of the town, mingling 
with "the people" as Lord British had asked us to do. I 
won't go into detail about everyone we met, but it was 
instructive. There were more rumors about a false Avatar, 
and even some thoroughly embarrassing tributes to me-a 
play about the Avatar, for instance. They wanted me to 
audition as an understudy. Can you believe that? And then 
there was a well-meaning, if offbeat, musical group who 
called themselves the Avatars. 

Also of considerable interest to me was the Avatar 
Museum. No doubt you two are very familiar with it. 

Carlotta and I both nodded enthusiastically. 
Yes. Well, I found the whole thing a bit embarrassing, 

but it did bring back memories. Oh, and I examined the 
artifacts. They are genuine, by the way. I "borrowed" back a 
few of them. There was a useful musket there. Perhaps 
more significant were the Virtue Stones. I think they have 
some power similar to that of the moonstones. I mean to 
examine them more closely very soon. 

I also earned some extra cash helping out in various 
establishments. For instance, I met a baker who taught me 
to bake wonderful bread, and it was a relief to do something 
so simple and unpretentious. 

At the Mint, I discovered that we could turn in gold bars 
and gold nuggets for coin of the realm. That might come in 
handy, as I was always turning up treasures on my 
adventures. In fact, I thought about the gold bars I'd seen in 
Morfin's chest. 

In the eastern part of Britain , I met a farmer named 
Brownie who needed help picking pumpkins and another 
farmer named Mack who needed help gathering eggs. Mack 
was known locally as a loony, for he claimed to have seen 
creatures from another world. However, he showed me the 
proof, right there in his field . In fact, the strange craft he 
showed me looked somewhat familiar, and his story rang a 
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bell somewhere. But I had no idea how it would affect my 
quest until he mentioned his hoe. It seemed that his hoe 
had been magically transformed into a formidable 
weapon-the Hoe of Destruction. A weapon such as that 
might prove very useful on our journey, but though he told 
me it was locked in his storeroom, he also claimed to have 
lost the key somewhere near Lock Lake. He seemed pretty 
unconcerned, however, and I guessed that the Hoe of 
Destruction had less meaning to a farmer than it would to 
an adventurer like me. He was much more excited by his 
close encounter. I had to admit it was quite a sight, that 
strange vehicle. I recommend that you look into it, if you 
have the time. 

Well , we found Mack's storeroom, but were unable to 
get through the door. Nothing we tried would work. 

mack's ~tor~room 

"We should search for that lost key near Lock Lake, 
Avatar," suggested lolo. 

"Aye ," agreed Shamino . "It sounds like a useful 
weapon." 

'"Tis but a hoe," argued Sentri , "a farmer 's tool. 
Whatever enchantment it carries, 'tis no suitable weapon 
for a warrior." 

But I said only that we'd worry about it later. There were 
other tasks to complete for now. 

There's also the story of Patterson, the mayor of Britain. 
From Brownie I had heard some unflattering things about 

the mayor, while from Patterson himself I heard only how 
honest he was. But there was some reason to doubt his 
sincerity, and, in fact, I later caught him with Candice late at 
night. He admitted that he was having an illicit affair, but 
promised to reform. I don't really expect much from him, 
but I was glad to pop his bubble of self-importance and 
hypocrisy. I'd found all too much of that kind of behavior in 
Britannia since my return. And if there's one thing I can 't 
abide, it's a hypocrite! 

Before leaving Britain and heading toward Cove, which 
we would visit before heading for Minoc, we decided to test 
our new weapons and armor. Sentri had heard of some 
brigands who frequented the road just west of Britain, so 
we all headed that way to test our mettle and to help the 
town a little at the same time. 

We left Britain by a muddy track that led westward, 
running between two large pumpkin patches. We walked 
confidently, if a little slowly due to the weight we carried. 
Soon we sensed danger and all of us readied ourselves for 
combat. I instructed Spark to hang back and use his sling 
from a distance. The rest of us readied our weapons-lolo 
his crossbow, Sentri his bow, Shamino and I our two­
handed swords. I declined to use the musket for now. 

Suddenly a crossbow bolt flew past my ear and 
simultaneously I spotted our brigands. There were three of 
them, but by far the most dangerous was the one with the 
crossbow. While lolo and Sentri sent an accurate barrage of 
return fire, Shamino and I charged forward. A bolt lodged in 
the shoulder joint of my armor, barely piercing my skin, but 
the pain caught me by surprise. It had been a long time 
since I had endured the singular effects of Britannian battle. 
I swung a mighty blow at the man's head, but missed. 
Shamino, however, caught him full in the chest, caving in 
his armor. Meanwhile , the man's companions were 
charging us. One was dressed as a paladin, and I turned to 
engage him. His first blow crashed off my great helm, 
causing my ears to ring and my eyes to cross momentarily. 

I returned the favor, but the man's plate armor turned 
aside my first blow. I quickly reversed my grip and, putting 
my entire body behind it, I brought the blade up and into his 
chinplate. The man staggered backwards as a bolt from 
lolo's bow caught him full in the eye. He died instantly, blood 
spurting from the hole in his helmet where his eye had been. 
I turned quickly to attack any remaining enemy, but there 
were none left. All three brigands lay dead on the ground. 
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We examined the men. finding some money and, of 
course, more armor and weapons. Though we were already 
very well equipped , we took what we thought would prove 
useful, then left the corpses to their fate. 

I decided it was now time to leave Britain, but on the 
way out of town, we visited Lord British once more to avail 
ourselves of his healing powers. Since it was near supper 
time when we arrived, we were treated to a free meal by 
Bennie, the head servant. 

The Avatar stopped then. For the first time I noticed 
that the fire had almost died down. There was a chill 
in the air, the chill of very early morning. I thought I 
heard a cock crow in the distance. Faint snoring filled 
the room. I realized we were the only ones left awake. 

"We must be off early today," he told us. "We must 
head back to Britain to return the signed bill to Lady 
Miranda; then we'll start our journey to Minoc. " 

"Can you not tell us the rest of your tale?" Carlotta asked. 
"There's little left to tell ," he said, but I thought he 

was hiding something, so I pressed him. 
"Come, Avatar. The story is almost up to date. 

Why not tell us the rest?" 
He shrugged. "I can see that I'll get no rest at all. 

But I do want you to know the truth. " 

f;ntry 6-eove 
Our trip to Cove was uneventful. 
We simply headed east until we'd 
crossed a pair of bridges. I 
noticed a circle of stones with an 
active Moongate in its center. It 
was just off the path we took to 
Cove, and I noted its location in 
my journal. I thought I might 
investigate it later, despite the 

warnings I'd heard about the unreliability of the Moongates. 
We found Cove, a lovely little village, at the edge of a sea of 

filth. I could see why the bill I carried from Britain was needed. 
I felt ashamed of the Britannians who had let this happen. 

When I arrived in Cove, I sought out Lord Heather, 
Cove's mayor, and spoke with him about the situation in 
Lock Lake. 

"It has gotten so putrid that on hot summer days the 
stink is suffocating. I believe that the Britannian Mining 
Company in Minoc is the source of the problem. Mining 
waste is being deposited in the Lake. Thou shouldst be glad 
it is nearly winter!" 

Heather signed the bill for me most happily, and then 
we talked of other things. I was amazed to find that Cove 
had acquired a new reputation over the years. In addition to 
its guardianship of the Shrine of Compassion, it could also 
boast that it was the city of passion , of lovers. In fact 
everyone in town was involved with somebody. Almost 
everyone, that is. The mayor mentioned Nastassia, his voice 
becoming quite sad. He suggested I talk with a bard named 
De Maria about her. 

As we were talking, Lord Heather mentioned a familiar 
name-Jaana, who had once been a rather close friend ol 
mine. It seemed that some romance had built up between 
the mayor and my former companion. Of course, I 
immediately sought out Jaana as soon as 1 could politely 
take my leave of Lord Heather. 

Jaana looked well and very fit. It was a pleasure to see 
her again. I asked if it was true about her and the mayor and 
she did confirm it. I was happy for her, though a little sad as 
well. We had been rather close, you know, and at one time ... 

However, Jaana did seem anxious to renew her life ol 
adventure, so I asked her to join us. I suspected that her 
healing skills would be needed before we were done. 
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We had heard from Lord British about the wizard 
Rudyom, and so I looked for him. He was in his magic 
shop, moving about with apparent purpose. We stood in 
the doorway, watching, and he did not notice us for some 
time. Finally I greeted him. 

Rudyom had grown older and seemed disoriented. I 
was reminded of Nystul, back at the castle. He admitted that 
there were problems with magic these days. He also told 
me about the magic carpet, which had been borrowed and 
lost somewhere in the Serpent's Spine. But it was the 
mention of blackrock that most got my attention. He told us 
of his experiments with the substance. 

"I wrote them all down in my notebook," he told me, 
looking about distractedly, "which is somewhere around 
here. Thou art welcome to look at it. But stay away from 
that damned transmuter-'tis dangerous!" 

"What is a transmuter?" I asked. 
"'Tis that wand-like thing. It was supposed to magnetize 

and magically transmute blackrock, but it doth not work 
correctly. Try pointing it at a piece of blackrock and thou 
wilt see what I mean. But do not stand too close! Thou art 
welcome to take it if thou dost want a piece of garbage! " 

My curiosity was piqued, and my companions and I 
searched the wizard's place, eventually finding both the 
notebook and a wand that could only have been the 
transmuter he had mentioned. We read the contents of the 
notebook. It was surely full of clues, if we had only known 
what it was all about. I wrote some notes in my journal. 
Something about blackrock being shaped by magic and the 
transmuter causing it to explode. Anyway, we found a wand 
on the table near the notebook and assumed it was the 
transmuter. Since Rudyom didn't want it, we took it with 
us. There was also a quantity of what we took to be 
blackrock. We took some of that as well. 

At the Emerald, the local tavern, we met the bard, De 
Maria . He was rather a character . Flamboyant and 
exceedingly courtly, he did , nevertheless, sing a song , 
which told me much more about the unfortunate Nastassia. 
A most amusing fellow. De Maria told me to seek Nastassia 
at the Shrine of Compassion. I was intrigued, so, late in the 
day, I headed for the shrine. 

Here the Avatar hesitated. Then, when he finally 
spoke, his voice was low, almost inaudible. 

"I think I've told enough of my tale for now. There's 
just one small detail to add. We explored a cave north 
of Cove. It was the home of many hostile Cyclopes, but 
it also yielded some useful items. It's a dangerous place, 
though. Not a place to go if you're not well prepared. 
We did , however , find some very powerful items 
there-the Magic Leggings I'm wearing, for instance. 
However, we were forced to slay many of the dumb 
brutes in the process, and we barely made it through 
without serious mishap. There was one chest that gave 
us some trouble, I remember. But Shamino simply 
hacked it apart with his two-handed sword. Sometimes 
that works, when all other efforts fail. " 

cyclops C4'.ve 
€1'1Tl~4'.1'1CE 

Sl')Rl"'E oi: compASSIO"' 

eove 

353 



The eyclops eave 

The Avatar began to rise , then hesitated a 
moment. "Well , I think it's about time to rouse my 
friends and get going again. We've got to get to the 
bottom of this Fellowship business and these murders. 
I'm sorry l can't stay longer. I think I've brought you 
good folks up to date , though . I think Iolo and 
Shamino wanted to go hunting for the key the farmer 
lost. You know, to get that Hoe of Destruction, if it 
really exists . Spark found a Ring of Regeneration 
inside some carcass or other up along the shore 
nearby-young boys will mess with anything you 
know-and I think Iolo's hoping to find the key as 

}1acking lipart a ehest 

well. But we have no time to waste . . . . " 
I could see that the Avatar was getting ready to 

leave. He was halfway out of his chair when Carlotta 
stopped him, asking , "Avatar, is this really the first 
time thou hast been back to Britannia in 200 years?" 

He looked in surprise back at Carlotta, settling 
slowly back into his chair. "Funny you should ask ... : 

Why don 't I tell this part, Robert? 

Be my guest, Carlotta . What thou /ackes t in 
accuracy thou makest up for in enthusiasm. 
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Clltima Underworld 
Despite Robert's aspersions, I remember the events of 
that morning perfectly well . As Robert has said, the 
Avatar did look at me in surprise. 

"It's quite strange you should ask," he said. "I was 
here one other time. But how did you know?" 

I shrugged. 
"One hears tales," I said. "If one listens, that is." 
I glanced over at Robert to see his reaction. He had 

that "Hummph, there she goes again" look on his face. 
"The ravings of lunatics are not always reliable 

barometers, Carlotta ," Robert sniffed. 
"Tell us of this adventure," I implored, ignoring Dr. 

DeMain ' s remark . "The rumors are that you 
conquered the Stygian Abyss. " 

"How do you come by such information?" asked 
Robert with no small amazement. 

"Gossip," I replied . "But I know how you disdain 
it." I turned back to the Avatar. "Please, tell us ... " 

"Very well," he said. "But it's a tale I do not relish." 

For three nights my sleep was 
interrupted by terrible dreams. I'd 
awaken with my body covered in 
sweat and the sheets twisted 
about me. Each time, the memory 
of my dreams eluded me. 

On the fourth night, I dropped 
off to sleep dreading the 
nightmares I knew would follow. 
A sickening sense of deja vu slid 
over me. In my dream, a spectral 

form hovered in front of me-the ghostly face of a man long­
dead. His lips moved, but I heard his voice in my mind. 

"Treachery and doom,'' he moaned. "My brother doth 
bring a great evil upon the land. Britannia is in danger. You 
must hurry." 

The apparition wavered and turned into a mist which 
swirled into a vortex. I felt myself drawn toward the center 
of this whirlpool and knew that I had but to follow it to be 
transported to Britannia. 

In the slow-motion of a dream, I floated forward 
reaching for .. . something. Then the world went black. 

0 0 0 

The next thing I knew, a terrible scream was ripping 
through the air. The cry of someone terrified for her life. 

I was in a tower room of a castle. Standing next to the 
window across the room was a figure draped in a blood-red 
cloak. Though its face was hidden by a hood, from the 
shadowy depths I could see that its yellow, demonic eyes 
burned with a mad passion. 

"I would have thought my brother had sent you, if he were 
not dead," the creature said. Its voice was raspy and deep. "But 
it matters not, for thou wilt throw the hounds off the scent." 

The apparition raised its arms and the air around it 
shimmered. A blue light enveloped the creature and it 
disappeared. I ran to the window and looked down. A troll 
was running down the dirt road leading away from the 
castle. Over one shoulder it carried a sack. There was 
something, someone, thrashing about in the bag. 

Just then , the door to the room flew open . Armed 
guards dressed in chain mail burst into the room and 
grabbed me. The insignia of a royal house decorated their 
uniforms. They spread out through the room. 

"What hast thou done with my lord's daughter, Arial?" 
demanded their leader. 

"I ... " 
"No doubt he threw her to that troll running up the 

path,'' said another soldier standing by the window. 
"You and you," said the leader, pointing at two of the 

guards. "Go after them." 
"No, I'm . . . " 
"We will take you to see Baron Almric and see what he 

has to say about this." 
They dragged me through the halls and down into the 

Baron's throne room. A few minutes later, the two soldiers 
who'd been sent after the troll appeared and whispered in 
their leader's ear. 

The leader approached the throne and knelt before the 
Baron. Ignoring me, the Baron addressed his questions to 
the soldier's leader. 
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llilderworld Level ene 

"Corwin," he began, "what hast thou found? What of 
my daughter?" 

"This person was in the room," he jerked his thumb 
at me. 
"He tossed the Lady Arial from her window to a troll who 
was waiting on the ground below. The troll took her to the 
Stygian Abyss. My men tried to follow, but were set upon 
by all manner of foul beasts. I fear there is no way to 
recover thy daughter." 

The Baron turned his steely gaze upon me. "For three 
nights a ghostly figure has come to me warning me of an 
evil one who will come to steal my daughter. Well , what 
hast thou to say?" 

I explained that I was the Avatar, but he didn't seemed 
impressed. 

"It has been many years since the Avatar visited these 
parts," he said. "I know not if thou art he. There are none of 
my people who have survived the Stygian Abyss. Corwin 
shall take thee to the Abyss and lock thee in. If thou art truly 

the Avatar, thou wilt survive and save my daughter. If thou 
art lying, thy falsehood shall bring thee low." 

He waved his hand in a gesture of dismissal and turned 
away. I thought for a moment I saw tears in his eyes, but 
then I was dragged from the room. 

0 0 0 

Corwin tossed me through the enormous double doors 
leading into the Abyss. 

"This is the only way out of the Abyss," he said. "When 
I hear Lady Arial's voice, I will let thee out." With that, he 
slammed the doors shut. In the darkness which pressed 
against me, I could hear the clanging of the lock. Then all 
was still and black. 

0 0 0 

It took a few moments, but eventually my eyes adjusted 
to what little light there was in this hole. The Stygian Abyss. 
I'd been in this dungeon before and knew its dangers 
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well-or so I thought. On the floor to my right I spied a 
bag . Picking it up, I discovered parchment and quill, a 
torch , food, and a small dagger. 

I lit the torch and the walls of the Abyss leapt into view. 
Uneasiness snaked around my stomach. Or maybe I was 
hungry. Nervously, I bit into the apple I'd found in the bag 
and glanced around the room. Things had changed in the 
Abyss since last I'd visited. There was nothing familiar 
about the walls surrounding me. I tied the bag onto the 
waistband of my trousers and was going to tuck the dagger 
Into the top of my boot when I discovered that somewhere 
along the way I'd lost my shoes. 

In fact, I had no armor and only the dagger as a weapon. 
Not an auspicious beginning. I followed the hallway north. A 
few paces along there was a door to the east. I decided not 
to open it right away. You never knew what might be hiding 
behind doors in the Abyss. The corridor curved around to 
the west, and lying on the floor at the end of this hall I 
discovered two rune stones: Ort and Jux. I knew that 
combined they would cast a Magic Arrow spell, but without 
a rune bag, I couldn't make the spell work. 

I wandered south and found the bones of another 
hapless visitor to the Abyss. Next to the skeleton was a 
backpack. Though I was loath to paw through these 
belongings, I realized there was little to be gained by being 
squeamish. If I hoped to survive this foul pit and rescue 
Arial, I needed all the help I could get. 

Luck was with me, for in the knapsack I found a 
runebag with the Bet, In, Lor, and Sanct stones. There was 
also a key and a scroll. The scroll was a love letter, probably 
written to the unfortunate soul whose bones I'd discovered. 
Carefully, I placed the scroll on the skeleton. The key I kept, 
hoping it would unlock any doors I might encounter. 

The parchment I'd found in the first bag turned out to 
have magical properties . Each time I unrolled it, I 
discovered that wherever I'd walked now appeared on a 
map with perfect detail. 

I decided the best course of action was to make my way 
through as much of the dungeon as possible and get an 
accurate map. I ran through the corridors, jumped into the 
water and swam, and, in general, mapped out as much of 
the dungeon as I possibly could. Occasionally, I did stop to 
get my bearings and mark what I'd discovered on the map. 

0 0 0 

The Avatar pulled a piece of parchment from his bag. 
On it was a detailed map of the Stygian Abyss . He 
had made notations on various parts of the maps 
regarding the things he'd found there. 

"This is amazing, " I said. 
"Yes, Dr. Stein. If not for this map, I would have 

been doomed in the Abyss," said the Avatar. 
"What is this?" I asked, pointing at a section of the 

map. "Worm Stew?" 
The Avatar laughed. 
"That was a recipe I learned from the goblin 

Lanugo. You need a Bowl, a Bottle of Port a Green 
Mushroom, and a Dead Worm. Luckily there were 
plenty of dead worms in the Abyss." 

"You ... ate Worm Stew?" I asked. My stomach 
threatened to invert itself at the thought. 

"No, but I hear it's quite tasty. I traded the stew to 
Sethar on the fourth level of the dungeon for Dragon 
Scales." 

I was getting confused. "But why did you do that?" 
I asked. 

"With the Spider Thread I got on the first level of 
the Abyss, I had Marrowsuck, who lived on the fifth 
level , make me Dragonskin Boots . They are 
impervious to lava, which I discovered on the lower 
levels of the dungeon." 

"But, how did you know you would need the spider 
thread?" 

"Ketchivall, a goblin on the first level , told me. I 
discovered that you had to be careful talking to the 
different people in the Abyss-some, like the Goblin 
King , really liked flattery while others, like Goldthirst, 
the Mountain-Folk King, preferred straight talk. 

"[ also discovered a Shrine on the first level , to the 
east of the main entrance. A secret switch to the south 
of the shrine opened the door to the shrine. It could 
only be reached by leaping across the great chasm." 

"You mentioned goblins and Mountain-Folk. Are 
there many different types of folk living in the Abyss?" 
Robert interjected. A good question. 

Thank you, Carlotta. 
"Yes . And many wished favors in return for 

information ," answered the Avatar. "Goldthirst 
wanted the Gazer living in the mines killed so that his 
people could continue to work the gold there . I 
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obliged him, but only after I had acquired armor and 
better arms." 

"But where could you find such things?" I asked. "I 
understand that the Abyss has few people and fewer 
resources." 

The Avatar nodded. "It was hard going at first. I 
found leather boots and leggings on the first level, but I 
knew I needed better arms and armor. I discovered some 
chain mail on the second level, but that was by accident. " 

"Accident?" 
The Avatar blushed, then said, 'I went to kill the 

Gazer for Goldthirst. I'd had some luck in defeating 
the hostile creatures on the first level of the Abyss; I 
was full of myself and thought defeating it would be 
easy. It eluded my blows at the same time it dealt me 
grievous harm through magical means. 

"I tripped over the chain mail as I was trying to run 
away and save myself. It was like something out of a 
Monty Python movie." 

"A what?" I asked. 
"A Monty Pyth . . . never mind. Sometimes I forget 

that Britannians don't know anything about my world." 
I didn't answer him. I rose and went to pour him 

some more ale. 
"Tell me more about the Abyss, " I said , handing 

him a fresh mug. I sat down across from him. 

After exploring the first level, I 
spent some time meditating at the 
shrine . I'd discovered that 
different mantras raised different 
attributes, but it wasn't until I had 
explored the lower levels of the 
Abyss that I discovered all the 
mantras and their combinations. 

After my meditations, my 
strength and magical abilities had 
increased, but not as much as I 

would have liked. It took much of my strength to defeat the 
creatures I encountered. I knew I must gain insight and more 
experience in the Abyss if I was to survive and find Arial. 

I soon found that by walking about areas of the Abyss I 
was unfamiliar with, I gained greater abilities. The lower I 
explored, the more insight I gained. This also made the time 
I spent at the shrine more productive. 

The Gazer 
On the second level of the Abyss I discovered the home 

of the Mountain-Folk. I've told you a bit about Goldthirst. 
the king of the Mountain-Folk. If you should ever meet him. 
whatever you do don't call him a dwarf! 

In the southeast corner of the mines I found Shak, who 
would repair all kinds of arms and armor (except for that of 
goblin workmanship, which he disdained). He also knew of 
the Sword and Shield of Valor. Oh, and I discovered that 
having a pick was necessary in this section of the Abyss for 
there were always falling rocks and cave-ins to dig through. 

If you should ever find yourself in the Abyss, there is a 
healing fountain in the northeast corner of the second level. 

"But what of the Baron's daughter?" I asked. 
"Ah, the Baron's daughter, Arial, " he began. 
At that moment, Spark woke and called out. 
"I see that my young friend has awakened," said 

the Avatar with a nod in the boy's direction. 
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"But what happened?" I asked anxiously. "What 
about Arial?" I hated not knowing what happened 
next. 

"The rest of the tale will have to wait until another 
time," he replied. 

0 0 0 

Perhaps I should complete the story, Carlotta. 

As thou wisheth, Robert. I've quite done for now. 

As Carlotta said, Spark awakened, and this seemed to 
remind the Avatar of his current Quest. He turned to 
us and said, "I really must go now." He stood up then 
and yelled , "lolo! Shamino! Sentri! Come! Let's get 
moving. Shamino, aren't you up yet?" There were all 
kinds of grunts and groans as the tired adventurers 
stretched themselves out of sleep. Spark was already 
by the Avatar's side, and Jaana joined us shortly. 

We all ate a hearty breakfast in the Emerald dining 
room, and the companions spoke of old times. It was 

remarkable. Their understanding of the events of the 
Avatar's adventures was very much in accordance with 
our records. Later, as I stood watching the band of 
adventurers walk down the path toward Britain , I 
caught myself holding my breath. 

"Ooof! " I yelped as Carlotta dug her elbow into my 
ribs. 

"Now tell me that isn 't the Avatar, Robert," she 
dared. 

Laughing, I told her, "You'll get no argument from 
me." 

But she wasn 't listening. Suddenly she was running 
up the path after the Avatar 's band . Was she 
defecting, leaving our research for the life of an 
adventurer? I couldn 't believe it, but there she was 
running down the path after them. 

Then I heard her yelling , "Avatar! Wait a 
moment. " 

He stopped and turned to face her. "What is it?" 
he asked. 
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"Avatar," she cried . "Promise thou wilt come back 
and tell us the rest of thy story when thou art done. 
Promise!" 

He smiled then. 'There 's no assurance I'll even 
survive the experience, you know." 

"Thou wilt," answered Carlotta in that self-assured 
way she had. "I know thou wilt! " 

"Then I promise. I' ll return, and I'll tell you the 
whole story. " 

'Thou wilt find us at the Lycaeum when thou art 
ready." 

Without another word , the Avatar turned and 
strode off. I ran up to Carlotta and together we stood 
there and watched him go. I found it hard to doubt 
anymore, but just to get on her nerves I said, "One 
could almost believe he's the real Avatar. " 

I can't print Carlotta's reply. 
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ff eonversation with 
H.ichurd Ciurriott 

Part l: Discussing Wtimas 1-6 
(Interviewed by Caroline Spector for Ultima: The Avatar Adventures) 

Opus I, II, and III were all written during a period of 
time when, really, it was me learning how to program. 
Ultima I was written in Basic. There was one written 
before that called Akalabeth that was also written in 
Basic; it was like Ultima 0 . Aka/abeth I never wrote 
to be published. It was just a game I wrote for myself. 
Ultima I was, "Gee, let's rewrite this , but make it 
accessible to the public. " Ultima II was, "Hey, this 
game could sure run a lot better if I only knew 
machine language, " and so it was the very first 
machine language program I ever wrote. Ultima Ill 
was, "Hey, I finally learned machine language, " but 
the one I wrote for Ultima II was really crummy. I 
could sure do it a lot better if I rewrote it. I'll start over 
again because now I've learned machine language. 

The whole point of that description is to say that in 
Ultimas I, II and Ill the stories were incredibly 
simplistic. In fact, there really wasn 't a story to them. 
They were really just a collection of odd tasks that had 

to be completed before you finally collected the 
biggest magical artifact that the game had in it, and 
you went off and you killed the big evil bad guys. I call 
it the Standard Role-Playing Game Scenario Number 
One: You 're the great hero. In fact, in computer 
games it is really common to describe it this way: 
You ' re the great hero , who you read in the 
instructions is supposed to go out and kill the big evil 
bad guy. When you actually get down to the world , 
you never see the big evil bad guy do anything to the 
peasants, much less you. You go around collecting lots 
of treasure and magic artifacts, usually taking great 
advantage of all the people you meet along the way, 
doing far more destruction than the bad guy ever did, 
until you finally become powerful enough to get all the 
magic stuff you need, go to the bad guy's castle and 
kill this person that you've never seen before in your 
life for no particularly good reason except that you 
were told to. 
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CS: So you end up being worse than the bad guy. 
RG: Oh. absolutely. All the computer games out in the 
world still do that. You just go around and you take 
and steal and kill everything you can along your path 
to win the game. Also, Akalabeth had randomly 
generated terrain. Ultima I was my old fantasy game 
that I used to run back in high school. Ultimo II, 
well, another thing that is important is the books you 
pointed out as source material, like the Wizard of Oz 
and Chronicles of Narnia, and also Lord of the 
Rings . In fact, I have never read the Wizard of Oz. 
The only two fantasy books I have ever read are the 
Chronicles of Narnia and Lord of the Rings . I have 
not read any other fantasy book in my life . So, yes, 
you've hit the nail on the head for source material. 

Combined with that, I've borrowed elements from 
the movie Time Bandits - that's where the Moongate 
concept came from. The reason I bring that up is that 
in Ultimo II, that's where moongates first appear. 
Since I wanted to have time travel in Ultimo II, 
when Time Bandits first came out, before it was on 
video, I actually went night after night to the dollar 
theater with pad and pencil to draw a copy of their 
map, to see if it had any logic to it. It sort of did, but 
not really. After I did all this it came out on video, so it 
was a total waste of time. 

Anyway, it's easier to have time travel in the real 
world than it is in an artificial world, because the real 
world at least gives you a frame of reference for 
events to take place in . So where Ultimo I took 
place in my old D&D world , Ultimo II took place on 
Earth. Then for Ultimo Ill, since I wasn't going to 
be doing the time travel theme again , I didn't need 
Earth. So I went back to a modified Earth , this place 
Sosaria. It really didn't look much like the first one, 
but I know it was, because when I built the first one I 
drew in my old D&D world and cut rivers through it 
and cut it up into separate land masses. Ultimo I 
actually had four maps on it, but they are just a flip 
and translation of the ones you see for Ultimo Ill. 
Pretty close to it, just cut up. Ultimo Ill is actually a 
truer representation of my old D&D world. So that's 
Ultimo I, II and III. 
CS: So what I'm wondering is, in terms of Ultimo 
IV and beyond, does this have a very great impact 

on the Britannians at all? 
RG: This is part of their mythes. Ultimo I took place 
on Sosaria, Ultimo II on Earth, Ultimo Ill on 
Sosaria , and now Ultimo IV, V, VI, Vil, VIII and 
IX all take place on Britannia. Ultimo I, Ultimo II 
and Ultimo Ill really took place on Britannia too, 
but since the events of the games are based on current 
mythology, people believe something that is different 
from the truth. 
CS: So basically what you are doing now is that you 
are rewriting the history so that what happened In 
Ultimo I, Ultimo II and Ultimo Ill is part of a 
larger, cohesive system. 
RG: Exactly. Right. 

So here we have the evil wizard, Mondain. Just to 
give you a two- or three-sentence plot summary for 
what happened in there, this guy is supposed to be 
this really big nasty person who is beating up all the 
peasants . The big change between Ultima I, 
Ultimo II and Ultimo Ill is that in Ultimo I Lord 
British is only one king (i.e. , territory owner) out of 
about eight. The kingdoms are not united at this time. 
So you as the player go around performing quests for 
a number of different people, not just Lord British. 
There is no specific place to start. Mondain is 
supposedly immortal. Therefore, all the heroes 
throughout history have been failing to remove this 
guy because he's not been removable . While you play 
the game, technology actually slowly progresses. 
There 's kind of an artificially fast time that it's 
travelling through. You start out with medieval swords 
and eventually technology builds up to space travel 
after a period of 100-200 hours of play. And you go 
out into space and shoot down some bad guys, and 
you discover a time machine, and you take this time 
machine back in time to when Mondain was becoming 
immortal , and it turns out that he was becoming 
immortal due to this gem that he was creating. So the 
time machine takes you right back to the room and 
the time of the creation of this gem, and you have this 
big battle and you destroy the gem and the room, and 
you kill the guy, and that's how you win the game. 
That's Mondain in a nutshell. That's important only 
because we intentionally take little fragments of history 
up into the current games. 

364 



eonverszmon wtlh KichZlJ'd CiZUTiott 

CS: So what 's the fall-out from the events of 
Ultima I? 
RG: The gem that you destroy at the end of Ultima I 
breaks into three pieces. You have three of these 
crystalline shards that look something like this. Each of 
the gem shards is probably as big as your drink here, 
and shaped like a dagger. 

Also it turns out that his skull re-emerges in 
Ultima IV. It 's a magic artifact you find that is 
capable of destroying-it turns out in Ultima IV that 
you could just leave this skull alone. If you pick it up 
and use it, all life is destroyed on the planet. And so, 
instead, at the end of Ultima IV you should cast his 
skull into the great volcano at the abyss. We'll cover 
that later, when we get to Ultima IV. And you don't 
know this about his skull between Ultima I and 
Ultima IV. This was a piece of fiction that was 
generated at the time of Vltima IV. 

I didn 't know there was going to be an Ultima II 
when I wrote Ultima I. We gloss over the fact that it 
became Earth. This time your antagonist is Minax. 
Now, there are all kind of after-the-fact histories as we 
go . Minax , it turns out , was the child lover of 
Mondain. As you kill off Mondain she's still a weak 
child, so she doesn't come out too much at that point 
in time . At some point later she re-emerges to take 
her revenge for the nasty horrible thing you did to her 
master. 

So , Minax arrives , more powerful than her 
predecessor, and she has mastered time and space 
even more than her lover had, and she runs back to 
the time of Legends . This is very much a Time 
Bandits parallel. That's really where the concept was 
taken from . And these Moongates arrive, which are 
holes in the time/space continuum, and that's where 
we got that map from . And you end up having to 
travel back and forth between different eras. Lord 
British exists in current day England. Once you 've 
mastered the gates you travel back, knock her off and 
she's out of there. 

Which brings us to Ultima Ill. This returns to 
Sosaria (Sosaria is just the old name for Britannia). We 
don 't ever say Earth, by the way. The land used to be 
called Sosaria, and no one there has ever realized that 
it happened to look a lot like Earth a long time ago. 

Time and space and distance and fabric-it's all up to 
the interpreter. 

Ultima I, Ultima II and Ultima Ill each seems 
to have its own bizarre quirk that is not congruous 
with the rest of the story. Ultima Ill has a really big 
one that we are also changing history for. Exodus 
(really just a nifty word that we didn't realize was from 
the Bible at the time we wrote it) was very 
mysteriously described as somehow being the foul 
progeny of Mondain and Minax. In the game, Exodus 
was in fact a machine. Basically, it v.ias a big computer 
that you had to destroy. However, that's the part of 
history that we are now glossing over. And so the 
exact nature of what Exodus really was has to remain 
a mystery because we can't say he was this big demon 
when he wasn't. The best way to describe it is that he 
is a force of evil something non-humanoid. To solve 
this game you have to collect the four symbolic 
cards-a sun, a moon, a heart and death. And after 
you 've collected the four cards they are really 
something like computer punch cards . You insert 
them all in the correct order and it destroys him. 
CS: Most people wouldn ' t guess he was a 
computer. 
RG: No, it's pretty much the exact opposite. 

And so, during Ultima Ill the kingdom is coming 
together as one kingdom under Lord British. By the 
end of Ultima Ill the kingdoms are united and you, 
the player , have assisted in this forging of a new 
kingdom, Britannia. The events in this trilogy were the 
first Ages of Darkness. 

Ultima IV, V and VJ are the Age of the Avatar. 
Now let me tell you what was happening in my life at 
the time, because it relates. Between Ultima Ill and 
Ultima IV, I moved out of my hometown of Houston 
and moved to the frozen wasteland of New England. I 
moved into a house right next door to my 
extraordinarily conservative brother. Our lifestyles 
clashed horribly. I finally left school. I was going 
through culture shock , adulthood shock , soul­
searching-is this fun and games, or is this a serious 
career? If you've been through it, you can understand. 
And so Ultima IV became a very personal issue for 
me. As I was up there in New Hampshire (which I 
hated), I became very internalized. I spent two years 
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with Ultima IV, the longest I've ever spent 
developing an Ultima, perfecting it and getting this 
whole concept of Avatar-hood really nailed down 
tight. 

And now 1 started discovering some of the sources 
that would influence the next three games. I was 
getting tired of writing the standard 'go beat up the 
bad guys" sort of stuff. I had regurgitated that story 
three times. I now understood programming quite 
well. Technology was no longer an issue, no longer 
hard to do. I knew exactly what I could pull off and 
what I could not pull off . Since I (ORIGIN) was 
publishing the games myself, I began receiving and 
reading the mail that players sent in. I realized that 
people were reading things into the game that were 
totally fictitious . I'd get letters from people saying, 
"Ah, man, I couldn't beat up the big dragon with the 
huge sword I had, so I tried a dagger, and it worked! " 
Well, that's ludicrous. But when you have 100,000 
people playing a game, they will have wildly different 
visions of what the game is, based on how it 
happened to unfold for them. People were reading all 
kinds of underlying messages into the games, many 
with serious overtones, when the view was "here's 
some money, here 's some weapons , here's some 
monsters, go kill them and you win. " That's all these 
games were. 

For the first time I was getting mail, everything 
from fan mail from kids who were really getting into 
the game to hate mail from religious groups who 
thought I was a satanic perverter of America's youth. 
This all combined to make me sit back and say, 
"Gee," you know? It became more important to me as 
I became an adult to consider the quality of the story I 
was producing and also the content of that story, 
because a large part of the group playing these is 
pretty young. I concluded that when you have the 
opportunity to impact in some way the lives of 
hundreds of thousands of young people, there is an 
inherent responsibility that goes along with that. 

And so a large part of what changed about Ultima 
IV was a reflection of the desire to ensure that what 
was in the game was of good quality and also 
something that was a positive social force. It was never 
in response to that hate mail, by any means, but it was 

because I'd like to make sure that nobody-no father or 
mother or whoever-would have any reason to think 
anything negative about this. 
CS: So it sounds like you have a sense of 
responsibility about producing games with more 
significance than "let's go kill somebody." This also 
seems to show up in the way that you structured the 
game. 
RG: Precisely. But on the other hand, when I was 
writing Ultima IV, I wasn't sure it was going to sell 
well. I was afraid people might think that I had really 
gone off the deep end, that I was preaching, so to 
speak, in a game. However, it was the very first #l 
best-selling Ultima in the series. It was extremely well 
received. It was the first one that got substantial public 
awareness. It received a great deal of press outside of 
what it normally would have because it was the first, 
and still is really the only, series that takes this kind of 
socially aware sidetrack. Which is very interesting when 
we get to Ultima VII-it's kind of interesting to throw 
that in the other direction. 

So the kind of things that built a foundation for 
Ultima IV were just as fun but different. For 
example, in Ultima I, Ultima II and Ultima Ill, 
you see a chest and of course you go pick it up and try 
to take it with you, try to pick the lock, try to bash it 
open. The easiest thing to do story-wise back then 
was to hide things in people's houses. And you'd just 
go around ransacking everything , looking for 
everything. And I said, look, I can think of just as 
many elements that reinforce the fact that if I go steal 
something from your house, you're not going to be 
very happy about it. Because the technology is finally 
sophisticated enough that I can detect that kind of 
thing. In fact , one of the hardest things for me to 
detect is a player walking into somebody's house and 
taking something. It's very hard for the game to know. 

That's really what Ultima IV says. I wanted to 
build this thing where there is no big fighter, no big 
bad guy. This is a game of personal conquest. The 
Triad of Evil is finally behind us , so this is the 
Renaissance. This is the age of sitting back and 
saying, "Hey! Even though there's no big evil bad guy, 
we still have thieves and brigands and fistfights and 
barroom brawls." So, this is a Quest for the Holy Grail 
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sort of thing. We want somebody to show us the way. 
What's the good way to lead a life? How do we do this 
right? What value system should we have to benefit 
society as a whole? 

And so you get dropped into the game in Ultimo 
IV ... oh, that's another thing that happens in Ultimo 
IV, that goes back to the intro scene you were 
describing. In paper role-playing games, one of the 
biggest aspects of the game is the human interaction. 
It's harder to simulate that in computer gaming. One 
of the next biggest aspects is the inventory or 
management-managing your personal stats and 
managing your inventory. Managing your inventory is 
one of the easiest focuses of computer games, but it's 
actually not the funner one in my mind. But if you go 
from there to, for instance, the character itself. . . in a 
computer game if you roll random dice, you're just 
going to sit there and go roll , roll , roll , roll. You get all 
maxed-out numbers and it's, "Okay, I'll take that one. " 
If you don't let them roll out and you let them choose 
numbers, well, it's kind of a fixed equation. Once they 
know the map and the game, they can make the 
perfect decision as to exactly what their stats should 
be if they are aware that the equations are internal. So 
I don't want to give you either one of those. 

Ultimo IV I wanted to be a very personal 
experience. The reason is because in most of these 
games you are the puppeteer running this puppet 
around the world. If this puppet is doing bad things it's 
not you , it's the puppet. You can detach. And I 
wanted this game to be about personal and social 
responsibility. It is very important that this be you in 
the world of Britannia, not something you've rolled 
up. If I'm the computer nerd at home wanting to be a 
big barbarian going around crashing things, I still want 
to be a computer nerd down there, in nice clothing. 
The essence of that character in the game is really the 
essence of you as an individual . 

Let me go back to the Ultimo IVs philosophy 
and where it came from. I knew I was going to have a 
Quest for the Holy Grail kind of thing . Let me 
describe to you some of the fundamental truths of 
Britannia. Whenever I include philosophy, I try to be 
very careful to do certain things and to avoid certain 
other things. Religion is absolutely forbidden. There is 

no mention of religion, there is no mention of deities, 
there is no longer any mention of demons in the 
religious sense. There is no Antichrist, there are no 
dark princes, things of that nature. 

On the other hand, there is magic in the world. 
But magic is not a function of invoking gods, magic is 
a function of pseudoscience. And so that brings up 
another very important point, a point of semantics. 
Basically, the way magic works in Ultimo is that the 
proverbial ether does exist. There are real laws of 
physics that we are unaware of here or maybe that 
don't exist here , that really do exist in Britannia, that 
allow manipulation of things in the ether. So the point 
is that magic is a science. It is not a deistically based 
force . 
CS: It is more of a science. You haue to do specific 
things in specific ways. 
RG: And there is a real reason why that works. Even if 
players don't know it yet. Of course they don 't. 

Also, these are not morals. These are ethics. I have 
no idea what the real term means, but let me describe 
to you what I mean when I say that. Morals don't exist 
for me or Britannia. Ethics do exist for me and 
Britannia. When I say ethics, the "do unto others as 
you would have them do unto you" is ethics, because 
that makes good sense. Ethics have a logical rationale 
that I can describe to you how they help society exist. 
If I beat you up, you are going to be angry at me and 
will be on my back. If I'm nice to you, you are likely to 
be nice back. I can describe that easily. It makes good 
rational sense. That's ethics. That's what everybody in 
Britannia believes. 
CS: In other words, people do things because it 
makes sense, because it benefits society, and not 
because somebody told them. 
RG: You 've got it. And that's my definition of the 
difference between that and a moral. 
CS: They make conscious choices instead of just 
hauing somebody tell them, "this is what you are 
going to do. " 
RG: Correct. That is the whole concept of 
Avatarhood. Prior to Ultimo IV everyone was doing 
pretty much what they dam well pleased. The whole 
point of Ultimo IV was the discovery of "It sure 
makes good sense for society to have these basic rules 
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of interaction." And you're the person who goes out 
to discover them. Ultima IV is the discovery of these 
far better actions. Trial by fire . And that's what's really 
interesting about the way the game unfolds in Ultima 
IV. In Ultima I , Ultima II and Ultima Ill you 
were trained to do what? You were trained to go into 
everybody's house , rifle the place, do whatever you 
wanted, kill them off when you were done with them 
because it was fun, and take all their possessions. 

So people opened Ultima IV, and the first thing 
they did was ransack the place. But in Ultima IV 
they were completely unaware of the fact that, by the 
way, as you started down this path, the community 
was sitting back here. Well , I'll get back to this in a 
moment. Let me tell you where this came from. If I'm 
going to push this stuff, I'm going to have to have a 
basic set of things to push. OK, that's when I said, "I 
need some basic philosophy to push." Now, what is 
that philosophy? And I am a believer that there is no 
single correct philosophy, because there are an infinite 
number of rules and certain combinations will work 
just fine. However, I needed to have something, some 
rallying point to push. 

And one night on real late night TV, I was 
watching a show about the Dead Sea Scrolls-I find 
religion very fascinating to read, and I watch TV a 
lot-and they somehow digressed from this one 
aspect about the Dead Sea Scrolls and went on to a 
section about how the Buddhists and the Hindus saw 
Christ. For instance, according to the show, anyway, 
the Buddhists and the Hindus said that Christ had 
come and lived among them for awhile, and they had 
items to at least substantiate this person's existence, 
and had written a number of interestingly different 
kinds of writings about Christ than the Christians had. 

So basically what they are saying is that Christ had 
come along and studied to become an Avatar. The 
Hindus and Buddhists had this concept of Avatarhood 
and about becoming an Avatar, and they believed that 
these yogis study and purify themselves, and they had 
sixteen different methods of personal purification. 
They had five methods of personal purification that 
were physical , five that were spiritual, five that I can't 
remember, and the sixteenth one, which you could 
accomplish only after accomplishing the previous 

fifteen , was to become one with God. The physical 
ones were things like control of your heart rate, 
control of your body temperature, and being able to 
teleport across land, which they believed their yogis 
capable of doing . The spiritual ones and the other 
ones, I don't remember what they were. 
CS: So you got the imagery of the purification . 
RG: Right. And all this stuff adds up. And also we had 
another interesting thing, on a side note, in that their 
writings about Christ say the Christians are all wrong. 
The Christians all claim Jesus Christ to be the Son of 
God. They say, no, He never claimed that, it's written 
down wrong . Jesus Christ claimed to be one with 
God. And that's a very big difference in their minds. 
Every yogi that exists is a partial Avatar. In whatever 
way that they've purified themselves, they are a partial 
Avatar in that sense. And in all of history, according to 
the Hindus, there have only been two complete 
Avatars, one of which was this woman that predates 
recorded history, and the second one was J~sus 
Christ. Now, that's a really interesting bent on history, 
among other things. That became the foundation for 
saying , "Hey , I'm going to build my own little 
structure, a mathematically interrelated structure, 
which will build Avatarhood. " 
CS: So in Ultima, in Britannia, people do not 
follow a set of morals, but they have to behave in 
an ethical way, they have to behave ethically over a 
long period of time to achieve Avatarhood. Right? 
RG: That's basically correct. The only person who has 
ever really obtained Avatarhood is the character, 
period. The character is laying down the foundations, 
or the concept, of Avatarhood. They are never put 
down as laws. Ultima V, by the way is the story 
about freedom of choice. You can't put these down as 
laws. It does not work to put these down as laws. 
They ' re fine as a point of discussion , but it 's a 
completely personal issue. I would never try to build a 
pseudoscience of truth. That's another very important 
point. This is never meant to be THE TRUTH. This is 
really meant to be a, "Hey, by the way, if you just 
happen to live by these standards, it works pretty 
well ." It was never meant to be the one great truth of 
the universe that you must abide by. 
CS: Which goes back to the whole idea of morals. 
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RG: Exactly . And that comes out pretty much in 
Ultimo V, when we get there. In fact, it comes out 
completely in Ultimo V. 
Ultimo V deals with hypocrisy in religion. Ultimas 
like to slam all sorts of things, and often contain a 
more or less specific moral or ethical statement. That 
is Ultimo V's target. " 
CS: I think if you are slamming something you have 
to show why it is ineffective. 
RG: It was never a statement of "that's wrong. " It's a 
"by the way let's set up something that looks like 
that , and show why it failed ." Hopefully I am also 
convincing you here that Ultimas are very different 
from other computer games. Nobody is trying to do, 
in my mind, real stories. All my competitors have very 
good games out that sell at least as well as mine, and 
they are all monster bashes. There's no real meaning 
behind any of it. 
CS: It seems that at some point people are going to 
get tired of that. It 's not really taking advantage of 
the technology, is it? _ 
RG: So I sat back and I said, "OK, I want to build my 
own little structure." I started putting together big lists 
of all of the emotional motivators that caused people 
to do good or evil deeds. Greed, envy, all those things. 
I built huge stacks of paper of these things, both good 
ones and bad ones, all these motivators. A lot of them 
had subtly overlapping aspects. I had a real hard time 
sorting through them. I had gotten it down to a list of 
about eight. It was actually more like ten or twelve. 
And then I happened upon the fact that those eight or 
ten or twelve were all combinations of Truth, Love 
and Courage, which came to me not after watching 
the Wizard of Oz . However, it was reinforced less 
than a week after having reached the conclusion 
myself by watching the Wizard of Oz and deciding 
that he had come to the same conclusion, too. It was 
reinforced by the fact that I had obviously found an 
ultimate truth to the universe . Truth , Love and 
Courage are extremely non-overlapping concepts in 
my mind. 

If those are the basic three pervasive principles of 
life, then all other thoughts, particularly emotional 
motivators , are some combination of positive or 
negative basics of those concepts . How many 
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generations of the three principles are there? There are 
eight: Truth itself. Love. Courage. Truth and Love. 
Love and Courage. Courage and Truth. Truth and Love 
and Courage. None of the above. Makes eight. So there 
are three Principles, and eight Virtues. Truth taken by 
itself is Truth ; I rephrased that as Honesty. Love 
became Compassion. Courage became Valor. Truth 
tempered by Love became Justice. Love and Courage 
became Self-Sacrifice. Courage and Truth became 
Chivalric Honor. Truth and Love and Courage became 
a very carefully phrased Spirituality, not to mean 
religion, but concern as to whether my works in the 
world are good, not positive, not negative. "None of the 
above" we refer to as Pride, but Pride not being a 
virtue, we have to use Humility. 
CS: So you flipped It. 
RG: Here ' s why . Here is where math and 
pseudoscience all come together. If I draw a symbol 
and say those three circles represent the principles of 
Truth and Love and Courage, and if I draw a line that 
is tangent only to Truth, that's the line of Honesty. If I 
draw a line that is tangent only to Love, that's the line 
of Compassion. If I draw it tangent only to Courage, 
that's Valor. Truth tempered by Love is Justice. Love 
and Courage is Self-Sacrifice. Courage and Truth is 
Honor. The one that touches all three of them is 
Spirituality. And this outer ring that touches none of 
them, that is completely isolated, that is the bad guy 
so to speak. That's Pride. But you don 't use Pride, 
you use the reverse , which is Humility. And that's 
why, in the game, when you go out looking for all 
these virtues, and you're led down the path looking for 
Pride, you have to discover for yourself that you are 
looking the wrong direction because this one is 
separate, you end up having this twist. You think 
you've got the whole solution down here and you're 
running along being haughty and vain , and you get 
slammed around because you are running the wrong 
way. 

So, after arriving at these three, the eight fell out 
of the list I had before, and it condensed very nicely. 
The game has an internal karma counter for each of 
these virtues, and as you play the game, every thing 
you do has the opportunity to modify one of your 
attributes in there. You start the game at 50%, middle 
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of the road , with each of these attributes. Every deed 
you do, every person you talk to, everything you pick 
up , everything you kill , everything you save, can 
possibly modify each these. And later on in the game 
it comes back to haunt you. And you are never told in 
the game that these kinds of things are going on 
behind you . Let me give you some examples. For 
instance, there is this woman who sells reagents for 
magic. 
CS: The blind woman? 
RG: You 've met her? 
CS: Yes , I'ue bought lots of stuff from her, and I 
always pay her what she asks, since she's blind. 
RG: By the way, I got a letter from a blind woman 
who played the game who was offended that I did 
that. She said that blind people can count money. 

That was the Honesty test. If you drop one gold 
coin she says, "Hey, I only heard one drop. ' If you 
drop two or more, she says, "Thank you very much" 
and lets you walk out. But if you did not put down the 
right amount, she says, "Thieving scumbag." 
CS: I accidently picked up a chest and I went to 
giue it back and it won't let you giue stuff back. 
That is uery frustrating. 
RG: There is one fortunate thing, in that there are 
enough tests throughout this game that it doesn 't 
matter what you do one time; what matters is what 
you do repeatedly. Making one bad judgment will 
make no difference in this game whatsoever. It's really 
only a matter of what you do out of habit. It also 
means that if you have a habit of going around killing 
everybody, it's going to take you a long time to dig out 
of that hole. And a lot of people started out Ultimo 
IV going around killing everybody. They would talk to 
somebody, get everything they needed to know, kill 
them off. That was a real standard method of playing 
Ultimo . The funny thing is, we've trained people so 
well to be the good guy in this one that I don't have 
to test for it anymore. In all the subsequent Ultimas 
people still think these tests are going on. These tests 
were a real pain, and they don't come in anymore, but 
everybody still does it. 
CS: I'm not telling them that you're not doing it, 
because I think it's real important. 
RG: But you see, Ultimo IV does have all these tests. 

What we did in Ultimo V and Ultimo VI is put a 
few obvious ones in to keep people on their toes. 
CS: OK, so we haue the principles and have 
extrapolated the uirtues. 
RG: You don't know any of this when you start the 
game. You don't even know you are in Britannia. You 
wake up in Britannia and wonder, "Why am I here?" 
There is a period of discovery . You wonder why 
you're in Britannia-there doesn't appear to be any 
great world-saving thing to do . Since nobody ever 
says, "Go on the quest of the Avatar! ", your discovery 
that you're going to go on the quest of the Avatar, 
and exactly what that is, is a completely self-generated 
thing . 

So we have the virtues. You know the little karma 
tests are going on around the world. Eventually you 
realize that if anybody is going to help figure this out, 
you are really the right person to do it. You seem to 
be the person who has the wherewithal , the 
knowledge, the capability to show people this way. 

Here's your challenge. Ultimo IV was the first 
time I tried to write a real story. When the story came 
out, it was much better as stories go than the rest of 
my competition, but still kind of klunky from a story 
standpoint. In particular, the aspect I find klunky is 
that it is fairly repetitive. For instance, there are the 
eight shrines that you have to visit to eventually 
become enlightened, to prove yourself in each of 
these eight aspects. But since you have eight aspects 
to prove yourself in , you have to prove yourself in 
similar things eight times. You have to do something 
for the three principles. You have to do that three 
times. And they are very similar kinds of quests. So 
the challenge for you is going to be to make those 
eight paths not seem repetitive . Here 's where my 
pseudoscience breaks down and it becomes hard to 
describe stuff: you can actually go meditate at the 
shrines and the shrines talk to you, in a sense. It is 
important that this be done as an inner realization that 
comes to you. It is important that those scenes do not 
come out as supernatural. 

So you go around the world to prove yourself to be 
this great person of virtue. The way it finally wraps up 
is, once you think you understand it all , and once 
you've done these eight quests, and you say, "OK, I'm 
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ready now to prove myself, that I really am the person 
who has this whole thing figured out," you take on a 
last and final step. Here's the Holy Grail aspect to it. 
There is this book that exists called the Codex of 
Ultimate Wisdom. The actual physical manifestation 
appears to take center stage, but in my mind it isn 't 
really center stage because you can see how much 
trouble I've had just remembering it. 
CS: It 's actually a red herring? 
RG: Not really. It's still the culmination. Ta da , I'm 
finished . But the real story is the personal discovery 
aspect. What you're running for the whole time is the 
book and it is really a very big, powerful, mysterious 
artifact. But that's not really the point of the story. 
CS: Actually, that could be a really poignant, 
bittersweet thing, that you 've achieved this goal, 
you 've triumphed, and the character feels really let 
down. But as he 's reflecting he realizes that while 
this was what he was running after what he really 
gained is like Dorothy in the Wizard of Oz: there's no 
place like home. 
RG: There's a scene at the very end of Ultima IV 
that is exactly that. A little while before it says "Ta Da! 
You're an Avatar. " And then, "Oh, by the way, you've 
not really completed anything. You're not finished ." 
The whole point is that this is a philosophy that does 
not culminate in a completion date. This is a thought 
process for which you have now discovered the 
proper direction , but the whole point of this is that 
you must continue in that direction. You don't finish. 

The actual way the story wraps up is that you go 
down into this hollow volcano, the Great Stygian 
Abyss, and as you go down through the levels of this 
dungeon you are tested at each level as to whether 
you understand this relationship. What principle do 
you hold if you are a very honest person? Answer: 
Truth . What virtue is Truth tempered by Love? 
Justice. So each level you go down is a test. 

We built this great pseudoscience of these three 
principles, spawning these eight virtues . If you 
combined all eight in all possible ways, you get 64 
combinations and it turns out if you have greed and 
envy and all those other things, they'll tend to be 
combinations of these eight. Since then we've gotten 
other sets of three that have turned up in the other 

games. You can generate almost any other kind of 
things you want to, just out of combinations. So we 
had three, we had eight, we implied a lower level, but 
now the solution of the game implies an upper level. 
And so I sat around for six months trying to decide 
what is the one thing-I actually debated whether I 
was going to go eight, three, two, one, and have two 
like good and evil, or if I was going to go eight, three 
one. And so it turns out that the overriding, pervasive 
question is, what is the one thing from which the three 
principles were spawned from which the eight virtues 
were spawned? 

The answer was a fairly arbitrary choice , too, 
because it is kind of hard to think of one eternal 
concept. And so the answer to life, the universe and 
everything is that all things are spawned from infinity. 
Infinity is an eight letter word, conveniently enough, 
and as you saw, it leads to the eight partials, and you 
get a Little rune which you put out on the table and it 
spells out infinity. 

We have Truth, Love and Courage, which come 
from Infinity. We also have Control , Passion and 
Diligence, which is another set of three that I'll explain 
later. But they all spawn from Singularity. We have 
another one that spawns from Equality. So we've built 
a number of these other systems which are discovered 
down through the years. 
CS: I love the idea that there is a point to all this, 
that it is not random. 
RG: And all the little stories are chosen to fit into this 
bigger puzzle. 
CS: By the way, what is the meaning of the colors? 
Were they arbitrary choices? 
RG: No. Principle colors in the color wheel : red, 
yellow, blue . If I assign these to Truth , Love and 
Courage , which would you do? Red would be 
Courage, Blue would be Truth, Yellow Love. Purple, 
Green and White are the correct combinations of the 
eight Virtues. All that's pseudoscience. So whenever 
you need a color just take the primary colors of the 
color wheel , assign it to the three Principles, you 
won't miss--you'll come up with the same ones. 
CS: What about the tarot cards? 
RG: The pictures were chosen based on the eight 
virtues. In any one pass through it you will see all 
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eight. Of course it's a simple process of elimination. 
For instance, here are eight virtues. I'm going to give 
you four questions, asking you to compare them two 
at a time. You thereby eliminate four of them. With 
four of them eliminated, I can therefore identify four 
of them as being your favorite . Two more questions 
and I've eliminated all but two. One more question 
and I've now built a tree pyramid of exactly what your 
belief system is. It doesn 't matter what order it comes 
in. It doesn 't matter how it's presented. It brings them 
up in random order. 

We worked on the phrasing of those questions. 
Unfortunately, there's no really perfect way to ask 
those questions that we 've yet discovered . Here 's 
something else that's interesting . When we were 
working on this system, I said, Here's what I want to 
do for character development ." I went around to 
everyone in the office saying , Here 's these eight 
virtues along with a short description as to what I 
mean by them. Give me your ranking, one to eight, as 
to how important you think they are." And then about 
a week later, after we generated these questions, we 
went back to the same people and said, "Answer 
these questions. " Although our company was only 
about twenty people large, everybody except two 
people had the exact same outcome to the questions 
as they did to the judgment. And those two who were 
wrong only had two transposed in the list. And so it 
turns out you get the exact same responses as you do 
to an intellectual discussion of it. 

So, you end the game of Ultima IV by realizing 
the big difference between the one and the three and 
the eight, and you 've solved all these quests and 
you've lived the pure life, and you've shown everybody 
else in the world what it is to be an Avatar. This is a 
system you can all rally behind. Let's live our lives this 
way. Life will be fine . And the game's over. 

Ultima V was a story where we sat back and said, 
"OK, now that you've shown everybody Avatarhood, 
let's show everybody why it's bad. " Lord British can't 
be involved in this, so we conveniently arranged for 
Lord British's disappearance. We kind of rewrite back 
into the Ultima IV history a little bit and we say, 
when you discovered the Codex of Ultimate Wisdom, 
down in the chamber the bottom of the Great Stygian 

Abyss, that's when the game ended in Ultima IV. 
Now, armed with that knowledge, we say that the 
Great Council of Wizards up here in Britain extracts it 
from the core of the Earth and brings it to the surface. 
In doing so it caused a volcano to erupt and build this 
huge Mt. Olympus. That is the Isle of the Avatar, 
which now shows up down in the bottom right hand 
comer of the map. In Ultima IV there's nothing on 
the map there . In Ultima V it shows up . It was 
actually there in Ultima IV, but it was the mysterious 
place you were not aware of. Now the volcano has 
erupted , it has created this huge mountain , and 
they've built a big shrine on top to hold the Codex of 
Wisdom, called the Shrine of the Codex. But, all this 
matter coming to the surface of the world has caused 
a real pseudoscience anomaly , which is that this 
matter has left an empty shell all the way around the 
world , a hollow space that has cooled off and has now 
become this empty underworld. 

Between Ultima IV and Ultima V a number of 
other things happen, too. For instance, they've sealed 
off the entrances to the dungeons to prevent all the 
monsters from coming up and wreaking havoc. Life is 
much safer now. Life is much better. Even thievery is 
down. Things are going really great now, all of a 
sudden, because the monsters are knocked off. It's 
going so well that Lord British says, "Hey, I've always 
wanted an adventure myself. " There 's this river 
flowing underground where the mantle used to be, 
and Lord British decides he's going to go down with 
some people and explore it. And so he goes exploring 
down into the underworld and doesn't come back, 
conveniently leaving the throne available for 
somebody to come in and screw up. 

While he 's gone , his trusted companion , 
Blackthorn (whose name is suspiciously ominous), 
comes in to take power and kind of run things almost 
like martial law while he 's gone. Of course, Lord 
British disappearing and not coming back on time 
creates a panic, since one survivor manages to come 
back and explain that the whole party is wiped out by 
this huge big evil nasty monster, a kind which no one 
has ever seen before. So the world goes into a panic. 
And Blackthorn , out of goodness , I mean his 
intentions are really very good (which is the best part 
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of the thing about the moral majority) says, "I've got 
to start straightening things out. Avatarhood is 
absolutely the way to straighten things out. But people 
aren 't living by it. They aren 't being honest. They 
aren 't being compassionate. I'm going to force them 
to be that way. " And so Blackthorn starts legislating 
morality. Which is, of course, just the wrong thing to 
do. 

Now we bring an evil overtone into this . 
Remember the shards of Mondain 's gem that I 
described back in the first trilogy? It turns out that one 
of the reasons this is all happening is that Lord British 
is not the only one down in this new underworld . 
Another key individual is this ship captain, Captain 
John, who is caught in a whirlpool up on the surface 
and is sucked into this underground lake. And he and 
his crew are trying to find a way out. (They all survived 
being sucked underground.) 

During their exploration to find their way out, he 
stumbles upon the broken gem of Mondain. But you 
don't know that's what happened until much later in 
the story. And by touching these shards that were re­
exposed, so to speak, when the volcano was formed , 
they come to life. Three beings come into existence, 
called the Shadowlords. And they personify the anti­
virtues: Falsehood, Hatred and Cowardice. They leave 
Captain John alive just because they are big nasty evil 
guys , and he 's trapped down there , hahahaha! 
Captain John goes insane and kills off the rest of his 
crew, and is left down there alone to suffer in the 
turmoil of evil he has loosed upon the world. 

So Blackthorn is now taking control , with good 
intentions. But as the game progresses, these three 
evil forces very easily bend him to their will , and they 
push him even further. Ultima IV is a game where 
the story is still pretty obvious. Things are either good 
or evil. You know this because it tells you in the 
documentation. Good monsters you don't kill. Lions 
and tigers and bears eat you because they are hungry, 
not because they are evil. And so killing them is not 
good. It's not necessarily bad-I'm not trying to raise 
animal protectionist issues. But if you don't kill them, 
that's better. On the other hand, it's not good to kill a 
monster, but it's not bad , either. It doesn 't count 
against you to kill a monster. The choices you make in 

Ultima IV are pretty straightforward. Do good things 
to good things and do bad things to bad things. That's 
it. 

In Ultima V you've got a very different situation. 
Ultima Vis the "gray area" story. Now suddenly 
Blackthorn has started legislating morality, very strictly 
legislating morality. You are either honest , or you 
have your tongue cut out. You must be 
compassionate. We are now going to tax you to make 
sure that you feed the poor. To be honest, you have 
to report your parents if they are not doing everything 
right. There are tons of things ... very "Big Brother." 
CS: Would being drafted force you to be 
courageous? 
RG: Yes, things like that. And, more importantly, in a 
society that is very repressive like this, many good 
things can happen. Crime is going to go down. Certain 
kinds of businesses are going to flourish . So we have 
people who are correct in their resentment of the new 
system. There are people who are benefiting from the 
new system and honestly think it's great. There are 
people who are using it to their advantage. There are 
people who will tell you that they believe in it, who 
really are just waiting for an opportunity to tum you in. 
When you start Ultima V, you suddenly don 't know 
who your friends are and who your friends aren't. You 
become a Robin Hood-style outlaw to work outside the 
system as a hunted criminal , trying to overthrow the 
system that you helped create. 

The story of Ultima V, from my personal 
viewpoint, is a far better story than Ultima IV. It's 
not as repetitive. The quests are more singular. The 
decisions you make are really tougher. The choices 
when you play Ultima IV are really straightforward. 
Just do the good guy stuff and don't do the bad guy 
stuff and you are going to win . The problem with 
Ultima IV as a player is that you don 't know you 
have to do all the good guy stuff. Your problem as a 
storyteller in Ultima V will be to make sure that 
these moral dilemmas come out. 

So basically, the solution to this story is that you 
have to find a way to defeat the three Shadowlords. In 
fact , it turns out that the Shadowlords have captured 
Lord British and have him down in the underworld . 
And the Shadowlords are pushing society further and 
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further toward the anti-virtues, towards legislation of 
morality. Actually, this is abusing the virtues, not really 
promoting anti-virtues. You have to dispatch the 
Shadowlords and go rescue Lord British from this 
underground chasm that he was exploring. That's the 
resolution of Ultima V. 

Another interesting aspect to the Shadowlords, by 
the way, is that they travel around ... you see, the 
pseudoscience all wraps around; everything is self 
supporting. Every step we put in is somehow related 
in some cosmic sense to everything else. For example, 
an amateur astronomer takes a telescope and looks at 
the night sky . And there are eight planets , 
representing the eight virtues . There are two 
moons ,for no good reason other than that's the 
number we started with . In fact , the nature of the 
Moongates of the two moons is important. But it 
changes from game to game. Instead of trying to 
explain it, you should just use it to your end and not 
worry about the exact mechanics being described to 
the player that you're writing to. But let me just tell 
you approximately what it is. Basically there are two 
moons , and each of them goes through different 
phases. The way that the Moongates work is related 
to the phases of the moons. There are eight locations 
where the Moongates can show up . The eight 
locations in Ultima IV are fixed , but in Ultima V 
you discover that there are these stones buried 
beneath the ground where the gates rise up. And if 
you dig up the stones they are somehow marked so 
you can tell they represent a phase of the moon . 
Whenever a Moongate rises up out of the ground, the 
phase of one moon determines which gate is open, 
and the phase of the other moon determines which 
gate position it will take you to if you enter it. That 
was the way it happened in Ultima IV. ln Ultima V 
we make it so all Moongates are open at night , 
period. At night they rise up out of the ground, and 
the phase of whichever moon is closest to being at 
apex determines where you will go if you enter a 
Moongate. That makes them a little more usable . 
Players can read the mechanics of it in the instruction 
manual and figure it out on their own. They don't 
need it as a clue in a walkthrough. Other people never 
figure it out. It's not important. 

Also, there are eight moonstones, one for each of 
the eight phases. All these threes and eights and other 
pseudonumerology are never described as cosmically 
significant. They just happen to be that way. I don't 
actually state that there is some law of physics to 
support this. But it would be a law of physics, not 
religion , that explains it. 

In fact , the planets have proper orbital periods and 
move properly, and if you wait five and a half years 
there will be a full planetary alignment. We intended 
for it to have some game significance, and never got 
around to giving it any. But you'll find out that plenty 
of things act similarly. There are lots of details that 
have nothing to do with solving the game. 

On the other hand, if you look up at night during 
Ultima V, there are comets in the sky. If you see a 
comet near a planet, that tells you that one of the 
Shadowlords is in the city corresponding to that 
planet . Eight major cities , eight virtues . And the 
Shadowlords travel from city to city. When a comet is 
near a city's planet, that gives you some warning. 
CS: One of the things I noted was that each of the 
cities tends to relate to a virtue. How do the NPC 
characters relate to the virtue of their city? 
RG: In the game , there are about half a dozen 
significant characters in each town. When you walk 
into a town it should look like a bustling medieval 
village , with all the normal kinds of things you 'd 
expect to find in a town , but there are only six 
characters that you have a chance to meet and talk to. 
These six characters don 't tell you straight out that, 
"Moonglow is the city of Honesty," for example. It's 
not like honesty awards are plastered everywhere. It 's 
more that because of the nature of commerce in this 
town, because of what is important to these people, 
honesty is a consistent trait. You might hear, "By the 
way, everyone around here is pretty honest. It's one 
of the things that we pride ourselves on around here ... 
Like "everything 's bigger in Texas ." that kind of 
overtone. 

One of the goals of an Ultima is to be very rich in 
detail and environment. It is as accurate a simulation 
as we can generate, as well . It is a far better simulator 
than most of my competition's products. But there are 
also tons of aspects to the games that some players 
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will never, never, never, never notice. And any of 
those that you can discover and point out will be fun , 
because they add to the reality of what is happening. 
Well, let me give you an idea of how the stories are 
developed. I can tell you at the beginning of a game 
what the goal of the game is going to be. But the 
detail of what you have to do-go get this object or 
that object-is largely unimportant . Not only is it 
unimportant, but I don't even know it until really late 
in the process, which really angers management. 
Because I don't design a story and then write a game 
to tell it. I write a simulation and then design a story 
that shows it off. Let me describe to you an exact case 
in point. Each Ultima got bigger and bigger than its 
predecessors. Ultima I had exactly 16 tiles with 
which to design a world. Water , grass , trees, 
mountains, a city, a person and a few other things. 
The level of detail was minimal , and everything was 
minimally represented. You had very little interaction 
with things. The landscape was all random and you 
had monsters scattered throughout it. By the time you 
get to Ultima V, for example , we finally have 
enough shapes where we can have furniture . So 
here's how story design took place in Ultima V. 

I'm working with the editor, drawing furniture . I 
say, "Well, I've got a room now, I've got a desk, I've 
got a chair, a table, a lamp and a water basin, a bed 
and a flowerpot, a rug and a harpsichord. " I made the 
harpsichord because it looked interesting . I was 
looking for furnishings that were big enough to see 
and thinking of real-world examples. With each of 
those items, as soon as you make it , you make it 
function as best you can. A chair you can move 
around and sit in . A bed you can lie down on. A desk 
you can look in its drawer. Everything you create you 
make functional. So I made my harpsichord go bing, 
bing, bing ... you can use it. And that's two-thirds of 
the Ultima development , building the reality of 
physics in Britannia. By the time the first two-thirds of 
the work is done, I've decided what the big goal of the 
game is, and I've been generating objects, things you 
can use to make situations happen, that will help build 
a flavor for that goal . But what order you use them in, 
or what things are useful , is completely undecided, 
until the physics of the world works. And then I sit 

back and I say, "Look, I've built all this nifty stuff, I 
don't want you to miss it. " If I don't tell the player to 
go play the harpsichord, they might not see it. So as I 
sit back and write the story I say, "OK, here 's what 
I' m going to do with the harpsichord ." The 
harpsichord, which began as just a piece of furniture , 
turned out to be one of the most significants points in 
the quest of Ultima V. 

We sat back and we said, "We don't want people 
to miss it, so I'm going to tell them to play it. " There's 
also a piece of background music in Ultima V that a 
good friend of mine, the character lolo , composed. 
(All the characters in Ultima are real people. Yeah, 
I'll give a people synopsis here too. There's only a few 
of them that are important.) So here we are , and I 
want players to play it. So I have a character say, 
"Hey, the harpsichord works, by the way. " So we 
took this piece of music called "Stones, " about 
Stonehenge , and we set it in medieval musical 
notation in the manual. And there's a character in the 
game who will describe how to read that specific piece 
of music in medieval notation. Another character will 
tell you , "By the way , if you want to play the 
harpsichord, here's how you can play it, using this 
medieval music." There's another character in the 
game who tells you that that particular piece of music 
is Lord British's favorite . And there's another person 
in the game who tells you, "By the way, Lord British 
has a magical harpsichord, and I've heard that if you 
play certain pieces of music on it , it might do 
something special. " And if the player puts that all 
together, and goes to the harpsichord, and plays that 
specific piece of music on the harpsichord, a wall 
opens up and gives you the big magic artifacts you 
need to solve the game. 

The reason why the stories are designed that way 
makes a great deal of sense to me. The worst example 
of this is exactly the wrong way to design your game: 
if I say, "Here's a story, pick any book at random, 
make me a computer game that does that, " it won't 
work. The reason why is because that story is not 
written with "is that technology feasible?" in mind. By 
definition it will not be as competitive as my game is 
because I have chosen specific story elements that the 
technology shows off particularly well. It required little, 
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if any, extra work, and it works well with all the other 
elements that can exist. It is designed to adhere to the 
reality that you can pull off technologically . By 
definition , it fits within the reality of Britannia. 

And every time a new management person comes 
in and says, "Richard, you're doing it all wrong," I 
make my case and eventually they either give up on 
me or become a convert. 

So what you'll find in the games is a huge amount 
of these elements, things that the game does that 
were never used in the story. There is easily two-thirds 
more in the game than are ever in the story. That's 
also what adds the depth and rich feel to the reality of 
the world. Even little things like the Hubert the Lion 
story• exist in the game. And people see that and they 
know it is has some real significance. It was not 
involved in the story, as it turns out. But people 
understand . You' ll get a feel for it as you play it. 
There 's a lot of stuff based on reality , at least the 
reality of Britannia. 

CS: There 's a lot of funny stuff in there too. I don 't 
know if that's intentional or not, but there's a lot of 
humor. 
RG: Let me relate that to story design for a minute. 
Humor is an issue. Yes, there's a lot of humorous stuff 
in there, and a lot of it is intentional , but there has 
also been a change in approach between the early 
Ultimas and the later Ultimas. In the early 
Ultimas, where a character literally stands there and 
says one line, there is not very much personality you 
can express . And so , I did not take Ultima I, 
Ultima II and Ultima Ill as seriously. Their worlds 
were not real true, living, breathing places that took 
themselves seriously . Britannia takes itself very 
seriously. 

In my mind, the most important consideration is 
that humor has to be completely within character. I 
have no problem with humor when it is totally in 
character. If it's totally Britannian humor, as when the 
jester decides to make fun of the king, or something 
like that , that's fine as long as the situation is 
completely within the context of the game. Earlier 
Ultimas did things that are no longer allowed. For 
example , the earlier Ultimas had swashbucklers 

peddling pizza. You could go see the seer and next to 
him would be the Sears store. Those things aren 't 
kosher any more. Humor that is not Britannian, any 
earth-based humor, any earth-based analogies, quips 
or terminology, are all out. 
CS: 

,.Hubert the Lion is part of the 
Richard Garriott mythos. It is a rather 
lengthy children's poem that he can, 
and often does, recite from memory 
at a blistering pace. The Hubert the 
Lion story has been incorporated, in 
its entirety, in Ultima VII. 

Since I haue a character who is basically a human 
from 20th century Earth, can he engage in internal 
dialogue that uses Americanisms, or would you 
prefer once he 's in Britannia that he be Britannian? 
RG: Oh, no, he doesn 't need to use thees and thous. 
Everyone else needs to , but he can say, "How are 
you?" and 'Tm fine. " He can be pretty much neutral. I 
don 't think he should be from New York City or 
Texan nor should he use Teenage Mutant Ninja 
Turtle slime. 

This rolls over into the question , "Where 's 
everyone in Britannia from?" Because we've chosen 
to keep the same world and continually evolve it, it's 
going to take time for things to change in the world. 
So what we 've done is to say that the player, the 
Avatar, is from Earth. And here we have Britannia, 
which is a real place that really exists, but where it 
really exists is not known. So it's a fairly Narnian kind 
of jump. I'm not saying you are doing time- and 
space-leaping because I'm not saying that's where it 
exists. I'm not saying this is another planet around 
another star that exists somewhere else in the 
universe. Nor am I saying it takes pan-dimensional 
movement to reach it. I'm saying this is just someplace 
else. This is not Earth, period. How can you know 
how you got there? All you know is that you go 
through this gateway and you're in this other place. 
That's all that's relevant. 
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CS: The runestones---give me some perspective. 
Are these small stones? 
RG: We've done it a lot of ways; we 've sort of gone 
back and forth. The stones right behind your house 
are bigger than a basketball, but not Stonehenge. The 
shrines are more like Stonehenge, but smaller. Each 
shrine is about a quarter the size of Stonehenge. 

Since Britannia and Earth are different places, time 
is completely disjointed between them . I'm not saying 
that it goes five times faster there than it does here. 
There is no connection between them. However, time 
does go in a positive direction for both places. If I 
spend one day here, there's no telling how much time 
passes there, and if I spend one day there, there's no 
telling how much time passes here. In both Namia and 
Oz, zero time transpires on Earth while you're away 
from it, usually. 
CS: It depends. In Narnia there was one where 
there is a difference; it's an earlier story where the 
two children go back and it 's the beginning of 
Narnia and the witch is there, and it 's a real early, 
early story. They get back and something like 20 
minutes have passed. 
RG: In Earth time, it's also been a small amount of 
time, but usually nonzero. For instance, by the time 
you get back to your house at the end of Ultima V, 
it's been robbed. Which angered some people. They 
said, "Here I've gone, I've been positive, virtuous and 
saved the world, only to come home and discover I've 
been robbed." The way the game ends is that your 
front door is ajar, and when you open the door you 
see gray walls where the pictures are gone, and your 
house is vandalized, and everything is stolen. " 
CS: They think that virtue should haue its reward, 
but I think you 're saying that virtue is its own 
reward. 
RG: Exactly. So we have this time slip and that lets us 
run Britannia time ahead any time we need to. 
However, we also want to keep our major characters 
around for a long time, particularly Lord British. To 
that end we've added an additional twist that says that 
I'm an Earth person, so even while I'm in Britannia I 
won 't necessarily age according to Britannian time. 
And that lets us have characters that are virtually 
immortal. Most of our slips between games have been, 

relatively speaking, short. Ten to twenty years 
between games. Two hundred years. This (inUltima 
VII) is the first time characters are actually going to 
age noticeably. 
CS: Eventual/y Lord British does die or leave, or 
something happens to him. 
RG: It ' s been real hilarious to see what people 
suggest, the guys that are helping write this . 
Raymond's first story proposal suggested that Lord 
British be married and have a child. No! No! This is 
utterly out of the question. And the reason it is utterly 
out of the question is because I'm not married and I 
don't have kids. Lord British is me. And so whatever 
you do to Lord British is happening to me. Shamino is 
also me, by the way. I get two characters. Yes, it is 
personalizing too much. It's too bad. It's the truth. 
CS: How do you figure the succession, then? 
RG: I don't know. I haven't figured it out yet. Depends 
on what happens. I' ve been very careful how I 
introduce my friends in the games, because it 's 
permanent. 

Anyway, back to time. Time is not in sync between 
worlds. Nearly all Ultima VI characters who show up 
in Ultima Vil are not from Britannia, since it's been 
200 years. They probably all come from Earth , but 
that has not been specified for most of them. We have 
not ruled out the existence of other worlds than these 
two, but we also have not implied the existence of 
other worlds. We're leaving all our options open until 
it becomes necessary to define them. However Lord 
British is from Earth. He is absolutely Richard Garriott 
from Earth, who found a way to get to Britannia some 
time ago, who has in his possession an object that 
gives him the power to travel back and forth again at 
will. So I come here for work and go there for play. In 
Ultima Vil we are destroying his vehicle for 
travelling back and forth, and stranding both you and 
Lord British in the world of Britannia. The other 
characters, Iolo and Dupre and so forth , they also 
probably come from Earth. We've kind of alluded to 
the fact that they do seem to be otherworldly, and this 
time around they will absolutely be from Earth. 

It might be worthwhile to digress at this point to 
discuss Savage Empire, Martian Dreams and so 
forth . We can now take trips to other places with 
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these new technologies , some of which will not be 
Britannia or Earth, like Mars. Mars was reached by a 
time slip followed by a projectile going to Mars, while 
they get to Eodon [Savage Empire) by more of a 
cosmic twist. When Savage Empire was being 
developed , we decided we didn ' t want to put 
Shamino, Iolo or Dupre there , so we put parallel 
characters . You run into Shamuru and Triolo in 
Eodon . In some worlds you ' II find all the main 
characters; in others you'll find their echo. There's a 
fundamental rule of the universe that seems to be 
emerging: there is no place you can go that doesn't 
contain a version of each of the main characters. 

There are eight main characters to keep track of, 
besides yourself (the Avatar) and Lord British, but in 
Ultima IV you can only have eight in your party, so 
you take the place of one of the others. 

For Honesty, there 's the mage, Mariah. Mariah is 
really Michelle Caddel , my personal secretary. 
Mariah 's parallel as an individual is very tenuous. She 
was used for name purposes only . The character 
Mariah begins as a young mage you discover who 
helps you out and becomes part of your travelling 
band. In Ultima VI she has become the head mage 
of the Lycaeum. She no longer travels with your 
party, but is instead one of the significant contributors 
to Britannian politics. 

In Ultima IV she's probably a fledgling young 
mage. She's talented , she understands the ways of 
magic, but she's not particularly well versed. She has a 
good intuitive grasp of it, a child prodigy kind of thing, 
but does not have the book work to back it at first . By 
Ultima VI she has the book work to back it and is 
extremely insightful, and is now one of the greatest 
mages in the land. In Ultima IV she is not there yet. 
Blonde. Short, short, short as Michelle. Probably not 
that short. Green eyes, I think. 

Compassion is lolo. Iolo is David Watson who 
really does make crossbows for a living. He is also a 
fantastic bard , and he and his wife write songs 
together that I include in the game, and things of that 
nature . The character Iolo 's personality is patterned 
after the real person Iolo. Iolo is a real guy. He 's a 
very happy , jovial individual. Very creative . 
Extraordinarily knowledgeable about history . 

Sometimes what I'm saying now describes a character 
and sometimes I'm describing a real person. This is 
what we want the body of the character to be like, 
even if it hasn't come across in the game yet. Iolo is 
tall , leans back, walks with a cane, has a little pot 
belly, pointy beard, fairly long hair, a little gray (but 
the character Iolo should not be). Subtract 12 years 
from this description-make him late 20 's. Cut the 
cane. 
CS: Maybe have a staf P 
RG: He is a crossbow maker. He's one of the best. 
Probably carries a crossbow. And a lute, a real pot­
bellied lute. Its front view is a heart. Profile view is a 
full semi-circle. He makes those himself, too. If you 
ever had a scene where somebody sat down and 
whittled something, a ship or something, he'd be the 
guy to do it. He also makes little wooden ships. lolo's 
purpose from a story standpoint is to be your best 
friend . When it's nighttime, and you 've made the 
campfire, you've drunk the coffee, you're sitting on a 
boulder by yourself staring off at the stars, you're not 
sure where you should go, Iolo's the person who looks 
up and realizes you're in a thoughtful mood, goes over 
to you, sits down and says, "Hey, what's the problem? 
How can I help?" 
CS: They join halfway through the game book, 
right? 
RG: No, they'll join any time you ask. Some of them 
will volunteer the first time you see them, some you 
will have to ask. Most of them, as soon as you ask, 
"Hey, will you join me?" will say, "Sure! " In some 
cases they will say, "You 're a thieving scumbag; l 
won 't join you," until you are no longer a thieving 
scumbag. 

Valor is Geoffrey. That's Jeff Hillhouse, head of 
Operations. Jeff is your quintessential "Let's go beat 
on something " fighter. Geoffrey is the physical 
manifestation of Jeff-6 ' 5", built like three tons of 
bricks. As a character in the party he's not as well 
defined. He's not a principle exchanger of data with 
the rest of the party. 

Justice, Jaana. Jaana is a friend of mine named 
Jaana . She is the druid. She is Finnish , and her 
character looks Finnish. Very Scandinavian. She's not 
overweight by any means, but she's clearly a shorter, 
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stouter type of individual. She 's our back-to-nature 
girl. Hangs out frolicking in the woods, loves to jump 
into ice-cold lakes-a good way to wake up in the 
morning. A buxom blonde. By the way, notice that in 
the party there are exactly four males and exactly four 
females. The world of Britannia is very, very careful 
about sexism. 
CS: Actually, I heard that if you start off female in 
the adventure you are not going to be as strong. 
RG: Each Ultimo does something different. In 
Ultima IV, Ultima V and Ultimo VI sex is totally 
irrelevant, except how you are dressed. In some of the 
earlier Ultimas we have humans, hobbits, dwarves, 
and elves, and males and females in all the races and 
character classes. It gives you little pluses and minuses 
depending on what you choose. That is the point in 
being anything different. 

The Sacrifice. Julia. Red hair. Not because the real 
person has red hair, but because that's the way 
they've always drawn it. That was the girl I dated up in 
New Hampshire , Julia. She 's the tinker, a 
craftsperson. She would probably get along with Iolo 
just great, although we've never had a chance to have 
them interact. 
CS: I've noticed that there's not much romance and 
stuff like that-you pretty much go out and do your 
quest and stuff. 
RG: That's just because we've not found any good 
vehicles to bring it in, more than anything else. It's 
hard to do it and have it actually interactive and have 
it mean anything. It's hard enough to get across any 
emotion, much less romance. Good romance has a lot 
of subtlety to it. 
CS: A lot of tension to it. It 's probably pretty hard 
to do tension. 
RG: I really have very little information on Julia, as far 
as what the character is really like. Not exactly one of 
the major characters. There are a few that are more 
major than others. The major ones are lolo, Jaana is a 
middle one, and John and Dupre. 

Dupre is your quintessential paladin, although we 
don't use the word paladin much. These terms are just 
used to define them; they aren't used very much in the 
games. Dupre does not run around saying, "I am a 
paladin! " We don't use D&D character classes to have 

any sort of relevance in the real world , and they don't 
mean a thing. I happen to use magic so I might be 
known as a mage, but I am not a Magic User. I don't 
have classes that I have to fit into anything to mean 
anything. 
CS: I've noticed in all these characters that some of 
them can use magic, though not as well as 
somebody who has studied it. 
RG: Exactly . It 's really a question of what you 've 
studied all your life , and there are some terms that 
people will associate with that that don't really mean 
anything . The real person Dupre, as well as the 
character Dupre, takes honor literally to a fault. 
Chivalry as a way of life is exactly what Dupre lives by. 
To a sexist fault , in my mind. He is constantly, before 
making any decision, thinking about honor, whether 
this will have any effect on his integrity or whether 
there is honor to be won or lost in the situation . 
Although not won, for there is a humble element to 
him which is ... he doesn't go out seeking things for 
honor, like, "Let's go kill the dragon because it would 
gain us honor. " The chivalric aspect is probably the 
big one. 

Spirituality is Shamino, which is me again. He 's 
our ... 
CS: Does he look like you? 
RG: Probably more than Lord British does . Denis 
always draws Lord British so he looks nothing at all 
like me. 
CS: He looks heavier and older. 
RG: Quite a bit. And so I would like to move back 
toward the real me from the Lord British character 
Denis does. 
CS: How do you envision the two characters? 
RG: I would like Lord British to be me plus ten years, 
Shamino me minus ten years. Leave them separated 
in time by that twenty year total. Shamino is your 
quintessential Lord of the Rings-style ranger. He is 
extremely well travelled. People in all parts of the 
world know who he is. They really don 't know much 
about him; he's kind of a mysterious character. He 
travels everywhere, but gets to know few people very 
well . He's your tracker-if you're lost in the woods, 
he's the one who can look up at the sun and say, 
"Well , we must be east of Trinsic by now." See a 
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mountain range , he can tell you what that range is. 
He knows all those things. He knows all the lore of 
the land. All the practical lore. Iola knows more of the 
historical stuff, Shamino has the practical knowledge. 
CS: Maybe if somebody tries to get close to him he 
keeps to himself? He may be friendly enough, but 
he's hard to decipher, he's not very open. 
RG: Exactly. The last one, the character of Trina, is 
Humility. Excuse me, Katrina. Who, in fact, in real life 
often goes by Trina rather than Katrina. She is the 
humble sucker who is the sole survivor of the city of 
Magincia . Remember the twist about Pride and 
Humility? One of the clues that there is something 
wrong about pride is that when you go out to the city 
of Pride, Magincia, you find the whole place has been 
destroyed. It's been destroyed by evil forces brought 
on by the people themselves. We call it demons, but 
that's a misnomer. We want to make sure we don 't 
imply religious demons. The whole town was 
destroyed because it was so proud and haughty that it 
collapsed , and the only person who survived was 
Katrina. And so, she is our little plot-twist character; 
we'd say, "This person is totally useless to me. She 
can't fight , she can't do magic, she appears to be a 
burden to us . Why in the world are we taking her 
along with us, this shepherd, of all persons?" She is 
the character who produces words of wisdom­
wisdom of the ages, that sort of thing. Occasionally 
you'll have a private discussion with Katrina, giving 
you some very insightful words, that reminds you why 
she is so important. 
CS: Rather than being helpful in the physical sense, 
she 's helpful in the spiritual sense. 
RG: Right. 
What can you tell me about the dungeons? 
The only thing about the dungeons is that you should 
be able to identify each dungeon by looking at its map 
when you get there. Each has a theme associated with 
it. And the dungeons also represent anti-virtues. The 
one for Dishonesty is full of traps, with corridors that 
try to deceive you into going the wrong way. The one 
for Hatred is kind of like a prison. You can tell by 
looking at each one what the theme of construction 
was. Just think of the opposite of the Virtue, and the 
construction theme usually jumps right out at you. 

1 

Which ones are puzzles, which ones are random 
caverns, which ones are monster hideouts. 
CS: I noticed that various elements of Britannia 
reflect a wide range of Earth periods, running from 
medieval to Renaissance times . I know that in 
terms of the world itself they are in a period of 
Renaissance. Would you prefer to have it portrayed 
that way? 
RG: Yes, the clothing is more medieval, not French 
Renaissance. There are no large lace collars yet. We 
have this swashbuckler kind of character, but more the 
pirate kind of swashbuckler. We don't have the Three 
Musketeers' level of fashion yet. 
CS: Where is the best place to start in Ultimo IV? 
RG: Britain would be the absolutely correct place to 
start, but it doesn't have the correct character to start. 
Probably you should start the ranger character in 
Skara Brae, and find your way to Britain. The reason 1 
say this is that the ranger 's your most balanced 
character, the one who 's middle-of-the-road in all 
categories. Or you might want to make your guy or 
girl who goes on the trip be someone who is out in 
the woods. The word bard has a ... when I say "bard" 
I mean something slightly different than your 
quintessential lute-playing bard, even though a lot of 
them match that description. Bards are really thief-like 
characters, renamed because a thief is evil. "Thief" 
implies I'm a bad guy. When I say thief I mean your 
gymnast, your person who is dexterous and capable 
and usually quite creative also. Your artsy dude. That's 
what I meant by bard, and I never found a better label 
or I'd be using it. 

Part :r.J: Discussing Hltima VT.I 
(Interviewed by Caroline Spector for 

Ultima: The Avatar Adventures) 

RG: Ultimas I, II and Ill are the go-out-and-kill-the­
big-evil-bad-guy games. Ultimas IV, V and VI are 
the goody-goody-two-shoes games. Ultimo Vil and 
the next set, Book 3, so to speak, take yet another 
approach. They are the "wasn't it nice to be a good 
guy and isn't it still nice to be a good guy, but isn't evil 
wicked and horrible?" games. In Ultimas IV, V and 
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VI there was no true ultimate evil force to go out and 
defeat or who was going to kick your tail in. And so 
we had a few premises that we wanted to set up for 
the design of Ultima VII which were: we wanted a 
bad guy that was really evil , truly , truly evil. We 
wanted a bad guy who would survive a few games. 
You can't just kill him. You are not even going to have 
the opportunity to try . That way we could have a 
character who would continue for a few Ultimas as 
the antagonist. 

I wanted to set the stage for the possibility that 
sometime in the near future Ultimas may change 
their technology fairly dramatically, i.e., go true 3-0, 
for example. In which case, I'm setting up a bad guy 
who comes from some other place, which may be 
represented differently, e.g. , polygonally, who doesn't 
make it through to Britannia this time, but who you 
may choose to pursue to his or her place through the 
next few games, and his or her place could be 
represented by this other style. Can you follow that 
logic? 
CS: Sure, that makes a lot of sense. A three 
dimensional us. a two dimensional universe. One 
thing, I don 't know if you were thinking about this 
or not, but in terms of standard conflicts that are 
established in fiction , you 've got man us. an outside 
force, like a beast, in the first three. Then you haue 
man us. himself. Then you haue man us. God or a 
god or something. So that 's pretty unique. 
RG: So we have this creature from another 
dimension , from another place , intentionally 
unspecified until we need to define it. I guess one of 
the cardinal rules of Ultima is, define it as it becomes 
necessary, and be aware of the ramifications of what 
you've decided and what your future options are. So 
we have this core creature. It's a very powerful entity. 
It sees Britannia from afar . And it says to itself 
something like, "Gee, if I could only go there I could 
take over and wouldn 't life be happy? I'd have all 
those slaves and kill all those people." Whatever its 
ends are, they are not exactly understood in this first 
installment, and so are still undefined. 

The only problem is , even though it's a big 
superbeing, it can't get there yet. It can see the place, 
and it can talk to people there in their minds . But 

that's the only power that it currently has. Now if only 
the people of this world would build this construct, the 
Black Gate, which is of course the subtitle of Ultima 
VII, then it would be able to step through and take 
over in a jiffy. So if you were this evil superbeing and 
wanted this Black Gate built, and you could speak to 
people in their minds, what would you do? 
CS: Lie! 
RG: And what kind of lies would you tell? Would you 
be a good guy or a bad guy? 
CS: I'd be a wonderful fellow . I'd be a great guy. As 
a matter of fact , I'd be so wonderful that people 
would just rally around and say, "We 've got to 
build this Black Gate!" 
RG: So that's what Mr. Evil does. Mr. Guardian-by 
the way that 's what he calls himself, the Guardian. 
Kind of like your guardian angel, only we don 't use 
the word angel-starts to talk to people, ok? And he 
comes up and says, "Caroline, don't go around that 
corner. There 's a monster there. " And you look 
around the corner, and sure enough , there 's a 
monster. Wow. Thanks. "Caroline, watch out! There's 
a trap underneath the floor mat there ." And sure 
enough there's a trap . Gosh, thanks! "And now, 
Caroline, after doing you all these favors , could you 
please just pick up this object and carry it over there 
for me?" Of course you'll do it. 

So that's what he's doing to most of the people in 
Britannia. The people who believe in the Guardian, 
the masses who believe in him, are completely good 
people who are completely duped. And so this cult 
religion is building in belief of the Guardian and the 
Guardian 's ends. The lowest level members of the 
Fellowship, which is this organization that believes in 
the Guardian, don't hear him. The Guardian doesn't 
even speak to them . Do you remember the Time 
article about Scientology where the lowest level is the 
self-help group? And it isn 't until you've gotten into 
Scientology for awhile that you are told that in fact 
your body is inhabited by fatans that have been lying 
dormant in your body for seventy-five million years , 
and they got there when the evil ruler log kicked 
them off their planet Nimpto? I'm serious. This is 
Scientology. But you don 't find this out until you're 
into Scientology. 
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And so the Fellowship is this cult religion that is 
founded upon three principles: The first is Unity. To 
work for a better world, we all need to work together. 
If we work together, we'll be better. This is your "go 
out and evangelize and convert them to our beliefs" 
syndrome. The next thing after Unity is Worthiness. 
You should always strive to be worthy of that which 
you wish to receive . Always try to deserve that which 
you wish to receive . Which is another way of saying, 
you get what you deserve. Which means, as far as the 
Guardian is concerned, if you've been bad, he kills 
you. You obviously got what you deserved. 
CS: That's kind of strict, isn 't it? 
RG: Yes . You 'll see the ways this kind of twists 
forward and backward when we get into it. The third 
principle is called Trust. If you and I are going to work 
together in the same organization, like me and my 
brother Robert, we have to trust each other. If I 
constantly think that Robert's going to stab me in the 
back, I won't get any work done. We'd be constantly 
checking on each other, making sure that what we're 
telling each other is the truth . So you have to trust the 
other members of the Fellowship. If I tell you to carry 
this box from here to there, don't ask me what's in it. 
Just trust me. 
CS: Trust has a condition on it , though . The 
condition is that you do whatever I tell you to do 
without question . 
RG: Trust! Just trust me. 
CS: That 's really not trust. 
RG: I didn 't say it was really trust. I said that's the 
word they use. So we have three elements, all right? 
Unity, Worthiness and Trust. 
CS: Which I suppose is a resonance for the three 
things that you 'ue already /earned about in the 
other Ultimas. 
RG: You've got it. All sorts of numerology in it. All 
sorts of farcical numerology. 

The Unity thing says basically, go out and be a 
missionary. Anybody who is not with us is obviously 
against us . You get the implications in this . But of 
course they describe it all in a very positive light. All the 
first level members, the entry level people, are very 
positive. They are good people. Their goals really are 
good. That's a very important aspect of this group. 

This had all been developing for ten or twenty 
years before you came back to Britannia . That' s 
already in place. The way we kick-start Ultima VII is 
that the Guardian pushes through to the real Earth, to 
you, during the intro and gives you this once-over and 
says, "Well , now that I've looked at you and checked 
you out I'm not concerned. I'll see you on the other 
side." 

So you have a heads up that the Guardian's not a 
good guy. But when you get to Britannia, the people 
who are members of the Fellowship don't immediately 
confess that they hear this voice in their head and that 
the Guardian is part of it. You don't necessarily make 
the connection between this voice that you 've just 
heard and this religion , the Fellowship, right off. 
CS: You call it the Fellowship? 
RG: The Fellowship . Yeah. The connection comes 
pretty quickly, though. So you suspect this guy. The 
Guardian also has another purpose. We are pushing 
for voice in all our games, whenever possible. We 
have a CD ROM version of Ultima VI that has all 
the characters talk. The problem is that it takes half a 
gigabyte of data to store speech for everybody-more 
than most people have on their hard drive. Even for 
Wing Commander 11, which only has 10 or 12 
characters , it would take 10 or 20 disks . To keep 
speech down to four disks, they've limited it to just a 
segment of the game. But what we've decided is that 
the Guardian is an omniscient being who can only 
speak to you in your brain , not out loud. And so we 
have one character in Ultima Vil who really talks 
through your computer. No text shows up on the 
screen. And that's the only way you ever interact with 
this character during the game. You'd be walking 
along the landscape, do de do, and "NOAH! BUILD 
ME AN ARK! " as you're walking across the grass. 
And there 's no person there to talk to . You can 't 
respond. 
CS: I was about to say, you also can 't play the 
game unless you haue the uoice stuff. 
RG: No . There 's two basic kinds of sound card 
technology. Sound Blaster and Roland/Ad Lib. If they 
don't have these, the words appear on the screen. But 
we are going to presume that people have the ability 
to hear the speech. 
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So, here you are. You have a clue that this guy is 
the bad guy. You are starting to walk around in the 
world, and-"CAROLINE! WATCH OUT! THERE'S 
A MONSTER AROUND THE CORNER! " And you 
recognize the voice because we've got this actor, Bill 
Johnson, who was Leatherface in Chainsaw Massacre 
II , whose voice we ' re using . So you hear , 
"CAROLINE! WATCH OUT! THERE'S A MONSTER 
AROUND THE CORNER! " And you go, "I know you. 
You ' re the jerk who stuck your face through my 
computer screen and blathered at me. You're the bad 
guy . I don 't trust you." But you look around the 
comer, just in case. Sure enough, there 's a monster 
there . You think, "Thanks a lot. I really don 't want 
your help because I know you are the bad guy, but I 
guess thanks anyway ." Of course you don 't say 
anything because you don't get a chance to. There's 
no one there to talk to . You just hear it. And you're 
walking along and , "CAROLINE! THERE'S A TRAP 
UNDER THE FLOORMAT! " And he's right. And so, 
even though you know he's the bad guy, he's helping 
you out. 
CS: And you ' re starting to trust him , just a little 
bit. 
RG: But you really don't want to. You know you don't 
want to. You know you're going to get shafted one of 
these times . When it really counts, you're going to get 
shafted . And he 's going to say, "Caroline, look. 
Couldn't you please just take this over there for me?" 
And what are you going to say? "No way! Forget it! " 
And he's going to say, "Ok, Caroline, whatever you 
do, don 't take this from here to there. " So what do 
you do? So now he's playing the opposites game with 
you. If you start doing the things he asks you to do, 
he'll continue to ask you things to do. If you do the 
opposite of things he asks you to do , or if you 
intentionally don 't do what he requests, he 'll start 
requesting things with reverse psychology. So there is 
no way to win this game. The best way to do it is to 
totally ignore it and act at random . There is no 
winning this game . No matter which pattern you 
follow, you will lose. 

He plays one more little mind game. Suppose you 
are going to go buy a sword from a shop because you 
want the best sword you can get. You go up to a shop 
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and he says, "Avatar, I'd buy that big sword if I were 
you." So he starts telling you to do things you 've 
already planned on doing. Now we have t his 
psychology play . Do you go ahead because it's 
something you were really going to get and something 
you really do need, or do you say, 'Tm not going to 
do it because you said to"? And he's just told you to 
go ahead and do what you really need to do for 
yourself. 
CS: You are going to haue people who are so 
winning-the-game oriented that by doing th is it 's 
going to be uirtually impossible for them to win a 
game. I mean , th is is going to driue them to 
distraction . ls there actually a way to win the game? 
RG: Oh, yes. I'll get there. 

This game also has what we call internally the story 
clock. There is a date at which the world is going to 
come to an end, i.e. , the Guardian will come through 
the gate. The more progress you make, the closer that 
date comes. So, no matter what, the day before you 
finish the game is the day before the world comes to 
an end. 
CS: Talk about a cliffhanger! 
RG: Real time advances to follow you. You find out 
where the Black Gate's being built. You find out that 
it 's going to happen at the same time as a big 
planetary conjunction, which you can predict by this 
big aura and the state of the aura as the conjunction 
approaches. And every time you get another phase 
along the storyline , the clock ticks closer to the 
planetary alignment. The planetary alignment will 
never happen until you are ready to complete the 
story. It all happens simultaneously. 
CS: You discouer where they are building the Black 
Gate. 
RG: And the time table for its completion. Before I 
continue on that vein, let me jump back to another 
vein . Let me describe why Britannia was the 
Guardian's mark. Here's where we get in our little 
social statements. I'm going to describe them in 
modern terms because that's where the inspiration 
comes from . We are still working at folding this stuff 
into the game to where it is virtually invisible, so that 
it's not until an after-the-fact analysis of the game that 
you say, "Oh, hey, I kind of recognize that as being 
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true of today 's society as well as in Britannia." 
Britannian society, if you remember at the end of 
Vltima VI, had the gargoyles and the humans co­
existing in Britannia. 

At the end of Vltima VI you've saved the world 
again, of course, and what you have is this race, the 
gargoyles , and humans, who are now left to live 
together. If you remember, gargoyle society was set 
up with the winged intelligent gargoyles and the 
shorter, muscular, nonwinged worker gargoyles. Bee 
colony-ish, in a sense. But by the end of Vltima VI 
you've destroyed their side of the world. 

And so they move over to Britannia during the 
200 years that take place between Vltima VI and 
Vltima VII. But whereas a gargoyle family , which 
included a winged gargoyle or two and some 
nonwinged gargoyles , was a very symbiotic, very 
loving, very sharing family , once you integrate those 
characters into human society in Britannia , the 
integration is not so clean. The hierarchy of 
Britannia society now has Lord British at the top , 
then the Great Council of Wizards , who are the 
main rulers under him. Next come the winged , 
intelligent, magical gargoyles , who aspire to very 
high levels of society because of their capabilities. 
And below them come the regular Britannian 
peasantry. And at the bottom are the worker 
gargoyles. 
CS: And so you haue an incredibly stratified 
society. 
RG: Very stratified , and also very class-oriented . 
Britannia didn 't use to have a class-based society , 
other than a very miniscule aristocracy. Now there's 
clearly a stratification. 
CS: Which is what happened to England as their 
society progressed, too. 
RG: As soon as you have a class structure, it's real 
easy for one class to live at the mercy of another class. 
And so what we have is different parts of Britannia 
becoming super-opulent , emerald castle kinds of 
places, vs. really dumpy kinds of places. And even 
some of the original eight cities , like the city of 
Spirituality, is completely abandoned. People don't go 
there anymore. It 's too far off the beaten track. It's 
fallen into disfavor and is no longer of any use at all. 

We've chosen to reflect a couple of other modem 
social overtones, too . The gargoyles had suicide 
kamikazi fighters-berserkers. There was this big silver 
snake who 's venom they could extract and prick 
themselves with. It would mean death within an hour. 
But in that hour they would double their strength and 
speed and capabilities. Now the upper class have 
discovered that at slightly lower doses they can use the 
venom on the worker gargoyles, who can then work 
24 hours a day down in the pits. The rich get richer 
so they can build more castles. The problem is it 
decreases their life expectancy dramatically. You get a 
lot more work out of your workers , but they don 't 
work as long. And they are definitely not very happy 
and healthy. And since they are less intelligent in the 
first place and they are very abused they are mentally, 
from the Guardian's standpoint, very attractable. 

Social overtone two: Now we have this opulent, 
Emerald City- type group being built up , which is 
largely profiting from the work of these exploited 
masses. These exploited masses are also doing things 
like working in the mines all day and all night and 
raping the natural resources of the land with reckless 
abandon, so to speak. I'm not sure exactly how this is 
going to work in the story, either. 

I originally meant to have two voices. What I called 
the voice from above and the voice from below. The 
voice from above was the Guardian, parading himself 
as a good guy. The voice from below was going to be 
not really a voice at all but was going to speak with 
rumblings and thundering and earthquakes and 
volcanic eruptions and be much harder to understand. 
At first most people would perceive it as being the bad 
guy. But in fact the voice below was really going to be 
nature reacting against the abuses. And so that was 
really where a lot of this came from. And so we are 
still going to keep that in a sense, but we 're not going 
to have a voice from below. 

But that's the essence of what I'm describing. 
Society's ignorance is causing this social downfall. The 
fabric of society is weak, which makes Britannia a 
prime target for the Guardian, and which is why he 
wants to go there . 

Let me describe to you some of the things the 
Guardian is now doing. You've got the flavor of the 
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story; now I'm getting down to the details . The 
Guardian has already had a few things constructed. 
He has built these three monolithic things, each about 
the size of a pyramid. One is a sphere, one is a cube 
and one is a tetrahedron. They are built out of a 
special Britannian substance, black rock. Black rock is 
totally immutable from a physical standpoint. It has to 
be mutated magically. You can't form it without doing 
some magic . It is perfectly hard. Harder than 
diamonds. It is not modifiable otherwise. 

The Guardian has already had these generators , 
these prismatic solids, constructed. One of them helps 
him speak more clearly to more people in Britannia. 
One of them is being used to disrupt the pattern of the 
Moongates, to shut down intercontinental travel. And 
the last one is basically a pulse generator to send 
disturbance waves through the ether. It keeps anyone 
from effectively using magic. And so three of your 
major objectives are to get rid of those things. 
CS: I take it you don 't know they are doing these 
things. 
RG: No, you find out during the story. One other little 
side point is that there are two principle characters 
probably worth mentioning. One is Hook, and the 
other is Batlin. Now remember, you have these sheep­
like masses who are all in the Fellowship. Anyone who 
gets to Level 2 becomes a leader of the sheep, like a 
guild leader, or the leader of a particular congregation. 
By the time you get to Level 2 you know the 
Guardian. He probably speaks to you. Fellowships 
have regular meetings, by the way, where they say, 
"Hey, were you saved this week? Have you heard the 
voice?" Those at Level 2 really do hear a voice. The 
people who are the leaders of their community are 
one more level aware, so to speak, of the Guardian. 
It's at this level, also, that we find believers who are so 
devout that they become what I call jihad-capable. U 
the Guardian ever turned to one of them and said, 
"Look, Caroline does not believe. Caroline is a threat. 
Caroline must be dealt with ... " 
CS: They 'd go, "Me! Me! Let me kill her!" 
RG: Yes . OK . That's another branch of the 
Fellowship. As a player, you already suspect the 
Fellowship. As a matter of fact, you are going to have 
to join the Fellowship to actually solve this game. 

But let me explain how they kill people. That's the 
real fun part. This is the way Ultima Vil opens, by 
the way. I' ll give you the opening . You leap the 
Moongate, arriving in Britannia to find yourself in a 
town next to a stables. Iolo your good friend is outside 
and is holding this crying peasant. And you go walking 
up to him and he turns and says, "Oh , Caroline , 
Caroline, you're here, the Avatar is back. This is just 
amazing! Boy, I was just thinking, if only you were 
here. That would really solve our problems. But I 
never expected to see you again because I haven 't 
seen you for 200 years." And he goes on to explain a 
little more of that, too. 

And then the peasant comes up and says, "lolo, 
Iolo, show her into the barn. Tell her to look inside." 
And Iolo says that it's terrible and you'd better go look 
at it. So you go look in the barn and you see that a 
ritualistic murder has taken place. You find someone's 
body lying in the center with its arms and legs cut off 
and taken off in four different directions from the body 
and staked to the ground with candles burning in 
them. In the back comer of the barn there's this little 
closet where a gargoyle lives , a little cabin boy or 
stable boy, who obviously happened to be in the stable 
at the wrong time. Because it's clear he walked out of 
the stable room, was seen, turned to flee , and was 
pitchforked across the far wall . And we're going to 
show this in graphics, too. 
CS: I'm just really curious about what kind of 
letters you ' re going to get after the opening 
sequence of Ultima Vil. 
RG: Yup . This is called , "Richard changes tack 
completely and decides to get really , really nasty ." 
That actually is a good point about this game. Do you 
know the concept for the box? 
CS: The black box? 
RG: The black box. Yeah. Black, black, black, black, 
black. No screen shots. No text. No nothing. It says, 
Ultima Vil, The Black Gate, Lord British, ORIGIN, 
MP-13. Mature players over the age of 13. 
CS: Are you going to put some kind of disclaimer 
on the screen shots? 
RG: Yes. That's correct. 
CS: You want this to be a real adult kind of ... 
RG: Right! In the sense of ... it's very hard to generate 
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emotion in a computer game. Interactivity is limited. 
You don 't have the control you have in a normal 
story. When you're reading a book you can generate 
any emotion you like because you've got control of 
the storyline . And so you do whatever you can 
whenever you can. Have I described the scene with 
the children in Ultima IV? 
CS: Well , there 's a scene where you run into 
children who are playing .. . 
RG: Yeah. In Ultimo Win one of the dungeons ... 
CS: Oh, yes, you did, where you can kill ... 
RG: Where you end up killing the children, or most 
likely ... 
CS: And you had somebody quit. 
RG: Yeah, one of our players quit. Well, that was one 
of these very rare opportunities, in my mind, where 
you get an opportunity to share something 
emotionally wrenching, that makes you ... 
CS: You know what I don 't understand? I've been 
thinking about this, and if they are behaving in an 
evil manner, if they are trying to destroy you, what 
difference does it make if they are children or not? 
RG: Nothing, as far as I'm concerned. The guy who 
had a problem with it was way off base in the first 
place, as far as I'm concerned. But even if he wasn't, 
let's suppose I put nuns in there praying, whom you 
had to slaughter before you could get out of the room. 
As long as you don 't have to and it's a matter of 
personal choice, and you are having a mental mind 
thing-"Oh, gosh, I don't know what I should do ," 
good! Good! If you have to think about it and you 
have to make a tough choice, great. Similarly, bad 
guys. Bad guys never do anything to the players. 
Never. Because it's hard to have an interaction with a 
bad guy that' s meaningful. So , for instance , in 
Ultima V we arranged a meeting between you and 
the bad guy. And the bad guy says, "Oh, Avatar, I'm 
so glad to see you, you are a great and wondrous 
person." And even though you know he's the bad guy 
you still say, 'Tm so happy to meet you." 
CS: This is Blackthorn? 
RG: Blackthorn. Yes. "Avatar, I've been wondering. 
There is this piece of information you have that I 
really, really want, and I know that you'll be just happy 
to give it to me. Right? Well, no? Well, I'm really sorry 

to hear that. I really need to have that piece of 
information. If you are not going to tell me I would 
really hate for something bad to happen to your friend 
lolo here. Still don 't want to tell me? Well , let me 
show you this rack that we 're going fo put Iola on. 
Still don ' t want to tell me?" Well, there ' s this 
pendulum swinging back and forth that you can see in 
the graphics . By the way , if you tell him this 
information, you basically lose the game. So this is a 
big deal question. 
CS: Do you know this at the time? 
RG: Yeah, you do. What you know is that you will get 
another major character killed by giving them this 
information. 
CS: So you have to choose one death or another. 
RG: Correct . And in the end the correct one to 
choose is to leave the other guy alive and let Iola die. 
At least, that's my opinion. And you actually get to 
watch as the pendulum comes down and you see little 
blood splats go out side by side and he's dead. And he 
cannot be resurrected. He's out of your party for the 
rest of the game. You find this little um with these 
ashes and his name on it. 
CS: Does he come back in Ultima VI? 
RG: Yes. Lord British finally gets him back. 
CS: Couldn 't do that to your friend Iola? 
RG: No, couldn 't do that. But you get the idea. That 
was a rare opportunity for personal interaction 
between you and the bad guy. We are putting a lot of 
it in the Ultima VII story line. Plenty of good mind 
screwballing. That's why we have murders, graphic 
murders. Not because I want to have gratuitous 
violence (which isn't actually very violent); it's just a 
very graphic view of the evil that this group 
represents. And I am sure that this is going to become 
a hot topic at some point because we 're going to 
show the carcasses on the ground and the blood trails. 
You can clearly see that the little gargoyle walked out 
of his room, left little footprints of blood as he tried to 
make it back to his door , and then caught the 
pitchfork in the wall . Good and graphic. 
CS: You've got the capabilities of doing it now, too, 
don't you? 
RG: Yup. The more that 1 can fit in there, the more 
happy I will be. Sexual taboos I'm probably going to 
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avoid because there's no real need for it in the story. 
CS: It doesn't sound like it. 
RG: But I don 't think the level of violence I've got 
down there is gratuitous at this stage. It's only still part 
of the whole. 
CS: All computer games, I think, are very violent. 
It's all, "Let 's go blow somebody up." You just 
never actually see the results of the violence. You 
don 't mind killing somebody if you don't see the 
blood. 
RG: Another thing we're going to do shows up when 
you are in combat with monsters . What happens 
when you kick a dog? 
CS: Well, I don 't know. l don 't kick dogs. 
RG: What do you think your dog would do if you 
kicked it? Hard? 
CS: Turn around and look at me with this 
incredible expression on his face. 
RG: Kick it harder. What does it do? 
CS: He bites you. 
RG: Kick him harder. What does he do? 
CS: He might turn around and attack you. I don t 
know. 
RG: If you kick him hard enough, don't you think he'll 
eventually decide to run away? And don't you think 
he'll be whining and screaming when he goes? Well, 
we're going to do that to . · 
CS: I don't want to play this game. 
RG: Here you are, being attacked by monsters. What 
are you going to do when a monster attacks you? 
CS: Fight back. 
RG: Ok. What's the monster going to do when it takes 
so much damage it's about to die? It's going to start 
whimpering and running off. No more Mr. Nice Guy. 
This game is very dark. 
CS: May l ask what the fun is in this? You're kind 
of a nice guy, Rich. Are you tired of being Mr. Nice 
Guy Richard Garriott? 
RG: Yeah. That's it. I've done three nice games in a 
row. Three nice games. How many more times can 
you write a game where there is no real big bad guy, 
and you're out to save the world , and everyone all 
around you is all happy fun and flowers too? I've done 
that game. I'm past that point. Now I'm back to the 
dark side of the forest. 

You know how you get to Britannia, right? You 
have this stone that generates this gate that takes you 
there. Lord British has one of these , also. And they 
generate these red portals that take you to Britannia. 
In Vltima IV it was blue because we hadn 't come up 
with the red ones. But they were really red. You just 
didn't know it. In Vltima IV it's not specified where 
the gate is. It 's just off in some nondescript woods that 
you go wandering off into ... 

Vltima Wis the first time you really use the gate 
as the way to get back and forth to Britannia. How it 
happened in Vltima I, Vltima II and Vltima Ill is 
in mythology, and who cares? So suddenly at the end 
of Vltima IV you've come back and forth through 
this gate , and it's a really good way to have this really 
good story continuity when you go back between 
Vltima IV, Vltima V and Vltima VI. There's this 
amazing adventure, and you come back and you're 
standing in these woods again , and there 's some 
identifying arrangement of rocks there. So you 're 
going to presume this space is special, which it is. So 
you're going to come back here a lot. You spend a 
great deal of time coming back there once a day, once 
a week, after a while once a month. You still know 
something special , you want to go back there, so 
eventually you buy the piece of property that is there 
or buy the house or whatever is nearby. And you build 
your house there. And you make that your home. In 
the hopes that someday you'll get to go back again. 
And, sure enough, Vltima V comes up and you get 
to go back there. 

Anyway, you have this black stone which makes 
these red Moongates show up. The moonstones are 
actually made out of black rock. And are therefore, for 
all practical purposes, indestructible. So don't take a 
hammer to it, because your hammer will break. Don't 
forget , you have one of these, and Lord British has 
one of these. You discovered in Vltima V that's how 
he gets back and forth. Also, there are the eight 
moonstones in Britannia which are clearly made out 
of black rock that generate the blue Moongates, the 
ones that you transport around inside of Britannia. 
And so the theory now is that the blue Moongates are 
local transporters , red Moongates are interworld 
transporters ... 
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CS: Interdimensional? 
RG: No, interplanetary. The Black Gate is your pan­
dimensional gate. So here you are in Britannia now, 
and the Guardian is goofing up the gatework with his 
little generator. He 's trying to get the Black Gate 
finished so he can come and take over Britannia . 
Another interesting side effect is that all of the 
moonstones in existence self-destruct. And that means 
the one that you're carrying in your backpack goes 
BOOM! and knocks you five feet across the ground. 
That means the one in Lord British's castle blows up 
and blows a big hole in the back side of the castle. 
That means where all the Moongates were there are 
big craters now because all the moonstones have self­
destructed. 
CS: And this is why you get stranded in Ultimo 
VII. 
RG: Which also brings up this nice little dilemma just 
before the end of Ultimo VII, when Iolo comes up to 
you and says, "Avatar, we have a problem now. This 
is your way to get back and forth from Earth to 
Britannia, this is Lord British 's way of getting back 
and forth from Earth to Britannia. The only gate we 
have left is the Black Gate, the gate that the Guardian 
is building. If we can use that to get back to Earth, 
then he can too ... " And so you struggle with the 
thought of trying to prevent him from getting through 
the gate while still trying to get home. But in the end 
you have to say you can't do that, so you destroy the 
Black Gate and strand yourself and Lord British in 
Britannia. 
CS: And that's the end of Ultima VII. 
RG: Close , close. Well , as it ends, here 's the final 
climax. Hook is the hitman for the Fellowship, and 
Batlin is the leader of the Fellowship. They are both 
aware of the Guardian. They are aware of the fact 
that he is evil. They fully support his doings in the 
world , because they are going to be on his left and 
right sides when he comes through. But neither of 
these two guys like each other. They are the two main 
figures you actually have antagonistic activity with 
throughout the game. So the ending segments of the 
game have you at the Black Gate. You've destroyed 
the three generators. Hook and Batlin are there and 
they are performing rituals in front of the gate. Hook 
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turns around and you have this big battle with Hook. 
As soon as you finish off Hook, Batlin runs away. 
Chicken. 

You're about to destroy the Black Gate when this 
arm reaches out of it-GRRR!-like it's going to reach 
out and grab you . The end game segment has 
probably taken over at this point. You see this in 
animation. You finally blow up the Black Gate. Your 
guy can 't get through. And the Guardian 's parting 
words are something to the effect of, "You may have 
prevented me from getting into Britannia, but now 
there's no one left in your homeland to protect it. " 
And now for the Ultimo spinoffs it leaves you trying 
to get back to Earth because you know the Guardian's 
going there. And in Ultimo VIII you don't get back 
there. 

For example, you remember how we did Savage 
Empire and Martian Dreams, of course? Let's 
suppose we decide to do a spinoff game which is set 
in Greek mythology. What we 'll do is start you in 
Britannia in the beginning of the game, trying to 
devise a mechanism to get to Earth, and you get there 
in Roman and Greek times. "Wow! 1 screwed up!" 
And you come back to Britannia. And for the next 
Ultimo spinoff, you say, well, let's try to get back to 
Earth again. And you go to wherever that spinoff is. 
And then finally, at the beginning of Ultimo Vlll, or 
at the end of Ultimo VIII, we'll probably get you 
back to Earth. 
CS: How much lag time are you giving between the 
end of Ultimo VII and the beginning of Ultima 
VIII? However much time it takes to develop 
Ultimo VIII? 
RG: Yeah. 
CS: So what's Ultima VIII? 
RG: The big question is, what is the Guardian? Who is 
the Guardian? What does he look like? Is he a single 
malevolent entity of which there are no others? ls he 
one of a race of bad guys? Is he a bad guy member of 
a race that also includes good guys? Is he a very 
powerful version of whatever he is, or is he a very 
weak version of whatever he is? Those are all the 
questions that I've not really had a good answer to 
until recently. 

This is very tenuous, depending on how Ultima 
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Vil goes. But my confidence level builds every time I 
think of this, so I'm pretty sure I'm going to do this. 
The Guardian is one of many of his race. I haven't 
really decided yet if he is a powerful member or a 
wimpy member of his race. But here is a description 
of the characteristics of others of his race. I'm basically 
going to make them be a good parallel for eastern or 
Hindu gods, where you have, for instance, the eight­
a rmed woman with scimitars . A very Mt . 
Olympus-style set of super characters, of which he is 
one of many. This gives us the next level of play, 
where we can introduce even more religions into 
Britannia, or wherever we go next, to have these 
other kinds of conflicts. 

I now have to find a form for the Guardian in the 
next game or two, and of course he'll have a red face 
that looks like this. What we're going to do is build a 
set of .. . we'll call them gods for now. Of course that 
will never show up in text, but to my eyes they are 
major beings as opposed to minor beings. So these 
will be omniscient superbeings, these deities. I think it 
would be kind of classy to say he's actually a weak one 
of his race, just because he was such a big deal to you. 
He's only Darth Vader, and the Emperor lives around 
the next comer. 

And I'm going to choose a set of manifestations 
that also are very interesting . So we will have 
manifestations that are relevant to the game that we 
are building. 

And that's it. 
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Mllllrl II, 119 
Riie If, 48-47 
Sll'llle II, 81 ·82, 128· 129 
Ylrlue al, 15, 45, 81 

JUJl'llllllllll,358 

Kllkn, 1B2 
Kai Ort Xen 111111, 297 
Kl'll, lllAlllll. 129·130 
Kllrill, 83, 87, 1B2, 380 
Keep DI 8"'*1111'dl, 147 
Keep al Conte. 199 
Keeper or Ille Enl Aame of Trutb, 135 



- II Im Fl•lll LM, 143 
... II T"'- S#Lymm 
111111, V•, 288 
..a, IJrll, 144, 158 
111*,342 
ldvil,357 
bys 

llllic,38 
•• 251 
~. 121-123, 134 
li'll-1'1'1, 30, 85, 78 
11 lllyvi's Im, 281 
llillllll,73 
11111, 59 
II Kill'l Sllrftl, 348 
II Im Lymm, 78 
110.Grm,52 
11 lilck trtsm. 72 

Kllllfllfl,55 
Killlr, 153 
Kill. Sir IJrll 111'111a 

bl'stlmm,279 
KIL 338·337 
Km,340 
Kristi, 159 
Kl'!, 125 

IJllll, 118· 117 
1.111 ...... 48 
l..llllr, 118 
i.,, 1111 Jill, 38 
IMlt 184 
lml, I.my, 283·284 
Lm 

11111,298 
Vl'lll, 298 

IJlllll, 278 

W..1'JMll: The llVMm' ltd.Ventur~ 

I.ml, 125 
Lim, 141 
Llm,278 
l.ml'I, 85-88 
lMll, 129 
Lh'y,320 
un cmier, 298 
....... 71 
IJrll MIYI', 283·284 
1.111llltlBIY,15, 138, 189 
1# /Jlf /J#i If 11111'11, 283 
Llile1, Mmill', 159 
LM 

Alllr 8-11, 78 
c9rlll',91 
II Cllfllllll, 52 
Evll~.143 

LUM, 183, 288 
Lymm 

11aat11, 75.n 
.. al, 228, 312 
•••.218 
De Mm, 283 
Ultlll VI vlalt, 258·259 

Lysllllh, 287-288 

Ma,350·351 ..... 
m,111 
Bliil, 109 
Fe•,118 
Gld, 137 
Hmad, 178·1n 
lllwkwlll, 18-20 
Hmty 11111, 10 

•• 251-252, 303 
flmyll, 345, 353 
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Miiie 

Seni'lck, 70· 71 
S..,81 
SlllZlln, 75 
Tell•, 155 
Tyma, 78 
Zl'll, 72 

l1l'elllaad Q Tl'llll, 135 
um11 Nie 11, 387 

Mllielllle*,257 
Mlliell lm'l'IKll, 144 
Mlllcll wlllel, 88·88, 85 
Miiiie Al'l'IW 11111, 358 
Miiie AD, 115, 119, 124 
M.;cc.,et,1DH08 
MlliC~.338 
MlllliCklys,38 
MlliC 1.19111. 353 
Mlliell'lll,24 
•••• 253 
Miiii: Slll'll Cl-*, 2911-291 
MlliCWli,253 
M-. S1ub1Prlll, 15, 23 
M1ldlr, 51 
Mlllk, 111, 137 
MALLUM, 118 
M11R, Ln, 158 
Mli a,ells, 118, 138 
Mn, 257-258, 281 
Mllb'll 

DI CollflllSlll. 21-22, 110, 134 
al ClllPll, 300 
llOtllllSl,302 
Dlllmty, 75 
111'11•, 70,288 
al ll111illty, 37, 83, 183, 288 
ill'lltltl II, 110 
at Jm, 119, 283 
DI Pmllll, 301 
II' Prill, 37, 83 
DI Sl:Plllce, 811-81, 121, 130 



... 
,. 8-llY. 302 
II 8'11'111i11Y. 58, 153, 272 
llV*,59 

AllM•,315 
Brllli, 311 
llrlllmil, 82, 310 
llmml''I CM, 315 
lllccmr'l llll, 311 
CM, 311, 320, 353 
l'.lnlm, 83, 228 
a8Crnb,323 
~·1 CM, 318 
Dalt ... 94, 229, 317 
...... 95, 230, 317 
llatft ... 98, 231, 318 
11111,232 
••• 312 
6l'llYle Iii, 324 
Hna' Ille, 319 
llJIMI' ... 97, 233, 319 
.11111,312 
lrlry, 320 

latlll 11 - Ille, n 
Lycm,312 
.-.-i,357 
Mile, 313 
MlllllllW,313 
-.101 
NIWM-.312 

°"' II II: ·-· 309 ll~.92,217 

Pm, 241, 313 
lll'Cll i. •.. 279·290, 305-308, 
320 
s.,.1'1 HIM, 314 
11111', 321 
s-. ... 98, 234, 322 
Sbrl Brll, 314 
•.99 
SW.,cne,323 

«h'l'lrHll. JV: f;lue~t of the lJ.vzi.tZll' 

llTl'ili,314 
Ullill VII Brllli, 343 
II lllilllm'lll, 238 
Wl'llll. 100, 235 
YIW, 314 

Ml'CY, I.my, 51 
Ml'll'll, 108 
Mll'llll, 75, 378 
Mney, 289 
Ml'llll lll'eall, 388 
Mllll, Mll'llll, 75 
Ma ae Arlnr, 108 
Ma (m II Mll'llllJ, 345 
MllWlll, 159 
neMm,283 
Mlll1llill 

II S.11111 Vlllr I 82 
Anlll' J'IClm, 134· 135 
11 lrllt II .... 57 
•MlllnMU, 134 
Mllll'll 1111, 110 

Medlllllll llltrat, 348 
Mllll'ill,43 
Mll'CY, 135 
Ml'ill, 80 
Mlll'til, 43, 75 
Mlll'l'ia,339 
Mime!, IJrd, 133, 141, 143 
MM, 298 
MIDI&, 348 
Milo, 301, 385 
MIB 

city If SICl'lflce, 119, 121 
1111II,220, 313 
Vi'lle II H•llllY 1111, 15 

Milllrll. S.Bnl 
Mlrlllll, I.my, 345 
Mlr!T wit, 208·209 
Mildiel, 79-80 
Mllllllin. S. MGll 1111..iiity 

mll1lll at dlnllr I 384 
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Mllll clllld lml' II, 385 
Skull DI, 23, 80, 88, 385 
11111111, 300 

MllllllS 
illlll 11 Tl'llllel 11111 Felll:cl, 48 
Bid 6111, 381 I 383 
11111,387 * 1111 wtdl Giie spell, 82 
-. in 11bre II, 374 
Cl'eSClll -1111. 48, 82 
-.-i II, 384-385 

al II: lull ·-· 57 
--WD11111im lllll, 48 
Goelh •. 137 
llGilPil llrlojl, 43-45 
•,43-45,48 
..... 251, 387·388 
red, 248, 387 
.1,43,82 
trmllng In UIU111 VI, 325 
UIUma V chart. 237 

wtlea .... -~ 75 
MOllllllGW 

~at, 218, 313 
virble at lllllty, 15 

M•. 81111/111 Fetucca; Tl'llllmlt 
crescent •• 48 
dirk, 75 
11111, 135 
lillilll-•• 48 
blll·lull, 48 
last qlll'ler I 48 
mp, 101 
111'11 DI Ille, 208 

Mmlllla. S. lr'IDMaoogll!s, 251, 387-
388 
MMllll, Nlllllllel, 285 
Ml'lll, 339-341 
MU, 22, 110, 134 
MU~83 

Mai 



·~ .. ·143 
lllDllll, 144 
llllllV*,288 
·s.,·375 ..... 
llys,29-30 
illlall,35-38 ..... 
Arll,28,30 
...... 111 
hi 1111, 142 
lllllcAll, 115, 119 
W...1111 AIW, n, 80, 84 

... 257 
111111111,352 
lllllllP,215 --.87 ...... 181-182 

.. II, 221, 312 
llailllll,214-285 
-.137 
........ 125 
.... 51-811 -85 •• 251-252, 303, 348 

DI lllal 0., 124-125 
Ilk NI, 48, 51-52 
•• 51-57, 153, 272 
.. Pl'I Allll, 43 
--.121,153 
II, 381 

hll-!W ll'cl 111111, 80 

- •• 85, 80, 87 
Ml 

11111, 88 
llllC.24 
II ti ... 208, 309, 345 
-.251 

~II II Slwl' ~ 288-287 
~,. Ylll siml, 282 
~ .. -.358 
~Yilllll,285 

Dvlwlll, .. II, 92, 217 

1'11111111 

II ~I Clllll, 84 
Crllwll, 75 

-'·" llmllll, 10, 15 
... ' 51 

cllail Anll"I, 8-10 
.-i,15 

Parm,351 
Piii 

9satll,28 
.. II, 223, 313, 341 

ii-, II Cl'iilll, 48 
hmln, 257-258, 280-281 
Pllrl, 334 
,., 125 
Pi'*CM,320 ,,.. 

Alalm'GINll,288 
• fll 11111, 278 
•llMil.m 
M,133 
..... 280,280 
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l.lllil, 278 
i.-,278 
Slil1a - (Siiiy), 281 

Plrlll's lllJ, 84-85 
Pi'lla' ... 279-390, 305-308, 320 
Plil, 37 
Plmll, 138-137, 155 
Pim Ill, 28, 85 
P"-1111111, BO, 70-71 
Pimlllll,75 
Plltlal, 78-80, 121 
Pllia, 011111 v Iii'! •• 238 
Pl'llll 

_.. lla!rlyll 11', 17, 37, 83, 183 
... ll'.37,83 
lllDr•,23 

Pl'llQlla. Sii 1111 llliity; Vlrlla 

" Clllri, 302 
em.. 84-85, 78, 88 
~" IKllll, 389 
If DllllllCI, 302 
~. 339-340, 382 
LIVI, 52, 78, 143 
Ille Tl'll, 43 

" Pmlll, 302 
IN, 18, 43, 88 

Prlllcllrlll, 282 
DIPli, 88 

·-· 85, 70, 87 

• ., .... S#~J.n 
.... 289 
i.s111 t1 Au. S# 1111 DI AVlllr 

1:111111111'1111111Tri*,88-71 

... ~ - •• 84-87 
llacrllm, 14-15 ••.8e 



6llllrlY )ill, 59 
11111.ml II liiil, 91 
JmlilS!m,47 
Jllil lilS Im, 79 
hll'illlilS,83 
Ll:b LID Ill CM, H 
111'1111 lilS, 75 
Pm,27·30 
s.,at's Cdl, 83·88 
Slllill lilS, 59 
IMl 11 Cllllmil. 30·34 
:Ml II Slcrlllcl, 38·37 
ll•MllY,49-52 
11.1111111, 57-lll 
II Lycm, 75-n 
11 lilc, 79-81 
1111'1 Brll, 52·57 
lls.irttwlll,83-88 
V11911',37·38 

•. Sii * Si'lle Qlal 
M*lll''s,51 
Sl:l'lll, 297 
Vlir, 185 

Qicbm ... 47, 72 
Qick 11111111 

lllilll IV, 88-91 
111111 VI, 305-307 

Qil, 70 

RA,59 
111111111, 37 .. 

llrmmatlll,57 
8'IPl1liltY 1111, 10 

8-11 
•• 29-30, 55, 75, 1 'J7 
Ill' G1tupell, 43 

HL'l'JMlt JV: ~ue:it of the llvZltZll' 

fir llicbm ... 47 
... 72 
llllClllllll,75,n 
1111 ft .. 411-41 
1111 S., 59, 85, 87 
llllX..11111111, 199 
1111111, 194, 118 
Ralllm 

....,.i,118, 121 
II Sllllllwllra, 112 

llalftcl •• 87 
11111, 120 
1111111 llrlillty, 137, 180, 272 
li!lllR J •,354 
RIVI' II ... 120 
Dnl,283 
lllllPI, I.ft, 51, 59 
lllllPi*. 85-88 
llllyll,345,353 
1111, 133 -Bii, 11, LI', Ill s.r llm, 358 

llc.mlll,22·23 
FAil.AX, 138 
11 llml!y, 75 
11 lllllty, 30 
II .mta, 48-47 

-·~-.358 
" Slcrlllcl, 79-80 
11~.20 

llill VI • 1111111. 305 
111111111 Ultll VI, 255 
If Vlir, 51 

Rmll,83 

Slclly, 133 
Sl:l'lll Olat. 287 
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llCl'lllcl 
Cll'llllaatll, 7 
... II, 811-81, 121 
Mile city II, 118, 121 
l'IMl,87 
llmll,79·80 
IPil II, 38·37, 80 
Tllbr 1111, 10 
aMl,79 

11111.188·170 
Sill' I 85-811 
s.r LI' ... 285 
SlllllllM Ba, 170, 208 
111111m-.. 211 
Siiiy, 281 
Sall,255 
Im, 137, 152 

--. 3n-378, 381 .-..89 
Sall, n 
Sal!llPI. 148, 172-173, 251 
SCl'lll 

•Malck,350 
ftlnnlllli-laRlllll. 3511 
-Til.185 
S..0..,185 
llllllH,338 

s., sr, 125, 135 
Sla'lll 

"*•.85 
1111'1 IM', 338 
Iii', 80, 72, 281 
11 Dil'I Clllll IM', 347 347 
11111111'1 sbl, 23 

- • catll llPllm, 72 •llYll, 117 
Slllllll_l.ft,154 
1111-Slcrlllcl. ,. SlcPlllcl 
~.272,287 
~711-71 
s.n,i.r,11 



Sentri, l.al'd, 84, 149, 344 
Sel'plllll'1Catle 

milllY II, 84-85 

1111111''1 - · 85-88 
li'llrm,84 
ll'8ISll'e 1'8111111, 85 

Serpeid's Hild, 157-159, 218, 227, 314 
SIJl'Pllrs Spine mllin1, 120, 133 
Sll'Yllle, 38 
Sewer,. al, 321 
SU1llt 

buyl1111, 38, 342 
ivln1lll by 011Yid,j33, 157 
alal•.90 

hllllwtlrds. s. aGem a1 11..i1tty 
lmtt111a1D, 112 
camets 111, 138·137, 374 
of Cmwnlca, 199-200 
Ultll, 105 
._.II, 373-374 
If Fiselllll, 135 
DIHlll, 143, 145, 188-189 
•ttpaaa,218 

Slllk, 358 
~. Ln, 134-135 
S..,43 
8111111 .. 

ldvelbre In, 201-203 
1111111, 98, 234, 322 
•••• 218 

SUl!lnl 
- Ille Sll'tnl QUiii, 105· 108 
cm:ter 111111 fir, an, 379-380 
]iaSQml,57 

.... 22 
SWll 11CIWll'lllcl,159, 181-182 
Slll'll 11Fislllllll, 134, 141, 187·194, 218 
Slllrll 11 Hllrell, 189, 185-188, 215 
S1lltnl • • 154 
SUM, 17-18 
SlllZDll, 75 
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S-., 28 
Sblatll, 121-122 
hellls Ill TlnUr' 79 
~. HmlOty Ii, 10 
8MY Im Ma, 285, 288, 347 
SMllllllTl'd, 140 
s--.125 
SMrltl, 183 -cll'il, 342 

ftlll llr 1-, 55 
lllalers, 85-88 
lllt, 55, 75 
1111'1 lllWI, 11H12 
ll'tl Wiits, 79-80 
P1'etlcllrlll, 282 
SUtlnl •• 154 
Tiii DD Dr, 124-125 
11111111. 58·59, 70 

Sll'lll QllSt 

Stltla 

llelillllll, 105·107 
~II, 128, 185·188 
Gwmllia,112 
•)lla,118 
Kll'll m, 12e-130 
•••.214 
sml,1311-131 

... 41 
lllm Cllu, 129-127, 130, 185, 302-303 
II Cllpasil, 22, 131, 134, 1411-141 
II Cldrll, 255, 300, 324 
II Dllilllel, 255, 301·302, 324 
11 lllmty, 75 
II Hlllllty, 37, 84 
llfnl1il •• 110 
al Jata, 81·82, 128-129 
II Pasill, 255, 302 
II Sl:rlllce, 38-37, 80, 130 
II s.;t1lilty, 58-57, 135 
II VlllP, 59, 81-112 
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~,85 

SllVll'Hn 
lillill, 83 
llcllill 11, 51, 82 
...... 111illlmswtnl,84 

SllVlr Sll'Plll-, 339-341, 384 
SllVlr swn, 115, 117, 124 
SllYlrllMlt 

mm•. 275-m *" 111111111111, 291-292 
a'Cll llr dlr llil, 259, 287, 275 

Sl111,Sll',80, 118, 141-142 
Sl.,37 
Sll'Vl'li, 188, 288, 288 
Sbl'l 111'11, 15 

city If c... 84 
•11.221 

hil bys, 121·123, 134 
SOii. S.Mllllllil'1 Sall 
~Lllil, 119,284 
S•llitlae, 341 
si.,•.185 
SIMI, 43 
s1n.•11n1, 181 
S_.'1111, 181 
Siii ii VlllP, 288 
Smll. Sii * lll'lllllil, 301, 3114-385 
Siii Sllilr, 201, 209 
s.n,334-335 
s..llill,43 
8'111 ... 252, 345 -All Gm, 280, 300 

Al NII, 115, 118 
~. 270 
AWID,87 
BM, 74, 159, 1811-181 
.. If, 252, 345 
llril 1'1111111 llr' 29-30 
Clllae,188 
C.., Bit Miii, 270 



Cl'I, 32, 72, 82, 87 
011111AIM,42, 81, 71, 257 
~Cll'cle,259 

Ellt, 72 
El Plr, 285 
Fii', 180, 187 
Ftlll, 108, 137 
6111, 43, 82 
Hei, 28·27, 54, 72, 87 
II C.,, 282, 285 
II El Plr, 107, 189 
II Miii C.,, 288 
Kii 111'1 XII, 287 
---•.88-90 
Kiii, 55 
Miiie Arrlw, 358 
Miii, 118, 138 
Nlllll,87 
lll'IPl'Ya,282 
Ort Yim, 285 
Pm,75 
-.m,47,72 
111e111, 75, n 
1111 XII Bel, 188 
llal'rect, 87 
s.tll', 285 
nr. Cll'ci, 259 
TileS., 198 
l*k.,283 
Va Miii, 289 
Va s.t LI', 285 
Will, 74 

Spllllrcne,322 
sp1111r11a, 118 
Spll'l111llty 

en llaatli, 8 
Pllb. 15 
••.10 
!Ml,87 
llme 11, 20, 58 
Sl'lll 11, 135 

Sli'llWll', 51, 83 
Slrlll, 22 
Sll'llal, C•, 288·287 
Sll's, 138 
S1llllr 11 llil, 201, 208 
Sllllill, CH¥" 1111, 90 
Sllllr, 288 

8-11• 

Sim 

...... 11,171-178 

... ,322 •••,215 
.43,75,87 
lllm,88 
Clllrlll ICCll'tlll 11 Vll'lla, 83 
,.,87 
'1'1111,85,80,87 
iir;e,85,70,87 
I'd, 59, 85, 87 
di, 58, BO, 85, 71, 87 
Y*l,24,87 

·si.a· (11111), 375 
Sirin Ir llity, 339 
si.t,l.ft, 108 
Siii'! .. _,, I.ft, 137 --illallllll, 84-87 

11111mllllII•,91 
•11,98 
ll'lllClil IPll, 28 
•• 14 
m'Cll Ir I.my Arlll, 355·358 
11111111,43 
a 11111111111, 371 

SUMM, 70, 180, 288 
-125, 184 
Slllk'I Cllli, 297-298 
SWll!l 111111, 253, 284 
SWUlpcne,323 
SW1111111,82,85 
swn • Kii Pm, 148, 2e1 
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TllCla,121 
T~,48 

Tmra 
-.a.,257,342 
•1111111,257 
E91111,334,353 

flllll - Tnn, 278 
Fiiiy, 70 
flll's P* 1'Dil, 281 
Hml Mei, 137-138 
111111111'11111, 288 
SWft •DIN, 148, 287 

T1Yit,2n 
T_..., lftllll-'i, 45 
Tlllall,n T-. 155 
T• 11 Silllll'llY, 289, 297·88 
T•llMI, 141 
Tl'RI, l.1'11, 78 
r ...... , 112,11e 
Tll'l'i, 70 
TllSI, I.my, 30, 80, 148-149 
Dlrlli,283 
Dnll,24 
1'iml'Gil(279 
DINCll'Clellllll, 259 
Dillll, 255-58 

TN-Pl'! Key. 1111111 Ml' -
~•.85 

11 • cm11r 11111 c• 78, 88 
Z*lllWllll .. 30 

TN rm 
Bllcklllrl's, 175 
I.ft 111'111111'1, 248, 253, 258 
I.ft 111'111111'1 n, 344 
Lycm, 78 
s.,.t's HIM, 158 

lllrllll, 340 



Tierra, 133 
Tim, 144 
n1111a•,384·385 
Tille 8- spell, 198 
Tinkers 

Julia, 79, 143 
Meridl, 80 
sacrmce 1111, 10 

Tobias, 340 
Tlllde, 159 
Toshl, 143 
T oucllstooe. See also Bri1111i1 Catie, 30 
Tr1111111el. Slltl&'llMOOlllllllS,48 
Transmuter, Ida rack Ill, 353 
Treanoa, 108 
Treasure rooms 

81acklllrR's, 178 
l.ll'll 8l'ltlsll's, 19·20, 58 
sacrmce of H• ID, 123·124, 129 
Serpent's castle, 85 
skllll keys II, 122 

Trlld of Inner Strength. Slltl 1118 
Fellowlll~, 339·340, 382 
Trill, 148 
Trinsre 

city of Cllll'IUfl, 84 
~of, 220, 314 
lllll'tlers In, 334·335, 342 
strive hr H• ID, 15 

Tl'DllS, 30·31 
Tl'llll Tlly Brotllr, 339 
Trudi. See 1/111 CDHI al Ultlmlle WllllDIR 

Alllr Room of, 78 
COlll'S IDr, 91 
Alme of, 158 
11'1! of, 134 
streotbens magic, 135 
wtdllDCDI, 57 

Twin Giles, 37 
Twin sisters, 134, 141 
Tymus, 78 

Uhllla 
cbllces IRllle ID, 388 
COll...-S 11 IJlllvilt II, 90 
~11-..,380 llMI-al series, 383·384, 374-378 
~If lellJ II, 370 
llnilllll,89 
kellpillllllll,89 
•• 92, 94, 98, 98, 100 
11;11a1~11, 3n-38D 
~ 11111Vil'lles~389· 
370 
rlle ol llllC ID, 387 
llVilllMl,89 
dpan!lllYill,89-90 
vilRe II, 388·387 

Uhllll Ill, Elllla 11111, 385 
UltlmalV 

Ila! ... hr, 380 
Cll'lllllta llr' 90-91 
~II, 385-388, 372 
~. 93, 95, 97, 99, 101 
M..iall,374 
Qaat 11111 Anlll', 3-88 
qick SIOU11, 89·91 

Uh1111 V 
llllCk Slits, 241-242 
crall'e Slits, 238· 239 
dnellllllllll al, 372-374 
11'111111111 lillcl In, 388·389 
llOllll!elil't,237 
•llOllllBI ID, 374 
--238 
llVllg,211 
111Clllilllllieschl't,240 
llWI lllP, 218-227 
Yrlle dll't, 237 
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Wllklll'Qll, 211·218 
mtll'I ol dadly, 105·209 
Wlllllll 1'11181 11111 llllCk Vlllls, 242·243 

Ullill VI 
list ol lll.itla, 327 
l!IP,309·324 
• lllllil. 305·307 
1l'Mllll Q ~. 325 
wapm llllCk ¥11111, 330 

UIU11 VII 
lltllliSl-.-i II, 380-381 
Blll:k Gall •lnlm 11, 388 
llllilscmla,385 

Uldm VIII,~ II, 388·389 
UN, 300 
lladel'Wl'll Sii *U.. 

•II. 238 
•waam11im, 119 
Ulack Miiii: 111111, 283 
UNORUS, 302 
US, 302 

V*lall,293 
Vil' 

cnmcrlli,7 
FilMl'S 111111, 10, 15 
MlllPI II, 59 
rlile, 87 
Rn II, 59, 81 
slrlleal,59,82 

Vill'lll Isla, 15 
VUl'lll (WI' llrse), 108 
v•-.185 
Va Miii .,, 289 
Va s.t LI' S.U, 285 
VER, 78, 88 
VBIAllOCOR, 88, 91, 188, 203 



Vl'tty Ille, 15 
VllSlll',37-38 
VIUS, 111 
Vllll lll'ce lleW, 80, 255 
vr;1, 70 
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NOW AVAILABLE 
Nintendo Games Secrets, Volumes l, 2, and 3 ........... ............................. ................... $9.99 each 
Nintendo Game Boy Secrets, Volumes 1 and 2 ......................................................... $9.99 each 
Sega Genesis Secrets, Volumes 1, 2, and 3 .. .......... ............ ........ ............. ...... ..... .... ... ... $9.99 each 
TurboGrafx-16 and TurboExpress Secrets, Volumes 1and2 ................................. $9.99 each 
Super NES Games Secrets, Volumes 1and2 .. .......... .... ................... ..... ........ ............... $9.99 each 
GamePro Presents: Nintendo Games Secrets Greatest Tips .................................... $9.99 
Super Mario World Secrets .......... ............. ... ...... ... ..... .................. ........ .... ................... . $12.99 

COMPUTER GAME BOOKS 
SimEarth: The Official Strategy Guide .. .......................... .... ... ..... ........... ....... ... ... .... .. $18.95 
Harpoon Battlebook .................................................................................................... $18.95 
Wing Commander I and II: The Ultimate Strategy Guide ..................................... $18.95 
Chuck Yeager's Air Combat Handbook .. ..... ..... ........ ... ...... ... ........ ... ......... .. ... ........... $18.95 
The Official Lucasfilm Games Air Combat Strategies Book .................................. $18.95 
Sid Meier's Civilization, or Rome on 640K a Day ............................................. .... ... $18.95 
Ultima: The Avatar Adventures ........................................................... ...... .. ....... ....... $18.95 
Falcon 3: The Official Combat Strategy Book (with disk) .. ..... ... .. ..... .... ............. ... $24.95 (Jul.) 

TO ORDER BOOKS 
Please send me the following items: 

Quantity Title Unit Price Total 
$ __ $ __ 
$ __ $ __ 
$ __ $ __ 
$ __ $ __ 

$ __ $ __ 

Subtotal $ __ 

7.25% SALES TAX (California only) $ __ 

SHIPPING $~ D Yes, I'd like a catalog. TOTAL ORDER $ __ 

By telephone: With Visa or 
MC, call (916) 786-0449. 
Mon.-Fri. 9-4 PST. By mail: 
Just fill out the information 
below and send with your 
remittance to: 

PRIMA PUBLISHING 
P.O. Box 1260 

Rocklin, CA 95677 

Satisfaction unconditionally 
guaranteed 

Mynaineis _____________________ _ 
I live at 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-

City ______ _ State ---- Zip ____ _ 
Visa/MC# _________ _ Exp. _____ _ 
Signature ______________________ _ 



MORE GREAT TITLES ON THE WAY IN JUNE AND JULY 

Jetfighter II: The Official Strategy Guide ············-····· ................... " .......................... $18.95 

V for Victory: The Utah Beach Battle Book-······-······~ ............................................. $18.95 

Lemmings: The Official COinpanlqlt ......................................................................... $18.95 

The Legend of Zelda m (for the s~ NES) ............................................................. $12.99 
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